

Cash transfers: what does the evidence say? A rigorous review of programme impact and of the role of design and implementation features

Francesca Bastagli, Jessica Hagen-Zanker, Luke Harman, Valentina Barca, Georgina Sturge and Tanja Schmidt, with Luca Pellerano

July 2016



In collaboration with



Funded by



Overseas Development Institute

203 Blackfriars Road London SE1 8NJ

Tel. +44 (0) 20 7922 0300 Fax. +44 (0) 20 7922 0399 E-mail: info@odi.org.uk

www.odi.org/facebook www.odi.org/twitter

Readers are encouraged to reproduce material from ODI Reports for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. As copyright holder, ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI.

© Overseas Development Institute 2016. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial Licence (CC BY-NC 4.0).

Cover image: Receiving food assistance and cash transfers in Burkina Faso © EC/ECHO/Anouk Delafortrie, Licence: CC BY-NC-ND 2.0

Contents

Acknowledgem	ents	4
Executive summ	nary	5
SECTION I		16
Chapter 1	Introduction	17
	1.1 Background and objectives of this review 1.2 Structure of the report	17 19
Chapter 2	Conceptual framework	22
-	2.1 Overarching conceptual framework	22
Chanter 3	Review of cash transfer reviews	48
	3.1 Overview of systematic reviews	49
	3.2 Overview of findings from systematic reviews 3.3 Role of cash transfer design and implementation features	51 57
Chapter 4	Methods	62
	4.1 Overview	62
	4.2 Criteria for inclusion 4.3 Search methods for identification of studies	65
	4.4 Study screening and assessment process	67 70
	4.6 Limitations of this review	73
Chapter 5	The evidence base	74
	5.1 Scale of the evidence 5.2 Studies included in the review	74 76
SECTION II		85
Chapter 6	The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty	86
	6.1 Summary of findings	88 89
	6.3 The impact of cash transfers on poverty	92
	 6.4 The impact of cash transfers on poverty indicators for women and girls 6.5 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features 	95 96
	6.6 Policy implications	99
Chapter 7	The impact of cash transfers on education	105
	7.1 Summary of evidence base	107
	7.3 The impact of cash transfers on education 7.4 The impact of cash transfers on education indicators for women and nirks	111 115
	7.5 The role of cosh transfer design and implementation features	117
Chanter 0	7.6 Policy implications	121
Unapter o	8.1 Summary of findings	129
	8.2 Summary of evidence base	131 134
	8.4 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition indicators for women and girls	137
	8.5 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features 8.6 Policy implications	139 143
Chapter 9	The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production	149
	9.1 Summary of findings	151
	9.2 Summary of evidence base 9.3 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production	152
	9.4 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production indicators for women and girls 9.5 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features	161 162
	9.6 Policy implications	166
Chapter 10	The impact of cash transfers on employment	174
	10.1 Summary of Infolings 10.2 Summary of evidence base	177
	10.3 The impact of cash transfers on employment	182
	10.5 Policy implications	201
Chapter 11	The impact of cash transfers on empowerment	211
	11.1 Summary of findings 11.2 Summary of evidence base	213 213
	11.3 The overall impact of cash transfers on empowerment	216
	11.4 The fole of cash transfer design and implementation features 11.5 Policy implications	224 227
SECTION III		236
Chapter 12	Summary of findings and conclusion	237
	12.1 Overview 12.2 The evidence base	237 238
	12.3 The impacts of cash transfers by outcome	240
	12.4 Summary of the evidence by outcome and indicators 12.5 The role of design and implementation features	245 253
	12.6 Conclusion	266
References		271

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to members of the project's Advisory Group, Michelle Adato, Armando Barrientos, Christina Behrendt, Benjamin Davis, Margaret Grosh, Nicola Jones and Fabio Veras Soares, for advice over the course of the project and comments on the report. Thanks also to Hugh Waddington for comments on the draft report.

At DFID, Nathanael Bevan, James Bonner, Ranil Dissanayake, Matthew Greenslade, Heather Kindness, Abigail Perry, Jessica Vince, Rachel Yates and Benjamin Zeitlyn provided helpful feedback and detailed comments on earlier versions of the report. Special thanks to Heather Kindness and Jessica Vince who advised on review scope, approach and content throughout.

Dharini Bhuvanendra provided excellent research assistance and John Eyre reviewed the literature search strategy. Thanks to Calvin Laing and Fiona Lamont for project support, to John Maher for copy-editing, to Aaron Griffiths for proofreading and to Garth Stewart and Sean Willmott for design.

This project was led by ODI and conducted in partnership with Oxford Policy Management (OPM). This research has been funded by UK aid from the UK government. However, the views expressed do not necessarily reflect the UK government's official policies.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

Page 4

Executive summary

Objectives of the review

Cash transfers have been increasingly adopted by low- and middle-income countries as central elements of their poverty reduction and social protection strategies (Barrientos, 2013; DFID, 2011; Hanlon et al., 2010; Honorati et al., 2015; ILO, 2014). There are some 130 low- and middle-income countries that have at least one non-contributory unconditional cash transfer (UCT) programme (including poverty-targeted transfers and old-age social pensions), with growth in programme adoption especially high in Africa, where 40 countries out of 48 in sub-Saharan Africa now have a UCT, double the 2010 total. Similarly, 63 countries have at least one conditional cash transfer programme, up from two countries in 1997 and 27 countries in 2008 (Honorati et al., 2015). This expansion has been accompanied by a growing number of evaluations, resulting in a body of evidence on the effects of different programmes on individual-and household-level outcomes. More recently, closer attention has been paid to the programme design and implementation details that influence the ways in which cash transfers work.

This review retrieves, assesses and synthesises the evidence on the effects of cash transfers on individuals and households through a rigorous review of the literature of 15 years, from 2000 to 2015. Focusing on non-contributory monetary transfers, including conditional and unconditional cash transfers, social pensions and enterprise grants, it addresses three overarching research questions:

- 1. What is the evidence of the impact of cash transfers on a range of individual- or household-level outcomes, including intended and unintended outcomes?
- 2. What is the evidence of the links between variations in programme design and implementation features and cash transfer outcomes?
- 3. What is the evidence of the impacts of cash transfers, and of variations in their design and implementation components, on women and girls?

This review is distinct from previous cash transfer literature reviews in three key features: the methods used (more on this below), the breadth of the evidence retrieved, assessed and synthesised, and the particular focus on programme design and implementation features. The six outcomes covered by the review are: monetary poverty; education; health and nutrition; savings, investment and production; employment; and empowerment. The cash transfer design and implementation features considered are: core design features; conditionality; targeting; payment systems, grievance mechanisms and programme governance; complementary interventions and supply-side services.

Methods

This is a rigorous literature review, which complies with core systematic review principles – breadth, rigour and transparency – while allowing for a more flexible handling of retrieval and analysis with the objective of ensuring comprehensiveness and relevance. Having detailed the methodological approach in 'protocol' form, the literature was then retrieved through five distinct search tracks: (1) bibliographic databases, (2) other electronic sources (i.e. websites and search engines), (3) expert recommendations, (4) past reviews and snowballing, and (5) studies deemed to be relevant from other outcome areas. The searches were conducted in mid-2015. The more than 38,000 studies retrieved were screened using predefined inclusion criteria, with relevant studies then subjected to a second-stage screening that considered the risk of bias and methodological

Page 5

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

rigour in the research methods used by each study. The studies that showed no or low concerns in terms of risk of bias and methodological rigour were included in the review. The final group of 201 studies which passed the search, retrieval and assessment stages are listed in an annotated bibliography (Harman et al., 2016), which contains detailed information on each study, including the intervention analysed, methods used and outcomes covered, as a resource for researchers when carrying out future literature reviews and analyses.

For each outcome area, evidence was extracted and synthesised for five to seven indicators, identified on the basis of their policy relevance, coverage in the literature and prevalence of sexdisaggregated results. For quantitative, counterfactual analysis, the magnitude, sign and statistical significance of coefficients measuring the effects of cash transfers and of variations in their design features on individual- and household-level outcomes were extracted, at the highest level of aggregation reported. Whenever available, disaggregated results for women and girls were also extracted and analysed.

In synthesising the evidence, the review relied on both a vote counting and narrative synthesis approach. The vote counting approach reports the number of studies that show an increase/ decrease in a specific indicator and provides an indication of the strength of the evidence available for each indicator. While it provides a useful tool to summarise findings, its limitations include the fact that it does not take sample size or magnitude of effects into account. Furthermore, it aggregates findings across different cash transfer programmes, obscuring differences in policy objectives, target population and baseline levels. To at least partly address these shortcomings, the review also relies on a narrative synthesis, which includes examples and discussions of the ranges and magnitudes of effects and of results that are not statistically signficant.

The evidence base

201 studies were included in the annotated bibliography. The scale of the evidence base varies by outcome and by design and implementation feature. For outcome areas, the evidence base is largest for 'education' (99 studies) and 'health and nutrition' (89 studies), followed by 'employment' (80 studies) and smallest for 'savings, investment and production' (37 studies). On the whole, there are fewer studies explicitly designed to analyse the effects of cash transfer design and implementation features on outcomes of interest, with no relevant studies found for 'grievance mechanisms and programme governance', though there is a substantial evidence base of 41 studies for 'core design features'. In total, 165 studies were included in the extraction stage, ranging from 74 studies for 'employment' to 27 studies for 'savings, investment and production'. These are the studies from which the evidence discussed in this review is drawn.

For the studies included in the extraction stage, with the exception of the 'savings, investment and production' outcome, the majority focused on cash transfer programmes in Latin America; across all search sub-questions, approximately 54% of the studies report on a programme from Latin America. Around 38% of the studies focused on a programme in sub-Saharan Africa, with studies looking at East Asia and the Pacific, Europe and Central Asia, and the Middle East and North Africa accounting for around 8%.

In total, this review covers 56 different cash transfer programmes, with some studies analysing more than one programme. The majority were conditional cash transfers (CCTs) (55%), mostly located in Latin America. 25% of the programmes were unconditional cash transfers (UCTs), mostly implemented in sub-Saharan Africa. Of the remaining programmes, 9% involved a combination of CCTs and UCTs, 7% were social pensions and 4% were enterprise grants.

Page 6

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

The impacts of cash transfers by outcome

Monetary poverty

There is a comparatively large evidence base linking cash transfers to reductions in monetary poverty. The evidence extracted consistently shows an increase in total and food expenditure and reduction in Foster–Greer–Thorbecke (FGT) poverty measures.

35 studies report findings on impact on household total expenditure, with 26 of these demonstrating at least one significant impact and 25 finding an increase in total expenditure. Among the 31 studies reporting impacts on household food expenditure, 24 show at least one statistically significant effect, with 22 of these being an increase. Two studies report a decrease owing to a reduction in labour supply and possible prioritisation of savings over consumption.

Nine studies consider impacts on Foster–Greer–Thorbecke poverty measures (poverty headcount, poverty gap, squared poverty gap). Among these studies, around two-thirds find a statistically significant impact. While cash transfers are shown to mostly increase total and food expenditure, it appears that in many cases this impact is not big enough to have a subsequent effect on aggregate poverty levels. However, with one exception, the studies consistently show decreases in poverty.

Six studies reported sex-disaggregated outcomes for expenditure indicators, but none shows a difference between female/male recipients and female/male-headed households.

Education

Overall, the available evidence highlights a clear link between cash transfer receipt and increased school attendance. Less evidence and a less clear-cut pattern of impact is found for learning outcomes (as measured by test scores) and cognitive development outcomes (information processing ability, intelligence, reasoning, language development and memory), although, interestingly, the three studies reporting statistically significant findings on the latter all report improvements in cognitive development associated with cash transfer receipt.

20 studies report on the overall effect on **school attendance**, of which 13 report some significant effect. With the exception of one study, the findings point towards an increase in school attendance and a decrease in school absenteeism. Less evidence and a less clear-cut pattern of impact is found for links between cash transfer receipt and learning outcomes. Five studies examine overall effects on **learning**, as measured through test scores in maths, language or a composite test score. Two studies find a statistically significant effect (both for language test scores), one being an improvement and one a decrease. Five studies report an effect estimate of cognitive development scores; three of these find a statistically significant improvement.

20 studies disaggregate findings by sex (either by sex of the child or head of the household), with statistically significant effects being increases in school attendance for girls and some improvements in test scores and cognitive development, with no clear pattern in effects varying by head of the household. Of 15 studies disaggregating effects on attendance for girls versus boys, 12 report a statistically significant increase for at least one school attendance measure for girls, while one reports a decrease. Of five studies disaggregating impacts on learning, two find significant increases in test score results for girls, and for the five studies reporting on cognitive development, three report significant increases for girls.

Health and nutrition

Evidence of the impacts of cash transfers across all three indicator areas – use of health services, dietary diversity and anthropometric measures – was largely consistent in terms of direction of effect, showing improvements in the indicators. On the whole, the available evidence highlights how, while the cash transfers reviewed have played an important role in increasing the use of

Page 7

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

health services and dietary diversity, changes in design or implementation features, including complementary actions (e.g. nutritional supplements or behavioural change training), may be required to achieve greater and more consistent impacts on child anthropometric measures. This is reflected in the greater proportion of significant results found relating to health service use and dietary diversity and a lower proportion for anthropometric measures.

The available evidence shows that, on the whole, cash transfers – both CCTs and UCTs – have increased the uptake of health services. Of the 15 studies reporting overall effects on the use of health facilities, nine report statistically significant increases. For dietary diversity, findings also consistently show increases. Among the 12 studies reporting on impacts on dietary diversity, seven show statistically significant changes across a range of dietary diversity measures, all being improvements. Evidence of statistically significant changes in anthropometric outcomes is limited to five out of 13 studies for stunting, one out of five for wasting and one out of eight for underweight. All significant overall changes were improvements.

Evidence on how outcomes vary by sex was available from five studies. The evidence provides mixed results and highlights the importance of disaggregating by sex and age. For instance, one set of results on child anthropometric outcomes for an Indonesian conditional transfer provides indicative findings as to the importance of the sex of the household head for such impacts, with a negative impact on child weight-for-height only found among male-headed households (World Bank, 2011).

Savings, investment and production

Overall, impacts on savings, and on livestock ownership and/or purchase, as well as use and/ or purchase of agricultural inputs, are consistent in their direction of effect, with almost all statistically significant findings highlighting positive effects of cash transfers, though these are not universal to all programmes or to all types of livestock and inputs. This is an important finding as, with the exception of one programme, none of the cash transfers analysed focuses explicitly on enhancing productive impacts. Impacts on borrowing, agricultural productive assets and business/ enterprise are less clear-cut or are drawn from a smaller evidence base.

With regard to specific findings, of the 10 studies that look at the overall effect of cash transfers on household **savings**, half find statistically significant increases in the share of households reporting savings (ranging from seven to 24 percentage points) or the amount of savings accumulated. Impacts on **borrowing** were mixed. Of the 15 studies, four report significant increases, three report significant reductions, one reports mixed findings and the remainder are not statistically significant.

Of the eight studies reporting on relevant indicators of households' accumulation of **agricultural productive assets** for crop production (axes, sickles, hoes and other agricultural tools), three find a positive and significant impact on a wide variety of indicators. The remaining five studies find no significant impacts. Lack of impact is explained in several ways, including behaviour influenced by strong programme labelling (money was to be spent for children) and the low value or unpredictability of the transfer. Of the eight studies reporting on **agricultural inputs**, six report a significant increase in expenditure or use, primarily for fertiliser and seeds, while one reports a significant, but small, decrease. 12 out of 17 studies assessing **livestock ownership and value** show an increase. Impacts were particularly concentrated on smaller livestock, such as goats and chickens.

Impacts on **business and enterprise** were mixed: of the nine studies, four find significant increases in the share of households involved in non-farm enterprise or in total expenditure on businessrelated assets and stocks, while one finds a significant decrease.

Eight studies report sex-disaggregated outcomes. Interestingly, three studies find significant impacts for some of the savings, production and investment indicators for female-headed households, where they do not find any for male-headed households. Two studies find different types of impacts for male versus female household heads or beneficiaries (e.g. different type of

Page 8

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

investment preferred), while another two find no significant differences between men and women. Overall, these results appear to be driven by different levels of asset ownership at baseline, with women having lower levels and hence showing bigger improvements, and also differing cultural roles, with studies showing that women mainly acquired small livestock.

Employment

The evidence extracted for this review shows that for just over half of studies on adult work (participation and intensity), the cash transfer does *not* have a statistically significant impact. Among those studies reporting a significant effect among adults of working age, the majority find an increase in work participation and intensity. In the cases in which a reduction in work participation or work intensity is reported, these reflect a reduction in participation among the elderly, those caring for dependents, or they are the result of reductions in casual work.

For both adult and child work, three indicators were considered (1) whether an individual works or does not work (adult labour force participation); (2) the time spent working (work intensity); and (3) the sector/type of employment. 14 studies report on the effect on **overall adult labour force participation**: among the eight that report on *adults of working age*, four find statistically significant impacts: three being increases and one a decrease. Among the two studies on *elderly adults*, one finds a significant effect in terms of reducing pensioners working for pay. 10 studies report on **overall adult intensity of work**, with six studies showing statistically significant impacts. Three involved reductions in time worked, though one was among the elderly. The two interventions resulting in increases in time spent working resulted from enterprise grants specificially intended to increase employment.

Studies on sector of work show that in over half of the studies cash transfers did not significantly affect overall participation in the specific sectors studied; there is stronger evidence, however, for cash transfers impacting on time allocation towards different activities. A total of 12 studies estimate the impact of cash transfers on **overall adult labour force participation by sector/type of employment**. Of these, five find at least one significant effect, with three finding increases in self-employment, one an increase in unpaid family work and two showing reductions in casual work outside the household. 10 studies report the impact of cash transfers on **adult work intensity in different sectors/types of employment**; of these, seven report a statistically significant effect, showing a mix of impacts. Three studies report on the impact on **migration**, with findings showing that cash transfers can either increase or decrease the probability of migrating internally or internationally.

The evidence extracted shows some differential effects for men and women for labour force participation and work intensity. One of the main emerging themes around gendered effects relates to changes in time allocation to different activities, with a few studies finding an increase in time spent on domestic work by women. In particular, out of six papers analysing the impact of cash transfers on the number of hours worked by women by sector/type of employment, three find at least one statistically significant result, with two studies from Latin America finding an increase in time spent on domestic work by women (alongside a reduction in time spent on domestic chores by younger girls).

With regard to child labour, over half of the studies on cash transfer-child work participation links find no statistically significant result, while all the studies on child work intensity find statistically significant reductions in time spent working. Importantly, all the studies reporting a statistically significant result for whether a child is working/not working find a clear reduction in child labour associated with cash transfer receipt. Moreover, the vast majority of estimates in studies reporting non-statistically significant results on child work participation rates display a negative coefficient. It is interesting to note here, too, that the significant reductions in recorded child labour are driven by programmes in Latin America (with the addition of one programme in Indonesia and one in Morocco), and that none of the studies reporting on a cash transfer programme in sub-Saharan Africa finds a significant impact. Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

More specifically, a total of 19 studies report cash transfer impacts on child labour force participation. Of the eight studies that find any significant impact, all show a decrease in child labour. In terms of child labour participation by sub-sector, of the eight studies, five report significant results, indicating reductions in various forms of market work, domestic work, own-farm work, and one shift from physical labour to non-physical labour. Five studies report on the impacts on the intensity of overall child labour. All find statistically significant reductions in the number of hours spent working, with reductions ranging from 0.3 fewer hours a week to 2.5 fewer hours a week. Four studies report cash transfer impacts on the number of hours worked by children by sector/type of work. Three studies report at least one significant result, showing a mixture of increased time on a family enterprise, reductions in time spent on own-farm work, and reduced time in domestic work outside the household.

A total of 20 studies report effects on child labour participation among girls, of which 12 report a significant effect with impacts generally showing reduction in child labour for *both* boys and girls. Eight studies report estimates of the impact of cash transfers on girls working by sector. Five report significant effects, of which four show reductions across the board, and one shows an increase in household chores. Seven studies report estimates of the impact of cash transfers on the number of hours worked by girls in different sectors. Five report at least one statistically significant finding, including four studies showing declines in time spent on domestic work, however, another does show an increase in time spent on family enterprise work in Indonesia.

Empowerment

The available evidence shows that transfers can reduce physical abuse of women by men, but also that they may increase non-physical abuse, such as emotional abuse or controlling behaviour. It supports both the theory that increased income lowers stress-related abuse and the theory that increased income enables the woman to bargain out of abuse. The relatively strong evidence that decision-making power increases for women in the beneficiary household also offers substance to this latter theory. Other evidence reveals that risky sexual behaviour and early marriage differ by gender, but for both girls/women and boys/men increased income to an extent lifts the constraints that drive engagement in these behaviours. In the case of women and girls, the evidence that directly or indirectly receiving a transfer reduces the likelihood of having multiple sexual partners indicates that cash transfers may reduce the incidence of relationships that are transactional. Taken together, the evidence in this section points to cash transfers having a positive impact on women's choices as to fertility and engagement in sexual activity. In the case of men and boys, some of the evidence collected here suggests that cash transfers do not have the same effect of reducing risky sexual activity, and in fact may lead to an increase in this type of behaviour.

Coming to the specific findings, eight studies consider the impact of cash transfers on **abuse by a male partner**: six have significant results for physical or sexual abuse, all showing a reduction in abuse. The findings for non-physical (e.g. emotional) abuse are mixed: six studies show significant results for non-physical abuse, of which two indicate a rise in reports of abuse and four indicate a decline. Eight studies examine the impact of cash transfers on **women's decision-making power**; all eight look at expenditure-related decisions and all four significant results indicate a rise in a woman's likelihood of being the sole or joint decision-maker. Five studies also look at involvement in non-expenditure decisions, with mixed findings: one shows a significant decrease in the likelihood of the female being the sole or joint decision-maker and one shows a significant increase (both for decisions relating to contraceptive use).

Six studies look at **marriage**, with five yielding significant results. Three of these indicate delayed marriage for beneficiary women, with one exception. 10 studies report on **fertility** (pregnancy or giving birth) and of the seven studies yielding significant results, five indicate that the transfer decreased the likelihood of pregnancy or giving birth, with two studies showing an increase for Honduras's PRAF. For this programme, it is argued that the programme design linking transfer levels to the number of children could have affected fertility outcomes (Stecklov, 2006). There are 10 papers dealing with the impact of a cash transfer on the **use of contraception**. Five of the six studies with significant results find unambiguous evidence that the transfer increased the use of contraceptives or reduced the likelihood of unsafe sex for both men and women, with another

Page 10

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

study showing mixed results for men. Of the four studies considering the effect of the transfer on an individual having **multiple sexual partners**, three yielded significant results, all of which indicated that the transfer lowered this likelihood – interestingly, the effect was only observed for females.

The role of design and implementation features

The second main research question addressed by this review concerns the evidence as to the role of variations in cash transfer design and implementation features in influencing cash transfer effects on selected outcome indicators. Compared to the evidence available on impacts on outcome areas, the evidence base is smaller: we extracted findings from a total of 55 unique studies.

Core design features

Core design features were considered by 38 unique studies of cash transfers. The features discussed here are: main recipient, transfer value, frequency and duration of transfer payments.

While one might expect differences in outcomes depending on the gender of the **main recipient**, based on the five studies included in this review, for most of the indicators in this review there does not appear to be strong support for differences arising from specifically targeting either men or women. One study did suggest that the age of the recipient, as a proxy for the demographic structure of the household, can affect impacts on attending a health clinic, with members of households with older heads attending less frequently.

The available evidence highlights how variations in the **level of transfer** have significant impacts on a range of indicators. Drawing on 15 studies, higher transfer levels are associated with larger impacts, including higher food expenditure, savings and investment in livestock and improvements in educational and health and nutrition outcomes among beneficiaries of higher transfers compared to those receiving lower transfers. Regarding concerns that higher transfer values may generate work disincentives, the only evidence of decreases in working hours among adults linked to higher transfer levels is among family members taking care of dependents, highlighting that higher transfer values can additionally alleviate the overall work-burden of adult family members. Finally, one study finds an unintended effect associated with higher transfer values, with a larger transfer linked to an increased likelihood of physical abuse by a male partner in Mexico's Oportunidades programme (Angelucci, 2008).

While drawing on just four studies, the evidence relating to **timing and frequency of transfers** suggests that these features can have an important bearing on specific indicators. For instance, the evidence for education reminds us that, as school fees are typically due at specific times of the year, tailoring their timing so that households have sufficient funds available at the right time to pay the fees may help in maximising the impact of a cash transfer on educational outcomes. The same logic applies to agricultural seasons, when cash is required at specific points of the year in order to acquire inputs.

Overall, the evidence extracted from 24 studies on **duration of exposure** points to a number of improvements in outcomes arising from increased duration of exposure to cash transfers, including improvements in health behaviours and child growth outcomes, higher expenditure and food expenditure, lower likelihood of early marriage, pregnancy and greater contraceptive use. Results are mixed in relation to labour supply. Evidence from one study also highlights that households that stop receiving transfers can experience serious difficulties, even after receiving the transfer for a number of years previously.

Page 11

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Conditionality

Of the eight studies directly comparing a CCT to a UCT, six find (somewhat) bigger impacts for education and health and nutrition outcomes for CCTs and / or significant impacts where they are not significant for UCTs (four of these differences are statistically significant). As such, there is some evidence that making transfers conditional on certain behaviours or actions can positively affect the outcomes relating to the conditions on which the transfers are conditioned. Understanding what it is about conditionalities included in a cash transfer programme (e.g. type of behavioural requirement, communication of the prescribed behaviour to the public, planned response to non-compliance, implementation in practice) that influences programme outcomes was one of the questions of interest to this review. While it was not possible to disentangle which aspect of conditions was driving the results in most studies, a number of studies highlight the role of people's perceptions of whether a conditionality is in place or not and of the messaging or communication of desired behaviours in facilitating intended outcomes. Such findings point to the potential for clear communication regarding the importance of service use and support in accessing relevant services to contribute to progress towards programme objectives (for instance in education and health and nutrition), beyond the implementation of additional elements of conditionality such as sanctionary responses to non-compliance associated with potentially high administrative and social costs.

Targeting

The one study in the review that considered variations in targeting mechanisms shows that transfers targeted through a general vulnerability index, compared to those targeted on the basis of age categories, had stronger impacts on food expenditure and some productivity and investment indicators.

Payment mechanisms

Two studies focusing on the same programme show that the way transfers were paid does not affect selected indicators for savings, where theoretically one would predict a shift in behaviour, but did affect other outcomes, such as types of crops grown and dietary diversity.

Complementary interventions and supply-side services

The nine studies of complementary interventions show that supplementing cash transfers with appropriate training, grants or products in many cases strengthens the intended impacts of the programme. This is seen most clearly for savings, investment and production, and also health and nutrition. The evidence also reveals unanticipated impacts from complementary interventions. Examples include the rise in non-agricultural labour among children in households that received a productive investment grant in addition to a basic cash transfer, and the rise in controlling behaviour by a male partner who participated in group training but is not the beneficiary of the programme.

Conclusion

Cash transfers can have wide-ranging impacts

Overall, the evidence reflects how powerful a policy instrument cash transfers can be, and highlights the range of potential benefits for beneficiaries. For studies reporting statistically significant results, the vast majority are in the direction policy-makers intend to achieve. This finding is particularly impressive given its consistency across the critical outcome areas and high number of indicators covered by this review.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

The review also uncovers a number of studies that find no statistically significant effect of transfers on the indicators reviewed and some studies which flag unintended effects. The review highlights how these vary depending on the underlying indicator and on factors linked with programme design and implementation features.

Clear and significant impacts are especially well documented for intended first- and second-order outcomes, such as expenditure on food and other household items, access to schooling or use of health services. Importantly, cash transfers are shown to have impacts on a range of outcomes simultaneously, for instance greater school attendance is consistently accompanied by a reduction in child labour. There is also robust evidence that cash transfers can affect first- and second-order outcomes that are generally not the immediate focus of many programmes, such as savings, productive investments and diversification of livelihood strategies. Positive impacts on investment in livestock and agricultural inputs are consistently found across CCTs in Latin America and UCTs in sub-Saharan Africa, suggesting that cash transfers can not only play a role in reducing poverty by redistributing resources to the poor, but can also foster their economic autonomy and self-sufficiency.

The review highlights how the evidence is more limited in size and less strong for changes in thirdorder outcomes – that is, medium- to long-term effects – linked to cash transfers. This is partly due to the nature of these indicators, which may require longer time periods for impacts to become manifest, meaning the timescale of the evaluations reviewed here does not enable the capture of such impacts.

The review also investigates the potential unintended effects of cash transfers. Two results of particular interest are summarised here, concerning: (1) the potential for cash transfers to generate work disincentive effects, to be associated with a reduction in labour supply and work effort, and (2) the potential for cash transfers, especially those targeted at households with children, to be associated with an increase in fertility. Interestingly, the evidence reviewed here does not support these concerns. With regard to work, more than 50% of studies on adult work participation and intensity rates showed that employment outcomes were unaffected by the transfer. Among those studies reporting a significant effect among adult workers, the majority find an *increase* in work participation. Where a reduction in work participation or work intensity is reported, this reflects a reduction in participation among the elderly or is linked to reductions in casual work. With regard to fertility, the review shows that for five out of seven studies, with the exception of two studies on the same programme (PRAF in Honduras in Stecklov et al., 2006), the cash transfer led to a statistically significant *decrease* in the number of pregnancies among beneficiaries, compared to those who did not receive the transfer.

Impact trajectories can differ for women and girls

One of the key policy questions relating to cash transfers is whether they can play a role in addressing gender-based inequalities. This review considers: (1) whether impacts differ for women and girls, compared to men and boys, and (2) whether impacts differ across households according to the sex of the household head or main beneficiary/recipient.

In particular, compared with other outcomes examined in the review, there is a strong evidence base relating to the implications of cash transfers for women and girls in education, employment and empowerment. The studies reviewed show a clear improvement in education indicators for girls associated with receipt of cash transfers. On the whole, they highlight an increase in school attendance, with weaker but still positive effects for girls associated with cash transfer receipt in cognitive development and test scores.

With respect to work indicators, the available evidence mostly reports on cash transfers leading to a reduction in labour force participation and work intensity for girls. It also finds some differential effects for men and women. In this respect, one of the main emerging themes around gendered effects concerns changes in time allocation for different activities, with a few studies finding an increase in time spent on domestic work by women linked to cash transfers, suggesting that mothers may be substituting for their daughters' reduced work efforts when they start attending Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

school more regularly. Such results raise questions about the demands on women's time, and time use more generally, especially when there are additional programme-imposed requirements, for instance in the form of attending meetings or participating in complementary interventions and supply-side programmes. These trade-offs could be carefully weighed up by policy-makers, especially in light of existing constraints faced by women and common intra-household allocation of responsibilities, with the bulk of care work commonly falling mostly on women.

In the field of empowerment, the review found that while transfers tend to increase women's decision-making power and reduce physical abuse, in some cases these impacts were accompanied by increased non-physical abuse, such as emotional abuse or controlling behaviour, by male partners. This suggests that when a transfer is specifically targeted at women, the design, implementation and monitoring and evaluation stages could include considerations of context-specific gender relations and the underlying drivers of gender-based inequalities.

Theory suggests there are several reasons why variations in the impact of cash transfers by sex of the household head and sex of the main beneficiary/recipient might be expected. Studies of the effects of cash transfers on food expenditure find that these do not differ for female-headed households or female recipients compared with their male couterparts. In terms of investment, a number of studies found greater impacts for female-headed households compared with male-headed households. This challenges the notion of female recipients focusing their transfers on their children, as earlier reviews suggest (e.g. Yoong et al., 2012). This finding may partly be explained by the fact that female-headed households often have lower initial levels of productive assets than those headed by men. This means that programme implementers could potentially expect to see greater proportionate improvements in productive investments when targeting female-headed households.

Research gaps

The review allows for the identification of a number of areas where further research could usefully contribute to our understanding of how cash transfers work, and help move current policy discussions forward. Five broad areas are summarised below.

First, the evidence base would benefit from additional rigorous evaluations of cash transfer programmes in low- and middle-income countries beyond Latin America and, to a lesser extent, sub-Saharan Africa. The majority of the studies in the review were from these two regions, despite a growing number of cash transfer programmes, including several with comparatively high population coverage, implemented in other regions.

Second, in terms of interventions, the review highlights how much of the available evidence is drawn from the experience of CCTs. Such information could be usefully complemented with additional evidence arising from UCTs, especially regarding the role of their specific design and implementation features. In addition, given the growing interest in the use of enterprise grants for supporting productive inclusion, and the large number of social pensions that now exist, there is scope for a greater focus on evaluations of these types of cash transfer interventions.

Third, there is scope in future evaluations for a greater focus on higher order outcomes that are of ultimate policy interest, such as child growth measures and health status or educational performance. However, given the particular challenge of influencing such outcomes through cash transfers alone, flexible but rigorous mixed-methods approaches, based on a strong theory of change analysis and conceptual underpinnings, will be crucial moving forward. This would allow the question of which factors, relating to programme design and implementation, as well as local context, support or undermine such impacts, to be effectively addressed.

Fourth, there is a need for disaggregated analysis according to individual- and household-level characteristics, particularly those dimensions for which high vulnerability and inequality are observed. The focus in this review on the size and quality of the evidence of the impact of cash transfers on women and girls has highlighted how, for some outcomes in particular, much more could be done to improve our understanding of the extent to which specific programmes tackle

Page 14

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

gender-related vulnerabilities and inequalities, and of the design and implementation features which help to ensure such issues are addressed.

Finally, the review of evidence on the role of programme design and implementation features demonstrates their importance in mediating impacts, but also shows how the evidence base explicitly testing such features remains small. The main knowledge gaps here include the role of grievance mechanisms and programme governance, payment mechanisms, as well as specific design details of cash transfer components, such as variations in the details of conditionality design and implementation.

Page 15

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Page 16

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Background and objectives of this review

Cash transfers have been increasingly adopted by low- and middle-income countries as central elements of their poverty reduction and social protection strategies (Barrientos, 2013; DFID, 2011; Hanlon et al., 2010; Honorati et al., 2015). One hundred and thirty low- and middle-income countries now have at least one non-contributory unconditional cash transfer programme (including poverty-targeted transfers and old-age social pensions; with growth in programme adoption especially high in Africa, where 40 countries out of 48 in the region now have a UCT, doubling since 2010) and 63 countries have at least one conditional cash transfer programme (up from 2 countries in 1997 and 27 countries in 2008) (Honorati et al., 2015). This expansion has been accompanied by evaluations yielding a growing body of evidence on the impact of different programmes. More recently, closer attention has been paid to the programme design and implementation details that are associated with such results.

While there is now a growing number of literature reviews focusing on specific outcome areas and indicators, few have pulled together findings across a range of broad outcomes, or examined the role of different cash transfer design and implementation features in a single review. This review aims to retrieve, assess and synthesise the existing body of evidence on the impacts of cash transfers and their design and implementation features. It covers the cash transfers literature of 15 years, from 2000 to 2015.

More specifically, the review addresses three overarching research questions:

- 1. What is the evidence of the impact of cash transfers on a wide range of individual- or household-level outcomes, including unintended outcomes?
- 2. What do we know about the links between variations in cash transfer design and implementation features and cash transfer outcomes?
- 3. What is the evidence of the impacts of cash transfers, and of variations in their design and implementation components, on women and girls?

The review focuses on cash transfers targeted at individuals or households and delivered by the state or non-governmental organisations (NGOs). The programmes or policies considered are generally funded out of general taxation or by donors. As such, social insurance cash transfers financed through employer and employee contributions are not covered, although non-contributory pensions such as old-age social pensions are included. In all, four broad types of cash transfer programme are considered: unconditional cash transfers (UCTs), conditional cash transfers (CCTs), social pensions and enterprise grants.

It is worth highlighting upfront the range of policies that such cash transfers include, reflecting important differences in terms of policy rationale, objectives and design details. By way of example, studies reviewed here analyse cash transfer programmes which range from Uganda's Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS) cash transfer, (which identified 1,800 poor people, mostly women, in 120 war-affected villages with the aim of helping them start small but sustainable retail and trading enterprises), to national programmes such as Brazil's Bolsa Família (reaching over 26% of Brazil's population, or 55 million people, with the objective of providing a minimum income to low-income individuals and families while promoting school and education

Page 17

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

service use), and Mexico's Adultos Mayores social pension (providing support to individuals aged 70 and over, covering 2.1 million beneficiaries across Mexico).

This review examines the impact of cash transfers on six broad outcome areas:

- monetary poverty
- education
- health and nutrition
- savings, investment and production
- employment and
- empowerment.

It searches, retrieves, assesses and consolidates evidence on the impact of cash transfers on selected indicators for these broad outcomes. Furthermore, the review examines the evidence of the role played by variations in cash transfer design and implementation features on the cash transfer outcomes considered.

The six cash transfer design and implementation features covered are:

- core cash transfer design features (e.g. transfer levels and duration of participation)
- conditionality
- targeting
- payment systems
- grievance mechanisms and programme governance
- complementary interventions and supply-side services.

For each of the six outcome areas, 5–7 priority indicators were selected, based on their policy relevance, coverage in the literature and prevalence of sex-disaggregated results. For each of these, evidence is extracted at the highest level of aggregation reported by a study and, where available, for women and girls. Impact estimates for the latter were also extracted by age, when available.

Table 1.1 Cash transfers review: six outcomes and their selected indicators

Poverty	Education	Health and nutrition	Savings, investment and production	Employment	Empowerment
Total household expenditure	Attendance	Use of health services	Household savings	Adult labour force participation	Sexual abuse by male partner
Food expenditure	Maths test scores	Dietary diversity	Borrowing	Child work	Non-sexual abuse by male partner
Poverty headcount	Language test scores	Child stunting	Agricultural productive assets	Adult labour intensity	Women's decision- making power
Poverty gap	Composite test scores	Child wasting	Agricultural input expenditure	Child labour intensity	Marriage
Squared poverty gap	Cognitive development	Child underweight	Livestock ownership	Adult labour force participation and intensity by sector	Fertility
			Involvement in business and enterprise	Child work and intensity by sector	Use of contraception
				Migration	Multiple sexual partners

Source: Authors

The report aims to act as an information source for policy practitioners and policy-makers, academics and others to help inform policy processes and debates. It is accompanied by an annotated bibliography (Harman et al., 2016), which provides a comprehensive source of information on a wide range of written documents (including papers published in peer-reviewed journals, working papers, unpublished reports and theses) which satisfy the review's screening and quality assessment criteria. The annotated bibliography aims to facilitate researchers' and practitioners' direct access to rigorous cash transfer studies and evaluations by outcomes covered, country and cash transfer programme/policy.

Page 18

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

The review represents a unique effort in terms of:

- the range of outcomes covered, some of which have not been the subject of a rigorous review
- the focus on both overall cash transfer impacts, and on evidence of the role of programme design and implementation features in shaping transfer ourcomes
- the methodological approach, which combines systematic searches and rigorous analytical approaches to ensure validity of the evidence reported while allowing for a more flexible handling of retrieval and analysis
- the breadth of evidence covered, summarising the rigorous evidence published over the course of 15 years, from 2000 to 2015 (much of it recent and including programmes running at scale in sub-Saharan Africa), and covering a range of different types of publication including articles from peer-reviewed journals and grey literature.

Compared with previous reviews of cash transfers, by reviewing the evidence on a large number of outcomes and indicators, the present review enables the pulling together of information across outcome areas, highlighting links and the range of ways in which cash transfers shape outcomes. The attention paid to the role of cash transfer design and implementation details addresses one of the limitations of some of the existing reviews: their focus on summarising the evidence on impacts, providing limited insights into what it is about the cash transfers that affects impacts. By retrieving and consolidating evidence on the role of design and implementation features, this review aims to make explicit the policy implications that arise from existing policy analysis and evaluations, highlighting policy options and trade-offs and helping to inform policy debate directly. The methodological approach reflects these aims and facilitates the retrieval and analysis of rigorous evidence that is relevant to uncovering both the impacts of cash transfers and the links between variations in their design and implementation features and outcomes. Finally, the breadth of evidence covered in terms of number of years and types of publication means that the present review provides an update to previous ones and extends the evidence base to include findings from a larger range of cash transfer programmes in terms of geographic coverage.

1.2 Structure of the report

The report is structured in three sections, in turn organised in chapters, for a total of 12 chapters. It is also accompanied by five annexes, which provide additional detailed information (including on the study screening and assessment process and on the evidence retrieved). In addition to reading the report in its entirety, given the length and breadth of the review, readers may consider consulting specific chapters depending on their area of interest and reasons for consulting the document. In addition to reporting results from the review in detailed and summarised form, this report provides resources and tools for policy analysts and practitioners which can be used as stand-alone pieces to inform policy analysis and discussion. These are highlighted below.

The report's section I sets the context for the review, presents key background information, outlines the methodological approach adopted and summarises the evidence base (e.g. number of studies, type of evidence, geographic and policy coverage) obtained by the review. It is made up of the following chapters:

Chapter 2: The conceptual framework

This chapter provides an overarching conceptual framework outlining the channels through which cash transfers shape outcomes and summarise the main theories and claims linking cash transfer interventions to outcomes. Drawing on a review of existing theories of change for cash transfers, this overarching framework aims to set the context for the review, clarifying the main terminology used and priority policy questions concerning the ways in which cash transfers work. The chapter then narrows its attention to the six outcome areas of focus of the review and their selected indicators. It discusses examples of the potential intended and unintended impacts of cash transfers and of variations in their design and implementation features across the selected indicators.

Page 19

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Chapter 3: Review of cash transfer reviews

The review of cash transfer reviews in Chapter 3 takes stock of existing systematic reviews and other literature reviews on the impact of cash transfers. With the objectives of positioning the present review in the context of existing cash transfer reviews and of informing the findings of the present review with those of previous ones, it provides an overview of existing reviews (e.g. outcome categories covered, years covered, number of studies/evaluations from which evidence is extracted) and summarises the main findings relevant to this study. Findings from previous reviews are discussed with respect to the six broad outcome areas selected (i.e. monetary poverty, education, health and nutrition, etc.) and the six design and implementation features of interest (i.e. core design features, conditionality, targeting, etc.).

Chapter 4: Methods

Chapter 4 describes the steps involved in the retrieval and inclusion of studies in the review, as well as those concerning the evidence extraction and synthesis stages. It provides detailed information on the literature searches, criteria for inclusion, study screening and assessment process and evidence extraction and synthesis stages. Annex 2 of this report provides the tools employed, including the search protocols and the tools used to assess studies. Annex 3 reports the number of studies retrieved from different search tracks and detailed search flow diagrams for each search conducted.

Chapter 5: The evidence base

Information on the scale of the evidence across different outcomes and by programme design and implementation feature and the underlying methods, types of publication, types of programme and geographical coverage are presented in Chapter 5. This chapter also discusses the reasons for exclusion of studies from the review.

Section II

Section II reports the evidence as retrieved, consolidated and analysed by this review organised by the six outcome areas in six chapters (monetary poverty; education; health and nutrition; savings, investment and production; employment and empowerment). All six chapters follow a common basic structure, starting with a box summarising the rigorous evidence on the selected indicators of the respective outcome followed by sections reporting: a summary of findings, a summary of the evidence base, results on the impact of cash transfers on the selected indicators, results on the impact of cash transfers on the selected indicators, results on the impact of cash transfers and the selected indicators and, finally, a discussion of the policy implications arising from the evidence and its analysis. For all outcomes, results on the impacts of cash transfers measured for women and girls and evidence of the role of programme design features are reported in annex 5.

Chapter 6: The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

This chapter provides both summary and detailed results on the evidence of the impact of cash transfers on total household expenditure, food expenditure and poverty measures (poverty headcount, gap and squared poverty gap).

Chapter 7: The impact of cash transfers on education

Evidence of the impact of cash transfers – and of variations in their design and implementation features – is reported for the following indicators: attendance, maths test scores, language test scores, composite test scores and cognitive development.

Page 20

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Chapter 8: The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

This chapter reports the results of the review on health and nutrition, covering the following indicators: use of health services, dietary diversity, child stunting, child wasting and child underweight.

Chapter 9: The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

This chapter reports summary and detailed results on the evidence of cash transfer impacts on: household savings, borrowing, agricultural productive assets, agricultural input expenditure, livestock ownership and involvement in business and enterprise.

Chapter 10: The impact of cash transfers on employment

The review also retrieved, assessed, consolidated and analysed evidence on the impact of cash transfers on the following indicators reported in this chapter: adult labour force participation, child labour force participation, adult labour intensity, child labour intensity, adult labour force participation by sector, adult labour intensity by sector, child labour by sector, child labour intensity by sector and migration.

Chapter 11: The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

Chapter 11 reports the results regarding the impact of cash transfers on the selected indicators relating to empowerment: sexual abuse by male partner, non-sexual abuse by male partner, women's decision-making power, marriage, fertility, use of contraception and multiple sexual partners.

Section III

Section III of the report draws together the main findings of the review in a synthesised form and identifies and discusses the main policy implications arising from the evidence in a single, final chapter.

Chapter 12: Summary of findings and conclusions

The conclusion provides a summary of the evidence base on cash transfers by outcome area, design and implementation feature, geographic coverage and type of programme. It then summarises the evidence on the impacts of cash transfers on the selected outcomes and indicators and discusses results both in term of statistical significance and direction of effects. It also provides summary information on the evidence of impacts on women and girls. This is followed by a more detailed discussion of results by outcome area and by variations in programme design and implementation details. The final section draws out overall conclusions, linking these to some of the debates in the cash-transfer field, and identifies areas for future research.

Page 21

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

This chapter is organised in two sections. First, it outlines the overarching conceptual framework for reviewing the evidence on the multiple intended and unintended impacts of cash transfers. Second, it identifies the six outcome areas of focus of this review, lists the selected indicators for which evidence is extracted and discusses the ways in which cash transfers, and variations in their design and implementation features, may affect such indicators. While we do not aim to provide a comprehensive theory of change for each outcome area and selected indicator, Section 2 provides examples of the channels through which cash transfers and their specific design and implementation features may exert intended and unintended effects on them.

The conceptual framework and specific reviews of outcome indicators build on those discussed in DFID (2011) and in Fiszbein and Schady (2009), and on a further review of existing theories of change (TOCs) for cash transfers, including those developed for a number of influential cash transfer programmes (Browne, 2013; Tirivayi et al., 2013; Department of Social Development et al., 2012; Pellerano et al., 2012; FAO, 2015; IEG, 2011; and Gaarder et al., 2010 among others).¹

2.1 Overarching conceptual framework

The core theoretical case in support of cash transfers revolves around a sequence of intended positive impacts. When cash is transferred in a predictable way directly to households or individuals it is expected to be used in ways that have immediate effects on household expenditure (food, health and education, as well as other household needs) and saving/investment behaviour. Additionally, it can have longer-term effects on households' human capital, asset accumulation and livelihood strategies, in turn reducing poverty and vulnerability, and increasing resilience.

A wave of impact evaluations of cash transfer programmes worldwide has explored these hypotheses, while drawing attention to other unintended effects or other types of impacts – including changes in bargaining power and gender relations, social relations, psychosocial wellbeing. There is also a potential role of cash transfers in affecting community-level dynamics – productivity and growth within local economies, local labour markets and existing social networks – as well as macro-level outcomes.

The objective of this conceptual framework is to provide an overarching logical structure for the classification and interpretation of the multiple pathways of change that can originate from cash transfers. It serves as a basis to guide, limit and orient this review throughout all phases, from the literature search to analysis. A stylised visualisation of the conceptual framework is shown in Figure 1 below, while the specific 'theories of change' for the six outcome areas and the selected indicators that are object of this review are discussed in the next section. A few elements are worth noting:

First, the conceptual framework includes a strong focus on individual- and household-level outcomes, since these are the central area of inquiry of this review. Although meso- and macro-level outcomes are mentioned and represented in Figure 1, the attention is primarily on micro-level variables and the potential channels of impact on these. Second, although a range of factors

Contents

Page 22

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

influencing the ways in which cash transfers operate and affect outcomes are acknowledged and discussed, attention is concentrated on the role played by their design and implementation details. Since one of the primary motivations of the present review is the consolidation and synthesis of the evidence on the impact of cash transfer design and implementation features, the conceptual framework and the outcome/indicator-specific section that follows below include a more detailed overview of the potential ways in which such features can affect outcomes (compared with the potential mediating effects of other factors such as local- and country-level constraints and enablers). Third, in order to graphically represent and organise the large variety of impacts that can derive from the transfer of cash to individuals or households, outcomes have been organised around three main 'orders of outcome'.²

- *First-order outcomes* refer to those income and expenditure effects that may be understood to be triggered as a direct consequence of receiving cash through a cash transfer.
- *Second-order outcomes*, or intermediate outcomes, broadly refer to those behavioural changes that primarily derive as a consequence of some of the immediate income effects discussed above.
- Third-order outcomes, or final outcomes, refer to medium- to long-term impacts.

Finally, in the conceptual framework, the individual and household-level outcomes are mainly discussed at a high level of aggregation, with only limited specification of particular individual and household groups (e.g. by characteristics such as age, gender, disability, ethnicity). However, a specific area of interest in this review is the evidence of the impacts of cash transfers on women and girls. For this reason, this section also includes a brief section motivating the focus in this review on retrieving, extracting and synthesising the evidence of cash transfer impacts on women and girls.

2.1.1 Individual, intra-household and household-level outcomes (Micro)

First-order outcomes

The stylised theory of change in Figure 2.1 depicts a simplification of reality by focusing on the three main uses of cash when transferred to an individual or household.³ Additional resources are either:

- **Spent**: on food, other individual or household goods (soap, clothes, furniture, etc.), or to access services (education, transport, health, etc.). Cash may also be spent on other less 'desirable' goods such as alcohol and tobacco (unintended effects).
- Saved: if liquidity constraints are weakened or no longer binding, a cash transfer recipient may increase formal savings (e.g. in banks) and/or participation in formal and informal savings groups, such as merry-go-rounds. With increased creditworthiness and reliable payments acting as collateral, recipients may also increase their access to credit or use the money to pay off existing debt.
- **Invested**: The alleviation of credit and liquidity constraints and increased certainty of income can enable cash transfer recipient households to invest in assets or services. There can also be reduced disinvestment and distress sale of assets as a consequence of cash transfers, as discussed below.

2 We acknowledge that this ultimately forces reality, but it is a useful categorisation for analytical purposes.

3 For further reference see also: Deaton (1992); DSD, SASSA and UNICEF (2012); Barrientos (2012). Note that, in some cases, additional income could also be transferred to other households, leading to potential spillover effects within a community.

Page 23

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Figure 2.1 Conceptual framework



Source: Authors

Second-order outcomes

Health and education⁴

The additional cash provided to households can boost household income and reduce the household liquidity/credit constraints by covering the direct, indirect and opportunity costs associated with school enrolment, attendance and retention, along with health service access. Direct costs for education that cash transfers can help cover include fees (especially for secondary schooling), uniforms, school materials and books; for health care, fees and medicines. Indirect costs include travel costs (particularly high for secondary schooling or specialised health care) and bribes paid to access services. Opportunity costs mainly include foregone earnings, either of the child while in school (education versus child labour and household chores) or of the patient and carer while seeking care.

Interestingly, these effects can also be strengthened through other channels represented in the framework. For example:

- Changes in *labour participation decisions and time allocation decisions* can directly lead to reduced child labour, with effects on school attendance and retention.
- Expenditure on food (quantity and type) increases children's *nutritional status*, with immediate consequences in terms of health status (morbidity, etc.) and potential impacts on schooling (concentration, absenteeism, etc.).
- Expenditure on other household goods such as shoes and soap can boost children's willingness to participate in schooling, as an effect of *increased self-acceptance*, *pride and dignity*, and reduced stigma. Such effects can also affect access to health care services.

Executive summary

Acknowledgements

SECTION I

Page 24

Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

4 Useful examples of the theoretical framework and 'Theory of Change' for cash transfers' impact on education can be found in Reimers et al. (2006) and Baird et al. (2012). Similarly, examples for health can be found in Lundberg et al. (2010); Gaarder et al. (2010); Forde et al. (2011) and Pega et al. (2014).

• Changes in *intra-household bargaining processes and decision-making* can also affect access to health and education services: having an additional source of income that is not 'earmarked' in the household budget means that money can be spent beyond the standard spending categories of that household (this is based on the idea of 'mental accounting').⁵

Food intake, dietary diversity, food security⁶

Poor households spend large proportions of their income on food. In the case of cash transfers, it is argued that increased expenditure on food can translate into:

- Increases in overall quantities of food consumed (food intake).
- Consumption of a wider selection of food types (e.g. more meat, a wider variety of vegetables, use of cooking oil, etc.), leading to an improved dietary diversity.
- Improvements in overall food security i.e. prevention of negative responses to food insecurity such as skipping meals.
- Potentially, a shift to lower-effort and higher-fat food types (ready-made food, snacks, etc.).

Such shifts in nutritional behaviour are of course the direct consequence of the increased cash availability, but in the medium term they can also be linked to other elements within the framework. For example, thanks to *investment in farm assets* cash might be spent on seeds to grow more food, or a goat to provide milk which can be consumed or sold for additional income. *Intra-household decision-making dynamics* may also affect who exactly within the household is benefitting from such improved nutrition (e.g. children versus adults, male versus female). Shifts in household education levels, as well as increased knowledge and awareness (e.g. through tailored educational sessions) can also have an impact on feeding and care practices.

Farm and non-farm asset building and diversification of strategies⁷

The literature widely documents how 'insecurity leads to inefficient use of resources by those in poverty, for example, by forcing rural poor households to opt for low-risk/low-return crops and production methods' and to 'hold liquid but less productive assets' (Barrientos, 2012).

Households facing reduced credit and liquidity constraints and increased certainty and security who invest cash transfer income face a wider set of investment choices, encompassing higher risk and higher-yielding strategies. For examples, recipients can:

- Invest in on-farm activities and assets. This may include purchasing or renting additional or more productive land, farm inputs, livestock and livestock inputs, as well as hiring additional labour or investing in complementary services (e.g. insurance). Shifts in the use of inputs and techniques may also occur (e.g. setting up irrigation system).
- Invest in non-farm activities and assets. Given the economic context in which most cash transfer households live, investments can be directed to purchasing stock for petty trading, but also for setting up small service businesses and other activities.

However, these households are likely to be a minority, given the high credit constraints of the poor. In fact, shifts in access to credit as a consequence of becoming a cash transfer recipient are possibly the most important mediating factors of such effects.

5 For more details on why this is the case, see Richard T. Thaler's seminal 1990 article 'Anomalies: saving, fungibility and mental accounts'.

6 Useful examples of the theoretical framework and 'Theory of Change' for cash transfers' impact on food intake, dietary diversity and food security can be found in Leroy et al. (2009); Gaarder et al. (2010); Manley et al. (2012); and Holmes and Bhuvanendra (2013).

7 Useful examples of the theoretical framework and 'Theory of Change' for cash transfers' impact on farm and non-farm asset building and diversification of strategies can be found in Asfaw et al. (2012); Barrientos (2012); Tirivayi et al. (2013)

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Labour market participation and employment⁸

As a direct consequence of the changes in household circumstances brought about by cash transfers (and consequent investment decisions and shifts in risk/time preferences), households may reallocate household labour and time. In terms of work participation, conventional economic theory predicts that targeted cash transfers generate a labour disincentive effect, particularly when the targeting mechanism leads to a high benefit withdrawal rate. At the same time, cash transfers can be associated with improved health and nutrition outcomes that could lead to increased labour market participation. The literature highlights a range of potential effects, including the following:

- changes in labour market participation (e.g. withdrawing from or joining the labour market)
- · reducing or increasing the number of hours worked
- shifting labour patterns for example shifts from on-farm to non-farm work, from casual work to own-farm work/work on own business, or between informal and formal work
- reducing distress sale of labour (low-paid, highly degrading/undesirable labour) specifically, households with sufficient labour capacity would be expected to decrease risky incomegeneration activities (commercial sex, begging and theft), low-risk yet less profitable activities and distress sale of labour in favour of potentially riskier and more profitable strategies
- related to the above, reduction or increases in child labour⁹
- increasing investment in searching for a job.

Self-acceptance, pride, dignity and hopefulness¹⁰

Expenditure by beneficiary households on 'general household items' such as clothes, furniture, toiletries and home improvements could be perceived as being non-productive as it does not generate any immediately tangible effects in terms of the most widely cited categories of impact (e.g. health and nutrition, education). However, such expenditure can have important effects on individuals' self-acceptance, self-esteem, pride and dignity. This is due to beneficiaries being able to be better dressed (new clothes, school shoes and uniforms for children), clean (e.g. purchase of soap) and proud of their home environment (e.g. new furniture or roof).

Increased expenditure is not the only way such dimensions of wellbeing can be triggered. For example, thanks to the cash transfer, recipients can become less dependent on others and reciprocate the support they receive, re-entering social networks that were excluded to them. More generally, the cash gives them the means to make decisions about their own lives and plan for the future (linked to the changes in decision-making cited above), triggering hopefulness. The secondary impacts of such individual-level changes can be wide-ranging, as reiterated in this conceptual framework.

Third-order outcomes

School learning, performance and progression¹¹

The extent to which increased school enrolment, attendance and retention effectively lead to learning, cognitive development and improved performance and progression (as measured by test scores and pass rates) is issue for debate, especially as such a casual linkage is strongly mediated by the quality of schooling provided. Nevertheless, improved educational outcomes have also been

8 Useful examples of the theoretical framework and 'Theory of Change' for cash transfers' impact on labour market participation and employment can be found in Moffitt (2002); Alzúa et al. (2010); OEECD (2011); Asfaw et al. (2012); Barrientos (2012); Tirivayi et al. (2013); de Hoop and Rosati (2014) (focus on child labour).

- 9 By modifying the propensity to attend school and by changing the returns to child labour (de Hoop and Rosati, 2014).
- 10 Useful examples of the theoretical framework and 'Theory of Change' for cash transfers' impact on self-acceptance, pride, dignity and hopefulness can be found in Attah et al. (2016); Tirivayi et al. (2013).
- 11 For the second order outcomes on health and nutrition discussed above, relevant literature includes Reimers et al. (2006) and Baird et al. (2012).

Page 26

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

linked to children's increasing self-acceptance and pride and consequent psychosocial wellbeing (see below) as well as improved nutrition (better able to concentrate in class and perform in exams), meaning cash transfers can potentially have an impact on these dimensions. Increased gains from schooling in terms of cognitive and non-cognitive development can influence in the longer-run employability and earning potential.

Health status and nutritional outcomes¹²

Increased access to health care services and expenditure on health care, together with improved nutrition and increased cleanliness (and therefore hygiene) can improve household members' health status, especially children and mothers'. This may be manifested in many different ways, including a reduction in maternal and child mortality and morbidity, and a reduction in prevalence of underweight children and stunting. If cash transfers are also linked to complementary awareness and training services, such effects can be further enhanced (improved caring practices for children, etc.).

Psychosocial wellbeing and social capital¹³

'Psychosocial wellbeing' mixes the concept of psychological (or subjective) wellbeing trying to draw more attention to social influences on wellbeing. cash transfers can promote psychosocial wellbeing thanks to the mutually reinforcing effects on recipients' self-acceptance, self-esteem, pride, dignity and hopefulness (discussed above), on their overall mental health (e.g. reducing stress due to liquidity and credit constraints) and on their ability to engage in meaningful and effective relationships with others – including public institutions (re-entering social networks). This last dimension is linked to recipients potentially 're-entering' the social life of their extended families and communities (not being perceived as a burden anymore; being perceived as 'clean', etc.), and increasing participation in faith-based and traditional events and in contribution-based networks (e.g. community-based savings groups, funeral societies) – all important elements of increased social capital. Social transfers may also promote social capital through regular interactions between local communities and authorities, for instance at payment points and in related information-sharing fora.

It should also be noted that beneficiaries who are able to access contribution-based networks and risk-sharing arrangements (reciprocal lending and borrowing, burial societies, etc.) are less vulnerable to shocks, less marginalised and more likely to mimic the behaviour of the richer members of the community (e.g. in terms of accessing services). On the other hand, receipt of the transfer can also undermine traditional forms of social protection (see below) and negatively affect households' decisions in terms of human capital accumulation.

Safe transition to adulthood¹⁴

The transition to adulthood is a critical phase when behaviours and events in young people's lives have lasting impacts on their life trajectories, and when health and wellbeing can be influenced by economic and social factors. Adolescents are at risk of exposure to violence, HIV infection and early pregnancy and/or marriage, as well as the potential adoption of so-called 'risky' sexual behaviours (early debut, multiple partners, substance abuse, transactional sex, etc.). Such behaviours can lead to educational drop-out or underachievement and be linked to depression and low self-esteem.

To the extent that cash transfers increase the income available to the household, they can affect these life-course choices of young adults, females especially. For example, the additional cash might reduce female financial dependence on others, meaning marriage choices could be delayed

Page 27

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹² For the second order outcomes on health and nutrition discussed above, the relevant literature includes: Leroy et al. (2009); Lundberg et al. (2010); Gaarder et al. (2010); Manley et al. (2012); Forde et al. (2011); Holmes and Bhuvanendra (2013); and Pega et al. (2014).

¹³ Useful examples of the theoretical framework and 'Theory of Change' for cash transfers' impact on psychosocial wellbeing and social capital can be found in Attah et al. (2016); Attanasio et al. (2009); Vigorito et al. (2013); Barca et al. (2015).

¹⁴ Relevant literature includes Hargreaves et al. (2008); Pettifor et al. (2008); Robinson and Yeh (2012); Palermo et al. (2015) and recent publications by the UNICEF Innocenti Office of Research (most notably Palermo, 2015).

and 'sugar daddy' relationships or transactional sex avoided (the same goes for opting out of certain 'last resort' jobs that put women at risk of violence). Impacts on schooling (see above) can also have a role. For example, improvements in school attendance may decrease the likelihood that young people will have sex with partners of older age groups (who are more likely to be HIV infected) and expose young people to knowledge relating to HIV and pregnancy prevention, while also giving them aspirations for the future (less likely to marry early). A role may also be played by shifts in adolescents' psychosocial wellbeing and overall mental health and shifts in access to health care and exposure to health-related training (e.g. educational sessions, etc.).

Livelihood strategies diversification, productivity and income earning potential¹⁵

'Third-order outcomes' of cash transfers also relate to individuals' and households' changing livelihood strategies (and consequent income earning potential) as a consequence of changes in intra-household decision-making, labour allocation of household members, investments that improve income-generation capacity, and changes in risk-management behaviour. Overall, increased investment in on-farm and non-farm assets and shifting labour allocations can also lead to some level of diversification of livelihood strategies and an increase in productivity, in turn generating additional sources of income and earnings for the household, if market conditions allow.

Resilience and adaptive capacity¹⁶

Regular and predictable payments, increased precautionary savings and the ability to access credit through formal and informal sharing mechanisms can also help prevent detrimental risk-coping strategies (e.g. distress sale of assets, borrowing, reduced spending and, potentially, eating), especially in the face of both idiosyncratic and covariate shocks, leading to increased resilience of recipient households.

In the longer term, some of the changes generated by cash transfers can also have an impact on households' adaptive capacity, for example by helping the poor respond to climate-related shocks, helping to engage in investment decisions and innovations to increase their adaptive capacity (e.g. sustainable land management practices), by reducing pressure to engage in strategies which weaken long-term adaptive capacity, and facilitating livelihood transitions.

Cross-cutting outcomes: preferences and decision-making¹⁷

The fact that additional cash has been introduced into the household can have additional, less tangible impacts, linked to individuals' and households' preferences and decision-making processes. These have been visually represented as cutting across the three orders of outcome, as they are not clearly temporally or sequentially bound.

For example, household members receiving cash transfers will face a different set of constraints and opportunities, leading to shifts in their time use (e.g. labour versus free time), risk preferences (e.g. potentially increasing risk-taking behaviour) and overall choice-set.

Moreover, recognising that households are not unitary but collective entities, there may be shifts in intra-household bargaining power and decision-making, and ultimately in gender relations within the household. The injection of cash can reinforce traditional gender roles (e.g. the woman as home-keeper and carer) and potentially increase tensions and stress within the household, but may also lead to female empowerment, enabling a process by which 'those who have been denied the ability to make strategic choices acquire such ability' (Kabeer, 1999). This ability to exercise

15 Useful examples of the theoretical framework and 'Theory of Change' for cash transfers' impact on livelihood strategies diversification, productivity and income earning potential can be found in Asfaw et al. (2012); Barrientos (2012); Tirivayi et al. (2013).

Page 28

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹⁶ Useful examples of the theoretical framework and 'Theory of Change' for cash transfers' impact on resilience and adaptive capacity can be found in Sabates-Wheeler and Devereux (2011); Tirivayi et al. (2013); Wood (2011) (adaptive capacity).

¹⁷ Useful examples of the theoretical pathways linking cash transfers and intra-household decision-making processes can be found in: Becker, 1965 (on time allocation more generally); Barrientos (2012); Yoong et al. (2012), Holmes and Jones (2013) (focus on gender); Asfaw et al. (2013) (focus on agriculture).

choice could have profound implications on a wide range of other outcomes, including ultimate allocation of resources and labour, reproductive health rights (linked to marriage, pregnancy and sexual behaviour), domestic abuse and social relations/standing among others.

2.1.2 'Spillover' effects and local/community-level outcomes (Meso)

The injection of cash into a proportion of households within the community (depending on the targeting approach) may have repercussions at the local/community level. In Figure 2.1 we have not visually linked these changes to a specific order of outcome, as these occur as a consequence of many of the changes at the household level described above and impact these in turn. In analysing these 'spillover' effects we focus on three main strands: changes in local labour markets, changes in the local economy and goods and services markets, and changes in social relations and peer effects.

Changes in local labour markets¹⁸

As discussed above at the household level, cash transfers can affect labour allocation decisions. In turn, those decisions can have knock-on effects at the community level, such as:

- beneficiaries choosing to withdraw from or enter the labour market, reducing/increasing the number of hours worked or shift overall labour patterns could affect local labour supply
- similarly, there may be some marginal effects on labour demand, due to beneficiaries hiring labour (on-farm or off-farm)
- these shifts, in turn, could affect local wages.

Changes in local economy and goods and services markets¹⁹

Trading activities and economic exchange in local markets can be intensified by cash transfers, as well as providing a marginal boost to local businesses through income multipliers in local economies. Beneficiary households spend their transfers on goods and services that are mainly sold or produced by non-beneficiary households. Also, shifting and potentially expanding livelihood activities of beneficiaries can also increase the overall supply of goods and services in the local markets. Overall, cash transfers can lead to a diversification of goods on offer in local markets, due to shifts in purchasing patterns of beneficiary households (potentially more bulk purchases of goods and wider variety of goods purchased). A possible unintended effect of such changes can be price inflation at local level, which is likely to be stronger where there are market constraints to respond to increased local demand.

Social relations and peer effects²⁰

Tight-knit communities, especially in rural areas, generally have a relatively rigid hierarchy of power and social relations, which cash transfers can 'shake-up' or undermine. On the positive side, cash transfers can decrease the social distance between the poorest households in the community and their families and peers, as well as local institutions. This is partly due to households reentering contribution-based social networks, and to higher levels of respect, social acceptance and recognition of beneficiaries' role in the community (affected by and affecting beneficiaries' psychosocial wellbeing). However, there is also a risk of cash transfers replacing existing reciprocal arrangements and forms of informal social protection among households, and a risk of generating jealousy and resentment among non-recipient households. The extent to which such effects are triggered may be strongly linked to cash transfer design and implementation features, such as the effectiveness of the overall communications strategy, the role of local committees, design and implementation targeting and the functioning of the programme's grievance mechanism.

18 The main theoretical references for this are OECD (2011); Asfaw et al. (2012); Barrientos (2012); Tirivayi et al. (2013).

19 The main theoretical references for this are Schneider and Gugerty (2011) and Tirivayi et al. (2013).

Page 29

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

²⁰ Relevant literature includes Kumlin and Rothstein (2005); Attanasio et al. (2009); MacAuslan and Riemenschneider (2011); Sacerdote (2011); Vigorito et al. (2013); World Bank (2015).

Behavioural change within cash transfer recipients, moreover, may trigger peer effects within the community, such as changes in choices and behaviour compared to those who are physically or socially close. This may be particularly important in the context of education, where peer effects have been most widely documented.

2.1.3 Aggregate outcomes (Macro)

Reduction of poverty and inequality, productivity and growth, social relations and social cohesion

All of the changes discussed in the previous paragraphs – at the individual, intra-household, household and local/community level – ultimately have aggregate, macro-level effects. Given that most cash transfers are explicitly designed to redistribute income to the poorest and most vulnerable,²¹ the first of such expected effects is a reduction of aggregate poverty and inequality as measured by the main indices of monetary poverty (e.g. poverty headcount, poverty gap, poverty depth, poverty severity, Gini index, etc.).²²

Impacts in terms of aggregate productivity and growth may also be expected as a direct consequence of increases in poor households' productivity, aggregate demand (e.g. counter-cyclical spending) and shifts in labour force participation,²³ or as an indirect consequence of enhanced human capital and enhanced social cohesion.²⁴ Nevertheless, the literature concurs that such effects are likely to be limited in low-income contexts because of the relatively low scale of spending on social protection and the marginal share of national income in the hands of the poor.

Shifts in social networks of beneficiary households, reductions in economic and social inequalities and direct programme effects (e.g. where rights-based measures encouraging voice and accountability contribute towards greater social inclusion) can also enhance social cohesion,²⁵ strengthening the social contract between state and citizen and thus potentially contributing to state-building, state legitimacy and good governance, including pressure for efficient and equitable public policy.

Mediating factors at household, community and country level²⁶

Individual and household behaviour can be strongly affected by a series of external constraints and mediating factors. These are listed below, distinguishing between three different levels:

At the household level:

- Household *asset base*, most importantly all agricultural and non-agricultural assets, including ownership of land and livestock. Asset accumulation and livelihood choices are strongly dependent on initial endowments, with important implications for ultimate distributional outcomes. Household with a higher asset base may also be more risk-prone.
- Pre-cash transfer *income*, *income* sources and *livelihood* strategies. These will affect use of the transfer and overall livelihood choices (including labour participation and investment).
- Household *size* and *composition*. Size affects dilution of the transfer (unless this is carefully calibrated accordingly), while members' age and overall dependency ratio affects use of the transfer and labour/time-use responses.
- 21 In fact, the main driving factor for the spread of cash transfer programmes 'was the rise in poverty and vulnerability which followed crises and structural adjustment in the 1980s and 1990s, which then persisted in the recovery phase' (Barrientos, 2010).
- 22 See for example Grosh et al. (2008); Barrientos (2010); Fiszbein and Schady (2009); DFID (2011); Piachaud (2013).
- 23 See for example Barrientos (2013); Piachaud (2013); Mathers and Slater (2014).
- 24 Growth theory suggests that a more stable, cohesive society is more conducive to investment and economic activity.
- 25 We define social cohesion in line with Babajanian (2012), as the 'extent of cooperation and solidarity between different groups and individuals in a society, and their interconnectedness with broader economic, social and political outcomes'. For further reading on the links between social protection and social cohesion see Babajanian (2012) and Mathers and Slater (2014).
- 26 Constraints and enablers at the household, community and country level are widely discussed in the literature, though not in great depth. The two key references in which the topic is addressed in relative detail are Sabates-Wheeler and Devereux (2011); Tirivayi et al. (2013).

Page 30

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- *Labour capacity* of household members. Labour-constrained households will be much less likely to achieve any productive investments or modify their labour participation.
- Overall levels of *human and social capital* (years of formal education, kinship and social networks, etc.). More highly educated households may be more likely to reinvest in their children's education. Households with wider and deeper social networks may be more resilient to shocks and more capable of negotiating access to services, etc.
- Existing *time/risk preferences*, *intra-household dynamics*. Shifting attitudes to risk and intra-household bargaining processes are strongly dependent on the existing household situation.
- *Idiosyncratic shocks* (e.g. death or illness of household member, etc.). The occurrence of these shocks at the household level can hinder the wide range of potential impacts of cash transfers.

At the local level:

- Sociocultural norms and context (religion, gender norms, etc.). Religious and societal norms can affect the role of the women within the household (including their bargaining power and labour/time allocation) or affect how money is spent (e.g. setting priorities).
- *Poverty levels* and *specific vulnerabilities* (e.g. HIV-AIDS). The social, productive and labour participation impacts of cash transfers are likely to vary largely depending on the overall poverty levels and specific vulnerabilities within a given community.
- *Infrastructure* (electricity, internet, roads, etc.) and *supply of services* (health and education especially). Existing infrastructure affects the possibility and outcomes of productive investments and labour participation (e.g. possibility of travel), ultimately with an impact on household income. The local supply of services including their quality will determine the extent to which those services are accessed and the extent to which intermediate outcomes can translate into final outcomes (e.g. improved health, school learning, performance and progression).
- *Local institutions* (formal and informal, e.g. micro-finance groups, burial societies, etc.). The presence of enabling local institutions can enhance some of the impacts of cash transfers, while concurrently affecting social relations.
- *Agro-ecological context*. Differences in rainfall, seasonal variations, temperatures and soilwater content all contribute to disparities in agricultural production and the subsequent outcomes such as income, consumption and food security, nutrition and poverty.
- *Economic opportunities*. The dynamism of the local labour market and the overall range of economic opportunities available for cash transfer recipients affects livelihood choices and ultimately household incomes.
- Local markets and prices. The level of integration of local markets with the wider economy, as well as their size, prevailing prices and location have far-reaching effects on households' livelihood options and on the likely multiplier effects of cash transfers at the community level.
- *Covariate shocks.* Natural disasters (earthquakes, floods, etc.) or slower-onset shocks (drought) affect all households, but particularly expose the poor. In such contexts, the consumption-smoothing role of a predictable transfer assumes critical importance.

At the **country level**, the design and implementation of the cash transfer itself can be affected by a range of factors: *institutional capacity*; *role of donors*; *political economy* and *policy priorities* nationally; *budget*, *fiscal space and programme costs*; *fragility and conflict*.

Page 31

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

2.1.4 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features

As discussed in the introduction and visually represented in Figure 2.1, the outcomes and impacts discussed in the above paragraphs can be significantly influenced by individual cash transfer programme design and implementation details, as well as by a series of external factors at the household, local/community and country level. The following section identifies the main design and implementation features by which cash transfers vary, as well as their potential linkages to outcomes.

Cash transfer design features include 'core' cash transfer parameters such as transfer values, main recipient, frequency and duration of payments, as well as accompanying components and practices such as targeting and conditionality elements, communication systems, grievance mechanisms and linkages to complementary interventions and supply-side services. These can vary considerably by design, while their implementation may depart from official programme design, adding an additional dimension of variation.

Core cash transfer design features: level, frequency, duration and main recipient

Four core design features by which cash transfers vary are:

- Level of the transfer.²⁷ Transfer amounts can directly affect monetary (income and consumption) outcomes. They may also influence behavioural decisions around investment and labour market participation, as well as school and health service use. For example, larger transfers can trigger investment decisions versus current expenditure, while transfers that are too small to cover even basic consumption costs not be able to support progress towards its objectives in terms of poverty reduction and service use.²⁸ Maintaining the value of the transfer over time (in line with inflation and programme objectives) can be an implementation challenge, faced through tailored uprating practices.
- **Timing and frequency of the transfer.**²⁹ The established frequency and regularity of payments may also play a critical role in the effectiveness of a cash transfer. Regular and frequent payments can help smooth consumption and allow planning for the future.³⁰ Ad hoc or lumpsum payments at key moments in the agricultural productive cycle or the school year may trigger critical investment or school enrolment.
- Duration of the transfer.³¹ Some cash transfers may include a maximum duration of participation or time limit, linked to a hypothesis of programme 'graduation'. This can affect the extent to which programme outcomes can be realistically achieved in the time assigned (e.g. before completion of a child's education cycle) and may limit its social protection function.
- Main recipient of the transfer.³² A thread of literature hypothesises that the characteristics of the main recipient (especially whether male or female) may also affect a range of outcomes, including intra-household decision-making and dynamics. For example, women may be more likely to spend the money on human capital accumulation for their children.

29 For further reading on the topic see Fiszbein and Schady (2009); Barca et al. (forthcoming).

- 31 For further reading on the topic see Sabates-Wheeler and Devereux (2011); Daidone et al. (forthcoming)
- 32 For further reading on the topic see Fiszbein and Schady (2009); Doepke and Tertilt (2011); Yoong et al. (2012).

Page 32

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

²⁷ See Bastagli (2009); Grosh et al. (2008); Fiszbein and Schady (2009); Barca et al. (forthcoming).

²⁸ Note that best practice internationally has been to set the benefit level in relation to desired impacts. For example, the size of the education grant for Oportunidades in Mexico was set to cover children's incomes; and in Honduras it was set to cover both the opportunity and direct costs, the latter including the costs for books, uniforms and the like (Grosh et al. (2008); Fiszbein and Schady). Instead, in many sub-Saharan African countries, in which desired impacts are mostly focused on food security, transfer size is often set as a percentage of households' consumption expenditure or food poverty (World Bank, 2012).

³⁰ We discuss the role of predictability of the transfer below, when looking at payment systems.

Conditionality³³

The design of cash transfers can be conditional (CCTs) – i.e. explicitly conditioned on desired behaviour – or unconditional (UCTs).³⁴ Arguments in favour of tying behavioural requirements to transfer receipt emphasise that these counteract 'impatience', 'myopia' and 'bounded rationality', thus promoting behavioural change. Arguments against posit that conditionalities can be expensive to administer, ineffective in areas with an insufficient or low-quality supply of services. In practice, conditionality varies by design depending for instance on the precise behavioural requirements (e.g. education, health, job-related) and on the regulation of non-compliance (e.g. whether it is punitive or not). Furthermore, the implementation of conditionality may vary depending on whether behavioural requirements are monitored in practice and whether response to non-compliance is executed as intended by programme design.

Targeting³⁵

A range of different designs and approaches for the identification and selection of beneficiaries are used in cash transfer programmes, and these have far-reaching implications not only on the costeffectiveness and fiscal sustainability of cash transfers in a broad sense, but also on their potential impacts. We analyse:

- The specific targeting mechanism and related informational requirements (e.g. self-reported income and simple means test, proxy means test, validation within community, etc.) may be linked to a programme's overall targeting effectiveness (minimising exclusion and inclusion errors) and to its costs, administrative burden, political acceptability and its perception of fairness within the community with important impacts on poverty and inequality outcomes and social relations.
- The **frequency of recertification/retargeting** affects recipients' behavioural incentives as well as perceived fairness.
- The way in which the targeting process is **implemented in practice** (ease of registration, transparency, etc.) similarly affects behavioural responses, perceptions of fairness and, ultimately, social relations within the community.

Payment system³⁶

With the rise of modern technologies, there are an increasing number of cash transfer payment modalities or options available to policy-makers to reach the target population. For example, it is hypothesised that transferring cash through bank accounts or mobile money (e.g. mobile phone technology such as M-Pesa in Kenya) can trigger saving behaviour and access to formal credit, which in turn can affect household investments (both physical and relating to health and education). Other aspects that may vary depending on the payment modality include the direct and indirect costs of collecting the cash (affecting ultimate transfer size and time use) and potential impacts on stigma and shame (e.g. due to publicly queuing to collect cash). Importantly, though, the use of mobile payment technologies may reduce opportunities for physical interaction with beneficiaries, reducing the opportunities for delivery of complementary interventions, messaging and monitoring. Finally, the practicality of implementing payments may lead to long delays, meaning transfers are no longer predictable. This undermines much of the 'protective' role of cash transfers, as well as their potential capacity to increase access to credit and induce risk-taking behaviour.

Page 33

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

³³ For further reading on the topic see de Janvry and Sadoulet (2006); de Brauw and Hoddinott (2007); Fiszbein and Schady (2009); Bastagli (2009a); Hanlon et al. (2010); Pellerano and Barca (2013)

³⁴ The distinction between the two is not always clear-cut, see Pellerano and Barca (2013) for further details.

³⁵ For further reading on the topic see: Coady et al. (2004); Grosh et al. (2008); Ellis (2008); Fiszbein and Schady (2009); Slater and Farrington (2009); Barca et al. (forthcoming).

³⁶ For further reading on the topic see: DFID (2009); Devereux and Vincent (2010); Barca et al. (2010); DFID (2011); Smith et al. (2011); O'Brien et al. (2013).

Grievance mechanisms and programme governance³⁷

A range of social accountability mechanisms – aimed at guaranteeing citizen feedback and independent oversight of programme operations – are available to programme implementers keen to 'strengthen programme effectiveness and accountability for vulnerable groups and populations, and in turn state-citizen relations' (Jones et al., 2013). Three examples of such mechanisms are:

- Well-designed grievance mechanisms, including the possibility for complaints and appeals. These may help ensure that transfers reach the intended population, improving their effectiveness. They can also minimise the possibility of social tensions within a community.
- Other feedback mechanisms, such as specially-designed community meetings, go-to committees and suggestions 'boxes'.
- Participatory monitoring and evaluation (M&E) mechanisms, focused on involving communities in the ongoing assessment of programmes using methodologies such as Citizen Report Cards.

To enhance accountability, moreover, communication strategies can be carried out alongside the roll-out of a cash transfer system to communicate on a wide range of implementation-related issues (timing and amount of transfer, how and where to collect the cash, etc.), including the suggested usage of the cash. Such a tailored communication strategy, combined with a strong (yet not controlling) role assigned to a carefully selected Community Committee, can enhance acceptance of the programme and local buy-in, reduce misunderstandings and resentment linked to targeting, and help reinforce the overall programme objectives, affecting how cash is ultimately used.

Complementary interventions and supply-side services³⁸

Linking cash transfer interventions to complementary interventions and supply-side services and efforts can greatly magnify their impact and social protection objectives. For example, this could be achieved through:

- information/training sessions on a range of topics, including hygiene, nutrition and the importance of schooling
- allocating additional resources to improve the supply of local services (e.g. health and education), given that no demand-side intervention can fully live up to expectations if the supply of services is inexistent or of very poor quality
- granting preferential or automatic access to other programmes (e.g. health insurance, crop insurance, school feeding, etc.)
- transferring additional resources together with the cash transfer (e.g. lump sum cash or a large asset), as an add-on to enable graduation (often called 'Cash Plus')
- skills development, designed to satisfy specific needs (e.g. agricultural extension, business development, etc.).

38 For further reading on the topic see also Fiszbein and Schady (2009); McCord (2012).

Page 34

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 2.1 Cash transfers: examples of variations in design and implementation features

Dimension	Design or Implementation	Examples of features by which cash transfers vary		
Core cash transfer design features	Design	 Level of the transfer Timing and frequency of payment Duration (maximum time limit?) Main recipient (male or female? age?) 		
	Implementation	Transfer value uprated over time or notRegularity of transfer and duration of participation in practice		
Conditionality	Design	 Unconditional or conditional Type of behavioural requirements (e.g. education, health, job-related) Non-compliance response sanctionable or not 		
	Implementation	 Behavioural requirements clearly communicated to the public Behavioural requirements and non-compliance monitored Response to non-compliance implemented 		
Targeting	Design	 Targeting design (who is being targeted and proportion within community) Targeting mechanism and information requirements Frequency of recertification/retargeting 		
	Implementation	In practice, information used to identify beneficiariesFrequency of information recertification in practice		
Payments	Design	Payment modality (e.g. smart-card, phone, paypoint)		
	Implementation	Functioning of payment modality and its components in practice		
Grievance mechanisms and programme governance	Design	 Grievance mechanism, other feedback mechanisms and participatory M&E included in cash transfer design Type of grievance mechanism other feedback mechanisms and participatory M&E included Quality and extent of the communication strategy Role assigned to community committees responsible for cash transfer processes 		
	Implementation	 Whether the grievance mechanism, other feedback mechanisms, participatory M&E and communication strategy are implemented Whether grievance, feedback and M&E data are analysed to improve programme design Training and set-up of the community committees responsible for cash transfer processes 		
Complementary and supply-side interventions	Design	 Whether complementary interventions are linked to cash transfers by design Types of interventions linked (e.g. informational/training sessions, targeted supply-side support, skills development, etc.) 		
	Implementation	Whether accompanying services are implemented and accessible in practice		

Source: Authors.

2.1.5 Cash transfer impact: the outcomes for women and girls

Women and girls in many countries face a different set of initial endowments compared to their male peers. This potentially includes:

- lower levels of human capital, because of household preferences for male education
- lower ownership or differing legal entitlement to assets in some countries (home, land, productive assets, etc.)
- lower levels of social capital and opportunities to exercise meaningful voice and agency at community level.

Theory and evidence suggest there are several reasons to expect to see variations in the impact impact of cash transfers by sex of the household head and gender of the main beneficiary/recipient (Quisumbing and Maluccio, 2000; Hoddinott and Haddad, 1995; Holmes and Jones, 2010):

- differing spending preferences and priorities, with women potentially more prone to spending on nutrition, education and health particularly for children
- constraints on woman's time (e.g. child-rearing and caring for elderly), which, among other things, affects women's capacity to meet the time-demands of conditionalities or complementary interventions and supply-side services

Page 35

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- constraints on women's mobility and market participation (due to discrimination, risk of gender-based violence, etc.)
- differing cultural roles and aptitudes, with women engaging in a different set of activities compared to men (e.g. agricultural, business, etc.) and purchasing different types of assets
- differing risk attitudes, with women potentially being more risk averse (Eckel and Grossman, 2008).

2.2 Indicator- and outcome-specific theories of change

The previous section outlines the overarching conceptual framework within which this review is situated, and motivates and informs the structure of this review. Building on this framework and as explained in the introduction, the review focuses on six outcome areas and on a subset of indicators within each outcome (see Table 2.2). In this section, we provide a detailed list of the selected indicators by outcome and discuss the ways in which cash transfers, and variations in their design and implementation features, may influence the indicators under review. The objective is to review and provide examples of the channels of impact and potential intended and unintended effects of cash transfers (and their specific design features) on the indicators of focus.

Table 2.2 Cash transfers review: six outcomes and their selected indicators

Poverty	Education	Health and nutrition	Savings, investment and production	Employment	Empowerment
Total household expenditure	Attendance	Use of health services	Household savings	Adult labour force participation	Sexual abuse by male partner
Food expenditure	Maths test scores	Dietary diversity	Borrowing	Child work	Non-sexual abuse by male partner
Poverty headcount	Language test scores	Child stunting	Agricultural productive assets	Adult labour intensity	Women's decision- making power
Poverty gap	Composite test scores	Child wasting	Agricultural input expenditure	Child labour intensity	Marriage
Squared poverty gap	Cognitive development	Child underweight	Livestock ownership	Adult labour force participation and intensity by sector	Fertility
			Involvement in business and enterprise	Child work and intensity by sector	Use of contraception
				Migration	Multiple sexual partners

Source: Authors

Poverty

The following three indicators were selected to capture the effects of cash transfers on individual or household material/financial/monetary wellbeing:

- Total consumption expenditure is measured either at the individual or household level and is the sum of all expenses made on goods and services within a particular time period (with own production and rent often imputed). It is seen as a more reliable and useful measure of actual living standards than income, as it captures consumption smoothing and hence measures *permanent* income (Deaton, 1997).
- Food consumption expenditure is also measured at the individual or household level and is the sum of all expenses on food (with own production and gifts often imputed), within a particular time period. Food expenditure is an important measure of wellbeing because it often constitutes the largest expenditure category for households, especially for poorer households.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion
• The three indicators developed by Foster–Greer–Thorbecke (FGT) (1984) measure poverty and inequality. They are measured at the household level but aggregated at the population level and are calculated with either income or expenditure data. The poverty headcount measures the proportion of the population that is poor (i.e. their income/expenditure is below the poverty line). It gives us an idea of the *share* of the population that is poor. The poverty gap measures the extent of poverty, in other words *how poor* poor households are, by measuring the distance between household income/expenditure and the poverty line. The final measure, poverty severity or the squared poverty gap, measures inequality among poor households. It takes the average of the squared poverty gaps, hence placing greater value on poorer households.

One of the rationales behind cash transfers is their potential for increasing households' purchasing power, reducing short-term poverty among beneficiary households and potentially affecting longer-term poverty, for instance through improved human capital, increased investments, changing livelihoods and labour allocations. In theory, a cash transfer may also lead to changes in individual or household preferences and behaviour, which could work against poverty reduction objectives. For example, a targeted cash transfer may generate an incentive for a household to maintain an income below the eligibility threshold and reduce its work effort, leading to a reduction in wage income. If the reduction in wage income is the same/larger than the transfer, total expenditure will stay unchanged/be reduced.

The following table summarises some of the ways in which variations in cash transfer design and implementation features may influence monetary poverty outcomes.

Table 2.3 Implications of cash transfer design features on poverty indicators

Cash transfer features		Potential impacts on poverty indicators			
Core cashLevel of thetransfertransferdesignfeatures		Higher transfer levels may be expected to lead to higher impacts on poverty measures in the immediate instance. They can also be expected to influence second-order outcomes which could in turn increase or decrease poverty. For example, higher transfer values of means-tested transfers may be expected to pose a higher risk of generating a work disincentive effect.			
	Timing and frequency of payment	A one-off or annual payment is arguably more likely to be saved or invested than regular and frequent payments, which can support beneficiaries in their ongoing consumption expenditures and facilitate consumption smoothing.			
	Duration	A longer duration of receipt may encourage more investment and sustained impacts on expenditure and poverty.			
	Main recipient	Can affect the composition of expenditure, with female recipients argued to favour food and other household/child expenditures.			
Conditionality		Conditionalities – whether perceived or enforced through regular monitoring and non-compliance response enforcement – can affect expenditure directly (for example, through the perceived requirement that the transfer should be spent on certain items, e.g. food) and indirectly, through time use (time spent meeting conditionality requirements vs other activities).			
Targeting		One rationale for targeting transfers towards the poor is that it may lead to more sizeable short-term impacts, as their pre-transfer expenditure levels are lower. However, narrow targeting displays costs and political economy challenges, and can be associated with effects that may work against poverty reduction objectives. Moreover, the targeting of particular groups, such as poor households with limited or no labour capacity, who are least capable of investing and diversifying their livelihood activities, may not necessarily maximise potential poverty reduction effects.			
Payments		Payment modalities associated with direct and indirect costs for beneficiaries reduce de facto size of the transfer, leading to potentially lower impacts. Payment modality could also affect composition of expenditure. If actual payment frequency is lower than anticipated or payments are not predictable, it could affect how the transfer is spent – more difficult to use cash transfer to smooth consumption, less likely to be spent on investment or risk-taking activities.			
Grievance mechanisms and programme governance		The presence of social accountability mechanisms can improve the effectiveness of transfer delivery (for example, more effective targeting, more predictable payments, payments of the actual level that beneficiaries are entitled to), which could in turn lead to bigger effects on expenditure and poverty.			
Complementary interventions		Could affect composition of expenditure in the short term and earning potential in the long term, with indirect impacts on poverty and inequality. Positive effects on livelihoods and productivity – hence more sustainable poverty reduction – are expected to be stronger when cash transfers are provided in combination with other type of interventions (skills and knowledge development, asset transfers; etc.)			

Source: Authors

Page 37

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Education

Indicators that measure education outcomes can be broadly categorised into indicators that measure access (second-order outcomes) and learning/performance (third-order outcomes). The three groups of indicator areas selected for this review are:

- School attendance, most commonly measured as the proportion of total school days for which enrolled students are present during a school year. School attendance indicators may also measure attending an exam at the end of the school year or absenteeism in a given school year/ school week.
- Indicators for **test scores/performance**, which most frequently include learning outcome as measured by test scores in individual subjects (maths, language, science, cognitive and problem-solving skills) or a composite assessment score from test scores in different subjects or other measures of skills and learning.
- Indicators for cognitive **development**, focused on early childhood development, most commonly measured through a variety of tests including memory, behavioural or vocabulary tests among pre-school children.

The main mechanism through which cash transfers are thought to increase access to education in the short term is by removing the financial barriers to education: the additional funds available to a household increase overall household income to cover the direct (fees, uniforms, school materials, etc.) and indirect (travel costs, bribes, etc.) costs associated with school participation. At the same time, the introduction of additional cash may also reduce the burden on children to contribute to household income (child labour) thus reducing drop-out and increasing enrolment. Implicit in the theory of change is the assumption that the cash transfer may replace or compensate for the opportunity cost of sending children to school, and that families, if there is an economic incentive, will make decisions in favour of educating their children.

An increase in service utilisation is of interest mainly insofar as to what extent children who are enrolled and attend school as a result of the cash transfer are able to complete more years of schooling and increase learning, a crucial step towards the accumulation of human capital in the long term (Fiszbein and Shady, 2009; Reimers et al., 2006). The underlying theory of change for these learning indicators assumes that the quality of instruction available to beneficiary children is adequate and that increased years of education will translate into improved education status.

In addition to the main pathways outlined above, other channels may strengthen or weaken the effects on education outcomes:

- The value that the programme places on education could be transferred to the households and wider community, improving attitudes towards the importance of investing in the schooling of children (Reimers et al., 2006).
- Positive peer influence that children receive as they participate in school may encourage them to study harder and pursue higher education in the long term (Baez and Camacho, 2011).
- Transfers may trigger increases in household expenditure (food and other household goods), resulting in better food security, psychosocial wellbeing and nutritional/health status of children (Adelman et al., 2008). These effects could positively affect a child's school attendance, cognitive ability and efficiency of learning in the long term.
- Greater enrolment and attendance may change the student-teacher ratio, increase overcrowding and lead to greater competition for limited resources.
- Marginal children who are brought into school by the transfers could have lower expected returns to school compared to those already enrolled, since they may be, for instance, less motivated or come from lower socioeconomic background. This can trigger negative peer effects in learning.

The following table provides examples of the ways in which variations in cash transfer design and implementation features can affect the education indicators under review.

Page 38

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 2.4 Im	plications of	cash transfe	r desian	features	for education	n indicators
		cash transit	a ucəiyii	icatul co	ior cuucaut	in mulcators

Cash transfer features		Potential impacts on education indicators			
Core cash transfer design	Level of the transfer	All else being equal, programmes that make larger transfers may be expected to have larger effects, particularly in secondary school and for older children, if transfers are high enough to cover children's income (opportunity costs) in addition to the direct costs of schooling.			
features	Timing and frequency of payment	Some payment schedules may be more successful in inducing incentives for behavioural change in education (e.g. payments tied to key moments within schooling cycle, differential payment by grade or graduation prizes).			
	Duration	A longer duration of participation could determine whether a child is able to complete a school year or progress from primary to secondary school, as well as have long-term improvements in learning.			
	Main recipient	The main recipient of the transfer may determine the effect on access to education services, with female recipients argued to be more likely to focus spending on human capital outcomes for children compared to male recipients.			
Conditionality		One of the arguments underpinning the use of conditions is that households lack full information on the long-term benefits of education. Conditionality (actual and perceived) and messaging may therefore exert an additional effect in encouraging access to education. If this is the case, we would expect the effects to be larger for CCTs or 'labelled UCTs' (implicitly endorsing schooling) compared to pure UCTs that have no schooling conditions or focus. However, there is also a concern that the imposition of conditions could act as an exclusionary factor, penalising the most vulnerable families.			
Targeting		Targeting the poorest households (often located in remote areas) may affect the educational impacts of cash transfers, especially when the quality of available schools is inadequate, and disadvantaged students do not receive the additional support necessary to raise performance levels. Higher impacts on educational outcomes are expected from programmes that explicitly target households with school-age children (or even children at critical educational stages) and marginal students (e.g. girls).			
Payment modality		Payment modalities associated with direct and indirect costs for beneficiaries may reduce the size of the transfer, leading to potentially lower impacts. Payment modality could also affect composition of expenditure in favour of education (e.g., if transferred through schools and almost perceived as a scholarship). If actual payment frequency is lower than anticipated or payments are not predictable, it could affect longer-term household expenditure decisions (composition and overall) as to whether to invest in education.			
Grievance mechanisms and programme governance		The presence of social accountability mechanisms can improve the effectiveness of transfer delivery, which may in turn lead to larger effects on education.			
Complementary interventions		Well-designed information sessions on topics that emphasise the importance of investing in the education as well as the potential returns to education may induce households to send their children to school. Likewise, supplementary supply-side interventions aimed at improving school quality and increasing resources for low-performing students are central for taking into account higher utilisation of education services.			

Source: Authors

Health and nutrition

This review considers the evidence as to how cash transfers can affect (1) the utilisation of health care services, (2) dietary diversity and (3) child anthropometric outcomes (stunting, wasting and being underweight). The measurements of dietary diversity considered are all aggregate measures or indices rather than changes in the intake of specific foods or food groups.

One channel through which cash transfers can be expected to affect the **utilisation of health care services** is through the demand side. Theory suggests that demand for health care is mediated through a wide number of channels (Ensor and Cooper, 2004) and cash transfers may impact on a number of these. For example:

- by alleviating liquidity and credit constraints, thereby increasing the ability of beneficiaries to cover health-related costs ('income effect)'³⁹
- by counteracting impatience and 'myopia' and increasing knowledge and understanding of long-term benefits of health care access, either through explicit conditionality (as is the case in CCTs) or through milder forms of conditioning (e.g. labelling) and information-sharing (information campaigns, training sessions, etc.).

Some cash transfers may also impact upon utilisation through the supply of health care services, by simultaneously investing in local health services. Supply may also be affected by increased

Contents

Page 39

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

39 Whether there is an increase in health care use or not will depend upon a range of factors, including the services being available as well as existing health care utilisation levels. demand for health care, as described above. If there is no supply response, this may lead to overcrowding and potential reduction in health care use.

Theory suggests that cash transfers may also affect dietary diversity by:

- alleviating liquidity and credit constraints, enabling households either to purchase or to produce a wider range of foods, depending upon local market conditions (Tirivayi et al., 2013)
- stimulating the availability of and demand for a more diverse range of foods, especially where programmes involve conditions or messaging relating to nutritional education, or complementary food security/agriculture interventions (e.g. home gardening, agricultural inputs, etc.).

According to UNICEF's conceptual framework relating to **child undernutrition**, the two immediate causes are an inadequate dietary intake and disease (Black et al., 2008). Cash transfers have the potential to affect both of these, by affecting overall dietary diversity (see above) and the overall level of food consumed (because of relaxed budgetary constraints and, potentially, higher self-production). Some cash transfers have also included complementary nutritional supplementation, which in itself is likely to improve the nutritional intake of children besides any effect that cash or conditions may have on dietary intake. Cash transfers may also help to alleviate the drivers of disease, including improved care practices and hygiene and improvements to the household environment, and to minimise the negative consequences of disease by enabling more timely access to health services.

The following table provides examples of the ways in which variations in cash transfer design and implementation features may affected the health and nutrition indicators under review.

Cash transfer features		Potential impacts on health and nutrition indicators				
Core cash transfer design	Level of the transfer	Should the transfers represent a small proportion of the cost of travelling to a clinic, of a diverse food basket, or of agricultural inputs needed to produce a wider variety of produce, this would clearly limit the size of effects that could be expected on these outcomes, restricting any subsequent effect on child health and nutrition outcomes.				
Teatures	Timing and frequency of payment	Irregular and infrequent payments may inhibit the ability of households to be able to smooth their consumption (e.g. covering health care costs or being consistent in their ability to consume a varied diet), with associated detrimental effects on child health indicators.				
	Duration	It could be expected that receiving cash transfers for longer would allow households to build up a higher level of capital, increasing their capacity to cover health care costs and to consume a more varied diet, with concomitant improvements in child health and nutrition outcomes. Given that changes in anthropometric outcomes may take some time to show, benefitting for a longer time may also allow any such effects to be observed.				
	Main recipient	The main recipient of the transfer may determine the effect on access to health services and on food intake and diversity, with female recipient argued to be more likely to focus spending on human capital outcomes compared to male recipients.				
Conditionality		In principle, explicit conditionality lowers the opportunity cost of the particular health-related behaviour that forms part of the condition, relative to alternative uses of time or money, resulting in increased adherence to that behaviour (e.g. attendance at health clinics). Similar effects could also be the consequence of learning effects arising through programme messaging (labelling and knowledge sharing). When response to non-compliance is punitive, there is a concern that conditionality may work against programme objectives by additionally penalising the poorest households. The communication of the importance of the regular use of health services alone, may have an effect on health and nutrition outcomes, and the role of the public's perceptions may matter. Whether compliance is monitored and/or non-compliance responses are implemented in practice could also either work in favour or against intended objectives.				
Targeting		The target population and information requirements used to target can help ensure that those groups that are excluded from existing health services are reached. Ensuring that pregnant women, young children, older persons, people with disabilities, people with chronic illnesses are examples.				
Payment modality		Payment modalities associated with direct and indirect costs for beneficiaries may reduce de facto size of the transfer, leading to potentially lower impacts on health and nutrition outcomes. If actual payment frequency is low than anticipated or payments are not predictable, it could affect longer-term household expenditure decisions (composition and overall) whether to invest in health.				
Grievance mechanisms and governance		The presence of social accountability mechanisms can improve the effectiveness of transfer delivery, which could in turn lead to bigger effects on health.				
Complementary interventions		Complementary interventions, including supply-side investments in health care provision and health training and awareness, may play a positive mediating role in improving health and nutrition outcomes. Supplementary nutrition and livelihoods interventions in particular may be especially effective in improving dietary diversity measures and child anthropometric measures.				

Table 2.5 Implications of cash transfer design features for health and nutrition indicators

Contents

Page 40

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Savings, investment, production

The indicators for this outcome area are grouped into three broad categories: saving and borrowing; purchase and ownership of productive assets (agricultural assets, agricultural inputs and livestock); and business and enterprise.

Within the category for saving and borrowing, we focus on indicators on the share of households that hold any savings/loan and the total value of these savings/loans. Within the productive assets category we focus on indicators on the share of households that own any or spent any money on that asset, monetary value of the asset and the total number owned of that asset. For the business and enterprise category we include indicators on the share of households who operated non-farm enterprises or who owned business assets, monetary value of the assets and total expenditure on business assets over reference period.

The theoretical and empirical literature confirms that liquidity, credit and insurance constraints are among the main factors limiting poor households from investing optimally (Asfaw et al., 2012; Barrientos, 2012; Tirivayi et al., 2013). For example, households in poverty face binding credit constraints as they have no access to collateral to secure loans, while also being more likely to default because of the urgency of their consumption needs (Banerjee, 2005, Barrientos, 2012). More generally, insurance markets seldom reach those in poverty, leaving households insufficiently protected (Dercon, 2005; Siegel and Alwang, 1999; Barrientos, 2012). Insecurity, in turn, leads to inefficient use of resources and the adoption of **low-risk/low-return strategies**, either in production or the diversification of income sources (Morduch, 1995; Siegel and Alwang, 1999; Dercon, 2003; Asfaw et al., 2012; Barrientos, 2012). This could include:

- holding assets that are liquid but less productive
- focusing on current consumption (having enough to eat) in preference to investment⁴⁰
- disinvestment and negative coping, depleting the household asset base.

Further constraints to investment in poor households are also linked to lack of knowledge (e.g. farming techniques, markets) and lack of adequate inputs and factors of production (in turn affected by credit constraints). The literature on assets and poverty traps, for example, emphasises the importance of assets in preventing households from being locked into a low-level equilibrium (Carter and Barrett, 2006).

Given this context, receiving a guaranteed and predictable source of income at regular intervals could affect our selected outcome indicators in the ways set out below (Barrientos, 2012; Asfaw et al., 2012; Tirivayi et al., 2013).

Households' saving and borrowing behaviour could be affected in several ways:

- increased capacity for saving because of (a) increased income, (b) increased access to formal and informal financial institutions
- decreased saving because of (a) increased expenditure on cash transfer 'desirable goods' (health, education, etc.), (b) increased expenditure on productive assets and inputs (also used as stock of value)
- increase in borrowing because of (a) shifts in livelihood activities (i.e. more investment), (b) increased access to formal and informal financial institutions (increased creditworthiness, increased collateral, reduced information asymmetries on household financial situation, etc.), and (c) increased financial security and risk-taking
- decreased borrowing/outstanding debt because of (a) focus on repaying existing debts using cash transfer money (reduced stigma), (b) reduced need to borrow at adverse interest rates (cash transfer cash available).

Page 41

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

⁴⁰ In the face of such constraints, the production and consumption decisions of agricultural households can be viewed as 'non-separable', in the sense that they are jointly determined (Singh et al., 1986).

A household's decision to spend a portion of its cash transfer on **productive investment** – and, more widely, livelihood diversification – greatly depends on the existing asset stock, livelihood strategies, human capital endowment and other similar factors. Generally, theory suggests that additional income can enable households to (Barrientos, 2012; Asfaw et al., 2012; Tirivayi et al., 2013):

- adopt riskier strategies with a higher rate of return (because they have a definite source of basic income)
- have sufficient liquidity and/or access to credit for productive investment (e.g. new assets, use of new inputs, diversification of activity)
- improve their ability to manage risk and shocks, avoiding detrimental risk-coping strategies (e.g. distress sales of productive assets)
- improve their human capital in the medium-long term, affecting their investment decisions (and potentially enhancing productivity)
- actively participate in reciprocity-based social networks, with potential effects on their insurance and livelihood strategies.

At the same time, 'injecting a significant amount of cash into the local economy can stimulate local product and labour markets and create multiplier effects' (Asfaw et al., 2012). Nevertheless, it is unlikely that a large proportion of households invest in such assets/inputs or that a large proportion of cash transfer cash within a household is used for this purpose.⁴¹ This is mainly due to the fact that the explicit and implicit objectives of existing cash transfer programmes rarely encompass a focus on productive investment, but also because:

- the demographic characteristics of beneficiary households and their assets endowment may not be conducive to significant increases in productivity (e.g. labour constrained)
- lack of investment can be entirely rational (e.g. lower soil quality households have less reason to invest in fertiliser,⁴² etc.)
- different characteristics of assets make them 'valuable' to households, meaning that their monetary value and capacity to increase productivity are not the only variables that affect investment decisions⁴³
- severe market failures in the communities where beneficiaries live may affect their choices
- programme design may not be conducive to productive investment (e.g. amount too little, unpredictable payments, conditionality on human capital outcomes, etc.) as discussed below.

Finally, it is important to clarify that, even if households were to invest in productive assets and activities as measured by the selected indicators for this study, the ultimate impact on productivity and income is not guaranteed. This is because such outcomes are 'mediated by factors beyond the control of the programme and the producer – such as prices, weather and access to input and output markets' (Asfaw et al., 2012). It is obvious, for example, that in rural areas characterised by 'low population density, illiquid markets, and inadequate public infrastructure' constraints on production are particularly severe (FAO, 2015).

43 According to Siegel and Alwang (1999), this includes security of access, use and transfer rights, and insurability of the asset; rate of return and sustainability of returns from the asset; interactions between assets in generating returns (e.g. complementarity); store of wealth and basis for claims on other assets (e.g. collateral); liquidity, lumpiness and mobility (e.g. goat vs cow); ability to satisfy household to provide basic consumption needs (e.g. milk from livestock); externalities related to holding or use (e.g. social status).

Page 42

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

⁴¹ Further methodological issues are likely to arise when analysing such indicators. For example, money metrics fail to account for depreciation of assets; such indicators are hard to turn into scalar measure, presenting aggregation problems and different units; asset ownership is slow changing, meaning evaluation timing may affect findings.

⁴² See Marenya and Barrett (2009).

Table 2.6 Implications of cash transfe	r design features on savings	, investment and production indicators
--	------------------------------	--

Cash transfer features		Potential impacts on savings, investment and production indicators			
Core cash transfer design	Level of the transfer	Higher levels expected to increase productive impact (production/saving rather than consumption smoothing). The size of the transfer may also affect the choice of investment: higher amounts may be used for bulkier investments (e.g. cow) and smaller amounts for smaller investments (e.g. chickens and goats).			
features	Timing and frequency of payment	Less frequent 'lumpy' payment could have higher impact on 'lumpy' investments vs consumption smoothing. Potentially more impact if timing linked to seasonal changes (i.e. to key agricultural moments).			
	Duration	It might be expected that receiving cash transfers for longer would allow households to build up a higher level of capital.			
	Main recipient	Can affect extent of livelihood diversification, overall productive choices and ultimate level of risk taking (see section on gender).			
Conditionality		If conditional (or strongly labelled) on human capital accumulation, less likely to have productive impacts in the short term, but potentially more impacts in the long term due to increases in productivity. If conditional on investment, likely to have strong impacts. If low compliance/monitoring/enforcement of human capital-related conditionality, potentially higher productive impact. Higher supervision of investment-related conditionality, on the other hand, is likely to increase impacts.			
Targeting		Potentially lower productive impacts if targeted at poorest, elderly, labour-constrained or land/asset-constrained households, or households in areas with absence of markets or lack of agricultural activity.			
Payment modality		Payment modalities associated with direct and indirect costs for beneficiaries reduce the size of the transfer, leading to potentially lower impacts. Potentially higher impact on savings/credit if delivered through banking system or mobile money system. Regularity and predictability of payment essential for creditworthiness and risk management, while also increasing the time horizon of beneficiary households.			
Grievance mechanisms and governance		Community monitoring can play a function in creating social pressure and ensuring cash transfer resources are spent 'productively'.			
Complementary interventions		Coupling cash transfers with business and vocational training initiatives, extension services, and productive grants or asset transfers can significantly improve productive impact. Coupling with micro-credit initiatives or support to formal banking can enhance saving/credit outcomes.			

Source: Authors

Employment

The selected indicators of focus in this review distinguish between **participation in a labour activity** and the **amount of time spent participating in that activity**. Beyond this, we are also interested in how cash transfers might affect participation in, and the time allocated to, **different activities or types of work across different sub-sectors**.

In this review we consider a large combination of employment outcomes, disaggregated by age and gender. These are summarised under five core indicators for which evidence is extracted:

- Overall labour participation (adult and child) measured in a range of ways, such as whether the individual is working, has engaged in any labour activity in a given period or whose main activity is productive work.
- Labour participation in a particular sub-sector or type of work (adult and child) measured in much the same way as overall labour participation, this indicator provides an insight into changes in participation in specific sub-sectors or types of work (e.g. agricultural, non-farm, paid, unpaid, etc.).
- Overall labour intensity (adult and child) generally measured as the number of hours worked in a given reference period, this indicator tells us about the amount of time spent in work overall.
- Labour intensity in a particular sub-sector or type of work (adult and child) measured in a similar way to overall labour intensity, this indicator tells us about any impacts on the time spent on specific types of work or in specific sub-sectors.
- **Migration** measures covered here include the decision to migrate, either domestically or internationally.

Page 43

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Child labour: a cash transfer may have a positive income effect at the household level, increasing the ability of a household to send their child to school, and therefore lowering their time spent on labour activities (Basu and Van, 1998; Baland and Robinson, 2000). Where transfers are linked to, or are conditional upon, specific children attending school, a cash transfer might also be expected to lead to a reduction in the time spent on labour activities by those children, arising from a reduction in the opportunity cost of attending school. This could even lead to a substitution effect, with other non-eligible children increasing their own time spent on labour activities. However, where cash transfers can have a positive effect on productive activities (e.g. on farm), there may also be an increase in the utilisation of children in related activities.

Among households with children, if transfers do lead to a reduction in child labour, this may represent a reduction in income from child work (or a reduction in time spent on household chores). If the size of the transfer does not adequately cover that loss and any additional costs of attending school, it could mean that **adults** within the household are incentivised to increase their time spent in income-generating activities, or else experience a drop in household consumption levels.

Independently of impacts on child labour, the standard economics literature suggests that, if leisure is a normal good (that is, demand for it increases as income increases), then a cash transfer may lead to an increase in the time spent by **adults** on leisure, with a concomitant reduction in time spent working (Fiszbein and Schady, 2009). However, given that recipients of cash transfers are typically poor, they may not reduce their labour supply in response to an increase in household income (meaning the income elasticity of demand for leisure time may in fact be quite low). Indeed, an alternative theory, drawn from the literature on institutional economics, would posit that injections of cash can in fact help to address credit and liquidity constraints, thereby allowing households to engage more fully in certain types of – more productive or better remunerated – labour activity (Kirsten et al., 2009). This might be combined with a reduction in time spent on other labour activities, such as unpredictable or casual labour, where people are employed on more adverse terms.

Finally, thinking about **migration**, access to social protection may increase or decrease the likelihood of migration (see Hagen-Zanker and Himmelstine, 2013). On the one hand, access to a social protection programme may render the need to migrate obsolete, if remittances and social protection benefits are viewed as substitutes by potential migrants (ibid). On the other hand, migration and social protection could be seen as complementary strategies by prospective migrants, with the cash obtained from receiving a social protection transfer being used to finance migration (ibid).

As mentioned above, the design of a cash transfer programme is likely to have important implications for the impacts it has on employment outcomes. The table below summarises some of these considerations.

Page 44

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 2.7 Implications of cash transfer design features for employment indicators

Cash transfer features		Potential impacts on employment indicators
Core cash Level of the transfer transfer design features		Low transfer levels may limit reductions in child labour (and, relatedly, in schooling). Also, if transfers are insufficient to cover any loss in income from reductions in child labour plus any additional costs of attending school, it may lead to adults having to increase their time spent on labour activities (potentially in low-paid casual work). However, high transfers attached to means-tested benefits could generate an incentive for households to appear to remain poor (e.g. reducing labour income). At the same time, higher transfer levels could instead provide households with greater resources to be able to invest and increase involvement in more profitable income-generating employment activities. The size of the transfer might also lead to greater or smaller effects on migration, depending on whether transfers are seen as substitutes or complements to migration.
	Timing and frequency of payment	If transfers are received infrequently this can mean recipients having to maintain or take on certain forms of employment (including informal and casual work) to smooth consumption. It may also limit their ability to plan and invest part of the transfer in alternative employment activities. The timing of transfers can also be crucial. For example, tying transfers to certain points in the school year can lead to greater improvements in school participation and, in turn, less child labour.
	Duration	If transfers are fixed for a limited duration (and are large enough), this could provide incentives for individuals to invest part of their transfer in more profitable employment activities to prepare for when they will no longer receive the transfer. By contrast, if transfers are not provided for long enough, they may not allow sufficient time for households to keep children in school or shift to more profitable employment options, limiting impacts on child labour and on opportunities for improving their employment options.
	Main recipient	Who receives the transfer can have important implications for the employment decisions of others within the household. For example, if the transfer is received by elderly individuals as a pension, this may reduce the burden on other household members and even allow some members to migrate to seek better employment opportunities.
Conditionality		If transfers that are conditional upon school enrolment lead to increases in participation, this could in turn lead to reductions in child labour. By imposing particular behaviours on women in the household or by increasing particular responsibilities on women, conditionalities (e.g. participating in information sessions, ensuring children comply, etc.) may reinforce a woman's domestic role and may have implications for shifts across sectors of work for women and girls. Specific forms of conditionality (access to pre-school) may contribute to reduced caring duties and facilitate women's engagement with the labour market. The communication of the advantages and benefits of school participation may promote school attendance and contribute to a reduction in the time children spend on work. However, children may continue to combine the two. If conditionalities are punitive in practice, they risk additionally penalising vulnerable children and reinforcing their work patterns.
Targeting		The type of individual or household targeted, depending on age, gender, ability to work, current sector of employment and labour market factors, will have critical implications for the expected effects on the selected indicators. In terms of migration, greater impacts are more likely to be seen where labour migration opportunities are available and known to recipients. Ineffective targeting (e.g. transfers reaching wealthier households that are already engaged in better remunerated employment) could be expected to exert weaker employment effects. Similarly, weak or infrequent recertification could have a similar effect.
Payment modality		Reducing the time spent on collecting the transfer (e.g. through electronic payment mechanisms) could increase the time available to engage in productive employment activities and, where transfers are received through bank accounts, may even support the establishment of small enterprises. If payments are irregular and unpredictable, this could lead to recipients having to engage in casual or informal labour to smooth consumption. It may also limit their ability to plan and invest part of the transfer in alternative employment activities. It may also affect decisions around investment in education, which could limit reductions in child labour.
Grievance mechanisms and governance		The presence of grievance mechanisms that allow for recipients to raise concerns over the implementation of cash transfers could, if effective, lead to improved delivery. This may affect employment and migration outcomes through other channels above, e.g. in so far as it leads to larger and/or more regular transfers.
Complementary interventions		Transfers that are also combined with supervision or business grants might be expected to lead to greater shifts towards self-employment and/or the establishment of small enterprises, which may even limit migration in so far as it increases the returns from employment in the recipients' current location. Complementary sessions may also, however, involve time commitments that reduce time spent on certain labour activities.

Source: Authors

Empowerment

In this review, empowerment is measured using six indicators: domestic abuse, women's decisionmaking power, marriage, pregnancy, use of contraception and having multiple sexual partners.

In the literature, these indicators are discussed with respect to two distinct groups: (1) marriage, pregnancy, use of contraception and having multiple sexual partners relate to school age and unmarried young adults, male and female, (2) domestic abuse, women's decision-making and, to an extent, contraceptive use, mostly relate to married or cohabiting women. For this reason, we discuss the potential impacts on these indicators for the two groups separately below, although they display overlaps in part.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Unmarried school-age girls and young women

Underpinning some of the arguments on the ways in which a cash transfer may impact the empowerment indicators for this group of girls and young women is the assumption of a binary distinction or trade-off between the state of being in school and the state of being married. A related condition is that limited or even no livelihood options are available for women outside marriage. Therefore, for girls who are able and willing to attend school, the primary mechanism by which a cash transfer can delay marriage, pregnancy and risky sexual behaviour is through incentivising enrolment and attendance (Hargreaves et al., 2008; Pettifor et al., 2008; Palermo, 2015). As discussed in the overarching conceptual framework, school attendance also exposes young people to knowledge related to safe sex (e.g. use of condoms) and pregnancy prevention, while also giving them aspirations for the future (less likely to marry early, get pregnant).

Additional cash could similarly reduce female financial dependence on others, meaning marriage choices could be delayed and 'sugar daddy' relationships or transactional sex and multiple partners avoided (the same goes for opting out of certain 'last resort' jobs that put women at risk of violence) (see, for example, Robinson and Yeh, 2012). This holds true regardless of whether women are in school or not. In a context which affords some livelihood opportunities and purchasing autonomy to women, this means that women have a way besides marriage to extract themselves financially from their families (delayed marriage).

Married or cohabiting adult women

For this group, an increase in a woman's individual liquidity resulting from a cash transfer could have an impact on the balance of power within a household. An increase in household liquidity may also affect household bargaining patterns and, in many cases, poverty-related stress. Complementary or compulsory information programmes that may accompany a cash transfer might also increase a woman's ability to manage her own budget and boost her social capital through expanding social networks, with associated impacts on bargaining power.

The link between a rise in a woman's individual income and the likelihood of her being abused by a male partner is not likely to be consistent across all cases. In the context that many cash transfers operate in, women are financially dependent on their partner. According to some theories, this financial dependence increases the risk of domestic violence or rather reduces a woman's ability to escape from it (Vyas and Watts, 2009). Reducing financial dependence should therefore reduce vulnerability to abuse. However it is unclear from the theoretical literature whether a cash transfer is an effective instrument for doing so. The two competing sets of theories are as follows:

- Cash transfers *decrease* abusive behaviour, through two principal channels: (a) female bargaining power increases, and with it a woman's ability to bargain out of violence thanks to 'out of marriage options' (Tauchen et al., 1991) (although this only applies where a separated or unmarried woman can participate fully in economic life *or* has the option to marry again), (b) transfers may reduce poverty-related stress and, as a consequence, abusive behaviour (Farmer and Tiefenthaler 1997).
- Cash transfers *increase* abusive behaviour, through two mechanisms: (a) female bargaining power increases so the partner/spouse increases his level of non-physical abuse as an instrument to align expenditure more closely with his preferences (Eswaran and Malhotra, 2011) or as a means to extract rents (Bloch and Rao, 2002), (b) increased female earnings result in 'male backlash' or the use of violence to reassert control where it is perceived to have been lost (Castro et al., 2006; Castro and Casique, 2008, cited in Bobonis et al., 2013).⁴⁴

On the basis of this, it also stands to reason that increases in a woman's personal income may not have obvious or consistent effects on a woman's decision-making power. Adato et al. (2000) in a

Page 46

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

⁴⁴ Backlash may result from any combination of simple resentment, fear of accusations of unmanliness, a perceived threat to the man's employment prospects (i.e. if the woman starts an enterprise using the transfer), and the fear that the woman's attention will be diverted away from household responsibilities.

paper reviewed here, offer a good overview of the different determinants of bargaining power: 1) control over resources, 2) other influences that can alter the bargaining process, 3) interpersonal networks, and 4) attitudinal norms. The cash transfer is likely to most affect empowerment outcomes through mechanisms 1 and 3 in this framework.

Table 2.8 Implications of cash transfer design features on empowerment indicators

Cash transfer features		Potential impacts on empowerment indicators			
Core cash transfer design	Level of the transfer	Higher levels are expected to increase financial independence and hence decision-making power, reduction/delay in marriage and pregnancy, increase in contraceptive use and reduction in risky sexual behaviour. Violence may increase or decrease.			
Teatures	Timing and frequency of payment	Timing payment at crucial ages could increase impact on marriage and pregnancy. Frequency of payment could affect impact, particularly where school enrolment is a desired outcome and means to empowerment.			
	Duration	It might be expected that receiving cash transfers for longer would allow women to build up a higher level of capital, increasing their capacity to find gainful employment as an alternative to marriage. Extended duration could also increase out-of-marriage options and therefore decrease violence.			
	Main recipient	Transfers targeted to (young) women clearly have stronger potential to empower women. Transfers to men could reduce incentives to engage in domestic abuse.			
Conditionality		A school enrolment condition could delay marriage and pregnancy and reduce risky sexual behaviour. Other conditions could increase human capital accumulation which could improve out-of-marriage options.			
Targeting		Could have an impact on poverty-related stress and subsequently decrease domestic abuse. Enforcement of gender targeting could reduce the unintended inclusion of men in specific cases.			
Payment mod	ality	Potentially higher impacts on autonomy in decision-making if transferred through a mechanism where funds can be hidden from other family members.			
		More predictable payments may increase female financial security and as a result reduce dependence on a partner. Domestic violence may decrease as a result. Regular payment could also ensure school attendance and thus delay marriage and pregnancy.			
Grievance mechanisms and programme governance		The presence of social accountability mechanisms can improve the effectiveness of transfer delivery, which might in turn lead to bigger effects on empowerment.			
Complementary interventions		Coupling cash transfers with business and vocational training initiatives, extension services, and productive grants or asset transfers could significantly improve productive impact. These complementary interventions have been often been directed explicitly towards women with a view to fostering their economic hence social empowerment. Education campaigns could especially improve contraception outcomes.			

Source: Authors

Page 47

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

This section summarises the key features and findings of the large number of systematic reviews and other literature reviews on the impacts of cash transfers. After briefly discussing some issues of definition, the section first looks at the body of systematic reviews and asks what they tell us about the evidence on the impacts of cash transfers and the role of design and implementation choices. The remainder of the section then looks at other forms of literature review and asks what additional insights they offer.

For the purpose of distinguishing between systematic reviews and other forms of evidence synthesis, it is helpful to clarify the distinction between them. As noted by Hagen-Zanker and Mallet (2013), standard literature reviews can often suffer from a bias resulting from the literature that is included or omitted. This means that the reviews may draw conclusions from what is effectively a 'non-representative sample' (Petticrew and Roberts, 2006). Another shortcoming of such reviews can arise where data extraction and analysis is non-transparent – for example, when it does not adopt a predefined approach for assessing or grading evidence (Hagen-Zanker and Mallet, 2013).

To help deal with some of the shortcomings of standard literature reviews, many approaches have emerged for systematising the process of research synthesis. Berrang-Ford et al. (2015) discuss a number of key examples and define a systematic review in broad terms as 'a focused review of the literature that seeks to answer a specific research question using predefined eligibility criteria for documents and explicitly outlined and reproducible methods'. As the authors point out, systematic reviews have traditionally been used for analysis of quantitative data in the health sciences, with particular emphasis on randomised control trials. However, more recently a large number of systematic reviews, incorporating international development issues, have been commissioned and carried out across the social sciences, supported by various networks and organisations, such as 3ie, the Campbell Collaboration and the EPPI-Centre.

While the specific requirements of a systematic review can vary depending on the particular institution through which they are commissioned, published and disseminated, the general definitions by the Cochrane Collaboration, Campbell Collaboration, the EPPI-Centre and the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination all suggest a number of core features. These include:

- providing a comprehensive coverage of the available empirical literature relevant to a particular research question
- having an explicit pre-specified search strategy with clear inclusion and exclusion criteria
- assessing the validity of findings in included studies through quality assessment
- meta-analysis (where possible).

Another common requirement is the use of two reviewers, either for the screening process or data extraction processes, with results compared to reduce subjectivity and mistakes.

Short of favouring one particular set of criteria to define what a systematic review is, some element of judgement is required and for the purpose of distinguishing between reviews in this paper, each

Page 48

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

one was checked against the four core bulleted features above. As meta-analyses are not always possible, any review that did not fully meet at least *two* of the four core features is not categorised below as a systematic review, even if it refers to itself as one.

Finally, we focus here on systematic reviews that explicitly consider cash transfer interventions, which in some cases include reviews that also look at other types of intervention. However, the discussion here only concerns evidence on cash transfers. A summary of non-systematic reviews is provided in Annex A1.3.

3.1 Overview of systematic reviews

A large number of systematic reviews have been carried out investigating the impacts of cash transfers, of which 11 are reviewed below.⁴⁵ Reviews of CCTs are more common than those covering UCTs, reflecting the emergence of a large number of CCTs in Latin America during the late 1990s, often with the integration of experimental evaluations in their implementation plans. The spread of UCTs, by contrast, has taken place more recently, including many examples across sub-Saharan Africa. The majority of reviews also appear to cover evaluation studies up until 2010 or early 2011. In some cases, a fairly small number of studies are included in the final analysis, which partly reflects the inclusion and exclusion criteria used as well as the outcomes studied, sources searched and year of the review.

Looking at the various outcomes and indicators studied within the 11 systematic reviews (see Annex A1.1), it becomes clear that those relating to health are by far the most commonly investigated. This is perhaps not surprising when considering that systematic reviews have been primarily used within the health sciences (Berrang-Ford et al., 2015). The next group of outcomes covered most frequently are those relating to education, and then economic impacts (e.g. labour supply, household investments). Finally, a range of other less commonly reviewed outcomes in the systematic reviews include household expenditure, poverty, empowerment, political participation and domestic violence. Some of these outcomes are explored more in the other non-systematic reviews, particularly consumption and poverty (these studies are summarised in the table in Annex A1.3).

The study designs and methods accepted for inclusion within the systematic reviews (see Annex A1.2) reveal a distinction between those that adopted a more prescriptive set of exclusion criteria from the outset (e.g. including only experimental, or a list of specific quasi-experimental, designs) and those that were more inclusive in terms of the evidence they were willing to consider. While most reviews also explicitly assessed the quality of included studies or, 'risk of bias', a few did not.

Page 49

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

45 A number of reviews also touch upon cash transfers as a part of reviewing a broader range of interventions. Those in which many or most interventions were not cash transfers are not included here. Examples include Petrosino et al. (2013), Dickson and Bangpan (2012) and Cooper and Stewart (2013). The latter investigate the effect of household 'financial resources', but focus on OECD countries.

Table 3.1 Key features of past systematic reviews on cash transfers

Reference	Broad outcome categories reported on	Types of cash transfer	Population	Study start and end dates for searches ⁴⁶	Evaluations in final analysis ⁴⁷
Baird et al. (2013)	School enrolment and attendance, enrolment and test scores (comparison between CCTs and UCTs)	UCTs and CCTs (with specific condition relating to schooling)	LICs and MICs (World Bank). Outcome indicators for those aged 5–22	Start 1997. Searches completed by April 2012. Updated April 2013	75
Gaarder et al. (2010)	Health and nutrition	CCTs (with a specific condition relating to health or nutrition)	LICs and MICs	Not stated	41
Glassman and Duran (2013)	Maternal and newborn health and fertility	CCTs	No restrictions	Not stated	14
Kabeer et al. (2012)	Economic impacts (household and community level)	CCTs	Unclear (studies reviewed were LICs or MICs)	No start limits. Searched April 2010	46
Lagarde et al. (2009)	Use of health services and health outcomes	CCTs	LICs and MICs (World Bank)	No start limits. Searched November 2005 to April 2006. Updated search in MEDLINE May 2009	10
Manley et al. (2012)	Anthropometric	Cash transfers	No restrictions	Restricted to after 1990 when more than 1,000 references. Searched July and September 2010	24
Saavedra and Garcia (2012)	Education	CCTs	'Developing countries'	Early 2010	42
Reviews reporting of	on effects of a broader rar	nge of interventions, <i>in</i>	ncluding cash transfers		
Reference	Broad outcome categories reported on	Types of cash transfer	Population	Study start and end dates for searches ⁴⁸	Evaluations in final analysis ⁴⁹
Banks et al. (2016)	Poverty, employment, health	Publicly provided social assistance (as well as social insurance)	LICs and MICs	1990 or after (search complete in December 2014)	15 (12 non-contributory cash transfers or grants)
Hagen-Zanker et al. (2011)	Money-metric poverty outcomes	UCTs, CCTs and employment guarantee schemes (EGSs)	Cash transfers: Participants in all LICs and MICs (World Bank definition). EGSs: selected countries including USA in 1930s	No start limits. Searched October 2010.	37
IEG (2014)	Wide range of sex- disaggregated or gender- specific outcomes	CCTs, UCTs (including income support), non- contributory pensions, in-kind (food) transfers, and public work programmes (PWPs)	Relevant World Bank projects from all regions	Projects approved during the financial years 2002–2013.	145 (110 UCTs or CCTs)
Voong et al. (2012)	Gendered differences in	I Inearned transfers of	LICs and MICs (or low-	Start 1990, Searched	15

46 As there can often be an embargo on online journal articles, database searches may not always pick up all studies published in the year the search was carried out.

income communities

in developed country

settings)

economic resources

(cash or in-kind)

capital and social relations) including micro-credit

47 Some studies report on the same interventions.

family wellbeing (material

and physical, human

48 As there can often be an embargo on online journal articles, database searches may not always pick up all studies published in the year the search was carried out.

Page 50

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

(7 for UCTs or CCTs)

June 2010 to January

2011.

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

49 Some studies report on the same interventions.

3.2 Overview of findings from systematic reviews

This section provides an overview of the findings of the systematic reviews. It does this first by summarising the main conclusions of each study in Table 3.2, and then draws out the findings across reviews by outcome area. It should be noted that reviews often draw on the same studies, though this is generally noted in the discussion below where applicable.

Table 3.2 Summary of headline conclusions on impacts from systematic reviews

Reference	Summary of review's main conclusions regarding impacts		
Baird et al. (2013)	 Participation in UCTs and CCTs improve odds of being enrolled in and attending school compared to no participation. Effect sizes always larger (but not significant) for CCT programmes than UCT programmes. However, when categorised on strength of conditions and enforcement, is a significant difference. Effectiveness on improving test scores 'small at best'. 		
Banks et al. (2016)	• Benefits from participation are mostly limited to maintaining minimum living standards and do not appear to fulfil the potential of long- term individual and societal social and economic development.		
Gaarder et al. (2010)	 CCTs increase utilisation of services upon which the transfer is conditioned, as long as beneficiaries have knowledge about the programme requirements. There is a more mixed picture with regard to final health and nutrition outcomes (e.g. nutritional status and morbidity and mortality). Limited evidence from Mexico suggests CCTs may affect health in other ways than through increased service utilisation and beyond improved food consumption. Specifically, poverty alleviation may affect mental health and lifestyle choices. 		
Glassman and Duran (2013)	 CCTs have increased antenatal visits, skilled attendance at birth, delivery at a health facility, and tetanus toxoid vaccination for mothers, and reduced the incidence of low birthweight. No significant impact on fertility or caesarean sections was found. Impact on maternal and newborn mortality has not been well documented. 		
Hagen-Zanker et al. (2011)	• Transfers have a predominantly, but not exclusively, positive impact in reducing poverty for the three money-metric indicators covered.		
IEG (2014) ⁵⁰	 Outcomes for the household and its members differ depending on sex of recipient. Women receiving CCTs are on average less likely to experience domestic violence. Little or no evidence of increased fertility or ability of women to decide on contraception. CCTs generally effective in increasing likelihood of having more prenatal visits and giving birth in an institutional facility with larger positive impacts tended to be found where baseline levels were low, though UCTs were not similarly effective (unclear whether due to conditionality). Transfers can support investments in productive assets even if they were not designed to do so, with women found to invest in livestock and agricultural tools as much or more than men, but invest in different types of assets. cash transfers have not caused a reduction in labour supply for men or women in most countries. Impacts on enrolment and attendance are higher in secondary school (where attendance is lower) and in several cases the most disadvantaged group at baseline experienced the largest gains. There is very little evidence on the impacts on quality of education and learning. 		
Kabeer et al. (2012)	 Strong evidence that CCTs can lead to a rise in overall household consumption and investment in productive assets, increase in school attendance and reduction in child labour. Mixed evidence on the impacts of adult labour; increases in market work in some contexts and increases in leisure and domestic work in others. 'Persuasive evidence' that CCTs protect household consumption and educational patterns during times of crisis. 'Limited evidence that CCTs have spillover effects within communities in terms of poverty reduction, increased loans and transfers and household behaviour.' 'No evidence that CCTs lead to inflationary pressure in the local economy.' 		
Lagarde et al. (2009)	 CCT programmes appear to be effective in increasing the uptake of preventative health services and encourage some preventative behaviours. In some cases programmes have noted improvement of health and nutrition outcomes (e.g. positive impact on mother's reports of children's ill health, child height, and mixed evidence on height-for-age and anaemia). It is unclear what components lead to this positive effect. 		
Manley et al. (2012)	 Overall, no significant effect of cash transfers on height-for-age but impacts differ considerably by programme. CCTs achieve statistically similar results to UCTs when conditions relate to health and education, but conditions relating to work or saving are associated with worse outcomes. Girls benefit more than boys in height-for-age measures. Higher marginal effects in most disadvantaged areas and countries with poorer health care systems. 		
Saavedra and Garcia (2012)	 Average effect sizes for enrolment, attendance and drop-out in both primary and secondary schooling are statistically different from zero. Average effect sizes for secondary enrolment, attendance and drop-out are larger than those for primary. Programmes with more generous transfers have larger primary and secondary enrolment effects. Programmes that condition benefit receipt on achievement and pay transfers less frequently than monthly show larger enrolment and attendance effects. Find evidence in support of publication bias and selective reporting. Considerable heterogeneity in effect sizes for all outcomes and schooling levels. 		
Yoong et al. (2012)	 Gender of the transfer recipient affects outcomes of some programmes but increasing female control of transfers does not guarantee positive outcomes. Targeting transfers to women can improve children's wellbeing (particularly through investments in health and education). Outcomes may be dependent on the type of programme. 		

Page 51

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

50 Unless stated, conclusions for this study cover all types of safety nets covered, where UCTs and CCTs represented 110 of the 145 studies. Conclusions specific to other safety nets are not reported.

Monetary poverty

There has been relatively little direct attention to reviewing poverty-related outcomes in the systematic reviews, aside from Hagen-Zanker et al. (2011), which looked exclusively at impacts on money-metric indicators of poverty. However, some other reviews do refer to a number of studies that report on poverty-related indicators (e.g. consumption, expenditure and negative coping strategies). Overall, the evidence is fairly consistent in finding that providing cash in the form of regular transfers or social pensions leads to higher household overall and food expenditure. Despite a similar story for studies looking at income, the review of evidence here suffers from a lack of studies reporting statistical significance, and evidence of cash transfers supporting a move above the poverty line is also much weaker.

Household consumption/expenditure – Hagen-Zanker et al. (2011) covered 14 studies reporting on household expenditure, mostly looking at traditional cash transfers with a few covering pensions. Most were from Latin America, with four from Africa and two from Europe. Overall, an increase was found in 10 studies, nine of which were statistically significant. Kabeer et al. (2012) report on six studies that examined the impact of cash transfers on household consumption from Latin America, all of which point to total and food consumption increasing due to the transfer, though statistical significance is not reported. In a meta-regression of seven studies they find an overall effect of CCTs increasing consumption by 7% and highly statistically significant. Yoong et al. (2012) also refer to five studies reporting on expenditure, mostly from Latin America, where a number of significant impacts were reported on total expenditure and expenditure on food and education. Several studies reviewed by Manley et al. (2012) also found significant impacts on improvements in food consumption.

Income – Hagen-Zanker et al. (2011) reviewed eight studies that looked at the impact of CCTs, UCTs and pensions on income, all except one were on programmes from sub-Saharan Africa. All studies showed an increase, except two from Zambia, one of which was the only study to measure statistical significance. A range of methodological approaches were used with varying robustness in terms of allowing for causal interpretation.

Poverty indices – The review by Hagen-Zanker et al. (2011) looked at 15 studies reporting on poverty indices, all but one using a measure from the Foster–Greer–Thorbecke (FGT) index, which is a money-metric based measure. The studies cover a wide range of programmes across Latin America, Europe, Africa and Asia, and in all but one poverty decreased. However, there was wide variation in the robustness of methods used in terms of allowing for a causal interpretation, and only four studies measured statistical significance.

Education

As set out in the conceptual framework, education outcomes can be distinguished in terms of direct impacts (e.g. school enrolment, attendance and drop-out) and final outcomes (e.g. test scores). There is fairly clear and consistent evidence across the reviews that CCTs and UCTs have had a positive impact on enrolment, attendance and drop-out rates (Baird et al., 2013; IEG, 2014; Kabeer et al., 2012; Saavedra and Garcia, 2012; Yoong et al., 2012). There is an overall weaker evidence base, however, on improvements in final outcomes, such as increasing test scores and improving the quality of education and learning, although the evidence that is available indicates small positive effect sizes (Baird et al., 2013; IEG, 2014).

Enrolment – There is clear and consistent evidence of positive impacts on enrolment across the 32 studies that report on enrolment reviewed by Baird et al. (2013), including eight UCTs and 27 CCTs. The pooled effect size for all studies gives an odds ratio of 1.36, indicating that the odds of children being enrolled in school is 36% higher in households receiving cash transfers. Impacts on enrolment in secondary schools were higher than those for primary. Yoong et al. (2012) reported on a study excluded by Baird et al. (2013), which also found positive and statistically significant results on enrolment for boys and girls in Nicaragua's Red de Protección Social (RPS). The Independent Evaluation Group review (IEG, 2014) and Saavedra and Garcia (2012) report mostly on the same studies as Baird et al. (2013). The IEG (2014) review notes how in several cases the gender group that was most disadvantaged at baseline showed the highest gains.

Page 52

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Attendance – In the 17 studies reporting on school attendance in Baird et al. (2013) all UCTs and CCTs showed positive Odds Ratios, indicating better odds of attending school due to transfers, though impacts in CCT programmes were both far more significant and higher in their level of impact. Positive and significant results on attendance were also found in the review by IEG (2014) which, as well as covering many of the same studies as Baird et al. (2013) included a number of additional studies, including a number from Africa. Again, Saavedra and Garcia (2012) report mostly the same studies. The one study reporting attendance from the review by Yoong et al. (2012) for a microenterprise grant did not find statistically significant results.

Drop-out – Impacts on drop-out rates were reported in Saavedra and Garcia (2012) from nine studies for primary level and six studies for secondary level. In both, effects were mostly statistically significant reductions in drop-out rates though the overall effect was higher at secondary level.

Test scores – From the systematic reviews there was very little evidence on the effects on final educational outcomes. Baird et al. (2013) review findings from 10 studies that report impacts on tests. It is noted, however, that where test scores are from those in school there may be danger of selection bias given that tests are only administered to those in school. Their meta-analysis therefore only uses findings from the five studies that used standardised scores administered in children's homes. While the overall effect size is significant at the 5% significance level, the effect is very small at 0.06 standard deviations and UCTs do not have a statistically significant effect.

Health and nutrition

As set out in the conceptual framework, outcomes in health can be considered in terms of firstorder outcomes (e.g. health expenditure), second-order outcomes (e.g. changes in health-seeking behaviour) and third outcomes (e.g. morbidity, anthropometric and nutritional measures or mortality). Most of the evidence on health reported in the systematic reviews focuses on secondand third-order outcomes and comes from the experience of CCTs.

Health service utilisation – there is consistent evidence that CCTs have increased the uptake of health services, including antenatal visits and giving birth at health facilities (Gaarder et al., 2010; Glassman and Duran, 2013; IEG, 2014; Lagarde et al., 2009). However, many such CCTs involved conditions of using health services and there is evidence to suggest that awareness of conditionalities was important and that UCTs might not have been similarly effective (Gaarder et al., 2010; IEG, 2014). Gaarder et al. (2010) distinguish between impacts on health care services that were and were not subject to conditionality. They note a difference between the two, with limited or no effect on services to which no conditionality was attached. The authors also cite evidence from one study on Mexico's Oportunidades programme of possible substitution effects away from private health services to public health services (Gutierrez et al., 2004).

Immunisation coverage – Evidence on immunisation coverage suggests limited and patchy effects. Of the four evaluations reviewed by Lagarde et al. (2009) of Latin American CCTs that reported immunisation coverage, there were some small positive impacts for certain child immunisations but not for others. Of the seven studies of CCTs reviewed by Gaarder et al. (2010) that reported immunisation results, only two found large programme impacts on full vaccination coverage, with no significant effect found in any other programme, except for some increased coverage in single vaccinations. Impacts on tetanus toxoid vaccinations for mothers were reported in two Latin American CCTs in Glassman and Duran (2013), but neither was statistically significant.

Morbidity (e.g. diarrhoea, illness and self-reported health) – There is a particular challenge in understanding the impacts on poor health as noted by Gaarder et al. (2010), which is that some measures may increase due to more frequent visits to health centres and more frequent or accurate diagnosis of illness. These effects can be difficult to disentangle. Of the three CCTs that the same authors find reporting on reported illness, diarrhoea and respiratory disease, only Mexico's Oportunidades (also when it was called PROGRESA) showed clear reductions in a range of reported illness indicators from six separate studies covering 1997 to 2004. They also report a study by Fernald et al. (2004) which found that participation significantly reduced the prevalence of

Page 53

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

obesity and hypertension in the same programme. In Colombia's Familias en Acción there was only a significant reduction in diarrhoea for children under 48 months. Changes were not significant for those older than that or for respiratory disease. In Honduras's Programa de Asignación Familiar, diarrhoea actually increased in the intervention group, more than the control group. All of the studies covering morbidity (child illness) in Lagarde et al. (2009) report the same studies as Gaarder et al. (2010). One other study looking at morbidity was reviewed in Glassman and Duran (2013), citing a study that found that participants of a CCT programme in Malawi that involved conditions attached to school enrolment were less likely to have HIV (Baird et al., 2012).

Nutritional/anthropometric - There is some evidence of positive and significant impacts on anthropometric measures such as child weight-for-age, height-for-age and birthweight, though it is not consistent across programmes (Gaarder et al., 2010; IEG, 2014; Lagarde et al., 2009; Manley et al., 2012). Six studies in Lagarde et al. (2009) report positive significant impacts on anthropometric and nutritional measures. However, impacts were not significant in all cases (e.g. in older children). In one study of a CCT in Brazil - Bolsa Alimentação - the authors found that there was no effect on height-for-age measures and even a significant negative effect on weight-forage among young children from participating families (Morris et al., 2004).⁵¹ The authors argue that, as previous studies had shown, the programme increased the availability of nutritious food among beneficiary households, the small negative impact on child weight may have been due to an incentive effect, in that mothers may have believed their continued participation depended upon their child being underweight. One study by Gitter et al. (2011) reviewed in the IEG (2014) review also found a statistically significant negative impact on height-for-age z-scores in Honduras's Programa de Asignación Familiar (PRAF) and Nicaragua's Red de Protección Social CCTs, but only among younger siblings of school-going children in the poorest households at baseline. The evaluators suggest that these may have arisen from parents reallocating resources to school-age children to comply with the school attendance requirements of the CCTs, as older children may require a higher food intake and more money for school clothes and other expenses. However, the authors found the opposite effect in the case of Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades.

Of the other relevant studies reviewed (e.g. covering South Africa's Old-Age Pension and some cash transfers in Latin America), found positive significant impacts were found on weight-forheight and height-for-age z-scores, but not universally so when disaggregated by sex of recipient and outcomes for boys and girls.⁵² Gaarder et al. (2010) report on a number of additional studies covering CCTs in Latin America and find mixed results, with many studies reporting some positive impact on height-for-age or weight-for-age, but others not finding significant impacts on these indicators or finding significant effects for some groups and not others. Manley et al. (2012) present mean impacts on height-for-age from 18 studies, but do not report individual statistical significance as it averages across estimates within each study. With the exception of five studies (including the one by Morris et al. (2004) on Brazil mentioned above), mean impacts were positive to varying degrees. Impacts on weight-for-age reported in six studies are positive for half of them, and seven studies reporting impacts on child height all show positive effects, though again, statistical significance is not reported. There are mixed results among studies reporting weightfor-height and BMI. In the seven studies that reported changes in dietary diversity, all but one found significant increases in the consumption of particular food groups (e.g. protein, fruit and vegetables or meat) or a dietary diversity index (Manley et al., 2012).

Finally, small but statistically significant reductions in low birthweight were found by both CCT studies reporting this outcome reviewed in Glassman and Duran (2013). One additional study covered by Gaarder et al. (2010) from Colombia's Familias en Acción found no effect in rural areas, but a statistically significant increase in urban areas.

Mental health – There were few studies exploring impacts on mental health. Three studies reviewed by Gaarder et al. (2010) investigate the impact on mental health. One finds a large and significant effect on lowering cortisol (a stress-related hormone) in children of mothers with high

Page 54

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

⁵¹ The differential effect compared to children from non-beneficiary households was most notable at around 12 months of age but not observed in children aged 30 months and above.

⁵² Yoong et al. (2012) also report on the same South African pension programme.

depressive symptoms. Another finds a decrease in aggressive symptoms, but no significant effect on anxiety or depressive symptoms or problem behaviours, and the third also finds a significant negative association between higher cash transfers and children's behaviour problems. One study reviewed by Glassman et al. (2013) on Mexico found participation associated with a decrease in depression, but it was not statistically significant.

Mortality – Impacts on mortality have generally not been well documented. Some studies on Mexico's Oportunidades programme indicate positive impacts on maternal and infant mortality, with impacts on the latter increasing relative to the proportion of population incorporated into the programme (Gaarder et al., 2010). The three studies reviewed by Glassman and Duran (2013) include the same evaluation on Oportunidades, with one on India's Janani Suraksha Yojana programme finding large and significant declines in perinatal and neonatal deaths (though this is contested by other studies and criticisms of the evaluation). The third study found a small but insignificant decline in neonatal mortality in Nepal's Safe Delivery Incentive Programme.

Health-related behaviour – While more of a behavioural impact, the relatively limited evidence on fertility also suggests a mix of impacts (Gaarder et al., 2010; Glassman and Duran, 2013; IEG, 2014). Of the seven country cases for which fertility-related outcomes were reported in Glassman and Duran (2013), three appeared to be statistically significant. Of these, one in Malawi with educational conditions involved a decrease in teenage pregnancies and two CCTs from Latin America (Honduras and Uruguay) suggested very small increases. It was noted how increases in the Honduran programme could have partly been due to the design, as women were provided with benefits per child.⁵³ Though it was also the case that this effect was identified against declining fertility rates overall. Studies covered in the IEG review (2014) found evidence of small but significant increases in fertility in two studies, one being on the same Honduran programme as above (from a later study) and the other from Panama. As with Honduras, the authors of the Panama study interpret the finding to relate to inaccurate perceptions among beneficiaries about having to be pregnant.

Regarding use of contraception, a review of four Bangladeshi programmes cited in the IEG review found no evidence of positive impacts. Gaarder et al. (2010) report results on contraceptive use from three studies and find positive effects on family planning and contraceptive use, particularly in rural areas and among the poorest, though no statistical significance is reported. Two of the same studies are reported in Glassman et al. (2013), clarifying that one was not statistically significant. Two additional studies on transfers in Mexico and Nepal find positive and statistically significant increases in contraceptive use.

Productive investments and savings

Investments in business, agriculture and assets – There is a clear body of evidence that shows cash transfers, even when they were not designed to increase productive investments, can lead to them. Yoong et al. (2012) report increases in investment and agricultural investment from three studies, two of which covered Mexico's PROGRESA and PROCAMPO and one a Sri Lankan microenterprise grant. There were mixed gendered differences. For example, significant increases were not found for male recipients in PROGRESA, but increases for capital stock investments were not significant among women in the Sri Lankan programme.

Kabeer et al. (2012) review five studies on PROGRESA/Oportunidades, all of which demonstrate some positive impact on productive investments, especially in agriculture, including increases in livestock ownership. Statistical significance is not discussed. IEG (2014) also review access to productive resources and to a study covered elsewhere, finding positive impacts on agricultural investments from a UCT in Malawi and a non-contributory pension in Bolivia. Again, statistical significance was not explicitly discussed.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Employment

Regarding adult labour, the results are very mixed depending on the study and gender. The reviews overall do not find strong evidence of people becoming dependent on cash transfers by withdrawing from the labour force, but instead show mixed effects with some increases and decreases in market work and some increases in domestic work and leisure in others (IEG, 2014; Kabeer et al., 2012; Yoong et al., 2012). It is important to note that there are likely to be quite different impacts depending on the characteristics of the beneficiary households, including their livelihoods and local labour markets and one must look carefully at the full range of impacts, including on migration, before making judgements on individual labour impacts.

Labour force participation – (the 'extensive margin') – The studies reviewed by Kabeer et al. (2012) generally did not find any effect on likelihood of labour participation, except for one of the studies on Brazil's Bolsa Família, which found a higher proportion of adults in the programme were likely to have worked in the previous month compared to those not receiving a transfer. The review by IEG (2014) reports on a large number of CCTs as well as three UCTs and three non-contributory pensions. Overall, they do not find evidence of cash transfers having reduced labour supply in most countries, with the exception of non-contributory pensions, where studies tended to show a reduction in the labour supply of recipients and in some cases that of prime-age adults living with them. There was very little evidence among CCTs or UCTs of any significant effects in reducing employment among beneficiaries, with some programmes showing significant increases (e.g. in Mexico and Uruguay and South Africa). The main exception was among mothers in two CCTs from Latin America. There was also evidence of shifting employment patters, for example from agricultural to non-agricultural activities (Mexico) or low-paid wage labour to own-farm activity (Malawi).

Hours/days worked - (the 'intensive margin') - The review by Kabeer et al. (2012) mostly covered studies from Latin America, many of which appeared to show some significant reductions in the working hours of women and men, with reductions for women generally being higher. Two studies on pensions covered by Yoong et al. (2012) found, on the one hand, a significant reduction in hours worked among prime-age adults living with eligible recipients, and (in a different study) a large number of non-significant impacts on labour, except for some decrease in housework hours for women, both positive and negative impacts on their leisure time, and a significant increase in their work hours. The study also reported a positive statistically significant impact on housework hours for men aged 60 to 69 and a significant decrease in reports of 'any work'. The review by IEG (2014) reports mainly on labour supply and participation in general. Where it does report changes in hours worked, among CCTs from Brazil, Nicaragua and Honduras and one from Paraguay, there was only a marginally significant decrease of 5.5 hours per week among men for one of these programmes. Among UCTs, there was a decrease of five days of wage work per month in Malawi's Social Cash Transfer Programme (thought to be replaced by increasing own-account work) and no effect on hours worked a week or weeks worked among men but fewer hours worked per week and fewer weeks per year among women for a UCT in Albania. Two non-contributory pensions were also associated with a reduction in hours worked among participants (South Africa) and prime-age adults living with beneficiaries (Mexico).

Migration – A study reported in the IEG (2014) review highlights the importance of not taking individual impacts in isolation. It showed how, in the same old-age pension programme evaluated in a study reviewed by Yoong et al. (2012), rather than there being a negative impact on labour supply, the programme 'relaxed financial and childcare constraints, allowing prime-age adults to migrate for work' (IEG, 2014: 40). The impact on migration was larger for women than men (7.9% compared to 5.2%). The four studies reporting on migration in Kabeer et al. (2012) cover Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades and offer contradictory findings. Two find the programme to have been associated with increased migration and two find that it reduced it.

Child labour – Consistent with findings of increased school enrolment, the evidence also indicates that cash transfer programmes have generally had the effect of reducing child labour (IEG, 2014; Kabeer et al., 2012). However, the findings were not universal, with transfers increasing the number of children combining work and school in Brazil (Kabeer et al., 2012). Some studies also reported greater reductions among boys than girls, generally in those studies that defined child

Page 56

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

labour as working for pay (IEG, 2014). Another review noted that studies found greater reductions among older rather than younger children, thought to result from the fact that it is older children who are more likely to be working, and in rural rather than urban locations, thought to be due to lower wages, and hence opportunity cost, of going to school in rural areas (Kabeer et al., 2012).

Women's empowerment

Empowerment, voice and agency – The review by IEG (2014) discusses the issue of empowerment in relation to whether giving transfers to women makes a difference for the household, children and women. It refers to three categories of impact evaluation: (1) studies that infer the woman's decision-making power indirectly from the analysis of patterns of consumption or expenditure, (2) studies of programmes that provide transfers to men and women, and see whether they make different choices, and (3) studies that directly ask women about their ability to make decisions independently or jointly with their husbands. The focus here is on the third set of studies, within which there were four studies covering transfer programmes from Latin America and Bangladesh. Three did not seem to have any notable effect on women's empowerment, but the study of Brazil's Bolsa Família did report significant effects on the autonomy of women in making various household decisions independently or jointly with their husbands, especially on the issue of using contraception. The effect was only seen in urban areas, however, and in rural areas effects were either absent or negative.

Domestic violence – Of five studies reviewed by IEG (2014) covering CCTs reporting on domestic violence, four showed strong evidence of a reduction in domestic violence (at least three being statistically significant), with little change identified in the fourth. Education levels appeared to be an important mediating factor, in that better-educated women were generally more likely to experience the reduction in physical violence.

Community-wide effects

Finally, the evidence on community-wide effects is considerably smaller than that for impacts at the household level among the reviews. However, evidence from two studies covering PROGRESA/ Oportunidades reviewed by Kabeer et al. (2012) indicates a number of positive spillover effects to non-recipients living in the same areas as beneficiaries, though statistical significance is not discussed. The effects included higher food consumption, lower poverty increases, improved health care behaviour and school attendance among certain age groups compared to non-beneficiaries outside programme areas. No evidence of local inflationary effects was found, thought to be due to many recipients spending money outside the local area, especially when receiving their transfers outside their communities. A study was also referred to in IEG (2014) which found that, in Mexico, non-beneficiary women in areas in which PROGRESA was operating increased their frequency cervical cancer tests, thought to be due to a change in social norms.

3.3 Role of cash transfer design and implementation features

While most of the reviews pay close attention to the question of internal validity (the extent to which causal conclusions can be drawn from the included studies) they are generally weaker when it comes to the question of external validity and the extent to which results may be generalised, including the importance of particular design and implementation features. This weakness in part reflects the nature of traditional systematic reviews (Hagen-Zanker et al., 2012; van der Knaap et al., 2008). However, there is a growing attempt among reviews in other areas of international development to try and incorporate a wider range of evidence, as shown by a number of recent theory-based mixed-methods reviews (e.g. Brody et al., 2015; Carr-Hill et al., 2015; Lawry et al., 2014; Waddington and White, 2014).

A range of approaches have been used in the systematic reviews above to explore the role of mediating factors. Some reviews adopt a 'light touch' approach whereby the role of different design and implementation features of cash transfer programmes is not explicitly discussed or where discussion is limited with readers being left to explore the differences for themselves based

Page 57

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

on the results and description of the different programmes (Glassman and Duran, 2013; Hagen-Zanker et al., 2011; Lagarde et al., 2009).⁵⁴ A second approach has been to provide a more detailed discussion of the results of individual studies and to highlight emerging findings relating to mediating factors (Gaarder et al., 2010; IEG, 2014; Kabeer et al., 2012). A third approach, adopted by Yoong et al. (2012), involved explicitly searching for studies that reported outcomes of transfers made to men as opposed to women, with findings brought out in the discussion. Finally, a number of reviews did explicitly seek to explore the role of certain design, implementation and contextual factors (Baird et al., 2013; Manley et al., 2012; Saavedra and Garcia, 2012), some using meta-regression to assist.⁵⁵

Overall, although the above reviews provide some insights into the role of various 'effect modifiers' (particularly the issue of conditionality, transfer size and frequency, and sex of recipient), the findings are somewhat limited, particularly for certain types of design and implementation features. Further insights are therefore sought from other sources, including a large number of non-systematic reviews and synthesis studies covering the impacts of cash transfers (see Annex A1.3). As only a few of these reviews set out pre-specified search strategies with inclusion and exclusion criteria, there is a greater danger of bias in terms of which studies are included or excluded, and critical quality assessments of included studies are almost entirely absent, with the exception of a review on social safety nets by the Independent Evaluation Group of the World Bank (IEG, 2011). For this reason, caution is needed when interpreting findings from these reviews, though they can still contribute to our understanding of mediating factors. In addition to this body of literature, the wider literature on specific design and implementation issues in development programmes (e.g. beneficiary selection mechanisms) can also be drawn on. A summary is provided below of the main related findings from the systematic reviews, supplemented by the wider literature just mentioned.

Transfer values and frequency

One of the first sets of design features that could be expected to modify the impacts of a particular cash transfer programme is the size of the transfer or its relative value to the beneficiary households. Looking beyond a single payment, the issues of transfer frequency, duration, graduation rules or time limits and arrangements for increasing payments over time also become important. Clearly, if transfer values remain low relative to existing average household incomes in the area, this will limit the scope for impacts on various outcomes. It is likely there may also be threshold effects, in that certain impacts would tend to be observed only beyond certain values, depending on local prices. A summary of some of the key results is provided below:

- Baird et al. (2013) carried out a meta-regression of studies looking at impacts on education and found that neither the transfer size (as a percentage of baseline average household income) nor the transfer frequency had a significant effect in changing the pooled effect size for school enrolment. Transfer sizes in the programmes covered by the studies included were highly diverse, ranging from 1.5% to 100% of average household income.
- Saavedra and Garcia (2012) constructed a monthly equivalent average transfer for each programme relative to GDP per capita for the country, using information on the transfer size, and then used bivariate random effects models to calculate the effect of transfer sizes on educational outcomes.⁵⁶ They found that in general more generous transfers were positively and significantly associated with larger primary and secondary school enrolment effects. Payments made less frequently (e.g. bi-monthly or quarterly) were associated with larger enrolment effect sizes, especially for secondary school attendance.

54 Part of the reason for this in the review by Hagen-Zanker et al. (2013) is that its underlying research question was concerned with comparing the evidence on employment guarantee schemes with cash transfer in terms of their poverty-reduction effects.

- 55 Kabeer et al. (2012) also carried out meta-analysis, though not to explore the role of mediating factors.
- 56 It is important to note that the authors used bivariate models due to high collinearity between programme characteristics. Therefore, findings should be interpreted with some caution as there are many factors that are not controlled for, and it may be, for example, that other characteristics associated with a given design feature were equally or more important in explaining any modification of effect sizes.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- Manley et al. (2012), using bivariate meta-regression, do not find a statistical relationship between payment size and impacts on height-for-age outcomes. However, as with Saavedra and Garcia (2012) the relationship is bivariate, and an important caveat noted by the authors is that the finding of no relationship could be due to a bias resulting from a correlation found between local health conditions and payment size. The authors use the same bivariate approach to investigate the effect of programme duration (the number of months the average household had received payments) on height-for-age and find a positive but not statistically significant relationship.
- Kabeer et al. (2012) noted in discussions of some specific studies that the size of the transfer in some programmes appeared to affect the likelihood of labour participation and impacts on migration.

Looking at the wider literature, a review by Arnold et al. (2011) cites studies on CCTs in which low transfer values were associated with limited or no impacts on nutrition. It also cites a study on Ethiopia's PSNP which found a limited impact due to low levels of transfers, but that those that received at least half of the intended transfers were significantly more likely to be food secure, according to some measures (Gilligan et al., 2008).

Targeting (e.g. eligibility, beneficiary selection mechanism)

Eligibility criteria and beneficiary selection mechanisms may both have an important mediating effect on the impacts of cash transfers. With regard to eligibility, one key dimension explored in the literature is whether transfers are targeted to women or to men. In terms of selection mechanisms, as Coady et al. (2004) have shown, there is a wide range of approaches that can be used to target transfers to particular groups. However, while their analysis suggests certain mechanisms may be more likely to perform particularly well, in terms of targeting performance, the authors also highlight that choice of mechanism may be less important than implementation.

- Yoong et al. (2012) explicitly sought to evaluate studies that compare outcomes by sex of the recipient. Their findings are wide and varied, but are not reported by outcome in their results. However, in general they find that targeting transfers to women can improve children's wellbeing (especially through investments in health and education) and that the sex of the recipient does affect outcomes of some programmes. At the same time, they note that increasing female control of transfers does not guarantee positive outcomes.
- IEG (2014) aimed to review the impact of social safety nets on 'gender-related results' and, as part of that, looked at how outcomes differed according to the gender of the person that received the transfer. More details on findings for the wide range of outcomes can be found in the review, though in general it was found that men and women do respond differently to safety nets and benefit from them in different ways. For example, consumption decisions were often found to be more focused on children when women receive transfers. When it came to productive investments, women were also found to invest in different types of assets compared to men.

In terms of different targeting mechanisms, Bastagli (2010) has argued that different beneficiary selection mechanisms may work equally well in terms of ensuring that resources are concentrated on the target population, based on analysis that compared Brazil's Bolsa Família (which targeted through self-declared income) with Chile's Programa Puente which used a proxy means test.

Diepeveen and van Stolk (2012) find very few studies linking programme design to outcomes from a 'rapid evidence assessment' of the literature on three CCTs in Nicaragua and Honduras, but refer to one study on Nicaragua's RPS which appeared to find unanticipated effects arising from perceptions about eligibility criteria, leading to household dissolution, e.g. single mothers separating from the extended family. They also cite a qualitative study which linked perceptions of errors of exclusion in targeting with a rise in social tensions in the same programme.

Page 59

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Conditionality

One of the biggest debates that has emerged alongside the growth of cash transfers concerns the role of conditions attached to transfer receipt. Key questions include whether transfers without conditions perform just as well as those with conditions, how the type and enforcement of conditions might matter and whether they may have unintended consequences. A summary of key insights is provided below:

- Baird et al. (2013) explore the role of education-related conditionalities in CCTs, which they disaggregate in terms of the strength of monitoring and enforcement. Using meta-regression analysis they found that the effect on enrolment from CCTs with strong monitoring and enforcement were larger and significantly different to those with no conditions.
- Saavedra and Garcia (2012) also look at the role of conditionality strength. Consistent with the findings of Baird et al. (2013), using bivariate meta-regression they find that stronger conditions (beyond simply attendance) were positively associated with larger secondary enrolment and attendance effects.
- Manley et al. (2012) find, using bivariate meta-regression analysis, that where programmes had conditions attached relating to health and education they do not have a significantly different impact to unconditional programmes, in contrast to the above findings. However, the study did not measure the strength of conditions as the other two reviews did. Interestingly, they also find that programmes with conditions relating to work or savings appeared to be negatively and significantly related to height-for-age scores.
- IEG (2014) makes some reference to differences in outcomes based on whether the programmes discussed were CCTs or UCTs. One related finding was that UCTs did not appear to be as effective at increasing prenatal visits and births at institutions, though they could not say whether this was due to the conditionality or other design features.

Fiszbein and Schady (2009) discuss a number of studies that give insights into the role of conditions, some of which are covered in this review. Their overall conclusion is that there is some evidence to suggest conditions matter in terms of increasing service use, sometimes even if it is just awareness of the conditions without enforcement.

Complementary and supply-side services

It has been recognised that, although cash transfers may have significant effects on a range of outcomes, their impacts may also be limited in the absence of additional interventions, either to support beneficiaries (e.g. training or access to markets) or to improve the supply side of delivery of services (e.g. investing in schools or health care provision). However, limited attention appears to have been devoted to these issues as examples of mediating factors within the systematic reviews.

• Saavedra and Garcia (2012) find, using bivariate random effects models, that those programmes that complemented transfers with additional supply-side interventions (e.g. grants or other resources for schools) had statistically larger effects on primary enrolment (but not for secondary).

In the wider literature, a seminal review of CCTs by Fiszbein and Schady (2009) infers from findings of the studies reviewed that CCTs are likely to be more effective in achieving educational and health and nutrition outcomes when they are combined with additional initiatives to improve the quality of the supply of services.

On complementary services, a study by Gilligan et al. (2008) on Ethiopia's PSNP found that when cash transfers were combined with the provision of agricultural support, beneficiaries were more likely to demonstrate food security as well as borrow for productive investments, use improved agricultural inputs and operate their own non-farm businesses.

Page 60

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Payment systems and grievance mechanisms

A number of other design and implementation features are considered potentially important effect modifiers. These include payment systems (i.e. methods of payment) and grievance mechanisms for any complaints regarding the transfer process. However, very little is mentioned in the reviews on the possible effects of these in modifying programme impacts.

Page 61

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Chapter 4 Methods

4.1 Overview

This section describes the different steps involved in the retrieval and inclusion of studies in the review, as well as data extraction and synthesis. A summary of the main stages involved from initial searches through to the extraction of evidence from final studies is presented in Figure 4.1. The stages and decisions outlined in this figure will be discussed in detail in the remainder of this chapter.





Source: Authors.

Page 62

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

As outlined in the introduction, this review focuses on two overarching research questions – the first around the impact of cash transfers on outcomes (question one) and the second around the links between specific cash transfer design and implementation features and outcomes (question two) – each of which has six sub-questions (see below). A consistent methodological approach was applied to all 12 sub-questions, with slight variations in the inclusion and screening criteria for question two due to the different nature of the question.

The methodological approach was written up in 'protocol' form prior to the commencement of the search process. This protocol was shared widely with cash transfer experts and an information specialist and the approach was tested, before revising the approach. Throughout the process we followed an iterative approach and adjusted our methods, where necessary, while always documenting changes made. The searches were conducted in mid-2015 and they cover the cash transfer literature from 2000–2015.

4.2 Criteria for inclusion

A set of inclusion criteria was applied to studies retrieved in the search process. Only studies that met *all* inclusion criteria were included in the review. A full list of inclusion criteria can be found within the search protocols in Annex 2.

Types of studies

This review included studies reporting original analysis using primary or secondary data. While for the first question, only studies using some form of counterfactual analysis were included (more below), for the second question, exploring the links between design and implementation features and outcomes, descriptive and institutional analyses were also considered.

All studies included under question one – examining the effects of cash transfers on the selected outcomes – had to use either an experimental design (i.e. randomised control trial (RCT) or cluster-RCT)⁵⁷ or a quasi-experimental design that relies on a credible control group. For quasi-experimental research we included studies that used one of the following methods of analysis:

- regression discontinuity design
- matching technique (e.g. propensity score matching)
- difference-in-difference
- interrupted time series
- other form of multivariate regression.

As such, for question one, studies relying on anecdotal, descriptive or qualitative evidence were excluded. Furthermore, studies relying on any form of simulation methods were excluded.

For question two, studies had to either use an experimental or quasi-experimental approach, or be a study with a sound descriptive or institutional analysis. In order to assess the latter, separate criteria for qualitative studies were developed (see section 4.1.3). Studies for question two had to meet an additional criterion of making *explicit* links between design and implementation features and outcomes. In other words, studies that considered design and implementation features without saying how these affect cash transfer outcomes were excluded. For example, studies that considered targeting effectiveness were excluded, as were those that looked at the costs of different payment systems.

The review only included studies published in English because of the composition of the search team. Only studies published in 2000–2015 were considered. This period corresponds with an expansion of both cash transfer programmes in developing countries as well as high-quality impact evaluations. We included both peer-reviewed and grey literature (see section below on search methods) in order to avoid a publication bias, as none or negative findings are less likely to be published (Waddington et al., 2012).

Contents

Page 63

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

57 Our definition of RCTs is thus rather broad. Furthermore, studies were considered RCTs in our review if stated to be so by the authors.

Geographic coverage and types of population

This review is restricted to low- and middle-income countries, as defined by the World Bank and restricted to their status in 2015. This means that some studies of countries that were a LMIC at the time of data collection are not included (e.g. Argentina, Chile). The population of focus includes recipients of cash transfer programmes, as well as control households. We are interested in individual and household-level impacts, and thus excluded studies that measured impacts at the community or country level.

Types of interventions

The review covered all studies that considered CCTs or UCTs targeted at individuals or households, delivered by the state or NGOs. All programmes or policies considered include a cash payment component. They are also all generally either funded out of general taxation or donor-funded. As such, social insurance cash transfers financed through employer and employee contributions are not covered in this review. However, non-contributory social pensions are included. The review *did not* consider contributory social security transfers, contributory pensions, and private transfers such as remittances and religious donations (e.g. zakat). We also excluded social funds and public works programmes, as these typically have different objectives to the transfers being considered and, particularly in the case of public works, would involve a different theory of change.

Even within this category of non-contributory cash transfers, there is considerable variation in the types of transfer, reflecting, in part, differences in policy or programme rationale and main objectives. Important differences are observed across a range of policy/programme features, including primary aims, target population, transfer levels, duration, behavioural requirements and complementary services. We group programmes into four main broad types:

- unconditional cash transfer
- conditional cash transfer
- social pension
- enterprise grant.

It is worth highlighting here the wide range of programmes and policies covered by this review. Studies cover programmes and policies which range from Uganda's WINGS cash transfer, which identified 1,800 poor people, mostly women, in 120 war-affected villages with the aim of helping them start small, but sustainable, retail and trading enterprises, to national programmes such as Brazil's Bolsa Família, reaching over 26% of Brazil's population, around 55 million people, with the objective of providing a minimum income to low-income individuals and families while promoting school and education service use, and Mexico's Adultos Mayores social pension, providing support to individuals aged 70 and over, covering 2.1 million beneficiaries across Mexico. Section 5.2.5 gives a detailed discussion of the types of programme covered. For a full list of the programmes and policies for which evidence was extracted in this review, see Table 5.2 below.

Types of outcomes (Question one)

The six outcome areas and sub-questions around which the searches were structured under question one are:

- 1a Monetary poverty
- 1b Education
- 1c Health and nutrition
- 1d Savings, investment and production
- 1e Employment
- 1f Empowerment

For each outcome area we included a broad range of possible outcomes in the searches. Search protocols are available in Annex 2. These included both first-order as well as second- or third-order outcomes. Only studies that considered the *impact* of the cash transfer on one of the specific outcomes were included in the review under question one.

Page 64

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Types of programme design and implementation features (Question two)

The review also searched and retrieved evidence on the effects of alternative cash transfer design and implementation features on the outcome areas identified above. Question two focused on six design and implementation features, including:

- 2a Core cash transfer design features
- 2b Conditionality
- 2c Targeting
- 2d Payment systems
- 2e Grievance mechanisms and programme governance
- 2f Complementary interventions and supply-side services

For each design/implementation features we included a broad range of possible synonyms in the searches (see search protocols in Annex 2). As stated above, only studies that considered the effect of a design/implementation features on the six cash transfer outcome areas above were included in the review.

4.3 Search methods for identification of studies

The retrieval stage consisted of five distinct tracks: (1) bibliographic databases, (2) other electronic sources (i.e. websites and search engines), (3) expert recommendations, (4) past reviews and snowballing, and, as this review followed an iterative process, during the extraction stage another retrieval method was identified and added to this review as (5) studies from other sub-questions. As explained above, the review was structured around 12 sub-questions. Any studies that were identified as being relevant for another sub-question, but not already under that sub-question, were added to it. This happened at two main points during the review: during the search and retrieval process (meaning that any studies added in this way went through the same screening processes described in this methods section) and later on during the extraction of information for the annotated bibliography (once all studies had gone through the risk of bias/quality screening described below).

A detailed overview of the number of studies retrieved from different tracks, as well as search flow diagrams showing number of studies at different stages, by sub-question, can be found in Annex 3.

Bibliographic databases

The first retrieval stage consisted of searching bibliographic databases. For all sub-questions we conducted a title, abstract and keyword search in the comprehensive multi-disciplinary Elsevier Scopus database, which includes over 20,000 peer-reviewed journals, including key journals in which cash transfer impact evaluations have been published. For some sub-questions we searched additional databases, see Tables 4.1 and 4.2. We restricted the searches to studies published since 2000.

Databases were searched using a consistent set of search strings, with one specific search string per sub-question. These search strings consisted of a number of components (for full search strings see protocols in Annex 2) and were structured according to the following pattern:

Cash transfer (including variations thereof) AND outcome (including variations thereof) AND low- and middle-income country (including a list of all of these, as defined by the World Bank).

This means that included studies had to include the term 'cash transfer', as well as a relevant outcome and a low- or middle-income country in the title, abstract or keywords. The latter component was included to exclude the huge literature on high-income countries. Search strings included both US and UK spelling, where required, and abbreviated terms using an asterisk (*) to take account of variations in terminology and singular and plural use of terms.

Page 65

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

The searches were conducted between May and June 2015.

Table 4.1 Databases searched

Database searched	Sub-question
Scopus	1a–1f; 2a–2f
Econlit	1a; 1d; 1e
CAB Abstracts	1d
CAB Global Health	1c
POPLINE	1c
Global Health	1c

Other electronic sources

Focusing on bibliographic databases alone risks resulting in a 'publication bias' for included studies. Hence, we also conducted extensive sources of websites/search engines in order to also capture the grey, policy and unpublished literature. 13 websites were searched for all sub-questions and two additional websites were searched for a subset of sub-questions (see Table 4.2).

As website structure and functionality varies considerably, the searches had to be tailored to the specific websites. Where possible, we searched the publications area of websites. In most cases it was not possible to use the full set of search strings to search these websites. Instead we used a simplified search string consisting of cash transfer and a limited number of outcomes (see Annex 2). In some cases, we did not search a website using search strings, but just clicked through different tabs looking at all publications.

Studies were screened 'on the spot'. This means that abstracts and full papers were skimmed and if they met the inclusion criteria they were included in the review. If searches returned an excessive number of hits, we sorted findings by relevance and only screened the first 50-100 studies.

The searches were conducted in May-June 2015.

Table 4.2 Unier electronic sources searched	
Search engine/website searched	Sub-question
Google	1a–1f; 2a–2f
World Bank Publications	1a–1f; 2a–2f
R4D DFID	1a–1f; 2a–2f
International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG)	1a–1f; 2a–2f
International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) website	1a–1f; 2a–2f
Poverty Action Research Lab	1a–1f; 2a–2f
FAO From Protection to Production website	11a–1f; 2a–2f
Transfer Project (UNC Chapel Hill)	1a–1f; 2a–2f
ECLAC/CEPAL	1a–1f; 2a–2f
Inter-American Development Bank (IADB) website	1a–1f; 2a–2f
Asian Development Bank (ADB) website	1a–1f; 2a–2f
Social Science Research Network	1a–1f; 2a–2f
3ie evaluations database	1a–1f; 2a–2f
UNICEF website	1b; 1c
Cochrane Collaboration	1c

Table 4.2 Other electronic courses eserched

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 **Review of cash** transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Expert recommendations

For this track we contacted experts in the cash transfer field and asked them to recommend unpublished or other relevant and rigorous studies on that particular sub-question. We approached from three to five experts per sub-question. These included academics, practitioners and experts from international organisations, and we ensured institutional and geographic variation of experts. This track helped find unpublished or hard-to-find studies, and also helped to get a sense of which studies in the field are particularly important and/or influential.

Past reviews and snowballing

For this track we reviewed all major cash transfer literature and systematic reviews published in the past decade. In the end, nine studies were reviewed. We reviewed the bibliographies of these reviews and included any studies that met our inclusion criteria and had not yet been included in the review.

Studies identified as relevant during the data extraction stage

Our review is much broader than other reviews, covering six outcomes and six sets of design and implementation features. The breadth of the review enabled us to add another track to the retrieval stage. At two stages in the review, we marked studies within each sub-question as relevant to other sub-questions when they met the inclusion criteria for that sub-question. The first stage was during the screening stage, when reviewers ticked a box when a study was relevant to other sub-questions. The second time was during the data extraction stage: when extracting information from studies for the annotated bibliography, including on outcomes and indicators, we marked studies as relevant to other sub-questions. These were studies that were not picked up for that particular sub-question through the other four tracks, often because these studies covered a long list of outcomes and indicators, not necessarily all listed in the abstract or keywords. As such, we were able to include more relevant studies to each sub-question, including 'hard-to-find' studies, meaning that we covered a greater extent of the relevant literature.

We believe this retrieval track is unique to our review. The uncovering of additional studies in this way is considered by the authors to represent a key advantage of this review – greatly expanding the body of evidence from which evidence is extracted – which would not be possible in reviews that focus on a single outcome area.

4.4 Study screening and assessment process

Screening process

We used the EPPI Reviewer 4 software for data management and analysis. Each sub-question was included in a separate 'review'. Searches from bibliographic databases were downloaded into EPPI Reviewer and then screened according to the inclusion criteria. Studies collected through other tracks were screened 'on the spot' according to the same inclusion criteria and uploaded into EPPI Reviewer if deemed relevant and not already included in the databases. When uploading studies we noted the track through which they had been retrieved. The number of studies excluded at various stages, as well as the reasons for exclusion, can be found in the detailed tables and flow diagrams in Annex 3.

Screening of studies from bibliographic databases

All search results from bibliographic databases were uploaded into EPPI Reviewer, where they were then checked for duplicates. Once duplicates had been removed, we screened studies according to the inclusion criteria in two stages. In the first stage, one research assistant screened all studies according to title and abstract of the study. All studies that were either considered relevant, or where there was not enough information to make a decision, were included in the

Page 67

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

second stage. In the second stage, a different research assistant screened the full text of these studies according to the same inclusion criteria, resulting in a list of studies to undergo the risk of bias assessment.

The research assistants worked closely with the core researchers of the review, and queries or ambiguities were immediately resolved. In order to reduce subjectivity involved in the first screening stage, the first 50 studies of each question were double-screened against inclusion criteria, with the research team discussing differences in coding at length.

For four sub-questions the bibliographic database searches resulted in a very high number of hits (more than 1,000 and up to 10,000). In order to make the first screening stage more manageable for these sub-questions, we used an EPPI Reviewer tool called 'text mining'. A recent systematic review has concluded that text mining is a safe tool to prioritise the order in which to screen (O'Mara-Eves et al., 2015). Using this, we first screened and coded a randomly selected sub-sample of 1,000 studies against the inclusion criteria. EPPI Reviewer then extracted common keywords and phrases from these (around 50–100), which were reviewed by the research team and then used within EPPI to rank the remaining studies according to whether or not they feature in their title or abstract. We then proceeded to screen in the usual way the list of studies that were identified as relevant by the text mining (generally around 200 studies). If the list of relevant studies was still too long, we only screened the first 200 and then conducted keyword searches to double-check that the text mining tool did not exclude any studies that should have been included. The studies screened out by the text mining were marked as having been excluded on this basis, see Annex 3 for further details and flow diagrams.

Study quality asssessment

Study design and methods in themselves indicate a necessary, but not sufficient condition, for us to have confidence in the results of a given study. As pointed out by DFID (2013), it is important to also consider the quality of individual studies, both in terms of the research design and the actual implementation of the research. However, as argued in detail in Hagen-Zanker and Mallett (2013), we are cautious about assigning quality scores to individual studies as recent research has shown how the choice of quality appraisal tool and 'human handling' will inevitably shape the findings (Pieper et al., 2014; Voss and Rehfuess, 2013). Others also warn against score-based weighting schemes (Deeks et al., (2003) cited in Waddington et al., (2012)). Instead of assigning a 'quality score' to studies, the review considered the 'risk of bias' for each study. All studies that were deemed relevant after the first screening stage against inclusion criteria were included in a risk of bias assessment.

According to The Cochrane Collaboration, a bias refers to 'a systematic error, or deviation from the truth, in results or inferences' (Higgins et al., 2011). This can lead to both underestimation and overestimation of the true effect of a given intervention. As it is often impossible to know the extent to which any biases have actually affected the results of a study, and because results may be unbiased despite methodological flaws, there is a preference in the evaluation literature to consider the *risk* of bias.

The degree of this risk can be considered across a number of different types of bias. For example, for RCTs this typically involves looking at selection bias, performance bias, attrition bias and detection bias. In this review, given the breadth of studies considered and the number of different study designs, we considered the risk of bias primarily by assessing whether a study is prone to selection bias, attrition bias or bias associated with interpretation of statistical significance (Type I or Type II errors). An 'other' option was also allowed to capture risks arising from other types of bias. Below we explain in more detail the assessment tool that was used in this review.

This assessment, also done in EPPI Reviewer, was conducted by two researchers using the criteria as set out below. In order to reduce subjectivity involved in the risk of bias assessment, the first 30 studies of each question were assessed simultaneously by two researchers. The entire research team then discussed any inconsistencies in coding with the agreements reached informing future coding.

Page 68

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Assessment of risk of bias for all quantitative studies retrieved

Despite the existence of a large number of tools to assess the risk of bias, it has been argued that there are few which enable appropriate evaluation of quasi-experimental designs (Waddington et al., 2012). This review used a risk of bias tool which draws from that developed by the Cochrane Collaboration (Higgins et al., 2011), criteria developed by Hombrados and Waddington (2012) and the appraisal tool used by Yoong et al. (2012) in a previous systematic review on cash transfers.

Table A2.1 in Annex 2 gives an overview of the tool that was used to assess each study. The assessment involved a judgement over whether the study demonstrates a 'high risk' of bias or 'low risk' of bias for each of the four domains. It is recognised that some forms of bias (e.g. attrition bias) may only be relevant to certain study designs. Where a domain was 'not applicable' it was marked as such and was not included in the final decision. In a small number of cases, the risk of bias was marked as 'unclear' if assessment against a domain was borderline and it was felt that greater information was required to make a decision.

After assessing specific domains within each study, a summary assessment of the risk of bias was made for the study as a whole across all domains. It is important that assessments of the overall risk of bias take the relative importance of the different domains into account, depending on the focus of the review and specific outcomes being considered (Higgins et al., 2011). As such, summary assessments were based on a judgement by the reviewers about the relative importance of each domain.

Following summary assessments of individual studies, the research team jointly reviewed with DFID whether and how to include studies that suggest a high risk of bias. Given the danger presented by drawing conclusions from studies at high risk of bias, a decision was made to exclude studies with a high risk of bias from the final analysis. It was agreed that studies that included a domain marked as unclear could be included, provided all other domains were coded as low risk. Table 5.1 in the section describing the evidence base shows how many studies were excluded due to a high risk of bias. As can be seen from the table, on average around 40% of the studies were excluded for this reason.

Assessment of quality for qualitative studies

For quantitative studies returned under searches for research question two, on the links between cash transfer design and implementation features and outcomes, the same assessment tool as described above was used. For qualitative studies and institutional analysis, an alternative assessment tool was used as presented in Table A2.2 in Annex 2. This tool is based on an assessment of methodological rigour derived from the literature around evaluating qualitative studies.

There is divided opinion over the value of a formal quality assessment for qualitative studies, with Noyes et al. (2008) suggesting there is 'insufficient evidence to inform a judgement on the rigour or added value of various approaches'. While the same authors note the existence of over 100 tools and frameworks for aiding the appraisal of qualitative research, they make the important point that 'formal appraisal processes and standards of evidence presented as rigid checklists informing an "in or out" decision can be argued to be inappropriate for qualitative research'. Nevertheless, it is helpful to have a sense of how studies fare against certain core markers of qualitative research quality.

The appraisal in this review draws from DFID's 'Analysis of Qualitative Data in Evaluation and Research "How to" note' (2014) as well as the framework for assessing qualitative studies by Spencer et al. (2003), who undertook a review of appraisal frameworks and checklists. The tool used for the appraisal facilitates judgements in a number of domains considered important for qualitative research (see Table A2.2 in Annex 2). For each domain a number of questions help to guide the assessment. In implementing this screening, the reviewer made a brief comment against each, leading to a judgement for the domain overall as to whether there are 'no concerns', 'some concerns' or 'major concerns' for that domain.

Page 69

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

As with the impact evaluation studies, a summary assessment was carried out for each study. The assessment involved deciding whether there were 'no concerns', 'some concerns' or 'major concerns', this time for the study as a whole. The following rules were used:

- A study is considered to have 'no concerns' if there are 'no concerns' in any of the domains
- A study is considered to have 'some concerns' if there are 'some concerns' in up to two domains
- A study is considered to have 'major concerns' if there is one 'major concern' in any domain, or more than three domains with 'some concerns'.

As with the risk of bias assessment for quantitative studies, this summary assessment was used to narrow down the 'full list of studies reviewed' that is outlined above. Studies that showed either 'no concerns' or 'no concerns' with 'some concerns' were included in the 'full list of studies reviewed' for the final analysis and, as in the case of quantitative impact evaluations, were included in the 'annotated bibliography'. As shown in the summary table of studies passing through the various stages through to evidence extraction (Table 5.1 below), among the studies reaching assessment, on average 44% of studies were excluded at this stage (this average does not account for the two studies on grievance mechanisms and programme governance for which both studies, i.e. 100%, were excluded). A total of four qualitative studies were included in the full list of studies to be reviewed.

An initial pilot was carried out using the assessment tool in order to ensure consistency between researchers. As with the risk of bias assessments for the quantitative studies, an initial number of studies undergoing the qualitative assessment were reviewed by two researchers, with any discrepancies discussed and agreed by consensus with the involvement of the wider team.

One of the main issues during this screening was that, on a closer reading, many studies did not in fact explicitly link design or implementation features with the outcomes being considered. As such, a number of studies were excluded on the basis of not fully meeting the initial inclusion criteria.

4.5 Evidence extraction

Overview

The evidence reviewed in the subsequent analysis of this report has been extracted from those studies which passed either the risk of bias assessment or the qualitative assessment, and were therefore included in the 'final list of studies reviewed' and annotated bibliography. From all of these studies, key information was extracted covering the study design, details of the cash transfer intervention(s), overall findings and indicators reported in order to develop an annotated bibliography.

As mentioned above, at this stage a number of studies were identified as reporting on indicators under sub-questions to which they had not initially been allocated through the search and screening process. For example, where a study that was predominantly focused on education outcomes also happened to include at least one estimate of an impact on household poverty, or a measure of empowerment. Where this was the case, the study was marked as being relevant to that additional outcome area. In the small number of cases where studies were identified as being potentially relevant under question two (design and implementation features), the study was checked against the previously discussed inclusion and screening criteria for that question.

Indicator selection for each outcome

Given the substantial breadth of evidence included across these studies, covering a wide range of different indicators and measures, it was agreed that the review of evidence would focus on five to seven key indicators within each of the six outcome areas (i.e. within poverty, education, health, savings, investment and production, employment, and empowerment), hence potentially including other potentially relevant indicators. The final list of selected indicators is provided in the findings chapters. The following set of criteria were used in order to help identify which indicators the review would focus on:

Page 70

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- Importance of individual indicator and set of indicators drawing on the conceptual framework for the review and discussions with DFID, a key consideration was to ensure that the set of indicators selected would help explain some of the main impact areas of interest within debates around the impact of cash transfers. In this regard, where relevant, an emphasis was put on ensuring that the indicators were chosen to cover both short-term impacts as well as longer-term impacts.
- Contribution to the literature a second criterion was that the indicators selected should help contribute something new to the literature, which in some cases meant placing greater weight on indicators around which past reviews had identified limited evidence or a need for further research.
- Frequency of occurrence a further consideration informing the selection of indicators was the extent of evidence available on particular indicators. Care was taken to ensure this did not mean focusing solely on those indicators for which there was a lot of evidence (thereby potentially missing important, but less frequently reported, indicators), though frequency was one of the considerations to ensure that the review had sufficient information to be able to provide a useful and informative synthesis of the evidence.
- Reporting of the indicators in studies that look at the effect of design or implementation features given that part of the focus of the review was on the effect of design and implementation features, one consideration was to cover indicators included in studies assessing the impact of these features.
- The prevalence of sex-disaggregated results a final consideration was to ensure that the indicators selected would, where possible, allow for a discussion of sex-disaggregated impacts.

Evidence extraction and reporting

Once the indicators were identified, an evidence extraction tool was designed in Microsoft Excel to collate all relevant evidence on the selected indicators from the final list of studies. Evidence was extracted on:

- the effect of the cash transfer on the selected indicators at the highest level of aggregation reported
- the effect of variations in cash transfer design and implementation features on the selected indicators
- the effect of the cash transfer and of variations in design and implementation features on the selected indicators reported for women and girls (and by age for these groups)
- evidence of links between cash transfer design and implantation features and outcomes for the selected indicators (i.e. not just results from counterfactual impact analysis).

A number of studies using regression analysis reported multiple results from multiple models, including results used as robustness checks or sensitivity analysis. Where this was the case, the researcher extracting the evidence was required to choose the models with the most reliable estimates, based on the information provided in the study and the strengths and weaknesses of different methodological approaches. For example, in cases where difference-in-difference results were presented with and without the use of covariates, results derived from the models using covariates were always preferred.

When extracting evidence, a very small number of studies did not report p-values or clearly demonstrate levels of statistical significance, instead presenting t-statistics or standard errors. In such cases, critical values were used to identify the level of statistical significance, or the rule of thumb was used whereby coefficients greater than twice the standard error were considered significant at the 5% significance level. In this review, results are considered statistically significant up to the 10% significance level. Most studies typically reported statistical significance up to this level.

Page 71

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

As a general rule, coefficients were extracted directly in their original form and were not, for example, converted to percentage changes based on baseline information within the studies. The convention used for reporting percentage point changes is to keep them in their original form, meaning the coefficients reported need to be multiplied by 100 in order to get the full value. In the very small number of cases where percentage point changes were already reported in this way, they have been divided back in order to ensure consistency with the rest of the studies. We also tried to achieve consistency in terms of units of measurement, so if a choice of measurements was available (e.g. continuous form and log form), the measurement that was most common across studies was chosen.

Given the large volume of evidence (even after narrowing down to a subset of specific indicators) when reporting on overall effects, results at the most aggregate level were chosen. So, for example, if studies reported on overall effects as well as effects disaggregated at urban and rural levels, it is the overall effect that is reported here.⁵⁸ Where findings were reported for a number of time periods, the overall effect reported here is for the longest exposure, with any effects reported for earlier follow-ups included in the results under duration of exposure in the section on design and implementation features. In some cases, the variable used to identify participation as a beneficiary of a cash transfer was the level of transfer. Where this was the case, it is included under transfer value in the design and implementation features section, except if noted otherwise. When extracting design and implementation findings, all effects on different design and implementation variations were extracted, even if the authors did not test for statistically significant differences between these variations.

For sex-disaggregated results, evidence was extracted for both male and female beneficiaries, but the discussion focuses on women and girls, including any age-related effects among them.

Finally, due to the scale of the review, we were unable to *systematically* verify findings and interpretations. Findings and interpretations were mostly included exactly as stated in papers. When results and/or measurement units were unclear, the research team contacted authors for clarifications and the findings reported reflect these clarifications, when they were received.

Analysis and synthesis

For the synthesis and analysis of the evidence extracted, the review looks separately at overall impacts of cash transfers at the highest level of aggregation reported,⁵⁹ and impacts on women and girls by age. It also reports and analyses evidence of the effect of variations in cash transfer design and implementation features on the selected indicators (as arising from counterfactual analyses testing such links) and of links between such features and outcomes based on descriptive and qualitative studies/approaches.

As this review covered a large number of outcome areas and indicators, we chose to aggregate the results to give a clear overview of findings. Given the wide range of different indicators and measures reported, as well as missing information in some studies, e.g. on sample size, a metaanalysis was not feasible. Instead, for each indicator a vote count was carried out, reporting the number of studies on a specific indicator, the number of studies showing at least one statistically significant result⁶⁰ and the number of statistically significant findings that show increases or decreases in the underlying indicator (more on this approach, and its advantages and limitation, below). These vote counts provide a good initial *overview* of overall findings in the studies reviewed, for example whether cash transfers tend to have a statistically significant effect on a particular outcome area, and to give the reader an idea of general trends in the findings. However, vote counts lack nuance and a discussion of the causal processes underlying the impacts.

58 In some cases, the most aggregated result was already disaggregated in some way (e.g. urban or rural). Where this applies it is recorded as such in the table.

Page 72

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

⁵⁹ When findings were reported for the same dataset or programme, they were only excluded if they reported exactly the same findings.

⁶⁰ If a study considered more than one sub-indicator for a group of indicators (e.g. investment in chicken and goats), for the vote count we looked at whether there was a significant result for at least *one* indicator. In other words, we considered findings by study, not by result, as to not give more weight to studies looking at a variety of indicators.
Therefore, the vote-counting exercise was complemented with a narrative synthesis approach. Such an approach *describes* studies and findings included in the review (Waddington et al., 2012). The narrative synthesis in this review includes a discussion of the range of direction and magnitude of effect, as well as consideration of specific examples. Where available, explanations of underlying causal processes from the studies are included, particularly any discussion of design and implementation features. Hence, while the vote count approach is useful in giving an initial overview, the narrative synthesis adds nuance and detail to the broad brush vote count findings.

4.6 Limitations of this review

This review has three main limitations. The first is linked to the inclusion criteria which, by definition, determine that a set of potential sources of relevant evidence are excluded from the review. While for most criteria, the review made a special effort to ensure that the coverage of the evidence base was as comprehensive as possible, on others this was not possible given the available resources. For example, while this review took a comprehensive approach to methodological approaches, considering studies with a variety of different methods, it only considered studies in the English language. This means that studies published in languages such as Spanish and Portuguese, which have recorded a growing number with the expansion of cash transfers across Spanish- and Portuguese-speaking countries over the past two decades, are not captured by the present review, potentially affecting its findings.

A second limitation of the review is related to its scope and focus on individual and household-level outcomes. As above, partly in response to necessity, the review does not consider community- or national-level impacts of cash transfers (though acknowledging them in the conceptual framework). Furthermore, while the findings on the impacts of cash transfers are reported for women and girls (and age) wherever possible, they are not systematically reported and analysed for other levels of disaggregation. As explained above, the evidence extracted focuses on the highest level of aggregation reported by a paper. While this may reflect some level of disaggregation (e.g. urban/rural), and we ensure that this is specified in the extraction and write-up, the report does not explicitly address these types of disaggregation; only sex-disaggregated results are systematically discussed.

The third main limitation concerns the approach adopted in the synthesis of the evidence extracted. As a result of the high number of outcomes and related indicators covered, it was not possible to implement a meta-analysis approach to synthesise the rigorous evidence retrieved. Instead, for quantitative counterfactual analyses, regression coefficients and statistical significance are systematically extracted and reported and used to conduct an unweighted vote count. This in turn, is used to inform the discussion of the findings in the report using a narrative synthesis approach.

The vote-counting approach has its limitations (see Waddington et al., 2012). However, it presents a valuable way forward in summarising the results of a review of the evidence such as this one, with its breadth of coverage of indicators. Readers are encouraged to bear in mind that vote counts do not take study sample sizes or magnitude of effects into account and indeed, the discussion of the results reflects on this limitation. To partially overcome this issue, throughout the report, examples and ranges of magnitude of effects are provided, showing these as percentage changes or comparing them to baseline values wherever this information is provided by authors.

Page 73

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Chapter 5 The evidence base

This chapter presents results on the scale of the evidence across different outcomes and cash transfer design and implementation features retrieved at various stages of the review. It also lists the reasons why studies were excluded at different stages. The chapter then takes a closer look at those studies that passed the quality assessment stage and from which evidence was extracted. Studies are described in terms of geographical coverage, type of programme studied, methods and type of publication.

5.1 Scale of the evidence

As outlined in section 4.1, evidence was retrieved through five different tracks. Annex 3 shows the number of studies retrieved through different tracks by sub-question. The flow-charts in the same Annex give a more detailed picture and show the number of studies at different stages of the review after exclusion criteria and risk of bias assessments were applied.

A large number of studies were retrieved – more than 38,000 studies across all sub-questions. As shown in Table 5.1 below, the total number retrieved from all tracks by sub-question ranged from 313 studies for grievance mechanisms and programme governance to 10,607 studies for savings, investments and production.

Annex 3 shows that the majority of studies were retrieved from bibliographic databases (ranging from 305 to 10,559 post-duplication). However, the vast majority proved to be irrelevant during the screening stage (see more on the reasons for exclusion below). The studies retrieved from other sub-questions (as described above) proved to be the second-biggest source of studies for the sub-questions overall (ranging from three to 161 studies), with these themselves originally coming from either one of the other four tracks described earlier. Websites provided the next biggest source of studies (ranging from seven to 79 studies post-screening). The number retrieved through experts' suggestion and other review studies was fairly low (around 10 unique studies). We conducted this process once the other retrieval stages had been completed, so this is an indication that the other search stages were very thorough, as most of the important studies had been included already.

All studies retrieved were assessed against the inclusion criteria, but this was only done in EPPI for studies retrieved through bibliographic databases. For those studies we show the reasons for exclusion at the title and abstract and full-text stage, see Annex 3. For the sub-questions on outcome impacts (1a-1f), the most frequent reason for exclusion at the title and abstract stage (64%) was that they did not consider a cash transfer intervention, followed by studies that did not consider outcomes we were looking at within this review (16%).⁶¹ At the full-text stage the most common exclusion reason was study design (59%), followed by the reason that the study was a review study (19%). For the sub-questions on design and implementation features (2a-2f), intervention was also the most common exclusion reason at the title and abstract stage (86%), but at the full-text stage studies were mostly excluded because they were relevant for other sub-questions (42%), in which case they were moved across to that sub-question, and due to study design (18%).

Page 74

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

61 These numbers need to be interpreted with caution, as reviewers only selected one reason. Of course some studies could have been disqualified on a number of these indicators.

A total of 617 studies entered the risk of bias assessment, see Table 5.1 below. The number of studies included in this stage varied greatly by sub-question (ranging from two to 125, for grievance mechanisms and programme governance and health respectively) and tended to be higher for the studies that considered impacts on outcome areas (1a-1f). Studies that were judged to have either all 'low risk of bias' or 'low risk' and 'unclear' for quantitative studies, or for qualitative studies, 'no concerns' or 'no concerns' and 'some concerns', made it through to the final list of studies identified as relevant for the outcome area/design and implementation features. These studies were included within the annotated bibliography. The final number of unique studies to pass in this way is 201. Four of these were of a qualitative nature.

On average, around 53% of studies made it through to the final list (see Table 5.1 for a breakdown by sub-question). For the sub-question on grievance systems and programme governance, the application of the risk of bias assessment meant that no studies made it to the final list. For studies looking at design and implementation features we also considered qualitative studies and two studies made it through to the risk of bias assessment, however none of these considered indicators that we focused on and were hence not included in the data extraction stage.

The final list of studies identified as relevant for each sub-question was compiled from the studies that passed the risk of bias assessment and studies that were identified as relevant for the outcome area while compiling the annotated bibliography. The scale of the evidence base varies greatly by outcome, ranging from zero studies for grievance mechanisms to 98 studies for education. On the whole, there are fewer studies on design and implementation features, though there is a substantial evidence base of 41 studies on core design features. As such, the 'power' of findings for some design and implementation features is somewhat limited. For the outcome areas, the evidence base is largest for education (99 studies) and health (89 studies), followed by employment (80 studies). The evidence base is smallest for savings, investment and production (37 studies).

Figure 5.1 Number of studies identified as relevant for the outcome area/set of design and implementation features



Source: Authors

Further details of the number of studies passing from retrieval through each of the stages of screening to the final list are provided by sub-question in the flow diagrams in Annex 3.

Page 75

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

able 5.1 Summary of studies retrieve	d, screened, included in final list	and from which evidence extracted
--------------------------------------	-------------------------------------	-----------------------------------

	Total studies retrieved (all sources)	Total studies undergoing risk of bias/quality assessment	Studies judged either 'low risk of bias' or 'low risk' and 'unclear' (quantitative) or 'no concerns' or 'no concerns' and 'some concerns' (qualitative)	Additional studies identified as relevant from other sub- questions (during compilation of annotated bibliography)	Total studies identified as relevant for the outcome area	Final number of studies from which evidence was extracted on the selected indicators
Cash transfer impact o	n outcomes					
Monetary poverty	4,975	75	34	27	61	44
Education	1,164	120	74	25	99	42
Health and nutrition	4,245	125	64	25	89	41
Savings, investment and production	10,608	42	32	5	37	27
Employment	5,965	93	61	19	80	74
Empowerment	4,206	56	36	18	54	31
Impact of cash transfe	r design and impl	ementation feature	s on outcomes			
Core design features	634	41	25	16	41	40
Conditionality	1,681	25	19	2	21	11
Targeting	770	10	6	1	7	1
Payment systems	1,920	14	3	0	3	2
Grievance mechanisms and programme governance	313	2	0	0	0	0
Complementary interventions and supply- side services	1,581	21	11	3	14	8

5.2 Studies included in the review

This section takes a closer look at the studies that are at the heart of the review. We extracted information on five to eight indicators for each outcome area under question one. Evidence was only extracted from studies reporting on design and implementation features (Sub-questions 2a-2f) if they reported the effect on these five to eight indicators. As not all studies contained results on these specific indicators, for the actual review and discussion of findings we focus on a sub-sample of studies from the full list that reached the annotated bibliography, i.e. the 'final list of studies from which evidence was extracted on the selected indicators'. The total number of unique studies from which evidence was extracted by sub-question is summarised in the final column of Table 5.1 above. In this section, we provide a summary of the number of studies by source of retrieval, type of study, study design, geographic coverage and cash transfer programmes covered.

5.2.1 Source of retrieval

First of all, from a methodological point of view we are interested in the source of retrieval for all of the studies that reached the annotated bibliography and the studies from which evidence was extracted. Table A4.1 in Annex 4 shows the source of retrieval for studies included in the annotated bibliography.

The way the review was structured around 12 separate sub-questions allowed for studies to be identified as relevant for a particular sub-question from another sub-question. Quite a number of studies were primarily designed around a particular outcome area or areas, but then included

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

results of relevance to other outcomes. In some cases, such studies were also relevant for the subquestion through which the study was originally identified and in other cases they were not. This makes it challenging to summarise the source of retrieval for all studies from which evidence was extracted. For example, if a study was identified through a website but also found to be relevant for another study, then, if the sources of retrieval are considered for the body of evidence as a whole across all sub-questions, this will involve some double counting of studies (e.g. being retrieved through a website and also from 'other sub-questions'). For this reason, the summary of evidence by source of retrieval in Figure 5.2 is broken down by sub-question in order to avoid any double counting of studies.

Figure 5.2 shows that studies retrieved from 'other sub-questions' provided an important source of retrieval for most sub-questions, contributing between 14% and 86% of studies among subquestions that retrieved any studies in this way. For questions 2d (payment mechanisms) and 2e (grievance mechanisms and programme governance) no studies were added from other subquestions. It is worth noting that, without the broad scope of this review, the evidence retrieved through this track would not have not been included and it therefore represents one of the key advantages of the review – greatly expanding the body of evidence from which evidence is extracted. This would not be possible in reviews that focus on a single outcome area.

The second most important source of retrieval was bibliographic databases. This provided between 6% of studies (for empowerment and education) and 81% of studies (for conditionality). Note that studies gained from other sub-questions may also have originally been sourced through bibliographic databases, or indeed, from one of the other study sources (i.e. websites, reviews or expert suggestions).



Figure 5.2 Source of retrieval for studies from which evidence was extracted

Source: Authors

Page 77

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

5.2.2 Type of study

This review had a wide and rigorous retrieval strategy in order to also capture evidence that is outside the peer-reviewed journal channels, for example, reports from institutional websites. Nevertheless, the majority of studies that we extracted evidence from were published in a peer-reviewed journals (Figure 5.3). In total, 42% of studies across all outcomes were a peer-reviewed journal article and this holds for all sub-questions bar two: targeting and payment systems (see Table A4.2 in Annex 4 for a detailed breakdown). The second most frequent studies were working papers (25%) and unpublished papers and PhD theses (23%). Only 10% of studies were reports (e.g. official impact evaluation reports) or book chapters. This tells us that much of the rigorous evidence on cash transfers with a low risk of bias is published in peer-reviewed journals.



Figure 5.3 Type of studies from which evidence was extracted

Source: Authors

5.2.3 Study design

In this review, we included studies with an RCT or quasi-experimental research design, as well as qualitative studies (when considering design and implementation features), however none of the qualitative studies were included in the extraction stage for the reasons discussed above. Among the studies from which evidence was extracted, a greater share used an RCT approach than a quasi-experimental approach. On average, 58% of the studies relied on an RCT research approach. This varied by outcome, with 51% of the studies for the poverty sub-question using an RCT approach, to 78% of the studies for savings, investment and production doing so (Figure 5.3).

Page 78

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion





Source: Authors

5.2.4 Geographical coverage

Also of interest is the geographical coverage of studies from which evidence was extracted. This can give us some sense of how representative the findings are that are synthesised in this review.⁶² Figure 5.4 shows geographical coverage by sub-question. For most outcomes, the majority of studies focused on a cash transfer in Latin America; across all sub-questions, approximately 54% of the studies report on a programme from Latin America. The exception is for the sub-question on savings, investment and production, where more studies focused on sub-Saharan Africa. Around 38% of the studies focused on a country in sub-Saharan Africa, with studies looking at East Asia and the Pacific, Europe and Central Asia, and the Middle East and North Africa accounting for around just 8%.

To some extent, the geographical focus of studies included in this review reflects programme coverage, yet there are also large-scale cash transfer programmes in Europe and Central Asia, South Asia and South East Asia that have not made it into this review. This could be for a number of reasons, possibly because they have not been subject to (published) evaluations or because the studies were of a high risk of bias. As such, while we are confident that this review reflects the global *knowledge base* fairly well, having included most of the low risk of bias, published studies of cash transfers, it does not necessarily mean that the findings are broadly generalisable. The findings are clearly focused on Latin America and specific programmes.

Contents

Page 79

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

62 Note that external validity of the findings will also depend crucially on the individual studies and their research design.

Figure 5.4 Geographical coverage of studies from which evidence was extracted



Source: Authors

5.2.5 Cash transfer programmes included in this review

This review covers non-contributory cash transfer programmes, generally tax- or donor-financed, and delivered by the state or NGOs to individuals and households. The four main broad types of programmes covered by the review are:

- unconditional cash transfers (UCTs)
- conditional cash transfers (CCTs)
- social pensions
- enterprise grants.

In total, this review extracted evidence on 56 different cash transfer programmes, including: 31 CCTs, 14 UCTs, 4 social pension programmes, 2 enterprise grants and 5 programmes that included both conditional and unconditional components. Table 5.2 below lists the cash transfer programmes on which evience is reported in this review and for each programme lists the country of operation, years of implementation, population coverge and the number of studies from which evidence was extracted.

Of the programmes covered in this review, the majority are CCTs (55%) and most of these are located in Latin America. 25% of the programmes were UCTs, mostly located in Africa. Of the remaining programmes, 9% involve a combination of CCTs and UCTs (most of these were part of a trial or experiment), 4% were enterprise grants and 7% were social pensions.

The remainder of this section discusses the four broad types of cash transfer programme and provides detailed information on one example of each type.

CCTs are cash transfers with an element of conditionality, commonly set in terms of beneficiary behavioural requirements. CCTs may pursue a combination of objectives including the provision of a minimum income/income support to specific target groups and promoting human capital accumulation, for instance in terms of education and health. Depending on their underlying

Page 80

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

rationale, CCTs can vary considerably, such as by transfer level, target population and conditionality. CCTs with a strong human capital accumulation focus may target households with children and include behavioural requirements in the form of regular school attendance and health care visits. Other CCTs may be more broadly targeted, for instance to all those with an income or assets below a specific threshold, independently of demographic characteristics. As outlined in Chapter 2, conditionalities can vary considerably depending on the precise behavioural requirements, their centrality to CCT operation (e.g. whether compliance is monitored in advance of benefit receipt), the treatment of non-compliance (e.g. punitive versus non-punitive) and implementation. CCTs for which evidence is reported in this review include: Brazil's Bolsa Família, Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades, Malawi's Zomba CCT and Tanzania's Social Action Fund. Indonesia's Program Keluarga Harapan (PKH) is described in more detail in Box 5.1.

Box 5.1 PKH (Indonesia)

Indonesia's Program Keluarga Harapan (PKH) is a CCT programme which began in 2007 to address shortfalls in human development outcomes. Targeting is poverty-based (means tested) and only households with a pregnant or lactating woman or child of a certain age (0–15 or 16–18) are eligible. Initial roll-out was to 432,000 households, gradually expanding to several million. Transfer size is determined by number of children and pregnant or lactating women in the household, with a minimum transfer in 2007 of 600,000 Indonesian rupiahs (~US\$62) and a maximum of 2,200,000 Indonesian rupiahs (~\$US228) per year. Payments are made quarterly. A large number of conditions are attached to receiving the transfers, covering use of specific health care services and children being enrolled in school and having at least 85% attendance. Compliance is monitored using an online system, with data entered by programme officials. Non-compliance results in a warning and then, if not rectified, a 10% cut to transfer size and, finally, exclusion from the programme. By design, recertification of eligibility is conducted every three years.

In contrast to CCTs, UCTs do not include a conditionality component. UCTs typically have a core poverty reduction objective. Like CCTs, they may also seek to promote human capital accumulation. UCTs can vary widely in terms of their target group and core design features (e.g. size and frequency of payment). For example, the Kenya cash transfer-OVC is targeted at poor orphaned or vulnerable children, whereas Albania's Ndhima Ekonomike is targeted at all poor households, yet both provide a transfer equivalent to about US\$20 per month. UCTs covered here include a number of experimental programmes in sub-Saharan Africa, such as the Lesotho Child Grant, and Malawi's Social Cash Transfer Programme, described in more detail in Box 5.2.

Box 5.2 SCTP (Malawi)

Malawi's Social Cash Transfer Programme started as a pilot UCT in Mchinji district in 2006, aiming to improve food security among the poorest households by providing bi-monthly transfers to ultra-poor and labour-constrained households. Households are targeted using a combination of community-based targeting and a proxy-means test. As of July 2015 the programme was operational in 18 of Malawi's 28 districts, covering 150,341 households. Monthly transfer values vary by size of household and, at the time of the pilot, were around 600 Malawi kwacha (US\$4.30) for a single-headed household, up to 1,800 kwacha (US\$12.85) for four or more people. An additional educational bonus is available for each school-going child (200 kwacha for primary and 400 kwacha for secondary school). While transfer levels have increased over time, they have lost significant value due to rising prices. Re-targeting is supposed to take place every four years.

Social pensions are non-contributory – transfers are paid without regard to past participation in the labour market. They are age targeted and may also be means-targeted. Their core objective is to reduce poverty among the elderly, though they may also have (implicit) labour supply objectives, for instance making it possible for beneficiaries to reduce work effort upon receiving a guaranteed income. Social pensions vary by transfer level and frequency of payment, among other dimensions. For example, by design, Bolivia's Bonosol beneficiaries receive one annual payment, whereas recipients of South Africa's Old-Age Grant receive monthly transfers. The review covers four social pensions: Bolivia's Bonosol/Bolivida pension, Brazil's BPC, Mexico's Programa de Atención a Adultos Mayores en Zonas Rurales (described in Box 5.3) and South Africa's Old-Age Pension.

Page 81

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Box 5.3 PAAMZR (Mexico)

Mexico's Programa de Atención a Adultos Mayores en Zonas Rurales (Assistance for Older Rural Adults Programme, PAAMZR) was a non-contributory pension providing support to rural adults at least 70 years old, giving priority to those living in communities with high marginality or who lived in poverty conditions. Starting in 2007, initial roll-out of the programme was to half of Mexico's states, with the intention of going nationwide. Adults were eligible for the pension if they were over 70 years old and lived in communities with fewer than 2,500 inhabitants. Over time coverage extended to 2.1 million beneficiaries. The transfer was 1,000 Mexican pesos (US\$90) every two months. The beneficiaries of the programme were also invited to take part in workshops and social development activities. Since 2013 the programme has been absorbed by one which is open to adults over 65, with no restriction according to community size.

The final type of cash transfer included in this review are enterprise grants. These are fundamentally different to other types of cash transfer programme covered by this review, both in terms of objectives and design features. These programmes have the objective of enabling beneficiaries to start or expand a small enterprise through a cash injection and other support provided. As such, they are often *not* targeted at the poorest households, but instead they are targeted at individuals with labour capacity and some human capital. They often involve a number of requirements (e.g. writing a business plan) and can be heavily monitored; as such they are effectively conditional. Unlike other cash transfers, transfers are often one-off. Two enterprise grants are covered in the review, both operating in Uganda: the Youth Opportunities Programme (YOP) and Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS), described in Box 5.4.

Box 5.4 WINGS (Uganda)

Uganda's WINGS programme has the objective of helping beneficiaries very small but sustainable retail and trading enterprises. Targeting is conducted by the Association of Volunteers in International Service (AVSI), who identified 1800 poor people, mostly women, in 120 war-affected villages. Once an enterprise plan was approved, the participant received a grant of 300,000 Ugandan shillings or US\$150 at 2009 market exchange rates. The grant was framed as funds to implement the business plan. AVSI's Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS) program provided people grants of US\$150 (about US\$375 in purchasing power parity, or PPP, terms), along with five days of business skills training and planning, plus ongoing supervision to help implement the plan. The grant was 30 times larger than the beneficiaries' baseline monthly earnings. Cash was delivered by AVSI in two equal instalments about 2 and 6 weeks after training.

Table 5.2 below provides basic information on programmes covered in this review, including the most recent data available on coverage, with more detailed information on each programme included in the annotated bibliography (Harman et al., 2016).

The table shows that some of programmes assessed were short-term/pilot programmes that ran for just a few years and that some have relatively low coverage. PROGRESA/Oportunidades is the most analysed programme (being covered in 48 studies across all sub-questions). Being one of the oldest CCTs, originally evaluated with an RCT design, its delivery involved the collection of a number of high-quality and large N datasets that have been used to analyse various shortand long-term impacts. A number of other Latin American programmes are also the subject of a high number of studies, including the Red de Protección Social in Nicaragua (18 studies) and Colombia's Familias en Acción (10 studies). Outside Latin America, most programmes are covered in just a handful of studies. In sub-Saharan Africa, the most frequently covered programme is Malawi's Zomba Cash Transfer Programme (5 studies).

Page 82

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 5.2 Cash transfer programmes covered in the evidence extraction of this review

Latin America Bolivia E Brazil E Brazil E	ca & Caribbean Bonosol/Bolivida pension ⁶³				
Bolivia E Brazil E Brazil E	Bonosol/Bolivida pension63				
Brazil E Brazil E		Social pension	1997-present	800,000 individuals (2010)	2
Brazil E	Bolsa Alimentação	CCT	2001–2003	2 million households (2003)	1
	Bolsa Escola	CCT	2001–2003	5 million households (2003)	1
Brazil E	Bolsa Família	CCT	2003-present	13.8 million households (2013)	3
Brazil E	Benefício de Prestação Continuada (BPC)	Social pension	1996–present	3.7 million individuals (2014)	1
Colombia F	Familias en Acción ⁶⁴	CCT	2000-present	2.5 million households (2016)	10
Colombia S	Subsidios Condicionados a la Asistencia Escolar (SCAE)	CCT	2005–present	46,000 children (2010)	2
Dominican S Republic	Solidarity Programme	CCT	2005–2012	755,683 households (2011)	1
Ecuador E	Bono de Desarrollo Humano (BDH)	CCT	2003-present	443,803 households (2015)	9
Ecuador V	WFP Colombian refugee RCT (WFP cash transfer)	CCT	April–Sept 2011	3,642 individuals (2011)	3
El Salvador (Comunidades Solidarias Rurales (CSR)	CCT	2005-present	80,222 households (2013)	2
Honduras F	Programa de Asignación Familiar (PRAF)	CCT	1990-present	660,790 households (2010 expected)	8
Honduras E	Bono 10,00065	CCT	2010-present	600,000 households (2012 expected)	1
Jamaica F	Programme of Advancement Through Health and Education (PATH)	CCT	2001-present	307,000 individuals (2009)	1
Mexico F	PROGRESA/Oportunidades66	CCT	1997–present	6.1 million households (2015)	48
Mexico F	PROCAMP067	CCT	1994–present	2.6 million producers (2014)	2
Mexico F	Programa Apoyo Alimentario (PAL)68	CCT	2003–2016	1.5 million households (2015)	2
Mexico F	Programa de Atención a Adultos Mayores en Zonas Rurales	Social pension	2007–present	2.1 million beneficiaries (2014)	1
Nicaragua F	Red de Protección Social (RPS)	CCT	RPS1 1999–2001 RPS2 2002–2006	10,000 households (2002)	18
Nicaragua A	Atención a Crisis	CCT	2005–2006	3,000 households (2006)	8
Paraguay T	Tekoporã	CCT	2005-present	131,159 households (2015)	1
Peru J	Juntos	CCT	2005-present	769,158 households (2015)	2
Sub-Saharan	1 Africa				
Burkina M Faso	Nahouri Cash Transfers Pilot Project	CCT, UCT	2008–2010	2,160 households (2008)	2
Ghana li	Innovation for poverty randomised trial	UCT	2008–2011	8200 households (2009)	2
Ghana L	Livelihood empowerment against poverty (LEAP)	UCT/CCT	2008-present	90,785 beneficiaries (2016) planned to expand to 200,000 by late 2016	3
Kenya G	Give Directly experiment	UCT	2011–2013	471 households (2013)	2
Kenya H	Hunger Safety Net Programme (HSNP)	UCT	2008-present	100,000 households (2015 target)	1
Kenya (Orphans and Vulnerable Children Cash Transfer (OVC-cash transfer)	UCT	2004–present	240,000 households (2016)	3
Lesotho (Child Grant Programme (LCGP)	UCT	2009-present	19,800 households (2014)	2

63 The programme is now called Renta Dignidad and the latest coverage figure given is for this programme.

64 The programme is now called Más Familias en Acción.

65 The programme is now called Bono vida Mejor.

66 The programme is now called Prospera.

67 The programme is now called PROAGRO.

68 To be merged in 2016 with PROSPERA.

Page 83

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 5.2 Cash transfer programmes covered in the evidence extraction of this review continued

Country	Programme	Type of programme	Years of operation	Coverage at latest count	Number of studies
Malawi	Social Cash Transfer Programme (SCTP)	UCT	2006–present	150,341 households (2015)	3
Malawi	The Zomba Cash Transfer Programme	CCT/UCT	2008–2009	3,796 girls (2009)	5
Malawi	Sexual health incentive study	CCT	2006–2007	1,307 individuals (2007)	1
Niger	Prospective study with Forum Santé Niger and Médecins Sans Frontières	CCT, UCT	2011	3,524 children (2011)	1
Niger	Concern Worldwide drought-response unconditional transfer	UCT	2010–2011	10,000 households (2010)	2
South Africa	Old-Age Pension	Social pension	1944-present	3.1 million individuals (2015)	3
South Africa	Child Support Grant and Foster Grant	UCT	Child Support Grant 1998–present Foster Grant 1996–present	11.9 million and 533,000 beneficiaries respectively (2015)	1
Tanzania	Tanzania Social Action Fund (TSAF)	CCT	2010-present	259,716 households (2015)	1
Uganda	WFP Karamoja cash transfer	CCT	2011-2012	2,972 children (2011)	1
Uganda	Youth Opportunities Programme (YOP)	Enterprise grant	2008	2,675 individuals (2008)	2
Uganda	Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE)	UCT	2011-present	64,113 households (2014)	1
Uganda	Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS)	Enterprise grant	2009	1,800 individuals (2009)	2
Zambia	Monze Cash Transfer Pilot (CTP)	UCT	2007–2010	2,069 households (2010 expected)	1
Zambia	Child Grant Programme	UCT	2010–2013	20,000 households (2013)	2
Middle East	t and North Africa				
Morocco	Tayssir	UCT/CCT	2008–2010	3,595 households (2008)	1
Europe and	Central Asia				
Albania	Ndhima Ekonomike	UCT *	1993-present	80,000 households (2016)	1
Kazakhstan	BOTA programme	CCT	2009–2014	95,000 households (2014)	1
Turkey	Social Risk Mitigation Project	CCT	2004–2007	2.6 million children (2007)	1
South Asia					
Bangladesh	Shombhob	CCT	2012–2013	14,125 households (2012)	1
Pakistan	The Punjab Female School Stipend Programme	CCT	2003-present	393,000 girls (2014)	1
Pakistan	Benazir Income Support Programme (BISP)	UCT	2008-present	4.7 million households (2014)	1
East Asia a	nd Pacific				
Cambodia	CESSP Scholarship Programme (CSP)	CCT	2005–2011	unknown	2
Cambodia	Japan Fund for Poverty Reduction (JFPR) scholarship program	CCT	2004–2006	~4,185 girls (2004)	1
China	Junior High School Randomised Controlled Trial	CCT	2009–2010	142 children (2009)	1
Indonesia	Program Keluarga Harapan (PKH)	CCT	2007-present	3.2 million households (2014)	1
Indonesia	Temporary UCT	UCT	2005–2006	19 million households (2005)	2
Indonesia	Bantuan Siswa Miskin (BSM) cash transfer for poor students	CCT	2008-present	11.1 million children (2013)	1

Note: some studies report on more than one programme and so the sum of studies in Table 5.2 does not give the full number of independent studies from which evidence was extracted. * Transfers could technically be made conditional on participation in community projects by local councils.

Page 84

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Pag<u>e 85</u>

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

SECTION II

Section II reports the evidence retrieved, consolidated and analysed by the review organised by outcome in six chapters: monetary poverty; education; health and nutrition; savings, investment and production; employment and empowerment. All six chapters follow a common basic structure, starting with a box summarising the rigorous evidence available on the selected indicators of the respective outcome, followed by sections reporting:

- a summary of main findings
- the evidence base
- results on the impact of cash transfers on the selected indicators
- results on the impact of cash transfers on women and girls
- evidence of links between cash transfer design and implementation features and the selected indicators and
- finally, a discussion of the policy implications arising from the evidence.

The chapters include tables reporting estimates of the effects of cash transfers on specific indicators at the highest level of aggregation reported. Detailed tables of the findings on the impacts of cash transfers measured for women and girls (by age) and evidence of the role of programme design features are provided in Annex 5.

Page 86

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Box 6.1. Summary of evidence for monetary poverty outcomes

Overall effects of cash transfers on selected poverty indicators:

- Evidence on the impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty was extracted from 44 studies.
- The 35 studies considering the impact of cash transfers on *total expenditure* largely find an increase. 26 studies show a statistically significant effect. The vast majority of these (25 out of 26) find an increase in total expenditure. The increases range from 2.8 percentage point change in total per capita expenditure for Colombia's Atención a Crisis (Macours et al., 2012) to 33 percentage point change in total expenditure for Peru's Juntos (Perova and Vakis, 2012). One study considering Albania's Ndhima Ekonomike programme found a significant reduction in total per capita household expenditure, due to drop in labour supply of beneficiaries (Dabalen et al., 2008). Studies with insignificant findings point towards design and implementation features as explanations, e.g. low level of transfer and delays in disbursement, as well as changes in household behaviour.
- There are 31 studies reporting on impacts on *food expenditure* and they largely find an increase. Of the 31 studies, 24 studies show at least one statistically significant effect, with 22 of these being an increase in food expenditure. Two studies report a decrease owing to a decrease in labour supply and possible prioritisation of savings over consumption (Dabalen et al., 2008; Ribas et al., 2010).
- Nine studies consider impacts on *FGT poverty measures* (poverty headcount, poverty gap, squared poverty gap) and while only around two thirds find a statistically significant impact, with the exception of one they show a reduction in poverty. While cash transfers were shown to lead to an increase total and food expenditure for most programmes, it appears that in many cases this impact is not big enough to have an effect on aggregate poverty levels. Findings on the reduction of the poverty headcount range from a reduction of four percentage points (AIR, 2014) to almost nine percentage points (Skoufias et al., 2013). The poverty gap ranges from about a reduction of four percentage points for PROGRESA (Skoufias and di Maro, 2008) to about eight percentage points for Zambia's Child Grant (AIR, 2014).

Variation in outcomes by gender:

Six studies reported sex-disaggregated outcomes. The low number of studies is probably due to the nature of the
indicators considered under this outcome. Expenditure and poverty rates are mostly measured at the household
level, which – by definition – cannot be disaggregated. *None* of the six studies finds a statistically significant
difference between women/men or girls/boys. Two studies found a statistically significant increase in individual
expenditure for female recipients (Blattman et al., 2013; Green et al., 2015).

Role of design and implementation features:

- 19 studies report findings on the effects of design and implementation features on poverty. Almost all of these
 have at least one statistically significant finding, showing the importance of design and implementation features in
 mediating poverty impacts.
- One study considered the *main recipient* on non-durable expenditure, finding no significant difference between male and female recipients (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).
- Four studies considered the *transfer level* and they find that a larger transfer is associated with bigger impacts on expenditure and poverty reduction (three of these are significant).
- Two studies considering *transfer frequency* on household expenditure with contradictory findings (one of these is statistically significant).
- Nine studies considered *duration of exposure* and seven of these are able to report statistically significant findings. The studies with statistically significant findings suggest that on the whole longer exposure to the programme is linked to higher expenditure levels.
- One study considered the *targeting mechanism* (Merttens et al., 2015). It found that the treatment arm targeted towards a specific age category (the elderly) did not have a significant impact for food expenditure unlike for those targeted on the basis of a more general demographic vulnerability index; possibly because recipients saw the transfer as a personal transfer not to be spent on food for the household as a whole.
- Five studies considered *complementary interventions and supply-side servicess*. Participation in a complementary intervention is statistically significant in four of the studies. In three of the studies participation in complementary interventions and supply-side programmes leads to an increase in expenditure, though mostly similar in magnitude as increases also experienced by cash transfer beneficiaries who did not participate in complementary interventions and supply-side programmes.

Page 87

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

6.1 Summary of findings

This section reports on the impacts of cash transfers on household poverty. The specific indicators for which estimates are reported are: total expenditure, household food expenditure and the Foster–Greer–Thorbecke (FGT) poverty indicators, which include the poverty headcount, poverty gap and squared poverty gap. A summary of the overall effects, how they vary by design and implementation features, and by gender is provided in Box 6.1.

As discussed in the conceptual framework in Chapter 2, cash transfers potentially affect household expenditure in the short and longer-term, when a cash transfer is spent or invested. When a cash transfer is spent (e.g. on food, household essentials, clothes, accessing basic services or on 'desirable' goods), by definition household expenditure increases – this subsequently affects the likelihood of being poor (if the poverty line is measured in terms of household expenditure). When a cash transfer is invested (e.g. on agricultural assets, education a new family business), this can raise future earnings and future spending potential and hence longer-term household expenditure. Hence, cash transfers can lead to an increase in expenditure (and decrease in poverty) in the short and longer term.

As such, the rationale behind cash transfer is that they increase households' purchasing power and reduce poverty among beneficiary households. However, a transfer may also lead to changes in individual or household behaviour and time use, which in turn affect expenditure and poverty. For example, a means-tested transfer of large value as a share of beneficiary income may generate an incentive for recipients to reduce their work effort, leading to a reduction in wage income, offsetting progress in poverty reduction. Furthermore, depending on a household's starting point on the income distribution, among other factors, a household may choose to prioritise savings and investment over consumption, which could be an optimal outcome for the household, even if short-term expenditure is reduced.

Impacts across all three indicator areas were consistent in their direction of effect. The findings point largely towards an increase in total and food expenditure and a decrease in FGT poverty indicators. 35 studies reported findings on impact on total expenditure, with 26 of these demonstrating at least one significant impact. Of these, 25 show an increase in total expenditure, with one decrease. Studies with insignificant findings point towards design and implementation features as explanations, e.g. low level of transfers, infrequent transfers, as well as changes in household behaviour, e.g. a labour supply effect. For food expenditure, of the 31 studies, 24 found at least one significant impact. Again, the vast majority find an increase in food expenditure: 22. Seven studies find no significant impact on food expenditure, possibly due to changes in household behaviour or due to programme design and implementation features. Giving just one example, Cheema et al. (2014) relate the lack of impact of Pakistan's BISP to the irregularity of transfer, with households spending the transfer – when it comes – on other expenditure items instead.

The main exception across both indicators is Albania's Ndhima Ekonomike programme. Dabalen et al. (2008) argue that programme participation led to a decrease in household labour supply (strongly driven by cultural preferences) and subsequently household food and total expenditure. Ribas et al. (2010) found that beneficiary household participating in Paraguay's Tekoporã programme prioritised savings over consumption (possibly as a result of the attached family support programme), resulting in a decrease in food expenditure.

With regard to FGT poverty indicators, the evidence base is smaller, with nine studies, and with about one third of the studies not finding a significant effect. This suggests that in many cases the cash transfer may not be large enough, or beneficiaries may not have received the transfer long enough, to have an impact on aggregate poverty levels. The findings that are statistically significant consistently point to a reduction in poverty. Nine studies report findings on the poverty headcount. For the poverty headcount, six show a significant effect, with five of these showing a decrease in the poverty headcount. For the poverty gap, seven studies have statistically significant findings (of nine studies assessing this outcome) and six of these show a decrease in the poverty gap. For the seven studies reporting findings on the squared poverty gap, five have a significant result and four of these show a reduction in the indicator. The one exception is again the Ndhima Ekonomike programme in Albania.

Page 88

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

6.2 Summary of evidence base

In total, there were 44 studies from which evidence was extracted for the specific poverty indicators reported in this study, covering 19 countries and 31 cash transfer programmes. There was an even split between conditional and unconditional cash transfers, but with strong geographical biases. The vast majority of the Latin American cash transfers were conditional, whereas almost all African cash transfers were unconditional.

Table 6.1 provides an overview of the countries and programmes the studies reported on. As can be seen, more than half of studies (24 out of 44) cover cash transfer programmes in Latin America, with a disproportionate number of those (six) focusing on Mexico's PROGRESA/ Oportunidades programme and Nicaragua's Red de Protección Social (four). Meanwhile, just 13 studies cover sub-Saharan Africa, four cover Asia and two look at an intervention in Europe or Central Asia.⁶⁹

Most studies were of programmes that had been operating at a large scale over a number of years. However, a number of studies (particularly from sub-Saharan Africa and Asia) report on findings from small experimental studies or pilots that were limited in scale. As such, the findings from these studies may be more limited in their external validity and applicability to other settings.

A range of different study designs and estimation methods were used in order to estimate the effect of cash transfers or their design and implementation features on the selected poverty indicators. Table 6.2 provides a summary of these. As can be seen, about half were based on an RCT design, with the remainder using observational data and employing some form of difference-in-differences (DID), regression discontinuity design (RDD), instrumental variables (IV) or ordinary least squares (OLS) regression.

Page 89

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

69 Note: The totals in the final column of Table 5.1 do not add to the total number of studies as two studies report results for more than one programme.

Table 6.1: Summary of countries and programmes reported on for the poverty indicators (all studies)

Country	Programme	Type of cash transfer	# studies	Details if pilot or experimental study*
Total number of	studies: 44			
Latin America :	24 studies			
Bolivia	Bonosol pension	UCT	1	
Brazil	Bolsa Alimentação	CCT	1	
Colombia	Familias en Acción	CCT	2	
Ecuador	Bono de Desarrollo Humano	CCT	2	
Ecuador	WFP Colombian refugee RCT	CCT	1	Two provinces near Colombian border
Mexico	PROGRESA/Oportunidades	CCT	6	
Mexico	PROCAMPO	CCT	1	
Mexico	Programa Apoyo Alimentario (PAL)	CCT	2	
Nicaragua	Red de Protección Social	CCT	4	
Nicaragua	Atención a Crisis	CCT	2	Experiment
Paraguay	Tekoporã	CCT	1	
Peru	Juntos	CCT	1	
Africa: 14 studie	25			
Ghana	Innovation for poverty randomised trial	UCT	1	Three-year field trial
Ghana	Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty (LEAP)	UCT/CCT	1	
Kenya	Give Directly experiment	UCT	1	Two-year experiment run by Give Directly
Kenya	Kenya Hunger Safety Net Programme (HSNP)	UCT	1	Phase 1 of programme roll-out
Kenya	Kenya cash transfer-OVC	UCT	1	
Lesotho	Child Grant Programme	UCT	1	
Malawi	Social Cash Transfer Programme	UCT	1	Pilot phase (one district)
Uganda	Youth Opportunities Program (YOP),	CCT	1	Part of Northern Uganda Social Action Fund
Uganda	Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE)	UCT	1	Two pilots
Uganda	Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS)	Enterprise grant	2	Not for profit short-term programme, two districts
Uganda	WFP Karamoja Cash Transfer Pilot	CCT	1	Three districts
Zambia	Monze Cash Transfer Pilot	UCT	1	Pilot (one district)
Zambia	Child Grant Cash Transfer	UCT	1	
East Asia and Pa	acific: 2 studies			
Indonesia	Program Keluarga Harapan	CCT	1	
Indonesia	Temporary UCT	UCT	1	One year compensation for removal of fuel subsidies
South Asia: 2 st	udies			
Bangladesh	Shombhob	CCT	1	10 unions from two rural Upazilas and one urban slum
Pakistan	BISP	UCT	1	
Europe and Cent	tral Asia: 2 studies			
Albania	Ndhima Ekonomike	UCT	1	
Kazakhstan	BOTA programme	CCT	1	Programme operated between 2009–2014

* This information, for papers that report results from a pilot/experimental implementation, helps distinguish such papers from those that cover cash transfer policies/programmes that are operational at a larger scale and/or are long-term/permanent. It provides a 'flag' for findings which may have more limited external validity or where it has not been shown that the evidence would necessarily hold at a larger scale. Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 6.2: Summary of study methods used for poverty indicators

Study	Study design and methods used for reported results	Reports total effect	Reports effect of design and implementation features?	Reports sex- disaggregated outcomes
AIR (2014)	QE (DID, PSM)	Yes	Yes	
Angelucci et al. (2012)	QE (DID, PSM)	Yes		
Attanasio et al. (2012)	QE (OLS, panel data)	Yes		
Attanasio and Mesnard (2005)	QE (DID, controlling for observable household and community differences)	Yes		
Bazzi (2013)	QE (DID, with some use of PSM)	Yes		
Blattman et al. (2013)	RCT (DID, complier average causal effect)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Blattman et al. (2015)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	
Braido et al. (2012)	QE (OLS, cross-sectional data)	Yes		
Buser et al. (2014)	QE (RDD, cross-sectional data)	Yes		
Cheema et al. (2014)	QE (RDD, panel data)	Yes		
Dabalen et al. (2008)	QE (PSM, panel data)	Yes		
Davis et al. (2002)	QE (OLS, panel data)	Yes	Yes	
Edmonds and Schady (2012)	QE (DID, IV)	Yes		Yes
Ferré and Sharif (2014)	QE (DID, RDD)	Yes		
Galiani et al. (2014)	QE (DID, controlling for individual and locality characteristics)	Yes		
Gertler et al. (2012)	RCT (DID, OLS)	Yes	Yes	
Gilligan et al. (2013)	RCT (ANCOVA, panel data)	Yes		
Gitter and Caldes (2010)	RCT (DID, controlling for time-invariant characteristics)	Yes		
Green et al. (2015)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Handa et al. (2014)	QE (DID, PSM)	Yes		Yes
Handa et al. (2009)	QE (OLS, panel data)	Yes	Yes	
Haushofer and Shapiro (2013)	RCT (DID, OLS)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Hidrobo et al. (2012)	RCT (ANCOVA, panel data)	Yes		
Karlan et al. (2014)	RCT (IV, cross-sectional data)	Yes		
Macours et al. (2012)	RCT (2SLS, panel data)	Yes	Yes	
Macours et al. (2012)	RCT (Seemingly unrelated regression, panel data)	Yes	Yes	
Maluccio (2005)	RCT (DID, controlling for fixed effects)	Yes		
Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RCT (DID, unknown estimation method)	Yes		
Maluccio (2010)	RCT (DID, controlling for household characteristics)	Yes		
Martinez (2004)	QE (DID, controlling for household and community characteristics)	Yes		Yes
Merttens et al. (2013)	RCT (DID, controlling for household and community characteristics)	Yes		
Merttens et al. (2015)	QE (DID, PSM)	Yes	Yes	
Miller et al. (2011)	RCT (DID, with controls)	Yes		
O'Brien et al. (2013)	RCT (IV, panel data)	Yes		
Palermo et al. (2012)	RCT (DID, with controls)	Yes		
Pellerano et al. (2014)	RCT (DID, OLS)	Yes		
Perova and Vakis (2012)	(IV, cross-sectional data)	Yes	Yes	
Ribas et al. (2010)	QE (PSM, longitudinal data)	Yes		
Ruiz-Arranz et al. (2002)	RCT (OLS and IV, cross-sectional data)	Yes		
Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	QE (DID, PSM)	Yes		
Skoufias et al. (2013)	RCT (DID, controlling for household and village characteristics)	Yes		
Skoufias and di Maro (2008)	RCT (DID, with controls)	Yes		
Skoufias et al. (2008)	RCT (DID, with controls)	Yes		
World Bank (2011)	QE (IV, cross-sectional data)	Yes		

Page 91

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

QE=Quasi-experimental approach, RDD = Regression Discontinuity Design, RCT = randomised controlled trial, DID = difference-in-difference, PSM = propensity score matching, IV = instrumental variables, ANCOVA = analysis of covariance.

6.3 The impact of cash transfers on poverty

Tables 6.3 to 6.7 below summarise the effects of cash transfers on the indicators under consideration. Where any effects associated with design or implementation features were found, these are not reported in the tables, but are discussed in section 6.5. Similarly, all sex-disaggregated results are discussed in section 6.4.

Total expenditure

Total expenditure – also called consumption – measures all expenditure by a household within a specified unit of time, including expenditure on food, household essentials, clothes, services and investment. From the 35 studies that looked at the overall effect on total expenditure, 38 findings were extracted for this review (Table 6.3). Of the 35 studies, 26 found statistically significant effects (these coefficients are reported in bold in Table 6.3).

As cash transfers increase households' purchasing power, households are likely to expand their expenditure (depending on savings patterns and possible labour supply effects). Of the 26 studies with *significant* impacts, 25 were associated with an increase in total household expenditure, with one significant *decrease*. Increases in expenditure are found for both conditional and unconditional transfers. In Table 5.3 we give the impact coefficient, as reported by the authors. To give two examples, participation in Zambia's Child Grant, a UCT, resulted in an increase in per capita monthly total expenditure of 10.44 Zambian kwacha (AIR, 2014), compared to a baseline mean of 40.48 Zambian kwacha. Attanasio et al. (2005) found participation in Colombia's Familias en Acción to increase total monthly consumption expenditure by 52,576 Colombian pesos for urban households – this represents a 15% increase compared to mean baseline consumption. Of those studies reporting change in percentage points, the increases range from a 5.3 percentage point change in total expenditure for Brazil's Bolsa Alimentação (Braido et al., 2012) to a 33 percentage point change in total expenditure for Juntos (Perova and Vakis, 2012).

Cash transfers can also reduce household expenditure by changing individual or household behaviour and time use. One study reported a significant decrease in total expenditure: Dabalen et al. (2008) found that receipt of Ndhima Ekonomike, a UCT, led to a decrease of 1,037 leks in monthly real per capita expenditure, compared to a mean baseline value of 8,762 leks. The authors argue that this decrease is driven by a decrease in labour force supply among work-eligible individuals, with particularly large decreases in labour force participation among urban residents and women.

It is difficult to compare the size of the effects due to the different methods applied (particularly different units of measurement). Ideally, we would have compared these to baseline values of household expenditure, but this information is not available in all studies. Of the studies that report on the same interventions, impacts are broadly similar. For example, Angelucci et al. (2012), Davis et al. (2002) and Gertler et al. (2012) respectively report effects of 5.49 pesos (monthly), 14.294 (monthly) and 10.836 pesos (per capita) for Oportunidades/PROGRESA.

Eight studies found a non-significant impact on total expenditure. Five of these were UCTs and three were cash transfers. Explanations given by authors for non-significant impacts include:

- *The low level of the transfer*: cited for Kazakhstan's BOTA CCT (O'Brien et al., 2003) and Ghana's LEAP UCT (Handa et al., 2014).
- *Delays in the disbursement of transfers*: cited for Indonesia's temporary UCT (Bazzi, 2013), Ghana's LEAP UCT (Handa et al., 2014) and Lesotho's Child Grant (Pellerano et al., 2014).
- Infrequent transfers: cited for Lesotho's Child Grant (Pellerano et al., 2014).
- *The prioritisation of savings over consumption*: Ribas et al. (2010) found that 'family guides', tasked with helping recipients of Paraguay's Tekoporã's CCT plan their budgets, were very effective in pushing recipients towards precautionary savings at the expense of consumption expenditures. As such, even though saving was not an explicit condition of the programme, beneficiary households felt that they should be saving part of the transfer.

Page 92

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- *a labour supply effect*: Edmonds and Schady (2012) found that in Ecuador the additional income from the Bono de Desarrollo Humano, a CCT conditional on school attendance, was not big enough to replace foregone child labour income
- *an incomplete capture of all expenditure categories*: cited for Ghana's Innovation for poverty randomised trial (Karlan et al., 2014).

In other words, design and implementation features (as well as contextual factors) mediate impacts. These features will be considered in more detail in section 6.5. We also see that household behavioural changes can potentially affect impact.

Food expenditure

Food expenditure, measuring expenditure on food and with imputed values for own production, is an important poverty measure, as food expenditure tends to be the biggest expenditure item for poor households. In this review, we extract findings on absolute food expenditure (not as a share of total household expenditure, types of food consumed or adequacy of food consumed). Of the 31 studies that looked at the overall effect on food expenditure, 35 impacts were extracted for this review (Table 6.4). Of these 31 studies, 24 found at least one statistically significant effect (these coefficients are reported in bold in Table 6.4).

Depending on programme design and the beneficiary household's circumstances (e.g. in terms of poverty status), food expenditure is likely to increase as a result of cash transfers. Of the 24 studies with statistically significant effects, 22 showed an increase in food expenditure. Of those finding increases in food expenditure, some impacts were quite small in *absolute* terms, for example AIR (2014) find that Zambia's Child Grant Programme has an impact of 7.56 Zambian kwacha (about US\$0.60) on food expenditure, compared, however, to a baseline mean of 30 kwacha. Buser et al. (2014), on the other hand, find that Ecuador's Bono Desarrollo Humano had an impact of US\$21 on monthly food expenditure (with transfer ranging from US\$15–US\$35). For those studies that measured the effects in percentage changes of food expenditure, the change ranges from 4.9% point change for Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis (Macours et al., 2012) to a 26% point change for Nicaragua's Red de Protección Social (Maluccio, 2005).

Two studies found a statistically significant decrease on food expenditure: one is for the unconditional Ndhima Ekonomike transfer in Albania and the other one is for the conditional cash transfer Tekoporã in Paraguay. As seen above, Dabalen et al. (2008) explain the decrease household total and food expenditure in Albania with the decrease in labour force supply among beneficiaries. Ribas et al. (2010) found that beneficiary household participating in Paraguay's Tekoporã programme prioritised savings over consumption as a result of the powerful precautionary savings message transmitted by family budget guides (see above), despite this not being an official condition, resulting in a decrease of food expenditure.

Eight studies found a non-significant impact on food expenditure. Six of these showed an increase in food expenditure and two showed a decrease. Six of the studies evaluated a UCT and one evaluated a cash transfer. However, none of the authors link the lack of impact to the fact that the transfers are conditional. Merttens et al. (2015) argue that – in the treatment arm where the programme is delivered as an old-age grant – Uganda's SAGE transfer has not influenced household food expenditure because beneficiaries perceive this to be a personal rather than household transfer. Palermo et al. (2012) explain the non-significant decrease of Kenya's Cash Transfer for Orphans and Vulnerable Children by a shift in the beneficiary household's Engel curves. In other words, the share of income households tend to spend on food changed as a result of the cash transfer. Cheema et al. (2014) relate the lack of impact of Pakistan's BISP to the irregularity of transfer, with households spending the transfer – when it comes – on other expenditure items instead.

Page 93

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Poverty headcount

Apart from looking at the effects of cash transfers on expenditure, it is valuable to consider whether cash transfers affect the poverty levels of beneficiaries. Depending on the level of the poverty line and the magnitude of the impact of the cash transfer on expenditure, the cash transfer may move households above the poverty line.

We use the three indicators developed by Foster–Greer–Thorbecke (1984) which measure poverty and inequality. The FGT indicators are measured at the household level, but aggregated at the population level and are calculated with either income or expenditure data. The poverty headcount measures the proportion of the population that is poor (i.e. their income/expenditure is below the poverty line). It gives us an idea of the share of the population that is poor. The poverty gap measures the extent of poverty, in other words *how poor* poor households are, by measuring the distance between household income/expenditure and the poverty line. The final measure, poverty severity or the squared poverty gap, measures inequality among poor households. It takes the average of the squared poverty gaps, hence placing greater value on poorer households.

Six of the nine studies that included impacts on the **poverty headcount** found a statistically significant effect (Table 6.5). Five of these found a decrease in the poverty headcount. For example AIR (2014) found that the poverty headcount among beneficiaries of Zambia's Child Grant had decreased by 4.1 percentage points after 36 months, compared to non-beneficiaries. Skoufias et al. (2013) found that the poverty head count for beneficiaries of the Programa Apoyo Alimentario (PAL) in Mexico decreased by 8.8 percentage points. The biggest effect was found for the BISP Programme in Pakistan: Cheema et al. (2014) found that participation in the programme led to a decrease in the headcount of 22 percentage points; however this impact may be slightly overestimated.⁷⁰ The only increase in the share of poor, was found for Albania's Ndhima Ekonomike, as study discussed above (Dabalen et al., 2008).

About a third of the studies looking at poverty, do not find a significant effect on poverty levels of beneficiary households, yet these all had a negative coefficient for poverty levels (i.e. a reduction in the poverty headcount), as to be expected in theory. That is an important finding in itself. While the previous section showed that cash transfers largely increase total and food expenditure, it appears that in many cases this impact is not *large enough* to impact on aggregate poverty levels. Poverty levels may also be slower to respond and may only change when beneficiaries have been exposed for a longer time. For example, Merttens et al. (2015) explain that at the time of the evaluation SAGE beneficiaries had just received three monthly payments and that impacts on poverty may become more pronounced once a programme has been running over a longer period.

Poverty gap

The poverty gap measures how far an average household is below the poverty line, hence giving a better idea of *how poor* poor households are. Nine studies reported findings on this indicator, and seven of these have at least one statistically significant effect (Table 6.6). As for the poverty headcount, about one third of studies do not find a significant impact. With the exception of the study looking at the Ndhima Ekonomike programme, the studies find a *decrease* in the poverty gap. For example, Perova and Vakis (2012) find that participation in Juntos leads to a reduction in the poverty gap of almost 14 Peruvian soles. Merttens et al. (2013) find that participation in Kenya's Hunger Safety Net Programme led to a reduction of seven percentage points in the poverty gap among beneficiaries, compared to control households.

Coefficients for these studies are not comparable, as some measure the absolute poverty gap, whereas others measure the poverty gap index as a share of the poverty line.

Page 94

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

70 They use RDD to estimate the local average treatment effect. This means that they measure 'the impact of the BISP for households in the extremely close neighbourhood of the BISP eligibility threshold, which given correlation between poverty rates and the BISP poverty score are likely to be over-represented by households closest to the national poverty line' (Cheema et al., 2014).

Squared poverty gap

The squared poverty gap is also known as poverty severity, and is a measure of the inequality among poor households, giving greater weight to those households further away from the poverty line. Of the seven studies, five have statistically significant findings. Of these, four find a reduction in the squared poverty gap, with the exception again being the Dabalen et al. (2008) study on Albania (Table 6.7). For example, Merttens et al. (2013) find that participation in the Hunger Safety Net Programme led to a reduction of seven percentage points in the squared poverty gap among beneficiaries, compared to control households.

Coefficients for these studies are not comparable, as some measure the absolute squared poverty gap, whereas others take the squared poverty gap index as a share of the poverty line.

6.4 The impact of cash transfers on poverty indicators for women and girls

Six studies report sex-disaggregated outcomes, likely reflecting the nature of the indicators considered for this outcome. Expenditure and poverty rates are mostly measured at the household level, which – by definition – cannot be disaggregated. Two studies report *individual expenditure*, and compares the programmes' impacts on female versus male recipients. The four remaining studies either consider the impact on household-level expenditure by sex of the household head, oldest household member or recipient. As such, these studies are testing the hypothesis that women have different expenditure patterns, for instance that women are more likely to spend the transfer on food.

Four of the studies **did not find a statistically significant impact for women**, be these female beneficiaries, female-headed households or households where the eldest member is female (Table A.5.1.1). The two studies that do find a statistically significant effect of the transfer for women, showing an increase in expenditure compared to non-recipients (Blattman et al., 2013; Green et al., 2015), find no statistically significant difference between the impact for men and women. As such, this review finds no evidence that female-headed households or households with female beneficiaries have different impacts for total and food expenditure to male-headed households or households with male beneficiaries.

The six studies found the following impacts:

- Blattman et al. (2013) consider the impact of a Ugandan experimental cash transfer on *individual* non-durable expenditure. They look at both male and female recipients and find significant increases in expenditure for both, in comparison to non-beneficiaries. The impact of programme participation on short-term expenditure is seven Ugandan shillings males (a 13% increase compared to controls, p<0.01) and eight shillings for females (a 16% increase; p<0.05). While effects are bigger in absolute and relative terms for women (possibly hinting at credit constraints for females in the control group), the difference between women and men is not statistically significant.
- Green et al. (2015) also report impacts on individual-level non-durable expenditure, but for Uganda's WINGS programme. They compare the impact for male and female beneficiaries combined (0.46 z-score units) to the impact for just female beneficiaries (0.41 z-score units); both are statistically significant at the 1% level. While both impacts are positive, the coefficient for only female beneficiaries is somewhat lower in magnitude. The authors do not report whether this difference is statistically significant.
- Edmond and Schady (2012) considered the sex of the recipient in the evaluation of the CCT Bono de Desarrollo Humano programme in Ecuador, comparing total annual household expenditure for households with only female beneficiaries to non-beneficiaries and those with only male beneficiaries to non-beneficiaries. The programme does not have a significant impact on household expenditure for households with children of either gender. However, for boys there is an increase, while for girls the coefficient has a negative sign and is much bigger in magnitude. The authors hypothesise that this is the case because girls experienced much larger declines in work for pay, which resulted in large losses of income for these households.

Page 95

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- Haushofer and Shapiro (2013) considered the sex of the recipient in the evaluation of the twoyear experiment run by Give Directly in Kenya. They compare the impact of the beneficiary being female to that of the beneficiary being male. While being a female recipient leads to a decrease of total household non-durable expenditure, the effect is *not* significant. The authors hypothesise that the effect is non-significant because transfers did not affect the bargaining power of the different household members as transfers were explicitly temporary.
- Handa et al. (2014) consider the impact of Ghana's LEAP programme and disaggregate the findings by male- and female-headed household, comparing each group to non-beneficiaries. For both female and male-headed households the effect of the cash transfer has a negative and non-significant coefficient, though the magnitude of the impact is somewhat larger for male-headed households. The authors find a small increase in food expenditure for female-headed households (1.87 Ghc) and, for households with male heads, a decrease in food expenditure that is somewhat bigger in magnitude (-7.51 Ghc); however neither coefficient for sex of the household head is significant.
- Finally, the study by Martinez (2004) explores a gender component in addition to the overall cash transfer impact of Bolivia's Bonosol pension. The author considers the impact of the interaction of being eligible for the programme and the oldest person in the household being female on monthly household food expenditure, compared to those in which the oldest member is male. The effect shows a decrease (-14 bolivianos), yet one that is not significant and is also smaller in magnitude compared to the overall impact of the cash transfer (68 bolivianos).

6.5 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features

A total of 19 studies reported 27 specific findings on the effect of cash transfer design and implementation features on poverty measures (see Table A.5.1.2 for the detailed findings). There is more evidence on variations in core design features (main recipient, transfer level and transfer frequency) and complementary interventions and supply-side services than on other aspects. There is no evidence on conditionality, payment systems or grievance channels. Of the 19 studies, 16 report at least one statistically significant effect. This means that variations in design and implementation features do mostly affect poverty outcomes.

Findings on core design features are reported by 14 studies. One study considered the effect of the identity of the main recipient on expenditure, finding no significant difference between male and female recipients (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013). Four studies consider transfer level and they find that a larger transfer is associated with bigger impacts on expenditure and poverty reduction (three of these are significant). Two studies, considering the effect of transfer frequency on expenditure, had contradictory findings. One found that more frequent transfers led to a decrease in monthly durable expenditure (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013) and the other found that more frequent transfer within the first year led to higher expenditure growth (Bazzi, 2013). A total of nine studies considered duration of exposure and seven of these report statistically significant findings. The studies with statistically significant findings suggest that, on the whole longer, exposure to the programme is associated with higher expenditure levels.

There is only one study that deals with targeting (Merttens et al., 2015). It found that the treatment arm targeted towards a specific age category (the elderly) did not have a significant impact on food expenditure, unlike those targeted according to a more general demographic vulnerability index, possibly because recipients saw the transfer as a personal transfer not to be spent on food for the household as a whole.

Finally, there are five studies that consider the effects of different complementary interventions and supply-side services. On the whole, the evidence that participation in complementary interventions leads to an increase in expenditure, as compared to those that do not participate in the complementary intervention, is weak. For instance, two studies considered these complementary interventions: a voucher for participation in vocational training and a lump sum to start a business. Households receiving complementary interventions had slightly bigger impacts on total expenditure after one year, but not significantly so, possibly because the effects of complementary interventions take time to affect household expenditure.

Page 96

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

The studies showing design and implementation impacts are now discussed in more detail.

Main recipient

• Haushofer and Shapiro (2013) evaluated different designs as part of the *two-year experiment run by Give Directly* in Kenya, including having male and female beneficiaries. Targeting a female recipient, compared to a male recipient, was associated with a small and non-significant decrease in monthly non-durable expenditure of -US\$2.74.

Transfer levels

- Davis et al. (2002) consider the effect of the level of Mexico's PROGRESA and PROCAMPO, both for beneficiaries and non-beneficiaries. This means they capture both the effect of being a beneficiary and the transfer level. Since the transfer levels for both programmes vary considerably, this analysis gives us a useful picture of variations in transfer size. The authors find a positive coefficient for transfer level for both programmes, significant at the 1% level. More specifically, an additional PROGRESA peso leads to a 0.355 peso increase in per capita food expenditure and an additional PROCAMPO peso leads to a per capita 0.386 peso increase in food expenditure. Similar increases, also significant, are found for total expenditure (a per capita increase of 0.406 pesos and 0.702 pesos for PROGRESA/PROCAMPO respectively).
- Handa et al. (2009), also reporting on PROGRESA, likewise capture the hybrid effect of programme participation and transfer level. They also find an increase in total and food expenditure for increases in transfer level. An additional PROGRESA peso leads to an impact on total household expenditure of 0.034 log points, with similar findings for food expenditure, both of which are significant.
- Blattman et al. (2013) evaluate the impact of variations in grant size of Uganda's Youth Opportunities Programme. A 1% increase in grant size is associated with a 4% increase in short-term expenditure. However, the effect is not statistically significant.
- Haushofer and Shapiro (2013) consider the impact of a *two-year experiment run by Give Directly* on non-durable expenditure. They directly compare the impacts of transfers of different sizes. Those that received large transfers (compared to small transfers) had an increase in monthly non-durable expenditure of US\$20.37.

Transfer frequency

- Bazzi (2013) considers transfer frequency of a *temporary Indonesian UCT*. One year after the programme started, beneficiaries that only received the transfer once had significantly lower growth in log total household expenditure per capita than those that had already received the transfer twice (-0.091 and 0.074 respectively). Yet the effect of differential transfer frequency in the first year had no long-term effects: two years after the programme, when all beneficiaries had received full four quarterly transfers, there was no longer a statistically significant difference between the two groups.
- Haushofer and Shapiro (2013) consider the impact of a *two-year experiment run by Give Directly* on non-durable expenditure. Those that received the transfer more frequently (monthly instead of one lump sum) had a small, non-significant decrease in monthly non-durable expenditure of -US\$4.4.

Duration of exposure

- The study conducted by AIR (2014) considered duration of exposure to Zambia's Child Grant Cash Transfer Programme. More specifically, they measured the difference between the impact after 24 months and the impacts after 36 months. The difference is negative – the impact on total household per capita monthly expenditure is four Zambian kwacha less than after 24 months – but not significant. Effects on poverty measures are also not significant.
- Angelucci et al. (2012) consider the duration of exposure to Oportunidades on total and food expenditure. They find bigger impacts for longer duration on food expenditure but not total expenditure. Households participating for one year had an increase in monthly total

Page 97

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

expenditure of 5.82 pesos and those participating for two years had an increase in monthly total expenditure of 5.49 pesos. For food expenditure the impacts on *annual* food expenditure are 168.54 pesos and 282.85 pesos respectively.

- While most studies consider impacts after fairly short periods of time, Gertler et al. (2012) consider Oportunidades' impacts on total household per capita consumption for households that have just joined in the past year, compared to those that joined four years earlier. They find that expenditure for the latter group is 10.836 pesos higher, indicating that participation in the programme leads to long-term improvements in living standards (especially given that beneficiaries are granted a minimum of nine years in programme participation).
- Buser et al. (2014) evaluate duration of exposure for Ecuador's Bono Desarrollo Humano programme. Those beneficiaries that still receive the transfer (compared to those that lost access two years ago) have monthly household food expenditure that is US\$16.383 higher; however the effect is not significant. The authors highlight the benefits of continuing to receive the programme, yet this finding also suggests that the effects of programme participation may not be sustained.
- Perova and Vakis (2013) consider the impacts of Juntos in Peru after participation for 12–23 months, 24–36 months and more than 36 months. The impacts on overall expenditure are all greater than zero, statistically significant and increasing in magnitude (0.009, 0.11 and 0.15 respectively). The impacts on the poverty headcount are also bigger for beneficiaries with longer treatment spells and significant (findings for the poverty gap are not significant). The authors argue that while impacts on expenditure and poverty reduction are bigger for those that participated longer in the programme, the differences between coefficients are not statistically significant, so there is no evidence that 'impacts on poverty accumulate' or become stronger over time.
- Maluccio and Flores (2005) report the impact of Red de Protección Social on nominal annual total per capita expenditure and nominal annual food per capita expenditure after one and two years. The impact of the programme has a positive coefficient and is statistically significant after both one and two years, but the magnitude of the impact is smaller after two years. However, the authors do not test if the difference between years is statistically significant. Maluccio (2010) reports very similar findings for the same programme and exposure.
- Miller et al. (2011) consider the impact of the Social Cash Transfer Programme in Malawi on weekly per capita total expenditures and on weekly per capita food expenditures after six months and after one year. They find a statistically significant increase for both time periods, though larger after one year. However, the authors do not test if the difference between exposures is statistically significant.

Targeting mechanism

• Merttens et al. (2015) compare two different targeting designs for the SAGE programme for Uganda. One treatment arm uses age to determine eligibility with over 60s/65s targeted, depending on the region. Another treatment arm targeted on the basis of a composite index based on demographic indicators of vulnerability. They find a significant increase in monthly food expenditure for the latter group (of 8,500 Ugandan shillings) but the impact for the former group (of 1,500 shillings) is not significant. For total household expenditure a significant increase for both groups is found. The authors account for the lack of significance on food expenditure for the age-targeted households with the hypothesis that this transfer is seen as a personal transfer by recipients, which is spent on personal items (e.g. clothing). Effects on poverty measures are all not significant.

Complementary interventions and supply-side services

• Blattman et al. (2015) consider design variations for the WINGS programme in Uganda; they measure the effect of a five-day business training course that some beneficiaries attended and the effect of supervision visits. Only participation in the business training has a statistically significant impact on expenditure. Households where the beneficiary received the training have higher monthly non-durable expenditure than non-beneficiaries (the impact is 33,439 shillings), and the impact is slightly higher than that for non-training participants (31,031 shillings), with

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

both significant at the 1% level. However, the difference between the training and no-training impacts are not statistically significant. There is no statistically significant effect for having had two or five supervision visits.

- Green et al. (2015) also consider the WINGS programme in Uganda, but test whether women attended the training alone or with their husbands (in Phase 2 of the programme) affected individual non-durable expenditure. For both groups we see a decrease in expenditure, compared to beneficiaries from Phase 1, though only the impact for women attending with husbands is statistically significant, and it is also bigger in magnitude (-0.28 z-score units).
- Karlan et al. (2014) look at the Innovation for Poverty Action randomised trial (Ghana). They report the impact on total household expenditures for beneficiaries receiving both the cash transfer, as well as agricultural insurance. The impact shows an increase, but non-significant and lower in magnitude than cash-only beneficiaries (though that impact is also non-significant).
- Macours et al. (2012)⁷¹ considered the impact of complementary interventions associated with Atención a Crisis in Nicaragua. They compared households that received the basic treatment (a bi-monthly CCT) to those that *in addition* received a scholarship to participate in a vocational training course and to those that *in addition* received a lump-sum payment to start a small non-agricultural activity. Impacts on log total per capita expenditure have a positive coefficient and statistically significant for all three treatment arms, but while the coefficients for the scholarship and lump-sum group are only slightly bigger (0.281 log points for the basic treatment group, 0.285 log points for the scholarship treatment group and 0.331 log points for the lump-sum group). A similar pattern is found after two years, but with mostly non-significant effects. The authors argue that not much of an effect on short-term expenditure should be expected for the lump-sum group as the additional transfer is conditional on being invested in a business. Likewise, participation in vocational training is unlikely to affect expenditure in the short term.

6.6 Policy implications

The evidence on the impact of cash transfers on poverty outcomes shows an overwhelmingly positive picture. Cash transfers are mostly having a statistically significant effect on beneficiary's expenditure and poverty levels and when they do, they increase expenditure and reduce FGT poverty indicators. As such, the evidence shows that cash transfers are effective in terms of achieving one of their core objectives.

While the impact on total and food expenditure is statistically significant in the majority of cases, for FGT poverty indicators this is true for about two thirds of the studies. More specifically, with a few minor exceptions, the impact of cash transfer leads to a reduction in FGT poverty measures, but in about one third of the cases the impact is not statistically significant. What this is telling us is that while in many cases cash transfers are successful in raising beneficiary households' expenditure, these changes are not big enough to have substantial effects on poverty. Some of the findings considering variations in design and implementation features provide an indication as to why this is the case.

The evidence base on the effect of design and implementation features on poverty impacts consists of 19 studies. There is relatively more evidence on core design features, compared to other indicators and no evidence on conditionality, payment systems and grievance mechanisms and programme governance. The majority of studies find at least one statistically significant effect, suggesting that design and implementation features matter in shaping poverty impacts.

Why do cash transfers not always have the expected impact on poverty? The analysis of design and implementation features suggest that two are potentially important:

• While the evidence is relatively limited, a higher transfer level is associated with stronger and

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

bigger impacts on expenditure and poverty levels (e.g. Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013). This means that, in some cases, while a transfer is sufficient to increase expenditure, it is not enough to lift households above the poverty line (or reduce their poverty gap substantially). The policy implication is that transfer levels need to be meaningful in order to reduce poverty rates.

• Studies also show that longer duration of exposure to the transfer leads, on the whole, to bigger impacts on expenditure (e.g. Angeluccio et al., 2012). The studies that have insignificant findings for poverty levels also suggest that poverty rates are only affected after prolonged exposure (see for example, Merttens et al., 2015). This suggests that impacts may accumulate over time. For example, when households receive a transfer over longer periods, they may be able to make livelihood decisions that then increase their income from other sources. In terms of policy this means that receiving a transfer for short periods may not always have the desired impact, nor be an impact that is sustained beyond participation in the programme. The policy implication is that for the transfer to have a bigger and more sustainable impact, beneficiaries should be receiving the transfer for longer periods of time.

The evidence base on complementary interventions relies on six studies. These show that complementary interventions and supply-side services in many cases do not seem to have a statistically significant effect on poverty measures, nor an effect that is fundamentally different than that found for beneficiaries receiving just a cash transfer. Two of these studies suggest that complementary interventions (such as training programmes) only affect cash transfers in the medium to long term (Macours et al., 2012; Macours et al., 2012a). This makes sense, given that behavioural changes will not happen overnight. It means that we cannot expect complementary interventions and supply-side services to have an immediate impact, and that for such programmes to be most effective, the timeframe of cash transfer receipt should be extended.

Six studies consider the effects of cash transfer on poverty outcomes for women or femaleheaded households. Most of these do not find a statistically significant effect. Two studies find a significant positive increase in expenditure for female recipients, but no difference compared to male recipients (Blattman et al., 2015; Green et al., 2015). As such, this review finds no evidence that female-headed households, or households with female beneficiaries, experience different impacts for total and food expenditure, than male-headed households or households with male beneficiaries. The available evidence suggests that future research disaggregating poverty outcomes by gender is needed. Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 6.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on total household expenditure

#	Study	Programme	Indicator	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Additional details
1	AIR (2014)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Per capital monthly total expenditure	10.44	Change in Zambian kwacha	5%	
2	Angelucci et al. (2012)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Total monthly household expenditure	5.49	Change in Mexican pesos	5%	After 2 years
3	Attanasio et al. (2005)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Total monthly consumption expenditure	52576	Change in Colombian pesos	1%	Urban households
		Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Total monthly consumption expenditure	53831.1	Change in Colombian pesos	1%	Rural household
4	Attanasio et al. (2012)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Log monthly total consumption	0.133	Percentage point change	1%	
5	Bazzi (2013)	Temporary UCT (Indonesia)	Growth in log total household expenditures per capita 2005–2007	-0.056	Growth in log points	NS	After 2 years
6	Blattmann et al. (2013)	YOP (Uganda)	Individual short-term total expenditure	7.277	Change in shillings	1%	
7	Blattman et al. (2015)	WINGS (Uganda)	Household monthly non-durable expenditure	32.227	Change in 1000s of shillings	1%	
8	Braido et al. (2012)	Bolsa Alimentação (Brazil)	Log monthly total expenditure	0.053	Percentage point change	10%	
9	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Monthly per adult equivalent expenditure	318	Change in Pakistani rupees	10%	
10	Dabalen et al. (2008)	Ndihma Ekonomike (NE) (Albania)	Monthly real per capita expenditure	-1036.61	Change in Albanian lekë	1%	
11	Davis et al.	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Total monthly consumption expenditure	14.294	Change in pesos	1%	
	(2002)	PROCAMPO (Mexico)	Total monthly consumption expenditure	12.031	Change in pesos	5%	
12	Edmonds and Schady (2012)	BDH (Ecuador)	Total annual household expenditure	-168.5	Change in US\$	NS	
13	Ferré and Sharif (2014)	Shombhob (Bangladesh)	Total monthly household expenditure	378.8	Change in Bangladeshi takas	10%	
14	Galiani et al. (2014)	PAAMZR (Mexico)	Total consumption per adult equivalent	63.342	Change in pesos	1%	
15	Gertler et al. (2012)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Household per capita consumption	10.836	Change in pesos	5%	Compared to households that joined 4 years later
16	Gilligan et al. (2013)	KWFP-cash transfer (Uganda)	Log per capita total consumption	0.187	Percentage point change	1%	
17	Green et al. (2015)	WINGS (Uganda)	Individual monthly non-durable consumption	0.46	Z-score	1%	
18	Handa et al. (2009)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Log total monthly household expenditure	0.034	Change in log points	1%	Effect of per capita transfer
19	Handa et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Per equivalent adult consumption	-4.37	Change in Ghanaian cedi	NS	
20	Haushofer and Shapiro (2013)	Give Directly experiment (Kenya)	Total monthly non-durable expenditure	36.18	Change in US\$	1%	
21	Karlan et al. (2014)	IPA RCT (Ghana)	Total expenditure in 12 months	7.14	Change in US\$	NS	
22	Macours et al. (2012)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Log total per capita expenditure	0.0281	Change in log points	1%	ln 2006
23	Macours et al. (2012a)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Log total household per capita	0.0221	Percentage change	NS	For the basic transfer
24	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Nominal annual total per capita expenditure	686	Change in Nicaraguan córdobas	1%	After 2 years
25	Maluccio (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Log per capita total annual expenditure	0.1749	Percentage point change	1%	After 2 years
26	Maluccio (2010)	RPS(Nicaragua)	Per capital annual total expenditure	676	Change in córdobas	5%	After 2 years
27	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Mean monthly consumption expenditure	224.8	Change in Kenyan shillings	5%	

Page 101

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

continued on next page

Table 6.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on total household expenditure continued

#	Study	Programme	Indicator	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Additional details
28	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE (Uganda)	Monthly total expenditure per equivalent adult	10,000	Change in shillings	10%	Senior Citizen Grant (SCG)
		SAGE (Uganda)	Monthly total expenditure per equivalent adult	11,000	Change in shillings	10%	Vulnerable Family Support Grant (VFSG)
29	Miller et al. (2011)	SCTP (Malawi)	Weekly per capita total expenditures	274	Change in kwacha	1%	After 1 year
30	0'Brien et al. (2013)	BOTA (Kazakhstan)	Per adult equivalent monthly consumption	Not reported	Change in tenge	NS	
31	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Real monthly total consumption expenditure per capita	6.594	Change in maloti	NS	
32	Perova and Vakis (2012)	Juntos (Peru)	Overall consumption (in log?)	0.33	Percentage point change	1%	
33	Ribas et al. (2010)	Tekoporã (Paraguay)	Log per capita total consumption	-0.08659	Percentage point change	NS	
34	Skoufias et al. (2008)	PAL (Mexico)	Log nominal value of per capita monthly total consumption	0.17	Percentage point change	1%	
35	World Bank (2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	Total monthly expenditure per capita	-4835	Change in rupiahs	NS	

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS = not significant at 10% significance level or below

Table 6.4: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on food expenditure

#	Study	Programme	Indicator	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Additional details
1	AIR (2014)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Monthly food expenditure per capita	7.56	Change in kwacha	5%	
2	Angelucci et al. (2012)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Monthly food expenditure	282.85	Change in pesos	1%	After 2 years
3	Attanasio and Mesnard (2005)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Monthly food expenditure	37018.1	Change in Colombian pesos	1%	Urban
		Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Monthly food expenditure	41956.6	Change in pesos	1%	Rural
4	Attanasio et al. (2012)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Log monthly food consumption	0.159	Percentage point change	1%	
5	Blattmann et al. (2013)	YOP (Uganda)	Log of individual short-term food expenditure	0.043	Percentage point change	NS	Effect of per capita transfer
6	Braido et al. (2012)	Bolsa Alimentação (Brasil)	Log of monthly food expenditure	0.099	Percentage point change	1%	
7	Buser et al. (2014)	BDH (Ecuador)	Monthly food expenditure	20.808	Change in US\$	1%	
8	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Monthly per adult equivalent food expenditure	115	Change in Pakistani rupees	NS	
9	Dabalen et al. (2008)	NE (Albania)	Monthly real food expenditure per capita	-1579.3	Change in lekë	1%	
10	Davis et al. (2002)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Monthly food expenditure per capita	13.218	Change in pesos	1%	
		PROCAMPO (Mexico)	Monthly food expenditure per capita	8.033	Change in pesos	5%	
11	Ferré and Sharif (2014)	Shombhob (Bangladesh)	Monthly food expenditure	337	Change in taka	1%	
12	Gitter and Caldes (2010)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Annual food expenditure per capita	652	Change in córdobas	1%	
13	Handa et al. (2009)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Log monthly food expenditure	0.035	Change in log points	1%	Effect of per capita transfer
14	Handa et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Monthly food consumption per capita	-1.84	Change in cedi	NS	
15	Hidrobo et al. (2012)	WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)	Log of monthly food expenditure per capita	0.12	Percentage point change	1%	

Page 102

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

continued on next page

Table 6.4: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on food expenditure continued

#	Study	Programme	Indicator	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Additional details
16	Macours et al. (2012)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Log of total food consumption per capita	0.0449	Percentage point change	1%	Basic transfer
17	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Nominal annual food expenditure per capita	640	Change in córdobas	1%	After 2 years
18	Maluccio (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Log annual food expenditure per capita	0.2618	Percentage point change	1%	After 2 years
19	Maluccio (2010)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Annual food expenditure per capita	621	Change in córdobas	1%	After 2 years
20	Martinez (2004)	Bonosol (Bolivia)	Monthly food expenditure	67.992	Change in bolivianos	5%	
21	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE (Uganda)	Monthly food expenditure per equivalent adult	1500	Change in shillings	NS	SCG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Monthly food expenditure per equivalent adult	8500	Change in shillings	5%	VFSG
22	Miller et al. (2011)	SGTP (Malawi)	Weekly food expenditure per capita	203	Change in kwacha	1%	After 1 year
23	Palermo et al. (2012)	cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Monthly food expenditure	145.394	Change in shillings	1% (?)	
24	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Real monthly food expenditure	31.06	Change in	NS	
25	Perova and Vakis (2012)	Juntos (Peru)	Log (?) of food expenditure	0.15	Percentage point change	5%	
26	Ribas et al. (2010)	Tekoporã (Paraguay)	Log of food expenditure per capita	-0.1216	Percentage point change	5%	
27	Ruiz-Arranz et al. (2002)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Monthly food expenditure per capita	0.307	Change in US\$	1%	
		PROCAMPO (Mexico)	Monthly food expenditure per capita	0.332	Change in US\$	1%	
28	Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	CTP (Zambia)	Monthly food expenditure per capita	2133.18	Change in kwacha	NS	
29	Skoufias et al. (2008)	PAL (Mexico)	Log nominal of monthly food consumption per capita	0.179	Percentage point change	1%	
30	Skoufias et al. (2013)	PAL (Mexico)	Monthly food expenditure per capita	45.818	Change in pesos	1%	
31	World Bank (2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	Monthly food expenditure per capita	1556	Change in rupiahs	NS	

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS = not significant at 10% significance level or below.

Table 6.5: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on poverty head count

#	Study	Programme	Indicator	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Additional details
1	AIR (2014)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Poverty head count	-0.041	Percentage point change	5%	
2	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Poverty head count	-0.2191	Percentage point change	10%	
3	Dabalen et al. (2008)	NE (Albania)	Poverty head count	0.076	Percentage point change	1%	
4	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Poverty head count	-0.048	Percentage point change	5%	
5	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE (Uganda)	Poverty head count	-0.022	Percentage point change	NS	SCG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Poverty head count	-0.042	Percentage point change	NS	VFSG
6	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Poverty head count	-0.0181	Percentage point change	NS	
7	Perova and Vakis (2012)	Juntos (Peru)	Poverty head count	-0.14	Percentage point change	1%	
8	Skoufias and Di Maro (2008)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Poverty head count	-0.06	Percentage point change	NS	After one year
9	Skoufias et al. (2013)	PAL (Mexico)	Poverty head count	-0.089	Percentage point change	1%	

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant coefficient. NS = not significant at 10% significance level or below.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 6.6: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on poverty gap

#	Study	Programme	Indicator	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Additional details
1	AIR (2014)	Child Grant (Zambia)	Poverty gap in relation to extreme poverty line	-0.084	Percentage point change	5%	
2	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Poverty gap as proportion of national poverty line	-0.06983	Percentage point change	5%	
3	Dabalen et al. (2008)	NE (Albania)	Poverty gap as proportion of national poverty line	0.017	Percentage point change	5%	
4	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Poverty gap as proportion of national poverty line	-0.06806	Percentage point change	5%	
5	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE (Uganda)	Poverty gap as proportion of poverty line	-0.73	Percentage point change	NS	SCG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Poverty gap as proportion of poverty line	-1.8	Percentage point change	NS	VFSG
6	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Poverty gap as proportion of poverty line	-0.01406	Percentage point change	NS	
7	Perova and Vakis (2012)	Juntos (Peru)	Poverty gap (level – in Soles)	-14.52	Change in Peruvian soles	1%	
8	Skoufias and di Maro (2008)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Poverty gap as proportion of poverty line (?)	-0.0445	Percentage point change?	1%	After one year
9	Skoufias et al. (2013)	PAL (Mexico)	Poverty gap as proportion of poverty line (?)	-5.5	Percentage point change?	1%	

Notes: Poverty gap either measured as continuous variable (level effect) or with the gap expressed as the share of the poverty line (percentage change). In some cases, authors did not specify how the poverty gap was measured. Results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant coefficient. NS = not significant at 10% significance level or below.

Table 6.7: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on squared poverty gap

_							
#	Study	Programme	Indicator	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Additional details
1	AIR (2014)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Squared poverty gap in relation to extreme poverty line	-0.076	Percentage point change	5%	
2	Dabalen et al. (2008)	NE (Albania)	Squared poverty gap as proportion of absolute poverty line	0.005	Percentage point change	1%	
3	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Squared poverty gap as proportion of absolute poverty line	-6.521	Percentage point change	5%	
4	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE (Uganda)	Poverty gap as proportion of poverty line	-7	Percentage point change	NS	SCG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Poverty gap as proportion of poverty line	-6.7	Percentage point change	NS	VFSG
5	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Squared poverty gap (not clear how measured)	-0.765	?	NS	
6	Skoufias and Di Maro (2008)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Squared poverty gap (not clear how measured)	-0.0616	?	1%	After one year
7	Skoufias et al. (2013)	PAL (Mexico)	Squared poverty gap as proportion of poverty line (?)	-0.038	Percentage point change?	5%	

Notes: Squared poverty gap either measured as continuous variable (level effect) or with the squared poverty gap expressed as the share of the poverty line (percentage change). In many cases, authors did not specify how the squared poverty gap was measured. Results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS = coefficient not significant at 10% significance level or below.

Page 104

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Page 105

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of

cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Box 7.1: Summary of evidence for education outcomes

In total, 42 studies were reviewed reporting on any one of the education indicators covered, either with an overall effect, gender-disaggregated effect or on the role of a design and implementation feature.

Overall effects of cash transfers on selected education indicators:

- Overall, the evidence extracted shows that cash transfers lead to an increase school attendance in the short term. 20 studies reported on the overall effect of cash transfers on school attendance, of which 13 reported some significant impact. Of the studies reporting on a measure of school absenteeism (n=9), all that found significant effects (n=4) involved reductions. Among studies reporting on attendance (n=16), all but one (n=9) of the 10 significant impacts were positive.
- However, a less clear-cut pattern of impact was found for learning outcomes (as measured by test scores) and cognitive development outcomes (information processing ability, intelligence, reasoning, language development and memory), partly as these result from a dynamic interaction between biological, social and environmental factors, including the quality of services provided. Five studies examined the overall effect of cash transfers on *test scores*. Four reported on *maths* though none of the results were significant, three reported on *language* test scores (with two significant but mixed results), and one study reported on a *composite test score* but found no significant result. Five studies provided an overall effect estimate on *cognitive development*. Of these, three studies found a statistically significant positive effect on cognitive development tests.

Variation in outcomes by gender:

The evidence on gender is extensive, compared to other outcome areas: of the 42 studies included, 20 studies reported on some variation in outcomes by gender (either girls versus boys or the head of household). Those with statistically significant effects show increases in school attendance for girls and some improvements in test scores and cognitive development, with no clear pattern for head of the household.

- 15 studies looked at disaggregated impacts on school attendance for girls versus boys or girls only. Of these, 12 studies reported a statistically significant impact for at least one school attendance measure for girls either at the primary or secondary school level. For all but one study the impact was positive (negative in the case of measures of school absenteeism). Two studies reported on differences by household head, with one finding no differences (Dammert, 2009) and the other only finding significant effects (improvements) among male-headed households (World Bank, 2011).
- Five studies looked at disaggregated impacts on test scores by gender. Of these, only the two studies evaluating Malawi's Zomba Cash Transfer Programme found a significant impact on test scores (maths and English), both of them positive (Baird et al., 2011; Baird et al., 2013).
- Four studies assessed disaggregated impacts on cognitive development by gender. Of these, three were positive and statistically significant (Baird et al., 2011; Baird et al., 2013; Paxson and Schady, 2010).

Role of design and implementation features:

15 studies shed light on the role of design and implementation features on the education indicators:

- One study on Morocco's Tayssir programme explicitly tested the impact of transferring money to women versus men as *main recipients* but found no significant difference between the two in terms of children's school attendance or performance in a standardised maths test (or enrolment) (Benhassine et al., 2013).
- Four studies explicitly test the impact of varying *transfer amounts*, finding mixed evidence, with one of two studies on PROGRESA/Oportunidades (Mexico) finding higher transfer levels to be associated with improvements in cognitive and verbal tests (Manley et al., 2015), little evidence of any effect of higher transfers in Cambodia's CESSP on attendance (Filmer and Schady, 2011), and significant effects in the unconditional, but not the conditional, arm of Malawi's ZCTP on enrolment, and an apparent decline in test scores (Baird et al., 2011).
- Two studies offer insights into the role of *timing of transfers*, with some evidence that tying the transfer schedule to critical moments of the school year decision cycle can have an impact on enrolment especially.
- Three experiments in sub-Saharan Africa compare *conditional vs unconditional cash transfers*, two of which find
 higher impacts on educational outcomes for CCTs compared to UCTs and one of which finds no differential impact
 (justified partly by the 'labelled' nature of the UCT being compared in Morocco's Tayssir programme). A fourth study
 in Colombia tests the differential impact of different types of conditionality, finding that incentives for graduation and
 matriculation were more effective than conditionality on attendance in increasing enrolment and attendance.
- Nine studies offer insights into the role of increasing *length of exposure* for beneficiary households, though few
 explicitly test the differential impact of longer exposure to the programme. Overall, evidence is mixed for impacts
 on attendance and weak or unsubstantial for impacts on cognitive development, though one study finds that longer
 exposure leads to more years of education (Villa, 2014).
- Two studies assess the role of *complementary interventions and supply-side services*, both in the context of Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis programme. In general, largely similar impacts were observed among households that received a basic transfer or one combined with vocational training or a lump-sum payment to start a non-agricultural business.

Page 106

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

7.1 Summary of findings

The following section reports on the impacts of cash transfers on education. The specific indicators selected for the purpose of this review were attendance, test scores in different subjects (maths, language and composite assessment scores), and cognitive and problem-solving skills. A summary of the overall effects, how they vary by gender and design and implementation feature, is provided in Box 7.1.

Overall, the evidence reviewed confirms that cash transfers can affect access to education in the short term by removing the direct and indirect financial barriers to education. However, a less clear-cut pattern of impact was found for learning outcomes (as measured by test scores) and cognitive development outcomes (information processing ability, intelligence, reasoning, language development and memory), partly as these result from a dynamic interaction between biological, social and environmental factors, including the quality of services provided.

20 studies reported on the overall effect on school **attendance**, of which 13 report some significant effect. The direction of effect is mostly in accordance with what we expect in theory (increase in school attendance and a decrease in school absenteeism). Of the studies reporting on a measure of school absenteeism all significant effects were negative; for all but one study reporting on a measure of attendance, all the significant impacts were positive.

From a **design and implementation** perspective, conditionality appears to have had an important role in mediating impact for educational 'access' (increasing marginal effects for enrolment and attendance), but only to the extent that it is perceived as such by recipients. For example, cash transfers where conditionality was applied on paper but not monitored, enforced or understood by recipients ultimately had lower marginal effects than equivalent UCTs that were strongly labelled as being aimed at human development outcomes (through the name of the programme, associated messaging and potential transfer modality). Moreover, marginal effects were often highest where overall rates at baseline were lowest (more room for improvement), with implications for targeting design. No conclusive evidence, however, was found on the role of increasing transfer size, transferring the cash to women versus men as main recipients, and increasing length of exposure to the programme.

Only five studies examined overall effects on **learning**, as measured through test scores in maths, language or a composite test score (n=5).⁷² Four studies reported overall impacts on maths, three studies reported on language test scores, and one on a composite score. Two studies found a statistically significant effect, both of these referred to language test scores, one being an improvement and one a decrease relative to appropriate control groups. Five studies provided an overall effect estimate of **cognitive development** scores. Of these, three studies found a statistically significant positive effect.

The fact that the evidence base is not sufficient to make any generalisations on the impacts of cash transfers on these ultimate outcomes (or on the role of design and implementation features, for that matter) is a finding in itself. This is partly due to the nature of the selected indicators, which have been measured in a wide variety of different ways, making it impossible to compare effect sizes conclusively. It is also partly due to the causal mechanisms underpinning these outcome areas, which are affected by such a wide variety of mediating factors (e.g. children's nutrition, rearing practices, parents' human capital, quality of service delivery, etc.) that being able to identify a linear impact of additional cash is extremely difficult. Further research is certainly welcome in this area, especially on the role of complementary initiatives to cash transfers (e.g. nutritional support, educational sessions focused on child-rearing/nutrition, and supply-side grants for schools).

Importantly, given that education indicators mostly refer to individuals and not households, of the 42 studies included, 20 reported variation in outcomes by **gender** (either by girls versus boys

Page 107

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers (

cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

72 Several studies assessed the impact of cash transfer programmes separately for girls or boys instead of reporting an overall effect. These are discussed in the section on impacts by gender.

or sex of the head of household). Those with statistically significant effects show increases in school attendance for girls and some improvements in test scores and cognitive development. Of 15 studies disaggregating effects on attendance for girls versus boys, 12 reported a statistically significant increase for at least one school attendance measure for girls either at primary or secondary school level (while one reported a decrease). Of five studies disaggregating impacts on learning, two found significant increases in test score results for girls. Similarly, of five studies reporting on cognitive development, three reported significant increases for girls.

7.2 Summary of evidence base

In total, we included 42 studies that evaluated the effect of cash transfer programmes on the specific education indicators included in this study. These refer to 27 unique programmes, covering 20 countries in East Asia and the Pacific, Latin America and the Caribbean, Middle East and North Africa, sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. In many cases we included several studies of the same programme, with authors reporting on different education indicators, participants and time periods.

The programmes included differ, quite widely in some cases, in terms of their design features. One dimension of this variation is around the intensity of conditionality, ranging from unconditional, labelled transfers, to conditional transfers with different degrees of monitoring and enforcement mechanisms. Some programmes also had both a conditional and an unconditional treatment arm. A second crucial dimension is that some studies were more focused than others on specifically improving educational outcomes. For example, while the Japan Fund for Poverty Reduction scholarship programme was explicitly aimed at increasing the transition of girls from primary to lower secondary school, the BPC from Brazil is a social pension, and the senior citizen grant in Uganda's SAGE programme was also targeted at the elderly.

In terms of geographic distribution, CCTs were most prevalent in East Asia and the Pacific and included the majority of the Latin American programmes. In contrast, the African cash transfer programmes were almost all unconditional or included both a conditional and unconditional element.

Table 7.1 provides an overview of the countries and programmes on which the studies reported. By far the largest number of studies (21 out of 42) cover cash transfer programmes in Latin America and the Caribbean, with a disproportionate number of those focusing on Mexico's PROGRESA/ Oportunidades programme (7). Meanwhile, 15 studies cover sub-Saharan Africa, one study covers the Middle East and North Africa, four for East Asia Pacific, two for South Asia.⁷³

Most studies were of programmes that had been operating at a large scale over a number of years. However, a number of studies from Africa and Asia report on findings from small experimental studies or pilots that were limited in scale. As such, the findings from these studies may be more limited in their external validity and applicability to other settings.

A range of different study designs and estimation methods were used in order to estimate the effect of cash transfers or their design and implementation features on the selected education indicators. As can be seen in Table 7.2, a significant majority were based on experimental studies, with the remainder using observational data and employing some form of DID, RDD, IV or OLS regression.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

73 Note: The totals in the final column of Table 7.1 do not add up to the total number of studies as two studies report results for more than one programme.
Table 7.1: Summary of countries and programmes reported on for the education indicators

Country	Programme	Type of cash transfer	# studies	Details if pilot or experimental study*
Latin America	and the Caribbean = 21 studies			
Brazil	Benefício de Prestação Continuada (BPC)	Social Pension	1	
Colombia	Familias en Acción	CCT	2	
Colombia	Subsidios Condicionados a la Asistencia Escolar (SCAE)	CCT	2	
Ecuador	Bono de Desarrollo Humano (BDH)	UCT	2	
Mexico	PROGRESA/Oportunidades	CCT	7	
Nicaragua	Red de Protección Social (RPS)	CCT	3	Pilot in 21 communities
Nicaragua	Atención a Crisis	CCT	3	One year pilot in six municipalities
Peru	Juntos	CCT	1	
Middle East an	d North Africa = 1 study			
Morocco	Tayssir	UCT, CCT	1	Pilot in the five poorest regions
Sub-Saharan /	Africa = 14 studies			
Burkina Faso	Nahouri Cash Transfers Pilot Project (NCTPP)	CCT, UCT	1	Two-year pilot limited to one province
Ghana	Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty (LEAP)	UCT/CCT	2	
Kenya	Kenya Hunger Safety Net Programme (HSNP)	UCT	1	
esotho	Child Grant Programme (LCGP)	UCT	1	
/lalawi	Social Cash Transfer Programme (SCTP)	UCT	2	Mchinji Pilot
Malawi	The Zomba Cash Transfer Programme (ZCTP)	CCT/UCT	2	
Jganda	Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE)	UCT	1	
Jganda	WFP Karamoja Cash Transfer Pilot (KWFP-cash transfer)	CCT	1	Three districts
anzania	Tanzania Social Action Fund (TSAF)	CCT	1	Pilot in three districts
Zambia	Monze Cash Transfer Pilot (CTP)	UCT	1	Pilot in one district
Zambia	Child Grant Cash Transfer (ZCGP)	UCT	1	
East Asia and	Pacific = 4 studies			
Cambodia	CESSP Scholarship Programme (CSP)	CCT	1	
Cambodia	Japan Fund for Poverty Reduction (JFPR) scholarship program	CCT	1	
China	Junior High School Randomised Controlled Trial (JHS-RCT)	CCT	1	Trial in one county in northwest China
ndonesia	Program Keluarga Harapan (PKH)	CCT	1	
South Asia = 2	studies			
3angladesh	Shombhob	CCT	1	Two counties (rural Upazilas) and one urban slum
Pakistan	The Benazir Income Support Programme (BISP)	UCT	1	

Page 109

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 7.2: Summary of study methods used of included studies reporting on education indicators

Study	Study design and methods used for reported results	Reports total effect	Reports effect of design and implementation features?	Reports sex- disaggregated outcomes
AIR (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Akresh et al. (2013)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Baez and Camacho (2011)	Single difference (OLS with matching and fuzzy RDD)	Yes		Yes
Baird et al. (2011)	QE (OLS linear and logistic regression with baseline levels characteristics as controls)		Yes	Yes – Female only
Baird et al. (2013)	RCT (OLS)			Yes – Female only
Barrera-Osorio, et al. (2008)	QE (IV)	Yes	Yes	
Barrera-Osorio, et al. (2011)	SD estimator using a regression model with a binary outcome		Yes	Yes
Behrman et al. (2009)	RCT (DID)		Yes	Yes
Benhassine et al. (2013)	QE (OLS linear and logistic regression)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Cheema et al. (2014)	QE Fuzzy RDD using cross-sectional and panel data	Yes		
Covarrubias et al. (2012)	RCT (DID; DID w PSM)	Yes		
Dammert (2008)	QE (Quantiles of treatment effect)		Yes	Yes
de Groot et al. (2015)	DID w/PSM	Yes		Yes
Esteva (2012)	RCT (DID, RDD)		Yes	
Evans et al. (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Fernald et al. (2008)	QE (multivariate regression)		Yes	
Fernald et al. (2009)	QE (multivariate linear regression)		Yes	
Fernald and Hidrobo (2011)	RCT (OLS, Probit)	Yes		
Ferré and Sharif (2014)	QE (DID)	Yes		
Filmer and Schady (2008)	QE (PSM)			Yes – Female only
Filmer and Schady (2011)	QE (RDD)	Yes	Yes	
Gertler and Fernald (2004)	RCT (PSM)		Yes	Yes
Gilligan et al. (2013)	RCT (ANCOVA)	Yes		
Handa et al. (2014)	QE (PSM, multivariate regression)	Yes		
Kassouf and de Oliveira (2012)	RDD, PSM	Yes		
Lincove and Parker (2015)	DID			Yes
Macours et al. (2009)	RCT (multiple regression)	Yes	Yes	
Macours et al. (2012)	OLS linear and logistic regression	Yes	Yes	Yes
Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RCT (DID)		Yes	Yes
Manley et al. (2015)	QE (IV)		Yes	
Merttens et al. (2013)	RCT (DID)	Yes		Yes
Merttens et al. (2015)	QE (RDD; DID with PSM)	Yes		Yes
Miller and Tsoka (2012)	RCT (DID)	Yes		Yes
Mo et al. (2013)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Paxson and Schady (2010)	RCT (SUR)	Yes		Yes
Pellerano et al. (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Perova and Vakis (2012)	QE (IV)	Yes	Yes	
Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	QE (DID with PSM)	Yes		
Skoufias and Parker (2001)	QE (DID, cross-sectional difference estimator)		Yes	Yes
Tommasi (2015)	RCT	Yes	Yes	
Villa (2014)	QE (multivariate dose-response regression using panel data)		Yes	
World Bank (2011)	QE (IV)	Yes		

QE=Quasi-experimental approach, RDD = Regression Discontinuity Design, RCT = randomised controlled trial, DID = difference-in-difference, PSM = propensity score matching, IV = instrumental variables, ANCOVA = analysis of covariance; SD= standard deviation estimator.

Page 110

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

7.3 The impact of cash transfers on education

Tables 7.3 to 7.7 below summarise the overall effects of cash transfers on the indicators under consideration. Where any effects associated with design or implementation features were found, these are not reported in the tables, but are discussed in section 7.5. Similarly, all sex-disaggregated results are discussed in section 7.4.

School attendance

Enrolment does not guarantee that a child will attend school regularly throughout the school year nor does it mean that he or she completes a grade, progresses to the next grade or transitions from primary to secondary school. CCT conditions therefore often include mandatory attendance requirements in addition to school enrolment. For example, the RPS programme in Nicaragua required that enrolled students have fewer than six unjustified absences in a two-month period (Maluccio and Flores, 2005). It is therefore valuable to consider school attendance as one of the key school participation indicators.

Measures of attendance are based either on self-reported data from household surveys asking parents or children retrospectively about the level of attendance in a given time period, or more objective data from school surveys or surprise school visits that measure whether a child is present on that day. In some cases, it is not specified what approach the authors have applied. In addition, measures of attendance varied across studies ranging from whether a child ever attended school, attended school over a given time period (i.e. past week, past month or by the end of the school year) to the number of hours or days a child is attending school in a given time period. Several studies (n=9) also report a measure of absenteeism rather than attendance, including whether a child missed any days of school or the number of days absent in a given time period. For these measures of absenteeism, a negative coefficient is the desired effect. Given the variety of attendance measures reported in the studies, the coefficients are not comparable and one should be cautious when interpreting the results.

Of the 20 studies that reported on the overall effect on school attendance, 13 reported at least significant impact (see Table 7.3). The direction of effect is mostly in accordance with what we expect in theory (increase in school attendance and a decrease in school absenteeism). Of the studies reporting on a measure of school absenteeism, all significant effects were negative (n=4); among all studies reporting on a measure of attendance (n=16), all but one of the significant impacts were positive (n=9).

One study found a negative statistically significant impact (10% significance, 3.4 percentage points) on the proportion of children currently attending formal education after one year of programme operations:⁷⁴ the Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE) programme in Uganda (and specifically its Vulnerable Family Support Grant). Impacts on the other reported overall attendance or attainment indicators for both the Senior Citizen Grant (SCG) and the Vulnerable Family Support Grant were not significant (mean number of days missed in previous 30 days scheduled school days; class progression rate) (Merttens et al., 2015). The authors point out that the lack of impact on school attendance might not be surprising given the fact that, at baseline, the main reason that children were not attending school was the belief that they were too young. In addition, particularly among SCG households, the need for the child to help at home was a significant reason, much more than the ability to pay for schooling. The authors also found that SAGE is not shown to be increasing education expenditure.

Seven studies found non-significant impacts on any school attendance measure reported. There is limited explanation provided for these non-significant impacts, but suggestions given by authors generally refer to design and implementation features or contextual factors. Reported barriers that may have mediated the overall effect include:

Page 111

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on

education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- Lack of compliance monitoring cited for the CCT Shombhob programme in Bangladesh due to a lack of project personnel to monitor school attendance (conditionality to receive the transfer) in project schools. Authors also report that, due to flooding, the transfers were made regardless of the attendance rate (Ferré and Sharif, 2014).
- Contextual factors, including baseline enrolment, cited for the Benefício de Prestação Continuada social pension programme in Brazil (Kassouf and de Oliveira, 2012). Programmes in countries with lower baseline enrolment/attendance may deliver larger impacts compared to countries in which baseline enrolment is high. For example, Kassouf and de Oliveira (2012) report that, since 97% of children are already in school in Brazil, there is not much room for improvement.
- Transfer size cited for the Lesotho Child Grant Programme (Pellerano et al., 2014). Based on qualitative evidence, the authors note that for secondary education the transfer was too small to have any likely impact unless households were already able to meet most of their food requirements.

Test scores

Learning (measured through tests) is an important indicator to examine as it is essential to the long-term prospects of children, including human capital formation and empowerment. In theory, we might expect to see positive impacts of cash transfers on learning, especially since some cash transfers may be conditional and have the specific objective of increasing school attendance. If students attend school more regularly and attain higher levels of schooling, they may score higher in academic test scores than non-recipient children who are out of school or attend less regularly. This assumes that additional years of schooling increase test scores. Transfers may also trigger increases in household expenditure resulting in better food security and nutritional status of children, which in turn may also positively affect a child's cognitive ability and a child's efficiency of learning while in school in the long term. However, the ultimate impact of a cash transfer programme on learning outcomes will depend on a number of moderating factors relating to design and implementation (discussed below in more detail) and contextual factors, including baseline enrolment rate or additional supply-side interventions that improve the quality of schooling provided.

Reported learning indicators include tests that were specifically designed for the purpose of the evaluation, and administered at home by the study team or school-based tests, such as end of year exams. They also measured different individual subjects or an index measure combining different sets of subjects or tests. We therefore divided the test score indicators by test types: maths, language and composite test scores that are administered to school-age children.

A large number of the included studies assessed the impacts of cash transfer programmes on school participation, but only a few examined overall effects on learning outcomes (n=5).⁷⁵ Four studies reported overall impacts on maths, three studies reported on language test scores, and one on a composite score (see Table 7.4 to 7.6 at end of chapter for full summary results).

Two studies found a statistically significant effect on test scores, both of which referred to language test scores, one representing an improvement and one a decrease relative to nonbeneficiaries. Akresh et al. (2013), evaluating the impacts of two different types of cash transfers on the Nahouri Cash Transfers Pilot Project in Burkina Faso, find no significant impact on achievement tests, except for a positive impact of CCTs on the reading section of the French test. The authors also report that in the sub-group analyses by gender, age and ability level, most coefficients are not significant.

One study found a negative statistically significant impact on test scores: Baez and Camacho (2011) find the overall impact of Colombia's Familias en Acción CCT programme on maths test scores to be statistically insignificant, while that of Spanish was negative and significant at the 10% level

Page 112

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on

education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

75 Several studies assessed the impact of cash transfer programmes separately for girls or boys instead of reporting an overall effect. These are discussed in the section on impacts by gender.

(-0.05 standard deviation). The authors also found there to be no significant effect of differential performance between participant and non-participant children based on the composite test score. The authors, however, provide no explanation as to why they observe the lack of effect.

The three remaining studies only found non-significant impacts on test scores.

- In the study by Mo et al. (2013), evaluating the impact of the JHS-RCT (China) on maths test scores of students in grade seven in rural China, they find the point estimate to be very small and statistically insignificant.
- Benhassine et al. (2013) study the Tayssir pilot programme in Morocco and find a positive impact of the labelled cash transfer provided to fathers on standardised test scores (0.08), but this effect is not statistically significant in the overall sample (it is larger and significant for students already enrolled at baseline and for those from satellite school units).
- In the case of the Tanzanian Social Action Fund Programme, Evans et al. (2014) find that receiving transfers made children four percentage points more likely to be literate after 18–21 months. However, by the second follow-up survey (31–34 months) the impact is smaller (two percentage points) and becomes non-significant.

Cognitive development

Cognitive development outcomes in our review refer to indicators of information processing ability, intelligence, reasoning, language development and memory among pre-school and schoolage children. There are a number of pathways through which cash transfers may impact child development. As in the case of the previous indicators, improvements may be explained by an income effect: the additional cash disposable to the household may allow parents to invest in a better home environment or to purchase goods that directly influence child development (i.e. more nutritious food, health care, books). A second mechanism may be that accompanying information campaigns or conditions that often form part of cash transfer programmes may induce behaviour change on the part of parents towards their children that could result in better child-rearing practices. Improved child development might be due to improved preferences of parents on how to raise a child.

Improvements in the cognitive abilities of children of pre-school age as a result of these investments may in turn have large effects on school entry, completion and achievement. At the same time, it is important to bear in mind that child development results from a dynamic interaction between biological, social and environmental factors, which makes it difficult to isolate the mechanisms through which cash transfers ultimately influence these outcomes.

The issue of whether and to what extent cash transfers improve child development has been studied only fairly recently and, therefore, as in the case of test scores, fewer evaluations report on this indicator. Most of the studies included did not report on just one overall effect; many reported on a diverse range of cognitive development outcomes, in several cases broken down subtests or by exposure to cash transfer treatments at different stages of development. For all outcomes, if not stated otherwise, positive and higher values correspond to better outcomes.

Of the eight studies that reported on cognitive development outcomes, five studies provided an overall effect estimate (as opposed to gender disaggregated).⁷⁶ Out of these, three studies found a statistically significant effect, all of which were improvements (these are reported in bold in Table 7.7). It is difficult to make comparisons of effect sizes, as such a wide variety of indicators are used, for different age groups of children, however, we do so where possible below.

For example, Macours et al. (2012) report on the effects of the Atención a Crisis conditional cash transfer randomised experiment in Nicaragua on an index of five cognitive and socioemotional outcomes. As part of the programme, payments were made to mothers who were also subject to repeated information on the importance of health and education. Children in this

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

group were aged six and under when they started receiving the transfers. After nine months in the programme, and two years after the programme had finished, the authors find a significant positive effect on the index of outcomes for beneficiary children of 0.12 standard deviations and 0.08 standard deviations respectively, suggesting that the programme effect did not fade over time. The authors argue that the programme appears to have resulted in behaviour change: beneficiary households increased expenditures on critical inputs into child development such as more nutrient-rich foods, provided more early stimulation to their children and made more use of preventative health care.

Tomassi et al. (2015) referred to the same dataset as Macours et al. (2012), but restricted the sample to household with only two 'natural' decision makers. Similarly to Macours et al. (2012), the authors find positive statistically significant results at both follow-ups for an index measure of five cognitive and behavioural outcomes. However, point estimates of the original paper are on average larger, which might be explained by the fact that larger and extended families benefited more from the programme than smaller families. Investigating the mechanisms which are more likely to explain the observed improvements in child development, the authors find that the results are largely explained by an income effect and changes in knowledge and child-rearing practices. Although not presented here, the authors find strong evidence that AAC had heterogeneous programme impacts with respect to the bargaining power of the mother at baseline (using a proxy, which is education difference). Stronger mothers at baseline were better able to use the new resources available and to invest them in their children. The authors therefore argue that CCTs may be effective as long as some initial conditions are satisfied, like a balancing power at the baseline favouring mothers.

Within Gilligan et al.'s (2013) evaluation of the WFP Karamoja cash transfer pilot in Uganda that provided food and cash transfers to households with children aged from 3-5 participating in Early Childhood Development (ECD) centres, the authors find differential impacts for different age groups and depending on the type of cognitive test administered. For children between 60-83 months of age, authors found almost no significant impacts of either the food or cash transfers on measures of cognitive outcomes, including the KABC-II, the sticker test of delayed gratification and the HTKS test of self-regulation. The authors conclude that either the transfers generally have no effects in this age range or that the instruments used for this age range were not sufficiently sensitive to detect changes. Conversely, for children aged 54-71 months, cash transfers caused significant increases in Mullen item and overall scores: in visual reception, in receptive language, in expressive language and in the total Mullen raw score (see Table 7.7). These findings are consistent with the authors' findings of significant positive impacts on children's food consumption, prevalence of anaemia and ECD participation, as well as on households' experience with ECD. As regards explanations for the fact that improvements were concentrated in age range of BICs 54-71 months at endline and not in older BICs, the authors note that it may be that the improvements in diet, anaemia status or stimulation from ECD centres have larger impacts on younger targeted children.

There were two studies in which no significant effect sizes were found for any measure of cognitive development, both of which evaluated the impact of the Bono de Desarrollo Humano unconditional cash transfer programme in Ecuador (Fernald and Hidrobo, 2011; Paxson and Schady, 2010).

Although not presented here, Fernald and Hidrobo (2011) find that while there were no significant effects of the programme on combining words and the IDHC-B language development test of the full sample, there was a statistically significant effect for infants and toddlers in rural areas on language development and ability to combine words. The authors suggest that this may be because of higher take-up in rural areas, or greater potential for impact of the educational elements of the programme due to lower initial schooling levels of mothers. Parents of children in rural areas were also more likely to have ensured that their children received vitamin A or iron supplementation and were more likely to have bought their child a toy, all potential mechanisms that could explain the positive effect. Finally, households in rural areas began receiving the transfers five months before urban areas and perhaps had more time to adjust or adapt to the programme. The authors also comment on the design and implementation features of the BDH compared to other cash transfer programmes in Latin America when trying to explain their

Page 114

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

findings. For example, the BDH had the lowest cash transfer amount when compared with Mexico's Oportunidades or Nicaragua's Red de Protecion Social, and the BDH was considered to be conditional on health care and education requirements by only one quarter of the participants, and unconditional by the remainder of the participants.

Overall, the results on a positive impact of cash transfers on cognitive development outcomes are far from conclusive, which is perhaps to be expected. As described in the theory of change section, it is harder theoretically to link cash transfers to cognitive outcomes.

7.4 The impact of cash transfers on education indicators for women and girls

For the education indicators considered for this review, 20 studies reported sex-disaggregated outcomes. This relatively high proportion of studies is probably due to the fact that these indicators are generally measured at the individual level and that some of the programmes targeted cash transfers specifically at girls only (i.e. the Zomba Cash Transfer Programme in Malawi). The majority of these studies look at the impact on education indicators for girls versus boys. Two studies also reported on the impact by the sex of the household head. We summarise the findings below by the included education indicator. A full summary of results can be found in Table A.5.2.1 in Annex 5.

Sex of the beneficiary

School attendance

15 studies looked at disaggregated impacts on school attendance for girls versus boys or either girls or boys only. Of these, 12 studies reported a statistically significant impact for at least one school attendance measure for girls either at primary or secondary school level (see Table A.5.2.1 in Annex 5 for a list of studies and results). For all but one study the impact was positive (negative in the case of a measure of school absenteeism).

The outlier is the study by Merttens et al. (2015) of the SAGE programme in Uganda. Consistent with the overall effect reported above, the study found a negative statistically significant impact on the proportion of girls aged 6–17 currently attending formal education for the Vulnerable Family Support Grant: the point estimate decreases by six percentage points for girls whereas the impact for boys is not significant. The authors do not elaborate on why they observe these differential effects for boys and girls, but refer to contextual factors that may have acted as general barriers to children attending school, including the belief of household members that children were too young to attend school or the need for the child to help with housework (Merttens et al., 2015).

Test scores (maths, language, composite)

Five studies looked at disaggregated impacts on test scores by gender and four reported impacts for girls. Two of these evaluated the Zomba Cash Transfer Programme in Malawi that provided cash transfers to households with school-age girls. Offers included separate transfers to the girls and their parents (Baird et al., 2011; 2013). One study each looked at Colombia's Familias en Acción CCT programme (Baez et al., 2011) and the Tayssir programme in Morocco (Benhassine et al., 2013). Only the two studies evaluating the Zomba Cash Transfer Programme found significant impact on test scores, both of them are positive. Findings are summarised below:

• Estimating the impact of the ZCTP in Malawi for girls aged 13–22, Baird et al. (2011) find that after two years of exposure girls increased English test scores by 0.14 standard deviation and maths test scores by 0.12 standard deviation (both statistically significant) in the CCT arm. Girls in the UCT arm, however, did not show a statistically significant improvement in test scores. The follow-up study by Baird et al. (2013), reporting on girls not in school when the programme started, found that two years of exposure to the programme increased English test scores by 0.13 standard deviation and maths test scores by 0.16 standard deviation, both of which are also statistically significant. Baird et al. (2011) also examine heterogeneity of

Page 115

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

programme impact using an indicator of whether a girl was 16 years of age or older (the legal age of marriage stood at 16 in Malawi by late 2009). Interestingly, they find that the advantage in English test scores in the CCT arm disappears among girls aged 16 or above at baseline (coefficient is not significant anymore), whereas the advantage the UCT arm has in preventing marriages and pregnancies is substantially larger among older teenagers.

- A study by Baez and Camacho (2011) reports impacts on test scores in maths, language and a composite test disaggregated for boys and girls. As for the overall effect, the impact on learning outcomes shows mostly no statistical impacts in test scores for either girls or boys across different model specifications.
- Benhassine et al. (2013) compared different design variants as part of the Tayssir programme in Morocco that provided payments to parents of primary school-age children (aged 6–15). As for the overall effect, the impact of the labelled transfer provided to fathers showed no significant effect for boys or girls on maths test scores (summary index).

Cognitive development

Four studies assessed disaggregated impacts on cognitive scores by gender and four reported impacts for girls. Measures of cognitive skills varied between studies and included versions of Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices (Baird et al., 2011; 2013), Woodcock-Johnson-Muñoz III tests, the MacArthur Communicative Development Inventories and different versions of the Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test (Gertler et al., 2004). Three of the four studies found positive and statistically significant effects among girls (Baird et al., 2011; 2013; Paxson et al., 2010; Gertler et al., 2004):

- For attendance, maths and English test scores, Baird et al. (2011) find that after two years of exposure, girls increased cognitive scores of a version of the Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices (0.17 standard deviation; p<0.01) in the CCT arm of the Zomba Cash Transfer Programme in Malawi. Girls in the UCT arm, however, did not show a statistically significant improvement. The follow-up study by Baird et al. (2013), looking at girls not in school when the programme started (baseline dropouts), found that two years of exposure to the programme affected cognitive scores by 0.14 standard deviation (p<0.05). Overall, the authors conclude that the CCT arm that required attendance to receive the monthly cash transfer had a significant advantage in terms of schooling outcomes over the UCT arm.
- Gertler and Fernald (2004) estimate how investments in health and nutrition as part of Oportunidades that began during the prenatal period impacted child development indicators of children aged from 3–6 (pre-school age). The authors measure cognitive development using the Woodcock-Johnson-Muñoz III tests, the MacArthur Communicative Development Inventories, and the Spanish version of the Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test, the Test de Vocabulario en Imágenes Peabody. Although the authors find large impacts of the programme motor development in both boys and girls, and an impact on socio-emotional development in girls, they find little evidence of impact on cognitive development of boys or girls. Only one of the 12 coefficients is significant (see Table A.5.1.1 in Annex 5). Explanations put forward by the authors include that, while the brain may be more prepared for cognitive development due to the better nutrition, there may be a lack of necessary stimulation to develop cognitive skills provided by parents. Oportunidades might therefore consider including teaching skills to parents or introduce more intensive activities to promote child stimulation.
- Paxson and Schady (2010) found a statistically significant positive effect of the Bono de Desarrollo Humano programme's cash transfers on the physical, cognitive and socio-emotional development of girls (0.24 standard deviaton p<0.05), but not on boys.

Sex of the household head

School attendance

Two papers looked at the impact of a conditional cash transfer on school attendance according to the sex of the household head (Dammert, 2008; World Bank, 2011):

Page 116

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- Dammert (2008) considers the impact of the Red de Protección Social (RPS) programme in Nicaragua and finds that children living in a male-headed household experience a smaller impact of the programme on school attendance. Estimates suggest that the RPS programme increased school attendance by 17 percentage points (for children living in female-headed households) compared to 14 percentage points for children living in male-headed households in 2002; both coefficients are significant.
- In contrast, evaluating the Pilot Program Keluarga Harapan (PKH) in Indonesia, the authors find that it was only for male-headed households that the transfer resulted in a significant positive impact on the number of hours spent in school by all children (both age ranges reported). The effect is not statistically significant for female-headed households (World Bank, 2011). In addition, the transfers showed no statistically significant impacts on regular primary and secondary school attendance, either for male- or female-headed households. Possible explanations for this observed impact on the number of days spent in school proposed by the authors relate to the different opportunity costs of schooling and labour faced by different types of families: female-headed households often lack a second wage earner, and therefore the cost of sending a child to school instead of working may be higher than for male-headed households.

7.5 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features

A total of 15 studies shed light on the role of design and implementation features on the education outcomes reviewed. Overall, the one study looking at transferring cash to males versus females finds no impact on the schooling outcomes, and little or no evidence is found to show a strong effect of increasing transfer amounts on outcomes. However, a few studies do find the length of exposure and cumulative cash transfers received to have important effects on cognitive development and years of education. Similarly, conditioning transfers on educational outcomes does appear to have a differential impact, though evidence was also found that UCTs which are strongly labelled as being for educational purposes can also be more effective than unconditional transfers without such messaging. The full table of results can be found in Table 5.2.2 in Annex 5.

Main recipient

Only one study explicitly tests the differential impact of transferring money to women versus men. Comparing across educational transfers being delivered to mothers or fathers of children aged 6–12, Benhassine et al. (2013) find no significant difference between the two in terms of school attendance, enrolment or performance in a standardised maths test.

Transfer amount, timing and frequency

Four papers explicitly test the impact of varying transfer amounts, finding limited conclusive evidence that increases in transfer size lead to greater impacts on educational outcomes. The main exceptions were for the UCT branch of Malawi's ZCTP and findings by Manley et al. (2015) that higher transfer amounts led to improvements in cognitive development outcomes in PROGRESA/ Oportunidades.

- Esteva (2012) isolates the effects of increases in transfer size, taking advantage of discrete changes for the educational cash transfers specified in PROGRESA's rules. cash transfer increases estimated for two comparable groups were equal to 158 and 344 Mexican pesos during pregnancy and first year of life, but little conclusive evidence of differential impacts on medium-term physical, cognitive and motor skill developments were found.
- It is helpful to set these findings against another study of PROGRESA/Oportunidades, which did find higher transfer amounts to be associated with improvements on the cognitive and verbal Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI) scores (Manley et al., 2015). Interestingly, this second study also investigates the effects of 18 additional months as a recipient, and finds that higher transfer sizes result in stronger effects than additional exposure for all outcomes except for a strengths and difficulties questionnaire.

Page 117

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- Filmer and Schady (2011), basing their findings on a regression discontinuity design distributing varying transfer amounts for Cambodia's CESSP programme, find that the impact on attendance of an additional US\$15 is modest; between one and three percentage points, and is generally not significant at conventional levels. It should be noted, however, that the base transfer of US\$45 was equivalent to just 2% of the consumption of the median recipient household in Cambodia, which is particularly low by international standards.
- Analysing heterogeneity in programme impacts by transfer amounts for Malawi's ZCTP, Baird et al. (2011) show that increasing transfer amounts had no effect on enrolment, attendance or performance for the CCT branch (where the minimum total transfer amount offered to the household, US\$5 per month, seems to be responsible for the entire programme impact), while outcomes did vary with increased transfer size in the UCT arm: enrolment rates increased but performance in test scores seemed to suffer. One possible interpretation of this is that transfer sizes may matter more in the absence of conditions, which does fit with the idea that UCTs depend on an income effect, while CCTs exert an additional price effect through the conditions, as mentioned in the conceptual framework chapter.

Two papers offer some insight into the role of the timing of transfers, offering some evidence that tying the transfer schedule to critical moments of the school year decision cycle can have an impact, especially on enrolment.

- Barrera-Osorio et al. (2008) compare a standard CCT with a treatment arm that postpones a bulk of the cash transfer due to good attendance to just before children have to re-enrol, piloted for Bogota's SCAE, and find that changing the timing of payments does not change attendance rates relative to the basic treatment, but significantly increases enrolment rates at secondary and tertiary levels (by 3.6 and 3.3 percentage points respectively).
- Though not explicitly designed to test the hypothesis of the impact of transfer timing on ultimate outcomes, Akresh et al. (2013) shed light on this topic by noting that their results 'show no impact of the conditional or unconditional transfers at round two for school year 2008-2009, the program's first year, because the transfers were delivered too late in that school year. However, the results show significant impacts of transfers at round three for school year 2009-2010, when the transfers were delivered on time'.

Length of exposure

Nine papers offer insights into the effect of increasing the treatment spell for beneficiary households, though few explicitly test the differential impact of longer exposure to the programme. Overall, there is little evidence of increased attendance due to higher exposure, though one study does find longer exposure in Colombia's Familias en Acción to be associated with more years of education (Villa, 2014). There also appears to be little evidence of any impacts of longer exposure on language, maths or cognitive development, except where this is combined with eligibility for higher transfers (i.e. higher cumulative transfers).

Attendance

- Perova and Vakis (2012) find that being a beneficiary in Peru's Juntos programme for two years or longer compared to peers who participated in the programme for under one year leads to significantly higher enrolment rates. Although, in the case of attendance, there is no strong evidence of differences in the impacts depending on treatment spell duration.
- Reporting on the TSAF (Tanzania), Evans et al. (2014) find that after 31–34 months there were no statistically significant impacts on the likelihood that children aged 0–18 were enrolled in school, missed school or self-declared as literate (compared to initial significant impacts after 18–21 months). The authors hypothesise this may be due to changes in perceptions of how rigorously conditions were imposed, or to schools becoming increasingly crowded in treatment communities, creating disincentives for attendance.
- Villa (2014) also provides interesting insights into the effect of higher elapsed proportions of the maximum length of exposure to Colombia's Familias en Acción. Drawing on a design feature that meant that children were eligible for the transfers until they reached the age of

Page 118

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

17, he finds higher proportions of exposure to be highly significant in explaining the years of education children receive for those who were enrolled at seven years old, and for there to be a difference of 4.4 years between those that are most and least exposed. The study also finds a form of threshold effect, with the number of years of education increasing at a faster rate after households have benefited from 80% of their maximum length of exposure.

Language and maths

- In the case of the TSAF (Tanzania), Evans et al. (2014) find that treatment was associated with children being four percentage points more likely to be literate after 18–21 months. However, by the second follow-up survey (31–34 months) the impact was smaller, at just two percentage points, and became non-significant, though potential explanations are not discussed.
- Behrman et al. (2009) find no significant effects on reading, written language or maths tests arising as a result of an extra 18 months as a PROGRESA/Oportunidades beneficiary. By contrast, Fernald et al. (2008) look at the effect of cumulative cash transfers in the same programme, which in effect represents a combination of the length of duration and the size of transfer (with families eligible for greater transfers with more children). They find that a doubling of cumulative cash transfers from 7,500 pesos to 15,000 pesos was associated with a significant increase in the Peabody score test of 0.18. This may suggest that while a longer duration alone may be insufficient, longer duration with a higher transfer eligibility does result in significant effects.

Cognitive development

- In the same study by Fernald et al. (2008), estimating the effect of cumulative cash transfers, they find significant effects of doubling cumulative cash transfers on long- and short-term memory and visual integration for children aged 36–68 months. In a follow-up study, Fernald et al. (2009) test both the effect of cumulative cash transfers (combination of duration and transfer sizes), as well as simple duration of exposure, and find that, whereas cumulative transfers resulted in significant effects in improving cognitive and verbal assessment scores after 10 years, the effect of an additional 18 months had no such significant effect. These findings suggest that simply increasing duration in itself may not have had differential effects, but the combination of a longer exposure and higher transfer eligibility did.
- Esteva (2012) finds 'weak evidence of medium-term effects on pre-school children's cognitive and motor skill development for exposure to PROGRESA during early stages of life', with the programme unable to correct considerable initial disadvantages of children born in poor settings. Specifically, no advantage of being born in an early-treatment locality (longer exposure to health care and higher amounts) or being exposed to the programme during all in utero development is found in most of the dimensions analysed, except for a 14 percentage point increase in the log of long-term memory score and a *reduction* of 20 percentage points in a visual spatial integration score. The use of a novel methodology by Manley et al. (2015) seems to confirm low marginal effects of 18 additional months on the same programme.

Conditionality

Three cash transfer experiments in sub-Saharan Africa compare conditional versus unconditional cash transfers, two of which find higher impacts on educational outcomes for CCTs compared to UCTs and one of which finds no differential impact, but where the UCT comparison is a 'labelled' transfer, raising the important question over the extent to which full blown conditions with monitoring and enforcement (and associated costs) are required.

• The evaluation of Morocco's Tayssir pilot programme (Benhassine et al., 2013), in which transfers were not conditioned on school participation but school enrolment was strongly encouraged (i.e. a 'labelled' Cash Transfer – LCT),⁷⁷ found that 'explicitly conditioning transfers on attendance if anything decreased their impact in the context of this program, particularly on re-enrolment of children who had initially dropped out, and generally on children with lower probability to re-enrol or stay in school'. For example, the effects on

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

77 For example, enrolment for Tayssir was done at schools and by headmasters, with an effort to mobilize all children, even those currently not enrolled.

school participation⁷⁸ were '2 percentage points higher (significantly so) under the LCT than under the CCT program', with results being driven primarily by girls. Interestingly, moreover, while both point estimates for impacts on maths scores for LCT and CCT were insignificant, the difference between CCT and LCT was significant at the 5% significance level (with the LCT faring better). This evidence leads the authors to suggest that 'cash transfer programs may work in part by changing how parents perceive education'.

- In Burkina Faso, the NCTPP was designed to compare a UCT to a CCT conditional on enrolment. Akresh et al. (2013) find no significant difference between the UCT and the CCT on enrolment, though the CCT outperformed the UCT on attendance. Importantly, moreover, they find that CCTs led to larger impacts than UCTs among 'marginal children' who are initially less likely to go to school: girls, younger children and lower ability children.
- Similarly, based on an experiment in Malawi comparing a CCT to a UCT, Baird et al. (2011) find that conditioning cash transfers on school attendance increased the effectiveness of the programme at keeping adolescent girls in school.⁷⁹ For example, although drop-out rates declined in both treatment arms, the effect in the UCT arm is 43% of that in the CCT arm. Moreover, the CCT outperformed the UCT when measuring impacts on cognitive ability, mathematics and English reading comprehension (with difference in programme impacts between the two treatment arms significant for English reading comprehension).

A further programme from which evidence is found on conditionalities is the CSAE in Colombia. Barrera-Osorio et al. (2008) evaluate variations of the CSAE which provide insights into the role of conditionality and timing of transfer by comparing three treatments: a basic CCT treatment based on school attendance, a 'savings treatment' that postpones a bulk of the cash transfer due to good attendance to just before children have to re-enrol, and a 'tertiary treatment' where some of the transfers are conditional on students' graduation and tertiary enrolment rather than attendance. The authors find that the type of incentive mattered significantly: changing the timing of the payments as part of the savings treatment did not change attendance rates relative to the basic treatment, but significantly increased enrolment rates at both the secondary and tertiary levels; the basic and savings treatments increased attendance in San Cristóbal by 3.3 and 2.8 percentage points respectively, both estimates are significant at the 1% level. Providing incentives around graduation rather than just attendance is shown to be particularly effective, increasing attendance by five percentage points. Students who received the savings and tertiary treatments were also significantly more likely to have re-enrolled in school than those who did not receive a treatment, by 3.6% and 3.3% respectively.

Targeting

Only one of the studies reviewed – the midline evaluation of Uganda's SAGE programme by Merttens et al. (2015) – was found to provide insights on the differential impacts of different targeting mechanisms. For Uganda's SAGE, one treatment arm – the Senior Citizen Grant (SCG) – used age to determine eligibility targeting those aged 60 or 65 and above, depending on the region. Another treatment arm – the Vulnerable Family Support Grant (VFSG) – targeted on the basis of a composite index based on demographic indicators of vulnerability. The study finds a small reduction (three percentage points) in the proportion of school-age children attending formal education among those targeted on the basis of the vulnerability index, which is driven by a greater increase in the proportion of girls attending school within the control group. However, no significant changes were estimated among households targeted on the basis of old age and the differences between the two targeted groups are not explained.

78 Having attended school at least once in the last month of the programme (year two).

79 The UCT however outperformed the CCT at averting teen pregnancy and marriage. It should also be noted that the previous version of this same paper found no significant differences.

Page 120

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Complementary interventions and supply-side services

Two papers aim to measure the differential impact on education of complementary activities, both referring to the Atención a Crisis programme in Nicaragua that distributed cash and childcare information on households with children up to the age of five. The programme randomised three treatment variations: (1) a *basic cash transfer package* where households with children up to the age of five received the transfer every two months conditional on regular preventative health check-ups; (2) a *training package*, whereby households received the same basic cash transfer and were also offered a scholarship to allow one household member to choose among a number of vocational training courses; and (3) a *lump-sum package*, in addition to the basic transfer, to start a small non-agricultural activity. The lump sum was conditional on the household developing a business development plan. All beneficiaries, regardless of the treatment, were also exposed to repeated information and communication on the importance of varied diets, health and education.

- Macours et al. (2012) find no evidence of better child development outcomes (including cognitive and socio-emotional outcomes) among households that received a lump-sum payment, relative to those that only received the basic cash transfer treatment, despite effectively higher transfer levels. The authors note that the lack of effect 'cannot easily be explained by other [potentially expected] changes that could have had a deleterious effect on child development'. For example, there was no evidence that among lump-sum recipients the mothers spent less time with their children, were less likely to read or tell stories or had poorer mental health compared to those that received the basic treatment.
- In an earlier paper that did not explicitly aim to measure the differential impact on education of complementary activities to cash transfers, Macours and Vakis (2009) found largely similar impacts on attendance arising from all three treatment variations in Atención a Crisis.

7.6 Policy implications

Overall, the evidence analysed in this review confirms that cash transfers can impact access to education in the short term by removing the direct and indirect financial barriers to education. However, a less clear-cut pattern of impact was found for learning outcomes (as measured by test scores) and cognitive development outcomes (information processing ability, intelligence, reasoning, language development and memory), partly as these result from a dynamic interaction between biological, social and environmental factors, including the ultimate quality of services provided.

The review also highlighted several findings that could have important policy implications, especially when analysing the mediating role of programme design and implementation features on impacts.

First, conditionality appears to have an important role in mediating impact for access outcomes (increasing marginal effects for enrolment and attendance), but only to the extent it is perceived as such by recipients. For example, cash transfers where conditionality was applied on paper but not monitored, enforced or understood by recipients ultimately had lower marginal effects than equivalent UCTs that were strongly labelled as being aimed at human development outcomes (through the name of the programme, associated messaging and potentially transfer modality). For example, Morocco's Tayssir programme UCT experiment branch was transferred through schools, and this had an important 'labelling' role in affecting parents' perceptions of its intended use (Benhassine et al., 2013). The type of conditionality could also play a role, with one programme evaluation in Colombia suggesting that incentives for graduation and matriculation can be more effective in increasing enrolment and attendance than the widely adopted conditionality on attendance (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2008).

Second – and intuitively – marginal effects were often highest where overall rates at baseline were lowest (more room for improvement). This has implications for targeting design, whereby a programme aiming to have a strong impact on enrolment or attendance, for example, may choose to target specific areas or categories of children least likely to be in school/more likely to drop out: children transitioning to secondary or tertiary schooling, children with disabilities, potentially girls (depending on social norms). This also means that impacts for primary school-age children are generally smaller and less significant, given that baseline values are generally higher for this age group.

Page 121

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Third, there appears to be some emerging evidence that increases in transfer size can lead to greater impacts on educational outcomes, including cognitive development (Manley et al., 2015; Baird et al., 2011), though findings were not found consistently across all programmes, raising questions over how to ensure that transfer increases do lead to improvements. Nevertheless, a number of studies reviewed also highlighted that small transfer sizes may have been a reason for observing limited impacts and two studies found that higher cumulative transfers (a combination of longer exposure and higher transfers) did have significant impacts on language and cognitive development scores (Fernald et al., 2008; Fernald et al., 2009). This is partially in line with findings presented within much of the qualitative research on this topic, and with Saavedra and Garcia (2012), who find larger primary and secondary enrolment effects for programmes with more generous transfers. More attention should also be paid to the role of the timing of transfers, as two papers within this review offered some (mostly anecdotal) evidence that tying the transfer schedule to critical moments of the school-year decision cycle can have an impact, especially on enrolment.

Fourth, and critically, the fact that the evidence base is not sufficient to make any generalisations on the impacts of cash transfers on ultimate outcomes such as learning (as measured by test scores) and cognitive development is a finding in itself. This is partly due to the nature of the selected indicators, which have been measured in a wide variety of different ways, making it impossible to conclusively compare effect sizes. It is also due to the ultimate theory of change for these outcome areas, which are affected by such a wide variety of mediating factors (e.g. children's nutrition, rearing practices, parents' human capital, quality of service delivery, etc.) that pinning down the linear impact of additional cash is close to impossible. For policy-makers, the implication could be the need to address this problem on several complementary fronts, recognising that cash transfers alone are not a silver bullet. Best practice internationally has been to complement cash transfer delivery with a wide variety of other interventions including providing nutritional support, educational sessions focused on child-rearing/nutrition, and supply-side grants for schools, to name some. More research isolating the marginal impacts of these complementary interventions is needed. Within this, it will be important from a policy perspective to keep in mind the cost implications of different transfer designs, to ensure that any additional benefit arising from such changes is not outweighed by associated costs.

Summary tables

#	Study	Programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. age of child)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/explanation
1	Akresh et al. (2013)	NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Percentage of school days the child attended during the entire academic year (school roster)	0.134	Percentage	1%	CCT, children aged 7–15, after 2 years
		NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Percentage of school days the child attended during the entire academic year (school roster)	0.067	Percentage	NS	UCT, children aged 7–15, after 2 years
2	AIR (2014)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Full attendance prior week (%)	0.01	Percentage	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 4–7
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Number of days in attendance prior week (0–5)	0.25	Number of days	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 4–7
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Days attended prior week if enrolled	0.05	Number of days	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 4–7
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Full attendance prior week (%)	0.032	Percentage	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 7–14
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Number of days in attendance prior week (0–5)	0.249	Number of days	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 7–14
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Days attended prior week if enrolled	0.113	Number of days	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 7–14
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Full attendance prior week (%)	-0.005	Percentage	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 15–17
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Number of days in attendance prior week (0–5)	-0.035	Number of days	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 15–17
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Days attended prior week if enrolled	0.098	Number of days	NS	UCT, after 36 months, children aged 15–17

Table 7.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effects on school attendance

Contents

Page 122

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

continued on next page

Table 7.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effects on school attendance continued

#	Study	Programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. age of child)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/explanation
3	Barrera-Osorio et al. (2008)	CSAE (Colombia)	Verified attendance at school	0.033	Percentage	1%	T1= Basic CCT, San Cristóbal
		CSAE (Colombia)	Verified attendance at school	0.028	Percentage	1%	T2= Savings CCT, San Cristóbal
		CSAE (Colombia)	Verified attendance at school	0.009	Percentage	NS	T1= Basic CCT, Suba, grades 6–8
		CSAE (Colombia)	Verified attendance at school	0.05	Percentage	1%	T3= Tertiary CCT, Suba, grades 9–11
4	Benhassine et al. (2013)	Tayssir (Morocco)	Attendance rate during surprise school visits among those enrolled (School visits)	0.007	Percentage	NS	Labelled cash transfer, after 2 years, administered to one child per household aged 6–12
		Tayssir (Morocco)	Attending School by end of year 2, among those 6–15 at baseline (Household survey)	0.74	Percentage	1%	Labelled cash transfer, after 2 years, administered to one child per household aged 6–12
		Tayssir (Morocco)	Attending school by end of year 2 if had dropped out at any time before baseline (Household survey)	0.121	Percentage	1%	Labelled cash transfer, after 2 years, administered to one child per household aged 6–12
5	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Proportion of children aged 5–12 currently attending school	0.0318	Percentage point	NS	
6	Covarrubias et	SCTP (Malawi)	School attendance	-0.025	Percentage	NS	UCT
	al. (2012)	SCTP (Malawi)	Days of school missed per month (absenteeism)	-0.721	Days of school missed per month	Not clear at what level	UCT
7	Evans et al. (2014)	TSAF (Tanzania)	Ever attended school	0.04	Percentage	5%	CCT, children aged 0–18 years, after 31–34 months
		TSAF (Tanzania)	Missed school last week if enrolled due to personal reasons (absenteeism)	0.02	Percentage	NS	CCT, children aged 0–18 years, after 31–34 months
		TSAF (Tanzania)	Took national exam-Standard IV+	0.02	Percentage	NS	CCT, children aged 0–18 years, after 31–34 months
8	Ferré and Sharif (2014)	Shombhob (Bangladesh)	Number of days in school over past 2 weeks	0.511	Number of days	NS	CCT, children aged 6–15, after 13 months
9	Filmer and Schady (2011)	CSP (Cambodia)	Child's presence at school during unannounced visit	0.171	Percentage	5%	CCT, Fourth Follow Up – June 2007, US\$45 scholarship, Secondary School students
10	Handa et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Whether a child missed any days of school in the reference period (absenteeism)	-0.08	Percentage Points	5%	UCT, Children aged 5–17
		LEAP (Ghana)	Whether a child did not attend any school in the last week (Absenteeism)	-0.05	Percentage Points	5%	UCT, Children aged 5–17
11	Kassouf and de Oliveira (2012)	BPC (Brazil)	Ever attended school	-0.1151	Not clear	NS	UCT, Children aged 10–15 ears
12	Macours and Vakis (2009)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Attending school	0.05	Percentage	1%	children aged 7–18, after 9 months
		Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Number of days absent from school (absenteeism)	-1.352	Percentage	1%	children aged 7–18, after 9 months

continued on next page

Page 123

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 7.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effects on school attendance continued

#	Study	Programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. age of child)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/explanation
13	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Current attendance (if child indicated she/he was still enrolled and had missed three or fewer days in the past month – or more because of illness)	0.14	Percentage	10%	After two years, age 7 years
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Current attendance (if child indicated she/he was still enrolled and had missed three or fewer days in the past month – or more because of illness)	0.28	Percentage	10%	After two years, age 8 years
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Current attendance (if child indicated she/he was still enrolled and had missed three or fewer days in the past month – or more because of illness)	0.29	Percentage	10%	After two years, age 9 years
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Current attendance (if child indicated she/he was still enrolled and had missed three or fewer days in the past month – or more because of illness)	0.16	Percentage	10%	After two years, age 1 years
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Current attendance (if child indicated she/he was still enrolled and had missed three or fewer days in the past month – or more because of illness)	0.17	Percentage	10%	After two years, age 11 years
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Current attendance (if child indicated she/he was still enrolled and had missed three or fewer days in the past month – or more because of illness)	0.10	Percentage	NS	After two years, age 12years
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Current attendance (if child indicated she/he was still enrolled and had missed three or fewer days in the past month – or more because of illness)	0.32	Percentage	10%	After two years, age 13 years
14	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Proportion of children currently attending school	-0.059	Percentage	NS	UCT, after three years, children aged 6–17
		HSNP (Kenya)	Average number of days absent from school in the last 12 months (Absenteeism)	-1.047	Number of days absent	NS	UCT, after three years, children aged 6–17
15	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE (SCG) (Uganda)	Proportion of children currently attending formal education	-0.004	Percentage Points	NS	Children aged 6–17, after one year
		SAGE (VFSG) (Uganda)	Proportion of children currently attending formal education	-0.034	Percentage Points	10%	Children aged 6–17, after one year
		SAGE (SCG) (Uganda)	Mean number of days missed in last 30 scheduled school days (absenteeism)	0.14	Mean number of days missed in last 30 scheduled days	NS	Children aged 6–17, after one year
		SAGE (VFSG) (Uganda)	Mean number of days missed in last 30 scheduled school days (absenteeism)	-0.36	Mean number of days missed in last 30 scheduled days	NS	Children aged 6–17, after one year
16	Miller and Tsoka (2012)	SCTP (Malawi)	Mean number of days absent per month (absenteeism)	-1	Days per week	1%	UCT, Students aged 6–18
17	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Proportion of pupils 6–19 who missed school in the 30 days prior to the survey – self-reported (absenteeism)	0.351	Percentage	NS	UCT, after two years, children aged 6–19
18	Perova and Vakis (2012)	Juntos (Peru)	Currently attending school, conditional on registration	0.25	Percentage	1%	CCT, after 5 years, children aged 6–14
19	Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	CTP (Zambia)	Missed two or more days in last week (Absenteeism)	-0.025	Percentage	NS	UCT, children aged 6–16
20	World Bank (2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	Regular primary school attendance (>85%)	0.009	Percentage point	NS	CCT, children aged 7–12
		PKH (Indonesia)	Hours in school last week	0.319	Hours spent in school last week	10%	CCT, children aged 7–12
		PKH (Indonesia)	Regular junior secondary school attendance school (>85%)	0.014	Percentage point	NS	CCT, children aged 13–15
		PKH (Indonesia)	Hours in school last week	0.638	Hours spent in school last week	5%	CCT, children aged 13–15

Notes: Results presented are overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant results. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 124

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of

cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 7.4 Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on Maths Test Scores

#	Study	Programme	Variable and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/explanation
Ма	ths Test Scores						
1	Akresh et al. (2013)	NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Standardised maths test score	-0.083	Change in z-score	NS	UCT, after 2 years
		NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Standardised maths test score	0.051	Change in z-score	NS	CCT, after 2 years
2	Baez and Camacho (2011)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Standardised maths test score (lcfes test) 80 , 81	-0.015	Change in Standard deviation	NS	CCT
3	Benhassine et al. (2013)	Tayssir (Morocco)	Basic Arithmetic test – Summary Index (Based on ASER test developed by Pratham),	0.081	Change in Score	NS	Labelled cash transfer, after 2 years, administered to one child per household aged 6–12
4	Mo et al. (2013)	JHS-RCT (China)	Maths Test Score	0.01	Change in Standard deviation	NS	CCT, after one year, grade 7 high school students

Table 7.5 Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on language test scores

#	Study	Programme	Variable and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/ explanation
La	nguage Test Scores						
1	Akresh et al. (2013)	NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Standardised French Test Score (Overall)	0.069	Change in z-score	NS	CCT, after 2 years
		NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Standardised French Test Score (reading subsection)	0.196	Change in z-score	5%	CCT, after 2 years
		NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Standardised French Test Score (Overall)	-0.13	Change in z-score	NS	UCT, after 2 years
		NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Standardised French Test Score (reading subsection)	0.003	Change in z-score	NS	UCT, after 2 years
2	Baez and Camacho (2011)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Spanish test score (Icfes test) ⁸²	-0.05	Change in standard deviation	10%	CCT
3	Evans et al. (2014)	TSAF (Tanzania)	Literate (self-reported)	0.02	Change in percentage	NS	CCT, children aged 0–18 years, after 31–34 months

Table 7.6 Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on Composite Test Scores

#	Study	Programme	Variable and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/ explanation
Coi	nposite Test Scores						
1	Baez and Camacho (2011)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Composite test score in various subjects (Icfes test) ⁸³	-0.025	Change in Standard Deviation	NS	CCT

Notes: Results presented are overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant results. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level

- 80 Unit of observation is children (enrolled or not in school) aged 18 or below when they joined the programme and who, based on their school attainment at the pre-programme time, could have achieved grade 11 between 2003 and 2009, and the number of years needed to complete high school was lower than the number of years of treatment.
- 81 This exam is a nationally recognised and standardised test that is administered prior to graduation from high school and mandatory for entrance to higher education (Baez et al., 2011: 13)
- 82 Unit of observation is children (enrolled or not in school) aged 18 or below when they joined the programme and who, based on their school attainment at the pre-programme time, could have achieved grade 11 between 2003 and 2009, and the number of years needed to complete high school was lower than the number of years of treatment.
- 83 Overall scores of lcfes test. The exam is a standardised test that assesses the academic achievement of students in various subjects such as mathematics, language, biology, chemistry, physics, history, geography (Baez et al., 2011: 14)

Page 125

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 7.7 Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on cognitive development

#	Study	Programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. age of child)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/explanation
1	Fernald and Hidrobo (2011)	BDH (Ecuador)	Language development indicator (IDHC-B score) ⁸⁴ children aged 12–35 months	2.43	Change in score	NS	UCT, effect after 3 years,
		BDH (Ecuador)	Child frequently/sometimes combines two or more words, children aged 12–35 months	0.08	Probability	NS	CCT, effect after 4 years,
2	Macours et al. (2012)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Cognitive and socio-emotional outcomes index (comprised of six different indicators)	0.0827	Change in standard deviation	1%	CCT, effect 2 years after programme finished. Averaged across three different CCT treatment arms
3	Gilligan et al. (2013)	KWFP-cash transfer (Uganda)	Kaufman Assessment Battery for Children (KABC II) total raw test score, children aged 60–83 months	0.774	Change in score	NS	CCT, effect after approx. 18 months,
		KWFP-cash transfer (Uganda)	Mullen cognitive assessment tests (visual reception, fine motor skills, receptive language and expressive language), children aged 54–71 months	3.208	Change in score	10%	CCT, effect after approx. 18 months,
4	Paxson and Schady (2010)	BDH (Ecuador)	Cognitive and behavioural combined index (includes scores on the TVIP test and three tests from the Woodcock-Johnson-Münoz battery assessment), children aged 3–7	0.067	Change in standard deviation	NS	CCT, effects between 12 and 18 months after the beginning of the programme,
5	Tommasi (2015)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Index of five cognitive and behavioural outcomes, children aged 36 months or older	0.074	Change in standard deviation	10%	Effect 18 months after the programme had ended

Notes: Results presented are overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant results. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 126

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7

The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

84 IDHC-B – a child's score on the language development indicator Fundación MacArthur Inventorio del Desarrollo de Habilidades Comunicativas. The IDHC-B assessment measures the early language skills of children aged between 12–35 months using parental report. The Spanish longform version of this measure was adapted.

Page 127

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Box 8.1: Summary of evidence for health and nutrition outcomes

Overall, 41 studies were found to cover the health and nutrition indicators being reviewed, either reporting on overall effects, gender disaggregated effects or on the role of design and implementation features.

Overall effects of cash transfers on selected health and nutrition indicators:

- Evidence extracted on the *use of health facilities* mostly shows improvements. Of the 15 studies reporting overall effects on the use of health facilities, nine report statistically significant increases, ranging from an additional 0.28 of a preventative visit in Jamaica's PATH programme (Levy and Ohls, 2007) to an extra 2.3 general health visits in Tanzania's Social Action Fund (though after 31–34 months, the effect of the latter programme was an average reduction of three visits, potentially due to observed health improvements) (Evans et al., 2014).
- For dietary diversity findings also consistently show increases. Among the 12 studies reporting on impacts on dietary diversity, seven show statistically significant changes across a range of dietary diversity measures, all being improvements.
- The evidence on *anthropometric outcomes* is limited to 13 studies, the majority of these do not show a statistically significant effect: just five out of 13 studies for stunting, one of five for wasting and one out of eight for underweight. All significant overall changes were improvements.

Variation in outcomes by gender:

Evidence on how outcomes vary by gender was extracted from five studies, with one disaggregating by gender of
household head and the rest by individual. Most studies focused on the use of health services, with two covering
anthropometric measures. The evidence provides mixed results but does highlight the importance of disaggregating
by gender and age. One set of results on child anthropometric outcomes by the gender of household head shows a
negative impact on child weight-for-height only for male-headed households in an Indonesian conditional transfer
(World Bank, 2011). Another study from Pakistan finds a statistically significant reduction in wasting only among
girls (Cheema et al., 2014).

Role of design and implementation features:

- Overall, 15 studies were drawn upon, providing information on the role of design and implementation features in mediating outcomes on the specific indicators reviewed.
- Two studies investigated the effect of *transfer recipient*, finding that transfers reaching women rather than men in the household were associated with greater improvements in preventative health facility use, but the difference is not statistically significant (Akresh et al., 2012), and that transfers received by older women (aged 50 and over) in PROGRESA/Oportunidades, rather than their extended family, led to a smaller increase in health facility use (0.11 compared to 0.26), though both increases were significant (Behrman and Parker, 2013).
- Four studies looked at the effect of higher *transfer levels*. Just two found small, but statistically significant, effects on child height-for-age z-score (Manley et al., 2015) and on the probability of a child having a check-up (Davis et al., 2002). The other two studies found a very small and non-significant effect on stunting and being underweight in Mexico (Esteva, 2012), and one found no statistically significant effect of cumulatively higher transfers on dietary diversity in Kenya (Merttens et al., 2013).
- Seven studies looked at the effect of *the duration of receipt*, five finding a significant improvement in child anthropometric measures and increasing use of health care due to a longer duration in a programme (Buser et al., 2014; Fernald et al., 2008; Fernald et al., 2009; Perova and Vakis, 2012; Behrman and Parker, 2013). Results from two studies were non-significant (Manley et al., 2015; Esteva, 2012).
- Three studies tested the effect of *conditionalities*, two finding that conditions on attending health visits led to a higher number of visits compared to transfers with no conditions (Akresh et al., 2012; Attanasio et al., 2015) and one finding weaker but consistent evidence (Benedetti and Ibarrarán, 2015).
- Two papers (on the same intervention) report findings on the effect of *payment mechanisms* (the effect of mobile-payment mechanisms compared to manual cash delivery) on household dietary diversity and child wasting (Aker et al., 2011; 2014). The results suggest that mobile payments in Niger led to a statistically significant improvement in dietary diversity of around 16 percentage points, though no significant effect on wasting was found. The authors suggest that the results could be attributed to two factors: time-saving and increased intra-household bargaining power of women (who were the recipients of the mobile payments).
- One study investigated the effect of receiving cash transfers with a *complementary interventions and supply-side services*, finding that the receipt of nutritional supplements in addition to a cash transfer in Niger led to a halving of moderate acute malnutrition relative to receiving the cash transfer alone (Langendorf et al., 2014).

Page 128

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

8.1 Summary of findings

This section reports on the impacts of cash transfers on the use of health services, dietary diversity and on a range of child anthropometric measures covering stunting, wasting and underweight. A headline summary of the overall effects, how they vary by design and implementation features, and by gender, is provided in Box 8.1, with a more detailed narrative summary given in this section.

First, it is helpful to clarify briefly the anthropometric measures considered, which include: heightfor-age z-scores (HAZ) and being stunted, weight-for-height z-scores (WHZ) and being wasted, and weight-for-age z-scores (WAZ) and being underweight. Each of the z-score indicators measure a dimension of child growth as a deviation from the average measurement for a reference group of similar age. Whether a child is then considered stunted, wasted or underweight is determined by whether the measurement for the child is greater than two standard deviations from the median for the reference population. It should be noted, therefore, that while we may see changes in the z-score indicators, we may not necessarily see an impact on the probability of being stunted, wasted or underweight. Both types of measure are summarised under the headings of stunting, wasting and underweight.

To help in interpreting the results, it is also worth highlighting the differences between the three anthropometric categories. Stunting considers height by age and reflects the cumulative effect of poor nutrition and disease. As such, we may not expect changes to take place in such measures without sustained appropriate interventions and unless they reach children in time during the critical stage of early growth, which the literature suggests includes while the child is still in utero and during its first three years of life (Martorell, 1999). Wasting, by contrast, reflects acute malnutrition or a more recent inadequate diet, manifesting itself as thinness for height. Lastly, the two measures of being 'underweight' represent something of an amalgamation of the two previous categories as it may be that a child is underweight for their age because they are short for their age or because they are thin for their height.

In brief, the findings show how impacts across all three indicator areas – health services, dietary diversity and anthropometric measures – were largely consistent in their direction of effect. They also highlight how, while the cash transfers reviewed have played an important role in improving use of health services and dietary diversity, changes in design or implementation features, including complementary actions, may be required to achieve greater and more consistent impacts on child anthropometric measures. This is reflected in the greater proportion of significant results found relating to health service use and dietary diversity and a much lower proportion for anthropometric measures.

Results that disaggregated by gender or by gender of household head were also extracted, with most focusing on the use of health services. The results include significant impacts on routine preventative health clinic visits for girls but not for boys (Akresh et al., 2012), a larger percentage point increase in prenatal visits for female-headed versus male-headed households in Indonesia (World Bank, 2011) and significant reductions in health visits for girls and women that are not seen for boys or men (after an initial increase) (Evans et al., 2014). While the first two studies do not test whether these differences are statistically significant, those in Evans et al. (2014) are found not to be.

One set of results on child anthropometric outcomes disaggregates by the gender of household head and provides some indicative findings of the importance of the gender of household head for such outcomes, with a negative impact on child WHZ arising in male-headed households (World Bank, 2011). The one study providing individual-level sex-disaggregated results for child growth also finds a significant reduction in wasting for girls and not boys in Pakistan's BISP, raising questions over possible gender preferences among the (female) recipients.

A range of important findings also emerge from the studies reporting on the effect of design and implementation features. Firstly, there is quite limited rigorous evidence on the effect of certain design and implementation features compared to others in terms of their impact on the health

Page 129

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

indicators being reviewed. For example, while nine studies were found on the role of transfer sizes or duration of transfers, no studies reported on the effect of grievance mechanisms and programme governance (in health or other outcome areas).

Among the four studies providing insights on the role of transfer sizes, there is some very limited evidence of the possible impacts that larger transfers can have on child anthropometric measures and health service use. However, there is fairly clear evidence for the importance of the duration of transfers for both the use of health services as well as on child anthropometric measures. Among the results is the crucially important finding that stopping transfers, even among recipients who have received them for several years, can still have highly detrimental effects on child growth (Buser et al., 2014), underlining the vital role played by transfers in maintaining regular food consumption among poor households, especially during critical early stages of child growth.

Among the three studies reporting on the impact of conditionalities, two find strong evidence that linking cash transfer receipt to the use of health services can have a significant impact in improving service use, with the third finding consistent, but weaker, evidence. The stronger evidence comes from Colombia's Familias en Acción and an experimental study in Burkina Faso. In Colombia, preventative health visits among children who were not required to fulfil a preventative health visit schedule were found to be around 50% lower than those for whom the condition was binding (Attanasio et al., 2015) and, importantly, lower health visits were associated with a worsening of child health status. Similarly, the experiment in Burkina Faso only found a significant increase in the number of preventative health clinic visits for children under 60 months old among those households in which transfers were conditional upon quarterly visits to a local health clinic (Akresh et al., 2012). Conditions appear to have been monitored in both cases, though it is not clear to what degree they were enforced. The third study, of the Bono 10,000 in Honduras, found some improvements in one health service indicator (post-natal check-ups) among households where transfers were labelled as health transfers and conditioned on regular attendance at health centres, compared to those for whom transfers were not conditional nor labelled as health transfers (Benedetti and Ibarrarán., 2015). However, the difference was not statistically significant.

There is limited evidence showing how the person to whom transfers are given affects the health indicators being reviewed. For example, while transfers targeted to women in a CCT in Burkina Faso led to a higher number of health visits than where transfers were given to men, the difference was not statistically significant (Akresh et al., 2012). The age of the recipient may have played some role in determining the size of effect in health service use in PROGRESA/Oportunidades, with transfers being received in households composed only of elderly have lower, but still positive, health care use increases, compared to households where transfers were under the control of the extended family (Behrman and Parker, 2013). However, impacts for both groups were significant and it is not clear that the difference between them is statistically significant.

The impacts of payment mechanisms and complementary interventions on the selected health indicators was each considered by a single study. These showed mobile payment mechanisms to have a significant effect on dietary diversity compared to receiving transfers manually (though not on anthropometric outcomes) (Aker et al., 2011; 2014), and for transfers provided with nutritional supplements to half the level of malnutrition compared to the transfer alone, even though those receiving just the transfers received an additional US\$7 per month (Langendorf et al., 2014). The finding on complementary nutritional supplements is likely to partly reflect the additional benefit of the supplements in contexts where local availability of a diverse diet is limited. However, the finding is also consistent with other studies from Mexico (included in this review but not reporting on the chosen indicators here) which identify the important role played by uptake of nutritional supplements in PROGRESA (Ramírez-Silva et al., 2013; Behrman and Hoddinott, 2005).

Page 130

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

8.2 Summary of evidence base

Table 8.1 provides an overview of which countries and programmes the studies report on. As can be seen, by far the largest number of studies (27 out of 41) cover cash transfer programmes in Latin America, with a disproportionate number of those (12) focusing on Mexico's PROGRESA/ Oportunidades programme. Meanwhile, just 11 studies cover sub-Saharan Africa, and two cover South Asia and the Asia and Pacific region.⁸⁵ In total, there were 41 studies from which evidence was extracted for the health and nutrition indicators covered in this section, covering 19 countries and 25 cash transfer programmes. All 12 programmes in Latin America and the Caribbean were CCT programmes (with Bono 10,000 also having unconditional elements for some households) as were 16 out of the 25 programmes overall. The main exceptions to this were cash transfer programmes in sub-Saharan Africa, where six of the ten interventions were UCTs, two were CCTs, and two were studies using both CCTs and UCTs as part of a research study.

It is important to bear in mind that, while a number of programmes share similar objectives and designs, there are also important differences, even within conditional or unconditional programmes. So, for example, while Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades was principally focused on addressing inter-generational poverty among poor households through providing transfers conditional on use of health and education services, the same country's PROCAMPO was a programme targeted to farmers to offset the negative impacts of the North American Free Trade Agreement, with transfers conditional upon continued agricultural production. Meanwhile, among the unconditional programmes in sub-Saharan Africa, while some were clearly targeted towards benefitting children (e.g. the Child Grant Programmes in Zambia and Lesotho and WFP's Karamoja pilot in Uganda), others targeted transfers more generally to poor households. These differences, along with a wide range of other design and implementation features discussed below, could reasonably be expected to result in variations in observed outcomes. While these are discussed at various points in the discussion below, they should be borne in mind more generally when interpreting the results.

While many studies were of programmes that had been operating at a large scale over a number of years, a further distinguishing feature of some studies is that they were of experimental trials or pilots that were limited in scale. The findings from the latter studies should be interpreted with this in mind.

A range of different study designs and estimation methods were used in order to estimate the effect of cash transfers or their design and implementation features on the selected health indicators. Table 8.2 provides a summary of these. As can be seen, the large majority were based on experimental studies, with the remainder using observational data and employing some form of quasi-experimental method including DID, RDD, IV or OLS regression.

Page 131

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

85 Note: The totals in the final column of Table 8.1 do not add up to the total number of studies as two studies report results for more than one programme.

Table 8.1: Summary of countries and programmes reported on for the health and nutrition indicators (all studies)

Country	Programme	Type of cash transfer	# studies	Details if pilot or experimental study*
Latin America a	and Caribbean = 27 studies			
Colombia	Familias en Acción	CCT	2	
Ecuador	Bono de Desarrollo Humano (BDH)	CCT	3	
Ecuador	WFP Colombian refugee RCT (WFP cash transfer)	CCT	2	Two provinces near Colombian border
El Salvador	Comunidades Solidarias Rurales (CSR)	CCT	1	
Honduras	Programa de Asignación Familiar (PRAF)	CCT	1	
Honduras	Bono 10,000	CCT/UCT	1	
Jamaica	Programme of Advancement Through Health and Education (PATH)	CCT	1	
Mexico	PROGRESA/Oportunidades	CCT	12	
Mexico	PROCAMPO	CCT	1	
Nicaragua	Red de Protección Social (RPS)	CCT	4	Pilot in 21 communities
Nicaragua	Atención a Crisis	CCT	1	One year pilot in six municipalities
Peru	Juntos	CCT	1	
Sub-Saharan A	frica = 11 studies			
Burkina Faso	Nahouri Cash Transfers Pilot Project (NCTPP)	CCT/UCT	1	Two-year experimental pilot in 75 villages
Kenya	Hunger Safety Net Programme (HSNP)	UCT	1	
Lesotho	Child Grant Programme (LCGP)	UCT	1	
Malawi	Social Cash Transfer Programme (SCTP)	UCT	1	Pilot phase (one district)
Niger	Prospective study with Forum Santé Niger and Médecins Sans Frontières	CCT/UCT	1	Prospective study in 48 villages
Niger	Concern Worldwide drought-response unconditional transfer	UCT	2	Short-term drought-response in 96 villages
Tanzania	Tanzania Social Action Fund (TSAF)	CCT	1	
Uganda	WFP Karamoja Cash Transfer (KWFP-cash transfer)	CCT	1	Pilot in three districts
Zambia	Monze Cash Transfer Pilot (CTP)	UCT	1	Pilot in one district
Zambia	Child Grant Programme (ZCGP)	UCT	1	
South Asia = 2	studies			
Bangladesh	Shombhob	CCT	1	10 unions from two rural Upazilas and one urban slum ⁸⁶
Pakistan	BISP	UCT	1	
East Asia Pacifi	ic = 1 study			
Indonesia	Program Keluarga Harapan (PKH)	CCT	1	

Note: As some studies report on more than one programme, the totals here do not correspond to the total number of independent studies reported in the text. *This information, for papers that report results from a pilot/experimental implementation, helps distinguish such papers from those that cover cash transfer policies/ programmes that are operational at a larger scale and/or are long-term/permanent. It is intended as a 'flag' for findings which could potentially have more limited external validity.

Page 132

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

86 Upazilas are the lowest administrative unit in a District and Unions are the lowest administrative unit in an Upazila. There are 64 districts in Bangladesh.

Table 8.2: Summary of studies by methods used and type of outcome reported on

Study	Study design and methods used for reported results	Reports total effect	Reports effect of design and implementation features?	Reports sex- disaggregated outcomes
AIR (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Aker et al. (2011)	RCT (Multivariate regression)		Yes	
Aker et al. (2014)	RCT (Multivariate regression)		Yes	
Akresh et al. (2012)	RCT (SD)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Attanasio et al. (2005)	QE, DID	Yes		
Attanasio et al. (2015)	QE, pooled OLS		Yes	
Benedetti and Ibarrarán (2015)	QE, multivariate regression using a single follow-up survey to an RCT		Yes	
Barber and Gertler (2008)	QE, IV using a single follow-up survey to an RCT	Yes		
Barber and Gertler (2010)	QE, Random Effects regression using a single follow-up survey to an RCT	Yes		
Behrman and Parker (2013)	QE, SD from follow-up survey to an RCT		Yes	Yes
Buser et al. (2014)	QE, RDD using a single cross-section of a random sample	Yes	Yes	
Cheema et al. (2014)	QE, RDD using cross-section and panel data	Yes		Yes
Davis et al. (2002)	QE, IV Probit using single cross-section follow-up from an RCT	Yes	Yes	
de Brauw and Peterman (2011)	QE DID estimates using a RDD approach	Yes		
Esteva (2012)	RCT (SD)		Yes	
Evans et al. (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Fernald and Hidrobo (2011)	RCT (OLS)	Yes		
Fernald et al. (2008)	QE, OLS and Logit using single follow-up survey to an RCT		Yes	
Fernald et al. (2009)	QE, multivariate regression using a single cross-section follow-up survey to an RCT		Yes	
Ferré and Sharif (2014)	QE, DID	Yes		
Gertler (2004)	QE, Multivariate logistic regression from a single cross-section follow-up survey to an RCT	Yes		
Gilligan et al. (2013)	RCT (ANCOVA)	Yes		
Gitter and Caldes (2010)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Hidrobo et al. (2012a) (WFP/IFPRI evaluation)	RCT (ANCOVA)	Yes		
Hidrobo et al. (2012b)	RCT (ANCOVA)	Yes		
Hoddinott and Wiesmann (2008)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Langendorf et al. (2014)	RCT		Yes	
Leroy et al. (2008)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Levy and Ohls (2007)	QE, DID with PSM	Yes		Yes
Macours et al. (2012)	RCT (seemingly unrelated regression)	Yes		
Maluccio (2005)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Manley et al. (2015)	QE, IV using single cross-section follow-up survey from an RCT		Yes	
Merttens et al. (2013)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	
Miller et al. (2011)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Paxson and Schady (2010)	RCT (seemingly unrelated regression)	Yes		
Pellerano et al. (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Perova and Vakis (2012)	QE, IV estimation using repeated cross-sectional surveys	Yes	Yes	
Ruiz-Arranz et al. (2002)	QE, OLS and IV using a single follow-up survey to an RCT	Yes		
Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	QE (DID with PSM)	Yes		
World Bank (2011)	QE, IV using single cross-section follow-up from panel survey	Yes		

RDD = *Regression Discontinuity Design*, *RCT* = *randomised controlled trial*, *DID* = *difference-in-difference*, *SD* = *single difference*, *PSM* = *propensity score matching*, *IV* = *instrumental variables*, *ANCOVA* = *analysis of covariance*.

Page 133

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

8.3 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Tables 8.3 to 8.7 below summarise the overall effects of cash transfers on the indicators under consideration. Any sex-disaggregated results found are discussed in section 8.4 and, where any effects associated with design or implementation features were found, these are discussed in section 8.5.

Utilisation of health care services

Of the 15 studies that looked at the overall effect on health service use, nine found a statistically significant increase (full results are reported in bold in Table 8.3) and one found a significant reduction (though, as discussed below, this was after an initial increase and is thought to arise from improvements in health). As this point highlights, careful attention must be paid to interpreting impacts on health service use, as cash transfers may lead to an increase in use of preventative services (which would generally be deemed a positive outcome), whereas, if by improving health status the need for general health services is reduced then a decrease could also be considered a positive outcome.

It is difficult to compare the size of the significant positive effects due to the different outcomes measured, though percentage point changes range from a two percentage point increase in 'compliance with a preventative nutritional health programme' (a nationwide programme of preventative health care visits for children) over 48 months after transfers began in Colombia's Familias en Acción,⁸⁷ while Perova and Vakis (2012) find that children from beneficiary households in Peru's Juntos were 69 percentage points more likely to have received health checks in the three months prior to interview. In terms of number of visits, both the highest and lowest effects are found within the same programme, with Evans et al. (2014) finding Tanzania's TSAF to lead to an increase of 1.9 visits to health facilities after 18–21 months, but then a statistically significant decline of three visits after 31–34 months. The explanation by Evans et al. (2014) is that, at nine visits, the average number of visits was already very high at baseline – more than the required number as part of the conditionalities – and that the decline could have resulted from improved health (for which evidence was found), or potentially from beneficiaries using the conditions as a guide to lower their number of visits, though this does not fit with the initial increase in service use found during the midline survey.

Significant impacts from other programmes range from an average increase of nearly a third of a preventative visit in Jamaica's PATH programme (an impact of around 38% of the baseline value) (Levy and Ohls, 2007), to over a half of an extra prenatal visit in Indonesia's PKH, even though the average number of antenatal visits in Indonesia at baseline was already over six (World Bank, 2011).

While Akresh et al. (2012) found that cash transfers in a trial in Burkina Faso led to a significant increase in health service use, their results also showed that *unconditional* transfers were not associated with the same positive effect. The difference in effects is discussed further in section 7.5.

The estimated impacts in the remaining studies were not statistically significant. This included Zambia's unconditional CTP (Seidenfeld and Handa, 2011; AIR, 2014), Lesotho's CGP (Pellerano et al., 2014), El Salvador's CSR (de Brauw and Peterman, 2011), Ecuador's BDH (Paxson and Schady, 2010) and one study of Mexico's Oportunidades (Barber and Gertler, 2010).

In explaining these non-significant results on health care attendance, it is worth noting that both the programmes in sub-Saharan Africa were UCTs, unlike many of the other programmes, which were conditional upon certain health behaviours. Both programmes also suffered from implementation problems, such as delays in payment of funds, which the authors believe are likely to have impeded positive impacts. AIR (2014) also highlight that a lack of decent and nearby health clinics is likely to have held back improvements in health and nutrition outcomes more generally in Zambia's CGP. Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

In explaining the absence of a positive impact in Ecuador's BDH, Paxson and Schady (2010) note that in practice the transfers were not actually conditional on attending health clinics, though 28% of women in their sample *believed* that it was conditional on certain behaviours. Among these, 68% thought it was conditional upon taking children to health clinics. Also, in the case of El Salvador's CSR, de Brauw and Peterman (2011) suggest that the lack of impact on increasing post-natal care could have been due to failings in communicating messages to women about the importance of post-natal care.

In the case of Oportunidades, Barber and Gertler (2010) note that the mean number of visits for prenatal care from their baseline was already very high (94% among non-beneficiaries and 74.2% for obtaining five or more consultations), meaning that there was limited scope for further increases. However, they did find positive effects on improving the quality of care received.

Dietary diversity

12 studies were found to report on the overall cash transfer effect on dietary diversity measures, with seven finding at least one statistically significant improvement in dietary diversity, and none finding a significant negative effect. Hoddinott and Wiesmann (2008) reported on three different programmes, and found only Nicaragua's RPS to have a significant effect. The significant effects in the study by Ruiz-Arranz et al. (2002), which looked at both PROGRESA and PROCAMPO, were all for PROGRESA with one exception (number of foods consumed), though impacts were small in magnitude for both programmes.

A range of indicators were used to measure dietary diversity (see Table 8.4). With some measures more than others (e.g. those that measure the number of different foods eaten), caution may be needed in interpreting the health benefits of a more varied diet if part of the increase involves a higher level of consumption of processed foods or sugary foods. Among the studies reporting changes in the number of food items, it seems that changes were driven by increases in consumption of fruit and vegetables and animal products, but also 'other foods' in the case of Nicaragua's RPS, which includes items such as sugar, sweets, biscuits, fizzy drinks and fats (Gitter and Caldes, 2010; Hoddinott and Wiesmann, 2008). Local context is likely to be important, depending on food availability and consumption practices. For example, two studies from Mexico (a country renowned for high obesity prevalence resulting from high consumption of processed foods) find cash transfers to be associated with higher BMI and obesity. Fernald et al. (2008) (not reported here but included in the annotated bibliography), find higher cumulative cash transfers in Oportunidades to be linked to higher BMI and a higher likelihood of being overweight or obese and likelihood of hypertension, while Leroy et al. (2013) found that PAL increased women's weight, with the greatest impacts among those with already high BMI scores.

Returning to the indicators reviewed, among the significant effects on dietary diversity, impacts ranged from an average increase of just 0.01 new distinct food items in the case of Mexico's PROGRESA (Ruiz-Arranz et al., 2002) to an increase of nearly four additional food items in Nicaragua's RPS (Hoddinott and Wiesmann, 2008; Gitter and Caldes, 2010). Gitter and Caldes (2010) note that the impact in RPS represented a substantial gain from an initial level of 11.5 items.

The studies that found no significant effect included an evaluation of Lesotho's CGP (Pellerano et al., 2014), Zambia's SCT (Seidenfeld and Handa, 2011), Kenya's HSNP (Merttens et al., 2013), Bangladesh's Shombhob pilot (Ferré and Sharif, 2014) and Pakistan's BISP (Cheema et al., 2014). Both the Zambia and Lesotho programmes were already noted above to have suffered from implementation problems, including delays in payments, which may have undermined impacts on dietary diversity, though local contextual features could also have held back increased diversity in food consumption. The authors of the Lesotho evaluation noted that, based on qualitative findings, beneficiary households 'were able to buy larger quantities of more varied food and food of better quality, but the effect was generally concentrated around payment dates' (Pellerano et al., 2014).

Merttens et al. (2013) suggest that while there were no impacts on dietary diversity in Kenya's HSNP after two years, there was an improvement after one (though they do not report these results), and that poorer HSNP households were increasing the diversity of their diets. They

Page 135

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

suggest that the lack of significant results in the two-year follow-up may be explained by the comparison households 'reinvigorating their diets after a particularly harsh year' and/or by 'increased availability of diverse food stuffs in local markets', or by 'control households consuming a smaller volume of food by equally diverse diets as HSNP households'. They also highlight that, in spite of various interventions in northern Kenya, food insecurity is still pervasive.

The absence of an effect in Bangladesh's Shombhob pilot should be considered against the fact that the diversity measure was defined in terms of consuming more than four out of the recommended seven food groups, and that food consumption overall did increase significantly among beneficiary households, as did protein consumption (Ferré and Sharif, 2014). In the case of Pakistan's BISP, the baseline Food Consumption Score was already very high, arguably leaving less scope for further improvements (Cheema et al., 2014). The authors also note, however, that payments in the 12 months prior to the survey were irregular, with beneficiaries receiving on average just over half of the expected four transfers and accompanying qualitative evidence from household interviews suggesting that the irregularity may have impeded improvements to food consumption.

Anthropometric measures

Before discussing the evidence on anthropometric measures, it is important to note two issues. First, as noted earlier, it may take some time in order for any changes in anthropometric measures to be observed, particularly for stunting and being underweight. As such, impact evaluations that cover just a short time period may not be long enough to capture impacts. This is noted by Ferré and Sharif (2014) below, for example, as a possible reason why effects on stunting and being underweight were not found in Bangladesh's Shombhob.

Secondly, recent research has highlighted the particular importance of the first 1000 days of life as the period when stunting can most effectively be prevented (UNICEF, 2013). Given this, it is possible that cash transfers have greater potential to improve anthropometric measures in younger children. For this reason, where evidence is reported for children of all ages, it may underestimate the effect of cash transfers on younger children. This appears to be reflected in some studies, e.g. Ferré and Sharif (2014) and Attanasio et al. (2015). As such, where possible, the reported results in Tables 8.5 to 8.7 tend to focus on younger children. In the tables, age groups are given in brackets, allowing for some greater nuance in interpretation of what the results may be telling us.

Stunting

Of all the anthropometric measures considered, stunting is the one for which there is the strongest evidence of any positive and statistically significant effect. As shown in Table 8.5, of the 13 studies reporting overall effects on a stunting indicator, five studies find a statistically significant effect, all showing increases in the HAZ, ranging from 0.07 to 0.41 (Attanasio et al., 2005; Leroy et al., 2008; Macours et al., 2012; Maluccio 2005) or a statistically significant reduction in the probability of being stunted (Maluccio and Flores, 2005).

While Leroy et al. (2008) did not find a statistically significant impact for Mexico's PAL improving the HAZ of urban children up to the age of two, when looking at children up to the age of six months they did find a significant impact of a 0.41 increase in the z-score. The authors note that children in the younger age group had the longest exposure to the programme benefits during their critical period of growth.

In explaining their results, Attanasio et al. (2005) note that compliance with the growth and development programme (which included nutritional monitoring and advice to mothers about child nutrition) in Colombia's Familias en Acción could have been an important factor, and that the transfer had also increased the consumption of protein and vegetables.

Among the remaining results (reported in Table 8.5), all but three find cash transfers associated with improvements in stunting indicators (either a reduction in the probability of being stunted or an increase in the HAZ), though none of these results is statistically significant.

Page 136

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

In explaining the lack of a finding on stunting in Ecuador's BDH, Fernald and Hidrobo (2011) note that the transfers were the lowest cash transfer amount across the region (around 6%–10% of baseline incomes). Paxson and Schady (2010) also found no overall effect on HAZ in Ecuador's BDH and, without offering a firm explanation, also note the 'relatively small cash transfers' in the programme.

Interestingly, while the study by Maluccio and Flores (2005) finds a significant reduction in the probability of suffering from wasting (5.5%) in Nicaragua's RPS, the measured effect on HAZ, although there is an improvement of 0.13, is not statistically significant. They suggest that this is likely to be the result of a small sample, but that among the extremely poor, the estimated increase is 0.22 and significant at the 10% significance level.

Wasting

Of the five studies reporting cash transfer effects on overall wasting, one found a statistically significant improvement; a reduction in the probability of wasting by 13 percentage points among children who were 12–24 months old when enrolled in Bangladesh's Shombhob pilot (Ferré and Sharif, 2014) (see Table 8.6). The 13 percentage point drop in wasting in Bangladesh represented a decrease of about 40% of wasted children in that age group. In explaining the results, the authors note that mothers' knowledge of infant feeding also saw a statistically significant increase, and there was some improvement in dietary diversity among infants over six months old (though not statistically significant).

The remaining results include a mixture of two negative effects on the WHZ, one positive, and one marginal reduction in the probability of being wasted, though none are statistically significant (AIR, 2014, Evans et al., 2014, Maluccio and Flores, 2005, and World Bank, 2011).

Maluccio and Flores (2005) note that the finding of no effect in Nicaragua's RPS was not surprising, as wasting was not much of a concern in the programme areas to begin with (just 0.2% of children under the age of five were wasted in the intervention and control areas in 2002), while AIR (2014) simply note more broadly that a lack of decent and nearby health clinics in the programme areas in Zambia was likely to have held back improvements in health more generally.

Underweight

Evidence of any statistically significant improvements in reducing the incidence of children being underweight is more limited than either of the other anthropometric measures. Among the eight studies reporting overall cash transfer effects on this indicator, just one reports a statistically significant effect: a decrease of 6.2 percentage points in the probability of a child under five being underweight resulting from Nicaragua's RPS (Maluccio and Flores, 2005) (see Table 8.7). The remaining results included a combination of deteriorations and improvements in measures of being underweight, though none was statistically significant.

8.4 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition indicators for women and girls

Among the indicators being investigated, the studies mainly reported sex-disaggregated outcomes for health care use, with one reporting the effects of the gender of household head on child anthropometric measures and one reporting sex-disaggregated effects on anthropometric outcomes. The lack of sex-disaggregated results for anthropometric measures at the individual level may be due to the small sub-sample sizes that would probably have resulted. No studies were found reporting on dietary diversity disaggregated by gender, presumably as the dietary diversity measures are generally measured at the household rather than individual level.

Among the four studies reporting sex-disaggregated results for overall impacts on health care use, four report disaggregated results at the individual level and one on male versus female-headed

Page 137

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

households (see Table 8.8). While no obvious trends emerge, the findings include: significant impacts on routine preventative health clinic visits for girls where they are not seen for boys in a pilot CCT in Burkina Faso (Akresh et al., 2012), a larger percentage point increase in prenatal visits for female-headed versus male-headed households in Indonesia's PKH (World Bank, 2011), and significant reductions in health visits for girls and women that are not seen for boys or men (after an initial increase) in Tanzania's TSAF (Evans et al., 2014). While the first two studies do not test whether these differences are statistically significant, those in Evans et al. (2014) are found not to be. Levy and Ohls (2007) also find no differential effects on girls versus boys in terms of visits to health facilities in Jamaica's PATH.

In terms of the evidence on anthropometric measures, the study on Indonesia's PKH also reported on the effect of the gender of household head, with results being generally insignificant, except for male-headed beneficiary households seeing a statistically significant reduction in the WHZ of children up to 36 months (World Bank, 2011). The other study, on Pakistan's BISP, found that reductions in wasting were significant for girls and not boys, but that impacts on stunting were not significant for either gender (Cheema et al., 2014).

Evans et al. (2014) found statistically significant reductions in the number of health visits made for girls aged up to 24 months and women aged 60 and over in the TSAF (Tanzania) in the second follow-up (after 31–34 months). The reported effects were -3.8 visits for girls and -0.58 visits for elderly women. Reductions among boys and men, however, were not significant, and the difference between the effect on boys and girls and elderly men and women were not statistically significant and no further explanation is given for these (insignificant) gender differences. As noted, these reductions must be understood in the context an initial increase in the midline survey, very high existing average health care usage, and statistically significant improvements in the health status of beneficiary households.

Akresh et al. (2012) report on gender differences in preventative health clinic utilisation from an experimental study in Burkina Faso, which reported on effects of a conditional and unconditional transfer. Only the effects of the cash transfer were significant and, when disaggregated by gender for children under 60 months, only the impacts for girls were significant, with an increase of 0.48 visits, though the (insignificant) increase for boys was 0.39 and it is not clear whether the difference between girls and boys is statistically significant.

Levy and Ohls (2007) report on gender differences in the effect of the PATH cash transfer programme in Jamaica on visits to health facilities in the past six months among children aged six and under. They find that, while there was an overall positive effect of increasing the number of visits by 0.28, when disaggregated by gender, the increase was not significant for boys or girls, though it was larger for girls than boys (0.45 compared to 0.16). The authors do not explain the gender differences, but attribute the lack of significance on the sub-group analysis to the smaller sample sizes.

One study is included that reports differences in health service use by gender of household head. The study, by the World Bank (2011) on Indonesia's PKH, found that CCTs given to femaleheaded households led to relatively higher increases in the number of prenatal visits and the probability of attending at least two post-natal visits. For example, while female heads saw an increase of 2.3 prenatal visits, male-headed households saw an increase of just half a visit. Effects on anthropometric measures were generally not significant when disaggregated by household head, except that male-headed households saw a 0.26 decline in the WHZ of children up to 36 months (the increase found among female-headed households was insignificant). This does not seem to be discussed by the authors, though the result does raise some questions over the possible role of gender and intra-household dynamics in influencing child outcomes within the context of cash transfers.

The one study reporting sex-disaggregated effects at an individual level (rather than sex of the household head) on wasting and stunting find that Pakistan's BISP had a significant impact in reducing the proportion of girls aged up to 59 months that were wasted, but no significant effect on boys (Cheema et al., 2014). No significant effects were found for either on stunting. The authors suggest that the differential effect in reducing wasting among girls could be partly related

Page 138

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

to a preference for girls' nutrition among the female BISP beneficiaries, though it also appears that there were some gender differences in the comparison groups, with wasting increasing more for girls than boys. It is suggested that the absence of an impact on stunting may be related to difficulties in catching up if children were already malnourished at an early age, and they also point to the fact that child nutrition outcomes may not always appear to respond to cash transfers alone, given that they depend upon a wide range of other conditions.

8.5 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features

Table 8.9 below summarises the effect of design and implementation features on the indicators under consideration. A narrative summary of the results is provided below, incorporating overall effects as well as some effects that provide insights into gender differentiated results.

Main recipient

Two studies were found explicitly testing the difference in outcomes based on official recipients, with the results indicating that CCTs given to women in Burkina Faso were marginally more effective in increasing the number of health visits compared to transfers given to men and, among women, transfers given direct to older women in Mexico led to smaller increases in the probability of attending a health clinic.

Akresh et al. (2012) found that while targeting CCTs at mothers was associated with a statistically significant increase, of around 0.45, in the number of visits to health facilities over the preceding year, CCTs targeted at fathers were associated with an insignificant increase of 0.42. However, the difference between mothers and fathers is not statistically significant.

Behrman and Parker (2013) investigate the effect of transfers received by either older women (aged 50 plus) directly, or by a younger woman in the house, on the probability of attending a clinic in the preceding 12 months after 5.5 years in PROGRESA/Oportunidades. They find that transfers being received by the older women lead to an increase just under half of that for those living with extended family (0.11 compared to 0.26). However, impacts for both groups were significant and it is not clear whether the difference between them is statistically significant, or whether it may be other factors associated with the type of household that were driving any effects.

Transfer size

Four studies were identified which tell us something of the effect of transfer size on health and nutrition outcomes. Overall, they provide some limited evidence that higher transfer levels in cash transfer programmes in Mexico appear to be more effective in improving child anthropometric outcomes, but not for PROCAMPO, the design of which was focused more around agricultural production than improvements in child capital. No statistically significant effect was found to result from cumulatively higher transfers on dietary diversity.

Manley et al. (2015) find that higher transfer levels in Mexico's PROGRESA lead to a small, but statistically significant, increase of 0.07 in the HAZ of children. They argue that their approach, which takes account of the potential endogeneity of transfers, suggests that improvements in child development 'are more linked to the transfers themselves than to other portions of the programme, which involve medical check-ups as well as educational sessions for mothers'. However, they do not test these components directly.

Esteva (2012) also found higher transfer levels in Mexico to be associated with improvements in stunting – a small reduction in the probability of being stunted – and a small positive effect of 0.15 on the HAZ, though neither effect was statistically significant. It also found an increase of 0.15 on the WAZ, but again this was not significant.

Davis et al. (2002) investigate the marginal effects of an additional Mexican peso of transfers through PROGRESA and PROCAMPO (including non-recipients) on children up to the age of

Page 139

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

five having a health check-up. They find that, while an additional peso has a small, but significant, positive effect on the probability of a check-up in PROGRESA, the effect is not significant for PROCAMPO. They note, however, that the ratio of children having health check-ups was already very high (at around 90%) and that health care visits under PROGRESA (unlike PROCAMPO) were effectively subsidised.

Merttens et al. (2013) find no statistically significant effect of cumulatively higher transfers on dietary diversity in Kenya's HSNP (as well as no statistically significant overall effect on the same outcome), despite the study finding a significant effect of cumulatively higher transfers on mean food consumption expenditure.

Duration of exposure

Seven studies test the impact of duration of exposure on the health indicators covered. Overall, the evidence shows greater exposure to cash transfers (or higher cumulative payments) has tended to lead to marginally greater improvements in child anthropometric indicators within the context of transfers in Mexico and Ecuador, and of the elderly and children attending clinics in Mexico and Peru.

Buser et al. (2014) estimate the effect on anthropometric indicators of continuing to receive transfers in Ecuador's BDH compared to losing the transfers. Their findings provide evidence of the potentially highly detrimental effects of ending transfers to recipients while they continue to have young children or are pregnant. The authors found that two years after families lost the transfer (which they had received for seven years), their young children weighed less, were shorter and more likely to be stunted than young children of families that continued to receive the transfer. The authors investigate potential mechanisms for these effects and find that one of the key explanations is likely to result from the impact that a loss in regular income had on the ability of poor households to maintain their food expenditures (which declined) as well as the fact that, for many children, their family lost the cash transfer while they were still in utero, which as suggested earlier is a time when children are especially vulnerable to malnutrition.

Fernald et al. (2008) estimate the effect on stunting of cumulative transfers over time in Oportunidades. More specifically, it measures the effect of receiving cumulatively larger transfers over the duration of being a beneficiary. They find that the doubling of cash transfers from the median of 7,500 to 15,000 pesos (US\$806 to US\$1,612), led to an increase in the HAZ of 0.2 and reduced the probability of stunting by ten percentage points. They take their results to indicate that the cash component of Oportunidades was associated with better outcomes and that one of the sources of variation in outcomes could be due to the amount of cash received by beneficiary households. They postulate that the effect could be due to the higher transfers being received during the critical period of child growth (gestation and first 24 months of life). They suggest two mechanisms through which the cash component could have led to the improvements. First, the cash could have been used to purchase more or higher quality food or medicines when necessary. Secondly, higher amounts of cash could have been used to invest in household goods that might reduce a child's exposure to infection.

In a different study, Fernald et al. (2009) find a small but statistically significant effect on HAZ scores among children who benefited for longer from Mexico's PROGRESA (the effect of a cumulative increase of cash transfers of US\$926). The authors note that the greatest change was identified in children of women with no formal education, for whom the fortified food distributed by the programme may have filled gaps in dietary intake. They also speculate that the health and nutrition education and growth monitoring may have resulted in improved care and feeding practices in the home and early identification of infectious disease.

Being a beneficiary in Peru's Juntos programme for a longer period of time was found to lead to statistically significant increases in the likelihood of children under five receiving a health check in the previous three months (Perova and Vakis, 2012). Being in the programme for at least one year was found to increase the probability of receiving health checks in the preceding three months by eight percentage points compared to being in the programme for less time. Although being in the

Page 140

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

programme for over 36 months was associated with a 13 percentage points increase, the difference in impacts between being in the programme for at least 12 months was not statistically significant. The authors take the findings to suggest that effects on health service use are lagged, though not necessarily cumulative.

Manley et al. (2015) and Esteva (2012) both compared the effect on stunting of being in the early versus late treatment groups in Mexico's PROGRESA (approximately an additional 18 months). For Esteva (2012), this involved estimating the effect of receiving, on average, 484, 530 and 1,959 Mexican pesos more through PROGRESA during pregnancy, first year and cumulatively than 'late entry' households. While Manley et al. (2015) found a small positive impact on HAZ, Esteva (2012) found a small increase in the likelihood of being stunted, though neither of these results were statistically significant.

Behrman and Parker (2013) look at the effect of being in PROGRESA/Oportunidades for different lengths of time on the probability of people over 50 attending a clinic in the past year. The overall findings were that the longer duration as a beneficiary, the larger the effect size, with a few very minor gender differences. The estimated effects start from between 0.03 (not significant) for men or 0.05 (significant) for women for an additional 1.5 years, rising to an increase in the probability of 0.20 for men and 0.23 for women with 5.5 years more exposure. The latter represented a proportional increase from baseline of 63% for women and 75% for men. In general, the authors believed that it was the presence of conditionalities that led to increased health clinic attendance and that the marginally higher effects among women may have been due to the programme being orientated towards them (female heads are required to attend health talks) and elderly women may have accompanied their daughters or grandchildren to these talks.

In the same study, there were also some age differences between men and women, with the effect of an additional 5.5 years leading to increased probabilities being much higher among older women aged 70 plus than men in the same age category (0.26 versus 0.08 and not significant), and also among those aged 50–59 (women with an increase of 0.29 and men with an increase of 0.21). However, the effect on those aged 60–69 appears to have been higher for men than women (0.24 versus 0.09 for women). However, the sample sizes for these age disaggregate effects are not reported and it is not clear how much should be read into these findings.

Conditionalities

Of the three studies investigating impacts of behavioural requirements on the selected health indicators, two find evidence that the presence of a behavioural requirement to attend child health clinics had a sizeable and significant effect on the number of child health visits being made. The third, found mixed results depending on the indicator, though that study overall found conditions and labelling combined to be strongly associated with higher impacts on health service use in general.

Attanasio et al. (2015) investigate the effect on the number of preventative health care visits for children under 36 months old of there being a condition of attending preventative care visits in Colombia's Familias en Acción. They estimate that as a result of being born after the conditionalities no longer applied to new children, the number of care visits dropped among those children by -0.57, a 50% drop in the baseline number of preventative care visits. It is not clear what aspect of the conditionalities led to this effect. For example, it could have resulted from the presence of the condition, or that combined with monitoring and enforcement.

Akresh et al. (2012) reported a similar finding in the NCTPP experiment in Burkina Faso, where children under the age of 60 months in households that received transfers that were conditional on quarterly visits to the local health clinic for child growth had 0.43 more preventative health care visits in the previous year compared to non-recipients (a considerable 49% increase compared to the mean in the control group). By contrast, the effect of receiving UCTs was not statistically significant. The difference in effects between those receiving the CCTs versus UCTs was also highly statistically significant. In this programme, the effects could again have arisen from the presence of conditions or the fact that satisfaction of conditions was monitored using a family

Page 141

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

booklet which was stamped to confirm health visits had taken place. Local committees were then also supposed to randomly select 20% of booklets and verify the information with data from school registers and health centre registers.

Benedetti and Ibarrarán (2015) provide further insights into the effects of conditionalities, through the case of the Honduran Bono 10,000 programme. In the programme, conditions of regularly attending health centres were only present for households with one child under the age of six (or a pregnant or nursing mother), in which case the transfer was also labelled as a health transfer. For those with older children, the payment was not labelled nor conditional. Interestingly, although the transfer size was *doubled* for the latter unconditional group (from US\$250 to US\$500 per year), if anything the study finds greater impacts on some indicators of health service use among the conditional group, including a statistically significant increase of 21 percentage points for post-natal care. However, although the impact on the group without conditions or labelling was not significant, the difference between the two was also insignificant and there was no impact for either group in terms of the number of *prenatal* check-ups. The fact that a significant effect was found among the conditional group and not among the unconditional group (which received double the transfer) does indicate, however, that liquidity or credit constraints may not always be the binding constraint on health service use.

Payment mechanism

The two studies found testing the effect of a mobile payment mechanism (both from the same intervention but using slightly different data) found it to have a significant impact on dietary diversity but no significant effect on child wasting. Aker et al. (2011; 2014) investigated the effect of a mobile payment (m-payment) system in Niger on household dietary diversity and child wasting, from a UCT programme targeted at women, implemented in 96 villages following a major drought. They find that, compared to a control group of households who received transfers manually (but also got a mobile phone), those that were paid through their phone experienced an increase in dietary diversity of an extra 0.5 food groups on average, representing an increase of 16%. This was particularly driven by an increase in the consumption of beans and fats. The increase was 0.43 in the 2011 study, which only used one round of follow-up data as opposed to two.

The authors investigated what may be driving the results and suggested that they may be attributed to two factors: *time-saving* and *increased intra-household bargaining power of women*. While the amount of time saved was just two days over a five-month period, they believe it to be a conservative estimate and believe that the savings may have occurred at a time of year when the opportunity cost of time spent waiting for manual transfers was high and note that m-payment beneficiaries were more likely to cultivate marginal cash crops, primarily grown by women, which could indicate some greater engagement in alternative income-generating activities. In terms of improved bargaining power, the authors note that the female programme recipients reported that the m-payments were less observable to other household members and allowed the recipients to temporarily conceal the arrival of the transfer. Combined with the finding that m-transfer recipients were more likely to obtain the transfer on their own, travel to weekly markets and be involved in selling household grains than the manual transfer group, the authors take this to suggest that the m-payments may have strengthened women's bargaining power within the household.

In terms of child wasting (only reported in the 2014 study), there was a small increase in the WHZ of 0.07 associated with the mobile payment mechanism, though it was not statistically significant and there was no change in the prevalence of wasting. They suggest that the results for wasting could be partially down to limited power of the smaller sub-sample (n=691).

Complementary interventions and supply-side services

Finally, one study reported the effect of complementary interventions, and found that receiving complementary nutritional supplements in addition to cash transfers in Niger led to significantly greater reductions in moderate acute malnutrition (MAM) compared to receiving the cash transfer alone. The study was a prospective intervention study in Niger, in which Langendorf et al. (2014) looked at the effect of receiving different complementary nutritional supplements with cash

Page 142

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

transfers on moderate acute malnutrition (MAM) (i.e. < -2 WHZ \geq -3) among children aged from 6–23 months. The authors found that, regardless of the specific supplements given (providing between 250kcal/day to 820kcal/day), receiving the complementary intervention in addition to a cash transfer led to a halving of MAM, relative to receiving the cash transfer alone, even though the 'cash transfer only' group received an additional US\$7 per month, representing the additional cost of the nutritional supplements. Adjusted hazard ratios, showing the comparative risk of MAM among 'cash only' versus 'cash plus supplementary food', ranged from 2.07 to 2.42 depending on the specific supplements. The authors suggest that the impact of the complementary fortified foods may be explained by an absence of locally available nutritious foods (the intervention partly overlapped the 'hunger gap' season), meaning that even though the comparison group had a higher monthly transfer amount, they may have been unable to source sufficient nutritious food.

The finding is also consistent with two studies from Mexico (included in this review but not reporting on the chosen indicators here) which find that uptake of nutritional supplements in PROGRESA appear to have played an important role in child diet intake and growth (Ramírez-Silva et al., 2013; Behrman and Hoddinott, 2005). Ramírez-Silva et al. (2013) find evidence that the effect of Oportunidades on improved dietary intake (iron, zinc and vitamin A) was the result of the food supplement rather than improvements in the home diet. The authors found higher intakes among Oportunidades beneficiaries who received the fortified food supplements, but that intakes were *not higher* among beneficiaries who did not receive the fortified food supplements. A similar finding is made by Behrman and Hoddinott (2005), who show that the actual take-up of nutritional supplements in PROGRESA (rather than allocation to receive them) is found to lead to a significant increase of about a sixth in mean growth per year for children aged 12–36 months.

8.6 Policy implications

The review of the evidence highlights a number of policy implications. First and foremost, the body of evidence indicates that while cash transfers often appear able to increase the utilisation of health care services (particularly when conditions are attached) and bring about improvements in dietary diversity scores, improvements in anthropometric measures appear to occur less frequently. In some cases, improvements in anthropometric measures may be difficult to achieve if there is little problem to begin with, as Maluccio and Flores (2005) note was the case for wasting in their study of Nicaragua's RPS. It is also possible that, in some cases, a lack of effects may also result from insufficient time periods over which to observe anthropometric changes, or even limited power to detect effects. However, where this is not the case, the limited improvements in anthropometric measures are likely to arise from the fact that achieving healthy physical child growth is contingent upon a much wider range of intervening variables than simply increasing attendance at health clinics or increasing the range of foods eaten. First of all, child health measures are themselves likely to be contingent upon utilisation of quality health services and information, as well as having a diverse diet. In addition, healthy child growth is recognised to depend on good care for mothers and children, a healthy environment and freedom from disease (UNICEF, 2013). Furthermore, timing of transfers is likely to be crucial, with the first 1,000 days of a child's life being a particularly crucial window for later development (Bhatia et al., 2013). This is reflected in the findings above on stunting (Leroy et al., 2008) and duration of transfer.

The implications of the above for policy depend on the objectives of a particular intervention. If there is a genuine desire to improve nutritional outcomes as a core objective, then there must be a focus on addressing a range of issues, covering not just the design and implementation of the intervention, but also looking at the local implementation context, to ensure it is supportive of improvements in nutrition. Issues of particular importance, arising from the studies covered here, include:

- regular and reliable transfers of sufficient value to allow for year-round health coverage and the consumption of nutritious foods (e.g. Pellerano et al., 2014; Seidenfeld and Handa, 2011)
- sufficient duration of the transfer (Buser et al., 2014) and targeting children at critical age to attain positive and lasting effects on child growth (Buser et al., 2014; Fernald et al., 2008)
- local availability of affordable quality health services (e.g. AIR, 2014)

Page 143

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- local availability of and access to a range of nutritious foods, or fortified supplements in their absence (e.g. Langendorf et al., 2014)
- communications and messaging around the importance of specific health behaviours (e.g. use of health services and providing information on nutrition and child growth) (e.g. de Brauw and Peterman, 2011; Paxson and Schady, 2010).

From the studies on cash transfer size and duration, the evidence also suggests that receiving larger payments and payments for a longer duration appears to result in some improvements in certain health and nutrition outcomes. Crucially, however, the study by Buser et al. (2014) suggests that stopping payments to households while there are still young children present (or in utero) may potentially lead to relative declines in child growth outcomes. This highlights the crucial importance of programmes having effective monitoring and graduation systems, in order that health benefits are not lost.

The study by Langendorf et al. (2014) also provides some initial support for the idea that complementing cash transfers with nutritional supplements could help play a key role in improving nutritional intake in contexts where local availability of a diverse diet is limited, with two other studies cited above from Mexico suggesting that the contributions of such an approach may not just be limited to these contexts (Ramírez-Silva et al., 2013; Behrman and Hoddinott, 2005).

A second overall policy lesson emerges from the fact that improvements in health care utilisation and dietary diversity were not found in every study. Some of the explanations for a lack of improvement in health care use given above include: an absence of conditionalities and/or adequate messaging around the importance of health care use, inadequate health facilities, already high existing use of services, and implementation problems (e.g. delays in payments). Potential explanations mentioned for the lack of improvement in dietary diversity included implementation problems (e.g. payment delays) and limited cash transfer sizes.

From a policy perspective, improving health care utilisation is likely to depend crucially upon there first of all being adequate, locally accessible health care services, which may require additional supply-side investments in some contexts. Strong communications and messaging around the importance of health care use are also likely to play an important role. Consistent with previous reviews, the few studies on conditionalities suggest that the presence and/or monitoring/ enforcement of behaviour requirements may be important in determining the size of effects on cash transfer beneficiaries. It is also worth noting that all of the interventions found to have a statistically significant impact on health care use were CCTs with health conditions attached and, among the interventions in sub-Saharan Africa, it was only those which had conditions attached that led to any significant impact on health service use. It is possible that other design and implementation features may be driving these differences, however. Nevertheless, further research would be useful to tease out which specific aspects of conditionalities may be most important, particularly given recent evidence that simply labelling transfers may strengthen their impacts on particular behaviours, which could help avoid the various costs associated with monitoring and enforcement of conditions (Benhassine et al., 2013).

Addressing improvements in dietary diversity will again depend on many of the same design and implementation issues, and in this case communications around nutrition information and child growth. It will also, however, crucially depend on the local context, including the availability of and access to a diverse range of foodstuffs. In contexts where a diverse food basket is not locally available or affordable, given the value of the transfer, additional measures will probably need to be taken, such as complementary nutritional supplements mentioned above.

Great care should be taken in attempting to draw out any gender-related policy lessons from the relatively limited evidence base. In terms of the gender of household head, while on the one hand cash transfers might appear to be able to potentially help improve and/or redress imbalances in certain areas (e.g. increasing post-natal visits among male-headed households in Indonesia's PKH), on the other, the sex of the household head was also linked to a deterioration in the WHZ of children up to three years old in Indonesia's PKH. Further research is clearly warranted to explore these issues in greater depth. Lessons regarding differential outcomes by gender of the individual

Page 144

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion
are again limited by the evidence base, though there is some evidence suggesting that appropriately designed cash transfers could be used to help address imbalances in health behaviours and practices among women and girls.

Finally, further research would be welcome to investigate the role of many of the design and implementation features considered, from which limited evidence was found. For example, from the two studies reporting on the role of the official transfer recipient, there is very limited evidence to inform how who receives the transfer affects health and nutrition outcomes. Also, on the issue of payment mechanisms, while the evidence reviewed indicated that electronic transfers may lead to potential health benefits, the evidence base is extremely limited and further studies in other contexts are required to corroborate the findings and to fully uncover the reasons as to why different payment mechanisms may mediate health and nutrition outcomes.

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	AIR (2014)	CGP (Zambia)	Child attended clinic for preventative care	-0.008	Percentage point	NS
		CGP (Zambia)	Attendance at skilled antenatal care with a doctor or nurse (children $0-15$ months)	0	Percentage point	NS
2	Akresh et al. (2012)	NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Number of routine preventative health clinic visits for child (CCT)	0.431	Number of visits over past 12 months	5%
		NCTPP (Burkina Faso)	Number of routine preventative health clinic visits for child (UCT)	-0.079	Number of visits over past 12 months	NS
3	Attanasio et al. (2005)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Compliance with preventative nutritional health programme (<24 0.22 n months old) a)		Percentage point	5%
		Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Compliance with preventative nutritional health programme (24–48 months)	0.332	Percentage point	5%
		Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Compliance with preventative nutritional health programme (>48 months)	0.015	Percentage point	10%
4	Barber and Gertler (2008)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Woman received any prenatal care	0.0235	Percentage point	10%
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Woman obtained five prenatal visits	0.0235	Percentage point	NS
5	Barber and Gertler (2010)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Woman sought any prenatal care	0.034	Percentage point	NS
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Woman obtained five or more consultations	0.015	Percentage point	NS
6	Davis et al. (2002)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Whether child aged 0-5 had a health check-up	0.5841	Probit coefficients (not marginal effects)	1%
		PROCAMPO (Mexico)	Whether child aged 0-5 had a health check-up	0.154	Probit coefficients (not marginal effects)	NS
7	de Brauw and Peterman (2011)	CSR (El Salvador)	Proportion of births which had post-natal care two weeks after birth	-0.059	Percentage points	NS
		CSR (El Salvador)	Adequate prenatal care (five or more visits)	-0.065	Percentage points	NS
8	Evans et al. (2014)	TSAF (Tanzania)	Average number of health facility visits in the past 12 months among children up to two years old (impact after 18–21 months)	1.87	Number of visits over past 12 months	10%
		TSAF (Tanzania)	Average number of health facility visits in the past 12 months among children up to two years old (impact after 31 to 34 months)	-3.0	Number of visits over past 12 months	5%
9	Levy and Ohls (2007)	PATH (Jamaica)	Number of visits to a health centre for preventative reasons in past six months (children up to six years old)	0.278	Number of visits	1%
10	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Whether child under three taken to a health control visit in past six months (impact 2000–2001)	0.163	Percentage points	5%
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Whether child under three taken to a health control visit in past six months (impact 2000–2002)	0.084	Percentage points	NS
11	Paxson and Schady (2010)	BDH (Ecuador)	Child went for growth control visit in past six months (in top three wealth quartiles)	0.06	Percentage points	NS
		BDH (Ecuador)	Child went for growth control visit in past six months (in poorest	-0.057	Percentage points	NS

Table 8.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on health service use

Contents

Page 145

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

continued on next page

Table 8.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on health service use continued

Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
Pellerano et al. (2014)	CGP (Lesotho)	Proportion of children 0–17 that consulted a health care provider in the past three months	-0.103	Percentage points	NS
Perova and Vakis (2012)	Juntos (Peru)	Received health checks in last three months (for children under 5)	0.69	Percentage point	1%
Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	CTP (Zambia)	Attended 'Well Baby Check-up'	0.003	Percentage point	NS
World Bank (2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	Number of prenatal visits	0.576	Number of visits	5%
	PKH (Indonesia)	Whether attended at least four prenatal visits	0.09	Percentage points	1%
	PKH (Indonesia)	Number of post-natal visits	0.35	Number of visits	10%
	PKH (Indonesia)	Whether attended at least two post-natal visits	0.096	Percentage points	1%
	PKH (Indonesia)	Number of public health facility outpatient visits (entire household)	0.03	Number of visits	1%
	PKH (Indonesia)	Number of private health facility outpatient visits (entire household)	0.018	Number of visits	5%
	Study Pellerano et al. (2014) Perova and Vakis (2012) Seidenfeld and Handa (2011) World Bank (2011)	StudyProgramme and countryPellerano et al. (2014)CGP (Lesotho) (2012)Perova and Vakis (2012)Juntos (Peru) (2012)Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)CTP (Zambia) PKH (Indonesia)World Bank (2011)PKH (Indonesia) PKH (Indonesia)PKH (Indonesia) PKH (Indonesia)PKH (Indonesia) PKH (Indonesia)PKH (Indonesia) PKH (Indonesia)PKH (Indonesia)PKH (Indonesia)PKH (Indonesia)	StudyProgramme and countryOutcome indicator and treatment population and countryPellerano et al. (2014)CGP (Lesotho)Proportion of children 0–17 that consulted a health care provider in the past three monthsPerova and Vakis (2012)Juntos (Peru)Received health checks in last three months (for children under 5)Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)CTP (Zambia)Attended 'Well Baby Check-up'World Bank (2011)PKH (Indonesia)Number of prenatal visitsPKH (Indonesia)Number of post-natal visitsPKH (Indonesia)Whether attended at least four prenatal visitsPKH (Indonesia)Whether attended at least two post-natal visitsPKH (Indonesia)Number of public health facility outpatient visits (entire household)PKH (Indonesia)Number of private health facility outpatient visits (entire household)	StudyProgramme and countryOutcome indicator and treatment populationEffectPellerano et al. (2014)CGP (Lesotho)Proportion of children 0–17 that consulted a health care provider in the past three months-0.103Perova and Vakis (2012)Juntos (Peru)Received health checks in last three months (for children under 5)0.69Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)CTP (Zambia)Attended 'Well Baby Check-up'0.003World Bank (2011)PKH (Indonesia)Number of prenatal visits0.576PKH (Indonesia)Mumber of post-natal visits0.35PKH (Indonesia)Number of public health facility outpatient visits (entire household)0.03PKH (Indonesia)Number of private health facility outpatient visits (entire household)0.03PKH (Indonesia)Number of private health facility outpatient visits (entire household)0.03	StudyProgramme and countryOutcome indicator and treatment populationEffectMeasure of changePellerano et al. (2014)CGP (Lesotho)Proportion of children 0–17 that consulted a health care provider in the past three months-0.103Percentage pointsPerova and Vakis (2012)Juntos (Peru)Received health checks in last three months (for children under 5)0.69Percentage pointSeidenfeld and Handa (2011)CTP (Zambia)Attended 'Well Baby Check-up'0.003Percentage pointWorld Bank (2011)PKH (Indonesia)Number of prenatal visits0.576Number of visitsPKH (Indonesia)Whether attended at least four prenatal visits0.096Percentage pointsPKH (Indonesia)Whether attended at least two post-natal visits0.096Percentage pointsPKH (Indonesia)Number of public health facility outpatient visits (entire household)0.018Number of visitsPKH (Indonesia)Number of public health facility outpatient visits (entire household)0.018Number of visits

Notes: Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Table 8.4: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on dietary diversity

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Food Consumption Score	-2.06	Index score	NS
2	Ferré and Sharif (2014)	Shombhob (Bangladesh)	Consumption of more than 4 out of 7 food groups (children over 6 months)	0.031	Percentage points	NS
3	Gilligan et al. (2013)	KWFP-cash transfer (Uganda)	Dietary Diversity Index	0.925	Number of foods	5%
			Household Dietary Diversity Score	0.552	Number of food groups	1%
			Food Consumption Score	2.993	Index score	5%
4	Gitter and Caldes (2010)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Number of unique food items	3.503	Number of food items	5%
5	Hidrobo et al. (2012a)	WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)	Dietary Diversity Index	0.138	Percentage point	1%
			Household Dietary Diversity Score	0.044	Percentage point	1%
			Food Consumption Score	0.108	Percentage point	1%
6	Hidrobo et al. (2012b)	WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)	Dietary Diversity Index	2.39	Number of food items	1%
			Household Dietary Diversity Score	0.4	Number of food groups	1%
			Food Consumption Score	6.48	Index score	1%
7	Hoddinott and Wiesmann	PRAF (Honduras)	Number of foods eaten	0.508	Number of foods	NS
	(2008)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Number of foods eaten	0.356	Number of foods	NS
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Number of foods eaten	3.868	Number of foods	5%
8	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Mean dietary diversity score	0.412	Index score	NS
9	Miller et al. (2011)	SCTP (Malawi)	Food Diversity Score	2 (5 to 7)	Additional food groups	1%
10	Pellerano et al. (2014)	CGP (Lesotho)	Dietary Diversity Index	0.161	Number of food groups	NS
			Food Consumption Score	0.946	Proxy score	NS
11	Ruiz-Arranz et al. (2002)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Number of foods consumed	0.011	Number of foods	1%
			Simpson Index	0.018	Index score	5%
			Shannon Index	0.072	Index score	1%
			Revealed Optimal Diversity Index	0.007	Index score	NS
		PROCAMPO (Mexico)	Number of foods consumed	0.01	Number of foods	5%
			Simpson Index	0.006	Index score	NS
			Shannon Index	0.063	Index score	NS
			Revealed Optimal Diversity Index	0.022	Index score	NS
12	Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	Monze cash transfer (Zambia)	Diversity score	0.203	Number of food groups	NS

Notes: Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level. Diversity Score = Number of food groups purchased over past seven days; Dietary Diversity Index = Sum of number of distinct food items consumed by the household in the previous seven days; Household Dietary Diversity Score = Frequency of 12 food groups consumed in past seven days; Food Consumption Score = Sum of number of days eight different food groups

Page 146

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

consumed, multiplied by weighted frequencies and summing across categories to get a single proxy indicator; Simpson Index = Weighted sum of calorie shares of different foods consumed; Shannon Index = Weighted sum of calorie shares of different food groups consumed (shares multiplied by their logged values); Revealed Optimal Diversity Index = an index reflecting how 'optimally diverse' households consumption baskets are relative to households in the top wealth decile.

Table 8.5: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on stunting

_						
#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
Pro	bability of being stunted					
1	Gertler (2004)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Whether stunted or not (12–36 months)	0.914	Log odds of being stunted	NS
2	Ferré and Sharif (2014)	Shombhob (Bangladesh)	Whether stunted or not (up to 36 months at start)	0.034	Percentage point	NS
3	Gilligan et al. (2013)	KWFP-cash transfer (Uganda)	Whether stunted or not (61–83 months)	-0.018	Percentage point	NS
4	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Whether stunted or not (under five)	-5.5	Percent	10%
Hei	ight-for-age					
1	AIR (2014)	CGP (Zambia)	Height-for-age (under 60 months)	-0.116	Z-score	NS
2	Attanasio et al. (2005)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Height-for-age (under 24 months)	0.161	Z-score	10%
3	Evans et al. (2014)	TSAF (Tanzania)	Height-for-age (up to 48 months)	0.86	Z-score (impact after 18–21m)	NS
4	Fernald and Hidrobo (2011)	BDH (Ecuador)	Height-for-age (12–35 months)	0.01	Z-score	NS
5	Leroy et al. (2008)	PAL (Mexico)	Height-for-age (urban, up to 24 months)	0.11	Z-score	NS
		PAL (Mexico)	Height-for-age (urban, up to 6 months)	0.41	Z-score	5%
6	Macours et al. (2012)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Height-for-age (under 6 years old at start of programme)	0.072	Z-score (impact after receiving transfers for approx. 9m)	5%
		Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Height-for-age (under 6 years old at start of programme)	0.045	Z-score (impact approx. 2 yrs after transfer)	NS
7	Maluccio (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Height-for-age (6m to 48m)	0.3575	Z-score	1%
8	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Height-for-age (under 5 years old)	0.13	Z-score	NS
9	Paxson and Schady (2010)	BDH (Ecuador)	Height-for-age (up to 6 months at baseline)	0.008	Z-score	NS
10	World Bank (2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	Height-for-age (up to 36 months)	0.071	Z-score	NS

Notes: Child ages are reported in brackets. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Table 8.6: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on wasting

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
Pro	bability of being wasted					
1	Ferré and Sharif (2014)	Shombhob (Bangladesh)	Whether wasted or not (12–24 months when enrolled)	-0.125	Percentage point	10%
2	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Whether wasted or not (under 5 years old)	0.003	Percentage point	NS
We	ight-for-height					
1	AIR (2014)	CGP (Zambia)	Weight-for-height (under 60 months)	0.042	Z-score	NS
2	Evans et al. (2014)	TSAF (Tanzania)	Weight-for-height (up to 48 months)	-0.03	Z-score (impact after 18–21 months)	NS
3	World Bank (2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	Weight-for-height (up to 36 months)	-0.187	Z-score	NS

Notes: Child ages are reported in brackets. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 147

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 8.7: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on being underweight

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance		
Pr	bability of being under	rweight						
1	Ferré and Sharif (2014)	Shombhob (Bangladesh)	Whether underweight or not	0.046	Percentage point	NS		
2	Gilligan et al. (2013)	KWFP-cash transfer (Uganda)	Whether underweight or not (61–83 months)	-0.033	Percentage point	NS		
3	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Being underweight (under 5 years old)	-0.062	Percentage point	5%		
We	Weight-for-age							
1	AIR (2014)	CGP (Zambia)	Weight-for-age (under 60 months)	-0.047	Z-score	NS		
2	Evans et al. (2014)	TSAF (Tanzania)	Weight-for-age (up to 48 months)	-0.29	Z-score (impact after 18–21 months)	NS		
3	Macours et al. (2012)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Weight-for-age (under 6 years old when transfer started)	0.036	Z-score (impact after receiving transfers for approx. 9 months)	NS		
		Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Weight-for-age (under 6 yrs when transfer started) at time transfer started)	0.029	Z-score (impact approx. two years after transfer)	NS		
4	World Bank (2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	Weight-for-age (under 36 months)	-0.065	Z-score	NS		
5	Buser et al. (2014)	BDH (Ecuador)	Weight-for-age (under 6 years old)	0.085	Z-score (impact after receiving transfers for two yrs)	NS		
		BDH (Ecuador)	Being underweight (under 6 years old)	-0.016	Percentage point (after receiving transfers for two years)	NS		

Notes: Child ages are reported in brackets. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 148

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Page 149

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Box 9.1: Summary of evidence for savings, investment and production outcomes

In total, there were 27 studies from which evidence was extracted for this outcome area, covering 12 countries and 21 cash transfer programmes. Most of these were UCTs, as most evidence on this outcome area has been recently generated through FAO's From Protection to Production (PtoP) project, which focuses on sub-Saharan Africa.

Overall effects of cash transfers on selected savings, investment and production indicators:

- Half of the studies that considered savings found cash transfers to have a statistically significant impact and all
 of these showed increases in savings. Of the 10 studies that looked at the overall effect of cash transfers on *household savings*, five found statistically significant increases in the share of households reporting savings
 (ranging from 7–24 percentage points) or the amount of savings accumulated. No significant negative impacts were
 reported in any of the studies.
- Impacts on the selected *borrowing* indicators were mixed, as households either used the cash to increase their access to credit or to pay off existing debt. Of the 15 studies that report any indicator for borrowing, four report significant increases in the share of households in debt or borrowing and/or on total amount of debt, three report significant reductions, one reports mixed findings and the remaining seven studies report no significant impacts.
- The evidence was for *agricultural productive assets* is based on three studies with statistically significant findings, but all of these show increases. Of the eight studies reporting on relevant indicators to households' accumulation of agricultural productive assets, three find a positive and significant impact on a wide variety of indicators (with impacts ranging from 3–32 percentage points depending on the asset and programme), and the remaining five find no significant impacts.
- While drawing on a low number of studies, the evidence for *agricultural inputs* mostly shows increases. Of the eight studies reporting on these indicators, six report some form of significant increase in expenditure or use (with impacts ranging from 4–18 percentage points depending on the input and programme), primarily for fertiliser and seeds, while one reports a significant decrease.
- Impacts on *livestock ownership and value* show consistent increases, with significant impacts found for the
 majority of studies. 12 out of 17 report some form of increase (with impacts ranging from 1–59 percentage points
 depending on livestock type and programme), with the remaining five reporting non-significant impacts. Impacts
 were particularly concentrated on smaller livestock such as goats and chickens.
- Impacts on *business and enterprise* were mixed, and more difficult to interpret than others reported in this section because of the range of indicators adopted in different studies. Of the nine studies reporting any indicator for this specific outcome area, four found significant increases in the share of households involved in non-farm enterprise or on the total expenditure on business-related assets and stocks, while one found a significant decrease.

Variation in outcomes by gender:

• Eight studies reported gender disaggregated outcomes, most often by separating analysis female and male-headed households. Interestingly, three of these studies found some of the savings, investment and production results primarily driven by female-headed households, two find different types of impacts for male versus female household heads or beneficiaries (e.g. different type of investment preferred), while another two find no significant differences between the two. Overall, these results appear to be driven by different levels of asset ownership at baseline and different cultural roles and aptitudes.

Role of design and implementation features:

- One study assessed the different impact of having a male or female recipient, finding non-significant differences across the two for impacts on savings and livestock ownership (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).
- One study explicitly compares the impact on savings and investment behaviour of different **transfer levels and frequency**, finding that lump-sum recipients accumulate significantly more non-land assets and large livestock, while monthly recipients accumulate more small livestock and birds. Overall savings and livestock holdings were also substantially higher for those receiving a larger transfer (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).
- The two studies reporting on variations in impact due to **length of exposure**, suggest sustained impacts over time.
- One study looked at the effect of different targeting designs. It found impacts in this area to be consistently higher and more frequently highly significant for households receiving a transfer based on demographic indicators of vulnerability rather than a form of social pension, with the exception of borrowing (Merttens et al., 2015).
- One study comparing different **payment modalities** finds that, compared to standard distribution methods, mobile money transfers affected crop choices, but not ultimate production or savings (Aker et al., 2011).
- Four studies present evidence on **complementary interventions and supply-side services** to cash transfers, showing that group organisation for grant recipients can act as a commitment device, and that coupling standard cash transfers with supervision and training, technical assistance, and with additional productive investment grants or with insurance can increase productive impacts.

Page 150

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

9.1 Summary of findings

This section reports on the impacts of cash transfers on saving, borrowing, purchase and ownership of productive assets (agricultural tools and inputs, livestock and business assets) and business/enterprise. A summary of the overall effects, how they vary by design and implementation features, and by gender, is provided in Box 9.1.

Our findings mostly confirm the theory of change for this outcome area, by which receiving a guaranteed and predictable source of income can help households lift liquidity, saving and credit constraints, enabling investment. Overall, impacts on savings, ownership/purchase of livestock and purchase/use of agricultural inputs were consistent in their direction of effect, with almost all statistically significant findings highlighting positive effects of cash transfers, though not throughout all programmes or all types of livestock and inputs. On the other hand, impacts on borrowing, agricultural assets and business/enterprise were less clear-cut. These findings are of particular importance in low- and middle-income countries, where extreme poverty is disproportionately concentrated in rural areas (as are many cash transfer programmes), and the majority of men and women depend on agriculture for their livelihoods (FAO, 2015), all the more as climate change is set to worsen the shocks and challenges faced by rural households.

Of the ten studies that looked at the overall effect of cash transfers on household **savings**, five found statistically significant increases in the share of households reporting savings or the amount of savings accumulated (with impacts ranging from 7–24 percentage points), while no significant negative impacts were reported in any of the studies. Evidence confirmed that households could afford to marginally increase their precautionary savings because of increased income and, in some cases, increase access to formal and informal financial institutions.

Impacts on the selected **borrowing** indicators were mixed, as households either used the cash to increase their access to credit or to pay off existing debt (which can be associated with stigma). Overall, of the 15 studies that report any indicator for this outcome area, four report significant increases in the share of households in debt or borrowing and/or on total amount of debt, three report significant reductions, one reports mixed findings and the remaining seven studies report no significant impacts. The authors discussed the important role of beneficiaries' increased creditworthiness, mediated by de facto transfer size and regularity.

The varying magnitude and directions of impact for saving and borrowing were justified in several different ways within the studies, with two studies explicitly testing variations in impact linked to variations in programme design. The evidence points to increased impacts on savings for higher transfer amounts, monthly rather than lump-sum transfers and complementary supervision and training.

Coming to the investment/production impacts that more directly pertain to poor households' livelihoods, widespread and significant impacts were found within the selected studies for:

- Agricultural inputs out of a total of eight studies, six report significant increases in the outcome indicators (with impacts ranging from 4–18 percentage points depending on the input and programme), primarily on fertiliser and seeds, and one reports a decrease.
- Livestock assets 12 out of 17 studies report some form of increase in livestock ownership and value, with the remaining five reporting non-significant impacts. Larger and significant impacts were mostly registered for smaller livestock, with marginal effects on chicken ownership ranging from 7–59 percentage points and on goats from 7–52 percentage points. There were also some cases of households investing in cattle.

However, less clear-cut impacts were found on:

Agricultural assets – with two programmes only (Malawi's Mchinji pilot and Zambia's CGP) out of a total of seven (eight studies) registering significant increases and impacts ranging from 3–32 percentage points for different assets. Lack of impact in four programmes was justified in several ways, including behaviour influenced by strong programme labelling (money was to be spent for children) and low value/unpredictability of the transfer.

Page 151

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

• Business and enterprise – of the nine studies reporting any indicator, four found increases in the share of households involved in non-farm enterprise or on the total expenditure on business-related assets and stocks, while one found significant decreases.

Most savings, investment and production indicators were measured at the household rather than individual level. However, eight studies reported **sex-disaggregated outcomes**, most often by separating analysis for female and male-headed households. Interestingly, three of these studies find some of the savings, investment and production results primarily driven by female-headed households, two find different types of impacts for male versus female household heads or beneficiaries (different type of investment preferred, with women, for example, investing more in smaller rather than large livestock, etc.), while another two find no significant differences between the two.⁸⁸ Overall, these results appear to be driven by different levels of asset ownership at baseline and differing cultural roles and aptitudes.

Several insights were offered by the literature on the role of **design and implementation** features in mediating these productive impacts. Specifically, evidence (including studies explicitly testing different designs, qualitative research and authors' interpretations) shows that:

- higher *transfer size* is associated with higher productive impacts, while lump-sum payments trigger investment on bulkier items (e.g. larger livestock)
- the role of the *predictability and reliability* of payments in enhancing beneficiaries' riskmanagement capacity and planning was confirmed, with some suggestions that tying timing of payments to the agricultural cycle could increase effects
- there is heterogeneity of productive impacts based on a households' existing asset base, with households having access to land and labour (so potentially better-off) more capable of investing productively this has important implications for *targeting* (and potential trade-offs with human capital objectives)
- there is a strong role played by the *messaging* associated with the transfer: perceived (implicit) or actual *conditionality* linked to human capital objectives can reduce impacts on productive outcomes
- increasing the *duration of exposure* to the transfer leads to sustained (though not necessarily increasing) impacts over time
- *complementary interventions and supply-side services* (coupling cash transfers with productive investment grants, additional supervision and training, insurance) increases effects on ultimate productive outcomes.

9.2 Summary of evidence base

In total, there were 27 studies from which evidence was extracted for this outcome area, covering 12 countries and 21 cash transfer programmes. Most of the programmes were UCTs, as a majority of evidence on this outcome area has been recently generated through FAO's From Protection to Production (PtoP) project, which focuses on sub-Saharan Africa. Given that productive impacts are not among the primary intended impacts of cash transfers, and that collecting data on productive investments can be costly, few studies prior to PtoP explicitly focused on this. Table 9.1 provides an overview of which countries and programmes the studies reported on, highlighting the prevalence of studies from Africa and the almost inexistent evidence from Asia, while also showing most programmes were operating primarily in rural areas.⁸⁹ Findings from several pilot studies may be more limited in their external validity and applicability to other settings.

A range of different study designs and estimation methods were used in order to estimate the effect of cash transfers, or their design and implementation features, on the selected health

Page 152

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

⁸⁸ Note that the eighth study does not compare across genders in any way, as most recipients were female.

⁸⁹ Note: The totals in the final column of Table 9.1 do not add to the total number of studies as two studies report results for more than one programme.

indicators. Table 9.2 provides a summary of these. As can be seen, a large majority were based on experimental studies, with the remainder using observational data and employing some form of DID, RDD, IV or OLS regression.

Table 9.1: Summary of countries and programmes reported on for the investment, saving and production indicators (all studies)

Country	Programme	Type of cash transfer	# studies	Rural/urban	Details if pilot or experimental study*
Latin Ameri	ca and the Caribbean = 8 studies ⁹⁰				
Bolivia	Bolivida	Social pension	1	Both	
Mexico	PROGRESA/Oportunidades	CCT	5	Rural, then both	
Mexico	PROCAMPO	CCT	1	Rural	
Nicaragua	Red de Protección Social (RPS)	CCT	1	Rural	
Nicaragua	Atención a Crisis	UCT	1	Rural	Short term
Africa = 17	studies				
Ghana	LEAP	UCT/CCT	1	Rural	
Ghana	Innovation for Poverty Action randomised trial (IPA RCT)	UCT	1	Rural	Field trial
Kenya	OVC-cash transfer	UCT in practice	1	Both	
Kenya	Hunger Safety Net Programme (HSNP)	UCT	1	Rural	Phase 1 of programme roll-out
Kenya	Give Directly cash transfer	UCT	1	Rural	Experiment
Malawi	Social Cash Transfer Programme (SCTP)	UCT	1	Rural	Pilot phase (one district)
Lesotho	Child Grant Programme (LCGP)	UCT	2	Rural	
Niger	Concern Worldwide drought-response unconditional transfer	UCT	1	Rural	Short term, experimental
Tanzania	Tanzania Social Action Fund (TSAF)	CCT	1	Rural	Pilot experiment
Uganda	Youth Opportunities Program (YOP)	Enterprise grant	2	Both	Part of Northern Uganda Social Action Fund
Uganda	Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS)	Enterprise grant	2	Rural	Not for profit short-term programme, two districts
Uganda	Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE)	UCT	1	Both	Two pilots
Zambia	Monze Cash Transfer Pilot (CTP)	UCT	1	Rural	Pilot in one district
Zambia	Child Grant Programme (ZCGP)	UCT	2	Rural	Implemented in three districts
Europe and	Central Asia = 2 studies				
Kazakhstan	BOTA cash transfer	CCT	1	Rural	
Pakistan	BISP cash transfer	UCT	1	Rural	

* This information for papers that report results from a pilot/experimental implementation helps distinguish such papers from those that cover cash transfer policies/programmes that are operational at a larger scale and/or are long-term/permanent. It provides a 'flag' for findings which may have more limited applicability or where it has not been shown that the evidence would necessarily hold at a larger scale.

Page 153

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 9.2: Summary of study methods used and risk of bias for savings, investment and production

Study	Study design and methods used for reported results	Reports total effect	Reports effect of design and implementation features?	Reports sex- disaggregated outcomes
Air (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Aker et al. (2011)	RCT (DID)		Yes	
Angelucci et al. (2012)	QE (PSM)	Yes		
Asfaw et al. (2014)	RCT (DID, and Single Difference combined with inverse probability weighting (SD-IPW))	Yes		Yes
Blattman et al. (2012)	RCT (ANCOVA)	Yes		Yes
Blattman et al. (2015)	RCT (DID)	Yes		Yes
Cheema et al. (2014)	QE RDD	Yes		
Covarrubias et al. (2012)	RCT (DID and DID with PSM)	Yes		Yes
Daidone et al. (2014a)	RCT (DID and Single Difference or PSM, or SD with Inverse Probability Weighting)	Yes		
Daidone et al. (2014b)	RCT (DID or SD with IPW)	Yes		
Davis et al. (2002)	QE (OLS linear and logistic regression with baseline levels characteristics as controls)	Yes	Yes	
Evans et al. (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Gertler et al. (2012)	RCT (OLS)	Yes	Yes	
Green et al. (2015)	RCT (ITT with OLS)		Yes	
Handa et al. (2014)	QE (PSM, multivariate analysis)	Yes		Yes
Haushofer and Shapiro (2013)	RCT (DID and OLS)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Karlan et al. (2014)	RCT (IV)	Yes	Yes	
Macours and Vakis (2009)	RCT (OLS and two staged OLS)	Yes	Yes	
Svarch (2009)	RCT (Fixed effects, IV and Tobit)	Yes		
Maluccio (2010)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	
Martinez (2004)	RCT (OLS)			Yes
Merttens et al. (2013)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Merttens et al. (2015)	QE (RDD; DID with PSM)	Yes	Yes	
O'Brien et al. (2013)	RCT (IV estimation)	Yes		
Pellerano et al. (2014)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	QE (DID with PSM)	Yes		
Todd et al. (2010)	RCT (Single Difference OLS, OLS weighted with inverse weighting by propensity score, and non-linear estimators (Probit, Poisson, Tobit))	Yes		

RDD = Regression Discontinuity Design, RCT = randomised controlled trial, DID = difference-in-difference, SD = single difference, PSM = propensity score matching, IV = instrumental variables, ANCOVA = analysis of covariance.

Page 154

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

9.3 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Tables 9.3 to 9.8 below summarise the overall effects of cash transfers on the indicators under consideration. Where any effects associated with design or implementation features were found, these are not reported in the tables, but are discussed in section 9.5. Similarly, all sex-disaggregated results are discussed in section 9.4.

Saving and borrowing

Within the studies reviewed, impacts on savings were positive, though not common to all programmes, while impacts on borrowing were mixed, partly justified in the conceptual framework detailed in Chapter 2 by which households could either use the cash to increase their access to credit or to pay off existing debt.

Saving

Of the ten studies that looked at the overall effect of cash transfers on household savings (share of households that hold any savings and the total value of these savings),⁹¹ five found statistically significant increases in the share of households reporting savings or the amount of savings accumulated (see Table 9.3 at the end of the chapter). While the size of effects is not fully consistent across countries, no significant negative impacts were reported in any of the studies.

In Mexico, Angelucci et al. (2012) found a significant increase in the likelihood of having savings (and access to a bank account) for Oportunidades beneficiaries, but no effects on the amounts of savings. Similar – if not stronger – results were found across several of sub-Saharan Africa's flagship cash transfer programmes:

- In Zambia, Daidone et al. (2014b) estimate an impact of the CGP on the share of households declaring to accumulate savings in the form of cash (+24 percentage points), and on the amounts saved, with larger results for smaller-sized households.
- In Kenya, the share of HSNP beneficiaries that currently have cash savings is significantly higher (7.3 percentage points, 10% significance), with results driven by larger and better-off households (Merttens et al., 2013).
- In Uganda just over one year of SAGE transfers led to a statistically significant increase in the proportion of SAGE beneficiary households that have savings (9.5 percentage points for VFSG households, non-significant but positive for SCG households) (Merttens et al., 2015).

Minor experimental programmes in Africa also registered positive impacts on saving levels, with Haushofer and Shapiro's (2013) evaluation of Kenya's Give Directly programme finding doubled cash savings balances and a ten percentage points increase in the share of households saving with M-Pesa as a result of receiving a cash transfer (from low initial levels), and Blattman et al.'s (2015) study of the Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS) in Uganda finding that savings levels roughly tripled among both men and women.⁹²

Throughout these studies, the conceptual framework justifying these impacts reflects that outlined in Chapter 2, whereby households can afford to marginally increase their precautionary savings because of increased income and, in some cases, increased access to formal and informal financial institutions. For example, where these evaluations were triangulated with qualitative research, some evidence was found of increased engagement with savings groups, with respondents mentioning that such savings allowed them to meet future household demands, and respond to shocks such as illness (Merttens et al., 2015).

92 See section 9.4 below on gender disaggregated effects for details. Note that WINGS was not a standard cash transfer, but an enterprise grant, so these impacts should be interpreted accordingly.

Page 155

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

⁹¹ These used a variety of different indicators, totalling 16 impacts extracted.

No significant impacts were found on households' propensity to save or on the size of savings for Lesotho's CGP (Daidone et al., 2014; Pellerano et al., 2014) – interpreted to be because of the size and unpredictability of the transfer and the messaging associated with it⁹³ – and for Kazakhstan's BOTA, where a bank account was opened for every beneficiary household, but people were instructed not to use the bank account for any savings other than the CCT while in the programme (O'Brien et al., 2013).⁹⁴ In Ghana, LEAP households were 11 percentage points more likely (Handa et al., 2014) and in Pakistan BISP households were five percentage points more likely (Cheema et al., 2014) to save money relative to non-beneficiary households, though findings were not significant. Similarly, in Tanzania's community-based CCT, treatment did not significantly impact savings decisions at endline except for non-bank savings within the poorest households. Qualitative fieldwork revealed this was mostly due to the low amount of the transfer (Evans et al., 2014).

Borrowing

Impacts on the selected borrowing indicators (share of households that hold any loans and the total value of these loans) were overall less clear-cut than on savings, as is partly explained in Chapter 2 (households could either use the cash to increase their access to credit or to pay off existing debt). The picture is further complicated by the use of quite different indicators in different studies, totalling 29 results extracted. Overall, of the 15 studies that report any indicator for this outcome area, four report significant increases in the share of households in debt or borrowing and/or on total amount of debt, three report significant reductions, one reports mixed findings and the remaining seven studies report no significant impacts (see Table 9.4).

For example, in Mexico, Gertler et al. (2012) find a significant effect of Oportunidades (0.4 percentage points or 66.7%) on the probability of taking loans for productive purposes, while previously Svarch (2009) had estimated the programme increases the probability of having loans by 16 percentage points while negatively impacting the amount of the loan application. In Kenya, the HSNP transfer also had a significant impact on increasing households' uptake of credit, measured over the previous 12 months (9.7 percentage points, significant at 10%) (Merttens et al., 2013), as did the SAGE programme in Uganda, where the effect was strong and significant for households receiving the Senior Citizen Grant (7.3 percentage points, significant at 10%), though no significant impact was found on the size of outstanding debt (Merttens et al., 2015). Similar findings were reported by O'Brien et al. (2013) for Kazakhstan's BOTA programme (10 percentage point increase in the share of households with debt from any source, significant at 10%).

In Uganda (SAGE), Kenya (HSNP) and Kazakhstan (BOTA), qualitative research triangulated with these findings highlighted an increased willingness of other community members to lend to beneficiaries, as these now had a reliable and stable income stream. The debt was reportedly mostly used for consumption smoothing and often took the form of buying goods on credit (Merttens et al., 2013; O'Brien et al., 2013; Merttens et al., 2015).⁹⁵ Interestingly, the SAGE evaluation also analysed one of the key mechanisms by which people report being able to cope with the shocks they experience. Both SCG and VFSG households were significantly more likely to report being able to borrow a large amount of money (60,000 or more Ugandan shillings) in an emergency, in case of need (Merttens et al., 2015).⁹⁶

Several other evaluations found 'negative' effects of cash transfer receipt on loan-taking behaviour, highlighting a focus on paying back loans rather than taking on new debt. Potentially in contrast to findings for Mexico's Oportunidades described above, Angelucci et al. (2012) find a significant reduction in the share of households in debt and in debt amounts. In Zambia, AIR's evaluation of the Child Grant Programme (2014) found a 7.3 percentage point reduction in the likelihood of having an outstanding loan contracted over six months before, but no significant

93 The only significant impact was on the share of households contributing to burial societies and burial plans.

94 This is so that staff can check the balance to ensure that households have been paid the right amount.

95 Note that indicators around buying on credit were not an explicit focus of this review, but are an important aspect of debt-taking behaviour to untangle.

96 Note this is an impact on perceptions - yet an important indication of changes in people's self-perceived standing within the community.

Page 156

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

impact on the amount outstanding overall (except for large households) or on the amount borrowed in the last six months, while – based on the same data – Daidone et al. (2014b) find a significant impact on the share of households declaring to have made some loans repayments (1.7 percentage points). In Ghana, Handa et al. (2014) find no impact of LEAP on loans held, but a strong effect on amount repaid (23 percentage points). The authors hypothesise that, since households received a triple and then a double payment in the six months prior to the follow-up survey, 'a large part of these payments were essentially used to pay down loans'.

No significant results on borrowing behaviour were reported for Tanzania's community-based CCT (Evans et al., 2014), Pakistan's BISP (Cheema et al., 2014), Kenya's cash transfer-OVC (Asfaw et al., 2014) and Lesotho's CGP (Daidone et al., 2014; Pellerano et al., 2014), though results for the latter are reportedly biased by a substantial number of missing values. For the CGP, the authors hypothesise that the lack of impact on financial behaviour is partly explained by the irregularity of payments and the strong messaging associated with the programme, while for Tanzania's CCT the authors believe the lack of change may be due to the heterogeneous, opposing effects of the program on borrowing behaviour. In Pakistan, further results on borrowing show that only 5% of BISP beneficiary households have current debt that was used to start a business or for agricultural production, while most households take on debt for current consumption, and more specifically to buy food (46%).

Purchase and ownership of agricultural productive assets and inputs

As outlined within the conceptual framework, receiving a guaranteed and predictable source of income at regular intervals could help to lift the liquidity and credit constraints that limit poor households from investing optimally. Evidence from the selected studies did largely confirm this hypothesis, showing positive trends towards the accumulation of livestock especially, purchase and use of agricultural inputs and, to a lesser extent, accumulation of agricultural assets. This is an important finding, as none of the cash transfers analysed explicitly focused on enhancing productive impacts (with the exception of PROCAMPO in Mexico).

Agricultural assets (for crop production)

Overall, the evidence points to a positive, though not widespread, impact on households' accumulation of agricultural productive assets. Of the eight studies reporting on relevant indicators (totalling 22 different results, with indicators on the share of households that own/spent any money on each asset, monetary value and total number owned of each asset), three find a positive and significant impact on a wide variety of indicators, one reports mixed findings and the remaining four find no significant impacts (see Table 9.5).

In Malawi and Zambia, there is evidence that the receipt of a cash transfer is able to generate investments that can influence household productive capacity (Covarrubias et al., 2012). In Malawi, ownership of agricultural assets increased 16 percentage points for hoes,⁹⁷ 32 for axes and 30 for sickles – with higher impacts for female-headed households (ibid). In Zambia, both AIR (2014) and Daidone et al. (2014b) find significant positive impacts of the CGP on ownership of agricultural tools, with Daidone et al. describing 'two distinct patterns: a positive impact of between three to four percentage points on the share of households accumulating agricultural implements with low initial values at baseline ...⁹⁸ such as hammers, shovels and ploughs' (particularly for larger households) and a 'larger impact (18–30 percentage points) on the number of assets held, for those implements already widely available at baseline ...⁹⁹ such as axes and hoes'.

Nevertheless, in the other evaluations analysed, results were mixed or not significant. This was the case for Maluccio (2010) reporting on Nicaragua's RPS, Merttens et al. (2013) reporting on

98 Less than 10% of households owned these at baseline.

99 Up to approximately 90% of households at baseline.

Page 157

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

⁹⁷ The authors explain the more limited magnitude of impact for hoes is probably due to the high ownership level of this tool at the baseline (close to 90% of households at baseline).

Kenya's HSNP, Pellerano et al. (2014)¹⁰⁰ reporting on Lesotho's CGP and Seidenfeld and Handa (2011) reporting on the Monze District cash transfer pilot in Zambia. Reasons cited for the lack of any significant impact included the low availability of arable land in Kenya¹⁰¹ and the strong message encouraging child-related expenditures for Lesotho's CGP.

Agricultural inputs (for crop production)

Results for agricultural input (seeds, fertiliser and pesticide) expenditure or use reported within the selected evaluations are more decisively showing an impact, though not of great magnitude and not always on the same indicators. Specifically, out of a total of eight studies, six report significant increases in the outcome indicators, primarily on fertiliser and seeds, and one reports a decrease (see Table 9.6).

In Lesotho, where few other productive impacts were found due to the strong labelling of the programme (to be spent on children and their education), Daidone et al. (2014a) find that the CGP significantly increases the share of households purchasing seeds (7.4 percentage points) and inorganic fertiliser (5.8 percentage points), as well as the share of households using pesticides¹⁰² (7.9 percentage points),¹⁰³ the magnitude being greater for labour-unconstrained households. While the levels of expenditure on these or other inputs did not increase, according to the authors as the grant was possibly not high enough, significant increases in production were found (notably maize, the main staple commodity) (Daidone et al., 2014a; Pellerano et al., 2014). Similarly, in Zambia, the GGP led to an increase (18 percentage points) in the share of households with any input expenditure (especially seeds and fertiliser), from a baseline share of 23%, as well as an increase of 42 Zambian kwacha on crop inputs than the corresponding control households (Daidone et al., 2014b). The Monze district pilot evaluation points in a similar direction, with significant effects on purchase of fertiliser (8 percentage points) and ultimately crop production (Seidenfeld and Handa, 2011).¹⁰⁴ Significant impacts on the value of seeds used were also found for Ghana's flagship LEAP programme, with results driven by female-headed households (Handa et al., 2014). Also in Ghana, the IPA field trial comparing capital grants and rainfall insurance showed a highly significant impact on the value of chemicals used for capital grant recipients (Karlan et al., 2014). In Latin America, Todd et al. (2010) found some impact of Oportunidades (4.8 percentage points) on the probability of spending on variable crop inputs.¹⁰⁵

Missing or 'negative' impacts were principally reported for Kenya's cash transfer-OVC by Asfaw et al. (2014) with some small but significant negative impacts being found on the use of pesticides and on seed expenditure,¹⁰⁶ partly justified by the authors because of the low and eroded-over-time value of the transfer.

Livestock assets

Livestock assets not only provide food directly, they also guarantee an income flow, can act as store of value enhancing risk-bearing capacity, can aid production by providing draught animal power, transport and/or manure for cropping and fuel, and often have an inherent value linked to the status they confer to their owners. It is unsurprising, therefore, to see widespread impact on the share of households owning a wide range of livestock and on the total value of livestock

100 Note that Daidone et al. (2014a) – who use the same data – also report no impact on asset ownership (but no not present results within a table).

101 The HSNP operates in the Arid and Semi-Arid Lands - ASALs.

102 While the purchase of pesticides is not very common, a pest and armyworm outbreak severely affected many districts in Lesotho in January and February 2013. It should be noted, however, that a significant impact on purchase of pesticide was not found, except for non-labour constrained households.

104 Seidenfeld and Handa also note a shift away from maize for direct consumption and towards more cash cropping (groundnut, sweet potato) for sale.

105 Note that this impact is not sustained in the May 1999 data (data above is from October 1998).

106 The authors specify that these results are based on an SD-IPW estimation procedure which is not robust against time-invariant unobservables, so should be interpreted with these caveats in mind.

Page 158

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹⁰³ Pellerano et al. (2014) only find this impact using complementary models.

owned. Different studies measure impact in different ways, making it difficult to uniformly compare across programmes, but overall 12 of 17 studies assessed for this impact area report some form of positive impact on livestock ownership and value, with the remaining five reporting non-significant impacts (see Table 9.7).

Larger and significant impacts were mostly registered for smaller livestock (goats and chickens, for example), though there were some cases of households investing in cattle:

- In Malawi's SCT programme, goat, chicken and cattle ownership increased by 52, 59 and 1.5 percentage points, respectively, due to the transfer (Covarrubias et al., 2012).
- In Zambia, the CGP led to significant increases in the share of households with livestock (21 percentage points, from 48% at baseline) and in the total number of goats and poultry, with even stronger effects for large households (Daidone et al., 2014b). Interestingly, these impacts remained mostly unvaried following additional programme exposure (36 months versus 24 months) (AIR, 2014).
- Zambia's pilot Monze cash transfer evaluation similarly finds that after a three-year period intervention households are significantly more likely to own goats (27 percentage points) and chickens (9 percentage points) (Seidenfeld and Handa, 2011).
- In Uganda, SAGE had a significant impact on the share of households owning livestock overall (9.3 percentage points) and the share of households purchasing livestock in the previous 12 months, in particular for the VFSG (non-elderly) treatment group (26 percentage points) and for goats and cattle. Based on triangulations with qualitative research, the authors hypothesise that the findings are likely influenced by the 'lumpy' nature of the first few payment tranches received by a great many beneficiary households, as the programme tried to catch up after delays to the start of implementation (Merttens et al., 2015). The WINGS cash grant also significantly affected livestock purchases by 0.27 more cattle, two more fowl, and two more goats, sheep, or pigs (Blattman et al., 2015).
- In Kenya, the HSNP had a positive impact on retention of livestock, with HSNP households six percentage points more likely to own any livestock after two years of programme operations than control households (seven percentage points for goats/sheep).¹⁰⁷ Triangulated qualitative research stressed the importance of the cash transfer in retaining ownership of goats and sheep in the face of drought (Merttens et al., 2013).
- Also in Kenya, Haushofer and Shapiro (2013) find that the Give Directly experimental UCT increased livestock holdings by US\$85, a 51% increase relative to the control group mean, and 12% of the average transfer. This increase extends to all categories of livestock, with the largest increase in absolute terms occurring in cattle holdings.
- Reporting on Tanzania's community-based CCT programme under TASAF1, Evans et al. (2014) find that treatment households own 0.38 more indigenous goats and 1.1 more chickens, preferred to bulkier animals as they are affordable and easier to sell (and often described as 'store of value' within qualitative interviews).
- In Mexico, Todd et al. (2010) find a positive impact of Oportunidades on both the probability of owning livestock (3 percentage points) as well as the quantity owned, with almost double the impact on per capita ownership in May 1999 compared to October 1998. Similarly, Gertler et al. (2012) find that Oportunidades households were 17.1% (4.2 percentage points) more likely to own draught animals and 5.1% (3.6 percentage points) more likely to own production animals compared to control households, while also increasing the value of draught animals owned by 21.4% and the value of production animals owned by 16.6%. Interestingly, results were highest for households who did not own those assets at baseline.

Page 159

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

107 The authors warn that results are not fully conclusive – when controlling for other factors, impact on livestock ownership persisted only for large and fully mobile households.

Non-significant impacts were reported by Asfaw et al. (2014) for Kenya's cash transfer-OVC;¹⁰⁸ Daidone at al (2014a) and Pellerano et al. (2014) for Lesotho's CGP; Cheema et al. (2014) for Pakistan's BISP; Macours and Vakis (2009) for Nicaragua's one-year Atención a Crisis pilot programme and Maluccio (2010) for Nicaragua's Red de Protección Social (RPS).

Overall agricultural investment

This section has separated the analysis of impacts on crop production assets, crop production inputs and livestock assets (with the next section focusing on business and enterprise). However, a small selection of studies report on agricultural productive investment on aggregate. Specifically, in Mexico, Davis et al. (2002) find that the impact of an additional cash transfer peso on agricultural investment spending is high and significant for PROCAMPO, which is explicitly linked to agriculture and primarily received by men, but less so (yet still positive and significant) for PROGRESA. In Ghana, the IPA trial comparing insurance to capital grants found that farmers who received the capital grant hold US\$606 more post-harvest assets (livestock and grain) than the control group (Karlan et al., 2014).

Ultimate agricultural impacts: yields, productivity and income

Importantly, while this section does not explicitly report on indicators of ultimate productive outcomes (increases in yields, productivity or income),¹⁰⁹ some evidence from the selected studies does show the potential income multiplier effects of cash transfers. In Mexico, for example, Gertler et al. (2012) estimate that investments in productive assets increase agricultural income by almost 10% after 18 months of benefits. Analysing the issue from another angle, Todd et al. (2010) and Martinez (2004) find an increased likelihood of household food consumption from own production among PROGRESA and Bonosol households respectively.¹¹⁰ Studies from sub-Saharan Africa suggest similar impacts, including increases in the share of consumption, diet quality and dietary diversity from home crop production (Covarrubias et al., 2012; Asfaw et al., 2012) and in overall crop yields (Seidenfeld and Handa, 2011;¹¹¹ Daidone et al., 2014)¹¹² and livestock revenue and profit (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).

Business and enterprise

Impacts on the selected business and enterprise indicators were mixed and more difficult to interpret than others reported in this section because of the range of indicators adopted in different studies. Of the nine studies reporting any indicator for this specific outcome area (on the share of households who operated non-farm enterprises or who owned business assets, monetary value of the assets and total expenditure on business assets over the reference period), four found increases in the share of households involved in non-farm enterprise or on the total expenditure on business-related assets and stocks, while one found significant decreases (see Table 9.8).

In the two Blattman et al. studies (2012 and 2015), analysing two different enterprise-focused cash transfers operating in Uganda (the Youth Opportunities Program (YOP), and the Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS)), substantial investments deriving from the receipt of the cash grant are unsurprising. Within the YOP, treated individuals report an additional 656,016 Ugandan shillings (US\$298) in acquisitions and 523,318 shillings (US\$238) in asset stock, a 481%

Page 160

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹⁰⁸ Note that Asfaw et al. (2014) do find positive and significant impact only on the ownership of small livestock such as sheep and goats, for both smaller and female-headed households.

¹⁰⁹ This was due to inconsistent reporting across evaluations and lack of a sufficient evidence base to draw any meaningful conclusions.

¹¹⁰ Todd et al. (2010) specify that this included highly nutritious foods such as fruits, vegetables and meat, and link these findings to a significant increase in the use of land for agricultural production.

¹¹¹ This includes a shift towards cash crops as an impact of Zambia's CGP, with a 50% increase in the quantity of sweet potato produced (significant at 10% level), a 30% increase in the quantity of groundnut and a 16% reduction in the quantity of maize (Seidenfeld and Handa, 2011).

¹¹² In Lesotho, the CGP programme had a significant impact on the production of maize, the main staple commodity (around 39 kg more than the control group), especially for households with more available household labour.

increase in acquisitions and 150% increase in asset stock relative to the control group. The authors hypothesise that the group organisation could have acted as a disciplinary and commitment device (Blattman et al., 2012). Similarly, WINGS had significant impacts on whether both female and male recipients had started an enterprise since baseline 16 months after grants, with programme follow-up of any kind increasing the chances further (Blattman et al., 2015).¹¹³

In Zambia, beneficiary households of the CGP were significantly more likely to have a nonfarm enterprise (12 percentage points) and had higher profits than control households, with no differential impacts between the 24- and 36-month evaluation waves (AIR, 2014). Similar and more detailed results for the CGP are reported by Daidone et al. (2014b), who estimate that 24-month average treatment effects on the likelihood of having a non-farm business ranged from 16 to 18 percentage points for small and large households, respectively. They also show that on average CGP households operated enterprises for longer periods, more profitably and accumulating more assets than control businesses. In Mexico, Gertler et al. (2012) also found a positive impact of Oportunidades on participation in non-agricultural microenterprises of 3.3 percentage points (a 67.3% increase in the number of households operating such businesses).

Less clear-cut (negative, non-significant and positive for specific sub-groups) results were reported in several other studies, for example:

- negative impacts of Mexico's PROCAMPO on non-agricultural spending (due to strong programme focus on agricultural investment) and non-significant impacts of PROGRESA (Davis et al., 2002)
- non-significant impacts overall on household participation in a non-farm enterprise, but a positive impact (seven percentage points) for female-headed and negative (-11 percentage points) for male-headed households (Asfaw et al., 2014)
- negative yet non-significant impacts on the share of households operating a non-farm business in the 30 days prior to the survey for Lesotho's CGP (Daidone et al., 2014a)¹¹⁴
- negative yet non-significant impacts on participation in non-agricultural enterprise in Nicaragua's RPS (Maluccio, 2010)
- negative yet non-significant impact of Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis pilot on the value of households' productive assets (note impact is positive for those receiving a substantial cash grant) (Macours and Vakis, 2009).

9.4 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production indicators for women and girls

Most savings, investment and production indicators were generally measured at the household rather than individual level. However, eight studies reported sex-disaggregated outcomes, most often by separating analysis for female and male-headed households. Interestingly, three of these studies found some of the savings, investment and production results primarily driven by female-headed households, two find different types of impact for male versus female household heads or beneficiaries (e.g. different type of investment preferred), while another two find no significant differences between the two.¹¹⁵ Overall, these results appear to be driven by different levels of asset ownership at baseline and differing cultural roles and aptitudes. Table A.5.4.1 in Annex 5 reports specific findings.

114 Authors specify this was 'mainly driven by fewer households engaged in home brewing, an income-generating activity that is generally performed infrequently, at small scale, and often as an activity of last resort' (Daidone et al., 2014a).

115 Note that the eighth study does not compare across genders in any way, as most recipients were female.

Page 161

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹¹³ Detailed results are presented in Table 5.4.2 in Annex 5.

Female-headed versus male-headed households

- In Kenya, a significant impact on livestock ownership was only found for female-headed cash transfer-OVC beneficiary households and not male. Specifically, the impact was on small livestock such as sheep and goats, perhaps due to cultural norms. Similarly, the cash transfer-OVC transfer was associated with a seven percentage point increase in household participation in non-farm enterprise for female-headed households, mirrored by an 11 percentage point decrease for male-headed households. The transfer was reported as the most important second source of capital for female-headed households (Asfaw et al., 2012).
- In Malawi, female-headed households participating in the SCT scheme accumulated more agricultural tools and livestock than their male counterparts, consistent with the smaller initial agricultural asset base among this group (Covarrubias et al., 2012).
- In Ghana, impacts on crop selling and seeds was primarily driven by female-headed households, while LEAP's's impact on debt repayments and reduced loan holdings was also higher for female-headed households (Handa et al., 2014).
- In Tanzania, male-headed households were more likely to increase their ownership of goats (by 0.5 units), whereas female-headed households were more likely to increase their ownership of chickens (1.62 more chickens) (Evans et al., 2014).

In contrast, no significant differential results in consumption, production and investment decisions were found across male- and female-headed households by Haushofer and Shapiro (2013) in Kenya's Give Directly programme and by Blattman (2012) for the Youth Opportunities Programme.

Male versus female beneficiaries

- In Bolivia, male beneficiaries of the Bonosol pension programme were more likely to acquire goats, and female beneficiaries more likely to acquire pigs, while female beneficiaries were more likely to make expenditures on seed and pesticides than were male beneficiaries (Martinez, 2004).
- In Uganda, Blattman (2015) finds significant positive impacts of microenterprise support among ultra-poor women (who were by and large the main recipients of the WINGS programme – meaning no comparative analysis is possible). An evaluation of Uganda's YOP, however, does find significant gender differences in terms of the value of tools and machines and stock of raw materials, tools and machines acquired (Blattman et al., 2012). Specifically, while the programme and the large enterprise grants involved did substantially increase ownership of these assets, the increase was significantly greater for men than for women. However, the authors believe these differences to be driven in particular by upper tails and outliers rather than representing a fundamental difference across males and females in general.

9.5 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features

Compared to the other outcome areas, a relatively low number of studies (a total of 10) explicitly test the differential impact on savings, investment and production of different design and implementation features, yet the findings within the papers reviewed do shed some light on this topic.

- One study assesses the different impact of having a male or female **recipient**, finding nonsignificant differences across the two for impacts on savings and livestock ownership.
- One study explicitly compares the impact on savings and investment behaviour of different **transfer levels and frequency**, finding that lump-sum recipients accumulate significantly more non-land assets and large livestock, while monthly recipients accumulate more small livestock and birds. Overall savings and livestock holdings were also substantially higher for those receiving a larger transfer.
- Two reporting on variations in impact due to length of exposure, suggest sustained impacts over time.

Page 162

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- One study considered the effect of different **targeting designs**. It found impacts in this area to be consistently higher and more frequently highly significant for households receiving a grant based on demographic indicators of vulnerability rather than categorically targeted at older citizens.
- One study comparing different **payment modalities** found that, compared to standard distribution methods, mobile money transfers affected crop choices, but not ultimate production or savings.
- Four studies assessing the role of **complementary interventions and supply-side services** reported interesting and often mutually reinforcing interaction effects with cash transfers.

These studies are now discussed in more detail, including further insights from studies reporting on a wider range of outcomes on this topic, qualitative research and authors' interpretation of their data. Detailed findings are reported in Table A5.4.2 in Annex 5.

Main recipient

Thanks to the experimental nature of the Give Directly evaluation in Kenya, Haushofer and Shapiro (2013) assess the different impact of having a male or female **recipient**, finding non-significant differences across the two for impacts on savings and livestock ownership.

Transfer levels, frequency and predictability

Only one study for this outcome area explicitly compares the impact of different transfer levels and frequency on programme impacts. Haushofer and Shapiro (2013), reporting on Kenya's experimental Give Directly programme, compare the savings and investment behaviour of households that received nine monthly transfers to that of households that received one lumpsum transfer, and of households that receive a large transfer to those that receive a small one.¹¹⁶ Confirming the theory of change for this outcome area, they find that monthly recipient households accumulate a significantly lower value of non-land assets than lump-sum recipients.¹¹⁷ Similarly, impact on the value of large livestock owned (cows) was higher and more strongly significant (US\$55 versus US\$43) for lump-sum recipients, while impact on the value of small livestock and birds was highly significant only for recipients of monthly transfers (US\$9 and US\$13 respectively versus US\$3 and US\$1). The total value of savings was also marginally higher for recipients of monthly versus lump-sum transfers. Unsurprisingly, overall livestock holdings were also substantially higher for those receiving a larger transfer (US\$118 versus US\$62), with significant differences in impact for cows and small livestock especially. Similarly, the overall value of savings was higher for households receiving the larger transfer (US\$19 versus US\$8).

Blattman et al. (2012) also try to estimate impacts of transfer size by analysing the per capita value of the transfer ultimately received (given the grant was group based, smaller groups received more per capita). They find that the correlation between transfer size and both investments and ultimate performance is nearly zero and assume this may be because the de facto group size and distribution was greater than their de jure size.

Qualitative evidence and authors' interpretation of the data often point in the same direction, suggesting a strong link between transfer size and productive investments (Asfaw et al., 2014; Daidone et al., 2014a; Seidenfeld and Handa, 2011; Evans et al., 2014; Pellerano et al., 2014; Merttens et al., 2015). For example, the differential impact between Zambia's CGP or Malawi's SCT (over 30% of pre-transfer expenditure) on one side, and Ghana's LEAP, Lesotho's CGP and Kenya's cash transfer-OVC (around 10% of pre-transfer expenditure) on the other could ultimately be due to different transfer sizes (FAO, 2015). In some cases, eroded values over time were also cited as an issue (Asfaw et al., 2014). A quote from a Focus Group Discussant receiving the BISP transfer in Pakistan (quarterly transfer of 3,000 Pakistani rupees) eloquently summarises the issue:

116 Most of the impacts reported in this paragraph are extracted from the study's online annex (across village comparisons).

117 Note, however, that the most notable impact was on the purchase of tin roofs, not agricultural investments.

Page 163

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

'You are asking me as if the BISP is providing us with 10,000 Pakistani rupees every month. This amount is not even enough for monthly groceries and you are asking me if we have been able to invest it in some way...' (Male beneficiary focus group. District Nawabshah, Sindh).

Overall, a great majority of the studies also cited the importance of the transfers being received at predictable intervals – an essential factor for households to be able to plan investments and overcome credit and liquidity constraints.

Duration of exposure

Four studies of the ones selected for this outcome area present variations in impact over time, with evidence suggesting sustained (though not necessarily increasing) impacts over time. Specifically:

- Gertler et al. (2012) find that Oportunidades households receiving higher accumulated transfers over time (an additional four years) had consumption levels 5.6% higher than for the original control households, suggesting that returns on investments made by treatment households in the initial 18-month experimental period (when controls were not yet receiving cash) did in fact translate into improvements in long-term living standards.
- Maluccio (2010) shows no significant differential impact over time for Nicaragua's RPS between 2002 and 2004.

Conditionality

While none of the papers analysed for this outcome area explicitly tests the role of CCTs versus UCTs or differential impact of different types of conditionality, several studies reviewed discuss the strong role played by the messaging associated with the transfer ('implicit' conditionality). For example, for Lesotho Pellerano et al. (2014) and Daidone et al. (2014a) hypothesise that the strong messaging encouraging human capital and child-related expenditures for the CGP negatively affected households' propensity to invest the additional cash in productive assets or activities. The negative impact of human-capital-focused conditionality on productive investment is also touched upon within Davis et al. (2002) and Maluccio (2010) for Mexico's Oportunidades programme (versus PROCAMPO) and Nicaragua's RPS respectively.

Targeting

Only one study, the endline evaluation by Merttens et al. (2015) of Uganda's SAGE programme, explicitly compares different targeting mechanisms when referring to productive impacts. Across the range of indicators reported, apart from indicators on borrowing, impacts are consistently higher and more frequently highly significant for households receiving the Vulnerable Family Support Grant (VFSG, targeted with a composite index based on demographic indicators of vulnerability) rather than the Senior Citizen Grant (SCG, a form of social pension). Importantly, it should be noted that VFSG households tend to have higher dependency ratios and lower numbers of working-age adults compared to SCG households. However, for some indicators not reported within this study, most notably the amount of land cultivated, SCG beneficiaries fared better than VFSG ones.

Several insights into the role of targeting on mediating productive impacts were also given by other authors while commenting their results. For example, Asfaw et al. (2014); Merttens et al. (2013) and Todd et al. (2010) draw attention to the importance of the vibrancy of local agriculture and markets, with implications for geographic targeting. These same authors, together with Covarrubias et al. (2012) and Davis et al. (2002), discuss differences in productive impacts based on a households' existing asset base, with households having access to land and labour (and so potentially better-off) more capable of investing productively. Similarly, explicitly targeting the poorest and most marginalised households will mediate the overall level of priority given to immediate consumption needs over investment (especially when the transfer amount is low) (Merttens et al., 2013; Maluccio, 2010) and behaviours linked to social stigma (Handa et al., 2014; Pellerano et al., 2014). Importantly, moreover, the lack of clarity surrounding some targeting approaches and their implementation may lead beneficiaries to sacrifice productive investment for fear they may compromise eligibility for the transfer (Covarrubias et al., 2012).

Page 164

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Payment mechanism

In a unique study aimed at untangling the differential effect of three different transfer modalities, Aker et al. (2011) find that Niger's Zap mobile money programme did not have an impact upon the likelihood of cultivating, but did affect crop choices, with households in Zap villages growing 0.36–0.49 more types of crop than those in placebo and manual cash villages (a 12–16% increase as compared with the manual cash intervention). Interestingly, these effects are driven by the cultivation of marginal cash crops such as vouandzou and okra,¹¹⁸ rather than traditional staple food and cash crops (millet, sorghum, cowpeas and peanuts). However, the changes in crop choice did not affect production levels. Nor were savings levels affected, as 98% of Zap households withdrew the full amount of their cash at one time (there was a cost associated with multiple withdrawals). These impacts, taken together with further significant impacts on the number of asset categories owned by Zap households, sheds important light on the relative benefits of m-transfers – especially given that these were also associated with reduced costs for programme recipients and the implementing agency.

Some further evidence emerges within the reviewed studies. For example, despite being paid through purposely created bank accounts, cash transfers from Kazakhstan's BOTA programme had no impact on household saving behaviour. The authors suggest that this is due to beneficiaries being instructed not to use the bank account for any savings other than the CCT while in the programme¹¹⁹ (O'Brien et al., 2013).¹²⁰

Complementary interventions and supply-side services

Blattman et al. (2015) provide insights into the role of **supervision and training**, beyond the imposition of conditionality. For example, for WINGS grant-holders, savings were 19% higher among those receiving two follow-up visits (supervision) and an additional 22% higher with five follow-ups (supervision and advice). Similarly, a year after the grants, follow-up of any kind increased business start-up and survival, by ten percentage points for those receiving supervision (two follow-ups) and 11 percentage points for those receiving further follow-ups with advice. Nevertheless, the authors warn that the marginal impacts of supervision and advice were modest given that they represented a very high percentage of programme cost.

A further study using the same data (Green et al., 2015) found that a low-cost variation to programme delivery – basic training in couples' communication and problem solving, and joint participation in the program with a partner – had little impact on economic outcomes. Involving household partners led to a nine percentage point decrease in the proportion of women currently engaged in business and a six percentage point increase in the proportion of women belonging to a savings group. On the other hand, in explaining the positive impacts in investment of the relatively unconditional, decentralised YOP targeted at poor entrepreneurs Blattman et al. (2012) hypothesise that group organisation could have acted as a disciplinary and commitment device.

The Macours and Vakis (2009) study comparing the effects of a CCT with CCT plus vocational training and CCT plus a productive investment grant found that, two years after the end of the intervention, households eligible for the complementary interventions were better protected against the negative impact of drought shocks by shifting households' income portfolios towards more diversification, and increasing returns from such activities. This was particularly the case for those receiving the productive grant. For example, CCT+grant households had higher profits from non-agricultural self-employment activities, and higher values from sale or self-consumption of livestock products, with significant and substantial impacts. Similarly, the Karlan et al. (2014)

118 These are cash crops that are primarily grown by women on marginal lands in Niger.

119 This is so that staff can check the balance to ensure that households have been paid the right amount.

Page 165

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹²⁰ In a paper that we do not include in this study, as it does not report on relevant outcomes, Masino and Nino-Zarazua (2014) compare Oportunidades' early standard transfer approach (cash handed out at distribution points) with the new electronic payment system which involves the opening of bank accounts for beneficiaries in non-banking institutions. They find that households who received their transfer in a bank account decreased their participation in informal saving arrangements (possibly because of their higher opportunity and financial costs) and were more likely (8 percentage points) to use their savings to cope with idiosyncratic shocks.

study comparing the use of a cash grant with rainfall insurance, shows that the cumulative effect of both is higher, and particularly when measuring the value of harvest.

Reporting on indicators that were not selected for this study, but also providing important insights, Sadoulet, de Janvry and Davis (2001) show that the positive multiplier effects in agriculture generated by the PROCAMPO transfer are also strongly driven by complementary technical assistance.

Several important insights into the role of the wider enabling environment for productive impacts were offered by the study's authors when commenting their findings. For example, explaining the lack of impacts on business and enterprise for Nicaragua's RPS, Maluccio (2010) mentions the expected low marginal returns of such activities due to lack of complementary infrastructure and services and/or poor macroeconomic conditions. Similarly, Asfaw et al. (2014), Merttens et al. (2013) and Todd et al. (2010) explain non-significant impacts because of the lack of vibrant local agriculture or of access to land – an issue which is also stressed by Covarrubias et al. (2012), who discuss the fundamental role of a household's initial asset base (not only land and physical assets, but also labour capacity).

9.6 Policy implications

Overall, it is clear from the findings presented in this section that cash transfers do have the potential to alter households' credit and liquidity constraints, as discussed in the conceptual framework, leading to productive impacts (and related impacts on saving and borrowing behaviour).

This is the case even though a vast majority of existing cash transfers prioritise investments on human capital. While results were not widespread across all programmes, it is clear that policymakers interested in enhancing the productive potential of households both in agriculture and beyond should consider how to maximise these impacts without distorting the poverty-alleviation focus of cash transfer programmes and social protection more widely (as trade-offs between consumption-smoothing and productive objectives could exist).

These findings are of particular importance in low- and middle-income countries, where extreme poverty is disproportionately concentrated in rural areas (as are many cash transfer programmes), and the majority of men and women depend on agriculture for their livelihoods (FAO, 2015), all the more as climate change is set to worsen the shocks and challenges faced by rural households.

The literature on this impact area highlighted some important findings related to programme design and implementation that are of policy relevance. A first set of considerations relates to a cash transfer's core design features: its value, frequency and related payment system. First, ensuring the **transfer size** responds to the productive impact that is intended to be achieved.¹²¹ The evidence shows that higher transfers are associated with higher productive impacts and saving rates, with the highest impacts achieved by coupling cash transfers with a lump-sum larger grant aimed explicitly at productive investment. Second, ensuring payments are **predictable and reliable**, enhancing beneficiaries' creditworthiness, risk-management capacity and planning. In a couple of cases reviewed within this paper, where productive impacts were modest or null (CGP in Lesotho and LEAP in Ghana), 'lumpiness' of payments was the result of implementation failures (several disbursements received in one go) rather than deliberate design. As for other impact areas, the **timing** of the transfer could also be designed to maximise impact, by tying payments to specific moments within the local agricultural cycle.

A second set of considerations relates to the potential use of **explicit or implicit conditionalities** linked to the cash transfer programme. In the CCTs reviewed, including where conditionality was only implicit and framed in terms of strong labelling (e.g. the CGP in Lesotho), recipients understandably favoured human capital investments over productive investments. Potentially,

Page 166

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

121 While this is relatively easy for emergency cash transfers, where the size of the transfer can be benchmarked to the value of assets lost, it is more complex for developmental programmes, where a deeper understanding of local markets and costs is necessary (Beazley and Farhat, 2016).

some labelling linked to productive investments could therefore be an option (i.e. stressing that this is not against programme requirements). A couple of studies also highlighted the potential role of **complementary/synergic initiatives** in enhancing cash transfer impacts. For example, in Uganda's WINGS and YOP grants aimed at enhancing youth entrepreneurship, supervision visits (monitoring), additional training and group control mechanisms all had a role in enhancing the effectiveness of the grants – though at a high programme cost. These approaches are at the core of what is usually referred to as the 'graduation agenda'. The evidence also discussed the potential of further linking agricultural policies (inputs subsidies, credit to agriculture, weather and crop insurance and institutional procurement) with cash transfers (FAO, 2015).

Findings related to **targeting** and choice of **main recipient** were more difficult to interpret, but overall there was some evidence that higher impacts were concentrated within households that were less labour and land constrained, and in areas with a more vibrant local economy (e.g. higher population density, liquid markets, adequate public infrastructure). Choosing to explicitly target only these types of households and areas would present trade-offs with most of the core objectives of existing cash transfer programmes, but policy-makers could consider a multipronged approach for different types of households. As for the choice of main recipient, findings for several countries indicated that female-headed households often invested more – and on different assets and activities – than their male counterparts, challenging the idea that female recipients solely focus their transfers on their children.

Table 9.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on saving behaviour

		-		-			
#	Study	Programme and country	Variable and treatment population (e.g. children under five)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/ explanation
1	Angelucci et al. (2012)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Proportion of households saving (2004)	0.06	Percentage point change	5%	
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Savings amount (pesos) (2004)	-20.5	Change in pesos	NS	
2	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Proportion of households with savings	0.048	Percentage point change	NS	
		BISP (Pakistan)	Mean value of total savings (Pakistani rupees)	-594.5	Change in rupees	NS	
3	Daidone et al. (2014a)	CGP (Lesotho)	Share of households saving	-0.024	Percentage point change	NS	
		CGP (Lesotho)	Total amount saved (Lesotho loti)	-26.7	Change in loti	NS	
4	Daidone et al. (2014b)	CGP (Zambia)	Share of households saving cash	0.24	Percentage point change	5%	
		CGP (Zambia)	Amount saved Zambian kwacha	54.4	Change in kwacha	5%	
5	Evans et al. (2014)	Community-based CCT (Tanzania)	Whether someone in the household has non-bank savings	0.03	Percentage point change	NS	
6	Handa et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Any Savings	0.108	% change	NS	
7	Haushofer	Give Directly (Kenya)	Value of savings (US\$)	10.22	Level change	1%	
	and Shapiro (2013)	Give Directly (Kenya)	Share of households who saved money using M-Pesa	0.10	Percentage point change	1%	
8	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Share of households that currently have cash savings	0.073	Percentage point change	10%	
9	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE – SCG (Uganda)	Share of households reporting current cash savings (SCG)	0.049	Percentage point change	NS	SCG
		SAGE – VFSG (Uganda)	Share of households reporting current cash savings (VFSG)	0.095	Percentage point change	5%	VFSG
		SAGE – SCG (Uganda)	Mean total value of current savings, for those with any savings (2012 prices, Ugandan shillings) – (SCG)	-156,000	Level change	NS	SCG
		SAGE – VFSG (Uganda)	Mean total value of current savings, for those with any savings (2012 prices, Ugandan shillings) (VSFG)	90,500	Level change	NS	VFSG
10	Pellerano et al. (2014)	CGP (Lesotho)	Share of households who in the 12 months prior to the survey saved with or added money to any informal or formal savings account	No impact	N/A	NS	Depends on specific saving institution

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS = not significant at 10% significance level or below.

Page 167 Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 9.4: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on borrowing behaviour

#	Study	Country and programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. children under five)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details / explanation
1	Air (2014)	CGP (Zambia)	Borrowed money in last 6 months	-0.018	Percentage point change	NS	
		CGP (Zambia)	Amount owed (ZMK)	-27.067	Change in ZMK	NS	
		CGP (Zambia)	Amount borrowed last 6 months (ZMK)	1.387	Change in ZMK	NS	
		CGP (Zambia)	Still owes money from over 6 months before	-0.073	Percentage point change	5%	
2	Angelucci et al. (2012)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Proportion of households in debt	-0.217	Percentage point change	1%	
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Debt amount (pesos)	-991.65	Change in pesos	1%	
3	Asfaw et al. (2014)	Cash transfer/OVC (Kenya)	Received loan	0.007	Percentage point change	NS	
		Cash transfer/OVC (Kenya)	Sought credit	0.01	Percentage point change	NS	
4	Cheema et al.	BISP (Pakistan)	Proportion of households with current loans	-0.133	Percentage point change	NS	
	(2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Mean value of total outstanding loans (PKR)	-12,836	Change in PKR	NS	
5	Daidone et al.	CGP (Lesotho)	Share of households borrowing	0.003	Percentage point change	NS	
	(2014a)	CGP (Lesotho)	Total amount borrowed (LSL)	-114.7	Change in LSL	NS	
6	Daidone et al.	CGP (Zambia)	Share of households repaying loan	0.017	Percentage point change	5%	
	(2014b)	CGP (Zambia)	Share of households receiving loan	-0.077	Percentage point change	5%	
7	Evans et al. (2014)	Community-based CCT (Tanzania)	Whether someone in the household has taken out a loan in the last year	-0.0	Percentage point change	NS	
8	Gertler et al. (2012)	Mexico, Oportunidades	Productive loans	0.004	Percentage point change	5%	Sample: 1998–1999
9	Handa et al.	LEAP (Ghana)	Hold loan	-0.032	Percentage point change	NS	
	(2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Amount outstanding	-0.191	Change in GHS	NS	
10	Karlan et al. (2014)	IPA trial (Ghana)	Borrowed in past 12 months from any source	-0.06	Percentage point change	NS	As effect of capital grant only
11	Svarch (2009)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Probability of having loans	0.16	Percentage point change	1%	
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Amount of the loan application	-1470.72	Change in pesos	10%	
12	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Share of households that have borrowed money in the last 12 months	0.097	Percentage point change	10%	
13	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE – SCG (Uganda)	Share of households reporting borrowing money in last 12 months (SCG)	0.073	Percentage point change	10%	SCG
		SAGE – VFSG (Uganda)	Share of households reporting borrowing money in last 12 months (VFSG)	-0.013	Percentage point change	NS	VFSG
		SAGE – SCG (Uganda)	Mean total value of current outstanding debt, for those with outstanding debt (2012 prices, UGX) (SCG)	7,500	Change in UGX	NS	SCG
		SAGE – VFSG (Uganda)	Mean total value of current outstanding debt, for those with outstanding debt (2012 prices, UGX) (VFSG)	31000	Change in UGX	NS	VFSG
		SAGE – SCG (Uganda)	Share of households reporting being able to borrow a large (e.g. UGX 60,000 or more) amount of cash in an emergency (SCG)	0.11	Percentage point change	1%	SCG
		SAGE – VFSG (Uganda)	Share of households reporting being able to borrow a large (e.g. UGX 60,000 or more) amount of cash in an emergency (VFSG)	0.1	Percentage point change	5%	VFSG
14	0'Brien et al. (2013)	BOTA (Kazakhstan)	% of all households with household debt from any source	0.1	Percentage point change	10%	
15	Pellerano et al. (2014)	CGP (Lesotho)	Share of households who borrowed in the 12 month prior to the survey	0.031	Percentage point change	NS	
		CGP (Lesotho)	Average amount currently owed (among those who owe anything, maloti, 2013 prices)	-86.59	Change in LSL	NS	

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 168

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 9.5: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on agricultural assets

#	Study	Country and programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. children under five)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details / explanation
1	Air (2014)	CGP (Zambia)	Agricultural implements index – share (36 month impact)	0.208	Percentage point change	5%	
2	Covarrubias et al. (2012)	Mchinji SCT (Malawi)	Household ownership of hoes	0.159	Percentage point change	1%	
		Mchinji SCT (Malawi)	Household ownership of axes	0.322	Percentage point change	1%	
		Mchinji SCT (Malawi)	Household ownership of sickles	0.298	Percentage point change	1%	
3	Daidone et al.	CGP (Zambia)	Share of households with axes	0.008	Percentage point change	NS	
	(2014b)	CGP (Zambia)	Share of households with hoes	0.01	Percentage point change	NS	
		CGP (Zambia)	Share of households with hammers	0.044	Percentage point change	5%	
		CGP (Zambia)	Share of households with ploughs	0.036	Percentage point change	5%	
		CGP (Zambia)	Number of axes owned	0.184	Level change (number)	5%	
		CGP (Zambia)	Number of hoes owned	0.296	Level change (number)	5%	
		CGP (Zambia)	Number of hammers owned	0.042	Level change (number)	NS	
		CGP (Zambia)	Number of ploughs owned	0.033	Level change (number)	NS	
4	Haushofer and Shapiro (2013)	Give Directly cash transfer (Kenya)	Value of agricultural tools (US\$)	1.61	Change in US\$	NS	
5	Maluccio (2010)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Number of productive agricultural goods (2004) – ploughs, water pumps, sprayers, tools, and carts	-0.023	Level change (number)	NS	Note that value was significant and positive in 2002
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Value of productive agricultural goods (2004) – ploughs, water pumps, sprayers, tools, and carts	-18.2	Change in pesos	NS	
6	Merttens et al.	Kenya, HSNP	Proportion of households owning plough	0	Percentage point change	NS	
	(2013)	Kenya, HSNP	Proportion of households owning axe	0.10	Percentage point change	NS	
		Kenya, HSNP	Mean value of non-livestock productive assets (Kenyan shillings)	-220	Change in shillings	NS	
7	Pellerano et al. (2014)	Lesotho, CGP	Proportion of households who in the 12 months prior to the survey Spent any money to purchase crop production assets	-0.0028	Percentage point change	NS	
8	Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	Monze district cash transfer (Zambia)	Ownership small tools – axe	0.042	Percentage point change	NS	
		Monze district cash transfer (Zambia)	Ownership small tools - hoe	0.017	Percentage point change	NS	

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 169

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 9.6: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on agricultural inputs

#	Study	Programme and country	Variable and treatment population (e.g. children under five)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/ explanation
1	Asfaw et al. (2014)	Cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Expenditure (Kenyan shillings) per acre on seeds	-104.8	Change in shillings	5%	
		Cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Expenditure (shillings) per acre on pesticide	-7.428	Change in shillings	NS	
		Cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Expenditure on inorganic fertiliser	-72.45	Change in shillings	NS	
		Cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Use of seeds	-0.015	Percentage point change	NS	
		Cash transfer-OVC (Kenya) ¹²²	Use of pesticide	-0.031	Percentage point change	NS	
		Cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Use of inorganic fertiliser	-0.028	Percentage point change	NS	
2	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households purchasing any crop input	0.051	Percentage point change	NS	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Total expenditure on any input (Lesotho loti)	15.085	Change in loti	NS	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households purchasing seeds	0.074	Percentage point change	10%	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households purchasing inorganic fertiliser	0.058	Percentage point change	10%	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households purchasing organic fertiliser	0.010	Percentage point change	NS	
		LCGP (Lesotho)123	Share of households purchasing pesticide	0.051	Percentage point change	NS	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households using pesticide	0.079	Percentage point change	5%	
3	Daidone et al. (2014b)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households with any input expenditure	0.177	Percentage point change	5%	
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Crop expenditure (amount Zambian kwacha)	31.2	Change in kwacha	5%	
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households reporting expenditure on seeds	0.100	Percentage point change	5%	
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households reporting expenditure on fertiliser	0.032	Percentage point change	5%	
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households reporting expenditure on pesticides	0.002	Percentage point change	NS	
4	Handa et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Used Fertiliser	-0.024	Percentage point change	NS	
		LEAP (Ghana)	Seeds Expenses (value)	24.676	Change in GHS	10%	
5	Karlan et al. (2014)	IPA trial (Ghana)	Value of chemicals used (inputs) – (as result of capital grant treatment alone)	55.63	Change in value ¹²⁴	1%	
6	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Proportion of households who in the 12 months prior to the survey Spent any money to purchase inputs for crop production	-0.057	Percentage point change	NS	
7	Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	Monze district cash transfer (Zambia)	Likelihood of having any expenditure on fertiliser	0.079	Percentage point change	5%	
8	Todd et al. (2010)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Household reports agricultural spending (Oct 1998)	0.049	Percentage point change	5%	
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Household reports agricultural spending (May 1999)	0.019	Percentage point change	NS	

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

122 Significant negative impacts for large and female-headed households.

123 Note there is a highly significant impact for non-labour-constrained households.

124 Currency unclear from paper (US dollars or Ghanaian cedis)

Page 170

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 9.7: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on livestock assets

#	Study	Country and programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. children under five)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/ explanation
1	Air (2014)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Livestock index – share	0.403	Percentage point change	5%	36 month impact
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Livestock index – number owned	0.403	Percentage point change	5%	36 month impact
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households owning cows	0.006	Percentage point change	NS ¹²⁵	36 month impact
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households owning cattle	0.104	Percentage point change	5%	36 month impact
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households owning goats	0.016	Percentage point change	NS	36 month impact
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households owning chickens	0.175	Percentage point change	5%	36 month impact
2	Asfaw et al. (2014)	cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Share of households owning large livestock (cattle, donkey, etc.)	0.038	Percentage point change	NS	
		cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Share of households owning small livestock (sheep, goat, etc.)	0.154	Percentage point change	NS	
3	Blattman (2015)	WINGS (Uganda)	Number of cattle and oxen	0.275	Level change (Number)	1%	No group Training, 16 months after grants
		WINGS (Uganda)	Number of donkeys, goats, sheep and pigs	1.792	Level change (Number)	1%	As above
		WINGS (Uganda)	Number of poultry	1.988	Level change (Number)	1%	As above ³
4	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Proportion of households who own any livestock	0.021	Percentage point change	NS	
		BISP (Pakistan)	Mean value of livestock (Tropical Livestock Unit)	0.0386	Level change	NS	
5	Covarrubias et al. (2012)	SCTP (Malawi)	Household ownership of goats	0.522	Percentage point change	1%	
		SCTP (Malawi)	Household ownership of cattle	0.015	Percentage point change	5%	
		SCTP (Malawi)	Household ownership of chickens	0.593	Percentage point change	1%	
6	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households who own livestock	0.028	Percentage point change	NS	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Total number of livestock owned	-0	Level change (Number)	NS	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households who own goats	0.007	Percentage point change	NS	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households who own cattle	-0.027	Percentage point change	NS	
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households who own pigs	0.078	Percentage point change	5%	
7	Daidone et al. (2014b)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households who own cows	0.033	Percentage point change	NS	
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households who own other cattle	0.084	Percentage point change	5%	
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households who own goats	0.036	Percentage point change	5%	
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households who own chickens	0.154	Percentage point change	5%	
8	Evans et al. (2014)	Community-based CCT (Tanzania)	Number of indigenous cows (including calves)	-0.03	Percentage point change	NS	
		Community-based CCT (Tanzania)	Number of indigenous goats (including kids)	0.38	Percentage point change	5%	
		Community-based CCT (Tanzania)	Number of local chickens (excluding chicks)	1.09	Percentage point change	1%	
		Community-based CCT (Tanzania)	Number of pigs	-0.02	Percentage point change	NS	

continued on next page

Page 171

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 9.7: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on livestock assets continued

#	Study	Country and programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. children under five)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/ explanation
9	Gertler et al. (2012)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Draught animal ownership	0.042	Percentage point change	1%	Sample: 1998 to November 1999 ¹²⁶
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Productive animal ownership	0.036	Percentage point change	5%	As above
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Value of draught animals	65.124	Change in pesos	5%	As above
		Oportunidades (mexico)	Value of productive animal	186.83	Change in pesos	1%	As above
10	Haushofer and Shapiro (2013)	Give Directly (Kenya)	Value of livestock	84.52	Change in US\$	1%	
11	Macours and Vakis (2009)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Value of livestock sold or self-consumed	-2.519	Change in Córdobas	NS	Households receiving cash transfer only
12	Maluccio (2010)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Number of types of animals owned (cattle, work animals and poultry)	-0.008	Level change (number)	NS	2004
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Value of all animals owned (cattle, work animals and poultry)	208.5	Change in Córdobas	NS	2004
13	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Share of households owning any livestock	0.061	Percentage point change	10%	
		HSNP (Kenya)	Share of households owning goats and sheep	0.071	Percentage point change	5%	
		HSNP (Kenya)	Share of households owning cattle	-0.018	Percentage point change	NS	
14	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE (Uganda)	Share of HHs owning livestock (SCG)	0.041	Percentage point change	NS	SCG)
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share of HHs owning livestock ¹²⁷ (VFSG)	0.093	Percentage point change	1%	VFSG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share of households purchasing livestock in last 12 months (SCG)	0.093	Percentage point change	5%	SCG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share ofhouseholds purchasing livestock in last 12 months (VFSG)	0.262	Percentage point change	1%	VFSG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share of households owning cattle (SCG)	-0.002	Percentage point change	NS	SCG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share of households owning cattle (VFSG)	0.067	Percentage point change	1%	VFSG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share of households owning goats (SCG)	0.021	Percentage point change	NS	SCG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share of households owning goats (VFSG)	0.073	Percentage point change	5%	VFSG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share of households owning pigs (SCG)	0.015	Percentage point change	NS	SCG
		SAGE (Uganda)	Share of households owning pigs (VFSG)	0.025	Percentage point change	NS	VFSG
15	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCSG (Lesotho)	Share of households owning any livestock in the 12 months prior to the survey	0.496	Percentage point change	NS	
16	Seidenfeld and Handa (2011)	CTP (Zambia)	Ownership chicken	0.088	Percentage point change	10%	
		CTP (Zambia)	Ownership pig	0.04	Percentage point change	NS	
		CTP (Zambia)	Ownership goat	0.271	Percentage point change	5%	
		CTP (Zambia)	Ownership cattle	-0.022	Percentage point change	NS	

continued on next page

126 Note we do not report the 2003 sample results as both treatment and control branches are receiving at that time.

127 Note that impacts for poultry, sheep, camels and donkeys are also all positive but non-significant.

Page 172

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 9.7: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on livestock assets continued

#	Study	Country and programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. children under five)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details/ explanation
17	Todd et al. (2010)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Household owns livestock (Oct 1998)	0.031	Percentage point change	10%	
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Per capita livestock owned (Oct 1998)	0.016	Level change (number)	10%	
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Household owns livestock (May 1999)	0.033	Percentage point change	5%	
		Oportunidades (Mexico)	Per capita livestock owned (May 1999)	0.033	Level change (number)	1%	

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Table 9.8: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on business and enterprise

#	Study	Country and programme	Variable and treatment population (e.g. children under five)	Effect	Measure of change	Significance	Details / explanation
1	Air (2014)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Household operates a non- farm enterprise	0.121	Percentage point change	5%	
2	Asfaw et al. (2014)	cash transfer-OVC (Kenya)	Household participation in non-farm enterprise	0.016	Percentage point change	NS	Note increase is significant (7 percentage points) for female-headed HHs ¹²⁸
3	Blattman et al. (2012)	YOP (Uganda)	Tools and machines acquired since baseline	791.904	Change in 000s Ugandan shillings	1%	cash transfer + training and business start-up costs
		YOP (Uganda)	Stock of raw materials, tools, and machines	658.554	Change in 000s shillings	1%	Same as above
4	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Share of households with off-farm business in the last 12 months	-0.038	Percentage point change	NS	
5	Daidone et al. (2014b)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households operating a Non-Farm Enterprise	0.166	Percentage point change	5%	
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Share of households owning business assets	0.045	Percentage point change	5%	
6	Davis et al. (2002)	PROCAMPO (Mexico)	Impact of additional peso on non-agricultural investment spending – PROCAMPO	-5.253	Change in pesos	5%	Agricultural focus
		PROGRESA (Mexico)	Impact of additional peso on non-agricultural investment spending – PROGRESA	0.265	Change in pesos	NS	Human capital focus
7	Gertler et al. (2012)	Oportunidades (Mexico)	Running microenterprise	0.033	Percentage point change	5%	Sample: 1998 to 1999 ¹²⁹
8	Macours and Vakis (2009)	Atención A Crisis (Nicaragua)	Value of business assets (cash transfer only)	-92.68	Level change	NS	
9	Maluccio (2010)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Participation in non- agricultural home production, retail, or services – 2004	0.015	Percentage point change	NS	

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

128 Male-headed households, on the other hand, show a negative impact (-11pp).

129 Note we do not report the 2003 sample results as both treatment and control branches were receiving at that time.

Page 173

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Page 174

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Box 10.1: Summary of evidence for employment outcomes

Evidence of the impact of cash transfers on employment outcomes was extracted from a total of 74 studies. By far the largest number report on CCT programmes in Latin America. Regionally, the next most represented area is sub-Saharan Africa, with 19 studies reporting on a programme in the region for at least one of the employment indicators being reviewed. In contrast to most studies on Latin America, most of the studies on sub-Saharan Africa report on some form of regular transfer for poverty reduction, while two studies report on large enterprise grants, and one reports on a social pension. It is important to bear these programme differences in mind when interpreting the results.

Overall effects of cash transfers on selected employment indicators:

- For just over half of studies reporting on adult work, the cash transfer does *not* have a statistically significant impact on adult work. Among those studies reporting a significant effect among adults of working age, the majority find an increase in work participation and intensity. In the cases where a reduction in work participation or work intensity is reported, these reflect a reduction in participation among the elderly, those caring for dependents or are linked to reductions in casual work.
 - 14 studies report on the effect on overall adult labour force participation: among the eight that report on adults of working age, four found statistically significant impacts, three being increases and one a decrease. Among the two studies on elderly adults, one found a significant effect from a social pension in Mexico, of reducing pensioners working for pay (Galiani et al., 2014).
 - 11 studies estimate the impact of cash transfers on overall adult labour force participation by sector/ type of employment. Of these, five find at least one significant effect, with three suggesting increased selfemployment (Cheema et al., 2014; Blattman et al., 2015; Macours et al., 2012), one an increase in unpaid family work (among the elderly) (Galiani et al., 2014) and two showing reductions in casual work outside the household (Cheema et al., 2014; Daidone et al., 2014).
 - 11 studies report on **overall adult intensity of work**, with six studies associated with statistically significant impacts. Three involved reductions in time worked, though one was among the elderly (Kassouf and Oliveira, 2012) and another was only significant for those who did not receive all disbursements (Bazzi et al., 2012). The two interventions resulting in increases in time spent working resulted from large enterprise grants in Uganda YOP and WINGS which were specifically intended to increase employment.
 - 10 studies report the impact of cash transfers on the intensity of adult labour in different sectors/types of employment; of these, seven report a statistically significant effect. These include increasing time spent on work, including market activities and skilled work in the two enterprise grants in Uganda, a shift from paid work to unpaid work due to a social pension among elderly adults in Mexico, and a combination of increases and decreases in time spent in agricultural employment.
 - Three studies report on the impact on migration, with findings showing that cash transfers can either increase or decrease the probability of migrating internally or internationally.
- For child labour, there is evidence that cash transfer programmes have played a role in reducing the prevalence and intensity of overall child labour, though more significant effects are found for intensity (hours worked) than for prevalence (whether working/ not working).
 - In terms of child labour participation, 19 studies estimate cash transfer impacts on child labour participation. Of the eight studies that find any significant impact, all show a decrease in child labour. In terms of child labour participation by sub-sector, of the eight studies, five report significant results, indicating reductions in various forms of market work, domestic work, own-farm work and one shift from physical labour to non-physical labour.
 - Five studies report on impacts on the intensity of overall child labour. All found statistically significant reductions in the hours spent on work, ranging from 0.3 fewer hours a week in Colombia's SCAE (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2008) to 2.5 fewer hours a week in Ecuador's BDH (Schady and Araujo, 2006).
 - Four studies report cash transfer impacts on number of hours worked by children by sector/type of work. Three studies report at least one significant result, showing a mixture of increased time on a family enterprise, reductions in time spent on own-farm work and reduced time on domestic work outside the household.

Page 175

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Box 10.1: Summary of evidence for employment outcomes

Variation in outcomes by gender:

The evidence extracted shows some differential effects for men and women for labour force participation and work intensity, but one of the main emerging themes around gendered effects relates to changes in time allocation to different activities, with a number of studies finding an increase in time spent on domestic work by women. Studies focusing on children tend to show a reduction in work for both girls and boys.

- 16 studies report effects on labour participation among women. Seven find at least one significant impact, with
 results suggesting a heterogeneous range of effects. Seven papers then report impacts on labour participation
 by sector/type of employment among women. Two of these report at least one statistically significant result for
 women, including a shift from non-farm to farm work for elderly women in Lesotho's CGP (Daidone et al., 2014).
- 10 studies report effects on intensity of work among women. At least one significant result is found in eight of these, though no clear patterns emerge. Six papers also report the impact of cash transfers on the number of hours worked by women by sector/type of employment. Of these, three studies find at least one statistically significant result, including increases in time spent on domestic work in Colombia and Mexico.
- 20 studies report **effects on child labour participation among girls**, of which 12 report a significant effect with impacts generally negative for both boys and girls.
- Eight studies report estimates of the impact of cash transfers on **girls working by sector**. Five report significant effects, most suggesting reductions across the board, except an increase in household chores in Malawi's SCTP (Miller and Tsoka, 2012).
- Seven studies report estimates of the impact of cash transfers on the **number of hours worked by girls** in different sectors. Five report at least one statistically significant finding, including four studies showing declines in time spent on domestic work in Colombia, Mexico and Nicaragua, and an increase in time on family enterprise work in Indonesia (World Bank, 2011).

Role of design and implementation features:

- The evidence base on the role of design and implementation features remains limited. Findings discussed below include:
 - Some limited evidence linking higher *transfer levels* in a CCT and social pension with higher reductions in working hours (Dabalen et al., 2008; Bertrand et al., 2003).
 - An example of *delays in transfer receipt* being associated with a decline in working hours compared to no significant decline without the delays (Bazzi et al., 2012).
 - Increased *duration of transfers* associated with greater likelihood or intensity of work among women in Ecuador and Mexico (Buser et al., 2014; Behrman and Parker, 2013), but more mixed results on children, with a combination of higher exposure in Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades associated with reductions in the likelihood of working among boys and a marginal increase in migration some five years later (Behrman et al., 2009; Behrman et al., 2011; Behrman et al., 2012) but also associated with a higher likelihood of work among beneficiaries in Peru's Juntos (Perova and Vakis, 2012).
 - Three studies on child labour indicating the importance of either the presence or perception of *conditionalities* relating to school enrolment or attendance, in terms of reducing the likelihood or intensity of child labour (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2011; Schady and Araujo, 2006; Benedetti and Ibarrarán., 2015).

Page 176

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

10.1 Summary of findings

This chapter reports on the impacts of cash transfers on labour outcomes among adults and children. Specifically, the chapter focuses on the impacts of cash transfers on labour supply, including overall labour participation, intensity of overall labour supply, and changes in allocations to different sub-sectors or types of work. Impacts on migration are also reviewed, though the evidence on migration outcomes is limited. The results are discussed both in terms of adult and child labour and, within each, reporting on impacts on women and girls where available, considering how they vary against overall effects or relative to male counterparts.

On overall adult labour participation, under half of the studies reporting on this outcome found any significant effect arising from cash transfers. Among those that focused on working-age adults, more found an increase in participation than a decrease, while among the elderly, one study on South Africa's old-age pension found it reduced participation in paid labour (Ardington et al., 2009). Interestingly, it was not the large enterprise grants driving these increases, which instead result from two CCTs in Latin America and one in Kazakhstan (Canavire-Bacarreza and Vazquez-Ruiz, 2013; Barrientos and Villa, 2013; O'Brien et al., 2013). Overall, the evidence does not support the idea of cash transfers in general leading to a withdrawal from labour activities, except in the case of social pensions provided to the elderly.

In terms of the intensity of adult work, again, a large proportion of studies (half) found the cash transfers reviewed to have no significant effect. Among those that did, three studies found increases and three found decreases. Among those with decreases, one was the result of a social pension in Brazil allowing elderly individuals to reduce time in paid work (Kassouf and Oliviera, 2012) and another was only significant among those who had not yet received a second transfer that was due (Bazzi et al., 2012) (see section on design and implementation features below). The three studies reporting an increase covered two similar programmes – both large enterprise grants in Uganda (YOP and WINGS) which specifically aimed to support employment through enterprise development (Blattman et al., 2012; Blattman et al., 2013; Blattman et al., 2015). Taken as a whole (including the insignificant results), the evidence therefore does not support the idea of cash transfers consistently leading to a reduction in overall labour intensity and, depending on the nature of the programme or policy, cash transfers can actually be used to help bring about desired increases or decreases in time spent in paid work.

Also of interest is evidence of the impacts of cash transfers on changes in labour participation and intensity in different sectors or types of work. Here the evidence suggests that, in many cases (over half of the studies) transfers did not significantly affect overall *participation* in the specific sectors studied. A significant impact was seen in the large increase of 40 percentage points in non-agricultural self-employment in Uganda's WINGS (specifically designed with this objective) (Blattman et al., 2015), and the much smaller increase (four percentage points) among recipients of a conditional transfer in Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis (the percentage point increase was three times as large when combined with a lump-sum grant for a non-agricultural enterprise) (Macours et al., 2012). Other significant impacts on sector participation included: an increase in working for no pay among recipients in Mexico's PAAMZR social pension, due to a shift from paid work to working on a family business (Galiani et al., 2014); a reduction in paid work outside the household in Lesotho's CGP (Daidone et al., 2014); and a shift from casual labour to selfemployment in Pakistan's BISP (Cheema et al., 2014).

There is much stronger evidence, however, in cash transfers impacting on *time allocation* towards different activities. All but two studies reporting on this found some significant impact on changes in time spent on different sectors or types of work. This includes reductions in time spent on paid wage labour in Kenya's OVC-cash transfer, Lesotho's CGP and Malawi's SCTP, which may represent positive developments in so far as the wage labour available for beneficiary households in these cases is typically highly casual and low paid (Asfaw et al., 2014; Covarrubias et al., 2012; Daidone et al., 2014). Interestingly, Ghana's LEAP, by contrast, lead to increased time spent on paid employment (the increase in hours spent on non-farm enterprises was not significant) (Mochiah et al., 2014). Again, and as expected, the WINGS and YOP enterprise grant programmes in Uganda significantly increased time dedicated to labour, including market and skilled work, agricultural and non-agricultural work.

Page 177

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Among the sex-disaggregated results for adult employment, there is again a trend in many studies not to report any significant impacts in terms of overall labour participation (10 of 16 studies). Among the few that did, there are different examples of gender differences. For example, Lesotho's CGP led to an increase in women working by eight percentage points but there was no corresponding effect among men (Daidone et al., 2014). Three studies find fairly small effects for Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades, with some evidence of increases being found more among women than men (e.g. Behrman and Parker, 2013). Women also appear not to have shown the reduction in labour participation that was found among men in households benefitting from South Africa's Old-Age Pension (Ardington et al., 2009), but similar effects by gender were found arising from Colombia's Familias en Acción, with significant increases for both single females with children and young adult men (Barrientos and Villa, 2013).

As regards overall labour intensity, all but two studies find significant impacts, with a range of gender differences apparent. In Uganda's YOP, the programme increased women's overall working hours more than men's (though the difference is not statistically significant) (Blattman et al., 2012; 2013). Some interventions in Latin America appeared to either only impact significantly on male overall labour intensity (e.g. reductions or increases) with no significant change for women, or had opposite effects such as increasing hours spent by urban mothers and decreasing hours by urban fathers for Bolsa Família/Bolsa Escola recipients (Ferro and Nicollela, 2007).

Aside from the differential effects on overall working time, one of the main emerging themes around gendered effects relates to changes in time allocation to different activities. For example, in Latin America, a number of studies find an increase in time spent on domestic work by women (alongside a reduction in time spent on domestic chores by younger girls). In the case of Colombia's Familias en Acción, Ospina (2010) found that the increase in hours spent on domestic labour by women was matched by a decrease in time spent on it by men, who increased hours spent on paid work. In brief, while each intervention and local context differs, cash transfers do appear to have significant gendered impacts in the shifting allocation of work by men and women.

The clearest and most consistent finding in this chapter is the evidence of the role that a number of cash transfer programmes have played in reducing the prevalence and particularly the intensity of child labour. This should be understood against the findings in Chapter 7, which found a strong impact arising from many cash transfers on increasing time spent in school. While just under half of the programmes on child labour participation found a significant effect, the effect was in all cases a reduction in child labour, and all five of the studies on overall labour intensity found significant reductions. It is interesting to note here, however, that the significant reductions are driven by programmes in Latin America (with the exception of one programme in Indonesia and one in Morocco), and that none of the studies reporting on child labour participation effects from a cash transfer programme in sub-Saharan Africa found any significant impact. This raises questions over why such differences exist, and whether they relate to programme design features (e.g. transfer sizes or conditionality messaging).

Lastly, just three studies report on the overall effect of cash transfers on migration and two on sex-disaggregated migration findings. Of the two significant studies finding statistically significant overall effects, one finds transfers leading to greater migration and the other to a reduction in migration. On the sex-disaggregated effects, one study finds that transfers lead to an increase in internal migration in South Africa for men and women, with the impact slightly greater for men (Ardington et al., 2009). The other finds an increase in migration for boys and a decrease in internal migration for girls arising from Mexico's Oportunidades (Behrman et al., 2009).

10.2 Summary of evidence base

Table 10.1 provides a summary of which programmes and countries are covered in the 74 studies from which evidence is extracted on the selected employment indicators reviewed in this section. As can be seen, by far the largest number of studies report on CCT programmes within Latin America, with many of those focusing on PROGRESA/Oportunidades. Regionally, the next most represented area is sub-Saharan Africa, with 19 studies reporting on a programme in the region for at least one of the employment indicators being reviewed. Very little evidence on

Page 178

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

the selected employment indicators comes from other regions such as the Middle East and North Africa or Asia.

In contrast to the programmes from Latin America, all but one of the programmes from sub-Saharan Africa report on some form of UCT, though there is considerable variation between these. For example, two programmes in Uganda – the Youth Opportunities Programme (YOP) and Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS) programme – provided substantial grants to individuals who were poor but had the means to establish a business, and the grants were technically conditional upon developing a business plan. These are likely to have quite different impacts to UCTs which targeted very poor households and were designed to pay a much smaller regular income, primarily for consumption smoothing. South Africa's Old-Age Pension is quite distinct again, in that it provided large regular grants to elderly individuals.

Table 10.1 Summary of countries and programmes reported on for employment indicators (all studies)

Country	Programme	Type of cash transfer	# studies	Details if pilot or experimental study*
Latin America and	Caribbean = 46 studies			
Brazil	Bolsa Família/Bolsa Escola	CCT	1	
Brazil	Bolsa Família	CCT	2	
Brazil	Benefício de Prestação Continuada (BPC)	Social pension	1	
Colombia	Familias en Acción	CCT	4	
Colombia	Subsidios Condicionados a la Asistencia Escolar (SCAE)	CCT	2	
Dominican Republic	Solidarity Program (SP)	CCT	1	
Ecuador	Bono de Desarrollo Humano (BDH)	CCT	3	
Honduras	Programa de Asignación Familiar (PRAF)	CCT	4	
Honduras	Bono 10,000	CCT	1	
Mexico	PROGRESA/Oportunidades	CCT	13	
Mexico	Programa de Apoyo Alimentario (PAL)	CCT	1	
Mexico	Programa de Atención a Adultos Mayores en Zonas Rurales (PAAMZ)	Social pension	1	
Nicaragua	Red de Protección Social (RPS)	CCT	8	
Nicaragua	Atención a Crisis	CCT	5	
Peru	Juntos	CCT	1	
Sub-Saharan Afric	ca = 19 studies			
Ghana	Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty (LEAP)	UCT/CCT	2	
Ghana	Innovation for Poverty Action randomised trial (IPA RCT)	UCT	1	Trial covering 502 households
Kenya	Hunger Safety Net Programme (HSNP)	UCT	1	
Kenya	Cash Transfer for Orphans and Vulnerable Children Programme (OVC-cash transfer)	UCT	1	
Lesotho	Child Grant (LCGP)	UCT	2	
Malawi	Social Cash Transfer Pilot (SCTP)	UCT	2	Pilot phase (one district)
South Africa	Old-Age Pension (SA-OAP)	Social pension	3	
Uganda	Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment Programme (SAGE)	UCT	1	
Uganda	Youth Opportunities Programme (YOP)	Enterprise grant	2	Funding for 265 groups
Uganda	Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS)	Enterprise grant	2	1800 beneficiaries from 120 villages
Zambia	Child Grant Programme (ZCGP)	UCT	2	
Middle East and N	orth Africa = 1 study			
Morocco	Tayssir	UCT/CCT	1	Experiment covering 600 communities
Europe and Centra	al Asia = 2 studies			
Albania	Ndihma Ekonomike (NE)	UCT	1	
Kazakhstan	ВОТА	CCT	1	

Page 179

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

continued on next page

Table 10.1 Summary of countries and programmes reported on for employment indicators (all studies) continued

Country	Programme	Type of cash transfer	# studies	Details if pilot or experimental study*
South Asia = 2	2 studies			
Pakistan	Benazir Income Support Programme (BISP)	UCT	1	
Pakistan	Female School Stipend Program (PFSSP)	CCT	1	
East Asia and	Pacific = 4 studies			
Cambodia	CESSP Scholarship Program (CSP)	Labelled transfer	1	
Indonesia	Bantuan Siswa Miskin cash transfer for poor students (BSM)	CCT	1	
Indonesia	Temporary UCT	UCT	1	
Indonesia	Program Keluarga Harapan (PKH)	CCT	1	

Note: As some studies report on more than one programme, the totals here do not correspond with the total number of independent studies reported in the text. *This information, for papers that report results from a pilot/experimental implementation, helps distinguish such papers from those that cover cash transfer policies/ programmes that are operational at a larger scale and/or are long-term/permanent. It provides a 'flag' for findings which may have more limited external validity or where it has not been shown that the evidence would necessarily hold at a larger scale.

Table 10.2 summarises the 74 studies reviewed for the selected employment indicators by the overall methods used in investigating those specific indicators, whether the study reports on overall effects of cash transfers, effects of design and implementation features, and/or if it reports on sex-disaggregated outcomes.

As can be seen, a relatively small proportion report on the effect of design and implementation features in mediating programme outcomes, though a much larger proportion report sexdisaggregated impacts.

Over half of the studies draw on some form of experimental design, with the remainder employing a range of quasi-experimental methods, such as RDD, DID or DID with PSM.

Table 10.2 Summary of study methods used and reporting on design and implementation and gender disaggregation

Study	Study design/methods used for reported results	Reports total effect	Reports effect of design and implementation features	Reports sex- disaggregated outcomes
AIR (2014)	RCT DID	Yes	No	No
Alam and Baez (2011)	QE RDD	No	No	Yes
Alzúa et al. (2013)	RCT DID (OLS)	Yes	No	Yes
Angelucci (2004)	QE cross-sectional Probit using cluster randomised treatment	No	Yes	No
Ardington et al. (2009)	QE repeated cross-sectional OLS regression	Yes	No	Yes
Asfaw et al. (2014)	RCT SD with IPW	No	No	Yes
Attanasio et al. (2010)	RCT DID	Yes	No	No
Canavire-Bacarreza and Vazquez-Ruiz (2013)	QE PSM	Yes	No	Yes
Barrera-Osorio et al. (2008)	RCT SD	Yes	Yes	Yes
Barrera-Osorio et al. (2011)	RCT SD	No	Yes	No
Barrientos and Villa (2013)	QE RDD	Yes	No	Yes
Bazzi et al. (2012)	QE DID with IPW	Yes	Yes	No
Behrman and Parker (2013)	QE using DID with PSM	No	Yes	Yes
Behrman et al. (2009)	RCT DID with PSM	No	Yes	Yes
Behrman et al. (2011)	RCT and QE DID with matching	No	Yes	Yes
Behrman et al. (2012)	QE DID with PSM	No	No	Yes

Page 180

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

continued on next page
Table 10.2 Summary of study methods used and reporting on design and implementation and gender disaggregation continued

Study	Study design/methods used for reported results	Reports total effect	Reports effect of design and implementation features	Reports sex- disaggregated outcomes
Benedetti et al. (2015)	RCT SD	Yes	Yes	Yes
Benhassine et al. (2013)	RCT SD (OLS)	Yes	No	No
Bertrand et al. (2003)	QE SD (OLS)	No	No	Yes
Blattman et al. (2012)	RCT multivariate regression	Yes	No	Yes
Blattman et al. (2013)	RCT multivariate regression	Yes	No	Yes
Blattman et al. (2015)	RCT SD (OLS)	Yes	Yes	No
Buser et al. (2014)	QE RDD	No	Yes	Yes
Bustelo (2011)	RCT DID (OLS)	Yes	No	Yes
Cheema et al. (2014)	QE RDD	Yes	Yes	Yes
Covarrubias et al. (2012)	RCT DID with PSM	Yes	No	No
Dabalen et al. (2008)	QE Fixed Effects with PSM	No	Yes	Yes
Daidone et al. (2014a) (Lesotho)	RCT DID	Yes	No	Yes
Daidone et al. (2014b) (Zambia)	RCT DID	Yes	No	Yes
Dammert (2008)	RCT Tobit and OLS	No	No	Yes
de Holanda Barbosa and Corseuil (2014)	QE RDD	Yes	No	No
de Silva and Sumarto (2015)	QE PSM	Yes	No	No
Del Carpio (2008)	QE Tobit using panel data, based on randomised treatment	Yes	Yes	Yes
Del Carpio and Loayza (2012)	QE cross-sectional Tobit based on randomised treatment	No	No	Yes
Del Carpio and Macours (2009)	RCT Random Effects	No	No	Yes
Edmonds and Schady (2008)	RCT IV	Yes	No	Yes
Ferreira et al. (2009)	QE RDD	No	No	Yes
Ferro and Nicollela (2007)	QE cross-sectional Probit and Heckman selection models	No	No	Yes
Fitzsimons and Mesnard (2014)	RCT Fixed Effects OLS	Yes	No	No
Galiani and McEwan (2013)	RCT SD (OLS)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Galiani et al. (2014)	QE DID	Yes	No	No
Gee (2010)	QE cross-sectional Tobit based on randomised treatment	Yes	No	No
Green et al. (2015)	QE cross-sectional based on randomised treatment	No	Yes	Yes
Handa et al. (2014)	QE DID with PSM	Yes	No	Yes
Karlan et al. (2014)	RCT IV	Yes	No	No
Kassouf and de Oliveira (2012)	QE RDD, DID, and PSM	Yes	No	No
Lincove and Parker (2015)	RCT DID	No	No	Yes
Macours et al. (2012)	RCT IV (2SLS)	Yes	Yes	No
Maluccio (2003)	RCT DID	Yes	No	No
Maluccio (2005)	RCT DID	Yes	No	Yes
Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RCT DID	Yes	No	No
Merttens et al. (2013)	RCT DID	Yes	No	No
Merttens et al. (2015)	RCT DID with PSM	Yes	No	Yes
Miller and Tsoka (2012)	RCT DID	No	No	Yes
Mochiah et al. (2014)	QE DID with PSM	Yes	No	Yes
Novella et al. (2012)	QE DID	No	No	Yes
O'Brien et al. (2013)	RCT DID	Yes	No	No
Ospina (2010)	QE DID Tobit	No	No	Yes
Parker and Skoufias (2000)	QE DID (Probit) and Heckman selection models, based on cluster randomised treatment	No	No	Yes
Pellerano et al. (2014)	RCT DID	Yes	No	No
Perova and Vakis (2012)	QE IV estimation	Yes	Yes	No

Page 181

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

continued on next page

Table 10.2 Summary of study methods used and reporting on design and implementation and gender disaggregation continued

Study	Study design/methods used for reported results	Reports total effect	Reports effect of design and implementation features	Reports sex- disaggregated outcomes
Rubio-Codina (2009)	RCT Probit and Tobit	No	No	Yes
Sadoulet et al. (2004)	RCT DID	No	No	Yes
Schady and Araujo (2006)	RCT SD (OLS), Tobit, and IV (2SLS)	Yes	Yes	No
Schultz (2004)	RCT IV and Probit	No	No	Yes
Siaplay (2012)	QE RDD	No	Yes	Yes
Skoufias and di Maro (2008)	RCT DID (Probit)	No	No	Yes
Skoufias and Parker (2001)	QE DID and SD based on cluster randomised treatment	No	No	Yes
Skoufias et al. (2013)	RCT DID	No	No	Yes
Skoufias et al. (2013)	RCT DID	No	No	Yes
Stecklov et al. (2005)	RCT DID	Yes	No	No
Teixeira (2010)	QE PSW	No	No	Yes
Winters et al. (2009)	RCT SD (Probit)	Yes	No	Yes
World Bank (2011)	QEIV	Yes	No	Yes

RCT = randomised controlled trial, QE = Quasi-experimental; RDD = Regression Discontinuity Design, DID = difference-in-difference, SD = single difference, PSM = propensity score matching, PSW = propensity score weighting, IV = instrumental variables, OLS = Ordinary Least Squares, 2SLS = Two-stage least squares.

10.3 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Tables 10.3 to 10.9 below summarise the overall effects of cash transfers on the indicators under consideration. We also include a discussion of sex-disaggregated findings. Where any effects associated with design or implementation features were found, these are not reported in the tables, but are discussed in section 10.4.

10.3.1 Adult labour

Overall adult labour force participation

One of the various outcomes we are interested in is whether the receipt of a cash transfer affects the labour force participation of adults in the household. Impacts and our interpretations of them may well differ between adults that we might consider to be of 'working age' and more elderly individuals, so where the results allow us to distinguish between them, they are differentiated in the discussion below.

14 studies were found to report on the overall effect of cash transfers on adult labour force participation (see Table 10.3 at the end of the write-up for this section). Among them, many reported separate results on working-age adults (9), two report effects on elderly adults, three report on all adults (e.g. aged 18–80), and two report on all individuals within a household.

Among the nine studies reporting on **adults of working age**, four found statistically significant impacts, three being increases in participation and one a decrease. For five studies, including on Pakistan's BISP, Honduras's PRAF and Lesotho's LCGP, results suggest that the transfers do not affect labour market participation among adults of working age. Among the studies reporting significant increases, one of these concerns Kazakhstan's BOTA transfer on single-parent main carers of children, where, while they reduced participation in self-employment (by four percentage points) they increased participation in paid employment (by around ten percentage points) (O'Brien et al., 2013). This arguably represents a shift to a somewhat more secure and reliable income source, and an increase in labour force participation of those adults that did

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

not work previously (possibly because children can now attend pre-school, which is an explicit conditionality of the BOTA transfer).

As for the other two significant increases in labour participation among adults of working age, these were found to result from the Dominican Republic's SP (Canavire-Bacarreza and Vásquez-Ruiz, 2013) and Colombia's Familias en Acción (Barrientos and Villa, 2013). In the case of the former, both those aged 15–24 and 25–64 saw an increase in the likelihood of working by six percentage points and three percentage points respectively. Labour participation in Colombia increased to the magnitude of around nine percentage points.

The reduction in labour force participation was found in response to South Africa's Old-Age Pension, where resident members of a pensioner household saw a small reduction in the likelihood of working of around three percentage points (Ardington et al., 2009). This reduction in labour force participation of working-age adults may be described as an unintended effect of cash transfers, though further analysis would be needed to uncover what is happening here.

Among the two studies reporting on labour participation of **elderly adults**, just one reported a significant effect, which was a reduction in pensioners working for pay in the preceding week by around five percentage points (Galiani et al., 2014).

The two studies focusing on impacts on all adults, and also those reporting on labour participation of all individuals within the household, found no significant effects.

Sex-disaggregated impacts on adult labour participation

We also consider the sex-disaggregated impacts on adult labour participation. Full results are reported in Table A5.5.1 in Annex 5. 17 studies reported sex-disaggregated overall cash transfer effects on adult labour participation from a wide range of programmes. Among them, seven find at least one statistically significant impact among women, with results appearing to suggest quite a heterogeneous range of effects, with no immediately obvious overall pattern.

Nevertheless, there were a number of clear differences in the way cash transfers affected overall labour participation of women compared to men. For example, while Ardington et al. (2009) found South Africa's Old-Age Pension to have led to a decline in the probability of overall work among male adults living with pensioners (a five percentage point reduction), no significant effects were found for women.¹³⁰ However, when the analysis includes non-resident prime-age members (labour migrants), they find no statistically significant effect on the probability of employment for either men or women and, in fact, the presence of a pensioner is significantly associated with labour migrant status for both men and women.

In Pakistan's BISP UCT, a significant reduction is recorded in the proportion of working-age men engaged in economically productive activities, while there is no impact on the labour participation of women (Cheema et al., 2014). The evidence presented in the study suggests that the result for men is driven by vulnerable household members – the old/retired and sick – reducing their labour participation.

There were also differential impacts in Lesotho's CGP, which appears to have led to an increase in labour participation among women (around eight percentage points), with no significant effect on men (Daidone et al., 2014).

Parker and Skoufias (2000) find relatively little or no impact overall of Mexico's PROGRESA on male and female labour participation, though they did find in the latest follow-up an increase in the probability of working of around four percentage points for older women (above the age of 55), and smaller marginally significant increases for men aged 35–54. It is noted that the

Page 183

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹³⁰ One reason the study by Siaplay (2012) on the same intervention did not make the same finding may be that it restricts the analysis to younger adults (21–26 years old).

magnitude of effects for men reflect the already high pre-programme participation of men in the labour market and that, unlike other programmes where transfers are defined on the basis of income (meaning if individuals earn extra income their benefits are reduced), PROGRESA provided benefits to families for three years irrespective of family income, limiting a disincentive effect on adult labour. They do note, however, that if beneficiaries perceived that they would be included or excluded from further benefits after the three years based on how 'poor' they appeared, this could have implications for future work effort and reported work effort and so they called for studies to continue monitoring longer-term employment effects.

Another three studies on PROGRESA/Oportunidades that disaggregate by gender did not find any significant effects, which might be explained by differences in the analytical and methodological approaches. Interestingly, however, the study by Behrman and Parker (2013), which did look at longer-term effects of PROGRESA/Oportunidades, found that it led to relatively small but significant increases in the proportion of both men and women working in an activity contributing to household income after six and a half years; an increase of 10 percentage points for women and four percentage points for men. It is hypothesised that the increase in labour market participation by women may be partly explained by the finding of an improvement in women's health (being able to carry out vigorous activities) and the fact that women began with very low rates of market participation.

Barrientos and Villa (2013) also found statistically significant increases in adult labour force participation among both women and men arising from Familias en Acción. The level of effects was fairly similar between them, at 8% for young adult men and 11% for single females with young children.

Intensity of overall adult employment

Table 10.4 at the end of this chapter summarises the overall effects on the intensity of work among adult beneficiaries. A total of 11 studies were identified reporting on the intensity of work among adults overall, covering 11 interventions, with six studies associated with statistically significant effects. Three of these three studies represented a reduction in overall time worked and three studies an increase.

Looking into the results more closely, Bazzi et al. (2012) only find a statistically significant reduction in hours worked for those who received their first disbursement, and were awaiting their (delayed) second transfer. No significant effect was found for those who had received two disbursements, with the authors suggesting that this could be due to a household altering its labour supply in anticipation of receiving a further transfer in the future, and that this may have been difficult to change in response to the delayed receipt of their second quarterly transfer.

Daidone et al. (2014a) found Lesotho's CGP to reduce hours worked in any labour by 2.8 hours in the previous week, with much of this seeming to be due to a reduction in casual wage labour.

Kassouf and Oliviera (2012) find that Brazil's BPC social pension led to a reduction in hours worked, but by elders (over 65 years old), suggesting that the pension enabled elderly householders to retire and reduce the time spent in active work.

One of the interventions in which an increase was found on the intensity of overall adult labour supply was for Uganda's YOP, which appears to have led to an increase of approximately 20 hours per month, increasing to 25 hours per month after four years (Blattman et al., 2012; 2013). The authors of the studies find that the increase is entirely in market activities, with no change in subsistence production, and also reflects a shift towards skilled and market work. As noted above, however, this intervention differs substantially from the other cash transfer programmes reported here, in that the programme provided young women and men with large grants specifically to start a new vocation or enterprise and, while the programme targeted poor youth, it incorporated those who had a minimum capacity to benefit from vocational training and so not the very poorest.

Page 184

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

The other programme that led to an increase in overall hours worked was another enterprise grant programme in Uganda – WINGS – providing large one-off grants for enterprise development, which led to an average increase of 9.4 working hours per week 16 months after receipt of the grant (Blattman et al., 2015).

Sex-disaggregated effects on intensity of adult work

A full list of the sex-disaggregated effects on the intensity of work among adult beneficiaries can be found in Table A5.5.2 in Annex 5. 10 studies are covered, with all but two finding at least one statistically significant impact. Again, no clear gender-related patterns emerge overall and the effects appear to constitute a mixture of increases and decreases in overall work intensity.

Uganda's YOP is found by Blattman et al. (2012; 2013) to have led to a significant increase in hours worked by both men and women, with larger impacts on hours worked among females (though the differences are not statistically significant). As shown in the tables on impacts of design and implementation features on adult work (see Table A5.2.10 in Annex 5), the effects also increase over time for females after the end of the programme. Again, it should be noted that this programme explicitly aimed to increase employment among young adults, and provided a large transfer and support to facilitate this.

Alzúa et al. (2013) report on three programmes in Latin America, but the only significant effect on the intensity of work is for female beneficiaries of Mexico's PROGRESA, for whom they find being a beneficiary led to a small increase of 0.18 hours per week. The authors note that these results are *among* working women, and are compatible with the idea that female beneficiaries have more time available than previously because of the increase in children's school enrolment documented for PROGRESA.

They explain the negative effects on working time as resulting from the requirement of having to take children to school, taking on chores previously carried out by children, or simply enjoying more leisure time due to the increase in income. However, they also explain the increase in work time of urban mothers as a result of their finding that beneficiary children were less likely to work in the labour force, and therefore had more time to spend on other activities besides school, including chores, which means mothers may be able to spend more time in the labour force. In explaining the differences between urban and rural mothers, the authors note that the effect of the CCT on child labour is negative in both areas, so we might expect an increase due to higher involvement in home chores. The observed differences, they argue, may arise from the fact that schools are closer to home in urban areas, allowing more time for chores. However, they acknowledge they cannot really explain why urban mothers and fathers appear to respond differently to the transfer.

Novella et al. (2012) report on the same three programmes as Alzúa et al. (2013) and, again, find in most cases the impacts on adult labour hours to be small and insignificant. Additionally, they do not find that the changes in labour supply are correlated with the size of the grant. As with Alzúa et al. (2013), they find a significant effect for Mexico's PROGRESA, but, interestingly, find it to be an increase among men (around 2.1 hours per week) rather than for women, as Alzúa et al. (2013) found. They also identify a significant reduction in hours worked among men as a result of RPS (2.9 hours per week), though the effect is not significant for women.

In contrast to Novella et al. (2012), Rubio-Codina (2009) identifies a statistically significant reduction in hours worked among men attributed to Mexico's Oportunidades (around 0.14 hours), which she notes is translated into an increase in leisure time, though there is no such effect for women, who are found to be more likely to substitute for decreases in the house work that children were doing before the intervention. Reasons for the difference with Novella et al. (2012) may be that those authors restricted their analysis to 'couple households'. Rubio-Codina also reports on hours spent in the day prior to interview (rather than weekly hours) and only uses weekday time-use information.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Ferro and Nicolella (2007) find that while Brazil's Bolsa Escola/Bolsa Família did not affect the work decisions of parents, it did change the amount of hours supplied by working parents. Contrasting findings for urban father and mothers benefitting from Bolsa Escola/Bolsa Família, they found that the programme appears to have led to a reduction of 0.6 hours per week for working fathers, but an increase of 1.5 hours a week for working mothers. By contrast, in rural areas, the programme appears to reduce working hours of mothers by around 1.8 hours a week.

Teixeira (2010) also found statistically significant reductions in hours worked resulting from Bolsa Família, though for both men and women (0.6 hours and 1.2 hours a week less respectively). They suggest the gender differences in levels may arise from women placing a higher value on their time's 'shadow price' (hours dedicated to housework activities), due to cultural norms around the domestic division of labour, with women contributing more to domestic 'production' (including childcare, children's education, housework, etc.). This is supported by their finding that female beneficiaries increased housework activities. Meanwhile, the decrease in male working hours appears to be converted into leisure time.

By contrast, Ospina (2010) finds that Colombia's Familias en Acción led to a significant increase in hours spent in the previous day on paid work, but only for men. The estimated impact is an increase of around 0.89 hours. The author explains this through identifying a cross-substitution effect arising from a reduction in labour among boys, whereas hours of domestic work between girls and female adults are estimated to be complementary, explaining why women did not increase paid work as men did. More broadly, they suggest the positive effects on paid work among men are probably due to a low-income elasticity of leisure for extremely poor households (for which they find empirical support in their analysis). They also suggest the positive effect on increasing school attendance may free time previously spent in childcare, therefore reducing the cost of working for adults.

Sub-sector employment among adults

Overall adult participation by type of employment

Changes in overall participation or intensity can only tell us so much. Another important question we are interested in addressing is whether the evidence points to an increase in participation in particular sectors, such as agricultural work or in skilled employment among adults of working age. We found 12 studies reporting overall cash transfer effects on adult labour force participation by sector or type of employment, with five of those finding at least one statistically significant effect. A summary of the results is provided in Table 10.5.

Overall, in just over half of the studies (seven), transfers did not significantly affect overall participation in the specific sectors studied. Among those studies that did, there were increases in non-agricultural self-employment (Pakistan's BISP, Uganda's WINGS and Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis), an increase in working for no pay among elderly pension recipients (Mexico's PAAMZR) and a reduction in paid work outside the household (the LCGP in Lesotho).

With regard to work or **engagement in small business/non-farm/self-employment**, Blattman et al. (2015) find that WINGS (Uganda) led to a significant 40 percentage point increase in involvement in **non-farm self-employment** and to a 49 percentage point increase in **starting an enterprise** 16 months after the grant. As noted previously, this programme was specifically focused on encouraging entrepreneurship, accompanied by substantial grants. Macours et al. (2012) also found a statistically significant increase in non-agricultural self-employment of around four percentage points, arising from Atención a Crisis in Nicaragua.

Cheema et al. (2014) find that Pakistan's BISP is associated with a clear and significant reduction in **casual labour** among working-age adults.

Alzúa et al. (2013) found that neither Honduras's PRAF, Nicaragua's RPS nor Mexico's PROGRESA induced any significant shift in labour allocation to agricultural sectors at the aggregate level. Similarly, no significant impact was found for RPS leading to an increase in small business activity (Maluccio, 2005).

Page 186

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Asfaw et al. (2014) test whether the OVC-cash transfer (Kenya) led to some form of substitution between wage labour and labour used on the recipients' own farm. The results are not statistically significant: overall, the programme does not have a significant impact on the decision to participate and supply labour supply on one's own farm.

Daidone et al. (2014a) find no significant effect of the LCGP (Lesotho) on **own non-farm business** but they also find that the transfer significantly reduces household **paid work outside the household** in the last 12 months, by three percentage points. They conclude 'the CGP seems to have reduced the intensity of adult participation in paid occasional and irregular work, particularly piecework labour; generally considered to be a negative coping mechanism in times of hardship'.

One study reports statistically significant shifts in participation by sector/type of work for older individuals: Galiani et al. (2014) find that Mexico's PAAMZR non-contributory old-age pension to adults aged 70 years old and over led to an 6.1 percentage point increase in **participation in work last week for no pay**, e.g. on a family farm or in a family business. This should be understood alongside the finding discussed above that the pensions allowed elderly beneficiaries in the programme to reduce their time spent in paid work.

A further question of interest in terms of sector participation is whether there is any evidence of the impact of cash transfers on the likelihood of working in the informal sector. De Holanda Barbosa et al. (2014) investigate this in the context of the Bolsa Família (Brazil), and find a negative but non-significant impact on the **propensity of household heads occupying informal jobs**.

Sex-disaggregated effects on adult participation in work by sector/type of employment

Seven papers report sex-disaggregated effects on whether adults are working/not working by sector. Just two of these report any statistically significant result for women. A full set of results are provided in Table A5.5.3 of Annex 5.

The first significant female shift in participation by sector/type of employment is a very small, but significant, increase of around two percentage points for women aged 55 and above employed in salaried work as a result of Mexico's PROGRESA (Parker and Skoufias, 2000). Effects for women of other ages are not significant, nor are impacts in probability of participating in any self-employment or family business.

The other significant shift in participation among women by type of work is found by Daidone et al. (2014a), with elderly females from beneficiary households in the LCGP (Lesotho) reducing their participation in own *non-farm* business by around 14 percentage points and increasing by the same degree their participation in own-farm agricultural activities. This could indicate that the programme has allowed older women to make small investments in farming. This fits with some of the findings on investments in farming activities discussed in the previous chapter.

In all of the other studies, no significant changes were identified in women's participation in specific sectors of employment or types of work. For example, Alzúa et al. (2013) found negative, but not significant, coefficients on women working in an agricultural occupation for PRAF, RPS and PROGRESA. Skoufias et al. (2013) also found that PAL (Mexico) had no significant effect on the probability of rural women aged 18–60 at baseline working in agriculture or in non-agricultural activities. By contrast, men were found to have a significant five percentage point reduction in the probability of working in agricultural activities, and a 6.3 percentage point increase in the probability of working in non-agricultural activities.

Results from Galiani and McEwan (2013) for PRAF (Honduras) are broadly consistent with Aluza et al. (2013), generally finding no significant impact on working outside or working online inside the home for women, and just a very small and marginally significant increase (less than one percentage point) in the probability of men 'only working inside the home', which appears to be offset by a small decrease in work outside the home, though the coefficient for that is not significant.

Page 187

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

For Pakistan's BISP, Cheema et al. (2014) find that there is a substitution away from casual labour and unpaid family help towards self-employment for men of working age. However, they do not report a similar effect among women of working age due to the low labour participation rates.

Overall adult number of hours worked by type of employment/sector

When it comes to changes in *time allocation* by sector or type of work, there is much stronger evidence of significant change occurring. Of the 10 studies reporting on the overall impact of cash transfers on adult labour intensity by type of employment or sector, all but three find some significant impact. For a full breakdown of results, see Table 10.6.

Reductions in wage labour were found in Kenya's OVC-cash transfer (Asfaw et al., 2014), Lesotho's CGP (Daidone et al., 2014) and Malawi's SCTP (Covarrubias et al., 2012). All of these may in fact represent positive developments in so far as the wage labour available for beneficiary households in these cases is typically casual, low-paid and used as a coping mechanism. For example, Covarrubias et al. (2012) find that the SCTP led to a reduction of nearly five days per month spent on *ganyu* (casual labour) one year after starting to receive transfer, and a reduction of 3.8 hours after six months. Considering household heads worked on average 7.5 days per month at the baseline, this represents a sizeable impact. *Ganyu* labour is a low-wage informal activity utilised by many households as a coping strategy in response to shocks, as well as during the hungry season in Malawi. Improvements in household poverty or vulnerability would therefore be associated with reductions in *ganyu* participation. A reduction in the intensity of *ganyu* work indicates an increased availability of the household for other activities, such as home-based agriculture.

Interestingly, Mochiah et al., (2014) find that Ghana's LEAP led to a 32% increase in hours spent on paid employment, though Handa et al. (2014) find no significant impact on intensity of paid employment when looking at number of weeks worked.

Another set of significant impacts on changing intensity of work across sectors or types of work was found in the two enterprise programmes in Uganda – WINGS and YOP. Both significantly increased time dedicated to labour, including market and skilled work, agricultural and non-agricultural work. Specifically, Blattman et al. (2013) find that the YOP led to a substantial increase in skilled or capital-intensive work. They find time spent on **market activities** in the preceding four weeks increased by 22 hours, with a 34 percentage point increase in **current engagement in skilled work**. The increase is entirely in market activities, with no change in subsistence production and reflects a shift in occupational choice towards skilled and market work.

Meanwhile, Blattman et al. (2015) find that the WINGS programme led to a 3.5-hour increase in average **agricultural hours** per week (16 months after receiving a grant). Time spent on farm activities rises from about 9.5 hours per week in the control group to about 13 among those benefitting from the grant. Most of this increase comes from increased hours caring for livestock, as ownership of cattle, sheep, goats and pigs more than doubles. The programme also led to a 5.9-hour increase in time spent on **non-agricultural activities** per week. The authors find a large **shift in occupation choice towards non-farm enterprise**, mainly wholesale and retail trade, kiosks, and shops, but also including some services. As a result, non-farm hours of work in the treatment group doubled compared to controls, rising from about five to 11 hours per week on average.

For the PAAMZR non-contributory pension in Mexico, Galiani et al. (2014) find that elderly individuals (aged 70 and over) **switch from former activities in paid work to work in family businesses**. They find that beneficiaries reduced their participation in formal gainful employment outside the home (by 2.6 hours a week) in favour of less stressful and demanding informal unpaid work within the household, which increased by 2.2 hours a week. The programme therefore appears to be effective in allowing older poor people to exit the formal labour market. It should be noted, however, that they did not completely retire, but instead continued to work in the delivery of unpaid services on family farms or in family businesses. Thus, the programme appears to be an effective tool for improving the living conditions of older people who are living in poverty.

Page 188

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Lastly, in line with the finding above of no significant effect with regard to informality, de Holanda Barbosa et al. (2014) find that, in terms of intensity, Bolsa Família (Brazil) had a negative, but not statistically significant, impact on the proportion of working hours that beneficiary households dedicated to informal activities. They conclude: 'That is, if anything Bolsa-Familia shifts the supply of working hours to the formal sector. However, we cannot reject the hypothesis that all estimates may be zero at the 95% confidence level ... That is, we were unable to identify any effect of Bolsa Família in the proportion of working hours of the household dedicated to informal activities.'

Sex-disaggregated effects on work intensity by sector/type of employment

Six studies reported number of hours worked by sector/type of employment for women. Three report at least one statistically significant result. A full summary of results is available in Table A5.5.4 of Annex 5.

In terms of the **number of hours on own crop and livestock**, Daidone et al. (2014a) find that the LCGP (Lesotho) led to a reduction in own non-farm enterprise among elderly females of around 2.5 hours per week and an increase of around 3.6 hours worked on own crop and livestock. Among younger adult women no significant changes were found in intensity by type of work (e.g. with the main changes emerging instead from men, who reduced hours worked in wage labour by 5.2 hours a week), substituting part of that by increasing time spent on their own non-farm enterprises (30 minutes a week on average).

In Ghana's LEAP, while Handa et al. (2014) find an increase in days on **own-farm activity** among women, it is not statistically significant, unlike the results for men, with days increasing by 7.7 over the previous season, especially among smaller households (13 days). The authors also investigate impacts by sex of the household head and find that female-headed households saw a significant increase in female labour to own-farm activities of around nine days in the previous season, with the effect again being much larger in smaller households (13 days). Asfaw et al. (2014) also report on changes in **own-farm labour and time spent on own crop and livestock** in Kenya's OVC-cash transfer. However, the effects were not significant.

Two studies from Latin America find that transfers led to an increase in time spent on **domestic work** by women. Ospina (2010) finds that Familias en Acción (Colombia) led to a significant increase of around 0.27 hours. The author finds that males increased time spent on paid work at the expense of domestic labour and that females increased domestic labour at the expense of leisure time. Ospina (2010) also observes that hours of domestic work between girls and female adults of the household are complementary and that hours in labour market activities between males and boys are substitutes. These cross-substitution effects help explain the increased labour supply in paid work for male adults and in domestic labour for female adults as a response to the CCT programme. She links this observed opposite behaviour (hours of paid work increase for male adults, and hours of domestic labour increase for female adults) to the fact that adults could be substituting for hours of work of children in all work activities. For instance, there may have been a substitution between women and girls in domestic labour. Rubio-Codina (2009) also finds a statistically significant increase in number of hours worked in domestic labour as a result of Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades (around five percentage points among all women).

Lastly, Blattman et al. (2012) find no differential effect on women compared to men in terms of time spent on market activities. The impact on hours spent on market activities is strongly significant, with an increase for men of around 20 hours over the preceding month and around 26 hours for women.

10.3.2 Child labour

Having looked at impacts on adult labour, this section now considers the effects of cash transfers on child labour, again looking at labour participation and intensity overall and within sectors, and by gender.

Page 189

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Overall child labour force participation

19 studies were identified as reporting on the effect of a cash transfer on overall child participation in labour activities. Eight of these find statistically significant impacts, all of them representing a reduction in child labour. A summary of the results can be found in Table 10.7 at the end of this chapter.

For example, Attanasio et al. (2010) found a 15 percentage point decrease in labour participation of urban children aged 14–17 (and a similar effect for urban children aged 10–13) arising from Colombia's Familias en Acción. Other authors looking at Nicaragua's RPS found smaller impacts, for instance Maluccio and Flores (2005) found a five percentage point decrease in children aged 7–13 working. Likewise, Galiani and McEwan (2014) find that PRAF (Honduras) reduced the likelihood of children working outside the home by three percentage points among beneficiary households.

As with adult labour force participation, it is important to note that many of the estimated effects are also not significant, suggesting that cash transfers do not always lead to behavioural responses in terms of child labour activity. Among these, none of the three transfer programmes from sub-Saharan Africa reporting on child labour participation found any significant effect (Zambia's ZCGP, Lesotho's LCGP and Uganda's SAGE).

Sex-disaggregated effects of cash transfers on child labour participation

Of the 21 studies for which sex-disaggregated effects were identified on overall child labour participation (see Table A5.5.5 in Annex 5), over half (13) report any statistically significant effect, and such impacts are generally negative for both boys and girls, with a few exceptions of small positive impacts among girls of between four to six percentage points (Alam et al., 2011; Behrman et al., 2011; Maluccio, 2005).

In the case of Pakistan's PFSSP, the increase in participation in work is only among older girls and may be due to the broad definition of work participation adopted by the study, which includes paid and unpaid work including that inside the home (Alam et al., 2011).

The increase in the likelihood of participating in work in Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades is six percentage points (an increase of 20%), but is also only found among the oldest girls (aged 19–21 by the time of the survey) (Behrman et al., 2011). The authors note that this result is consistent with the theory that cash transfers may help increase employment among older children, but that, as this particular group did not see a significant increase in school attendance, the transfers appear to have led to higher work participation among older girls through other channels, one possibility being that older girls substitute in the labour market for their younger siblings, who did see an increase in schooling, and a reduction in work (for boys).

The positive impact for girls in Nicragua's RPS was only found after two years, which may again be related to children being older (Maluccio, 2005). Also, as Dammert (2008) notes, with higher age, potential earnings increase and transfers may not be high enough to compensate for foregone earnings. However, some programmes such as PROGRESA/Oportunidades provide higher transfers for older children in anticipation of such effects.

There is also evidence from four studies of boys reporting statistically significant reductions in labour participation with no significant effect on labour participation for girls. Behrman et al. (2012) found significant negative reductions of around 10 percentage points among boys (aged 6–20) in urban areas after two years of benefitting from PROGRESA in Mexico, while finding no such effect for girls. Dammert (2008) makes the same finding in Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis, with boys aged 7–13 at baseline reducing labour participation by around 14 percentage points, and Lincove and Parker (2015) finding a 20 percentage point reduction among boys aged 12–13 due to Nicaragua's RPS. In the case of Pakistan's BISP, Cheema et al. (2014) find a significant reduction in the proportion of boys aged 5–14 engaged in child labour, and no significant effect (though the coefficient is negative) on the proportion of girls in the same age group engaged in child labour.

Page 190

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

More generally, the evidence suggests girls typically experience lower reductions in child labour as a result of cash transfers than boys. Exceptions include the increases in girls' labour mentioned above and in Ferro and Nicolella (2007) which showed a larger percentage point reduction in labour participation among rural girls (aged 11–15) than urban boys of the same age.

Some explanations given for the higher impacts in reducing child labour among boys include a lower proportion of girls working than boys (Behrman et al., 2012; Lincove and Parker, 2015; Ferro and Nicolella, 2007) and, in some cases, the definition of work being used not including non-remunerated work (e.g. chores in the household) (Dammert, 2008), which girls often tend to be more involved with than boys in many low and middle-income settings. In the case of Pakistan's BISP, Cheema et al. (2014) discuss the absence of an impact on girls due to a combination of prevailing cultural norms and the type of activities in which girls are engaged. The most significant type of child labour in which girls are engaged is household chores, while boys are more likely to engage in economic activities outside the home. The authors explain that, given prevailing cultural norms regarding girls' responsibilities and how the burden of household duties fall on girls, such results are unlikely to change without a corresponding change in cultural norms, which a cash transfer is unlikely to change in the short term.

Lastly, Dammert (2008) looked at the effects of Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis on child labour participation for male-headed and female-headed households. They find that the programme has less of a reduction on child labour among female-headed households (statistically different to male-headed households) and also on hours worked. The differences between male- and female-headed households are, however, not different in the 2002 follow-up a year later (see Table A.5.5.11 in Annex 5).

Intensity of overall child labour

Five studies were found to report overall effects on total hours worked among children (see Table 10.8 below). All found statistically significant reductions in the number of hours spent on work, ranging from -0.33 hours per week in Colombia's SCAE (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2008), to -32 minutes in the previous day in Morocco's Tayssir (Benhassine et al., 2013). Attanasio et al. (2010) refer to hours worked in the previous day, dropping any children interviewed on a Sunday or Monday and providing their overall effects separately for urban and rural areas. They find a range of reductions, from -0.64 among rural and urban 10–13-year-olds to -1.03 for urban 14–17-year-olds. The one population for whom the reduction in overall hours worked was not statistically significant was among rural 14–17-year-olds.

Attanasio et al. (2010) find that reduced time at work may be partly, but not fully, explained by increased time at school, depending on age and location. For example, for children aged 14–17 in urban areas (and 10–13 in rural areas) over a quarter of the increase in time spent at school comes from time that would have otherwise been spent on work activities.

Del Carpio (2008) explains the significant negative impact on overall child labour intensity by virtue of the CCT representing 'a tax on child labour, making it less appealing for parents to send their children to work'.

The studies on cash transfers in sub-Saharan Africa do not have significant impacts for labour force participation.

Sex-disaggregated effects of cash transfers on child labour intensity

Eight studies reported on such outcomes relating to the sex-disaggregated effects on the intensity of overall child labour. All but one found that cash transfers led to at least one statistically significant reduction in the amount of time spent on child labour among boys and/or girls. In general, findings tend to suggest slightly larger impacts on intensity of overall work for boys compared to girls. This is typically explained by differences in the kind of work boys and girls engage in, with boys tending to spend more time on paid labour activities on agricultural work. A full set of results can be found in Table A5.5.6 of Annex 5.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Alam and Baez (2011) identify a reduction of just over six days per month (2.8 hours a day) spent by girls aged 15–16 as a result of Pakistan's PFSSP – a school stipend aimed at girls. No such effect was found when looking at a broader range of ages (12–19). The authors point out that this fits with their hypothesis that younger cohorts of girls should see stronger impacts on education (and in turn child labour) due to this group of girls being exposed for longer, joining the programme when there was greater awareness of its existence, and the fact that only the younger cohorts had the additional incentive of receiving cash transfers to enrol in high school.

In their study on Colombia's SCAE, which was specifically designed to improve school attendance and enrolment and to encourage matriculation in tertiary education, Barrera-Osorio et al. (2008) find a significant reduction in hours worked in the previous week for both boys and girls, with the reduction slightly larger for boys (-0.62 hours versus -0.38 for girls), though these differences are not statistically significant. They suggest that the differences, however, are consistent with the higher levels of engagement in paid work for boys than girls and that girls may have also reduced the number of hours spent helping in the home (which was not measured).

Del Carpio and Loayza (2012) again find a larger reduction for boys than girls arising out of Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis, of -1.7 hours per week compared to -1.2, although the difference between them is again not statistically significant. The difference in levels, however, is explained by the authors as a result of the fact that, in the households analysed, boys reduced their farm work more than girls, while girls increased their skilled labour more than boys. In particular, this seems to be related to the programme design in that children in households that received an additional 'business grant' seem to work one hour more in skill-forming activities than those who only received the basic grant, indicative of the business grant leading households to involve their children in the new (typically commercial and retail) activities stimulated by the grant.

Del Carpio and Macours (2009) also found significant reductions in intensity of child labour arising from Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis, though with this effect driven by boys, whose reduction in time spent on labour overall was statistically greater than girls', by around 15 percentage points.¹³¹ This was seen to arise from an increase in school attendance. The overall effect for girls was, however, not significant, except among younger girls (aged 6–9). It was suggested that one of the reasons for this may be that, whereas for boys school and work may be substitutes (with boys working more in agriculture, which mainly occurs in the mornings at the same time as classes), this is less often the case for girls.

When looking at children from households which received a productive investment package in addition to the cash transfer in Nicaragua, Del Carpio and Macours (2009) find that, while there were no significant effects overall for either boys or girls, younger girls did see a significant reduction in hours spent on 'all work', while older girls (10–15 years old) were significantly more likely to see an *increase* in hours compared to younger girls (driven by an increase in non-agricultural activities and domestic activities), though the overall effect on older girls (calculated by adding the coefficient to that of the younger girls) ends up being around zero and not statistically significant.

Ferro and Nicolella (2007) only find statistically significant effects for Brazil's Bolsa Escola/Bolsa Família for urban boys (aged 11–15); a reduction of around -2.4 hours per week once the decision to work has been affected, while no significant effects on labour intensity are found for girls.

A similar story of larger reductions in work intensity (paid or unpaid) for boys is found by Lincove and Parker (2015) in Nicaragua's RPS. For example, among children aged 6–11, the programme led to a reduction of around -2.7 hours a week for boys, whereas the reduction was just -0.49 hours a week for girls. They suggest that this reflects the higher initial incidence of child labour among boys, and their higher income elasticity in terms of labour supply, making them more sensitive to the income effects of the transfers.

Page 192

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Rubio-Codina (2009) finds a marginally greater reduction in overall work hours per day among boys than girls (-0.10 versus -0.08) through Mexico's Oportunidades, and for girls the reduction appears to have been driven by older girls (aged 12–17), for whom the author notes that child labour tends to be typically higher than among younger age groups (which may partly explain the heterogeneous impacts on girls by age).

Dammert (2008) also looks at the effect on hours worked among children in male- versus female-headed households in the context of Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis, finding that children in female-headed households are significantly more likely to reduce hours worked by a greater amount than those in male-headed households. There are no significant differences between both types of households by 2002.

Sub-sector employment among children

Overall child labour participation by sub-sector

Beyond looking at the effects on overall work, as with adult labour we also look at impacts on participation in different sub-sectors. Eight studies report impacts on child labour participation by sector of work. Five papers report significant results, which can be found within Table 10.9.

Impact on physical and non-physical labour: Del Carpio (2008) finds Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua) significantly reduced child labour among 8–15 year-olds and led to an increase in non-physical labour.

Domestic work and work outside the household: Covarrubias et al. (2012) find that the SCTP (Malawi) led to a significant reduction in domestic work outside the household and in paid domestic work outside the household. Involvement in domestic work outside the household, paid and unpaid, fell by 7%. Although there is evidence of reductions in child labour outside the household tasks.

Edmonds and Schady (2008) document that the randomised increase in income brought about by the BDH (Ecuador) is associated with increased schooling and decreased work for pay in those most vulnerable to transitioning from school to work. Children aged 10 and above who receive the additional BDH transfer income are less likely to engage in market work, work for pay or unpaid market work. They are more likely to work in domestic work (though coefficient shows positive but no significant impact on children 10 or older doing domestic work). The impact of actually receiving the BDH, correcting for the endogeneity in this decision, suggests that receipt of the BDH reduces market work by 24 percentage points, or just under 50%. The decrease in work for pay and increase in schooling, relative to the control population, are largest for girls.

Galiani and McEwan (2013) show that PRAF (Honduras) decreased the proportion of children who worked outside the home by three percentage points (or 30%), and decreased the proportion who worked inside the home by four percentage points (or 29%). Boys drive the full-sample effects on work outside the home. Girls drive the full-sample effects on work inside the home.

Covarrubias et al. (2012) find no significant impact associated with Malawi's SCTP on the probability of children working in non-household income work or in family farm/non-farm business. Daidone et al. (2014a) find no significant impact of the LCGP (Lesotho) on children's participation in any sector working/not working. They find that for children aged 5–18, the LCGP has not had any impact on children's work, in either paid or unpaid activities. In a different study on the ZCGP (Zambia), Daidone et al. (2014b) find that, overall, the programme did not have any impact on the work of children (aged 5–18), in either paid or unpaid activities.

Labour participation by sub-sector among girls

Eight studies report estimates of the impact of cash transfers on girls' work by sector/type of employment. Five report significant effects. The results of the studies are summarised in Table A5.5.7 in Annex 5.

Page 193

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Probability of working on salaried work: Parker and Skoufias (2000) distinguish between participation in salaried and other work activities (other work activities principally include self-employment and unpaid work activities such as working in a family business). For girls, the results on participation in salaried or other work activities is affected to a greater degree by Mexico's PROGRESA and vary substantially depending on the age group analysed. For girls aged 12–13, there are only significant reductions in the probability of participating in salaried activities. Nevertheless, for girls aged 14–15, the reductions in work are apparently due to a reduction in participation in other activities. Overall, it is difficult to say that one or another type of work is being affected to a larger degree than other types of work. Both types of work are clearly being affected under PROGRESA.

Market work, farm work and domestic work: Skoufias and Parker (2001) find that for boys, PROGRESA led to a reduction in participation in domestic work, particularly for boys aged 14 and over. With respect to farm work, whereas all the coefficients are negative, none are significant at conventional levels, implying there is no evidence that participation in farm work for boys is reduced with PROGRESA. Results show few impacts of PROGRESA on reducing market work for girls, with the exception of the group of girls aged 14–15, where participation in work is significantly reduced, although there is no impact on hours. The largest reductions in work for girls correspond to the reductions in domestic work, particularly for girls ages 14 and over, which show reductions in participation in domestic work of about 10%.

Edmonds and Schady (2008) find that BDH (Ecuador), has a significant impact, reducing work participation of girls aged 10 and above in market work and unpaid work, though no significant impact on work for pay.

Miller and Tsoka (2012) find that in the evaluation of SCTP (Malawi), between baseline and endline, there was an 8–11 percentage point difference in the proportion of both boys and girls doing household chores in intervention versus comparison households. They were both more likely to engage in household chores and less likely to work outside the home compared with non-recipient children. The larger percentage of intervention young people doing chores is probably due to the increase in the number of household activities in intervention households, such as shopping, food preparation and tending gardens. However, chores and family work did not appear to interfere with school enrolment, given that enrolment rates did not fluctuate based on whether children did chores. Moreover, transfers may have enabled children to switch from work outside the household (for cash) to household chores that did not interfere with schooling. Significant decrease in income-generating activities in Malawi (12–10 percentage point difference for girls and boys respectively). Schultz (2004) finds that PROGRESA (Mexico) led to a significant reduction in the percentage of girls working in market and household and a higher reduction among secondary school girls (-46.3%) compared with primary school girls (-14.8%) – a slightly higher reduction than for boys among secondary school girls.

At the same time, Galiani and McEwan (2013) find no impact of PRAF (Honduras) on girls 'only work inside the home' though the coefficient is negative. Daidone et al. (2014a) find that the LCGP (Lesotho) has no significant impact on girls' participation in paid work outside household, own non-farm business, own agricultural activities. Daidone et al. (2014b) find that the ZCGP (Zambia) had no impact on girls' paid work and unpaid work.

Lastly, Behrman et al. (2011) find no significant effect of PROGRESA/Oportunidades on girls' participation in agriculture after 5.5 years, which contrasts with a significant reduction of nine percentage points for boys aged 15–16 (a percentage change of 26%). This is partly explained by the much lower participation of girls in agricultural labour, with the authors highlighting that the significant increase in work overall for older girls is driven by increasing non-agricultural work.

Overall number of hours worked by children by type of work

Four studies report overall effects of cash transfers on number of hours worked by children in different sectors, among which three report statistically significant results (see Table 10.10). First of all, Handa et al. (2014) find no significant effect on number of days spent on farm/unpaid family labour among children in LEAP (Ghana).

Page 194

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Among the significant changes to time allocation, the main theme was one of either increasing or decreasing **time spent on family farm/non-farm enterprise work**. In the case of Indonesia's PKH, the programme was not associated with any significant change in wage work overall, though the programme did lead to an increase in time spent on family enterprises: approximately two hours (over the preceding week) for 7–12 year-olds and almost three hours for 13–15 year-olds (World Bank, 2011). As the programme was not effective in keeping children in school, it is perhaps not surprising that the programme did not significantly reduce child labour either.

Meantime, Covarrubias et al. (2012) find that Malawi's SCTP did lead to a reduction in hours spent on domestic work *outside* the household – by around quarter of an hour – though the results suggest that the time freed up was replaced with greater involvement on tasks *within* the household. Transfers were not associated with increases in leisure time, but were associated with more hours spent participating in family farm/non-farm business activities (similar to the PKH above). The authors explain this finding by saying that some children appear to have been pulled into domestic tasks that were previously performed by adult household members, who shifted their own allocation of time over to household on-farm activities, arising from new investments in tools and livestock. The reduction in children participating in paid and unpaid work outside the household is explained by the authors as reflecting the increased liquidity arising from the transfer, which allowed some children to be pulled from working outside the household into similar tasks in their own households, as well as household agricultural work.

In contrast to the above two studies, Daidone et al. (2014a) find that the LCGP (Lesotho) *decreased* hours worked in preceding week on own crop and livestock activities, but had no effect on hours worked on own *non-farm* enterprises or on paid labour.

These results highlight the importance of looking at children's overall time allocations when considering impacts on child labour as, although there may be changes to work outside the household, there can also be shifts in time allocation *within* the household.

Intensity of child work by sub-sector for girls

Seven studies report estimates of the impact of cash transfers on number of hours worked for girls. Four report significant findings. The full set of results can be found in Table A5.5.8 in Annex 5.

Del Carpio and Loayza (2012) find that Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua) led to a significant reduction in girls number of hours worked on household chores and to a reduction in girls' farm labour and an increase in skilled work; they find that the programme increased the number of hours of girls on skilled labour by 0.5 hrs per week.

An evaluation of the same programme by Del Carpio and Macours (2009) find that it led to an increase in number of hours worked in non-agricultural work for girls (a bit less than for boys), a reduction in agricultural work and a reduction in domestic work. The results also show that households that randomly received a productive investment grant, in addition to the basic conditional cash transfer benefits, both targeted at women, show an increased specialisation of older girls in non-agricultural and domestic work, but no overall increase in girls' child labour.

The paper also finds that the programme helped compensate for some of these intra-household differences, but exacerbated others. In particular, it reduced total hours worked more for older boys, and for boys with low past academic achievements. Both child labour in all economic activities and total child labour fell more for boys than for girls, leading to a reduction of the gaps in total numbers worked with 1.5 hours. When accounting for heterogeneity by age when considering gender differences in impact, it becomes clear that the reductions in agriculture, livestock, domestic work and total work are particularly large for older boys, when compared to their siblings. In contrast, the impact on child labour allocation for older girls does not seem to be bigger than for their younger sisters, and there was some indication of an increase in domestic work, relative to their younger sisters. Yet, in terms of total hours worked the impact for girls does not increase or decrease significantly as age increases, which contrasts with the results found for boys.

Page 195

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Finally, Rubio-Codina (2009) finds that PROGRESA (Mexico) led to a reduction in the number of hours on domestic work among girls and that this effect was higher for girls aged 12–17 compared with younger girls aged 9–11. Somewhat in contrast, the World Bank (2011) finds that the PKH (Indonesia) led to an increase in number of hours worked for girls (aged 7–12) in family enterprise work. Daidone et al. (2014a), however, find that the LCGP (Lesotho) had no significant effect on girls' sector of work.

10.3.3 Migration

As outlined in the conceptual framework, access to social protection can increase or decrease the likelihood of migration. On the one hand, access to a social protection programme may render the need to migrate obsolete, if remittances and social protection benefits are viewed as substitutes by potential migrants. On the other hand, migration and social protection could be seen as complementary strategies by prospective migrants, with the cash obtained from receiving a social protection transfer being used to finance migration.

Three studies report the overall effect of cash transfers on migration and two studies report sexdisaggregated findings. Of the 11 effects reported, four are statistically significant (Tables 10.9 below for the overall effects and Table A5.5.9 in Annex 5 for the sex-disaggregated effects).

Looking at overall effects, of the two studies to find significant results, one finds a positive effect and the other a negative effect. Ardington et al. (2009) find that the Old-Age Grant in South Africa increased the likelihood of household members (including non-residents) migrating within the country. Stecklov et al. (2005) find that participation in Mexico's PROGRESA led to a statistically significant decrease in the probability of moving to the US, but find no statistically significant impact for internal migration. Winters et al. (2009) find no significant impact for Nicaragua's RPS. This evidence is consistent with the results from other reviews on this topic.

In terms of gender, Ardington et al. (2009) find positive and statistically significant effects on internal migration for both male and female household members, with the impact on men being marginally larger (5.1 percentage points for men, compared to 3.4 percentage points for women). Behrman et al. (2009) find a positive impact for boys and a negative impact for girls for Mexico's Oportundidades. However, for girls, the only impact that is statistically significant is for the 9–10 age group, which shows a 3.5% point decrease in internal migration. The authors argue that this gender difference could reflect a greater tendency for boys to migrate for work and for girls to migrate for marriage – the implicit assumption is that participation in Oportundidades has kept girls in schools and out of early marriages. Chapter 11 considers the link between access to the transfer and marriage more closely.

10.4 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features

10.4.1 Impacts on adult labour

The full set of results for the impacts of design and implementation features on adults may be found in Table A5.5.10 in Annex 5.

Official recipient

Siaplay (2012) looks at differences between only-male-household members receiving South Africa's Old-Age Pension versus only-female-household members receiving the pension in terms of impacts on young adults (aged 21–26). The results indicate significant impacts on males living within the OAP households, though there are important differences between the two. Those living with female pensioners seem to reduce the probability of labour force participation by about 19 percentage points, yet when qn only-male-household member receives the old-age pension it *increased* the probability of labour force participation (by around 14 percentage points). These differences are not explained by the authors, however.

Page 196

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Timing of transfers

Bazzi et al. (2012) exploit the random staggered roll-out of an Indonesian UCT as a result of delays in disbursement to identify the effect of variation in timing (and cumulative magnitude) of transfers received. Whereas the timely receipt of a second transfer by early 2007 had no effect on weekly work hours per adult, the delayed receipt is associated with a decline of 2.3 hours, which is economically meaningful given a baseline mean of 22 hours worked per adult.

The authors suggest the following potential explanation: 'in early 2006 households had reoptimised their labour supply to a lower level in anticipation of receiving transfers at a given date in the near future. Insomuch as those decisions had persistent effects (e.g. previously declined positions were already filled), it may have been difficult for households to increase their labour in response to the delayed receipt of the second quarterly transfer.' Somewhat puzzling, though, is that a similar finding is made in 2007, several months after a second transfer had been received, suggesting to the authors long-run consequences of differential timing of receipt.

Duration of exposure

Of the four studies looking at the role of transfer duration, three find significant employment effects on adult labour.

Buser et al. (2014) investigated the effect of being a long-term transfer recipient in Ecuador's BDH versus being one that lost their transfers around two years ago on the number of hours that mothers worked. They found that those who continued to benefit worked an additional 8.4 hours (no reference period is given).

Behrman and Parker (2013) investigate the differential impact of being a beneficiary in PROGRESA/Oportunidades, reporting outcomes by gender among adults aged 50 or older at the beginning of the programme. They find that while an additional 1.5 years' exposure increases by five percentage points the proportion of older women working in the previous week in an activity contributing to family income, there is no differential effect for older men.

A number of other studies reporting on more than one follow-up period allow for some insights into differential impacts over time. As noted above, Bazzi et al. (2012) find statistically significant reductions in the weekly hours worked per adult relating to a temporary UCT in Indonesia (but not for those who had received both disbursements on time). In terms of duration, however, they find that the effect on labour supply increases in size over time, with the reduction in hours increasing from -1.8 hours a week to -2.3.

In all of the impacts on hours worked in the past week resulting from Nicaragua's RPS, Maluccio (2005) finds no significant differences either one or two years after baseline.

Transfer level

Four studies reviewed tell us something about the role of transfer levels in affecting the chosen adult employment indicators. Three of these suggest that, as expected, the level of transfer does play a role in mediating outcomes, generally with higher transfers strengthening the observed impacts.

Bertrand et al. (2003) estimate the impact of transfer levels in South Africa's Old-Age Pension and find that, among those aged 16–50 who live with age-eligible elderly individuals, higher individual incomes arising from the pension lead to a greater decrease in hours worked per week. The estimated effect of a 100 rand increase is a reduction of 1.7 hours a week. This compares to an average work week of 41 hours (among those that work) and the maximum benefit in the year when the survey data were collected was 370 rand per month, which was more than twice the median per capita income among African households in South Africa. Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Looking at the sex-disaggregated effects, a higher pension income significantly reduces employment rates and working hours among prime-age men, but only significantly reduces working hours among women. The reduction in working hours for women is around 1.3 hours per week less for an increase of 100 rand in pension income. This contrasts with a reduction of around 2.2 hours per week for men.

Dabalen et al. (2008) look at the effects of increasing transfer levels from Albania's NE programme and find that the hours worked in the past week among adults decline in response to receiving transfers. As the analysis includes non-beneficiary households, the effects are not simply among those who received any transfers, and so incorporate an overall effect. They find that an additional 100 Albanian lek results in a reduction of hours worked by around 6.7 hours. This result appears to be particularly driven by women, with the impact not significant among male adults. While not discussing the effects of changes in transfer levels per se, the authors suggest a disincentive effect is to be expected in the presence of widespread unemployment, inadequate employment generation and a high degree of worker discouragement (i.e. in urban areas and among females). However, it is worth noting that two particular aspects of this programme's design could also potentially have led to under-reporting of employment (or even discouraged it), with eligibility depending upon the heads of households being unemployed and the level of transfers received also depending upon reported earnings.

Bazzi et al. (2012) investigate the effect of variations in Indonesia's short-term (2005–2006) UCT transfer levels on weekly hours worked per adult within a households, but find no significant effects.

In the same study in which Angelucci (2004) investigated the impacts of conditions on migration, she looks at the effect of receiving higher or lower transfers. She finds that the receipt of higher transfers versus lower transfers in PROGRESA leads to a significant increase in US migration, and a significant reduction in domestic (Mexican) migration.

Conditionalities

One study by Angelucci (2004) investigates the role of conditionalities on adult labour in the context of Mexico's PROGRESA. Specifically, it looks at how conditions may have influenced labour migration. She finds fairly limited differences between households for which part of their transfer is conditional upon school attendance versus those where the entire transfer is unconditional. The main significant difference is for households where part of the transfers they were receiving was conditional, in which case it was less likely that someone from their household would migrate to the US in 1999 (though no such effect was found in 1998). The differences between follow-ups is suggested to be due to the fact that more money had been distributed by then and households had more time to respond to the new set of incentives provided by the programme. However, households with a higher proportion of conditional transfers were *more* likely to show some migration to the United States than those with low to medium conditional grants (results not shown).

Regarding domestic migration, there appear to be no significant differences between households that have a low to medium proportion of CCTs versus those with only UCTS. However, those with a high proportion of CCTs were significantly less likely to migrate within Mexico in 1999 (results not shown).

The explanation given for a higher proportion of conditions being linked to greater US migration relates to the presence of a cap on the maximum size of transfers, whereby households with a number of eligible children, and so taking the household above the maximum subsidy level, have their education grants re-scaled. The author believes, and finds some suggestive supporting evidence, that this may lower the monetary incentives to send children to school and instead raise the incentives for migration.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Targeting

Only one of the studies reviewed – the midline evaluation of Uganda's SAGE programme by Merttens et al. (2015) – was found to provide insights on the differential impacts of different targeting mechanisms. For Uganda's SAGE, one treatment arm – the Senior Citizen Grant (SCG) – used age to determine eligibility targeting those aged 60 or 65 and above, depending on the region. Another treatment arm – the Vulnerable Family Support Grant (VFSG) – targeted on the basis of a composite index based on demographic indicators of vulnerability. The study finds that impacts on the proportion of adults engaged in productive activities, casual labour and the average number of hours spent working were not significant for either group. However, the impact on the mean number of months spent working in the past year was a significant increase of around half a month, but only for those targeted using a vulnerability index. The differences between groups are not explained.

Complementary interventions and supply-side services

Three studies reviewed provide insights into the effect of complementary interventions on adult labour. Blattman et al. (2015) find no significant impacts from the WINGS enterprise grant programme (Uganda) on a range of labour participation and labour intensity measures as a result of receiving additional group training or additional supervisory visits. Closer inspection of the results does show that, although the test for statistically significant differences between different groups is not significant, when looking at the impacts on each of these groups individually (not presented in Table A5.2.10 of Annex 5), some differences are recorded. For example, a statistically significant increase in average work hours per week of 4.8 for those receiving five supervisory visits, with no significant effect for those receiving two. However, as the authors note, the supervisory costs represent a considerable expense given the limited difference in outcomes.

Green et al. (2015) also report on the effects of a complementary component of the WINGS programme, but explore the role of including women's husbands (or another household member who is responsible for financial decisions) as joint participants in the programme. This variation also involved them receiving basic training in couples' communication and problem solving. However, while the overall effects of the programme led to a 94% increase in non-agricultural employment hours (from five to 10 hours a week), the involvement of another household member had no significant effect on the same indicator.

In contrast to the lack of significant differences found by Blattman et al. (2015), Macours et al. (2012) found that, compared to receiving a basic transfer or a basic transfer plus a scholarship for vocational training in Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis, those receiving a cash transfer plus a productive investment grant saw a considerably higher significant effect on non-agricultural self-employment (increases of four percentage points compared to 13 percentage points).

10.4.2 Effects of design and implementation features on child labour

The full set of results for the impacts of design and implementation features on child labour may be found in Table A5.5.11 in Annex 5.

Official recipient

The one study looking at the effect of official recipients on child labour outcomes is Siaplay (2012), which does not find any significant effects on employment status for boys or girls (14–20 years old), regardless of whether South Africa's Old-Age Pension recipient is male or female.

Duration of exposure

Six studies look at the role of duration of exposure on child labour outcomes, with three studies on Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades finding that longer exposure leads to a greater reduction

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

in child labour (specifically among boys), while one on Peru's Juntos finds longer exposure associated with higher likelihood of employment, and one on Nicaragua's RPS finds a very small increase in girls' participation only after the second year. The sixth study finds that significant reductions in child labour participation arising from Nicaragua's RPS that were observed in 2001 did not continue in the following year.

Behrman et al. (2011) explicitly test for differences in the likelihood of children working as a result of PROGRESA/Oportunidades, depending on how long beneficiaries had received transfers. They find that the effect of an additional 1.5 years' exposure on work participation five and a half years later significantly reduced the proportion of children (by then aged around 14–20) who were working by 4.1% for boys, with no significant effects for girls (though the definition of work does exclude domestic work, and so may underestimate impacts for girls).

These findings are consistent with result from an earlier study by Behrman et al. (2009). In the earlier study, the authors also find that boys who were aged 9–15 in 1998 from households that started receiving transfers earlier were marginally more likely to have migrated by 2003 than those who received them a year and a half later (by two percentage points). A four percentage point decrease was found for girls who were aged 9–10 in 1998.

A third study involving Behrman and looking at impacts of Oportunidades in urban areas finds significant reductions in urban boys being employed for pay, with the point estimate being slightly larger after two years compared to just one (Behrman et al., 2012). This pattern is also reflected in the finding of Oportunidades only reducing the likelihood of boys overall (aged 6–20) being employed for pay after two years (around 10 percentage points), with no significant effect after just one.

Regarding Peru's Juntos, Perova and Vakis (2012) find evidence that children aged 6–14, from households that benefited from the programme for longer, saw an increase in the likelihood of working in the previous week. Those that had been exposed to Juntos for 24–36 months were three percentage points more likely to have worked than those who had benefited for under 12 months, while those who had been in it for over 36 months were 13 percentage points more likely to have worked than 12 months. This could potentially be related to the increasing likelihood of children working as they get older, however.

The main difference relating to duration of exposure found by Dammert (2008) is when looking at impacts on labour participation among male- and female-headed households, where significant negative reductions for both arising from Nicaragua's RPS found in 2001 do not continue into the 2002 follow up.

Maluccio (2005) reports a slight difference in effects among young girls working two years after baseline compared to one year afterwards in Nicaragua's RPS, with a marginally significant increase of around six percentage points in the probability of them working after no significant effect in the first year, though in coffee-growing areas there is a substantial decrease in the probability of girls working, which decreases further from year one to two (8–11 percentage points).

Conditionalities

Three studies suggest that the presence or perception of conditions attached to transfers relating to school enrolment or attendance have had a significant impact in reducing the probability or intensity of child labour. One of these includes insights into the types of condition that may be more effective in terms of employment outcomes.

In a comparison of effects of different types of transfer on child labour, Barrera-Osorio et al. (2011) find that a basic transfer conditional on school attendance in Colombia's SCAE, a savings treatment (postponing a bulk of the transfer to good attendance just before the child has to re-enrol), and a transfer where part of it is conditional on students graduating and tertiary *enrolment*, rather than attendance, *all* have a significant effect in increasing school attendance

Page 200

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

and reducing the hours worked by young children (aged 6–10). However, the impact appears to be strongest among those for whom the transfer is conditional on student graduation and tertiary enrolment. The authors suggest that this specific form of condition may, therefore, be the most effective in furthering educational improvements (and in turn reducing child labour).

Schady and Araujo (2006) look at the impacts of Ecuador's BDH CCT on whether children are either working or working full time (40 plus hours) and the number of hours worked, disaggregated by whether the household believed that transfers were conditional upon school enrolment. While being in a household that did not believe there to be any conditions did not lead to any significant change in whether the child worked full time, those households that believed there was a condition saw an eight percentage point decrease in the likelihood of their child working full time, and the number of hours worked by a child was also lower by nearly six hours, compared to no significant effect for those not perceiving any condition. The differences between the two groups on both measures was highly significant.

Benedetti and Ibarrarán (2015) exploit a particular design feature of Honduras's Bono 10,000, in which beneficiary households with any number of children aged 6–18 were officially required to enrol one child in school, meaning that school-age children in larger families had relatively lower probabilities of being subject to the condition. They find that the interaction between treatment and having just one school-age child leads to a significant reduction in the likelihood of working in the previous week (six percentage points), whereas no significant effect was found when treatment was interacted with households containing more than one child, even after controlling for family size. The authors take this to indicate a significant role of the conditions in reducing child labour participation.

Complementary interventions and supply-side services

Evidence was extracted from two studies regarding the role of complementary interventions and supply-side services, both from Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis. Del Carpio (2008) find variations in a number of child labour measures between the different groups. For example, one of the main findings is that children aged 8–15 from households that received a complementary business grant saw a significant increase in their weekly work hours in non-physical labour (6.3 hours), while those from the basic cash transfer group and the group receiving complementary vocational training saw no significant increase. Hours spent on physical labour and overall work also only saw a statistically significant reduction in the group receiving the transfer plus vocational training. This seems to have been driven by boys rather than girls as, when broken down by gender, boys saw significant reductions in overall hours worked for both the basic transfer group and the basic transfer group and the tr

Another paper by Del Carpio and Macours (2009) does not compare results by the type of intervention, but focuses specifically on the combination of the basic cash transfer with the productive investment grant to provide more of a breakdown of impacts by the type of work and age group. The main finding here is that, among those who received a productive investment grant in additional to the basic conditional transfer, there was an increased specialisation of older girls in non-agricultural and domestic work, but no overall increase in labour among girls.

10.5 Policy implications

A key finding from the programmes and policies reviewed is that, of the studies which looked at impacts on adult labour participation and labour intensity, in each case less than half found any significant impacts across all adults. Among those that did, the majority of studies finding a significant effect found that the cash transfer interventions (including two CCTs from Latin America and one from Kazakhstan) led to increases in labour participation among *working-age* adults. When looking at overall intensity of employment, among the significant results there were two reductions in overall time worked among *working-age* adults and positive impacts in labour intensity arising from Uganda's YOP and WINGS programmes.

Page 201

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

However, when interpreting the results it is crucial to differentiate between the range of different programmes reviewed. For example, when looking across *all* adults, some reductions were found to arise in paid labour participation and time spent in paid work among the elderly in Mexico and Brazil, as a result of the PAAMZR and BPC social pensions respectively. This should be interpreted positively, however, in so far as it shows that these social pensions have enabled the elderly to reduce their dependence upon paid work to meet their subsistence needs. Another key distinction should be made when it comes to the increase in overall employment intensity observed in Uganda's YOP and WINGS programmes, as these were both providing substantial enterprise grants specifically designed to increase employment. While these examples help to highlight the potential that such enterprise-focused programmes may have for supporting improvements in employment opportunities for specific groups, it must be recognised that they operate in a very different way, and with a different cost-structure, to the other transfer programmes reviewed in this study, which instead provide regular transfers, typically for consumption smoothing and/or inter-generational poverty reduction.

The evidence reviewed also suggests that cash transfers can lead to some changes in the allocation of labour across different sub-sectors, depending on the programme and local context. For example, in Lesotho's LCGP and Malawi's SCTP, reductions in paid work outside the household appeared to represent a trend of beneficiary households no longer needing to engage in casual labour, typically used as a coping strategy by the poorest households (Daidone et al., 2014; Covarribias, 2012). This was accompanied in the case of Lesotho with some increase in time spent on the household's own non-farm enterprise, indicating the potential opening up of a gradual sectoral shift out of casual labour. Ghana's LEAP programme also led to an increase in the number of days spent by male beneficiaries on their own farm. As the previous chapter on savings, investment and production highlighted, these programmes also led to increases in the accumulation of agricultural assets and/or inputs, which is obviously supportive of vulnerable households spending more time in self-employment and away from a dependence upon casual or exploitative labour.

As noted above, the evidence also points to cash transfers being able to reduce the need for vulnerable elderly individuals to engage in paid work, allowing them instead to dedicate time to, for example, their own farm or non-farm business (Kassouf and de Oliveira, 2012; Galiani et al., 2014). Evidence from South Africa also highlights how the provision of old-age pensions is likely to have important intra-household effects, which may include either an increase or decrease in labour force participation among working-age household members, e.g. if they are no longer forced to financially support their elderly relatives (Siaplay, 2012).

There was also no evidence of increases in informality. The only study that tackles this issue, studying Brazil's Bolsa Família (De Holanda Barbosa et al., 2014), finds a negative but non-significant impact associated with a head of household's likelihood to work in the informal sector.

Perhaps the strongest and most consistent message emerging from the evidence reviewed, however, is that a number of cash transfer programmes have led to a consistent reduction in the likelihood and intensity of participation in child labour. In many programmes this has been associated with an increase in time spent in school (see Chapter 7 on education). However, an important point to note here is that these significant reductions appear to be driven by programmes in Latin America (with the exception of one in Indonesia), and that none of the four studies reporting on child labour participation effects from a cash transfer programme in sub-Saharan Africa found any significant impact. This raises important questions as to whether these differences relate to particular programme design features (e.g. transfer sizes or conditionality and messaging). Further research in this area could prove useful for harnessing the full benefit of such interventions.

One of the implications of children reducing their labour participation, however, is that this may leave adults within the household with more work to do around the house or, where relevant, in agricultural activities. This may have important gender dimensions. For example, some trend was found in Latin America of increased time spent by women on domestic work arising from cash transfers (Ospina, 2010; Rubio-Codina, 2009), which may be explained by the opposite trend of decreasing time spent on household chores among young girls in three programmes in the region (Del Carpio and Loayza, 2012; Del Carpio and Macours, 2009; Ospina, 2010; Rubio-Codina,

Page 202

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

2009). Similarly in Kazakhstan there was evidence of an increase in labour market engagement as a result of children accessing pre-school (one of the conditionalitis of the BOTA programme) (O'Brien et al., 2014).

Studies investigating the impact of design and implementation features on employment were limited, but provide a number of interesting policy insights. One of the main areas of evidence covered the effect of size of transfers on adult labour, with the few studies finding higher transfers to have some significant effects on adult labour, e.g. enhancing the reduction in hours worked among male and female adults living in old-age pension recipient households in South Africa (Bertrand et al., 2003) and women working in Albania's Ndhima Ekonomi social transfer (Dabalen et al., 2008). While reductions in labour intensity in these programmes appear to be linked to higher transfer levels, the policy conclusion here is not necessarily that higher transfers are therefore a bad thing. In the case of South Africa' old-age pension, higher transfers could simply have done more to ease the pressures on adults in poor households who previously had to support their elderly relatives. In the case of Albania's Ndhima Ekonomi, it is important to note that two particular aspects of the programme's design could have created disincentive effects, or at least incentives to underreport employment. First, eligibility was dependent upon heads of households being unemployed and, secondly, the level of transfers received depended upon the income level that households reported (Dabalen et al., 2008). Methodologically, it is therefore less surprising that households with higher transfers were associated with lower employment. No significant effects on weekly hours worked were found to result from higher transfers in an Indonesian UCT evaluated by Bazzi et al. (2012).

The three studies looking at the role of conditionalities in affecting child labour also appear to demonstrate a significant effect on employment from conditioning transfers upon school enrolment or attendance (Benedetti and Ibarrarán, 2015; Schady and Araujo, 2006; Barrera-Osorio et al., 2011). One also provides some insights into how the way transfers are conditioned (e.g. holding back part of a transfer until students have graduated) may help to further reduce child labour (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2011).

Looking at the issue of complementary and supply-side services, some evidence from Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis programme emerged of the higher impacts on promoting a shift away from agricultural towards non-agricultural employment (among adults and children) from combining a regular cash transfer with a grant labelled as a 'productive investment grant' (Macours et al., 2012). The example seems to point to how combining regular transfers with lump-sum grants designated for productive activities may be useful for speeding up shifts away from dependence or reliance upon agriculture. However, the same study shows how cash transfers alone, or when combined with vocational training, also still led to statistically significant increases in non-agricultural self-employment, though with a lower impact, suggesting trade-offs between the level of impact and costs of these different approaches.

Page 203

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Adult labour

Table 10.3 Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on adult labour force participation

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	Alzúa et al. (2013)	PRAF (Honduras)	Individual is working (adults aged 15–80) (2002)	-0.011	Percent point change	NS
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Individual is working (adults aged 15–80) (2001)	-0.005	Percent point change	NS
		PROGRESA (Mexico)	Individual is working (adults aged 15–80) (1999)	-0.009	Percent point change	NS
2	Ardington et al.	SA-OAP (South Africa)	Individual is working (resident members aged 18–50)	-0.027	Percent point change	5%
	(2009)	SA-OAP (South Africa)	Individual is working (resident and non-resident members aged 18–50)	0.003	Percent point change	NS
3	Asfaw et al. (2014)	OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)	Individual is participating in labour force (over 18)	-0.026	Percent point change	NS
4	Canavire-	SP (Dominican Republic)	Individual is working (all aged 15-24)	0.059	Percent point change	10%
	Bacarreza and Vazquez-Ruiz	SP (Dominican Republic)	Individual is working (all aged 25-64)	0.025	Percent point change	5%
	(2013)	SP (Dominican Republic)	Individual is working (all aged 65 or above)	-0.003	Percent point change	NS
5	Barrientos and Villa (2013)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Adult is participating in labour force (aged 21 and over from single adult household)	0.087	Percent point change	1%
6	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	Proportion of working-age adults (18–64) engaged in economically productive activities	-0.081	Percent point change	NS
7	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Anyone in household participated in any labour activity in past 12 months	0.004	Percent point change	NS
8	Galiani et al. (2014)	PAAMZR (Mexico)	Pensioner worked in the past week	0.014	Percent point change	NS
		PAAMZR (Mexico)	Pensioner worked for pay in the past week	-0.047	Percent point change	1%
9	Handa et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Anyone in household engaged in paid work over past week	0.014	Percent point change	NS
10	Kassouf and de Oliveira (2012)	BPC (Brazil)	Individual is working in past week (co-residents aged 18–49)	-0.027	Not stated	NS
11	Merttens et al. (2013)	HSNP (Kenya)	Proportion of adults (aged 18–54) whose main activity is productive work	0.024	Percent point change	NS
12	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE Senior Citizens Grant (Uganda)	Individual is engaged in economically productive activity (aged 18–64)	0.62	Proportion	NS
		SAGE Vulnerable Family Support Grant (Uganda)	Individual is engaged in economically productive activity (aged 18–64)	-1.2	Proportion	NS
13	0'Brien et al. (2013)	BOTA (Kazakhstan)	Main carer of child is in paid employment (typically women under 50)	0.10	Percent point change	5%
14	Pellerano et al. (2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Individual engaged in any work over past 12 months (aged 18–59)	0.031	Percent point change	NS
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Individual engaged in paid work over past 12 months (aged 18–59)	-0.052	Percent point change	NS

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 10.4: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on overall intensity of work by adults

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	Alzúa et al. (2013)	PRAF (Honduras)	No. of hours worked (among those working)	0.68	Hours per week	NS
		PRAF (Honduras)	Total hours worked by adults in the household (per adult)	0.451	Total hours per week	NS
		RPS (Nicaragua)	No. of hours worked (among those working)	-1.99	Hours per week	NS
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Total hours worked by adults in the household (per adult)	-1.602	Total hours per week	NS
		PROGRESA (Mexico)	No. of hours worked (among those working)	0.04	Hours per week	NS
		PROGRESA (Mexico)	Total hours worked by adults in the household (per adult)	-0.384	Total hours per week	NS
2	Bazzi et al. (2012)	Temporary UCT (Indonesia)	No. of hours worked per week per adult – 2007 follow up (after 1 disbursement)	-2.285	Hours per week	5%
		Temporary UCT (Indonesia)	No. of hours worked per week per adult – 2007 follow up (after 2 disbursements)	-0.173	Hours per week	NS
3	Blattman et al. (2012)	YOP (Uganda)	Hours spent on all economic activities in past 4 weeks	19.71	Hours per month	1%
4	Blattman et al. (2013)	YOP (Uganda)	Monthly employment hours (after 4 years)	25.36	Hours per month	1%
5	Blattman et al. (2015)	WINGS (Uganda)	Average work hours per week (16m after grant)	9.391	Hours	1%
6	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Hours worked last week (any labour)	-2.8	Hours per week	1%
7	Galiani et al. (2012)	PAAMZR (Mexico)	Hours worked last week (age 70-74)	-0.44	Hours per week	NS
8	Kassouf and Oliviera (2012)	BPC (Brazil)	No. of hours worked (over 65-year-olds)	-15.75	Hours per week	5%
9	Maluccio (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Total hours worked last week by household members (2 years after baseline)	0.3406	Hours per week	NS
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Average hours per worker worked last week (2 years after baseline)	0.7732	Hours per week	NS
10	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE Senior Citizens Grant (Uganda)	Mean number of hours spent working per week (all occupations)	-0.62	Hours per week	NS
		SAGE Vulnerable Family Support Grant (Uganda)	Mean number of hours spent working per week (all occupations)	0.48	Hours per week	NS
11	Mochiah et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Total household labour hours	0.263	Percent	NS

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 205

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 10.5: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on adult labour force participation – by sector

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome variable	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	Alzúa et al. (2013)	PRAF (Honduras)	Working in agricultural occupation	-0.028	percentage points	NS
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Working in agricultural occupation	-0.013	percentage points	NS
		PROGRESA (Mexico)	Working in agricultural occupation	0.004	percentage points	NS
2	Cheema et al. (2014)	BISP (Pakistan)	% of working-age adults who are self employed	0.1541	percentage points	1%
		BISP (Pakistan)	% of working-age adults who are engaged as an employee	-0.01054	percentage points	NS
		BISP (Pakistan)	% of working-age adults who are engaged as an unpaid family helper	-0.02552	percentage points	NS
		BISP (Pakistan)	% of working-age adults who are engaged as a casual labourer	-0.1645	percentage points	5%
		BISP (Pakistan)	% of working-age adults who are engaged as an owner- cultivator	0.01608	percentage points	NS
		BISP (Pakistan)	% of working-age adults who are engaged as a share- cropper	-0.01123	percentage points	NS
3	De Holanda Barbosa and Corseuil (2014)	Bolsa Família (Brazil)	Probability of the main occupation held by the head of the household being informal	-3.237	Unclear	NS
4	Galiani et al. (2014)	PAAMZR (Mexico)	Worked last week for no pay (e.g. on a family farm or in a family business)	0.061	Percentage points	1%
5	Maluccio (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	If engaged in small business activity in last week	0.0619	Percentage point	NS
		RPS (Nicaragua)	Had non-agricultural home production for sale, resell purchased goods or sell services other than labour (2003 – 3 years after baseline)	0.015	percentage points	NS
6	Asfaw et al. (2014)	OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)	Household participation in non-farm enterprise (HH)	0.016	Percentage point	NS
		OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)	Participation in own-farm labour (individual)	-0.047	Percentage point	NS
7	Covarrubias et al. (2012)	SCTP (Malawi)	Participation in on-farm activities (if have zero income, i.e. subsistence, then definition assumes no participation) (1 year later) – household	0.07	Percentage point	NS
		SCTP (Malawi)	Self-employment (1 year later) - household	0.039	Percentage point	NS
8	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Participation last 12 months own non-farm business – Household	-0.006	Percentage point	NS
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Participation last 12 months own agricultural activities – household	0.023	Percentage point	NS
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Participation last 12 months paid work outside household – household	-0.03	Percentage point	10%
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Participation previous week own non-farm business – household	0.004	Percentage point	NS
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Participation last week own crop and livestock production – household	-0.035	Percentage point	5%
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Participation last week paid work outside household – household	-0.044	Percentage point	5%
9	Blattman et al. (2015)	WINGS (Uganda)	Involved in any non-farm self-employment (16 months after grants)	0.401	Percentage point	1%
		WINGS (Uganda)	Started enterprise since baseline (16 months after grant)	0.487	Percentage point	1%
10	Karlan et al. (2014)	IPA RCT (Ghana)	Household has non-farm income-generating activity	-0.04	Percent point change	NS
11	Macours et al. (2012)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Participates in non-agricultural wage-employment (effect of basic CCT)	0.0221	Percent point change	NS
		Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Participates in non-agricultural self-employment (basic CCT)	0.0396	Percent point change	10%

Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS *means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.*

Page 206

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 10.6: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on adult labour force participation (labour intensity) – by sector

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome variable	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	Asfaw et al. (2014)	OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)	Days worked per year in any wage labour	-20.41	Days per year	5%
		OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)	Days worked per month in own-farm labour	-0.042	Days per month	NS
2	Blattman et al. (2012)	YOP (Uganda)	Hours spent on market activities in past 4 weeks	22.239	Hours	1%
		YOP (Uganda)	Currently engaged in skilled work	0.34	percentage point	1%
3	Blattman et al. (2015)	WINGS (Uganda)	Average agricultural hours per week (16m after grant)	3.496	Hours	5%
		WINGS (Uganda)	Average Non-agricultural hours per week (16m after grant)	5.895	Hours	1%
4	Covarrubias et al. (2012)	SCTP (Malawi)	Days of ganyu (casual) labour worked by HH head (1 yr later)	-4.875	Days	1%
		SCTP (Malawi)	Days of ganyu (casual) labour (6m later)	-3.868	hours	1%
5	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Hours worked last week own non-farm enterprise	-0.1	hours	NS
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Hours worked last week own crop and livestock	-1.1	hours	NS
		LCGP (Lesotho)	Hours worked last week paid labour	-1.7	hours	NS
6	De Holanda Barbosa and Corseuil (2014)	Bolsa Família (Brazil)	Proportion of working hours of the household dedicated to informal activities	-2.006		NS
7	Galiani et al. (2014)	PAAMZR (Mexico)	Hours worked last week for no pay (e.g. on a family farm or in a family business)	2.17	Hours	1%
		PAAMZR (Mexico)	Hours worked last week for pay	-2.61	Hours	1%
8	Handa et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Weeks worked if did paid work	2.4	Weeks	NS
9	Maluccio (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Total hours dedicated to agriculture last week (2002 – two years after baseline)	-4.0562	Hours	NS
10	Mochiah et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)	Impact of LEAP on household labour hours in agriculture	-0.074	Log of household's labour supply for agriculture (percentage)	NS
		LEAP (Ghana)	Impact of LEAP on household labour hours in paid employment	0.315	Log of household's labour supply for agriculture (percentage)	10%
		LEAP (Ghana)	Impact of LEAP on household labour hours in non- farm expenditure	0.11	Log of household's labour supply for agriculture (percentage)	NS

Note: When results are reported for last 12 months and last week/shorter time span, reporting working/not working and hours over last 12 months. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 207

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Child labour

Table 10.7 Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on child labour force participation

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	AIR (2014)	ZCGP (Zambia)	Child is engaged in any work after 36 months (aged 7–14)	0.02	Percent point change	NS
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Child is engaged in paid work after 36 months (aged 7–14)	-0.005	Percent point change	NS
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Child is engaged in any work after 36 months (aged 15–17)	0.027	Percent point change	NS
		ZCGP (Zambia)	Child is engaged in paid work after 36 months (aged 15–17)	-0.04	Percent point change	NS
2	Attanasio et al. (2010)	Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Child is working (rural child 14–17)	0.004	Percent point change	NS
		Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Child is working (rural child 10–13)	-0.0744	Percent point change	NS
		Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Child is working (urban child 14–17)	-0.1499	Percent point change	1%
		Familias en Acción (Colombia)	Child is working (urban child 10–13)	-0.1417	Percent point change	1%
3	Barrera-Osorio et al. (2008)	SCAE (Colombia)	Child's primary activity is work (in grade 6-10)	-0.001	Percent point change	NS
4	Benedetti and Ibarrarán (2015)	PRAF (Honduras)	Participated in any work in past week (aged 6–17 at baseline)	-0.002	Percent point change	NS
5	Bustelo (2011)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Child is working (impact on targeted children 7–13)	-0.075	Percent point change	NS
6	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Participated in any labour activity in past 12 months	0.004	Percent point change	NS
7	De Silva and	BSM (Indonesia)	Child is working (poorest quintile)	-0.032	Percent point change	1%
	Sumarto (2015)	BSM (Indonesia)	Child is working (2nd quintile)	-0.0238	Percent point change	5%
		BSM (Indonesia)	Child is working (3rd quintile)	-0.0037	Percent point change	NS
		BSM (Indonesia)	Child is working (4th quintile)	-0.0073	Percent point change	NS
		BSM (Indonesia)	Child is working (top quintile)	-0.0039	Percent point change	NS
8	Edmonds and Schady (2008)	BDH (Ecuador)	Child works for pay (aged >10)	-0.0716	Percent point change	NS
9	Fitzsimons and Mesnard (2014)	Familias en Acción (Nicaragua)	Participates in any work including looking for work	-0.0257	Marginal effect	1%
10	Galiani and McEwan (2014)	PRAF (Honduas)	Child works outside the home	-0.03	Percent point change	1%
11	Gee (2010)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Child is working (aged 9-15)	-0.106	Percent point change	1%
12	Kassouf and de Oliveira (2012)	BPC (Brazil)	Child is working in past week (children aged 10–15)	-0.0843	Not stated	NS
13	Maluccio and Flores (2005)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Child is working (child aged 7–13 in first to fourth grades but not completed the fourth grade)	-0.056	Percent point change	5%
14	Maluccio (2003)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Child is working (10–13 year-olds who have not completed fourth grade)	-0.088	Percent point change	5%
15	Merttens et al. (2015)	SAGE Senior Citizens Grant (Uganda)	Child is engaged in economically productive activity (aged $6-17$)	-0.04	Proportion	NS
		SAGE Vulnerable Family Support Grant (Uganda)	Child is engaged in economically productive activity (aged 6–17)	0.01	Proportion	NS
16	Pellerano et al.	LCGP (Lesotho)	Child engaged in any work over past 12 months (aged 6–17)	-0.0239	Percent point change	NS
	(2014)	LCGP (Lesotho)	Child engaged in paid work over past 12 months (aged 6–17)	0.00070	Percent point change	NS
17	Perova and Vakis (2012)	Juntos (Peru)	Child is working in past week (aged 6–14)	0.17	Percent point change	NS
18	Schady and	BDH (Ecuador)	Child is working in follow-up survey	-0.172	Percentage points	1%
	Araujo (2006)	BDH (Ecuador)	Child started working between baseline and follow-up survey	-0.269	Percentage points	1%
19	World Bank	PKH (Indonesia)	Worked for wage in past month (aged 7–12)	-0.005	Percent point change	NS
	(2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	Worked for wage in past month (aged 13-15)	-0.001	Percent point change	NS

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 10.8 Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on overall intensity of child labour

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	Attanasio et al.	Familias en Acción	Hours of work (rural 14–17 year-olds)	-0.31	Hours per day	NS
	(2010)	(Colombia)	Hours of work (rural 10–13 year-olds)	-0.64	Hours per day	1%
			Hours of work (urban 14–17 year-olds)	-1.03	Hours per day	1%
			Hours of work (urban 10–13 year-olds)	-0.64	Hours per day	1%
2	Barrera-Osorio	SCAE (Colombia)	Hours worked last week (children grades 6–10 at registration)	-0.33	Hours per week	1%
	et al. (2008)		Hours worked last week (children grade 11 at registration)	-2.02	Hours per week	10%
3	Benhassine et al. (2013)	Tayssir (Morocco)	Minutes spent in day prior to interview working on household business, farm or outside (combined effect among UCT and CCT groups)	-31.77	Minutes	5%
4	Del Carpio (2008)	Atención a Crisis (Nicaragua)	Total hours of work, including domestic work (8–15 year-olds)	-1.102	'Hours'	10%
5	Schady and Araujo (2006)	BDH (Ecuador)	Hours worked in last week	-2.46	Hours per week	1%

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Programme and Child age Outcome variable Effect Measure of change Significance # Study country 1 Asfaw et al. (2014) OVC-cash transfer 10-15 Participation in own-farm labour by -0.124 Percentage points 1% (Kenya) children Covarrubias et al. (2012) SCTP (Malawi) 4–18 Non-household income work 2 0.003 percentage point NS SCTP (Malawi) 4–18 NS Family farm/non-farm business 0.021 percentage points SCTP (Malawi) 4–18 Domestic work outside the household -0.074 percentage points 1% 1% SCTP (Malawi) 4–18 Paid domestic work outside the -0.077 percentage points household Daidone et al. (2014a) Participation last 12m own non-farm -0.002 NS 3 LCGP (Lesotho) Percentage point business LCGP (Lesotho) Participation last 12m own agricultural -0.018 Percentage point NS activities LCGP (Lesotho) Participation last 12m paid work outside 0 Percentage point NS household 4 Daidone et al. (2014b) ZCGP (Zambia) 5–18 Paid child labour supply -0.018 Percentage point NS ZCGP (Zambia) 5-18 Unpaid child labour supply 0.039 Percentage point NS 5 Del Carpio (2008) Atención a crisis 8-15 Impact on physical labour -1.178 10% (Nicaragua) Atención a crisis 8–15 3.504 1% Impact on non-physical labour (Nicaragua) BDH (Ecuador) Edmonds and Schady (2008) 10 and 6 Children 10 and older do market work -0.244 Percent point change 5% older BDH (Ecuador) 10 and Children 10 and older do unpaid market -0.209 Percent point change 5% older work BDH (Ecuador) 10 and Children 10 and older do domestic work 0.0492 NS Percent point change older 7 Galiani and McEwan (2013) PRAF (Honduras) Only works inside the home in previous -0.032 Percent point change 10% week: intent to treat 8 Pellerano et al. (2014) 6 - 17Proportion of children who in the 12 LCGP (Lesotho) -0.194 Percent point change NS months prior to the survey engaged in: own non-farm business activities LCGP (Lesotho) 6-17 Proportion of children who in the 12 -1.766 Percent point change NS months prior to the survey engaged in: own crop/livestock production

Table 10.9: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on child labour participation by sector

Page 209

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 10.10: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on child labour intensity by sector

#	Study	Programme and country	Child age	Outcome variable	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	Covarrubias et al. (2012)	SCTP (Malawi)		Hours spent on domestic work outside the household	-0.261	hours	1%
		SCTP (Malawi)		Hours spent on family farm/non-farm business	0.161	Hours	5%
2	Daidone et al. (2014a)	LCGP (Lesotho)		hours worked last week own non-farm enterprise	0	hours	NS
		LCGP (Lesotho)		hours worked last week: own crop and livestock	-2.2	hours	5%
		LCGP (Lesotho)		hours worked last week Paid labour	0	hours	NS
3	Handa et al. (2014)	LEAP (Ghana)		Days on farm	0.8	days	NS
4	World Bank (2011)	PKH (Indonesia)	7 to 12	Family enterprise work last week	1.94	Hours	1%
		PKH (Indonesia)	13 to 15	Family enterprise work last week	2.93	Hours	1%
		PKH (Indonesia)	7 to 12	Wage work last week	-2.04	Hours	NS
		PKH (Indonesia)	13 to 15	Wage work last week	0.814	Hours	NS

Table 10.11 Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on migration

#	Study	Programme and country	Outcome indicator and treatment population	Effect	Measure of change	Significance
1	Ardington et al. (2009)	SA-OAP (South Africa)	Migrating internally (resident and non-resident household members)	0.045	Percentage points	5%
2	Stecklov et al. (2005)	PROGRESA (Mexico)	Migrating internally	-0.003	Percentage points	NS
		PROGRESA (Mexico)	Migrating to US	-0.002	Percentage points	5%
3	Winters et al. (2009)	RPS (Nicaragua)	Migrated internally or internationally	0.0055	Marginal effect	NS

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS means the study did not find a statistically significant result, typically up to the 10% significance level.

Page 210

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Page 211

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

Box 11.1: Summary of evidence for employment outcomes

The evidence presented here is taken from **31 studies** evaluating impacts on empowerment using our selected indicators. In 26 of these studies, impacts on these indicators are reported for women and girls only. The remaining five report on impacts for women/girls *and* men/boys. The indicators for which evidence was available by gender are: marriage, contraceptive use and multiple sexual partners.

Effects of cash transfers on selected empowerment indicators:

- The evidence compiled here supports the finding that transfers can reduce physical abuse, but may increase nonphysical abuse, such as emotional abuse or controlling behaviour. Eight studies considered the impact of cash transfers on physical or non-physical **abuse by a male partner** of a woman: six had significant results for physical or sexual abuse, all showing a reduction in reports of abuse (the one non-significant result suggested a rise); six had significant results for non-physical (e.g. emotional) abuse, of which four indicated a decrease in reports of abuse and two indicated an increase (the non-significant results also indicated a rise in non-physical abuse).
- Cash transfers can lead to increased involvement of women in decision-making. Eight studies examined the impact of cash transfers on *women's decision-making power*; all eight looked at expenditure-related decisions and all four significant results indicated a rise, ranging from 5% to almost 90%, in a woman's likelihood of being the sole or joint decision-maker; five also looked at involvement in non-expenditure decisions, with one showing a significant decrease in the likelihood of the female being the sole or joint decision-maker and one showing a significant increase (both were for decisions relating to contraceptive use). One study reported differential impacts according to the sex of the household head, finding that only in female-headed households were female transfer recipients more likely to become the main budget decision-maker (Merttens et al., 2013). The results, which were non-significant, were split in terms of showing positive or negative impacts.
- The evidence largely shows that cash transfers can delay marriage. Six studies looked at *marriage*, with five yielding significant results. Three of these indicated delayed marriage in the treatment group (by 1.5 years at one estimate (Alam and Baez, 2011)), one yielded results which differed by gender, and one suggested that the intervention actually incentivised marriage (Honduras's PRAF, analysed by Stecklov and colleagues). The study with only non-significant results also indicated a decrease.
- There is fairly strong evidence against anecdotal arguments that cash transfers increase *fertility*. 10 studies contained results on the impact of cash transfers on fertility (pregnancy or giving birth) and, of the seven yielding significant results, five indicated that the transfer decreased the likelihood of pregnancy or giving birth. The two exceptions again related to the unique case of Honduras's PRAF. Of the three studies reporting non-significant results, two indicated a decline in the likelihood of pregnancy and one a rise.
- The evidence mostly shows that cash transfers mostly lead to increases in the *use of contraception*, with one study having mixed findings for men only. There were nine papers dealing with the impact of a cash transfer on the *use of contraception* and five out of the six studies with significant results found unambiguous evidence that the transfer increased the use of contraceptives or reduced the likelihood of unsafe sex (one estimate was that females were 17% more likely to report safe sex). The one other study with statistically significant results found that while males were more likely to report condom use they were also less likely to report having had safe sex.
- The evidence shows that cash transfer can reduce the likelihood of having *multiple sexual partners* for women, but there is no evidence showing this for men. Of the four studies considering the effect of the transfer on an individual having multiple sexual partners, three yielded significant results, all of which indicated that the transfer lowered this likelihood among females.

Role of design and implementation features:

- One study disaggregated spillover effects in the household by the *gender of the main transfer recipient*, specifically of an old-age pension. It found that young adults were more likely to be married at follow-up, relative to the comparison group, when in a household with a *male* old-age pension recipient. When the pension recipient was *female*, young males in the household were instead less likely to be married at follow-up, and the impact on females was not statistically significant.
- Two studies considered differences by *transfer level*, and both yielded significant results. One indicated that an increase in transfer size could increase the likelihood of abuse, the other indicated that a higher transfer had a larger impact on contraceptive use or abstinence but only for females (Kohler and Thornton, 2011).
- Three studies considered *duration of exposure*, with two finding significant results to the effect that prolonged exposure to a cash transfer programme lowered the likelihood of marriage and pregnancy and increased the likelihood of contraceptive use.
- Two studies compared effects by conditionality/behavioural requirements (both of the Malawian Zomba transfer) but significant results were only found in one which indicated a reduction in marriage likelihood in the UCT group only.
- Two studies looked at *payment mechanisms* (both of the same programme in Niger), testing the difference between payment via mobile money transfer and cash in hand, but neither yielded significant results.
- Two studies considered *complementary interventions and supply-side services*, specifically business training (both in the same programme in Uganda), and both yielded significant results, one representing an increase in nonphysical abuse and the other a decrease in women's decision-making power.
- One study compared two transfers within the same broad intervention which use different targeting mechanisms although no significant impact on female decision-making power was observed under either mechanism.

Page 212

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

11.1 Summary of findings

This chapter presents evidence on the impact of cash transfers on empowerment. Among the six indicators for which evidence is reported, three (abuse, decision-making power and pregnancy) are measured for women and girls only, while the remaining three (marriage, contraceptive use and multiple sexual partners) are measured for both women/girls and men/boys. 26 of the 31 studies included in this chapter report indicators only for women/girls and the remaining five report impacts for both women/girls and men/boys (Behrman et al., 2005; Cluver et al., 2013; Handa et al., 2014; Kohler and Thornton, 2011; Siaplay, 2012). The criteria for selecting indicators are explained in Chapter 4 of this report.

The evidence retrieved in this review suggests that transfers reduce **physical abuse** of a woman by a male partner, but in some circumstances increase **non-physical abuse**, **such as emotional abuse or controlling behaviour**. The evidence base supports, to some extent, both the theory that increased income lowers stress-related abuse and the theory that increased income enables the woman to bargain out of abuse. The relatively strong evidence that decision-making power increases for women in beneficiary household also offers substance to this latter theory.

Other empowerment indicators reviewed here – marriage, pregnancy, contraceptive use and multiple sexual partners – are studied mainly in relation to unmarried women and girls of school age (there are exceptions, notably pregnancy, which in many cases is conditional on marriage). On the whole, the evidence reveals that risky sexual behaviour and also early marriage differ by gender, but in both cases increased income to an extent lifts the constraints that drive engagement in these behaviours. In the case of women and girls, the evidence that directly or indirectly receiving a transfer reduces the likelihood of having multiple sexual partners indicates that cash transfers may reduce the incidence of relationships that are transactional. Taken together, the evidence in this section points to cash transfers having a positive impact on women's choices as to fertility and engagement in sexual activity. In the case of men and boys, some of the evidence collected here suggests that cash transfers do not have the same effect of reducing risky sexual activity and, in fact, may lead to an increase in this type of behaviour.

The 11 studies reviewed which examine differences in programme impact depending on design and implementation features reveal findings relating to the gender of the main recipient, transfer level, duration of exposure, conditionality, complementary interventions and supply-side services and targeting mechanisms. A small number of studies find that increased transfer level and male involvement in complementary business training appear to *increase* the prevalence of physical abuse and controlling behaviour by a male towards his female partner/spouse, respectively, in the beneficiary group. Duration of exposure to a transfer reduced the likelihood of marriage and pregnancy and increased the likelihood of contraceptive use even more over time, compared to the comparison group (these results were statistically significant only for women). Conditionality is also relevant to whether or not a transfer had an impact on marriage and pregnancy in one study but it must be emphasised that, for the most part, the effect of differences in design and implementation features is non-significant.

11.2 Summary of evidence base

In total, there were 31 studies from which evidence was extracted for the specific indicators reported in this study, covering 13 countries and 19 cash transfer programmes. Table 11.1 provides an overview of which countries and programmes the studies reported on.

The evidence base is fairly evenly split between conditional and unconditional interventions, although these were clustered geographically, with all of the Asian and Latin American programmes being conditional (with the exception, in practice, of the Ecuadorian Bono de Desarrollo Humano) and all but one of the African interventions being at least partly unconditional. The interventions studied range in size from coverage of around 1,200 households (the Zomba cash transfer in Malawi) to several million (Bolsa Família in Brazil, PROGRESA/ Oportunidades in Mexico).

Page 213

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

The most-reported indicator categories were pregnancy (10 studies), use of contraception (nine studies), physical or non-physical abuse (eight studies) and woman as sole decision-maker (eight studies). Marriage was reported on in seven studies (although in only one was the impact of different lengths of exposure to the transfer reported) and multiple sexual partners in four studies. For abuse, women's decision-making power and pregnancy most of the results come from the Latin American studies, and for the other indicators – marriage, contraception and multiple sexual partners – most of the results are from African studies.

Just over half of the studies used a randomised control trial (RCT) impact estimation design and the remainder used quasi-experimental estimation strategies, involving matching or regression discontinuity design (RDD) on cross-sectional datasets, see Table 11.2.

Table 11.1: Summary of countries and programmes reported on for the health indicators (all studies)

Country	Programme	Type of cash transfer	# of studies	Details if pilot or experimental study
Latin America = 19 s	studies			
Brazil	Bolsa Família	CCT	1	
Ecuador	WFP Colombian refugee RCT (WFP cash transfer)	CCT	2	
Ecuador	Bono de Desarrollo Humano (BDH)	CCT	1	
Honduras	Programa de Asignación Familiar (PRAF)	CCT	2	
Mexico	PROGRESA/Oportunidades	CCT	8	
Nicaragua	Red de Protección Social (RPS)	CCT	3	
Peru	Juntos	CCT	2	
Sub-Saharan Africa	= 14 studies			
Kenya	Orphans and Vulnerable Children Cash Transfer (OVC-cash transfer)	UCT	1	
Kenya	Give Directly experiment	UCT	1	Experimental study
Kenya	Hunger Safety Net Programme (HSNP)	UCT	1	
Malawi	Zomba Cash Transfer Program (ZCTP)	CCT, UCT	3	
Malawi	Sexual health incentive programme (M-IP)	CCT	1	Experimental study
Niger	Concern Worldwide drought-response unconditional transfer (Mobile money experiment)	UCT	2	Experimental study
South Africa	Child Support Grant and Foster Grant (CSGFG)	UCT	1	
South Africa	Old-age pension (SA-OAP)	Social pension	1	
Uganda	Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE)	UCT	1	
Uganda	Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS)	Enterprise grant	2	Experimental study
Europe and Central	Asia = 1 study			
Turkey	Social Risk Mitigation Project (SRMP)	CCT	1	
South Asia = 1 studi	es			
Pakistan	Punjab Female School Stipend Program (PFSSP)	CCT	1	

Page 214

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 11.2: Summary of study methods used for empowerment indicators

Study	Study design/methods used for reported results	Reports total effect	Reports effect of design and implementation features?	Reports sex- disaggregated outcomes
Adato et al. (2000)	Pooled multinomial logit model	Yes		
Ahmed et al. (2007)	RDD	Yes		
Aker et al. (2011)	RCT (Pooled OLS)		Yes	
Aker et al. (2014)	RCT (Pooled OLS)		Yes	
Alam and Baez (2011)	RDD	Yes		
Angelucci (2008)	RCT (OLS)	Yes	Yes	
Baird et al. (2010)	RCT (DID with fixed effects)	Yes		
Baird et al. (2011)	RCT (Pooled OLS)		Yes	
Baird et al. (2012)	RCT (logistic regression)		Yes	
Behrman et al. (2005)	RCT (DID)		Yes	Yes (marriage)
Blattman et al. (2015)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	
Bobonis et al. (2013)	Fixed effects cross-sectional logit model	Yes		
Cluver et al. (2013)	PSM SD	Yes		Yes (multiple partners; contraceptive use)
de Brauw et al. (2014)	PSM SD	Yes		
Feldman (2009)	Pooled logit model	Yes		
Green et al. (2015)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	
Handa et al. (2009)	Fixed effects cross-sectional OLS and logit models	Yes		
Handa et al. (2014)	RCT (Logit model)	Yes		Yes (multiple partners; contraceptive use)
Haushofer et al. (2015)	RCT (OLS)	Yes		
Hidrobo et al. (2012)	RCT (ANCOVA)	Yes	Yes	
Hidrobo et al. (2013)	RCT (ANCOVA)	Yes		
Hidrobo and Fernald (2013)	RCT (ANCOVA)	Yes		
Kohler and Thornton (2011)	Pooled logit model	Yes		Yes (contraceptive use)
Merttens et al. (2013)	RCT (DID)	Yes	Yes	
Merttens et al. (2015)	PSM DID	Yes		
Perova (2010)	DID for repeated cross-section	Yes		
Perova and Vakis (2012)	IV; Intensity Dose Analysis	Yes	Yes	
Siaplay (2012)	RDD	Yes	Yes	Yes (multiple partners; contraceptive use; marriage)
Stecklov et al. (2006)	RCT (SD and DID)	Yes		
Stecklov et al. (2007)	RCT (DID)	Yes		
Todd et al. (2011)	RCT (Hazard model and DID)	Yes		

RDD = regression discontinuity design, RCT = randomised controlled trial, DID = difference-in-difference, SD = single difference, PSM = propensity score matching, IV = instrumental variables, ANCOVA = analysis of covariance.

Page 215

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

11.3 The overall impact of cash transfers on empowerment

This subsection presents the evidence on the overall impact of cash transfers on the selected empowerment indicators. Some indicators apply only to women and girls and others to both sexes, as listed below:

- Abuse (physical and non-physical) women only¹³²
- Decision-making power women only
- Marriage women/girls and men/boys (one out of six studies reports overall impacts on both)
- Pregnancy women only
- Contraceptive use women/girls *and* men/boys (four out of nine studies report on both)
- Multiple sexual partners women/girls *and* men/boys (three out of four studies report on both)

In this section, treatment effects are always in relation to a control group of the same gender. Given the variety of variations in programme design and implementation, a separate subsection presents heterogeneity of impacts depending on these features (11.4). The evidence on the overall impact of cash transfers on these indicators is now described in detail.

Abuse: physical and non-physical of women by men

Overall numbers

Of the eight studies that looked at the impact of a cash transfer on abuse of women by men, six looked at both physical and non-physical abuse, one at physical abuse only (Angelucci, 2008) and one at non-physical abuse only (Green et al., 2015). In all the studies, the abuse referred to was perpetrated by a male in the household: in six studies this was specifically abuse of a female individual by her male partner and in the remaining two cases this was abuse of the female partner of the male household head (i.e. abuse was measured at the household level).

Six of the seven studies reporting on physical or sexual abuse contained significant results and in all cases the impact of the cash transfer was a reduction in the likelihood of abuse being reported by the respondent. Six of the seven studies looking at non-physical abuse contained statistically significant results: two indicated that the transfer increased the likelihood of non-physical abuse and the other four indicated a decline in non-physical abuse. The findings of these studies will now be briefly described and then elaborated on with reference to theories of change.

Physical abuse

Seven studies looked at the impact of a cash transfer on (reports of) physical abuse, of which six contained significant results for these indicators (Table 11.3).

The studies on Ecuador (Hidrobo et al., 2012, focuses on the WFP programme targeting Colombian refugees; Hidrobo and Fernald, 2013,¹³³ focuses on the BDH) the Bobonis¹³⁴ study (2013) on PROGRESA in Mexico and the Perova¹³⁵ (2010) study on Juntos in Peru offer the most substantial evidence that a cash transfer reduces physical abuse. In terms of percentage

Page 216

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹³² In one case here results are also disaggregated by the gender of the transfer recipient, though the indicator still measures levels of abuse reported by women.

¹³³ In Hidrobo et al. (2012; 2013) and Hidrobo and Fernald (2013) physical or sexual abuse is identified if the respondent selected yes to any of the following in the last six months '(1) pushed, shoved, or had an object thrown; (2) slapped or had her arm twisted; (3) punched or hit with object; (4) kicked or dragged; (5) strangled or burned; (6) attacked with knife or other weapon; (7) threatened to be attacked with knife or other weapon; (8) forced to have sexual interactions, and (9) forced to conduct sexual acts that woman does not approve.'

¹³⁴ Physical abuse is defined in Bobonis et al. (2013) as if the female respondent answered yes to having been the victim of abuse 'for example, push, beating, attack with blade'; sexual abuse is defined as having answered yes to being the victim of sexual abuse 'for example use of force to have sexual relations'.

¹³⁵ In Perova (2010) physical violence indicator is equal to one if a woman experienced at least one type of physical violence, such as pushing, slapping, hitting, attacking with weapons or attempts to strangulate or burn during the last 12 months. The sexual violence indicator is equal to one if during the last 12 months a respondent's partner/husband forced her to have sexual relations or to participate in sexual acts she did not approve of.
points the impact is between 0 and nine percentage points (Haushofer et al., 2015; Perova, 2010, respectively), however, taking into account the different baseline levels of reported violence, we see a very wide range in the reduction in physical or sexual violence: -24% (Perova, 2010), -34% (Angelucci, 2008), -43% (Bobonis et al., 2013), -45% (Hidrobo et al., 2013), and -54% (Hidrobo et al., 2012).

In Angelucci's study¹³⁶ (2008), also using PROGRESA data, the overall impact on drunken violence is negative, although subsequent models show that the effect varies by relative education level and age of the male partner (at the maximum transfer level the reporting of violence was five percentage points higher, which is a doubling of the 5% mean level of violence reported at baseline).

Non-physical abuse

Seven studies looked at the impact of a cash transfer on (reports of) non-physical abuse such as controlling behaviour or emotional abuse, of which six contained significant results for these indicators (Table 11.4). Two indicated an increase in the likelihood of non-physical abuse and four indicated a decrease in this likelihood.

The Bobonis study¹³⁷ (2013) on PROGRESA indicates an increase in emotional abuse (threats, insults, etc.) in the treatment group, only when not accompanied by physical abuse, and this increase is relatively large compared to the baseline level of abuse (an increase of 72%). This is explained as rent-seeking behaviour by the male partner: the female partner now has more resources to bargain out of being physically abused, hence the male partner increases his threat level to take advantage of this (Angelucci, 2008, also puts forward this theory). The study by Green et al. (2015) on the Ugandan WINGS programme also indicates an increase in emotional abuse and controlling behaviour of two and 14 percentage points respectively (no baseline mean is provided to contextualise this increase) – again this is explained through rent-seeking theory. The indicator for emotional abuse in this case also captures physical abuse so it is not clear whether both types of abuse rise together.

The studies on the WFP grant and BDH in Ecuador again show a decrease in abuse, this time nonphysical: Hidrobo et al. (2012) find that the female-targeted transfer reduced reported controlling behaviour by 10 percentage points; in a similar study by Hidrobo et al. (2013) this difference for controlling behaviour is eight percentage points, equivalent to a 47% reduction from baseline; and Hidrobo and Fernald (2013) find a smaller overall reduction in controlling behaviour of six percentage points, equivalent to 10%.¹³⁸ Perova's¹³⁹ (2010) study of Juntos in Peru also finds that emotional abuse decreased in the treatment group by 11 percentage points more than in the control (a drop of 35% from the baseline level of emotional abuse). In additional models to test for heterogeneity of impacts, emotional abuse fell most (16 percentage points) for women who have a cash-paying job, from which the author concludes that the 'change in incidence of violence varies depending on the woman's outside of marriage options' (Perova, 2010).

Evidence of a weak or non-existent relationship. Haushofer et al. (2015) find that, in the context of the Kenyan Give Directly transfer, the impact of the transfer on emotional abuse is negligible and not statistically significant. Green et al. (2015, on the WINGS programme in Uganda) note that a possible explanation for the absence of statistically significant effects in their study (for certain types of non-physical abuse) is that these mechanisms may both be operating to some extent, but cancel one another out. They interpret their findings as showing that if any of the

138 In both papers the indicator of controlling behaviour is based on having reported any of the following behaviours in the last six months: '(1) accuses woman of being unfaithful, (2) limits woman's contact with her family, (3) limits woman's contact with friends, (4) wants to know where the woman is at all times, and (5) ignores or is indifferent to woman.'

139 Emotional abuse is identified if the respondent answers yes to any of the following: 'having been humiliated by her husband/partner, or if he threatened to do harm to her or to anyone she cares about, or if he threatened to leave and deprive her of economic aid' in the last 12 months.

Page 217

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹³⁶ In Angelucci (2008) violent behaviour is identified using the question 'While drinking, does this person (referred to the heaviest drinker) have an aggressive behavior?' (in 96% of the cases the 'heaviest drinker' identified is the male household head).

¹³⁷ Emotional abuse is defined in Bobonis et al. (2013) as if the respondent answered yes to any in a range of perceptions based questions 'e.g. locked you in, threatened to leave you'.

hypothesised mechanisms is indeed operating then its impact is very weak. Hidrobo and Fernald (2013, on the BDH in Ecuador) offer under-reporting of physical violence as another partial explanation for some of the non-significant effects.

This section now turns to mechanisms explaining the statistically significant results.

Evidence that transfers decrease abusive behaviour. There are two principal theories of change by which the transfer could lead to less abusive behaviour:

- Female bargaining power increases, as does the woman's ability to bargain out of violence

 linked to this is the theory of increased 'reservation utility, or out of marriage options'
 (Tauchen et al., 1991)
- 2. Transfers reduce poverty-related stress, in which case abusive behaviour would decrease, regardless of the gender of the official transfer recipient (Farmer and Tiefenthaler, 1997).

Hidrobo et al. (2012) on the WFP grant in Ecuador note that the comparison group in their study experienced a surprisingly high surge in reported abuse, for which they do not have a definitive explanation. The Hidrobo and Fernald (2013) study on the BDH in Ecuador finds that the overall treatment effect for controlling behaviour is a reduction of approximately 10% of the baseline control group mean level of abuse. However, in a subsequent model which disaggregates by the woman's level of schooling it is found that the effect is only significant for women with six years of schooling or more and that the effect is even larger (a reduction of approximately 25% in controlling behaviour), and when disaggregating in this way the effect for emotional abuse becomes significant, too (women with six years of schooling or more experienced a 14% reduction in emotional abuse). In the Bobonis study (2013) of PROGRESA (Mexico), a decrease in physical abuse and a simultaneous increase in controlling behaviour as a result of the transfer is explained through the female-bargaining-power hypothesis. In the Angelucci study (2008), also on PROGRESA, abuse also decreases in households receiving the minimum transfer, primarily as a result of the second mechanism outlined above.

Perova (2010), studying Juntos in Peru, tests both the theory that a woman's individual income increases her 'threat point', that is her ability to threaten the dissolution of marriage, and increased rent-seeking from the male partner (mechanism number 1 below). She concludes that the mechanism which drives a husband to increase his level of violence is constrained by his need to keep violence below a level at which his female partner would dissolve the marriage. Crucially, a female-targeted transfer can enhance out-of-marriage options, and as a consequence lower this 'threat point'. Perova also refers to focus group discussions in which participants attributed decreases in domestic violence to 1) women's improved bargaining power and 2) the reduction in poverty-related stress.¹⁴⁰

Evidence that transfers increase abusive behaviour. Alternative mechanisms predict an increase in abusive behaviour by the partner/spouse:

- 1. Female bargaining power increases so the partner/spouse increases his level of non-physical abuse as an instrument to align expenditure more closely with his preferences (Eswaran and Malhotra, 2011) or as a means to extracting rents (Bloch and Rao, 2002).
- 2. Increased female earnings result in 'male backlash' or the use of violence to reassert control where it is perceived to have been lost.

Despite finding an overall negative effect on both types of abuse, Hidrobo and Fernald's (2013) finding that emotional abuse and controlling behaviour does not decrease among beneficiary women with six years of education or less is a cause for concern (BDH, Ecuador). Of even greater concern is that, for women with six years' schooling or less who had more or equal schooling to their male partner, the transfer was associated with a nine percentage point or a 16% *increase* in emotional abuse. What this suggests is that 'violence is likely to increase ... where outside-of-

140 Here Perova (2010) cites Jones et al. (2006) 'Transferencias condicionadas de efectivo en el Perú: las muchas dimensiones de la pobreza y la vulnerabilidad de la infancia.' Presentation at UNICEF/New School Conference, New York, October 2006.

Page 218

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

marriage options are not a credible threat point and a power imbalance exists among the couple', meaning that less educated women have fewer options to escape abuse and the abuse may even increase as a result of one of the mechanisms outlined above. Perova (2010) draws a similar conclusion from her finding that beneficiary women saw the greatest reduction in non-physical abuse when they already had a cash-paying job (this is taken by the author as an indicator of enhanced out-of-marriage options).

Although in the Angelucci study (2008, PROGRESA in Mexico), abuse declined initially as a result of reduced poverty-related stress, an increase in abuse was observed when the transfer was large, especially if the husband was uneducated and married to a younger wife. This is most consistent with the theory of male backlash against female control of a substantial portion of household resources.

The study by Bobonis et al. (2013, also on PROGRESA) finds an increase in non-physical violence which the authors explain as evidence of increased rent-seeking behaviour by the husband. The study by Green et al. (2015) of the Ugandan WINGS programme shows a similar increase in non-physical violence as a result of 'increased efforts from intimate partners to capture and control earnings'. In both cases this is explained more in the language of rent-extraction theory rather than wilful assertion of control over resources.

Women's decision-making power

Eight studies examined the impact of cash transfers on a woman's decision-making power – all the results here are reported for women only. These effects are measured at the household level since only one woman per household is considered (in some, but not all, cases the transfer recipient). The studies can be categorised into two areas of decision-making: sole decision-making or sole or joint decision-making on expenditures by the woman (eight studies); and any involvement in decision-making on non-expenditure issues by the woman (five studies). The studies were evenly split between Latin America (Mexico, Ecuador and Brazil) and Africa (Uganda, Kenya and Niger).

Sole decision-making or involvement in decision-making on expenditure

Four studies yielded statistically significant results and in all cases these results were in a positive direction, meaning that greater autonomy over expenditure decisions was observed in specific areas of expenditure as a result of the transfer (Table 11.5). For de Brauw et al. (2014, on Brazil's Bolsa Família), of the five domains of expenditure tested, one yielded a significant result (expenditure on durable goods) indicating a 7.5 percentage point increase or 54% increase from the baseline mean. In Handa's study on PROGRESA (2009) a woman in the treatment group is 4.7 percentage points more likely to have autonomy over how her own income is spent compared to the control.

In Uganda (Green, 2015, on the WINGS enterprise grant), female transfer recipients were nine percentage points higher on an index of self-reported autonomy in purchases than the comparison group. As reported in the subsequent section on design and implementation effects (11.4) this effect turns negative, meaning the female recipient's self-reported autonomy is worse than in the comparison group, for those in the WINGS+ programme where a male partner was allowed to also partake in the business training classes.

In the Kenyan study by Merttens et al. (2013), the sex of the household head appears to determine transfer impact to the extent that autonomy over budgetary decisions only increased in female-headed households (Merttens, 2013, on the Kenyan HSNP). In the case of Merttens et al. (2013) on the Kenyan HSNP, the result on female-headed households, though statistically significant, must be taken with caution for two reasons: firstly, female-headed households were not systematically sampled and their representation in the sample is low; secondly, in female-headed households female respondents already reported being the main budget decision-maker 82% of the time, therefore the increase of 3.8 percentage points in the treatment group represents a modest 5% increase in the end.

Page 219

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

In the study by Merttens et al. (2015) on the Ugandan SAGE programme, no statistically significant impact was found for programme participants with regard to the woman being the main decision-maker on how to spend money. This was found to be the case regardless of which targeting mechanism was used (the SCG which targeted eligible households on the basis of age criteria or the VFSG which targeted on the basis of a composite index of vulnerability indicators). The authors (Merttens et al., 2015) propose that the lack of an impact might be partly explained by the reaction of men to the targeting of female beneficiaries, which in the qualitative data was sometimes described as an increased tendency to control household decisions, even through the use of violence in isolated cases.

Decision-making on non-expenditure issues

There were two instances of statistically significant impacts for decisions on non-expenditure issues (out of four studies), both relating to the decision on the use of contraceptives (Table 11.6). In de Brauw et al. (2014) (Bolsa Família, Brazil) the treatment increases the likelihood of the wife being the sole decision-maker about contraception by 10 percentage points. The control mean is 27.5 so this represents roughly a 36% increase. By contrast, in Hidrobo et al. (2012) (looking at the WFP programme in Ecuador), women in the treatment group are nine percentage points less likely to be the sole or joint decision-maker on the use of contraception (no baseline mean is given to contextualise this increase). In the case of Bolsa Família (Brazil), the compulsory health information sessions are cited as a possible reason for the increase in women's autonomy over contraception (de Brauw et al., 2014). In Ecuador, transfers were also conditional on attendance at monthly nutrition training, however, it is not clear whether this condition was enforced and the training did not relate to reproductive health in any way.

Importantly, there are no significant differences in female control over decisions relating to child health and schooling, or expenditure in these areas. Theory stipulates that women's increased personal income will increase her bargaining power (Adato, 2000, on PROGRESA in Mexico) and a cornerstone of many large-scale interventions is that funds distributed to the principle female in the household (usually the mother) will be most likely to be used for expenditure on children and health-related matters (the IEG (2015) systematic review goes into these arguments in detail). According to Adato's typology (2000), outlined in the theory of change section of this report, the mechanism by which a transfer might increase female decision-making power is influenced by other pressures within the household, by interpersonal networks and by attitudinal norms. It is also possible that the lack of significant results is due to female sole or joint decision-making already being at a high level in some categories.

Again, in the Merttens et al. (2015) study no significant impact was detected for the female as the main decision-maker on children's schooling and what to do about a serious health problem. The authors (Merttens et al., 2015: 86) do, however, refer to qualitative data collected for the same project that suggests programme participation 'helped to promote male acknowledgement of [women's] contribution to the household'.

Marriage

This subsection contains the evidence for the impact of a cash transfer on the likelihood of marriage. All the studies in this section only included women and girls within their samples with the exception of Siaplay's study of the South African old-age pension receipt on marriage likelihood among adolescent and young adult females and males (Siaplay 2012).

Six studies examined the impact of a cash transfer on marriage (Table 11.7). Of these, five yielded significant results, three of which suggested delayed marriage in the treatment group (Baird et al., 2010; Baird et al., 2011; Alam and Baez, 2011 – all these studies focused only on females). One study reported results for males and females separately, finding that the overall impact for females was non-significant, but for males it was also a statistically significant delaying of marriage (Siaplay, 2012). The remaining study finding significant results suggested that the intervention actually incentivised marriage, and in this case the sample was composed only of females (Stecklov et al., 2006: the Honduras results).

Page 220

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

For the most part, the studies focused on girls and women between the ages of approximately 13–26. In one case the sample also included women up to the age of 47. The only study that included impacts for males was Siaplay's study which looked at a sample of males and females aged 14–16. A total of six interventions were studied across the papers. Of these, two were specifically designed to keep girls and young women in school, meaning that delayed marriage was an expected consequence. Three interventions (PROGRESA, the RPS and the PRAF) had school enrolment as one condition among several others intended more generally to lead to human capital formation. The final intervention was an old-age pension, therefore any effect on marriage among younger household members would be indirect.

Two of the three studies of the Zomba Cash Transfer Programme in Malawi by Baird et al. (2010 and 2011) show a reduction in the likelihood of marriage in the treatment group of around two or three percentage points. As stated, the results here refer only to women and girls. It is worth noting that in the later of these two studies the effect was only observed for the unconditional treatment group (this will be elaborated on in the section on the impact of design and implementation features). In Alam and Baez (2011, on the Pakistan Female School Stipend Programme) the trade-off effect of schooling and marriage is observed in the finding that CCT beneficiaries delay marriage by one and a half years on average.

Siaplay's study (2012, South Africa) of the impact of old-age pension receipt on the marriage and fertility outcomes of younger household members yields mixed results which are not fully explained. This is the one study on marriage which reports impacts for both genders. At follow-up, young males in treatment households were 18 percentage points less likely to be married than their counterparts in comparison households, and this difference was statistically significant. Young women in treatment households were five percentage points more likely to be married at follow-up. However, this difference was not statistically significant. Siaplay also tests for differential impacts by the gender of the pension recipient and these results are presented in section 11.4.

Pregnancy

10 studies contained results on the impact of cash transfers on fertility: of these five looked only at the likelihood of pregnancy, two looked only at the likelihood of giving birth, two looked at both the likelihood of pregnancy and giving birth, and one looked at the likelihood of giving birth and also at number of children (Table 11.8). All studies reported on impacts solely for women and girls. Four of the studies focused on South and Central America (Mexico, Honduras, Nicaragua), four on Africa (Malawi), one on Pakistan and one on Turkey. All interventions were CCTs with the exception of the Zomba Malawi cash transfer (the focus of two studies by Baird et al.), which also includes an unconditional treatment arm.

Seven studies found a statistically significant impact of the transfer on this outcome. Of these, five indicated that the transfer decreased the likelihood of pregnancy or giving birth (Ahmed et al., 2007; Alam and Baez, 2011; Todd et al., 2011; Baird et al., 2011; and Baird et al., 2012). The other two statistically significant results show that in the case of Honduras's PRAF the transfer appears to have incentivised pregnancy (Stecklov et al., 2006 and Stecklov et al., 2007), but this appears to be a special case as explained in the text.

The result reported in Ahmed et al. (2007) on the Turkish Social Risk Mitigation Project explains the decrease in the likelihood of women of childbearing age in beneficiary households becoming pregnant as a combination of the income effect and exposure to family planning information during the compulsory health check-ups that were a condition of the programme for pregnant women. The result is considered surprising as it has been thought that households might escalate their fertility rate to take advantage of the free health centre visits. The income effect may also suggest that household fertility patterns and behaviours differ when a transfer is introduced.

Alam and Baez (2011) find that the Female School Stipend Program in Pakistan reduces the number of children that a woman had, if she had any during the study period, by 33 percentage points (although at 10% significance). This is consistent with later marriage ages in the treatment group. The authors speculate that the transfer may not have an effect on eventual lifetime births, but rather on delaying marriage and pregnancy in favour of schooling.

Page 221

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

On the Nicaragua RPS, Todd et al. (2011) find that the likelihood of giving birth in a given time period decreases among beneficiaries, indicating wider birth spacing which they tentatively interpret as an indicator of lower fertility rates overall. Of the two studies by Baird et al. (2010; 2011) on Malawi, only one (2011) finds a significant impact on pregnancy and this represents a large decrease in the odds of pregnancy in the unconditional treatment group. As with marriage, the explanation here is that this coefficient shows something like the pure income effect of the transfer on fertility, since the unconditional transfer group are under no incentive to swap childbearing for school.

In the case of Honduras's PRAF, Stecklov et al. find in two similar studies that women in the treatment group were four to six percentage points more likely to have given birth between survey rounds or to be pregnant at the time of survey. In the 2006 paper this is equivalent to a 20% increase on baseline at first follow-up and 19% increase after two years. In the 2007 paper the overall effect is found to be an increase of approximately 17% in the likelihood of having given birth or being currently pregnant compared to the control group, and a much higher 36% increase among treatment women who were married at baseline. The authors suggest this to be a result of incentives created by the programme, in which the transfer amount increases with the addition of a pregnant woman and/or new child (Stecklov et al., 2007).

Contraception

Nine papers dealing with the impact of a cash transfer on the use of contraception were reviewed for this study (Table 11.9). Five papers looked at impacts solely on females (Baird et al., 2010; Feldman et al., 2009; Perova and Vakis, 2012; Stecklov et al., 2006; Stecklov et al., 2007) and the remaining four looked at impacts for males and females separately (Cluver et al., 2013; Handa et al., 2014; Kohler and Thornton, 2011; Siaplay, 2012). Five of the studies reported only on the prevalence/likelihood of any modern contraceptive, two reported only on the use of condoms, and two reported on the use of condoms and also on safe sex (meaning condom use or abstinence). The period being reported on differed considerably by study. One study reported on having used contraceptives in the last year, one in the last three months, one the last nine days, two the most recent instance of sexual intercourse (with no time restriction) and four the current use of contraceptives over an unclear window of time.

With three exceptions, the interventions were all conditional cash transfers. There were two instances of an unconditional child grant (Cluver et al., 2013, in South Africa and Handa et al., 2014, in Kenya) and one of an unconditional old-age pension (Siaplay, 2012, in South Africa).

Six of the studies yielded statistically significant results. Five out of these six studies found relatively unambiguous evidence that cash transfers increase the use of contraceptives or reduce the likelihood of unsafe sex (Cluver et al., 2013, in South Africa; Feldman et al., 2009, in Mexico; Perova and Vakis, 2012, in Peru; Stecklov et al., 2006, and Stecklov et al., 2007, in Nicaragua and Mexico). The two studies by Stecklov et al. (2006; 2007) indicate that programme participation increased the use of any modern contraceptive over the last 18 months by five to six percentage points in Nicaragua and around two percentage points in Mexico, above what was observed in the control group (no baseline means are given). In Peru, Perova and Vakis (2012) identify an increasing gap between the treatment and control groups over time as to the likelihood of using contraception. The effect 'accumulates over time', starting at eight percentage points at 12–23 months exposure to Juntos and reaching 18 percentage points after 36 months in the programme. The authors note that in the absence of data on initial impacts (<12 months in the programmes) it is not clear whether this represents a lagged effect or simply a cumulative effect.

The remaining study with a statistically significant result found an increase in contraceptive use or abstinence among female beneficiaries and an opposite effect for males (Kohler and Thornton, 2011, on the Malawian incentive experiment). The effect for females is an increase in reported safe sex or abstinence equivalent to around 17%. Male beneficiaries are more likely to use condoms (taking into account the very low baseline mean level of condom use, this represents an increase of approximately 65%) but also to engage in riskier sex (approximately 18% less likely), which is explained as males in the treatment group engaging in more sex overall. The

Page 222

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

same study compared outcomes for low and high transfer level beneficiaries (approximately US\$4 and US\$10, respectively) and found a statistically significant response to different transfer levels only for females. The authors note two possible explanations for the results: that the additional income could have been used by males to purchase risky sex and used by women as a substitute for 'selling' risky sex; alternatively, the transfer was conditional on the beneficiary testing negative to an HIV test which may have removed a constraint to risky sex by acting as proof of negative status (but only for men).

Handa et al. (2014), focusing on the Kenyan OVC-cash transfer, compare the transfer's impact by the gender of the household member being interviewed (specifically young adults in the household aged 15–25) on contraceptive use and having had unprotected sex. Both males and females were more likely to report condom use (although this was not statistically significant), but males were more likely to report having engaged in unprotected sex while females were less likely to report this (although again this was not statistically significant).

Multiple partners

Four studies investigated the effect of the transfer on an individual having multiple sexual partners in a given space of time (in all cases this period was the 12 months prior to the survey), see Table 11.10. Three out of four papers reported results for males and females separately with the remainder reporting only for females (Baird et al., 2010). All the studies focused on countries in sub-Saharan Africa (Baird et al. on Malawi; Handa et al. on Kenya; and Siaplay and Cluver et al. on South Africa). In one study the outcome variable of interest was the number of sexual partners (Baird et al., 2010) and in the others it was a binary variable for having had two or more sexual partners. In two of the studies the respondent was the beneficiary himself or herself, and in the remainder he or she was a member of a household that received a child grant for orphaned and vulnerable children (Handa et al., 2014) or an old-age pension (Siaplay, 2012). All the studies focused on sub-Saharan Africa (Malawi, South Africa and Kenya). Three out of four studies yielded statistically significant results, the exception being another South African study, on the pension (Siaplay, 2012).

The studies which yielded statistically significant results all showed a reduction in the incidence of multiple partners among beneficiaries. The studies by Baird et al. (2010) and Cluver et al. (2013) were similar in that they tested the effect of a cash transfer on the sexual behaviour of an adolescent or young adult beneficiary. In both cases the effect is reported jointly for a conditional and unconditional transfer since in the South African case the Child Grant is de facto unconditional while the less prevalent Foster Grant has many conditions attached (Cluver et al., 2013), and in the Malawian case a conditional and unconditional arm were built into one experimental intervention (Baird et al., 2010). In the case of South Africa (Cluver et al., 2013), female beneficiaries had much lower odds of having two or more sexual partners in the past year, compared to female non-beneficiaries. However, the effect did not hold for male beneficiaries. The authors (Cluver et al., 2013) rule out the possibility that conditionality (health check-ups and so on) drive the effect by noting that only 0.7% of the sample received the CCT Foster Grant as opposed to the UCT child grant. A partial explanation is the reduction in transactional and age-disparate relationships resulting from a rise in female income. In the treatment group, 41% were male and this figure was 46% in the control group. In the Malawian case, beneficiaries had on average 25% fewer sexual partners than non-beneficiaries – all beneficiaries were female (Baird et al., 2010).

Handa et al. (2014, on the Kenyan OVC transfer) also find substantially reduced odds of having two or more sexual partners in the past year among females in households receiving a child grant. Again, the result did not hold for males in beneficiary households. The OVC transfer is earmarked for spending on the care of an orphan or vulnerable child in the household, and is given to their primary caregiver, however no enforcement exists as to how the money is spent. Since not all interviewees were necessarily an orphan or vulnerable child, it is not clear what benefit they are directly receiving from the lump-sum household transfer. However, Handa and colleagues (2014) explain the reduction in the prevalence of multiple partners in the treatment sample as a consequence of the reduced need to engage in transactional sex of some kind. They also speculate as to whether a kind of 'hopefulness' dividend from the transfer leads to a reduction in risky sexual behaviour.

Page 223

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

In the study by Siaplay (2012) the impact on multiple partners is not significant for either gender. There is however a statistically significant and negative impact of transfer receipt on the probability that a young adult/adolescent in the house has ever had sex (this indicator is not included in our study) and on marriage (although results differ by gender).

11.4 The role of cash transfer design and implementation features

Eleven studies reported specific findings on the role of design and implementation features (see Table 5.6.1 in Annex 5 for impacts found) and statistically significant results were found in eight. They found the following results:

- One study disaggregated spillover effects in the household by the gender of the *transfer recipient*. Siaplay (2012, on South Africa) found that young adults (aged 14–26 at baseline) were more likely to be married at follow-up, relative to the comparison group, when in a household with a *male* old-age pension recipient. When the pension recipient was female, young males in the household were instead less likely to be married at follow-up, and the impact on females was not statistically significant.
- Two studies considered differences by *transfer level* of which both yielded significant results. They find that under certain circumstances a larger transfer increases the likelihood of physical abuse and that, for females only, the larger the transfer the more likely the recipient is to report using contraception or abstaining from sex.
- Three studies considered *duration of exposure*, with two finding at least one significant result. These indicate that prolonged exposure lowered the likelihood of marriage and pregnancy and increased the likelihood of contraceptive use.
- Two studies compared effects by *conditionality/behavioural requirements* (both of the Malawian Zomba transfer) and significant results were found in one. In this case the UCT group was overall less likely to be married at follow-up but no effect was observed in the CCT group.
- Two studies looked at *payment mechanisms* (both of the same intervention in Niger which distributed payments through mobile money transfer or cash) but neither yielded statistically significant results.
- Two studies considered *complementary interventions and supply-side services*, specifically business training (both in the same programme in Uganda) and both yielded significant results. Women in households receiving complementary interventions were more likely to report non-physical abuse and experience a decline in decision-making power.
- One study compared two transfers within the same broad intervention which use different *targeting mechanisms*, although no significant impact on female decision-making power was observed under either mechanism.

These studies are now discussed in more detail.

Main recipient

• In a study of old-age pension recipient households in South Africa, Siaplay (2012) observes spillover effects of a pension on adolescent and young adult household members with regard to marriage. Siaplay disaggregates by the gender of the pension recipient, finding that *when the pension recipient is male*, the likelihood of the young adult respondent being married at follow-up increases, regardless of the young adult's gender, relative to the comparison group. This impact is a 23 percentage point increase for young females and a 24 percentage point increase for males. Conversely, *when the pension recipient is female*, both young females and young males in the household are less likely to be married at follow-up than the comparison group, although the difference is only statistically significant for young males, where it represents a 27 percentage point decrease. The partial explanation given for the increase in marriage rates in the treatment group is that early marriage is a protective strategy against premarital pregnancy and HIV infection (Bracher et al., 2003; and Clark, 2004, are cited) and the

Page 224

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

pension transfer alleviates the related financial constraint. The finding that males in femalepension-recipient households are less likely to marry is possibly linked to other findings in the study indicating that transfer decreases labour force participation of males in female-pensionrecipient households.

Transfer levels

- Angelucci (2008) shows that the overall impact of PROGRESA on drunken violence by a male partner is negative (-1.6 percentage points). However, when disaggregated by transfer level the highest possible transfer level yields a positive impact of five percentage points. The largest transfer size is 625 Mexican pesos while the smallest is 100 pesos. The author notes that the additional income from the smallest transfer still leaves the husband as the main provider of income (providing 70%, down from 96%) while the largest transfer causes his share in providing income to almost half (52%, down from 96%).
- Kohler and Thornton (2011) test the differential impact of a transfer on safe sex practices. However, their impact estimates are relative to the control group and the difference between them is not tested. They find that there was no statistically significant impact on condom use among males or females, regardless of transfer size (amounts of either roughly US\$4 or US\$10 were distributed). For the **safe sex** (condom use at last sex or abstinence) indicator, they find that the transfer decreased the likelihood of safe sex among males by -8.8 percentage points (low transfer) and -9.2 percentage points (high transfer) and these differences were significant relative to the control group. For females the high transfer produced an impact of 8.7 percentage points (significantly different to the control group) and the low transfer an impact of 4.6 percentage points (not significant). The authors (Kohler and Thornton, 2011) report that differential impacts by transfer size were only statistically significant from one another for female beneficiaries.

Duration of exposure

- Baird et al. (2011) estimate the effect of the Malawian ZCTP on women and girls at around 12 months and just after 24 months (the programme ran for two years so the final survey was conducted after it had ended). For **marriage**, longer exposure to the treatment increased the difference between the treatment and control group to the effect that beneficiaries were 7.9 percentage points less likely to be married after two years. However, this effect was only significant for the UCT group. Related to this, the UCT group were also much less likely to be pregnant after two years compared to the control group.
- In Behrman et al. (2005) the impacts of longer exposure to the programme on the likelihood of **marriage** are negligible, -1 percentage point for females, -0.6 percentage points for males and not statistically significant. The longer length of duration is 4.5 years compared to a shorter length of three. Elsewhere in the study the authors find that, when disaggregating by years of schooling completed in 1997 (at baseline), there is a significant effect of the transfer on the likelihood of abuse if they had seven or more years of schooling (-25.4%), also four years of schooling. They argue that if the intervention happened at certain critical ages then it had an effect on marriage likelihood; however, when disaggregated by *age*, as in the table, none of the coefficients is significant.
- Perova and Vakis (2012) find that the impact of treatment on women and girls is cumulative as the duration of exposure increases. In Juntos (Peru), beneficiaries in the programme for less than 12 months were 1.2 percentage points more likely to be using **contraception**; for 12–23 months this figure was eight percentage points; for 24–36 months it was 12 percentage points; and for over 36 months it was 18 percentage points.

Conditionalities

• Baird et al. (2011) test the difference between the UCT and CCT treatment groups with regard to **marriage** and **pregnancy** outcomes for women and girls. The authors find a significant difference in the likelihood of marriage among beneficiaries of the Malawian ZCTP to the effect that the UCT had a substantially larger effect of decreasing marriage rate (by three

Page 225

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

percentage points more than the control group). The UCT had a similarly stronger effect on reducing pregnancy (two percentage points more than the CCT group) but this was not statistically significant. This effect was almost entirely accounted for by UCT beneficiaries who were in school at baseline but dropped out. The authors conclude that the cash enabled women to avoid reliance on relationships with men, noting that 'approximately 25% of the young women who were sexually active at baseline reported that they started their sexual relationships because they "needed his assistance" or "wanted gifts/money".'

• In a similar study on the same intervention (the Malawian ZCTP) the same authors (2012) find that beneficiaries were less likely to get married than the comparison group, and this did not differ to a statistically significant degree between conditional and unconditional treatment arms (odds ratio of 0.93 for the conditional arm; 0.36 for the unconditional arm). In the same study, the conditional arm appeared to be more likely to be pregnant at follow-up (odds ratio of 1.17, not statistically significant) but the unconditional arm beneficiaries were much less likely to be pregnant at follow-up (odds ratio of 0.16) compared to the control group.

Targeting mechanism

• The study by Merttens et al. (2015) of the Ugandan SAGE programme compares impacts across the programme's two sub-interventions. One intervention is the Senior Citizens' Grant (SCG) which targets on the basis of age (over 65) and the other is the Vulnerable Family Support Grant (VFSG) which targets using a composite index designed to capture household vulnerability. Although, strictly speaking, the difference in impact of one targeting mechanism over another is not tested using statistical methods, the paper does allow for and encourage comparison between the two. It should also be noted that there are differences between the two sub-interventions that go beyond targeting criteria. Merttens et al. (2015) find no statistically significant impact of programme participation in either of the treatment groups (SCG and VFSG). A partial explanation for this is that male backlash against the targeting of females as beneficiaries in some cases increased levels of controlling behaviour by males in the household, and in specific cases even increased domestic violence. There are visible, though untested, differences in the impacts: for the SCG (age-targeted) group they are larger and generally positive in direction, while those for the VFSG grant are in fact negative in sign, and minimal in size (though in neither case are the impacts statistically significant).

Payment mechanism

• The two extensive studies by Aker et al. (2011 and 2014, of the Zap Mobile Cash Transfer Programme in Niger) comparing transfer delivery methods yielded almost no significant results when testing for impacts on **women's decision-making power**: the only case of statistical significance indicated that the respondent (it is implied that the respondent is female, but this is not explicitly stated in the paper) was more likely to be involved in deciding how the transfer was spent in the mobile-delivery and cash-delivery-with-mobile treatment arms, as opposed to plain cash delivery. It is not therefore possible to disentangle the effect of owning a mobile phone from receiving the cash transfer via mobile payment. The authors suggest that differences in norms between the major ethnic groups captured in the sample might obscure the effect (Aker et al., 2011). They also provide some qualitative evidence that the use of a text message to announce the arrival of the transfer allowed the female beneficiary to retain this information until she identified a favourable time to share the news with her husband, resulting in her being more included in the discussion of how to spend it (Aker et al., 2014).

Complementary interventions and supply-side services

• Blattman et al. (2015) estimate the impact on physical and emotional abuse and women's decision-making power of an intervention which gave women cash earmarked for a business and also delivered complementary training workshops (the WINGS intervention in Uganda). The study estimates the additional effect on the outcomes of being entitled to attend these trainings. The authors find that physical and emotional abuse decrease when beneficiaries (and their partners) take part in complementary workshops (however the result is non-significant). The authors find a large increase in reports of controlling behaviour by the male partner in

Page 226

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

the training group (13 percentage points higher than the non-training group). It is not clear whether the husband participated in the training, although they were encouraged to attend, but the fact that the wife participated suggests a model where husbands 'encourage but then control their wife's business earnings, in return for weak increases in purchasing autonomy'. The authors do, however, test whether participation in the programme and the complementary trainings have an effect on the wife's **autonomy in purchases**, and find no significant result. In the Blattman paper (2015), under-reporting of domestic violence is given as a partial explanation for the lack of significant results.

- Green et al. (2015) also study the impact of the WINGS programme in Uganda, but pool the effect of the cash and the complementary business training. In the paper they first consider the impact of participation in the WINGS programme and then the impact of the sub-programme WINGS+, which encouraged (but did not enforce) the beneficiary to attend the business training with another household member who was typically responsible for financial decisions (in most cases this was the woman's male intimate partner). This second part of the study estimates the impact of a male intimate partner attending the training with the female beneficiary. For **physical and emotional abuse** and **women's decision-making power**, the authors compare the intent-to-treat effect between women with and without an intimate partner, on the assumption that the partner would have attended the training. The authors find that the difference between the groups that did and did not attend training with a male partner is not statistically significant.
- In Green et al. (2015) it is also found that self-reported autonomy over purchases was 11 percentage points lower than in the control group for female WINGS+ beneficiaries as a whole (however, the statistical significance of this result disappeared when limiting the sample to those who recorded having an intimate partner at baseline). This is a very different result to that found using the full sample (all female WINGS beneficiaries rather than the reduced WINGS+ sample), where self-reported autonomy over spending decisions rose by nine percentage points in the treatment group.

11.5 Policy implications

The evidence synthesised here points to female cash transfer beneficiaries reducing engagement in **risky sexual behaviours, delaying marriage and pregnancy and increasing contraceptive use** (Baird et al., 2010, Handa et al., 2014, Cluver et al., 2013, Kohler and Thornton, 2011, Feldman et al., 2009, Perova and Vakis, 2012, Stecklov, 2006, Stecklov, 2007). The reduction appears to be mostly explained by females using the extra income to opt out of sexual relationships that are to an extent transactional. However, for males there was at times an increase or no reduction in risky sexual behaviours (Kohler and Thornton, 2011; Cluver et al., 2013). These initial findings offer some indication that gender should be a consideration in the design of interventions. However, the evidence base is rather thin and needs bolstering.

Secondly, there is consensus in the evidence that cash transfers reduce the **physical abuse of women** within the home (Angelucci, 2008; Bobonis et al., 2013; Hidrobo et al., 2012; Hidrobo et al., 2013; Hidrobo and Fernald, 2013), although with some nuances that are highlighted later in this section. Theory stipulates that cash transfers may have the unwanted consequence of increasing **non-physical types of abuse** by the male partner. The evidence base is quite evenly split on this subject, with several studies capturing a decrease in non-physical abuse (Hidrobo et al., 2013; Hidrobo and Fernald, 2013) however there are some compelling examples of unintended consequences, for example in the WINGS programme in Uganda studied by Green et al. (2015) and Blattman et al. (2015). In this case, male partners were encouraged to attend the complementary business trainings. However, the evidence suggests that exposure to the programme without having access to the cash (the beneficiaries were for the most part female) may have increased rent-seeking and controlling or threatening behaviour. To offset these negative consequences, such interventions could include a component aimed exclusively at men, such as an information/education campaign.

Third, almost all the significant results for **female decision-making power** showed that the transfer impact is positive, the vast majority of results showed no significant impact (six out of

Page 227

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

almost 40 pieces of evidence extracted for this review were significant). What this suggests is that the assumed mechanism through which an increase in women's individual income increases her autonomy may not be functioning as imagined. Particularly when taking into account the evidence that in some circumstances a transfer increases controlling behaviour by the male partner, there is a clear suggestion that intra-household politics, perhaps in particular gender politics, disrupts the imagined linear relationship between income and power. A common assumption is that when a female controls the household purse we are likely to see an increase in expenditure on child-related items and nutritious food (Whitehead, 1981; Roldán, 1987). However, Chapter 4 of this report shows there is little evidence that, for instance, female-headed households have comparatively higher food expenditure. This means that more research is needed to test the link between decision-making power and changes in expenditure patterns.

Fourth, in some circumstances the impact of a transfer is clearly limited by supply-side factors. In other words, in order for cash transfers to be more effective in improving empowerment outcomes they may need to be combined with parallel or complementary initiatives. Future interventions could be designed taking into account the severity of supply-side restrictions and the possibility of mitigating these, some of which are:

- Barriers to contraceptive uptake and information sessions on reproductive health (sessions seen to be effective in de Brauw et al., 2014).
- Lack of opportunities for women without recourse to relationships with men that are in some manner transactional (transactional sexual relationships were observed in several of the papers, including those by Baird et al., 2010, 2011, and 2012; Siaplay, 2012; Cluver et al., 2012; and Handa et al., 2015).
- Low school quality and barriers to accessibility, in particular the undervaluing of girls' education (Baird et al., 2011).

The existing evidence on the impact of complementary interventions and supply-side services is limited since only two studies considered the effect of participation in these.

Finally, based on the existing evidence, design and implementation features appear to sometimes affect these impacts. However, the evidence is extremely sparse. There are examples presented here of **impacts that accumulate over time** (Perova and Vakis, 2012; Baird et al., 2011) and also of impacts that differ by **transfer size** (Angelucci, 2008; Kohler and Thornton, 2011). In the Angelucci study the worrying conclusion is that a larger transfer increased the prevalence of physical domestic abuse. This is explained as a consequence of the transfer's disruptive effect on the balance of income provision in the household. **Conditionality** also proved to be important in the Baird studies of the Malawian Zomba cash transfer to school-age girls and young women in the sense that only the *un*conditional transfer proved to be effective at reducing pregnancy and marriage rates. However, the authors' explanation for the differential impacts relates more to the design of the study than to incentives created by the (lack of) conditionality requirement. Again, it should be emphasised that the evidence base is thin and there is a need for more studies testing the role of different design and implementation features in shaping empowerment outcomes.

Page 228

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 11.3: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on physical or sexual abuse

	Paper	Specific variable	Size of effect	Unit of change	Statistical significance	Effect of (default = overall effect)	Programme
1	Angelucci (2008)	Male partner is aggressive when drinking	-0.016	Percentage points	1%		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Male partner is aggressive when drinking	0.051	Percentage points	5%	Transfer level (maximum transfer)	PROGRESA (Mexico)
2	Bobonis et al. (2013)	Physical abuse	-0.055	Percentage points	10%		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Sexual abuse	-0.050	Percentage points	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
3	Haushofer et al. (2015)	Physical abuse	-0.00	Percentage points	NS		Give Directly (Kenya)
		Sexual abuse	-0.00	Percentage points	5%		Give Directly (Kenya)
4	Hidrobo et al. (2012)	Physical and/or sexual abuse	-0.07	Percentage points	10%		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
5	Hidrobo and Fernald (2013)	Physical abuse	-0.02	Percentage points	NS		BDH (Ecuador)
6	Hidrobo et al. (2013)	Moderate physical abuse	-0.05	Percentage points	5%		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Severe physical abuse	-0.01	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Sexual abuse	-0.05	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
7	Perova (2010)	Physical abuse	-0.09	Percentage points	5%		Juntos (Peru)
		Sexual abuse	-0.03	Percentage points	NS		Juntos (Peru)

Notes: 'Physical abuse' here refers to physical abuse of a female by a male partner. Results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features (with exceptions). Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS = not significant at 10% significance level or below.

Table 11.4: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on emotional/non-physical abuse

	Paper	Specific variable	Size of effect	Unit of change	Statistical significance	Effect of	Programme
1	Bobonis et al. (2013)	Emotional abuse	0.027	Percentage points	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Emotional abuse	0.04	Percentage points	10%	Only those who did not experience physical violence	PROGRESA (Mexico)
2	Green et al. (2015)	Physical and emotional abuse	0.02	Percentage points	5%		WINGS (Uganda)
		Controlling behaviour	0.14	Percentage points	5%		WINGS (Uganda)
3	Haushofer et al. (2015)	Emotional abuse	0.00	Percentage points	NS		Give Directly (Kenya)
4	Hidrobo et al. (2012)	Emotional abuse	-0.03	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Controlling behaviour	-0.10	Percentage points	5%		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
5	Hidrobo et al. (2013)	Emotional abuse	-0.05	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Controlling behaviour	-0.08	Percentage points	5%		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
6	Hidrobo and Fernald	Emotional abuse	-0.02	Percentage points	NS		BDH (Ecuador)
	(2013)	Controlling behaviour	-0.06	Percentage points	5%		BDH (Ecuador)
		Emotional abuse	-0.08	Percentage points	10%	Mothers with >6 years of schooling only	BDH (Ecuador)
		Controlling behaviour	-0.14	Percentage points	5%	Mothers with >6 years of schooling only	BDH (Ecuador)
7	Perova (2010)	Emotional abuse	-0.11	Percentage points	5%		Juntos (Peru)

Page 229

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 11.5: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on woman as sole or sole/joint decisionmaker on expenditures

	Paper	Specific variable	Size of effect	Unit of change	Statistical significance	Effect of	Programme
1	Adato et al. (2000)	Woman is sole decision-maker on child clothing expenditures	-0.33	Z-score	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on food expenditure	-0.845	Z-score	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on expenditure on durable goods	-1.048	Z-score	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on expenditure on house repair	-0.117	Z-score	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on how to spend her extra income	0.281	Z-score	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
2	de Brauw et al. (2014)	Woman is sole decision-maker on food expenditure	0.00	Percentage points	NS		Bolsa Família (Brazil)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on clothing expenditure for self	0.028	Percentage points	NS		Bolsa Família (Brazil)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on child clothing expenditures	0.043	Percentage points	NS		Bolsa Família (Brazil)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on health expenditures for children	0.059	Percentage points	NS		Bolsa Família (Brazil)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on expenditure on durable goods	0.075	Percentage points	10%		Bolsa Família (Brazil)
3	Green et al. (2015)	Self-reported autonomy/influence in purchase (z-score)	0.09	Z-score	10%		WINGS (Uganda)
4	Handa et al. (2009)	Woman is sole decision-maker on how to spend her extra income	0.047	Percentage points	1%		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Decision-making index (composed of five questions)	0.074	Units unspecified	1%		PROGRESA (Mexico)
5	Hidrobo et al. (2012)	Woman is sole or joint decision- maker on food expenditure (small daily purchases)	-0.00	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision- maker on food expenditure (large food purchases)	-0.01	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision- maker on expenditure on durable goods	-0.01	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
6	Hidrobo et al. (2013)	Woman is sole or joint decision- maker on food expenditure (small daily purchases)	0.01	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision- maker on food expenditure (large food purchases)	-0.02	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision- maker on expenditure on durable goods	-0.03	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
7	Merttens et al. (2013)	Female is main budget decision- maker	0.027	Percentage points	NS		HSNP (Kenya)
		Female is main budget decision- maker	0.038	Percentage points	5%	Female-headed households	HSNP (Kenya)
		Female is main budget decision- maker	0.016	Percentage points	NS	Male-headed households	HSNP (Kenya)
8	Merttens et al. (2015)	Female is decision-maker on how to invest money	0.0081	Percentage points	NS	SCG	SAGE (Uganda)
		Female is decision-maker on how to invest money	-0.0056	Percentage points	NS	VFSG	SAGE (Uganda)

Notes: results represent all overall results reported and do not include those disaggregated by gender or showing the effect of variations in design features. Figures in bold indicate statistically significant. NS = not significant at 10% significance level or below.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 11.6: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on woman being involved in decisionmaking on issues other than expenditure

	Paper	Specific variable	Size of effect	Unit of change	Statistical significance	Effect of	Programme
1	Adato et al. (2000)	Woman is sole decision-maker on whether to take child for medical treatment	-0.304	Z-score	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on whether child goes out	-0.377	Z-score	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
2	de Brauw et al. (2014)	Woman is sole decision-maker on children's school attendance	0.07	Percentage points	NS		Bolsa Família (Brazil)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on whether she should work	0.033	Percentage points	NS		Bolsa Família (Brazil)
		Woman is sole decision-maker on use of contraception	0.096	Percentage points	5%		Bolsa Família (Brazil)
3	Hidrobo et al. (2012)	Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on whether she should work	-0.01	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on children's school attendance	-0.03	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on matters relating to children's health	-0.01	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on matters relating to her own health	0.02	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
4	Hidrobo et al. (2013)	Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on whether she should work	0.01	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on children's school attendance	-0.04	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on matters relating to children's health	-0.03	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on matters relating to her own health	0.02	Percentage points	NS		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
		Woman is sole or joint decision-maker on use of contraception	-0.09	Percentage points	1%		WFP cash transfer (Ecuador)
5	Merttens et al. (2015)	Female is decision-maker on what to do about a serious health problem	0.032	Percentage points	NS	SCG	SAGE (Uganda)
		Female is decision-maker on what to do about a serious health problem	-0.0095	Percentage points	NS	SCG	SAGE (Uganda)
		Female is decision-maker on children's education	0.042	Percentage points	NS	VFSG	SAGE (Uganda)
		Female is decision-maker on children's education	-0.002	Percentage points	NS	VFSG	SAGE (Uganda)

Page 231

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 11.7: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on marriage

	Paper	Specific variable	Size of effect	Unit of change	Statistical significance	Gender of individual	Effect of	Programme
1	Alam and Baez (2011) ¹⁴¹	Probability of getting married	0.008	Percentage points	NS	Female		PFSSP (Pakistan)
		Probability of getting married	0.0006	Percentage points	NS	Female	Age 15–16	PFSSP (Pakistan)
		Age at marriage	1.46	Years	5%	Female		PFSSP (Pakistan)
2	Baird et al. (2010) ¹⁴²	Never married	0.023	Percentage points	10%	Female		ZCTP (Malawi)
3	Baird et al. (2011)	Ever married	-0.012	Percentage points	NS	Female	CCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
		Ever married	-0.079	Percentage points	1%	Female	UCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
		Ever married	0.037	Percentage points	NS	Female	Aged over 15, CCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
		Ever married	0.007	Percentage points	5%	Female	Aged over 15, UCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
4	Baird et al. (2012)	Ever married	0.93	Odds ratio	NS	Female	CCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
		Ever married	0.36	Odds ratio	NS	Female	UCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
5	Siaplay (2012) ¹⁴³	Married at time of survey	0.05	Percentage points	NS	Female		SA-OAP (South Africa)
		Married at time of survey	-0.175	Percentage points	5%	Male		SA-OAP (South Africa)
6	Stecklov et al. (2006)	Married at time of survey	0.021	Probability	1%	Female	Honduras	PRAF (Honduras)
		Married at time of survey	0.012	Probability	NS	Female	Nicaragua	RPS (Nicaragua)
		Married at time of survey	-0.005	Probability	NS	Female	Mexico	PROGRESA (Mexico)

142 In all the Baird et al. papers, the full sample is aged 13 to 22 at baseline.

143 Full sample is aged 14-26 at baseline.

Page 232

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 11.8: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on pregnancy

	Paper	Specific variable	Size of effect	Unit of change	Statistical significance	Effect of	Programme
1	Ahmed et al. (2007)	Probability of becoming pregnant	-0.02 to -0.03	Percentage points	Significant (p-value not stated)	Note: the precise coefficient is not given	SRMP (Turkey)
2	Alam and Baez (2011)	Probability of giving birth	-0.081	Percentage points	NS		PFSSP (Pakistan)
		Number of children	-0.329	Percentage points	10%	Mothers only	PFSSP (Pakistan)
3	Baird et al. (2010)	Became pregnant in the last year	-0.011	Percentage points	NS		ZCTP (Malawi)
4	Baird et al. (2011)	Ever pregnant	-0.067	Percentage points	1%	UCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
		Ever pregnant	0.029	Percentage points	NS	CCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
		Ever pregnant	-0.032	Percentage points	NS	Aged over 15, UCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
		Ever pregnant	0.104	Percentage points	5%	Aged over 15, CCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
5	Baird et al. (2012)	Pregnant at time of survey	1.17	Odds ratio	NS	CCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
		Pregnant at time of survey	0.16	Odds ratio	5%	UCT treatment arm	ZCTP (Malawi)
6	Feldman et al. (2009)	Probability of giving birth (hazard ratio)	1.04	Hazard ratio	NS		PROGRESA (Mexico)
7	Kohler and Thornton (2011)	Pregnant at time of survey	-0.003	Percentage points	NS		M-IP(Malawi)
8	Stecklov et al. (2006)	Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	0.048	Percentage points	1%	Honduras; first follow-up	PRAF (Honduras)
		Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	-0.004	Percentage points	NS	Nicaragua; first follow-up	RPS (Nicaragua)
		Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	0.003	Percentage points	NS	Mexico; first follow-up	PROGRESA (Mexico)
		Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	0.043	Percentage points	1%	Honduras; after 2 years	PRAF (Honduras)
		Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	0.013	Percentage points	NS	Nicaragua; after 2 years	RPS (Nicaragua)
		Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	-0.003	Percentage points	NS	Mexico; after 2 years	PROGRESA (Mexico)
9	Stecklov et al. (2007)	Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	0.039	Percentage points	1%	Honduras	PRAF (Honduras)
		Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	0.058	Percentage points	10%	Honduras – married at baseline only	PRAF (Honduras)
		Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	0.009	Percentage points	NS	Nicaragua	RPS (Nicaragua)
		Gave birth in the last year or currently at least 3 months pregnant	-0.003	Percentage points	NS	Mexico	PROGRESA (Mexico)
10	Todd et al. (2011)	Gave birth in the last 30 months	-0.014	Percentage points	NS		RPS (Nicaragua)
		Probability of giving birth (hazard ratio)	-0.389	Equivalent to a hazard ratio of 0.68	1%		RPS (Nicaragua)

Page 233

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 11.9: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on contraception

	Paper	Specific variable	Size of effect	Unit of change	Statistical significance	Gender of individual	Effect of/Note	Programme
1	Baird et al. (2010)	Average condom use ¹⁴⁴	-0.088	Percentage points	NS	Female		ZCTP (Malawi)
2	Cluver et al. (2013)	Unprotected sex (sometimes, rarely, or never using condoms when having sex)	0.66	Adjusted odds ratio	5%	Female		CSGFG (South Africa)
		Unprotected sex (sometimes, rarely, or never using condoms when having sex)	0.74	Adjusted odds ratio	NS	Male		CSGFG (South Africa)
3	Feldman et al. (2009)	Use of any modern contraceptive	0.16	Difference in log odds	5%	Female		PROGRESA (Mexico)
4	Handa et al. (2014)	Reported using condom at last sex	1.199	Odds ratio	NS	Overall		OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
		Reported using condom at last sex	1.33	Odds ratio	NS	Female		OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
		Reported using condom at last sex	1.075	Odds ratio	NS	Male		OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
		Any unprotected sex acts in the last three months	0.901	Odds ratio	NS	Overall		OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
		Any unprotected sex acts in the last three months	0.65	Odds ratio	NS	Female		OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
		Any unprotected sex acts in the last three months	1.201	Odds ratio	NS	Male		OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
5	Kohler and Thornton (2011)	Condom use (in last nine days)	-0.018	Percentage points	NS	Overall	Incentive ¹⁴⁵	M-IP (Malawi)
		Condom use (in last nine days)	0.00	Percentage points	NS	Female	Transfer ¹⁴⁶	M-IP (Malawi)
		Condom use (in last nine days)	0.052	Percentage points	10%	Male	Transfer	M-IP (Malawi)
		Safe sex (used a condom at last sex or did not have sex in last nine days)	-0.012	Percentage points	NS	Overall	Incentive	M-IP (Malawi)
		Safe sex (used a condom at last sex or did not have sex in last nine days)	0.067	Percentage points	10%	Female	Transfer	M-IP (Malawi)
		Safe sex (used a condom at last sex or did not have sex in last nine days)	-0.09	Percentage points	5%	Male	Transfer	M-IP (Malawi)
6	Perova and Vakis (2012)	Use of contraceptives ¹⁴⁷	0.012	Percentage points	10%	Female		Juntos (Peru)
7	Siaplay (2012)	Reported using condom at last sex	-0.064	Percentage points	NS	Female		SA-OAP (South Africa)
		Reported using condom at last sex	-0.041	Percentage points	NS	Male		SA-OAP (South Africa)
8	Stecklov et al. (2006)	Use of artificial contraceptives over the last 18 months ¹⁴⁸	0.064	Percentage points	5%	Female	Nicaragua	RPS (Nicaragua)
		Use of artificial contraceptives over the last 18 months	0.02	Percentage points	10%	Female	Mexico	PROGRESA (Mexico)
9	Stecklov et al. (2007)	Use of artificial contraceptives over the last 18 months	0.054	Percentage points	5%	Female	Nicaragua	RPS (Nicaragua)
		Use of artificial contraceptives over the last 18 months	0.018	Percentage points	5%	Female	Mexico	PROGRESA (Mexico)

144 The composition of this indicator is not explained further in the study.

145 In Kohler and Thornton (2011) overall effects are reported only for the impacts measured during the 'incentive' phase of the experiment. This means that these results estimate the impact of the respondent being offered a cash incentive to maintain their negative HIV status for one year, to be redeemed upon completing a negative HIV test.

146 The sex-disaggregated impacts are measured after the conclusion of the experiment, when beneficiaries had received their transfer (although these results are intention-to-treat estimates).

147 Whether this refers to frequency of use or use during a given period of time is not specified in the study.

148 Whether this refers to frequency of use or use at all is not specified in the study.

Page 234

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 11.10: Summary of results for overall cash transfer effect on multiple sexual partners

	Paper	Specific variable	Size of effect	Unit of change	Statistical significance	Gender of individual	Programme
1	Baird et al. (2010)	Number of sexual partners in past 12 months	-0.053	Number of partners	5%	Female	ZCTP (Malawi)
2	Cluver et al. (2013)	Having had two or more sexual partners in the past year	0.68	Adjusted odds ratio	10%	Female	CSGFG (South Africa)
		Having had two or more sexual partners in the past year	0.84	Adjusted odds ratio	NS	Male	CSGFG (South Africa)
3	Handa et al. (2014)	Having had two or more sexual partners in the past year	0.584	Odds ratio	NS	Overall	OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
		Having had two or more sexual partners in the past year	0.204	Odds ratio	5%	Female	OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
		Having had two or more sexual partners in the past year	0.686	Odds ratio	NS	Male	OVC-cash transfer (Kenya)
4	Siaplay (2012)	Having had two or more sexual partners in the past year	0.034	Percentage points	NS	Female	SA-OAP (South Africa)
		Having had two or more sexual partners in the past year	-0.054	Percentage points	NS	Male	SA-OAP (South Africa)

Page 235

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Page 236

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

12.1 Overview

This study retrieves, reviews and synthesises the cash transfer literature of 15 years, from 2000 to 2015. It focuses on non-contributory monetary transfers, including conditional and unconditional cash transfers, social pensions and enterprise grants that have become an increasingly popular social protection instrument in low- and middle-income countries.

The review makes three main contributions. First, it describes the evidence base – in terms of size and type of studies – on the impact of cash transfers on the six outcome areas covered in the review. It also highlights the size and distribution of the evidence in terms of geographical coverage and cash transfer programme. Second, it synthesises the evidence on the impact of cash transfers on selected indicators for six outcomes: (1) poverty, (2) education, (3) health and nutrition, (4) savings, investment and production, (5) employment and (6) empowerment. These outcomes were identified based on a combination of criteria including coverage in the existing literature and relevance for policy-makers. Evidence was extracted and analysed at the highest level of aggregation reported. Findings disaggregated for women and girls (by age group) were also systematically retrieved and reported, where available. Third, the review reports on the links between cash transfer design and implementation features and outcomes. It considers the ways in which variations in cash transfer design influence the selected indicators, taking into account: (1) core design features, (2) conditionalities, (3) targeting, (4) payment systems, (5) grievance mechanisms and programme governance, and (6) complementary interventions and supply-side services.

Compared with previous cash transfer literature reviews, this review is distinct with respect to three key features: (1) the methods used, (2) the breadth of the evidence presented, and (3) a particular focus on programme design and implementation features.

This review is neither an orthodox literature review, nor a traditional systematic review. Instead, it is a rigorous literature review, in which the review strategy complied with core systematic review principles – breadth, rigour and transparency – while allowing for a more flexible handling of retrieval and analysis to facilitate a comprehensive review of the evidence. Through the reflexive process adopted, we were able to include additional evidence that has helped to increase the breadth of the studies covered and, ultimately, the value of the findings that can be drawn.

The second distinct feature of this review is that, unlike most other reviews on the impacts of cash transfers, it has a wide scope in terms of number and types of outcomes covered. It covers six of the outcome areas considered in the literature and, within these, extracted findings for five to seven indicators. Most other reviews cover one outcome area and focus on a smaller number of indicators. The breadth of the review not only means that it retrieved and analysed more evidence than previous reviews, but also that we are able to pull together findings across outcome areas. This is not a trivial matter, since different outcomes may be closely linked. In addition to reporting results at the highest level of aggregation presented by a study, across all six outcome areas, we disaggregate findings by gender and, for women and girls, by age. This allows us to highlight impacts specific to women and girls.

Page 237

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Compared with existing reviews, this study provides an account of more recent evidence and, as such, provides an update on existing evidence syntheses. A considerable body of evidence on cash transfers has been produced in recent years, with a number of 'second generation' studies conducted following the first wave of research on CCTs in Latin America. Whereas previous reviews primarily drew on evidence from national programmes in Latin America and pilot programmes in sub-Saharan Africa and Asia, the present review includes evidence arising from programmes running at scale in sub-Saharan Africa. This new wave of research adds to the evidence base by, for instance, providing richer information on the productive impacts of cash transfers and on the links between such interventions and empowerment outcomes.

Finally, to our knowledge this is the first cash transfers literature review to have an explicit focus on a range of cash transfer design and implementation features. By considering variations in cash transfer design and implementation, the review aims to shed light on the role of alternative programme design and implementation features in influencing policy impact. This is crucial to identifying policy implications and drawing out lessons to inform policy debate.

The remainder of this chapter proceeds as follows. The next section describes the evidence base on cash transfers. Section 12.2 presents the findings on the impacts of cash transfers on the six outcome areas, at an aggregate level and for women and girls. The following section (12.3) synthesises the evidence on the links between variations in cash transfer design and implementation features and cash transfer outcomes. For sections 12.2 and 12.3 it is worth noting that much more detailed information is reported in the relevant outcome chapters 6–11 and readers are encouraged to look up findings in the relevant chapters for a more comprehensive summary of the evidence and discussion of policy implications. The final section concludes, relating the review's findings to global cash transfer debates and highlighting gaps in the evidence base.

12.2 The evidence base

A large number of studies were retrieved in this review – in total more than 38,000 studies covering the six outcome areas and six cash transfer design and implementation features around which the searches were organised. The total number of studies retrieved from all sources ranged from 10,607 studies for the search on 'savings, investment and production' to 313 studies for the search on 'grievance mechanisms and programme governance'. These numbers fell considerably once inclusion/exclusion criteria were applied. Overall, 617 studies entered the risk of bias assessment, with roughly 53% of these studies judged to have either 'low risk of bias' or 'low risk' and 'unclear' among quantitative studies, or for qualitative studies, either 'no concerns' or 'no concerns' and 'some concerns'. These studies made it through to the final list of studies identified as relevant for the outcome areas and design and implementation features.

A total of 201 studies were included in the final list of studies and are described in the annotated bibliography, which summarises each study and gives information on methods, findings, outcome areas and basic details on the cash transfer programme (Harman et al., 2016). Four of these were of a qualitative nature. The annotated bibliography is available as a separate publication with the hope that its detailed information will be used by researchers to carry out future literature reviews and analyses.

The scale of the evidence base varies considerably by outcome and programme design and implementation feature, ranging from 99 studies for 'education' to zero studies for 'grievance mechanisms and programme governance'. Among all outcome areas, the evidence base is largest for 'education' (99 studies) and 'health and nutrition' (89 studies), followed by 'employment' (80 studies). The evidence base is smallest for 'savings, investment and production' (37 studies). On the whole, there are fewer studies directly and explicitly designed to analyse the effects of cash transfer design and implementation factors on the individual- and household-level outcomes of interest, though there is a substantial evidence base of 41 studies on 'cash transfer core design features'.

Page 238

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Figure 12.1 Number of studies by outcome and programme design feature from which evidence was extracted



Source: Authors

Note: The number of studies on design and implementation features is a subset of all studies on a particular outcome since not all studies per outcome examined cash transfer design and implementation features.

For each outcome area, evidence extraction focused on five to seven indicators. Indicators were selected on the basis of their policy relevance, coverage in the identified literature and prevalence of sex-disaggregated results. As such, only a sub-sample of studies out of those included in the annotated bibliography was included in the extraction stage, namely those studies reporting results for the indicators of focus (including those reporting on the effect of design and implementation features). In total, 165 studies were included in the extraction stage, ranging from 27 studies for 'savings, investment and production' to 74 studies for 'employment' (see Figure 12.1). These are the studies that the evidence discussed in this review is drawn from.

In order to capture evidence beyond that found in peer-reviewed journals (such as reports from institutional websites), this review combined a rigorous and wide retrieval strategy. Among those studies from which evidence was extracted, peer-reviewed journal articles were the most common type of publication. In total, peer-reviewed journal articles accounted for 42% of studies across all outcomes. The second most frequent types of study were working papers (25%) and unpublished papers and PhD theses (23%), with impact evaluation reports or book chapters accounting for 10% of studies. This indicates that much of the rigorous evidence on cash transfers (i.e. that which satisfies the criteria established by the review) is published in peer-reviewed journals, but that unpublished papers also represent an important source of information. On average, 58% of the studies relied on information gathered through a randomised controlled trial, with the remainder using a quasi-experimental research design.

Also of interest is the geographical coverage of studies from which evidence was extracted. This provides some sense of how geographically representative the findings synthesised in this review are. For most outcomes, the majority of studies focused on cash transfer programmes in Latin America; across all sub-questions, approximately 54% of the studies report on a programme from Latin America. The exception is for the sub-question on 'savings, investment and production', for which more studies focused on sub-Saharan Africa. Overall, around 38% of the studies focused on a country in sub-Saharan Africa, with studies looking at East Asia and the Pacific, Europe and Central Asia, and the Middle East and North Africa accounting for around 8%. This is also reflected in the 'heat map' in Figure 12.2, which shows the number of studies from which evidence was extracted by country.

To some extent, the geographical focus of studies included in this review reflects programme coverage, yet there are also large-scale cash transfer programmes in low- and middle-income

Page 239

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

countries in Europe and Central Asia, South Asia and South East Asia that have not made it into this review. This could be for a number of reasons, possibly because they have not been subject to (published) evaluations or because the studies did not meet the methodological rigour requirements set by this review. As such, while we are confident that this review reflects the global *knowledge base* well, having included most of the 'low risk of bias' published studies of cash transfers, it does not necessarily mean that the findings are broadly generalisable.





Source: Authors

Of the programmes covered in this review, the majority are CCTs (55%), most of which are located in Latin America. 25% of the programmes are UCTs, mostly located in sub-Saharan Africa. Of the remaining programmes, 9% involved a combination of CCTs and UCTs (generally as part of a trial), 4% are enterprise grants and 7% are social pensions. In total, this review covered 56 different cash transfer programmes.

PROGRESA/Oportunidades is the most analysed programme (covered in 48 studies across all sub-questions). As one of the long-standing CCTs, and one incorporating an RCT design, its delivery involved the collection of a number of large sample datasets that have been used to analyse various short- and long-term impacts. A number of other Latin American programmes are also the subject of a high number of studies, including the Red de Protección Social in Nicaragua (18 studies) and Colombia's Familias en Acción (10 studies). Outside Latin America, most programmes are covered in just a handful of studies. In sub-Saharan Africa, the most frequently covered programme is Malawi's Zomba Cash Transfer Programme (five studies).

12.3 The impacts of cash transfers by outcome

This section summarises the evidence on the impacts of cash transfers across the six outcome areas covered by the review. It presents summary evidence on:

- the scale and strength of the evidence in terms of statistical significance of findings reported by studies (i.e. do studies find a statistically significant impact of the cash transfer on the selected indicator?)
- the direction of the effect (i.e. was the cash transfer receipt associated with an increase or decrease in the relevant indicator?)
- a discussion of findings by outcome area.

Results on transfer impact presented in a study are examined at the highest level of aggregation reported. Findings for women and girls are also consolidated here. The focus in the first summary

Page 240

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

section is on findings that are statistically significant. Results that are not statistically significant can be just as revealing. They are reported in detail in the outcome chapters in Section II and considered again in the summary outcome sections in 12.3.2 alongside examples of the magnitude and range of effects.

12.3.1 Overview of statistical significance and direction of effects

For each outcome area, Table 12.1 reports the number of studies for which evidence was extracted (at the highest level of aggregation), the number of studies reporting at least one statistically significant result for the indicator area and, for significant findings, the number of studies reporting an increase, a decrease or mixed results in the underlying indicator. The number of studies reporting no statistically significant finding is given by the number of studies for which evidence was extracted, minus the number of studies for which at least one significant result was found. We aggregated findings by indicator (e.g. livestock investment). If a study considered more than one sub-indicator for this group of indicators (e.g. investment in chicken and in goats), we considered whether there was a significant result for *at least one* indicator, and as such each study was only included once.

The size and strength of the available evidence in terms of **statistical significance** varies across outcomes and indicators as shown in Table 12.1. For example:

- For the poverty outcome: for food and total expenditure, on average 76% of the studies report at least one statistically significant result; for FGT poverty indicators, the average is 72%.
- For the education outcome: for school attendance indicators, on average 53% of the studies report at least one statistically significant result, compared with 32% for test score indicators (including cognitive development).
- For the health and nutrition outcome: on average 67% and 58% of the studies report at least one statistically significant result for health use indicators and dietary diversity indicators respectively, compared with an average 23% for anthropometric measures.
- For the savings, investment and production outcome: on average 69% of studies report at least one statistically significant result for agricultural assets, inputs and livestock indicators, compared with 52% for savings and borrowing indicators and 56% for business and enterprise indicators.
- For the employment outcome: on average 54% of the studies report at least one statistically significant result for indicators on adult employment (whether working/not working, intensity, sector and migration), while 74% of the studies on child labour (whether working/not working, intensity and sector) have at least one statistically significant result.
- For the empowerment outcome: for indicators on physical and non-physical abuse, on average 86% of the studies report at least one statistically significant result, compared with 75% of the studies on female decision-making, marriage and pregnancy indicators, and with 71%, on average, for indicators on contraception and multi-sexual partners.

The review finds that, for some indicators, cash transfer receipt is more frequently found to be associated with a statistically significant effect on beneficiary households than for others. In particular, one pattern which emerges for some outcomes (e.g. health and nutrition and education) is the decreasing strength of evidence of a causal relationship as the indicators move from *first-order* indicators to *second-order*/intermediate indicators and *third-order*/final outcome indicators, as defined in the conceptual framework in Chapter 2.

For example, for education, the evidence on school attendance, an intermediate effect, is stronger, with 53% of the studies reporting at least one statistically significant finding on this indicator, compared with the evidence on test scores, a third-order indicator, for which 32% of the studies show at least one statistically significant finding. Similarly, for health and nutrition, for the second-order/intermediate indicators of health use and dietary diversity, respectively 67% and 58% of studies report at least one statistically significant finding, compared with 23% of the studies considering anthropometric measures, a third-order impact.

Page 241

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Table 12.1 Number of studies reporting statistically significant findings and direction of effects (at highest level of aggregation reported)

Outcome and indicator	# studies for which results extracted	# studies reporting at least 1 significant result	# studies reporting a significant increase in the indicator	# studies reporting a significant decrease in the indicator	# studies reporting a significant increase and decrease in the indicator
Monetary poverty (44 total studies)					
Total expenditure	35	26	25	1	0
Food expenditure	31	24	22	2	0
Poverty headcount	9	6	1	5	0
Poverty gap	9	7	1	6	0
Squared poverty gap	7	5	1	4	0
Education (42 total studies)					
Attendance (absenteeism)	9	4	0	4	0
Attendance (presence in school)	16	10	9	1	0
Test scores – maths	4	0	0	0	0
Test scores – language	3	2	1	1	0
Test scores – composite	1	0	0	0	0
Cognitive development test scores	5	3	3	0	0
Health and nutrition (41 total studies)					
Health service use	15	10	9	1	0
Dietary diversity	12	7	7	0	0
Stunting (probability of being stunted)	4	1	0	1	0
Stunting (HAZ)	10	4	4	0	0
Wasting (probability of being wasted)	2	1	0	1	0
Wasting (WHZ)	3	0	0	0	0
Underweight (probability of being underweight)	4	1	0	1	0
Underweight (WAZ)	5	0	0	0	0
Savings, investment and production (27 tota	Il studies)				
Savings	10	5	5	0	0
Borrowing	15	8	4	3	1
Agricultural asset accumulation	8	4	3	0	1
Agricultural inputs	8	7	6	1	0
Livestock assets	17	12	12	0	0
Business and enterprise	9	5	4	1	0
Employment (74 total studies)					
Adults working/not working	14	5	3	2	0
Adults work intensity	11	6	3	3	0
Adults sector working/not working [†]	12	5			
Adults sector work intensity [†]	10	7			
Migration	3	2	1	1	0
Children working/not working	19	8	0	8	0
Children work intensity	5	5	0	5	0
Children sector working/not working [†]	5	4			
Children sector work intensity [†]	4	3			
Empowerment (31 total studies)					
Abuse (physical)*	7	6	0	6	0
Abuse (non-physical)*	7	6	2	4	0
Female decision-making power*	7	5	4	1	0
Marriage	6	5	1	3	1
Pregnancy*	10	7	2	5	0
Contraception use	9	6	5	0	1
Multiple sexual partners	4	3	0	3	0

Note: This table reports the number of studies for which evidence was extracted at the most aggregate level reported by the study. Some studies consider more than one programme, but results are reported by study,

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

not by programme. The number of studies on indicators by outcome area does not always match the sum of studies on specific indicators, as some studies cover more than one indicator.

The number of studies that do not report a statistically significant result is given by the number of studies from which evidence was extracted, minus the number of studies for which at least one significant result was found.

† The analysis of sector of employment cannot be considered in terms of increases or decreases in the indicator, as studies consider a number of different sectors which are mostly not comparable across studies. The narrative synthesis below describes specific findings by study.

Studies only reporting results for these same indicators for women and girls are not included in these totals, and reported in Table 12.2, with the exception of the Empowerment indicators, some of which are only capturing outcomes for women and girls, as marked with a star in Table 12.1.

For the studies that found a statistically significant finding, we also considered the sign of the coefficient, in other words, whether the cash transfer was associated with an increase or decrease in the indicator of interest. We conducted a basic vote-counting exercise by indicator, counting the number of studies that found an increase or decrease in the indicator (see Table 12.1). The vote-counting approach has its limitations (see Waddington et al., 2012), and we urge readers to exercise caution in interpreting the findings, as vote counts do not take study sample sizes or magnitude of effects into account. Furthermore, vote counting does not take account the nature of underlying programmes, for instance whether they are local pilots or nationally implemented government programmes. Local pilots are likely to generate less generalisable evidence for programmes operating at a national scale. To address this shortcoming, the vote count is complemented with a narrative synthesis of findings which adds details to the broad brush vote count exercise. This includes a discussion of the range of direction and magnitudes of effects. Where available, explanations of underlying causal processes from the studies are included, particularly with respect to evidence concerning the role of design and implementation features.

Readers should also be cautious when drawing conclusions as to the numbers on **direction of effect** as they aggregate the findings across different cash transfer programmes – with differences in terms of primary objectives, target groups and initial baseline levels. This means that when we *do not* see an increase/decrease where one might expect to see one, this should not necessarily be regarded as programme failure as the programme may not have the specific objective of achieving a change in that outcome area. Moreover, it is worth bearing in mind that while for some indicators the intended effect of a cash transfer is generally accepted and clear (e.g. for most cash transfers, independently of their specifics, one could hope for a reduction in the level of monetary poverty), this is not always the case. For some outcome areas, one could expect and intend for an indicator to either *increase* or *decrease* depending on the specific objectives pursued by the programme and the underlying population, among other factors. For instance, the intended direction of change of work participation among adults by policy-makers will depend on type of work and underlying population group by age and gender.

Based on the results reported in Table 12.1, we find that, for most of the indicators, the direction of the effect generally reflects stated programme objectives.

- For monetary poverty, the majority of studies reporting a statistically significant effect on *expenditures* find that cash transfers lead to an increase in expenditures (25/26 and 22/24 respectively for total and food expenditure). Across the FGT poverty indicators, the majority of studies report a decrease in the *poverty indicator* (e.g. 6/7 for the poverty gap).
- For education, all the studies reporting statistically significant results on *absenteeism* (4/4) report a reduction, all studies on *cognitive development* report an increase (3/3), while the vast majority of studies on *presence in school* (9/10) report a clear increase as a result of cash transfers. For *language test scores* one of the two studies shows an increase (1/2).
- On health and nutrition, all studies reporting a statistically significant result on *dietary diversity* and on *stunting measured as height-for-age* report an increase (7/7 and 4/4 respectively), the majority of studies on *health service use* report an increase (9/10).
- All the studies reporting statistically significant results on *savings* and on *livestock assets* find an increase in the underlying indicators (5/5 and 12/12 respectively), the majority of studies reporting statistically significant results on *agricultural asset accumulation* (3/4), *agricultural*

Page 243

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

inputs (6/7) and *business and enterprise* (4/5) show an increase in these indicators. Impacts on *borrowing* were mixed, with about half the studies finding an increase and the other half finding a decrease.

- On employment, out of the four studies reporting statistically significant impacts for adults of working age, three find an increase in *work participation* (3/4), while among two studies on elderly adults, one found a significant reduction in pensioners working for pay. Statistically significant results on *adult work intensity* find increases in three studies and decreases in three, one of the decreases being for elderly adults (3/6). All significant results on child labour find a reduction in *child work* (8/8) and in *child work intensity* (5/5).
- In the area of empowerment, all studies reporting significant results find a reduction in *abuse* (*physical*) (6/6), and *multiple sexual partners* (3/3), the majority of studies find an increase in *female decision-making power* (4/5), *contraception use* (5/6) and a reduction in *pregnancy* (5/7) and *marriage* (3/5). For *non-physical abuse*, the findings are more mixed, with about one third of the studies reporting an increase in the indicator (2/6).

As outlined above, this review systematically extracted the empirical information available on how impacts vary for women and girls. For the selected indicators across all six outcomes, results were extracted with reference to both individual-level data, reporting impact estimates on women and girls by age, and to household-level data, reporting results for female-headed households. The number of studies that report disaggregated findings for women and girls varied considerably across outcome areas, reflecting, among other things, the nature of the underlying indicators. For instance, poverty indicators are measured mainly at the household level and were generally not disaggregated by gender. In contrast, the education and employment indicators included in this review are commonly measured at the individual level and more frequently report estimates separately by gender. Moreover, some of the selected empowerment indicators only report outcomes for women, as indicated in Table 12.1.

Table 12.2 shows the number of studies reporting estimates of the impact of cash transfers on women and girls for the indicators selected and those reporting at least one significant result for women and girls (that is, not neccesarily that there is a significant difference between women and men or girls and boys). Poverty and health are the outcome areas with the smallest evidence base on impacts for women and girls (six and five studies respectively) and employment is the outcome area with the biggest evidence base (43 studies).

Table 12.2 Number of studies reporting findings for women and girls

Outcome and indicator	# studies for which results extracted	# studies reporting at least 1 significant result for women/girls/female-headed household
Poverty	6	2
Total expenditure	5	2
Food expenditure	2	0
FGT poverty indicators	0	0
Education	20	15
Attendance (presence in school and absenteeism)	16	13
Test scores – maths	4	2
Test scores – language	4	2
Test scores – composite	1	0
Cognitive development test scores	4	3
Health	5	4
Health service use	4	3
Dietary diversity	0	0
Anthropometric measures	2	1
Savings, investment and production	8	7
Saving	3	2

Page 244

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

continued on next page

Table 12.2 Number of studies reporting findings for women and girls continued

Outcome and indicator	# studies for which results extracted	# studies reporting at least 1 significant result for women/girls/female-headed household
Borrowing	2	1
Agricultural asset accumulation	3	2
Agricultural inputs	2	2
Livestock assets	4	3
Business and enterprise	2	2
Employment	43	26
Adult working/not working	17	5
Adults work intensity	10	4
Adult sector	11	4
Child working/not working	21	10
Children work intensity	8	7
Child sector	15	10
Migration	2	2
Empowerment	27	22
Domestic abuse	8	8
Decision-making power	8	5
Marriage	6	4
Pregnancy/giving birth	10	7
Contraception use	9	6
Multiple sexual partners	4	3

Note: Outcome area totals are number of unique studies.

Number of significant studies reports the number of studies that have at least one significant finding for women and girls (i.e. not neccesarily in comparison to men and boys).

12.4 Summary of the evidence by outcome and indicators

The summary findings discussed above (summarised in Tables 12.1 and 12.2) aggregate effects across a range of different cash transfer programmes with varying objectives and design features. They are also based on results arising from studies relying on samples of varying sizes. Such a summary discussion provides an indication of strength of the evidence and of direction of effects, where these have been shown to be statistically significant. However, as pointed out previously, it also risks obfuscating information which is critical to a complete and meaningful synthesis of the evidence. The remainder of this section provides more detailed summary information on the evidence of the impact of cash transfers on the selected indicators by outcome, including specific examples of the range and magnitude of effects and reference to results that are not statistically significant.

Monetary poverty

Impacts across all three indicator areas were consistent in their direction of effect, with findings largely pointing towards an increase in total and food expenditure and a decrease in FGT poverty measures. 35 studies reported findings on impact on **total expenditure**, with 26 of these studies demonstrating at least one significant impact. The vast majority of studies (25/26) find an increase in total expenditure. The increases range from a 2.8 percentage point change in total per capita expenditure for Colombia's Atención a Crisis, a temporary pilot programme (Macours et al., 2012), to a 33 percentage point change in total expenditure for Peru's Juntos – a CCT with poverty-reduction objectives (Perova and Vakis, 2012). One study considering Albania's Ndhima Ekonomike, a poverty-targeted transfer, found a significant reduction in total per capita household expenditure, due to a drop in labour supply of beneficiaries (Dabalen et al., 2008).

Page 245

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Studies that do not find any statistically significant effect on total expenditure point to design and implementation features as potential explanations, including low level of transfer and delays in disbursement, as well as related changes in household behaviour.

Among the 31 studies reporting on impacts on **food expenditure**, 24 studies show at least one statistically significant effect, with 22 of these being an increase in food expenditure. Two studies report a decrease owing to a reduction in labour supply and possible prioritisation of savings over consumption (Dabalen et al., 2008; Ribas et al., 2010). Some of the non-significant effects are potentially linked to behavioural changes among beneficiaries. Seven studies show no significant impact on food expenditure, possibly due to changes in household behaviour or due to programme design and implementation features. To take just one example, Cheema et al. (2014) relate the lack of impact of Pakistan's BISP to the irregularity of transfer, with households spending the transfer – when it arrives – on other expenditure items instead.

Nine studies consider impacts on Foster–Greer–Thorbecke (FGT) poverty measures (poverty headcount, poverty gap, squared poverty gap). Among these studies, around two thirds find a statistically significant impact. While cash transfers were shown to mostly increase total and food expenditure, it appears that in many cases this impact is not big enough to have a subsequent effect on aggregate poverty levels. With the exception of the study on Ndhima Ekonomike, statistically significant studies found reductions in poverty. Findings on the reduction of the poverty headcount range from a reduction of about four percentage points for Zambia's unconditional Child Grant (AIR, 2014) to almost nine percentage points for PROGRESA (Skoufias et al., 2013). The poverty gap impact ranges from about a reduction of four percentage points for Zambia's Child Grant (AIR, 2014), showing a reduction in poverty levels for poor households.

Findings for this outcome area confirm findings from earlier systematic reviews considering total expenditure (Hagen-Zanker et al., 2011; Kabeer et al., 2012) and FGT poverty measures (Hagen-Zanker et al., 2011). However, while an earlier review drew on a slightly larger evidence base, it did not apply a risk of bias assessment (Hagen-Zanker et al., 2011), hence the findings presented in this review are based on more rigorous evidence. The second review, Kabeer et al. 2012, only considered CCTs, a subset of the programmes reviewed here.

Six studies reported **sex-disaggregated outcomes**. The low number of studies probably has to do with the nature of the indicators considered under this outcome. Expenditure and poverty rates are mostly measured at the household level, which – by definition – cannot be disaggregated. Two studies found a statistically significant increase on individual expenditure of female recipients (Blattman et al., 2013; Green et al., 2015). However, none of the six studies found a statistically significant difference between women/men and girls/boys.

Education

Overall, there is a strong evidence base on the links between cash transfer receipt and school attendance. A less clear-cut pattern of impact was found for learning outcomes (as measured by test scores) and cognitive development outcomes (information processing ability, intelligence, reasoning, language development and memory).

A total of 20 studies reported on the overall effect on **school attendance**, of which 13 reported a significant effect. The direction of effect is mostly in accordance with what we expect in theory: increase in school attendance and a decrease in school absenteeism. Of the studies reporting on a measure of school absenteeism all significant effects were negative; for all but one study reporting on a measure of attendance, all of the significant impacts were positive. For Uganda, Merttens et al. (2015) find a negative impact on the share of children in SAGE beneficiary households currently attending formal education after one year of programme. One explanation put forward by the authors is that, particularly among SCG households, the need for the child to help at home was a significant reason for keeping children out of school, much more than the ability to pay for schooling. Seven studies found non-significant impacts on any school attendance measure reported. There is limited explanation provided for these non-significant impacts, but examples

Page 246

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

of possible reasons provided by authors generally refer to design and implementation features, e.g. small transfer size, and contextual factors, e.g. high baseline attendance rates.

Five studies examined overall effects on **learning**, as measured through test scores in maths, language or a composite test score, and the majority of the studies find no statistically significant impact. Four studies reported overall impacts on maths, three studies reported on language test scores, and one on a composite score. Two studies found a statistically significant effect, both of these referred to language test scores, one being an improvement (Akresh et al., 2013) for the Nahouri Cash Transfers Pilot Project in Burkina Faso and one a decrease relative to appropriate control groups for Colombia's Familias en Acción (Baez et al., 2011). Five studies found a statistically significant positive effect. The evidence base is not sufficient to make any generalisations on the impacts of cash transfers on these third-order outcomes – this is a finding in itself. This is partly due to the causal mechanisms underpinning these outcome areas, which are affected by a variety of mediating factors (e.g. children's nutrition, rearing practices, parents' human capital, quality of service delivery, etc.).

Earlier systematic reviews show similar findings to the ones in this review, also finding mostly significant increases in attendance (Baird et al., 2013; IEG, 2014; Saavedra and Garcia; 2012) and small increases in test scores (Baird et al., 2013). This review includes more recent publications – all the more important as the literature on sub-Saharan Africa has recently expanded –and a stronger understanding of the design and implementation features that drive impacts (more on this in section 12.3).

Given that education indicators mostly refer to individuals and not households, of the 42 studies included in the review, 20 reported variation in outcomes by **gender** (either girls versus boys or sex of the head of household). Those with statistically significant effects show increases in school attendance for girls and some improvements in test scores and cognitive development, with no clear pattern for head of the household. Of 15 studies disaggregating effects on attendance for girls versus boys, 12 reported a statistically significant increase for at least one school attendance measure for girls either at the primary or secondary school level, while one reported a decrease (Merttens et al., 2015). Two studies reported on differences by household head, with one finding no differences in attendance (Dammert, 2009) and the other only finding significant effects (improvements in attendance) for children in male-headed households (World Bank, 2011). Of five studies disaggregating impacts on learning, two found significant increases in test score results for girls (Baird et al., 2011; Baird et al., 2013) and three did not. Similarly, of five studies reporting on cognitive development, three reported significant increases for girls.

Health and nutrition

Impacts across all three indicator areas – use of health services, dietary diversity and anthropometric measures – were largely consistent in their direction of effect, showing improvements in the indicators. The evidence highlights how cash transfers have played an important role in improving use of health services and dietary diversity, both of which are secondorder impacts as noted above. It also underscores how variations in design or implementation features, including investment in supply services and complementary actions, e.g. nutritional supplements or behavioural change training, may be required to achieve greater and more consistent impacts on child anthropometric measures, a third-order impact. This is reflected in the greater proportion of significant results found relating to health service use and dietary diversity and a lower proportion for anthropometric measures.

The evidence consistently shows that cash transfers lead to increases in **use of health facilities**. Of the 15 studies reporting cash transfer effects in this area, nine report statistically significant increases, ranging from an additional 0.28 of a preventative visit in Jamaica's PATH programme (Levy and Ohls, 2007) to an extra 2.3 general health visits in Tanzania's Social Action Fund (though after 31 to 34 months, the effect of the latter programme was an average reduction of three visits, potentially due to observed health improvements) (Evans et al., 2014). In explaining these non-significant results on health care attendance, it is worth noting that both the

Page 247

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

programmes in sub-Saharan Africa were UCTs, unlike many of the other programmes, which were conditional upon certain health behaviours. Furthermore, programmes with no significant impacts suffered from implementation problems (e.g. disbursement delays, communication failures), as well as supply-side constraints. Findings also consistently show increases for dietary diversity. Among the 12 studies reporting on impacts on **dietary diversity**, seven show statistically significant changes across a range of dietary diversity measures, all being improvements. Non-significant findings are explained by implementation problems and contextual factors (e.g. limited availability of diversified foods) among other reasons. Evidence of statistically significant changes in **anthropometric outcomes** is limited to just five out of 13 studies for stunting, one out of five for wasting and one out of eight for underweight. All significant overall changes were improvements, with the evidence base strongest for stunting.

Health and nutrition outcomes have been of interest in a number of earlier systematic reviews, though these have mostly focused on CCTs only. From earlier reviews there is consistent evidence that CCTs have increased the uptake of health services (Gaarder et al., 2010; Glasmann and Duran, 2013; IEG, 2014; Lagarde et al., 2009). The evidence in our review confirms improvements in the use of health facilities for both CCTs and UCTs. Findings on dietary diversity are similar to an earlier review (Manley et al., 2012) but report more recent evidence. Regarding anthrophmetric measures, earlier systematic reviews drawing on a somewhat smaller evidence base found some evidence of significant anthropometric improvements, but also some *negative* effects (Gaarder et al., 2010; IEG, 2014; Lagarde et al., 2009; Manley et al., 2012). The evidence in this review thus shows a more consistent picture of *improvements* in anthropometric outcomes, albeit still based on a low number of studies.

Evidence on how outcomes vary by **gender** was extracted from five studies, with one disaggregating by gender of household head and the rest by individual. Most studies focused on the use of health services with two covering anthropometric measures. The evidence provides mixed results but does highlight the importance of disaggregating by gender and age. One set of results on child anthropometric outcomes by the gender of household head shows a negative impact on child weight-for-height only for male-headed households in an Indonesian conditional transfer (World Bank, 2011). Another study from Pakistan finds a statistically significant reduction in wasting only among girls (Cheema et al., 2014).

Savings, investment and production

The statistically significant findings mostly confirm the theory of change for the selected indicators of this outcome area, whereby receiving a guaranteed and predictable source of income can help households lift liquidity, savings and credit constraints, enabling investments. Overall, impacts on livestock ownership/purchase, and purchase/use of agricultural inputs, and savings were consistent in their direction of effect, with almost all statistically significant findings highlighting positive effects of cash transfers, though not universal to all programmes or to all types of livestock and inputs. This is an important finding, as with the exception of one programme, none of the cash transfers analysed explicitly focused on enhancing productive impacts. Impacts on borrowing, agricultural productive assets and business/enterprise were less clear-cut or drawn from a smaller evidence base.

Coming to the specific findings, of the 10 studies that looked at the overall effect of cash transfers on household **savings**, half found statistically significant increases in the share of households reporting savings (ranging from seven to 24 percentage points) or the amount of savings accumulated. Evidence confirmed that households could afford to marginally increase their precautionary savings because of increased income and, in some cases, increased access to formal and informal financial institutions. However, no impact was found for five of the studies, with explanations given by authors pointing to design (e.g. low transfer level) and implementation (e.g. beneficiaries for the BOTA transfer in Kazakhstan were told to withdraw their transfer immediately upon receiving it). Impacts on the selected **borrowing** indicators were mixed, as households either used the cash to increase their access to credit or to pay off existing debt. Overall, of the 15 studies that report any indicator for this outcome area, four report significant increases in the share of households in debt or borrowing and/or on total amount of

Page 248

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

debt, three report significant reductions, one reports mixed findings (Handa et al., 2014) and the remaining seven studies report no significant impacts. The authors explain that in the case of non-significance findings beneficiaries may not have been considered creditworthy, mediated by de facto transfer size and regularity of transfers.

Of the eight studies reporting on relevant indicators to households' accumulation of **agricultural productive assets** for crop production, three find a positive and significant impact on a wide variety of indicators including axes, sickles, hoes and other agricultural tools (with impacts ranging from three to 32 percentage points depending on the asset and programme) and the remaining five studies find no significant impacts. Lack of impact was explained in several ways, including behaviour influenced by strong programme labelling (money was to be spent for children) and low value or unpredictability of the transfer.

Of the eight studies reporting on **agricultural inputs** for crop production, six report some form of significant increase in expenditure or use (with impacts ranging from four to 18 percentage points depending on the input and programme), primarily for fertiliser and seeds, while one reports a significant, but small, decrease for for Kenya's cash transfer-OVC on the use of pesticides and on seed expenditure, partly explained by the authors by the low value of the transfer, which was eroded over time (Asfaw et al., 2014). Of 17 studies that assessed for indicators on **livestock ownership and value**, 12 report some form of increase (with impacts ranging from one to 59 percentage points depending on livestock type and programme), with the remaining five reporting non-significant impacts. Impacts were particularly concentrated on smaller livestock such as goats and chickens.

Impacts on **business and enterprise** were mixed, and more difficult to interpret than others reported for this outcome area, because of the range of indicators adopted in different studies. Of the nine studies reporting any indicator for this specific outcome area, four found significant increases in the share of households involved in non-farm enterprise or in the total expenditure on business-related assets and stocks, while one found a significant decrease for Mexico's PROCAMPO (Davis et al., 2002).

Three previous systematic reviews considered impacts on productive investments and livestock ownership (Kabeer et al., 2012; IEG, 2014; Yoong et al., 2012), though one of these focused on CCTs only (Kabeer et al., 2012). All showed increases in investments and livestock ownership, but did not always report on statistical significance of the findings. Furthermore, the number of evaluations in this outcome area has boomed in recent years and our review is able to make full use of this expanded evidence base. As such, our review presents a more detailed and comprehensive picture.

Eight studies reported **sex-disaggregated outcomes**, most often by separating analysis for femaleand male-headed households. Interestingly, three studies find significant impacts for some of the savings, investment and production indicators for female-headed households, where they do not find any for male-headed households. For instance, for Kenya OVC cash transfer, a significant impact on livestock ownership (sheep and goats) was only found for female-headed beneficiary households (Asfaw et al., 2012). Two studies found different types of impacts for male versus female household heads or beneficiaries (e.g. different type of investment preferred). For example, male beneficiaries of Bolivia's Bonosol pension were more likely to acquire goats, and female beneficiaries more likely to acquire pigs, while female beneficiaries were more likely to make expenditures on seed and pesticides than were male beneficiaries (Martinez, 2004). Overall, these results appear to be driven by different levels of asset ownership at baseline, with women having lower levels and hence showing bigger improvements, and differing cultural roles, with studies showing that women mainly acquired small livestock.

Employment

The evidence extracted for this review shows that for just over half of studies the cash transfer does *not* have a statistically significant impact on adult employment indicators. Furthermore, among those studies reporting a significant effect among adults of working age, the majority find an increase in work participation and intensity. In the cases where a reduction in work

Page 249

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

participation or work intensity is reported, these reflect a reduction in participation among the elderly or amongst those caring for dependents, or are linked to reductions in casual work. As with adult work participation, most of the available evidence on child labour finds that cash transfer receipt is not associated with a change in child work participation (although it is worth noting that in the majority of studies reporting non-statistically significant effects, the sign of the coefficients reported is negative). However, among the studies reporting statistically significant results for child work indicators, the evidence consistently shows a reduction in the prevalence and, particularly, the intensity of overall child labour – consistent with the increases in school attendance found for education.

For both adult and child employment, three indicators were considered that measured whether the individual works or does not work (adult labour force participation), the time spent working (work intensity) and the sector/type of employment. 14 studies report on the effect on **overall adult labour force participation**: among the eight that report on *adults of working age*, four found statistically significant impacts, three being increases and one a decrease. Among the two studies on *elderly adults*, one found a significant effect for PAAMZR social pension in Mexico, of reducing pensioners working for pay (Galiani et al., 2014). 10 studies report on **overall adult intensity of work**, with six studies showing statistically significant impacts. Three involved reductions in time worked, though one was among the elderly who received Brazil's BPC pension (Kassouf and Oliveira, 2012) and another reduction was only significant for those who did not receive all disbursements of Indonesia's temporary UCT (Bazzi et al., 2012). The two interventions resulting in increases in time spent working resulted from large enterprise grants in Uganda – YOP and WINGS – which had the specific objective of increasing employment.

Studies on sector/type of employment, show that in over half of the studies cash transfers did not significantly affect overall participation in the specific sectors studied. There is stronger evidence, however, on cash transfers impacting on time allocation towards different activities. A total of 12 studies estimate the impact of cash transfers on **overall adult labour force participation by sector/type of employment**. Of these, five find at least one significant effect, which include three suggesting increased self-employment, one an increase in unpaid family work for PAAMZR beneficiaries (among the elderly) (Galiani et al., 2014) and two showing reductions in casual work outside the household. 10 studies report the impact of cash transfers on the **intensity of adult labour in different sectors/types of employment**; of these, seven report a statistically significant effect. These include increased time spent on work, including market activities and skilled work in the two enterprise grants in Uganda, a shift from paid work to unpaid work due to a social pension among elderly adults in Mexico (Galiani et al., 2014), and a combination of increases and decreases in time spent in agricultural employment. Three studies report on the impact on **migration**, with findings showing that cash transfers can either increase or decrease the probability of migrating internally or internationally.

The clearest and most consistent finding for this outcome area is the evidence of the role that a number of cash transfer programmes have played in reducing the prevalence and intensity of child labour, though the evidence base is more consistent for reductions in intensity (hours worked) than for prevalence (whether working/not working). It is interesting to note here that the significant reductions in child labour are driven by programmes in Latin America (with the addition of one programme in Indonesia and one in Morocco), and that none of the studies reporting on child labour participation effects from a cash transfer programme in sub-Saharan Africa found any significant impact. More specifically, a total of 19 studies report cash transfer impacts on child labour force participation. Of the eight studies that find any significant impact, all show a decrease in child labour. In terms of child labour participation by sub-sector, of the eight studies, five report significant results, indicating reductions in various forms of market work, domestic work, own-farm work and one shift from physical labour to non-physical labour. Five studies report on the impacts on the intensity of child labour. All found statistically significant reductions in the number of hours spent working, ranging from 0.3 fewer hours a week in Colombia's SCAE (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2008) to 2.5 fewer hours a week in Ecuador's BDH (Schady and Araujo, 2006). Four studies report cash transfer impacts on number of hours worked by children by sector/type of work. Three studies report at least one significant result, showing a mixture of increased time on a family enterprise, reductions in time spent on own-farm work, and reduced time in domestic work outside the household.

Page 250

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Most of the employment studies report **sex-disaggregated findings**. The evidence extracted shows some differential effects for men and women for labour force participation and work intensity, but one of the main emerging themes around gendered effects relates to changes in time allocation to different activities, with a number of studies finding an increase in time spent on domestic work by women. 16 studies report effects on labour force participation among women. Seven find at least one significant impact, with results suggesting a heterogeneous range of effects. Seven studies also report impacts on labour force participation by sector/type of employment among women. Two of these report at least one statistically significant result for women, including a shift from non-farm to farm work for elderly women in Lesotho's CGP (Daidone et al., 2014). 10 studies report effects on intensity of work among women. At least one significant result is found in eight of them, though no clear patterns emerge in terms of differences between women and men, with some showing increases for women, others showing decreases.

Aside from the differential effects on overall working time, one of the main emerging themes around gendered effects relates to changes in time allocation to different activities. Six studies also report the impact of cash transfers on the number of hours worked by women by sector/type of employment. Overall, three studies find at least one statistically significant result, with two studies from Latin America finding an increase in time spent on domestic work by women (alongside a reduction in time spent on domestic chores by younger girls). In the case of Colombia's Familias en Acción, Ospina (2010) found that the increase in hours spent on domestic labour by women was matched by a decrease in time spent on it by men, who increased hours spent on paid work.

A total of 20 studies report effects on child labour participation among girls, of which 12 report any significant effect with impacts generally showing reduction in child labour for *both* boys and girls. Eight studies report estimates of the impact of cash transfers on girls working by sector. Five report significant effects, of which four show reductions across the board, and one shows an increase in household chores in Malawi's SCTP (Miller and Tsoka, 2012). Seven studies report estimates of the impact of cash transfers on the number of hours worked by girls in different sectors. Five report at least one statistically significant finding, including four studies showing declines in time spent on domestic work in Colombia, Mexico and Nicaragua, and an increase in time on family enterprise work in Indonesia (World Bank, 2011).

Earlier systematic reviews that covered employment outcomes found, on the whole, few significant findings on adult employment outcomes and mixed impacts for those studies that did find a statistically significant effect (IEG, 2014; Kabeer et al., 2012; Yoong et al., 2012). The evidence extracted for this review mostly echoes these findings, but draws from a much larger sample of programmes, including those in sub-Saharan Africa (much of the earlier evidence focused on Latin America), also considered the impacts of cash transfer programmes with specific employment objectives (e.g. enterprise grants), and, importantly, provides a large evidence base of sex-disaggregated findings. Our findings on child labour are based on a larger evidence base than those found in earlier systematic reviews (IEG, 2014; Kabeer et al., 2012) and on the whole show a more consistent picture of a reduction in child labour.

Empowerment

The evidence reviewed here shows that transfers can reduce physical abuse, but also that they may increase non-physical abuse, such as emotional abuse or controlling behaviour. The evidence base finds support both for the theory that increased income lowers stress-related abuse and for the theory that increased income enables the woman to bargain out of abuse. The relatively strong evidence that decision-making power increases for women in beneficiary household also offers substance to this latter theory.

Other empowerment indicators reviewed here – marriage, pregnancy, contraceptive use and multiple sexual partners – are studied mainly in relation to unmarried women and girls of school age (there are exceptions, notably pregnancy, which is mostly considered for married women). On the whole, the evidence reveals that risky sexual behaviour and also early marriage differ by gender but for both girls/women and boys/men increased income to an extent lifts the constraints that drive engagement in these behaviours. In the case of women and girls, the evidence that

Page 251

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

directly or indirectly receiving a transfer reduces the likelihood of having multiple sexual partners indicates that cash transfers may reduce the incidence of relationships that are transactional. Taken together, the evidence in this section points to cash transfers having a positive impact on women's choices as to fertility and engagement in sexual activity. In the case of men and boys, some of the evidence collected here suggests that cash transfers do not have the same effect of reducing risky sexual activity, and in fact may lead to an increase in this type of behaviour.

Coming to the specific findings, eight studies considered the impact of cash transfers on **abuse by a male partner**: six had significant results for physical or sexual abuse, all showing a reduction in abuse (one of the non-significant results also indicated a reduction, but one suggested a rise). The findings for non-physical (e.g. emotional) abuse were mixed: six studies had significant results for non-physical abuse, of which two studies indicated a rise in reports of abuse and four studies indicated a decline (the non-significant results also indicated a rise in non-physical abuse).

Eight studies examined the impact of cash transfers on **women's decision-making power**; all eight looked at expenditure-related decisions and all four significant results indicated a rise in a woman's likelihood of being the sole or joint decision-maker. Five studies also looked at involvement in non-expenditure decisions, with mixed findings: one showed a significant decrease in the likelihood of the female being the sole or joint decision-maker and one showed a significant increase (both were for decisions relating to contraceptive use). One study reported differential impacts according to the sex of the household head, finding that only in female-headed households were female transfer recipients more likely to become the main budget decision-maker (Merttens et al., 2013).

Six studies looked at **marriage**, of which five yielded significant results. Three of these indicated delayed marriage for beneficiary women (by 1.5 years at one estimate (Alam and Baez, 2011)). One study yielded results which differed by gender: a non-significant effect for female beneficiaries and a delay for male beneficiaries (Siaplay, 2012). A study on Honduras's PRAF suggested that the intervention actually incentivised marriage for female beneficiaries, potentially linked to the specific design of the programme (Stecklov, 2006).

10 studies contained results on the impact of cash transfers on **fertility** (pregnancy or giving birth) and, of the seven studies yielding significant results, five indicated that the transfer decreased the likelihood of pregnancy or giving birth. The two exceptions again related to the unique case of Honduras's PRAF, with the authors arguing that with transfer levels being linked to number of children, programme design could have potentially incentivised fertility (Stecklov, 2006). Of the three studies reporting non-significant results, two indicated a decline in the likelihood of pregnancy and one a rise. This provides fairly strong evidence against anecdotal arguments that cash transfers, particularly child grants, increase fertility.

There were 10 studies dealing with the impact of a cash transfer on the **use of contraception**. Five of the six studies with significant results found unambiguous evidence that the transfer increased the use of contraceptives or reduced the likelihood of unsafe sex for both men and women (one estimate was that females were 17% more likely to report *safe* sex). The one other study with statistically significant results, on the Kenyan OVC transfer, found that while males were more likely to report condom use indicator they were also *less likely* to report having had safe sex indicator (Handa et al., 2014).

Of the four studies considering the effect of the transfer on an individual having **multiple sexual partners**, three yielded significant results, all of which indicated that the transfer lowered this likelihood – interestingly, the effect was only observed for females.

An earlier review found that cash transfers led to reductions in domestic violence and some very limited evidence on decision-making power for one programme (IEG, 2014). The empowerment findings in this review draw on a larger evidence base and a greater set of indicators than the previous review, allowing us to provide more detailed and nuanced findings on empowerment.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion
12.5 The role of design and implementation features

The second main research question addressed by this review concerns the evidence on the role of variations in cash transfer design and implementation features in shaping the outcomes of the selected indicators across the six outcome areas. The approach used to identify and assess the evidence in this area differs slightly from the one used for evidence on the overall impact of cash transfers on the selected indicators. While for the latter, only studies employing rigorous counterfactual analysis were considered, for this question, studies using qualitative methods were also considered. Of the four qualitative studies that made it to the final list of studies, none was included in the subsequent analysis, as they did not address the specific outcome indicators considered in this review. Additional insights into the role of design and implementation features were also obtained from the discussion sections within the studies reviewed.

Given the high number of design and implementation features considered, and the ways in which these can vary to influence the wide range of selected indicators reviewed, a quantitative descriptive summary has not been possible. Rather, this section reports the findings emerging from the counterfactual studies which either explicitly test the impact of variations in design features on outcomes, or which shed light on such impact, for instance by reporting results of impacts over time.

By way of reminder, the six design and implementation features considered are: (1) core cash transfer design features (e.g. main recipient, transfer value and frequency, duration of the transfer), (2) conditionality, (3) targeting mechanisms, (4) payment systems, (5) grievance mechanisms and programme governance, and (6) complementary interventions and supply-side services.

12.5.1 Evidence on the selected indicators

Independent searches for the six sets of cash transfer design and implementation features were carried out, leading to a final total of 55 unique studies from which evidence was extracted. Table 12.3 below summarises the number of studies by outcome area for which information was extracted to explicitly investigate the role of design and implementation features. The final column for each of the features provides the total number of *unique* studies across all outcome areas. As can be seen, 24 studies (by far the highest number) cover the issue of how the length of exposure to cash transfers mediates outcomes.¹⁴⁹ The next largest body of evidence (15 studies) relates to the role of transfer levels. This is followed by conditionality (11) and complementary interventions and supply-side services (8). Interestingly, none of the studies reviewed reported impacts as a result of changes in a programme's grievance mechanism and programme governance and only one study was found to explicitly compare the impact of targeting different types of households using different targeting mechanisms.

When interpreting the evidence below, therefore, it is important to bear in mind that, in some cases more than others, the evidence is based on a limited number of studies from a low number of programmes or policies, including relatively small pilots. This should urge caution against drawing firm conclusions in cases where the evidence does not yet permit it.

Page 253

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

149 This is due to the fact that, for this design feature, we included studies reporting impacts at different moments in time of a panel study, even if not explicitly testing differential impact over time.

Table 12.3 Number of studies investigating links between design and implementation features and the selected indicators in the review

Design and implementation feature	Poverty	Education	Health and nutrition	Savings, investment and production	Employment	Empowerment	Total unique studies
Core design features							
Main recipient	1	1	2	1	1	1	5
Transfer level	4	3	4	1	4	2	15
Timing/frequency of transfers	2	1	0	1	1	0	4
Length of exposure	9	8	7	2	9	3	24
Conditionality	0	4	3	0	4	2	11
Targeting	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
Payment modality	0	0	2	1	0	2	2
Grievance mechanisms and programme governance	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Complementary interventions and supply-side services	5	2	1	4	4	2	8

Note: The column showing total number of unique studies does not equal row totals due to multiple studies reporting across different outcomes.

12.5.2 Core design features

Core design features of cash transfers cover the following basic features: the main recipient, transfer values, transfer frequency, and duration of payments. These are discussed in turn below.

Main recipient

As highlighted in the conceptual framework in Chapter 2, a thread of literature hypothesises that the characteristics of the main recipient of cash transfers, including their gender, may affect a range of outcomes, including intra-household decision-making and how money is spent. Five unique studies were found to explicitly consider the differential impact of transferring cash to a different type of recipient, mostly based on gender. The findings are briefly summarised below by outcome area.

- For indicators on **poverty**, one study of the Give Directly experiment in Kenya found that a UCT was associated with a slightly smaller increase in monthly non-durable expenditure when targeted at female beneficiaries compared to male beneficiaries (US\$2.74), though the difference between men and women was not statistically significant (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).
- For indicators on education, one study of a labelled educational transfer programme in Morocco found no statistical difference in impacts on school attendance or performance on a standardised maths test between when cash was given to either fathers or mothers of children aged 6–12 (Benhassine et al., 2013).
- For indicators on health and nutrition, similar findings of no significant difference by sex of recipient were obtained by Akresh et al. (2012) from a randomised experiment in Burkina Faso. While the impact on preventative health clinic visits of CCTs given to mothers was positive and significant and those given to fathers was not, the effect sizes were similar (0.45 and 0.42) and a test for statistical differences between the two did not find any difference. By contrast, a study by Behrman and Parker (2013) found some evidence that the *age* of recipients in Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades may have been important in mediating the probability of recipients using a clinic. When the transfer was received by households containing *only* the elderly, the percentage point increase was less than half of the increase when the transfer was received by younger members (11 versus 26 percentage points). However, the authors do not report if differences are statistically significant and these impacts could also reflect differences in household demographics.

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- For indicators on **savings, investment and production**, the same study mentioned above on the Give Directly experiment in Kenya found no significant difference between targeting women or men in terms of impacts on savings, investments in non-agricultural business assets or livestock ownership (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).
- For indicators on **employment**, one study looking at differences in labour participation within beneficiary households of the SA-OAP (South Africa) according to the gender of elderly recipient did find some significant variation in outcomes (Siaplay, 2012); while there was a *reduction* in male participation in the labour force among young men (aged 21 to 26) living with *female* pensioners, there was an *increase* among young men living in households with *male* pension recipients. Impacts were not significant for young women living with either male or female pensioners and there were no significant differential effects on employment status for boys or girls (aged 14–20).

The evidence above leads to three main conclusions. First, for some indicators (e.g. non-durable expenditure, spending on non-agricultural business assets or livestock, savings and school attendance and test scores) the available evidence does not support the idea of there being any systematic differences in outcomes depending on the gender of the main recipient.

Second, for two indicators, differences in the main recipient were shown to be important: the gender of the pension recipient in the SA-OAP for the labour participation response of young men living with them (Siaplay, 2012) and the age of the recipients in Mexico's PROGRESA/ Oportunidades for the impact on attendance at health clinics (Behrman and Parker, 2013). The importance of the gender of the pension recipient in the SA-OAP demonstrates how potentially unanticipated intra-household effects of cash transfers may vary depending on the type of recipient and/or the structure of the household. However, further evidence is needed in order to find out how consistent such impacts are and what may drive them. The importance of the age of recipient is consistent with the findings from another study in this review, by Merttens et al. (2015) (discussed below under Targeting), which suggests that the age of the recipient, as a proxy for the demographic structure of the household, can have significant implications on multiple outcome areas. Further research explicitly testing the mediating role of age could therefore be useful for informing future programme design. In particular, for specific outcomes related to transition to adulthood and empowerment (marriage, risky behaviours, etc.), further research could be useful on the importance of adolescents being the direct recipients of cash transfers, compared to indirectly benefitting as household members.

Third, it is worth remembering that variations in outcomes by main recipient may well exist for other indicators which are outside the scope of this review. For example, one set of indicators which evidence suggests may vary by the gender of the main recipient is the share of household expenditure on different items of expenditure, where it is commonly assumed that women spend more on items that benefit the household as a whole (e.g. food, health and education). Interestingly, however, the one study above investigating differential impacts on investments in livestock or non-agricultural enterprises by gender of main recipient in Kenya does not find that women were any less likely to use money on productive assets (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).

It is also important to note that, while not necessarily the same as the main recipient, the sex of the household head does appear to have been associated with some impacts for a number of outcome areas, as discussed in more detail in section 12.2.2 for each outcome area. These findings need to be interpreted with caution, however, as female-headed households also tend to be single-parent households, which means that the impact of being a female-headed household also captures the vulnerability of being a single-parent household. So, while the gender of the main recipient and gender of household head are not necessarily synonymous, the latter body of evidence reminds us that cash transfers can result in quite different impacts, depending on the structure of the household.

Transfer levels

A larger body of evidence – a total of 15 studies – explored the differential impact of variations in transfer levels and shows a number of differences in impact due to differences in transfer size. The findings are briefly summarised below by outcome area.

Page 255

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

- For indicators on **poverty**, four studies find that a larger transfer is associated with bigger impacts on overall household expenditure, food expenditure, and poverty reduction, with three of these being statistically significant (Davis et al., 2002; Handa et al., 2009; Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).
- For indicators on education, there is mixed evidence from four studies. One of two studies on PROGRESA/Oportunidades finds higher transfer levels to be associated with improvements in cognitive and verbal tests (Manley et al., 2015); the second one is not statistically significant. For Cambodia's CESSP, the effect of higher transfer levels on attendance is not statistically significant (Filmer and Schady, 2011). Finally, a small but significant reduction on test scores is found for the unconditional arm of Malawi's ZCTP despite a positive impact on increasing enrolment (Baird et al., 2011).
- For indicators on **health and nutrition**, two studies found higher transfer levels associated with improvements in child height-for-age z-scores (HAZ), one of which was significant (Manley et al., 2015), while another found higher transfers associated with a very small but significant increase in the probability of attending health check-ups (for PROGRESA but not PROCAMPO recipients) (Davis et al., 2002). A fourth study found no impact of cumulatively higher transfers on dietary diversity in Kenya's HSNP (Merttens et al., 2013).
- For indicators on **savings, investment and production**, one study finds that savings and livestock holdings were substantially and significantly higher for those receiving a larger transfer in Kenya's Give Directly experiment (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).
- For indicators on **employment**, two studies test the effect of higher transfer levels on overall adult labour participation, three on the number of hours worked, and one on migration. Of those on labour participation, both find higher transfers associated with a reduction in overall labour participation; one of 10 percentage points among adults living with beneficiaries of South Africa's social pension (Bertrand et al., 2003) and the other (less than one percentage point) driven by women in Albania's Ndhima Ekonomike (Dabalen et al., 2008). Regarding hours worked, one study finds no significant effect of higher transfers in Indonesia's short-term UCT (Bazzi et al., 2012), while the other two find a reduction in hours worked, once again among adults living with pension recipients in South Africa's social pension and in Albania's Ndhima Ekonomike, from the same two studies above. The study on migration finds higher grants in Mexico's PROGRESA leading to small but significant increases in migration to the US (1–2 percentage points) and a reduction in domestic migration (less than one percentage point) (Angelucci, 2004).
- For indicators on **empowerment**, two studies considered transfer level, with both yielding some significant results. One found that, under certain circumstances, a larger transfer increased the likelihood of physical abuse in Mexico's Oportunidades (Angelucci, 2008). While in a sexual health incentive programme in Malawi, comparisons of impacts arising from larger or smaller incentives to practice safe sex (US\$10 versus US\$4) show that, among females, only the higher transfer led to a significant positive impact on practising safe sex (abstinence or use of a condom). However, interestingly, among men both transfer sizes led to a statistically significant reduction in practising safe sex of around nine percentage points (Kohler and Thornton, 2012).

The evidence above provides a number of interesting insights. First, for some indicators, higher transfer levels appear to have led to what would generally be considered more positive impacts (e.g. greater improvements in household and food expenditure, supporting savings and investment in productive assets, incentivising safe sex among females, and some weaker evidence of improvements in certain health and nutrition outcomes). For other indicators (particularly relating to education and employment) the evidence is more mixed. For education, this includes no evidence of higher transfer levels affecting attendance and unclear impacts on educational outcomes, potentially due in part to the relatively weaker role played by cash compared to other factors (e.g. supply and quality of schooling) for such indicators. For employment, although the evidence from two programmes points to higher transfers being associated with a reduction in labour participation and hours worked, these reductions should be understood in their proper context as being among family members taking care of elderly and child dependents, highlighting that higher transfer values can alleviate the *overall* work-burden of adult family members taking care of dependents.

Page 256

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Second, it is important to highlight one of the more unexpected impacts of higher transfers that was found for empowerment, which is the finding that higher transfer levels were, under certain circumstances, associated with increased likelihood of physical abuse (Angelucci, 2008). While this is not an argument against providing sufficiently sized transfers, it does remind us that the provision of cash transfers invariably interacts with and affects intra-household dynamics and power relations.

A final point worth highlighting when it comes to the role of transfer size is the potential presence of thresholds (where higher transfers may have a particularly strong effect on certain outcomes only after reaching a certain level) and non-linear impacts (where impacts do not change proportionately with an additional unit increase in transfer size). These issues can often be overlooked in standard impact evaluations. For example, in interpreting the lack of a statistically significant effect on attendance arising from higher transfers in Cambodia's CESSP (Filmer and Schady, 2011), it must be kept in mind that the transfers themselves were very small (with lower values being just 2% of median beneficiary income), such that even at higher levels, they may not have been able to significantly affect school-going behaviour. Similarly, the one study in which increased transfer size was not associated with any statistically significant increase in household expenditure was from a programme with an already substantial (one-off) transfer size (an average of US\$382 per person) (Blattman et al., 2013). Given this, it is not surprising if, beyond a certain transfer size, the marginal impact on certain indicators (expenditure in this case) from an extra unit of transfer fails to have a significant effect (e.g. if people choose after a certain point to save or invest their additional money instead). The existence and form of such threshold effects and non-linear impacts are both areas ripe for further research in order to help inform the choice of optimal transfer sizes.

Transfer frequency, timing and predictability

The evidence base on transfer frequency and timing is not as extensive as for transfer size, with a total of three unique studies explicitly testing the role of these impacts across four of the six outcome areas (none for health and nutrition and empowerment). Just one study provides insights into transfer predictability, but as noted in Chapters 6 to 11, there was frequent mention in the studies reviewed of the important role played by predictable and reliable transfers (or lack thereof) in mediating ultimate outcomes. The key findings are summarised below.

- For indicators on **poverty**, one study found that a more frequent (monthly) transfer in a Kenyan cash transfer experiment was associated with a small but non-significant decrease in non-durable expenditure relative to those receiving a lump sum (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013). A second study (which potentially also tells us about cumulative transfer receipt and predictability) found that those who had received the expected two transfers had significantly higher growth in total household expenditure per capita than those for whom the second transfer was delayed (Bazzi, 2012).
- For indicators on **education**, one study found that postponement of the bulk of the payment for a programme conditional on good attendance until just before re-enrolment did not affect attendance in Colombia's SCAE, though it did lead to a small but significant increase in enrolment rates (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2008). A second study, though not explicitly designed to test the impact of transfer timing on outcomes, also highlights the importance of transfer timing, with the late delivery of transfers in the school year in Burkina Faso's NCTPP being associated with none of the significant impacts (e.g. on attendance and enrolment) that were found a year later when they were delivered on time (Akresh et al., 2013).
- For indicators on **savings, investment and production**, one study from an experiment in Kenya finds that lump-sum recipients accumulated significantly more non-land assets and large livestock, while monthly recipients accumulated more small livestock and poultry (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).
- For indicators on **employment**, one study found that, whereas the delayed receipt of a transfer was associated with a decline of 2.3 working hours a week, those that received the total of two transfers on time did not see any statistically significant decline in hours worked per week (Bazzi et al., 2012). A potential explanation given by the authors is that, in anticipation of

Page 257

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

receiving transfers, households may have 're-optimised their labour supply to a lower level' and that these decisions may have had persistent effects (e.g. if previously declined positions were already filled and it was difficult for households to increase their labour supply in response to the delayed receipt of the second quarterly transfer).

Even the limited overall evidence base above provides us with a number of examples showing how the timing and frequency of transfers can have an important bearing on outcomes and differing impacts on different outcome areas and specific indicators. For example, as discussed in the conceptual framework for this study, a frequent and predictable transfer could be expected to favour consumption smoothing and spending on smaller assets, while lump-sum payments may be associated with investment in bulkier assets. The available (albeit limited) evidence on this from the *Give Directly* cash transfer experiment in Kenya would seem to support this hypothesis (Haushofer and Shapiro, 2013).

The evidence on education also reminds us that, as school fees are typically due at specific times of the year, tailoring their timing so that households have sufficient funds available at the right time to pay the fees may help to maximise the impact a cash transfer has on educational outcomes. The same logic is likely to apply to agricultural seasons when cash is required at similar points each year in order to acquire inputs. Further evidence on tailoring the timing of transfers around such points would be very welcome.

While little evidence was found explicitly testing the effect of transfer predictability, some authors of studies reviewed earlier in this report suggested that delays in payments disrupted and undermined potential impacts across the outcome areas analysed (e.g. Bazzi, 2013; Handa et al., 2014; Pellerano et al., 2014; AIR, 2014), though more rigorous research in this area is clearly needed. Some evidence from this review has also highlighted unintended consequences that may arise from unpredictable transfers. For example, drawing on complementary qualitative evidence, Merttens et al. (2015) hypothesise that the 'lumpy' nature of the transfers in Uganda's SAGE programme (due to the first few transfers being delayed and paid as a lump sum) may have explained the significant increases in livestock ownership. Although not a reason for delaying transfers on purpose (especially where their function is to help smooth income) this raises interesting insights as to the potential role of lump-sum payments and further research in this area would clearly be useful.

Duration of exposure

As highlighted in the conceptual framework in Chapter 2, the duration of exposure to a transfer may be critical in determining the extent to which certain programme outcomes are achieved. For example, if transfers are suspended or terminated within a short timeframe, this could undermine the potential intended impact of transfers, and even potentially lead to reversals across outcome areas. This programme design feature was the one with the highest number of studies – 24 in total – of all features covered in this review. This is partly explained by the fact that we included studies that presented findings at different follow-up periods in addition to those that explicitly tested the difference between the different exposure periods. Key findings are summarised below.

- For indicators on **poverty**, nine studies review differential effects of longer exposure to transfers, with statistically significant evidence for seven studies, showing that, on the whole, longer exposure to a programme is associated with higher expenditure and food expenditure levels, though the differences between periods of increasing duration are not always significant.
- For indicators on **education**, eight studies look at the role of increasing treatment period, with overall little evidence of increased attendance due to higher exposure, but one study showing that longer exposure leads to more years of education (Villa, 2014). Among the studies looking at impacts of longer exposure on language or maths test scores or cognitive development, longer exposure does not lead to statistically significant effects, except where this is combined with household eligibility for higher transfers (i.e. higher cumulative transfers).
- For indicators on **health and nutrition**, seven studies investigated differential duration of receipt of transfers (including higher cumulative transfers) on child anthropometric measures and health care use. Of the five looking at child anthropometrics, two did not find significant

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

effects for longer participation (Esteva, 2012; Manley et al., 2015), while two studies on Mexico's PROGRESA/Oportunidades found that higher *cumulative* transfers (from greater duration and transfer size combined) resulted in improvements in HAZ scores, compared to those receiving lower cumulative transfers (Fernald et al., 2008; Fernald et al., 2009). The fifth study, looking at Ecuador's BDH, identified significant detrimental impacts on child growth indicators among households ceasing to benefit after seven years, compared to those that continued to receive transfers (Buser et al., 2014). Finally, both studies looking at health care use found larger effects on clinic attendance in Peru and Mexico, for children and adults respectively, arising from a longer spell as a transfer recipient household (Behrman and Parker, 2013; Perova and Vakis, 2012).

- For indicators on **savings, investment and production**, two studies find limited differences in ownership of animals or productive assets over time, except for an extremely small but significant increase in productive loans associated with longer exposure to Mexico's Oportunidades (Gertler et al., 2012).
- For indicators on **employment**, four studies focus on **adult labour**, with one not statistically significant, two find increasing exposure linked to greater likelihood or intensity of work among women (Behrman and Parker, 2013; Buser et al., 2014) and one finds a larger reduction in adult labour intensity over time (but only among those who had only received one of the two transfers they were due, see discussion above) (Bazzi et al., 2012). Six studies focus on **child labour**, with mixed results. Three studies by the same author on PROGRESA/Oportunidades find that longer exposure led to significant reductions in the likelihood of working among boys and a marginal increase in migration of adolescent boys some five years later (Behrman et al., 2009; Behrman et al., 2011; Behrman et al., 2012), while Perova and Vakis (2012) conversely find that benefitting for longer in Peru's Juntos was associated with a higher likelihood of working. Maluccio (2005) also found a small increase in the probability of girls from RPS areas in Nicaragua working two years after the programme started, compared to finding no significant effect in the first year.
- For indicators on **empowerment**, three studies were extracted, two of which find significant results. These two indicate that prolonged exposure lowered the likelihood of marriage and pregnancy and increased the likelihood of contraceptive use (Perova and Vakis, 2012; Baird et al., 2011).

Overall, the evidence points to a number of potential improvements in outcomes arising from increased duration of exposure to cash transfers, including some improvements in health behaviours and child growth outcomes, higher expenditure and food expenditure, lower likelihood of early marriage, pregnancy and greater contraceptive use. For child growth, it was higher *cumulative* transfers in particular that were important, with the evidence showing that, rather than duration alone, it was the combination of receiving higher transfers over a longer period of time that made the most significant difference.

Results are more mixed in relation to adult labour supply and child labour. For example, with longer exposure leading to increases in female labour participation and intensity in some cases, and either no effects or larger reductions over time in other cases. Understanding these varied impacts requires a detailed look at the specific programmes and contexts in which they were implemented. In the case of Peru's Juntos, for example, where there appeared to be increasing child labour with increased programme exposure, the authors note that explaining such effects would require further research and investigation (Perova and Vakis, 2012).

The lack of evidence that longer exposure leads to higher school attendance is perhaps not surprising if attendance is already at high levels due to short-term exposure to a cash transfer, though the finding of longer exposure leading to more years of education in Colombia's Familias en Acción is an important finding indicating long-term human capital benefits to receiving cash transfers for longer (Villa, 2014).

The evidence above also provides some support for the notion that households which stop receiving transfers can experience serious difficulties (e.g. highly detrimental effects on child growth, as documented in Buser et al. (2014)), even after having received the transfer for a number

Page 259

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

of years previously. Taken together with what was just mentioned about the importance of higher cumulative transfers for child growth, this finding should urge great caution among policy-makers when designing 'graduation' systems from cash transfers, to ensure that those who are exited are truly ready to do so and will not return to a position of vulnerability.

While choosing the specific length of eligibility for a cash transfer, as well as any criteria for 'graduation', will clearly depend upon the objectives of a given programme and budget considerations, the evidence above suggests that ensuring recipients benefit for a sufficient period is likely to have critical implications for a number of outcome areas. One area in particular which would benefit from further research, especially for programmes that aim to facilitate 'productive inclusion' of beneficiaries or to increase resilience, is the role of duration in supporting longer-term productive asset accumulation.

12.5.3 Conditionality

As discussed in the conceptual framework in Chapter 2, cash transfers may include a conditionality component which can vary depending on the precise behavioural requirements, monitoring arrangements, response to non-compliance and enforcement in practice. 11 studies across four of the six outcome areas (excluding poverty and savings, investment and production) provide insights into how conditionality influenced the indicators being reviewed. Among these studies, five explicitly compared CCTs and UCTs experimentally across education, health and nutrition, and empowerment (Akresh et al., 2012; Akresh et al., 2013; Baird et al., 2011; Baird et al., 2012; Benhassine et al., 2013). The others tested variations of conditionalities within a given programme in different ways. The headline findings from the outcome chapters are summarised below.

- For indicators on education, three studies explicitly tested the difference between CCTs and UCTs on attendance and other indicators, including school drop-out, test scores and cognitive ability. Overall, they show that while CCTs tend to yield slightly better outcomes compared to UCTs, the differences are not always significant and 'labelling' cash transfers by strongly encouraging school enrolment (rather than monitoring and enforcing conditions) did, in the one study where it was tested, lead to slightly better outcomes on participation and maths scores (Benhassine et al., 2013). A fourth study did not directly compare CCTs and UCTs, but instead tested different variations of a CCT, including a basic CCT treatment based on school attendance and a 'tertiary treatment' where some of the transfers were conditional on students' graduation and tertiary enrolment rather than attendance (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2008). The results show that the type of incentive mattered. Specifically, providing incentives around graduation rather than just attendance increased attendance by five percentage points, whereas, in the same locality, the basic CCT did not significantly increase attendance.¹⁵⁰
- For indicators on **health and nutrition**, three studies show that making transfer receipt conditional on health visits led to higher numbers of health visits compared to when transfers were not conditional (Attanasio et al., 2015; Akresh et al., 2012; Benedetti and Ibarrarán, 2015). It is not clear from the studies whether this is due to the messaging or monitoring of attending health services, or enforcement of conditions.
- For indicators on **employment**, three studies on **child labour** indicate the importance of either the presence or *perception* of conditionalities relating to school enrolment or attendance, in terms of reducing the likelihood or intensity of child labour. Consistent with findings from an earlier study on the same programme for educational outcomes, one shows that where part of the transfer is conditional upon students graduating and enrolling in tertiary education, it has stronger effects on reducing child labour participation and intensity compared to transfers simply conditional on attendance (Barrera-Osorio et al., 2011). A second shows that the mere perception of transfers being conditional on school enrolment (even when they were not) has a significant impact in reducing the probability of children working full time and the number of hours worked compared to when beneficiaries perceive that there are no conditions (Schady and Araujo, 2006). The third study tests the effect of conditionality more loosely, exploiting

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

150 It should be noted that attendance is tested for slightly different age groups in the Suba locality, depending on the treatment, with the basic CCT measuring effects on those in grades 6-8 and the graduation CCT measuring effects for those in grades 9–11.

the fact that school enrolment conditions in Honduras's Bono 10,000 only applied to one child aged 6–18 per household, and finds that only in the households with just one school-age child was there any significant effect on child labour participation (a reduction), indicating a potential role played by the conditions (Benedetti and Ibarrarán, 2015). Meanwhile, the one study to investigate the effect of conditionalities on **adult labour** found some limited evidence (in just one of the two years observed) of a very small magnitude that households with a higher proportion of their grant being conditional in PROGRESA exhibited lower US migration (Angelucci, 2004).

- For indicators on **empowerment**, evidence was extracted from two studies (both for the Malawian ZCTP), but significant results were only found in one (Baird et al., 2011). In that study, an unexpected result was that the UCT group was overall less likely to be married at follow-up compared to the control group, whereas no such effect was observed in the CCT group that received transfers conditional upon school enrolment and attendance (the difference between the two groups was significant). In addition, the UCT had a stronger impact in terms of preventing pregnancies among older teenagers compared to the CCT; whereas girls over 15 in the CCT group were around 10 percentage points more likely to have ever been pregnant than younger CCT group girls, there was no increase in pregnancies among those receiving the UCT. In the other study, however, neither the UCT nor the CCT arm had any significant effect on whether girls receiving the transfers were ever married (Baird et al., 2012).
- For indicators on **poverty** and **savings**, **investment and production**, no studies were extracted on the role of conditionality. However, several studies did discuss the strong role played by the messaging associated with the transfer ('implicit' conditionality) with regard to productive impacts. For example, in several cases, messaging that encouraged child-related expenses was seen to reduce productive impacts (see Chapter 9).

Overall, the evidence retrieved leads to three main conclusions. First, making transfers conditional on certain behaviours or actions can affect the outcomes relating to the conditions on which the transfers are conditioned and may have larger effects than unconditional transfers, although this is not always the case. The size of effects and difference between conditional and unconditional transfers vary and are not always large or significant. Of the eight studies comparing a CCT to a UCT, six find (somewhat) larger impacts for education and health and nutrition outcomes for CCTs and/or significant impacts where they are not significant for UCTs (four of these differences are statistically significant).

For example, among the studies on education, Akresh et al. (2013) found that transfers conditional on enrolment led to a significant increase in attendance of 13 percentage points compared to a non-significant increase of seven percentage points for those receiving the UCT, while Baird et al. (2011) found CCTs conditional on enrolment and attendance led to a significant eight percentage point increase compared to a non-significant increase of six percentage points for UCTs. However, the difference between CCTs and UCTs on attendance in the study by Baird et al. (2011) was not always significant, nor was there a significant difference between them in terms of cognitive ability or maths scores. Among the specific studies reporting on health care use, the effects appear to be larger for CCTs than UCTs. For example, Attanasio et al. (2015) estimate that preventative health visits for children were 50% lower among beneficiaries of Familias en Acción excluded from a conditionality requirement. Similarly, Akresh et al. (2012) find that transfers conditional on quarterly child growth monitoring in the NCTPP experiment in Burkina Faso led to a 49% increase in the number of routine preventative visits over the previous year compared to a control group, while those receiving unconditional transfers did not see any significant change.

A second broad conclusion is that, while it was not always possible to disentangle which aspect of conditions was driving the results in some studies, there is evidence that perceptions of conditions (Schady and Araujo, 2006) and the messaging associated with transfers, for instance encouraging certain behaviours and service use (Benhassine et al., 2013), can influence cash transfer outcomes. This is consistent with findings from other studies in the review under savings, investment and production, which suggest that the messaging provided around the use of transfers can have important implications for how cash is used. For example, Pellerano et al. (2014) stress that the lack of impacts on savings and productive outcomes for Lesotho's CGP was

Page 261

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

due to the strong messaging that the money was supposed to be used for children's education. The above raises questions over the extent to which it is necessary to include a sanctionary element to conditionality non-compliance and to strictly enforce such conditions, potentially associated with high administrative and social costs. It also suggests that improving certain outcomes may primarily require greater and improved information and service provision.

Third, the imposition of conditions can also lead to unanticipated effects. One example from Malawi's ZCTP is that while CCTs resulted in a greater increase in girls' school attendance than for those receiving UCTs, those that received the UCTs had a lower probability of becoming pregnant and were less likely to marry later (Baird et al., 2011).

These findings broadly support a number of existing reviews discussed in Chapter 3 which, on the one hand suggest that conditional transfers tend to be associated with larger effects in some areas, specifically education and health (Baird et al., 2013; Saavedra and Garcia, 2012; Fiszbein and Schady, 2009), and on the other find that conditions do not always have significant impacts and may even have negative effects (e.g. on child growth, when conditions were attached to work or savings) (Manley et al., 2012).

In sum, while there may be a role for including an element of conditionality in certain contexts, it is increasingly apparent that encouraging beneficiaries of cash transfers to take certain actions, which may involve considerably lower financial and other costs than strict monitoring and enforcement of sanctionary conditions, can contribute to progress towards intended outcomes. Given that this review found 11 relevant studies, further research on the role of CCTs more generally, and specifically into the role of messaging and communications strategies and the regulation of response to non-compliance, on influencing outcomes and their related cost-effectiveness would be helpful.

12.5.4 Targeting

Only one of the studies reviewed – the midline evaluation of Uganda's SAGE programme by Merttens et al. (2015) – was found to provide insights into the differential impacts of different targeting mechanisms. While several studies included in the review analyse programmes testing different targeting approaches (for example HSNP in Kenya), differential analysis is only used to establish targeting effectiveness rather than how these approaches affect programme impacts. For Uganda's SAGE, one treatment arm – the Senior Citizen Grant (SCG) – used age to determine eligibility, targeting those aged 60 or 65 and above, depending on the region. Another treatment arm – the Vulnerable Family Support Grant (VFSG) – targeted on the basis of a composite index based on demographic indicators of vulnerability. The study finds:

- For indicators on **poverty**, a significant increase in monthly food expenditure was found for the VFSG (8,500 Ugandan shillings), while the impact for the SCG (1,500 shillings) was not significant. The authors explain the lack of significance on food expenditure for the age-targeted households with the hypothesis that this transfer is seen as a personal transfer by recipients, and as such is spent on personal items (e.g. clothing). For total household expenditure, a significant increase for both groups is found, while effects on poverty measures are all non-significant.
- For indicators on **education**, the main finding is that of a small reduction (three percentage points) in the proportion of school-age children attending formal education among those targeted on the basis of the vulnerability index, which is driven by a greater increase in the proportion of girls attending school within the control group. However, no significant changes were estimated among households targeted on the basis of old age and the differences between the two targeted groups are not explained.
- For indicators on **savings, investment and production**, across the range of indicators reviewed, with exception for those on borrowing, impacts are consistently higher and more frequently highly significant for households receiving the VFSG than the SCG.
- For indicators on **employment**, impacts on the proportion of adults engaged in productive activities, casual labour and the average number of hours spent working were not significant

Page 262

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

for either group. However, the impact on the mean number of months spent working in the past year was a significant increase of around half a month, but only for those targeted using a vulnerability index. The differences between groups are not explained.

• For indicators on **empowerment**, no statistically significant impact of programme participation is found in either of the two treatment groups (SCG and VFSG). There are, however, visible, though untested, differences in the impacts: for the SCG (age-targeted) group, impacts are larger and generally positive, while those for the VFSG grant are negative, though minimal (though, as stated, neither impact is statistically significant).

Given that the evidence extracted only focuses on one study, which itself does not provide a statistical test of the differences in impact across targeting mechanisms, the review cannot draw any strong conclusions. However, the evidence retrieved on indicators across poverty, education, employment and savings, investment and production is at least consistent with evidence elsewhere in the review showing that the demographic make-up of beneficiary households can lead to significant variation in effects. Examples include the findings above under core design features around variation in impacts on clinic use in Mexico's Oportunidades when transfers were given to elderly households (Behrman et al., 2013) and variations in impacts among female-headed households (see section 12.2.2)

Given the dearth of firm evidence on the role of different targeting approaches, it is not appropriate to draw any firm policy implications. However, the state of the evidence base here does show that further research into how different targeting approaches influence outcomes would make an important contribution to our understanding of the operation of cash transfers and could help in the design of future targeting approaches. Importantly, there is potentially quite a lot of analysis of the differential impact of targeting that could be done using data from existing research.¹⁵¹ This analysis could complement the extensive research on the targeting performance of alternative mechanisms which was not part of this review.¹⁵²

12.5.5 Payment modality

Two studies, both by the same authors (Aker et al., 2011; 2014) on the Zap Mobile Cash Transfer Programme in Niger, explicitly test the effect of transferring money using mobile phones versus manual cash payments. They find:

- For indicators on **health**, a significant improvement in dietary diversity (an extra half of a food group on average, representing a 16% increase) arising from the electronic payment, though no significant effect on child wasting is found.
- For indicators on **savings**, **production and investment**, compared to manual cash payments, mobile money transfers affected crop choices (increasing the range of crops grown compared to the group receiving transfers manually, particularly marginal cash crops), but they did not affect overall production or savings (98% of households withdrew the full amount all at once).
- For indicators on **empowerment**, there were no significant results on decision-making within the household.

Given the very limited evidence base, it is again difficult to draw any overall conclusions on the differential impacts of different payment modalities, though a few points are worth noting.

Interestingly, the two studies reviewed showed that the way transfers were made did not affect selected indicators for savings, which is where the conceptual framework most notably predicts a shift in behaviour to take place. To shed some light on this, it is useful to highlight some further evidence that emerged within the studies for this review. For example, one study that made it

Page 263

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹⁵¹ Quite a few programme evaluations collect data on different targeting approaches used in pilots, but these are used mostly to look at targeting effectiveness, while impacts are not disaggregated by targeting mechanism – e.g. HSNP in Kenya and the Child Grant in Zambia.

¹⁵² The review's focus on impacts on outcomes means that targeting performance as a measure of whether and how well a transfer reaches its intended target population or any considerations of the political dimensions around targeting were not considered.

to the final list and annotated bibliography, but did not report on the specific indicators being considered, found that the move towards electronic payments in Mexico's Oportunidades resulted in a number of changes in terms of informal savings arrangements (which were reduced), the frequency of receiving remittances (which increased) and the use of savings rather than loans or reducing consumption when coping with idiosyncratic shocks (Masino and Niño-Zarazúa, 2014). Once again stressing the role of implementation and messaging, the study of Kazakhstan's BOTA (which was paid through bank accounts) explained the lack of significant impacts on saving and borrowing as being the result of programme officers advising recipients that they should pick up all their money at one go (O'Brien et al., 2013).

It would be useful if further research on payment mechanisms therefore focused on a broad range of intended and unintended outcome areas. For example, it would be helpful to explore differences in terms of the 'social' effects that different payment mechanisms lead to, or the scope for information dissemination through different payment mechanisms.

12.5.6 Grievance mechanisms and programme governance

None of the studies reviewed analysed the differential impacts of having a functioning grievance mechanism for cash transfer programmes or policies, such as a grievance mechanism or system for social auditing. While this is perhaps understandable given the large number of other arguably more prominent design or implementation features, it does represent an important gap in our knowledge, given what the conceptual framework suggests about how such systems may influence outcomes.

12.5.7 Complementary interventions and supply-side services

Finally, as noted in Chapter 2, complementing basic transfers with additional activities, such as training, lump-sum grants, supply-side investments or links to other programmes and social services, could be expected to enhance the effectiveness of cash transfers. Eight studies provided insights into the role of complementary interventions and supply-side services.

- For indicators on **poverty**, evidence from five studies was extracted, showing little evidence of differential increases in expenditure arising from additional business training (Blattman et al., 2015), agricultural insurance (Karlan et al., 2014) or scholarships for vocational training or a lump-sum grant (Macours et al., 2012a; 2012b). Women who were randomly selected to participate with their husbands (or a relative in control of household finances) in Uganda's WINGS and received some training in communication between couples and problem solving did, however, see an unexpected significant decline in individual non-durable expenditure compared to women who participated alone (Green et al., 2015).
- For indicators on education, two studies, both referring to Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis programme, found little difference in child development outcomes (including cognitive development) and school attendance resulting from receiving both the basic transfer and either a scholarship for vocational training or additional lump-sum payment (Macours et al., 2009; Macours et al., 2012).
- For indicators on **health and nutrition**, one study found a significant and substantial impact in the halving of moderate acute malnutrition when combining cash transfers with nutritional supplements in Niger (compared to those that received a cash only equivalent transfer) (Langendorf et al., 2014).
- For indicators on **savings, investment and production**, the four studies from which evidence was extracted all report significant effects resulting from combining cash transfers with complementary interventions. These include additional supervision and training in Uganda's WINGS leading to higher savings, business start-up and survival (Blattman et al., 2015), as well as joint participation and training in communication between couples and problem solving. These, in turn, led to reductions in the proportion of women engaged in business, but an increase in the proportion who belonged to a savings group (Green et al., 2015). Combining conditional transfers in Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis with vocational training or a productive

Page 264

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

investment grant was also found to lead to a shift in income portfolios (Macours and Vakis, 2009). The combination of a cash grant with rainfall insurance in an experiment in Ghana also revealed a higher cumulative effect when both are provided together, compared to receiving the cash grant alone, particularly measuring the value of harvest (Karlan et al., 2014).

- For indicators on **employment**, no significant impact is found for a range of labour participation and intensity measures in Uganda's WINGS programme due to receiving additional group training or supervisory visits, compared to those that received the basic transfer, nor is there a significant effect on non-agricultural employment hours as a result of including another household member as a beneficiary and providing training in couples' communication and problem solving (Blattman et al., 2015; Green et al., 2015). By contrast, in Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis, those receiving a productive business grant in addition to a CCT saw a considerably higher significant effect on non-agricultural self-employment (Macours et al., 2012). A further study on the same programme finds variations in a number of child labour measures between the different groups, key among them being that children aged 8–15 from households that received the complementary business grant saw a significant increase in their weekly work hours in non-agricultural labour, while those from the basic cash transfer group and group receiving complementary vocational training saw no significant increase (Del Carpio, 2008).
- For indicators on **empowerment**, evidence from two studies was extracted (both for the WINGS programme in Uganda). In terms of business training, although it was associated with declines in physical and emotional abuse, this was not significant, though receipt of training was associated with a significant *increase* in controlling behaviour (Blattman et al., 2015). In terms of including women's husbands (or other household members in control of spending), no significant effect on physical or emotional abuse or women's decision-making power was found (Green et al., 2015).

Two broad conclusions may be draw from the evidence analysed. Firstly, supplementing cash transfers with appropriate training, grants or products can play a key role in strengthening intended impacts of a cash transfer programme. This is seen most clearly from the evidence on savings, investment and production, where, for example, combining transfers with agricultural insurance in Ghana led to a higher cumulative effect on the value of harvest obtained (Karlan et al., 2014), additional supervision and training in Uganda's WINGS led to higher savings, business start-up and survival (Blattman et al., 2015) and those receiving a productive business grant in addition to a CCT in Nicaragua saw a considerably higher significant effect on non-agricultural self-employment (Macours et al., 2012). It is also evident from the study included under health and nutrition, where supplementing cash with nutritional supplements led to a halving of moderate acute malnutrition (compared to receiving cash alone), notably because this intervention targeted households in a context where there were many constraints to achieving dietary diversity (Langendorf et al., 2014).

The second main finding is that it is important to be aware of potential unintended impacts arising from different complementary interventions. For example, from the evidence on empowerment it was found that receipt of training was associated with a significant *increase* in controlling behaviour (Blattman et al., 2015). Also in Nicaragua's Atención a Crisis, children aged 8–15 from households that received the complementary business grant saw a significant increase in their weekly work hours in non-agricultural labour, while those from the basic cash transfer group and group receiving complementary vocational training saw no significant increase (Del Carpio, 2008).

Overall then, some key questions facing policy-makers are whether the interventions achieve their intended outcomes and whether there will be any negative unintended impacts. A third important question, which is outside the scope of this review, is whether overall the complementary interventions were cost-effective in terms of the marginal added value that they helped to achieve.

As for areas for further research, it could be useful to explore the short and longer-term effects of different combinations of interventions alongside regular cash transfers, including testing different variations (e.g. more or less supervision, providing complementary services through the cash transfer programme or better coordination with existing interventions, etc.).

Page 265

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

12.6 Conclusion

12.6.1 Cash transfers can have wide-reaching impacts

One of the clearest results to emerge from this review is just how powerful a policy instrument cash transfers can be. Considering the impacts of cash transfers on individuals and households, the evidence highlights how extensive their benefits for beneficiaries can be, often reaching well beyond a programme's core objectives. For studies reporting statistically significant results, the vast majority are in the direction policy-makers intended to achieve (see section 12.2.1). This finding is particularly impressive given its consistency across the critical outcome areas – monetary poverty; education; health and nutrition; savings, investment and production; employment and empowerment – and the high number of indicators covered by this review.

Clear and significant impacts are especially well documented for intended first- and second-order outcomes, such as expenditure on food and other household items, access to schooling or use of health services. Interestingly, cash transfers are shown to have impacts on a number of first- and second-order outcomes *simultaneously*, for instance greater school attendance is consistently accompanied by a reduction in child labour. There is also robust evidence that cash transfers can affect first- and second-order outcomes that are generally not the immediate focus of many programmes, such as savings, productive investments and diversification of livelihood strategies. Positive impacts on investment in livestock and agricultural inputs are consistently found across CCTs in Latin America and UCTs in sub-Saharan Africa, suggesting that not only can cash transfers play a role in reducing poverty by redistributing resources to the poor, they can also foster their economic autonomy and self-sufficiency.

The review has highlighted how the evidence is less strong for changes in third-order outcomes – that is, medium- to long-term effects – linked to cash transfers. This holds particularly for human development outcomes, i.e. health and nutrition and education. For instance, while there is a strong evidence base linking cash transfer receipt to increases in school attendance (second-order outcome), there is less evidence showing that cash transfers are associated with an increase in test scores (third-order outcome). This may be partly due to the nature of such indicators, which may require longer time periods for impacts to become manifest, meaning the timing of some evaluations may simply not have captured such effects. Crucially, however, as pointed out by the conceptual framework, these particular outcomes are additionally dependent on a number of mediating factors, critically the quality of services.

The review also investigates the potential unintended effects of cash transfers. As outlined in the conceptual framework in Chapter 2, these can work against programme objectives and offset progress against indicators such as poverty reduction. In particular, the available evidence on two sets of effects related to first-order outcomes is worth highlighting here: (1) the potential for cash transfers to generate work disincentive effects, to be associated with a reduction in labour supply and work effort, and (2) the potential for cash transfers, especially those targeted at households with children, to be associated with an increase in fertility.

Interestingly, the evidence reviewed here does not support these concerns. With regard to work, on average, just under half of the studies looking at adult labour outcomes found a statistically significant effect, indicating that more than 50% of studies find that employment outcomes were unaffected by the transfer. Among those studies reporting a significant effect among adult workers, the majority find an *increase* in work participation. Where a reduction in work participation or work intensity is reported, this reflects a reduction in participation among the elderly or a reduction in casual work. With regard to fertility, the review finds that for five out of seven studies (with the exception of two studies on PRAF in Honduras, Stecklov et al., 2007) the cash transfer led to a statistically significant *decrease* in the number of pregnancies among beneficiaries, compared to those who did not receive the transfer.

Page 266

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

12.6.2 Understanding what drives impact: the role of design and implementation features

The evidence consolidated by the review shows that variations in design and implementation features influence programme impact, highlighting the available cash transfer design options and related trade-offs faced by policy-makers.

Among the cash transfer design and implementation features considered, those for which there is a comparatively strong evidence base include core design features, particularly transfer level and transfer frequency, timing and predictability. For some indicators, higher transfer levels appear to have led to what would generally be considered more positive impacts (see section 12.2.3), however for some outcome areas (notably empowerment), higher transfer levels led to unintended impact. The evidence also points to a number of potential improvements in outcomes arising from increased duration of exposure to cash transfers, including, for example, some improvements in health behaviours and child growth outcomes, but for other outcome areas the evidence is more mixed (e.g. employment).

The review also found that making transfers conditional on certain behaviours or actions can affect the outcomes relating to the conditions on which the transfers are conditioned and, in some cases, have larger effects than unconditional transfers. While it was not always possible to disentangle which aspect of conditions was driving results on the role of conditionality, there is evidence that perceptions of conditions and messaging of prescribed behaviours associated with transfer receipt can influence programme outcomes, contributing to progress in achieving intended outcomes.

Finally, the review found that supplementing cash transfers with appropriate training opportunities or other services can play a key role in strengthening intended impacts of a cash transfer programme. At the same time, as with other design features, it is advisable to take potential unintended effects into account. An example is provided by the increase in controlling behaviour associated with receipt of training (see section 12.3).

Other factors, including household characteristics and starting endowments also mediate programme impact and could also be carefully considered by policy-makers when debating programme objectives and design options. For some indicators, evidence suggests that the marginal impacts of cash transfers are generally higher for households and individuals that demonstrated the lowest levels of those indicators prior to receiving the intervention, as there is more space for improvement. For example, for education and productive asset accumulation, marginal effects are often highest where overall rates at baseline were lowest. This has implications for targeting design, whereby a programme aiming to have a strong impact may choose to target specific geographic areas or population categories based on these considerations (i.e. those with a low initial asset-base or areas where poverty rates are particularly high). In the case of education, for example, a programme may choose to target those who are least likely to attend school or those more likely to drop out. This generally includes children transitioning to secondary or tertiary schooling and children with disabilities.

On the other hand, some of the evidence highlighted in Chapter 9 suggests that relatively richer households with access to land and other assets, who also have higher levels of social and human capital and are not labour constrained, are better able to diversify their livelihoods, invest in further assets, and send their children to secondary school. Therefore, cash transfer programmes pursuing such objectives may choose to explicitly target 'less poor' households with the aim of achieving stronger effects on the outcomes of interest.

12.6.3 Impact trajectories can differ for women and girls

One of the key policy questions relating to cash transfers is whether they can play a role in addressing gender-based inequalities. This review considers two aspects of this question: (1) whether impacts differ for women and girls, compared to men and boys, and (2) whether impacts differ across households by sex of the household head or main beneficiary/recipient.

Page 267

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

In particular, compared with other outcomes examined in the review, there is a strong evidence base on the implications of cash transfers for women and girls in education, employment and empowerment. The studies reviewed show a clear improvement in education indicators for girls and women associated with cash transfers. On the whole, they highlight an increase in school attendance, with weaker but still positive effects for girls in cognitive development and test scores associated with cash transfer receipt.

With respect to the work indicators, the studies mostly report on a reduction in labour force participation and work intensity for girls. We find some differential effects for men and women for labour force participation and work intensity and one of the main emerging themes around gendered effects concerns changes in time allocation to different activities, with a number of studies finding an increase in time spent on domestic work by women linked to cash transfers. This is one example of the type of unintended effects of cash transfers uncovered by the review. A number of studies suggest that mothers may be substituting for their daughter's reduced work efforts when the latter start attending school more regularly. Such impacts can affect women's capacity to meet their multiple time-demands, especially when there are additional programme-imposed requirements (e.g. attending meetings or participating in complementary interventions and supply-side services). These trade-offs could be carefully assessed by policy-makers, especially in light of women's existing time-burdens, for instance in terms of unpaid care work.

In the outcome area of empowerment, the review found that while transfers tend to increase women's decision-making power and reduce physical abuse, in some cases these impacts were accompanied by increased non-physical abuse, such as emotional abuse or controlling behaviour. This suggests that when a transfer is specifically targeted at women, the design, implementation and M&E stages should include considerations of context-specific gender relations and the underlying drivers of gender-based inequalities. A transfer should be delivered in such a way that at worst it does not aggravate intra-household tensions and at best helps to tackle gender-specific barriers.

Theory suggests there are several reasons why variations in the impact of cash transfers by sex of the household head and sex of the main beneficiary/recipient might be expected. For example, women may have different spending preferences and priorities; higher constraints on their time, mobility and market participation; differing cultural roles and aptitudes; differing risk attitudes. They may also face a very different set of initial endowments compared to their male peers, for example in terms of human and social capital or entitlement to and ownership of assets (Quisumbing and Maluccio, 2000; Holmes and Jones, 2010).

Studies on the effects of cash transfers on food expenditure find that these do not differ for female-headed households or female recipients compared with their male couterparts. In terms of investment, a number of studies found greater impacts for female-headed households compared with male-headed households. This challenges the notion of female recipients focusing their transfers on their children, as earlier reviews suggest (e.g. Yoong et al., 2012). This finding may partly be explained by the fact that female-headed households often have lower initial levels of productive assets than those headed by men. This means that programme implementers could potentially expect to see greater proportionate improvements in productive investments when targeting female-headed households.

12.6.4 Gaps in the evidence base

Finally, having reviewed such a wide breadth of literature, the review permits the identification of a number of areas where the evidence is comparatively weak and/or in need of further research.

First, in terms of geographic coverage, it was demonstrated in Chapter 5 and again in section 12.1 that the evidence base of high quality studies in English is currently dominated by studies of programmes and policies in Latin America. As shown in Figure 5.4, except for studies focusing on the outcome area savings, investment and production, for all other outcome areas (and

Page 268

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

especially employment) the majority of studies were of cash transfers in Latin America.¹⁵³ While there were a good number of studies covering interventions in sub-Saharan Africa, the second most represented region after Latin America for all outcome areas, other regions are particularly underrepresented. Studies of cash transfers in South Asia, the Middle East and North Africa, East Asia and the Pacific, and Europe and Central Asia accounted for just 8% of the studies from which evidence was extracted in this review. Given that cash transfers are being implemented in these regions, some with high population coverage, the lower number of methodologically rigorous evaluations of cash transfers in these regions accessible to an English-reading audience represents a gap in the evidence base. Addressing it could open up additional information on a number of the knowledge gaps discussed below.

Second, in terms of interventions, it was shown earlier how the lion's share (55%) of programmes reviewed were CCTs, while 25% were UCTs, 9% a combination of both, 4% enterprise grants and the remaining 7% social pensions. While a sizeable body of evidence is therefore available on UCTs, given the dominance of CCT evaluations and the rapid growth of UCTs in recent years, it would be advisable, moving forward, to continue to build the evidence base on UCTs, especially for those outcome areas that continue to rely on evidence from CCTs to a large extent, e.g. health and nutrition.¹⁵⁴ Another example of a finding worthy of further exploration and explanation concerns the lack of evidence of a link between cash transfers and child labour in sub-Saharan Africa relative to studies from Latin America (see Chapter 10). A key question is to what extent this result reflects variations in policy design features and, specifically, the role of conditionality given the predominance of evidence based on CCTs for Latin America whereas the majority of programmes studied for sub-Saharan African countries are unconditional.

Also, given the growing interest in the use of enterprise grants for supporting productive inclusion, and the large number of social pensions that exist (e.g. HelpAge, 2016), there is scope for a greater focus on evaluations of these types of cash transfer interventions in order to better understand their effects on different types of beneficiary, and the role of programme design features.

Third, looking across the different outcome indicators, the review has revealed a number of areas and indicators for which there is now a comparatively strong evidence base and others for which the evidence remains relatively weak – these are identified by outcome area in the summary of the evidence in section 12.2.2. In particular, future evaluations could address the evidence gaps on higher order outcomes of ultimate policy interest, such as child growth measures and health status and educational performance, providing new and additional evidence on the longer-term impacts of cash transfers. Given what this review has shown about the role of programme design feaures and about the reasons why cash transfers alone may not translate into improvements in certain higher order outcomes, rigorous mixed-methods approaches, based on strong conceptual underpinnings, could help to ensure that special attention is paid to such factors.

Fourth, there is a need for more dissaggregated analysis by key dimensions of interest, particularly by individual or household characteristics for which high levels of inequality in the underlying indicators are observed. Greater emphasis could be given to providing sex-disaggregated results, particularly in some outcome areas. For example, just six of the 44 studies on monetary poverty provided any gendered analysis for the indicators covered. Furthermore, additional analysis on intra-household/individual effects of cash transfers, for example in terms of child nutritional outcomes, could help shed light on the extent to which cash transfers address specific vulnerabilities.

Lastly, the review of evidence on programme design and implementation features has demonstrated their importance in mediating cash transfer impacts. A review of the findings in section 12.3 highlighted a number of areas ripe for additional research. In particular, there are

Page 269

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

¹⁵³ While Figure 5.4 represents the studies from which evidence was extracted on the indicators reviewed, the indicators chosen included a broad spread of key indicators and, as such, this can be taken as a reasonable approximation of the geographic spread of the evidence base more broadly.

¹⁵⁴ An upcoming systematic review will, in fact, fill this gap for the health area, considering the impacts of UCTs on a number of health indicators (Pega et al., 2014)

gaps in terms of our understanding of the role of alternative targeting mechanisms, grievance mechanisms and programme governance and payment mechanisms in influencing outcomes. Given the increasing interest in, and acknowledgment of, the importance of these aspects of programme design, further research in these areas could be beneficial. Other programme design features for which this review found comparatively limited rigorous evidence concerns the role of frequency and timing of payments and type or nature of conditionality. Finally, despite the largest evidence base being around programme participation duration, further research on the longevity of impacts in the years after households stop receiving transfers would be of value.

Page 270

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

References

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Angelucci, M. (2008) 'Love on the rocks: domestic violence and alcohol abuse in rural Mexico', The B.E. *Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy* 8(1): Article 43.

Barrientos, A. (2015) Social assistance in developing countries, Cambridge University Press.

Harman, L., Bastagli, F. Hagen-Zanker, J., Sturge, G. and Barca, V. (2016) *Cash transfers: what does the evidence say? An annotated bibliography*. London: Overseas Development Institute.

Hanlon, J., Barrientos, A. and Hulme, D. (2010) *Just give money to the poor: the development revolution from the global South.* West Hartford, CT: Kumarian Press.

Honorati, M., Gentilini, U., Yemtsov, R.G. (2015) *The state of social safety nets* 2015. Washington, DC: World Bank Group. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2015/07/24741765/state-social-safety-nets-2015

ILO (2014) World Social Protection Report 2014/15, Geneva: International Labour Organisation.

Stecklov, G., Winters, P., Todd, J. and Regalia, F. (2006) *Demographic externalities from poverty programs in developing countries: experimental evidence from Latin America*. Working Paper 2006-1, Washington, DC: American University, Department of Economics.

Yoong, J., Rabinovich L. and Diepeveen, S. (2012) *The impact of economic resource transfers to women versus men: a systematic review*. Technical Report. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

CHAPTER 1

Barrientos, A. (2015) Social assistance in developing countries, Cambridge University Press.

Harman, L., Bastagli, F. Hagen-Zanker, J., Sturge, G. and Barca, V. (2016) *Cash transfers: what does the evidence say? An annotated bibliography.* London: Overseas Development Institute.

Hanlon, J., Barrientos, A. and Hulme, D. (2010) *Just give money to the poor: the development revolution from the global South.* West Hartford, CT: Kumarian Press.

Honorati, M., Gentilini, U., Yemtsov, R.G. (2015) *The state of social safety nets* 2015. Washington, DC: World Bank Group. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2015/07/24741765/state-social-safety-nets-2015

ILO (2014) World Social Protection Report 2014/15, Geneva: International Labour Organisation.

CHAPTER 2

Adato, M., de la Brière, B., Mindek, D. and Quisumbing, A. (2000) *The impact of PROGRESA on women's status and intrahousehold relations. Final report.* Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute.

Adelman, S., Gilligan, D. and Lehrer, K. (2008) *How Effective are Food for Education Programs?: A Critical Assessment of the Evidence from Developing Countries.* Volume 9 of Food policy review. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.

Alzúa, M.L., Cruces, G. and Ripani, L. (2010). *Welfare programs and labor supply in developing countries. Experimental evidence from Latin America*. Documento de Trabajo No. 95. Buenos Aires: Centro de Estudios Distributivos, Laborales y Sociales, Universidad Nacional de La Plata.

Page 271

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Asfaw, S., Daidone, S., Davis, B., Romeo A., Djebbari, H., Winters, P., Covarrubias, K. (2012) Analytical framework for evaluating the productive impact of cash transfer programmes on household behaviour. Methodological guidelines for the From Protection to Production (PtoP) project. Rome: FAO.

Attah, R., Barca, V., Kardan, A., MacAuslan, I., Merttens F., Pellerano, L. (2016) Can social protection affect psychosocial wellbeing and why does this matter? Lessons from cash transfers in Sub-Saharan Africa, *Journal of Development Studies* (published online May 2016).

Attanasio, O., Pellerano, L. and Polania, S. (2009), Building trust? Conditional cash transfers and social capital, *Fiscal Studies* 30(2): 139–177.

Babajanian, B. (2012) *Social protection and its contribution to social cohesion and state building*. Eschborn: Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH.

Baez, Javier E. & Camacho, Adriana, 2011. *Assessing the long-term effects of conditional cash transfers on human capital: evidence from Colombia*, Policy Research Working Paper Series 5681, Washington, D.C.: World Bank.

Baird, S., Ferreira, F. H. G., & Özler, B. (2013) *Relative Effectiveness of Conditional and Unconditional Cash Transfers for Schooling Outcomes in Developing Countries : A Systematic Review* (September). doi:10.4073/csr.2013.8

Baland, Jean-Marie, and James A. Robinson. 2000. Is Child Labor Inefficient? *Journal of Political Economy* 108 (4): 663–79.

Banerjee, A. V. (2005). The two poverties. In S. Dercon (Ed.), *Insurance against poverty* (pp. 59–75). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Barca V., Hurrell, A., MacAuslan, I., Visram, A. and Willis J. (2010). *Paying attention to detail: how to transfer cash in cash transfers*. Oxford Policy Management working paper.

Barca, V., Brook, S., Holland, J., Otulana, M., Pozarny, P. (2015). *Qualitative research and analyses of the economic impacts of cash transfer programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa - Synthesis Report.* PtoP project report, FAO, Rome - January 2015.

Barca, V., Pellerano, L., and Jakobsen, M. (forthcoming). *Enhancing demand for public services through social protection*. Paper 5, Flagship Report on Extractive Industries and Human Development. Oxford Policy Management.

Barrientos, A, 2010. *Social protection and poverty*, UNRISD Social Policy and Development Programme Paper Number 42 January 2010.

Barrientos, A. (2012). Social transfers and growth: What do we know? What do we need to find out? *World Development*, 40(1): 11-20.

Basu, Kaushik, and Pham Hoang Van. 1998. "The Economics of Child Labor." *American Economic Review* 88 (3): 412–27.

Bastagli, F. (2009) From social safety net to social policy? The role of conditional cash transfers in welfare state development in Latin America, IPC-IG Working Paper N. 60, Brasilia.

Bastagli, F. (2009a). Conditionality in Public Policy Targeted to the Poor: Promoting Resilience? *Social Policy and Society*, 8(1): 127-140.

Becker, G. (1965). A Theory of the Allocation of Time, *The Economic Journal*, (75)299: 493–517.

Berrang-Ford, L., Pearce, T., and Ford, J. D. (2015) Systematic review approaches for climate change adaptation research. *Regional Environmental Change*, 15(5), 755-769.

Black, R. E., Allen, L. H., Bhutta, Z. A., Caulfield, L. E., de Onis, M., Ezzati, M., . . . Rivera, J. (2008). Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. *The Lancet*, 371(9608), 243-260. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61690-0

Bloch, F. and Rao, V. (2002) Terror as a bargaining instrument: A case study of dowry violence in rural India. *The American Economic Review* 92 (4):1029-1043.

Page 272

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Bobonis, G.J., González-Brenes, M. and Castro, R. (2013) Public Transfers and Domestic Violence: The Roles of Private Information and Spousal Control. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 2013, 5(1): 179–205

Browne E. (2013). Theories of change for cash transfers. GSDRC Helpdesk Research Report.

Carter M. R. and Barrett S. (2006). The economics of poverty traps and persistent poverty: An asset-based approach. *The Journal of Development Studies*. 42(2).

Castro Pérez, R. and Casique, I. eds. (2008) *Violencia de Género en las Parejas Mexicanas*. *Análisis de Resultados de la Encuesta Nacional Sobre la Dinámica de las Relaciones en los Hogares*. 2006. Cuernavaca: CRIM-UNAM, Inmujeres.

Castro Pérez, R., Riquer, F. and Medina, M. E. (2006) *Violencia de género en las parejas mexicanas : Resultados de la Encuesta Nacional sobre la Dinámica de las Relaciones en los Hogares 2003*. Centro Regional de Investigaciones Multidisciplinarias/UNAM.

Coady, D., Grosh, M. & Hoddinott, J. (2004). *Targeting of transfers in developing countries: review of lessons and experience*. Washington DC: World Bank.

Daidone, S., Pellerano, L., Handa, S. & Davis, B. (forthcoming) Is graduation from social safety net support possible and why? Evidence from sub-Saharan Africa, *IDS-Bulletin*.

Deaton, A. (1997). *The analysis of household surveys: a microeconometric approach to development policy*. World Bank Publications.

Deaton A. (1992). Understanding Consumption. Clarendon Press

de Brauw, A., and J. Hoddinott. (2007). Must Conditional Cash Transfer Programs be Conditioned to be Effective? The Impact of Conditioning Transfers on School Enrolment in Mexico. IFPRI.

de Hoop J. and Rosati F. (2014). Cash Transfers and Child Labor. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 6826

de Janvry, A. and Sadoulet, E. (2006). Making Conditional Cash Transfer Programs More Efficient: Designing for Maximum Effect of the Conditionality. *World Bank Economic Review* 20 (1): 1–29

Dercon, S. (2003). *Risk and poverty: A selective review (or: can social protection reduce poverty?)*. Oxford: Department of Economics, Oxford University, mimeo.

Dercon S. (2005). Risk, poverty and vulnerability in Africa. *Journal of African Economics*, 4: 483–88.

Devereux, S. and K. Vincent (2010) Using Technology to Deliver Social Protection: Exploring Opportunities and Risks, *Development in Practice* 20(3): 367–79.

Department of Social Development, South African Social Security Agency and UNICEF (2012) The South African Child Support Grant Impact Assessment: Evidence from a survey of children, adolescents and their households. Pretoria: UNICEF South Africa.

DFID (2011). *Cash Transfers Literature Review*. London: Department for International Development.

DFID (2009). *Designing and Implementing Financially Inclusive Payment Arrangements for Social Transfer Programmes*. London: Department for International Development.

Doepke, M. and M. Tertilt. (2011). *Does Female Empowerment Promote Economic Development*? Unpublished paper. Northwestern University.

Eckel, C.C. and Grossman, P.J. (2008) Men, Women and Risk Aversion: Experimental Evidence. Handbook of Experimental Economics Results Vol. 1, Ch.113, pp. 1061-1073, C. Plott, V. Smith, eds., New York, Elsevier.

Ellis, F. (2008) 'We are all poor here': economic difference, social divisiveness and targeting cash transfers in sub-Saharan Africa. The Journal of Development Studies, 48(2): 201-214.

Ensor, T., & Cooper, S. (2004). Overcoming Barriers to Health Service Access and Influencing the Demand Side Through Purchasing. In W. Bank (Ed.). Washington, DC: World Bank.

Page 273

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Eswaran, M. and Malhotra, N. (2011) Domestic violence and women's autonomy in developing countries: theory and evidence. *Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue Canadienne d'Économique* 44 (4): 1222-1263.

Farmer, A. and Tiefenthaler, J. (1997) An economic analysis of domestic violence. *Review of Social Economy* 55: 337-358.

FAO (2015) *The State of Food and Agriculture Social protection and agriculture: breaking the cycle of rural poverty.* Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO).

Fiszbein A. and Schady N. (2009). Conditional Cash Transfers: Reducing Present and Future Poverty. Washington DC: The World Bank.

Forde I, Rasanathan K, Krech R. (2011). *Public health agencies and cash transfer programmes: making the case for greater involvement*. Social Determinants of Health Discussion Paper 4 (Policy & Practice). Geneva, WHO.

Foster, J., Greer, J., and Thorbecke, E. (1984). A class of decomposable poverty measures. Econometrica: *Journal of the Econometric Society*, 761-766.

Gaarder, M. M., Glassman, A., and Todd, J. E. (2010) Conditional cash transfers and health: unpacking the causal chain. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 2(1): 6-50.

Glassman, A., & Duran, D. (2013). *Impact of Conditional Cash Transfers on Maternal and Newborn Health* (No. 019). Washington, D.C.

Grosh, M., del Ninno, C., Tesliuo, E. and Ouerghi, A. (2008) For Protection and Promotion: The design and implementation of Safety Nets, World Bank, Washington DC

Gutierrez, J. P., Bautista, S., Gertler, P., Hernandez Avila, M., & Bertozzi, S. M. (2004). Impacto de Oportunidades en la morbilidad y el estado de salud de la poblacion beneficiana y en la utilizacion de los servicios de salud. Resultados de corto plazo en zonas urbanas y de mediano plazo en zonas rurales. In B. Hernandez Prado & M. Hernandez Avila (Eds.), Evaluacion externa de impacto del Programa Oportunidades. Curnavaca, Mexico.

Hagen-Zanker, J., and Himmelstine, C.L. (2013). What do we know about the impact of social protection programmes on the decision to migrate?. *Migration and Development*, 2(1): 117-131.

Hargreaves J.R., Morison, L.A., Kim, J.C., Bonell, C.P., Porter, J.D., et al. (2008) The association between school attendance, HIV infection and sexual behaviour among young people in rural South Africa. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 62(2): 113–9.

Hagen-Zanker, J. and Mallet, R. (2013) *How to do a rigorous, evidence-focused literature review in international development: A Guidance Note.* ODI Working Paper. London: Overseas Development Institute.

Hanlon, J., Barrientos, A. & Hulme, D. (2010). 'Chapter 8: Co-responsibility and Services: The Conditionality Dilemma'. In Hanlon, J., Barrientos, A. & Hulme, D. (eds.) *Just Give Money to the Poor: The Development Revolution from the Global South*. Sterling, VA: Kumarian Press.

Hoddinott, J. and Haddad, L. (1995) Does female income share influence household expenditures? Evidence from Côte D'Ivoire. Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 57(1): 77-96.

Holmes R. and Bhuvanendra D. (2013). Social protection and resilient food systems: The role of cash transfers. London: ODI.

Holmes R. and Jones N. (2010). *Rethinking social protection using a gender lens: Synthesis paper. London*, London: ODI.

Holmes R. and Jones N. (2013). *Gender and Social Protection in the Developing World: Beyond Mothers and Safety Nets.* Zed Books.

IEG (Independent Evaluation Group) (2011). *Evidence and Lessons Learned from Impact Evaluations on Social Safety Nets*. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Jones N., Samuels F., and Malachowska A. (2013). *Holding Cash Transfers to Account: beneficiary and community perspectives*. London: ODI.

Page 274

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Kabeer, N. (1999) Resources, Agency, Achievements: Reflections on the Measurement of Women's Empowerment. *Development and Change* 30(3): 435-464.

Kirsten, J. F., Dorward, A., Poulton, C. and Vink, N., eds. 2009. *Institutional Economics Perspectives on African Agricultural Development*. Washington D. C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.

Kumlin S. and Rothstein B. (2005). Making and breaking social capital. The impact of welfare state institutions. *Comparative Political Studies*, Vol. 38(4): 339-365.

Leroy, J. L., Ruel, M. and Verhofstadt, E. (2009) 'The impact of conditional cash transfer programmes on child nutrition: a review of evidence using a programme theory framework', *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 1(2): 103-129.

Lundberg O, Fritzell J, Åberg Yngwe M, Kölegård ML. (2010). The potential power of social policy programmes: income redistribution, economic resources and health. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, Volume 19, Issue Supplement s1, pages S2–S13, July 2010

MacAuslan, I., and Riemenscheider, N., (2011), 'Richer but Resented: What do cash transfers do to social relations?', *IDS Bulletin* 42(6): 60-66

McCord A. (2012). *Skills development as part of social protection programmes*. Background paper prepared for the Education for All Global Monitoring Report 2012

Mathers N. And Slater R. (2014). *Social protection and growth: Research synthesis*. DFAT publication.

Manley, J. Gitter, S. and Slavchevska, V. (2012). *How effective are cash transfer programmes at improving nutritional status? A rapid evidence assessment of programmes' effects on anthropometric outcomes*. EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London, London, UK.

Moffitt, R. A. (2002). Welfare programs and labour supply. In A. J. Auerbach, & M. Feldstein (Eds.), *Handbook of Public Economics*, Vol. 4 (pp. 2394–2430). London: Elsevier Science B.V.

Morduch, J. (1995). Income smoothing and consumption smoothing. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 9(3): 103-114.

OECD. (2011). Chapter 2. The labour market effects of social protection systems in emerging economies. In OECD Employment Outlook 2011. Paris: OECD.

OPM (2012). Review of and Recommendations for Grievance Mechanisms for Social Assistance Programmes, Indonesia. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Palermo, T. (2015). *Measuring Health and Well-being of Young People in the Transfer Project*, Innocenti Research Brief 2015-02.

Palermo, T., Handa, S., Peterman, A., Prencipe, L. and Seidenfeld, D. (2015) Unconditional social cash transfer in Africa does not increase fertility. Innocenti Working Paper –WP-2015-09.

Pellerano L. and Barca V. (2013) Does one size fit all? The conditions for conditionality in cash transfers. OPM Working Paper.

Pellerano L., Hurrell A., Kardan A., Barca V., Hove F., Beazley R., Modise B., MacAuslan I., Dodd S. and Crawford L. (2012). *CGP impact evaluation: targeting and baseline evaluation report*. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Pettifor, A.E., Levandowski, B.A., MacPhail, C., Padian, N.S., Cohen, M.S., et al. (2008) Keep them in school: the importance of education as a protective factor against HIV infection among young South African women. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 37(6): 1266–73.

Piachaud, David (2013) Social protection, redistribution and economic growth. *Development Southern Africa*, 30(1): 24-38.

Quisumbing, A. R. and Maluccio, J.A. (2000). *Intrahousehold allocation and gender relations*, IFPRI FCND discussion papers 84. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.

Page 275

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Reimers, F. DeShano da Silva C. and Trevino E. (2006). Where is the education in conditional cash transfers for education? UNESCO UIS Working Paper N.4.

Robinson, J. and Yeh, E. (2012) Risk-Coping through Sexual Networks: Evidence from Client Transfers in Kenya. *Journal of Human Resources*, vol. 47(1): 107-145.

Sabates-Wheeler, R. and Devereux, S. (2011). *Transforming livelihoods for resilient futures: How to facilitate graduation in social protection programmes*. FAC Working Paper No. 023, Future Agricultures Consortium, Brighton

Sacerdote, B. (2011). Peer Effects in Education: How Might They Work, How Big Are They and How Much Do We Know Thus Far? Handbook of the Economics of Education, Elsevier.

Schneider, K. & Gugerty, M.K. (2011). Agricultural productivity and poverty reduction: Linkages and pathways. *Libraries Test Journal* 1(1): 56-74.

Siegel, P.B., and Alwang J. (1999). *An Asset-Based Approach to Social Risk Management: A Conceptual Framework*. Social Protection Discussion Paper Series, the World Bank.

Singh, I., Squire, L. and Strauss, J. (1986): *Agricultural Household Models: Extensions, Applications, and Policy.* Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.

Slater, R. and Farrington, J. (2009) *Targeting of Social Transfer: A Review for DFID*. London: Overseas Development Institute.

Smith, G., MacAuslan, I., Butters, S. and Trommé, M. (2011), New technologies in cash transfer programming and humanitarian assistance, CaLP.

Tauchen, H.V., Witte, A.D. and Long, S.K. (1991) Domestic Violence: A Nonrandom Affair. *International Economic Review* 32 (2):491-511.

Tirivayi N., Knowles M. and Davis B. (2013). *The interaction between social protection and agriculture: A review of evidence*. FAO PtoP publication. Rome.

Vigorito A., Rius A., Pereira G., Leites M., Salas, G. (2013) What are the Effects of Direct Public Transfers on Social Solidarity? A Systematic Review. Protocol. The Campbell Collaboration.

Vyas, S. and Watts, C., 2009, How does economic empowerment affect women's risk of intimate partner violence in low and middle income countries? A systematic review of published evidence, *Journal of International Development*, 21(5): 577-602.

Wood, R.G. (2011). Is there a Role for Cash Transfers in Climate Change Adaptation? *IDS Bulletin* Special Issue: Social Protection for Social Justice. 42(6): 79-85.

World Bank (2015) World Development Report 2015: Mind, Society, and Behaviour. Washington, DC: World Bank.

World Bank (2012). *The Cash Dividend: The Rise of Cash Transfer Programs in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Wasgington DC: World Bank.

Yoong, J., Rabinovich L. and Diepeveen, S. (2012) *The impact of economic resource transfers to women versus men: a systematic review. Technical Report.* London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

CHAPTER 3

Baird, S., Ferreira, F. H. G., & Özler, B. (2013). *Relative Effectiveness of Conditional and Unconditional Cash Transfers for Schooling Outcomes in Developing Countries: A Systematic Review*, (September). doi:10.4073/csr.2013.8

Baird, S. J., Garfein, R. S., McIntosh, C. T., & Özler, B. (2012). Effect of a cash transfer programme for schooling on prevalence of HIV and herpes simplex type 2 in Malawi: a cluster randomised trial. *The Lancet*, 379(9823), 1320–1329.

Banks, L. M., Mearkle, R., Mactaggart, I., Walsham, M., Kuper, H., & Blanchet, K. (2016). Disability and social protection programmes in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Oxford Development Studies*.

Page 276

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Bastagli, F. (2010). Poverty, inequality and public cash transfers: lessons from Latin America. Retrieved from http://erd.eui.eu/media/BackgroundPapers/Bastagli.pdf

Berrang-Ford, L., Pearce, T., & Ford, J. D. (2015). Systematic review approaches for climate change adaptation research. *Regional Environmental Change*, 15(5): 755-769.

Brody, C., de Hoop, T., Vojtkova, M., Warnock, R., Dunbar, M., Murthy, P., Dworkin, S. (2015). *Economic Self-Help group Programs for Improving Women's Empowerment: A Systematic Review*. Campbell Systematic Reviews 2015:19

Carr-Hill, R., Rolleston, C., Pherali, T. and Schendel, R., (2015). *The effects of school-based decision making on educational outcomes in low and middle income contexts: a systematic review*, 3ie Grantee Final Review. London: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie)

Coady, D., Grosh, M., & Hoddinott, J. (2004). *Targeting of Transfers in Developing Countries* (p. 235). Washington, DC: The World Bank. doi:10.1596/0-8213-5769-7

Cooper, K., & Stewart, K. (2013). *Does money affect children's outcomes?* A Systematic Review. Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Dickson, K., & Bangpan, M. (2012). *Providing access to economic assets for girls and young women in low-and-lower middle-income countries: A systematic review of the evidence*. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

Diepeveen, S., & van Stolk, C. (2012). *How effective are CCTs in low-income settings? A review exploring factors impacting on programme outcomes in Honduras and Nicaragua*. Working Paper. RAND Europe. Cambridge, UK.

DFID (2011). *Cash Transfers Evidence Paper*. London: Department For International Development.

Fernald, L. C., Gertler, P., & Olaiz, G. (2004). Impacto de Mediano Plazo del Programa Oportunidades Sobre la Obesidad y Enfermedades Crónicas en Áreas Rurales. In B. Hernandez Prado & M. Hernandez Avila (Eds.), *Evaluacion externa de impacto del Programa Oportunidades* 2004. Mexico: INSP – CIESAS.

Fiszbein, A., & Schady, N. R. (2009). Conditional Cash Transfers. The World Bank. doi:10.1596/978-0-8213-7352-1

Gaarder, M., Glassman, A., & Todd, J. (2010). Conditional Cash Transfers and Health: Unpacking the Causal Chain, *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 2(1): 6–50.

Gilligan, D, Hoddinott, J and Taffesse, A. S. (2008). *The impact of Ethiopia's Productive Safety Net Programme and its linkages* (No. 00839). Washington, DC.

Gitter, Seth R., James Manley, and Brad Barham. 2011. *The Coffee Crisis, Early Childhood Development, and Conditional Cash Transfers*. Working Paper 245, Inter-American Development Bank, Washington, DC.

Glassman, A., & Duran, D. (2013). *Impact of Conditional Cash Transfers on Maternal and Newborn Health* (No. 019). Washington, DC.

Gutierrez, J. P., Bautista, S., Gertler, P., Hernandez Avila, M., & Bertozzi, S. M. (2004). Impacto de Oportunidades en la morbilidad y el estado de salud de la poblacion beneficiana y en la utilizacion de los servicios de salud. Resultados de corto plazo en zonas urbanas y de mediano plazo en zonas rurales. In B. Hernandez Prado & M. Hernandez Avila (Eds.), *Evaluacion externa de impacto del Programa Oportunidades*. Curnavaca, Mexico.

Hagen-Zanker, J. and Mallett, R. (2013) *How to do a rigorous, evidence-focused literature review in international development: a guidance note.* Working Paper. London: ODI

Hagen-Zanker, J., Duvendack, M., Mallett, R., Slater, R., Carpenter, S., & Trommé, M. (2012). *Making systematic reviews work for international development research* SLRC Briefing Paper (No. 1), London: SLRC.

Hagen-Zanker, J., Mccord, A., Holmes, R., Booker, F., and Molinari, E. (2011). Systematic Review of the Impact of Employment Guarantee Schemes and Cash Transfers on the Poor. ODI Systematic Review. London: Overseas Development Institute

Page 277

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

IEG. (2014). Social Safety Nets and Gender: Learning From Impact Evaluations and World Bank Projects. Washington, DC.

IEG. (2011). *Evidence and Lessons Learned from Impact Evaluations on Social Safety Nets.* Washington, DC.

Kabeer, N., Piza, C., & Taylor, L. (2012). What are the economic impacts of conditional cash transfer programmes ? A systematic review of the evidence. Technical report. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

Lagarde, M., Haines, A., & Palmer, N. (2009). *The impact of conditional cash transfers on health outcomes and use of health services in low and middle income countries*. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2009, Issue 4 Art. No.: CD008137.

Lawry, S., Samii, C., Hall, R., Leopold, A., Hornby, D., Mtero, F. (2014). *The impact of land property rights interventions on investment and agricultural productivity in developing countries: a systematic review*. Campbell Systematic Reviews 2014:1

Manley, J., Gitter, S., & Slavchevska, V. (2012). *How effective are cash transfer programmes at improving nutritional status? A rapid evidence assessment of programmes' effects on anthropometric outcomes.* London, UK: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

Morris, S. S., Olinto, P., Flores, R., Nilson, E. A. F., & Figueiró, A. C. (2004). Conditional Cash Transfers Are Associated with a Small Reduction in the Rate of Weight Gain of Preschool Children in Northeast Brazil. *Journal of Nutrition*, 134, 2336–41.

Petrosino, A., Morgan, C., Fronius, T. A., Tanner-Smith, E. E., & Boruch, R. F. (2013). *Interventions in developing nations for improving primary and secondary school enrolment of children: a systematic review*, 3ie grantee final review.

Petticrew, M., & Roberts, H. (2006). *Systematic Reviews in the Social Sciences*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.

Saavedra, J. E., & Garcia, S. (2012). Impacts of Conditional Cash Transfer Programs on Educational Outcomes in Developing Countries: a meta-analysis (No. WR-921-1). Santa Monica.

van der Knaap, L. M., Leeuw, F. L., Bogaerts, S., & Nijssen, L. T. J. (2008). Combining Campbell Standards and the Realist Evaluation Approach: The Best of Two Worlds? *American Journal of Evaluation*, 29(1), 48–57. doi:10.1177/1098214007313024

Waddington, H. and White, H. (2014). *Farmer field schools: From agricultural extension to adult education*. 3ie Systematic Review Summary 1. London: London International Inititative for Impact Evaluation (3ie).

Yoong, J., Rabinovich L. and Diepeveen, S. (2012) *The impact of economic resource transfers to women versus men: a systematic review*. Technical Report. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

CHAPTERS 4 and 5

Deeks, J. (2003) Evaluating non-randomised intervention studies. *Health technology assessment*, 7(27): 1–173.

DFID's (2014) Analysis of Qualitative Data in Evaluation and Research "How-to" Note. London: UK Department for International Development.

DFID (2013) Assessing the Strength of Evidence. How-to-Note. London: UK Department for International Development.

Hagen-Zanker, J. and Mallett, R. (2013) *How to do a rigorous, evidence-focused literature review in international development: a guidance note.* Working Paper. London: ODI.

Harman, L., Bastagli, F. Hagen-Zanker, J., Sturge, G. and Barca, V. (2016) *Cash transfers: what does the evidence say? An annotated bibliography.* London: Overseas Development Institute.

Page 278

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Higgins, Julian PT, Douglas G. Altman, Peter C. Gøtzsche, Peter Jüni, David Moher, Andrew D. Oxman, Jelena Savović, Kenneth F. Schulz, Laura Weeks, and Jonathan AC Sterne. "The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials." *Bmj* 343 (2011): d5928.

Hombrados, J. and Waddington, H. (2012) *Risk of bias assessment for experimental and quasi -experimental designs based on statistical methods*, Presentation, 3ie.

Noyes, J., Popay, J., Pearson, A., & Hannes, K. (2008). *Qualitative research and Cochrane reviews*. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions, 571.

O'Mara-Eves, A., Thomas, J., McNaught, J., Miwa, M., & Ananiadou, S. (2015). Using text mining for study identification in systematic reviews: a systematic review of current approaches. *Systematic Reviews*, 4(1), 5. http://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-4-5

Pieper, D., Mathes, T. and Eikermann, M. (2014), Impact of choice of quality appraisal tool for systematic reviews in overviews. *Journal of Evidence-Based Medicine*, 7: 72–78.

Spencer, L., Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., & Dillon, L. (2003). *Quality in qualitative evaluation: a framework for assessing research evidence*. London: Cabinet Office.

Voss, P. H., & Rehfuess, E. A. (2013). Quality appraisal in systematic reviews of public health interventions: an empirical study on the impact of choice of tool on meta-analysis. *Journal of epidemiology and community health*, 67(1), 98-104.

Waddington, H., White, H., Snilstveit, B., Garcia Hombrados, J., Vojtkova, M., Davies, P., Bhavsar, A., Eyers, J., Perez Koehlmoos, T., Petticrew, M., Valentine, J.C. and Tugwell, P. (2012) How to Do a Good Systematic Review of Effects in International Development: A Tool Kit. *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 4(3): 359-387.

Yoong J, Rabinovich L, Diepeveen S (2012) *The impact of economic resource transfers to women versus men: a systematic review. Technical report.* London: EPPI - Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London

CHAPTER 6

American Institutes for Research (2014) Zambia's Child Grant Program: 36-month impact report. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Angelucci, M., Attanasio, O. and Di Maro, V. (2012) 'The impact of Oportunidades on consumption, savings and transfers', *Fiscal Studies* 33(3): 305–334.

Attanasio, O. and Mesnard, A. (2005) *The impact of a conditional cash transfer programme on consumption in Colombia*. Report Summary Familias 02. London: Institute of Fiscal Studies, Centre for the Evaluation of Development Policies.

Attanasio, O., Battistin, E., Mesnard, A. (2012) *Food and cash transfers: evidence from Colombia*. IFS Working Paper W09/15. London: Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Bazzi, S.A. (2013) It's all in the timing: cash transfers and household expenditures in a developing country, in S.A. Bazzi, *Essays in Development Economics*. PhD. University of California, San Diego.

Blattman, C., Fiala, N, Martinez, S. (2013) The economic and social returns to cash transfers: evidence from a Ugandan aid program. Working Paper. Berkeley, CA: Center for Effective Global Action (CEGA), University of California.

Blattman, C., Green, E.P., Jamison, J., Lehmann, M. C. and Annan, J. (2014) *The returns to cash and microenterprise support among the ultra-poor: a field experiment*. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network (SSRN).

Braido, L.H.B., Olinto, P. and Perrone, H. (2012) Gender bias in intrahousehold allocation: evidence from an unintentional experiment, *Review of Economics and Statistics* 94(2): 552–565.

Buser, T., Oosterbeek, H., Plug, E., Ponce, J. and Rosero, J. (2014) *The impact of positive and negative income changes on the height and weight of young children*. IZA Discussion Paper 8130. Bonn: IZA.

Page 279

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Cheema, I., Farhat, M., Hunt, S., Javeed, S., Pellerano, L. and O'Leary, S. (2014) *Benazir Income Support Programme: first follow-up impact evaluation report.* Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Dabalen, A., Kilic, T. and Wane, W. (2008) *Social transfers, labour supply and poverty reduction: the case of Albania*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4783. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Davis, B., Handa, S., Ruiz Arranz, M., Stampini, M. and Winters, P. (2002) Conditionality and the impact of programme design on household welfare: comparing two diverse cash transfer programmes in rural Mexico. Working Paper 02-10. Rome: FAO.

Edmonds, E.V. and Schady, N. (2012) Poverty alleviation and child labor, *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 4(4): 100–124.

Ferré, C. and Sharif, I. (2014) *Can conditional cash transfers improve education and nutrition outcomes for poor children in Bangladesh? Evidence from a pilot project.* World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7077. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Galiani, S., Gertler, P. and Bando, R. (2014) *Non-contributory pensions*. IDB Working Paper Series 517. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

Gertler, P.J., Martinez, S.W., Rubio-Codina, M. (2012) Investing Cash Transfers to Raise Long-Term Living Standards, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4(1): 164–92.

Gilligan, D.O., Margolies, A., Quiñones, E. and Roy, S. (2013) *Impact evaluation of cash and food transfers at Early Childhood Development centres in Karamoja, Uganda*. Final impact report. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Gitter, S.R. and Caldes, N. (2010) *Crisis, food security, and conditional cash transfers in Nicaragua*. Working Paper Series 2010-07. Towson, MD: Towson University, Department of Economics.

Green, E.P., Blattman, C., Jamison, J. and Annan, J. (2015) Women's entrepreneurship and intimate partner violence: a cluster randomized trial of microenterprise assistance and partner participation in post-conflict Uganda, *Social Science & Medicine* 33: 177–188.

Handa, S., Peterman, A., Davis, B. and Stampini, M. (2009) Opening up Pandora's box: the effect of gender targeting and conditionality on household spending behavior in Mexico's Progresa Program, *World Development* 37(6): 1129–1142.

Handa, S., Park, M., Darko, R.O., Osei-Akoto, I., Davis, B. and Daidone, S. (2014) *Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty program impact evaluation*. Report. Chapel Hill, NC: Carolina Population Center, University of North Carolina.

Haushofer, J. and Shapiro, J. (2013) Household response to income changes: Evidence from an unconditional cash transfer program in Kenya. Princeton University (mimeo).

Hidrobo, M., Hoddinott, J., Peterman, A., Margolies, A. and Moreira, V. (2012a) *Cash, food or vouchers? Evidence from a randomized experiment in northern Ecuador.* Discussion Paper 1234. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Karlan, D., Osei, R., Osei-Akoto, I. and Udry, C. (2014) Agricultural decisions after relaxing credit and risk constraints, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 129(2): 597–652.

Macours, K., Schady, N. and Vakis, R. (2012) 'Cash transfers, behavioral changes, and cognitive development in early childhood', American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 4 (2): 247–273.

Macours, K., Premand, P. and Vakis, R. (2012) Transfers, diversification and household risk strategies: experimental evidence with lessons for climate change adaptation. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 6053. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Maluccio; J. A. (2010), The Impact of conditional cash transfers on consumption and investment in Nicaragua, *Journal of Development Studies*, 46(1): 14–38.

Maluccio, J.A. (2005) Coping with the "Coffee Crisis" in Central America: the role of the Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social. Food Consumption and Nutrition Division Discussion Paper 188. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Page 280

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Maluccio, J.A. and Flores, R. (2005) Impact evaluation of a conditional cash transfer program: the Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social. IFPRI Research Report 141. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Martinez, S. (2004) *Pensions, Poverty and Household Investments in Bolivia*. PhD Thesis. University of California Berkeley.

Merttens, F., Hurrell, A., Marzi, M., Attah, R., Farhat, M., Kardan, A. and MacAuslan, I. (2013) *Kenya hunger safety net programme monitoring and evaluation component impact evaluation final report:* 2009 to 2012. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Merttens, F., Pellerano, L., O'Leary, S., Sindou, E., Attah, R., Jones, E. and Martin, S. (2015) *Evaluation of the Uganda Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE) Programme: impact after one year of programme operations 2012–2013.* Evaluation Report. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management and Kampala: Department of Anthropology and Sociology, University of Makerere.

Miller, C.M., Tsoka, M. and Reichert, K. (2011) The impact of the Social Cash Transfer Scheme on food security in Malawi, *Food Policy* 36(2): 230–238.

O'Brien, C., Marzi, M., Pellerano, L. and Visram, A. (2013) *Kazakhstan: external evaluation of BOTA programmes: the impact of BOTA's conditional cash transfer (CCT) programme 2011–2012.* Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Pellerano, L., Jakobsen, M., Moratti, M., Bajgar, M. and Barca, V. (2014) *Lesotho Child Grants Programme impact evaluation*. Maseru: UNICEF-Lesotho, and Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Palermo, T., Alvia, C., Davis, B., Handa, S., Hurrel, A., Hussein, A., Musemb, D., Ochieng, S., Pearson, R., Pellerano, L., Visra, A. and Ward, P. (2012) The impact of the Kenya Cash Transfer Program for Orphans and Vulnerable Children on household spending, *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 4(1): 9–37.

Perova, E., and Vakis, R. (2012) Five years in Juntos: new evidence on the program's short and long-term impacts, *Economía* 35(69): 53–82.

Ribas, R.P., Soares, F.V., Teixeira, S.C., Silva, E. and Hirata, G. (2010) *Beyond cash: assessing externality and behaviour effects of non-experimental cash transfers*. Working Paper 65. Brasilia: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth.

Ruiz-Arranz, M., Davis, B., Stampini, M., Winters, P. and Handa, S. (2002) More calories or more diversity? An econometric evaluation of the impact of the PROGRESA and PROCAMPO transfer programmes on food security in rural Mexico. ESA Working Paper 02-09. Rome: FAO.

Seidenfeld, D. and Handa, S. (2011) *Results of the three year impact evaluation of Zambia's cash transfer pro(gram in Monze District. Final Report.* Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Skoufias, E., Unar, M. and González de Cossío, T. (2013) The poverty impacts of cash and in-kind transfers: experimental evidence from rural Mexico, *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 5(4): 401–429.

Skoufias, E. and Di Maro, V. (2008) Conditional cash transfers, adult work incentives, and poverty, *Journal of Development Studies* 44(7): 935–960.

Skoufias, E., Unar, M. and González Cossío, T. (2008) *The impacts of cash and in-kind transfers on consumption and labor supply: experimental evidence from rural Mexico*. Policy Research Working Paper 4778. Washington, DC: World Bank.

World Bank (2011) Program Keluarga Harapan: main findings from the impact evaluation of Indonesia's pilot household conditional cash transfer program. Jakarta: World Bank Office.

CHAPTER 7

American Institutes for Research (2014) Zambia's Child Grant Program: 36-month impact report. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Page 281

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Akresh, R., de Walque, D. and Kazianga, H. (2012) *Alternative cash transfer delivery mechanisms: impacts on routine preventative health clinic visits in Burkina Faso*. Working Paper 17785. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Akresh, R., de Walque, D., Kazianga, H., 2013. *Cash transfers and child schooling: evidence from a randomized evaluation of the role of conditionality*. Policy Research Working Paper Series 6340. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Baez, J.E. and Camacho, A. (2011) *Assessing the long-term effects of conditional cash transfers on human capital: evidence from Colombia*. Policy Research Working Paper 5681. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Baird, S., McIntosh, C., Özler, B. (2011) Cash or condition? Evidence from a cash transfer experiment, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 126(4): 1709–1753.

Baird, S., de Hoop, J. and Özler, B. (2013) Income shocks and adolescent mental health, *Journal of Human Resources* 48(2): 370–403.

Barrera-Osorio, F., Bertrand, M., Linden, L. and Perez-Calle, F. (2008) *Conditional cash transfers in education design features, peer and sibling effects evidence from a randomized experiment in Colombia.* Working Paper 13890. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Barrera-Osorio, F., Bertrand, M., Linden, L., and Perez-Calle, F. (2011) Improving the design of conditional transfer programs: evidence from a randomized education experiment in Colombia, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics.* 3(2): 167–195.

Behrman, J.R., Parker, S.W., and Todd, P.E. (2009) Medium-term impacts of the Oportunidades conditional cash-transfer program on rural youth in Mexico, in S. Klasen and F. Nowak-Lehmann (eds), *Poverty, Inequality, and Policy in Latin America*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Benhassine, N., Devoto, F., Duflo, E., Dupas, P. and Pouliquen, V. (2013) *Turning a shove into a nudge? A 'labeled cash transfer' for education*. Working Paper 19227. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Cheema, I., Farhat, M., Hunt, S., Javeed, S., Pellerano, L. and O'Leary, S. (2014) *Benazir Income Support Programme: first follow-up impact evaluation report.* Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Covarrubias, K., Davis, B. and Winters, P. (2012) From protection to production: productive impacts of the Malawi Social Cash Transfer scheme, *The Journal of Development Effectiveness* 4(1): 50–77.

Dammert, A.C. (2008) *Heterogeneous impacts of conditional cash transfers: evidence from Nicaragua*. IZA Discussion Paper 3653. Bonn: IZA.

de Groot, R., Handa S., Park, M., Osei Darko, R., Osei-Akoto I., Bhalla, G. and Ragno, L.P. (2015) *Heterogeneous impacts of an unconditional cash transfer programme on schooling: evidence from the Ghana LEAP Programme*. Innocenti Working Paper 2015–10. Florence: UNICEF Office of Research.

Esteva, A. A. (2012) The medium-term impact of a conditional cash transfer program on child physical and cognitive development: evidence from Progresa, in A.A. Esteva, *Essays in development and labor economics*. PhD. Harvard University.

Evans, D.K., Hauslade, S., Kosec, K. and Reese, N. (2014) Community-based conditional cash transfers in Tanzania: results from a randomized trial. World Bank Study. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Fernald, L.C.H., Gertler P.J. and Neufeld, L.M. (2008) Role of cash in conditional cash transfer programmes for child health, growth, and development: an analysis of Mexico's Oportunidades, *The Lancet* 374(9615): 828–837.

Fernald, L.C.H., Gertler P.J. and Neufeld, L.M. (2009) 10-year effect of Oportunidades, Mexico's conditional cash transfer programme, on child growth, cognition, language, and behaviour: a longitudinal follow-up study, *The Lancet* 374(9706): 1997–2005.

Page 282

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Fernald, L.C.H. and Hidrobo, M. (2011) Effect of Ecuador's cash transfer program (Bono de Desarrollo Humano) on child development in infants and toddlers: a randomized effectiveness trial, *Social Science & Medicine* 72(9): 1437–1446.

Ferré, C. and Sharif, I. (2014) *Can conditional cash transfers improve education and nutrition outcomes for poor children in Bangladesh? Evidence from a pilot project.* World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7077. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Filmer, D. and Schady, N. (2008) *Getting girls into school: evidence from a scholarship program in Cambodia.* Policy Research Working Paper 3910. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Filmer, D. and Schady, N. (2011) Does more cash in conditional cash transfer programs always lead to larger impacts on school attendance?, *Journal of Development Economics* 96(1): 150–157.

Gertler, P.J. and Fernald, L.C. (2004) *The medium term impact of Oportunidades on child development in rural areas. Final report.* Cuernavaca: Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública (mimeo).

Gilligan, D.O., Margolies, A., Quiñones, E. and Roy, S. (2013) *Impact evaluation of cash and food transfers at Early Childhood Development centres in Karamoja, Uganda*. Final impact report. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Handa, S., Park, M., Darko, R.O., Osei-Akoto, I., Davis, B. and Daidone, S. (2014) *Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty program impact evaluation. Report.* Chapel Hill, NC: Carolina Population Center, University of North Carolina.

Kassouf, A.L. and De Oliveira, P.R. (2012) *Impact evaluation of the Brazilian non-contributory pension program Benefício de Prestação Continuada (BPC) on family welfare*. Partnership for Economic Policy (PEP) Working Paper 2012-12. Nairobi: PEP.

Lincove, J.A. and Parker, A. (2015) The influence of conditional cash transfers on eligible children and their siblings, *Education Economics*, 24(4): 352-373.

Macours, K., Schady, N. and Vakis, R. (2012) Cash transfers, behavioral changes, and cognitive development in early childhood, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4 (2): 247–273.

Macours, K. and Vakis, R. (2009) *Changing households' investments and aspirations through social interactions: Evidence from a randomized transfer program*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 5137. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Maluccio, J.A. and Flores, R. (2005) Impact evaluation of a conditional cash transfer program: the Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social. IFPRI Research Report 141. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Manley, J., Fernald, L. and Gertler, P. (2015) Wealthy, healthy and wise: does money compensate for being born into difficult conditions? *Applied Economics Letters* 22(2): 121–126.

Merttens, F., Hurrell, A., Marzi, M., Attah, R., Farhat, M., Kardan, A. and MacAuslan, I. (2013) *Kenya hunger safety net programme monitoring and evaluation component impact evaluation final report:* 2009 to 2012. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Merttens, F., Pellerano, L., O'Leary, S., Sindou, E., Attah, R., Jones, E. and Martin, S. (2015) *Evaluation of the Uganda Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE) Programme: impact after one year of programme operations 2012–2013.* Evaluation Report. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management and Kampala: Department of Anthropology and Sociology, University of Makerere.

Miller, C. and Tsoka M. (2012) Cash transfers and children's education and labour among Malawi's poor, *Development Policy Review* 30(4): 499–522.

Mo, D., Zhang, L., Yi, H., Luo, R., Rozelle, S., Brinton, C. (2013) School dropouts and conditional cash transfers: evidence from a randomised controlled trial in rural China's junior high schools, *Journal of Development Studies* 49(2): 190–207.

Paxson, C. and Schady, N. (2010) Does money matter? The effects of cash transfers on child development in rural Ecuador, *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 59(1): 187–229.

Page 283

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Pellerano, L., Jakobsen, M., Moratti, M., Bajgar, M. and Barca, V. (2014) *Lesotho Child Grants Programme impact evaluation*. Maseru: UNICEF-Lesotho, and Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Perova, E., and Vakis, R. (2012) Five years in Juntos: new evidence on the program's short and long-term impacts, *Economía* 35(69): 53–82.

Seidenfeld, D. and Handa, S. (2011) *Results of the three year impact evaluation of Zambia's cash transfer program in Monze District. Final Report.* Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Skoufias, E. and Parker, S.W. (2001) Conditional cash transfers and their impact on child work and schooling: evidence from the PROGRESA programme in Mexico. IFPRI FCND Discussion Paper 123. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Tommasi D. (2015) *How cash transfers improve child development*. Université Libre de Bruxelles. ECARES Working Paper 2015-19. Brussels: Solvay Brussels School of Economics and Management, European Center for Advanced Research in Economics and Statistics.

Villa, J.M. (2014) *The length of exposure to antipoverty transfer programmes: what is the relevance for children's human capital formation?* Working Paper 206. Manchester: Brooks World Poverty Institute, University of Manchester.

World Bank (2011) *Program Keluarga Harapan: main findings from the impact evaluation of Indonesia's pilot household conditional cash transfer program.* Jakarta: World Bank Office.

CHAPTER 8

American Institutes for Research (2014) Zambia's Child Grant Program: 36-month impact report. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Aker, J.C., Boumnijel, R., McClelland, A. and Tierney, N. (2014) *Payment mechanisms and anti-poverty programs: evidence from a mobile money cash transfer experiment in Niger*. Tufts University (mimeo).

Aker, J. C., Boumnijel, R., McClelland, A., Tierney, N. (2011) *Zap it to me: the short-term impacts of a mobile cash transfer progra*m. CGD Working Paper 268. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development.

Akresh, R., de Walque, D. and Kazianga, H. (2012) *Alternative cash transfer delivery mechanisms: impacts on routine preventative health clinic visits in Burkina Faso*. Working Paper 17785. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Attanasio O., Gómez, L.C., Heredia, P. and Vera-Hernández, M. (2005) *The short-term impact of a conditional cash subsidy on child health and nutrition in Colombia. Report Summary: Familias 03.* London: Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Attanasio, O., Oppedisano, V. and Vera-Hernández, M. (2015) Should cash transfers be conditional? Conditionality, preventive care, and health outcomes, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 7(2): 35–52.

Barber S.L. and Gertler, P.J. (2008) The impact of Mexico's conditional cash transfer programme, Oportunidades, on birthweight, *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 13(11): 1405–1414.

Barber, S.L. and Gertler, P.J. (2010) Empowering women: how Mexico's conditional cash transfer programme raised prenatal care quality and birth weight, *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 2(1): 51–73.

Behrman, J.R. and Hoddinott, J. (2005) Programme evaluation with unobserved heterogeneity and selective implementation: the Mexican PROGRESA impact on child nutrition, *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics* 67(4): 547–569.

Behrman, J.R. and Parker, S.W. (2013) Is health of the aging improved by conditional cash transfer programs? Evidence from Mexico, *Demography* 50(4): 1363–1386.

Page 284

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Benedetti, F. and Ibarrarán, P. (2015) *Do education and health conditions matter in a large cash transfer? Evidence from a Honduran experiment*. Working Paper IDB-WP-577. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

Bhatia, J., Bhutta, Z. A. and Kalhan, S. C. (2013) *Maternal and Child Nutrition: The First* 1,000 *Days*. Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series 74. Basel: Karger.

Buser, T., Oosterbeek, H., Plug, E., Ponce, J. and Rosero, J. (2014) *The impact of positive and negative income changes on the height and weight of young children*. IZA Discussion Paper 8130. Bonn: IZA.

Cheema, I., Farhat, M., Hunt, S., Javeed, S., Pellerano, L. and O'Leary, S. (2014) *Benazir Income Support Programme: first follow-up impact evaluation report.* Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Davis, B., Handa, S., Ruiz Arranz, M., Stampini, M. and Winters, P. (2002) Conditionality and the impact of programme design on household welfare: comparing two diverse cash transfer programmes in rural Mexico. Working Paper 02-10. Rome: FAO.

de Brauw, A. and Peterman, A. (2011) Can conditional cash transfers improve maternal health and birth outcomes? Evidence from El Salvador's Comunidades Solidarias Rurales. Discussion Paper 1080. Washington, DC: IFPRI

Esteva, A. A. (2012) The medium-term impact of a conditional cash transfer program on child physical and cognitive development: evidence from Progresa, in A.A. Esteva, *Essays in development and labor economics*. PhD. Harvard University.

Evans, D.K., Hauslade, S., Kosec, K. and Reese, N. (2014) *Community-based conditional cash transfers in Tanzania: results from a randomized trial.* World Bank Study. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Fernald, L.C.H. and Hidrobo, M. (2011) Effect of Ecuador's cash transfer program (Bono de Desarrollo Humano) on child development in infants and toddlers: a randomized effectiveness trial, *Social Science & Medicine* 72(9): 1437–1446.

Fernald, L.C.H., Gertler P.J. and Neufeld, L.M. (2008) Role of cash in conditional cash transfer programmes for child health, growth, and development: an analysis of Mexico's Oportunidades, *The Lancet* 374(9615): 828–837.

Fernald, L.C.H., Gertler P.J. and Neufeld, L.M. (2009) 10-year effect of Oportunidades, Mexico's conditional cash transfer programme, on child growth, cognition, language, and behaviour: a longitudinal follow-up study, *The Lancet* 374(9706): 1997–2005.

Ferré, C. and Sharif, I. (2014) *Can conditional cash transfers improve education and nutrition outcomes for poor children in Bangladesh? Evidence from a pilot project.* World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7077. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Langendorf, C., Roederer, T., de Pee, S., Brown, D., Doyon, S., Mamaty, A-A., Touré, L.W., Manzo, M.L. and Grais, R.F. (2014) Preventing acute malnutrition among young children in crises: a prospective intervention study in Niger, *PloS Medicine* 11 (9): e1001714.

Gertler, P.J. (2004) Do conditional cash transfers improve child health? Evidence from PROGRESA's control randomized experiment, *American Economic Review* 94(2): 336–341.

Gilligan, D.O., Margolies, A., Quiñones, E. and Roy, S. (2013) Impact evaluation of cash and food transfers at Early Childhood Development centres in Karamoja, Uganda. Final impact report. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Gitter, S.R. and Caldes, N. (2010) *Crisis, food security, and conditional cash transfers in Nicaragua*. Working Paper Series 2010-07. Towson, MD: Towson University, Department of Economics.

Hidrobo, M., Hoddinott, J., Peterman, A., Margolies, A. and Moreira, V. (2012a) *Cash, food or vouchers? Evidence from a randomized experiment in northern Ecuador*. Discussion Paper 1234. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Page 285

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Hidrobo, M., Hoddinott, J., Margolies, A., Moreira, V., Peterman, A. (2012b) *Impact evaluation* of cash, food vouchers, and food transfers among Colombian refugees and poor Ecuadorians in Carchi and Sucumbios. Final Report Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Hoddinott, J. and Wiesmann, D. (2008) *The impact of conditional cash transfer programs on food consumption in Honduras, Mexico and Nicaragua*. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network (SSRN).

Levy, D. and Ohls, J. (2007) *Evaluation of Jamaica's PATH Program. Final Report.* Washington, DC: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Leroy, J.L., García-Guerra, A., García, R., Dominguez, C., Rivera, J. and Neufeld, L.M. (2008) The Oportunidades program increases the linear growth of children enrolled at young ages in urban Mexico, *Journal of Nutrition* 138(4): 793–798.

Manley, J., Fernald, L. and Gertler, P. (2015) Wealthy, healthy and wise: does money compensate for being born into difficult conditions? *Applied Economics Letters* 22(2): 121–126.

Macours, K., Schady, N. and Vakis, R. (2012) Cash transfers, behavioral changes, and cognitive development in early childhood, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4 (2): 247–273.

Maluccio, J.A. (2005) Coping with the "Coffee Crisis" in Central America: the role of the Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social. Food Consumption and Nutrition Division Discussion Paper 188. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Maluccio, J.A. and Flores, R. (2005) Impact evaluation of a conditional cash transfer program: the Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social. IFPRI Research Report 141. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Manley, J., Fernald, L. and Gertler, P. (2015) Wealthy, healthy and wise: does money compensate for being born into difficult conditions? *Applied Economics Letters* 22(2): 121–126.

Martorell, R. (1999). The nature of child malnutrition and its long-term implications. Food & Nutrition Bulletin, 20(3): 288–292.

Merttens, F., Hurrell, A., Marzi, M., Attah, R., Farhat, M., Kardan, A. and MacAuslan, I. (2013) *Kenya hunger safety net programme monitoring and evaluation component impact evaluation final report:* 2009 to 2012. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Miller, C.M., Tsoka, M. and Reichert, K. (2011) The impact of the Social Cash Transfer Scheme on food security in Malawi, *Food Policy* 36(2): 230–238.

Paxson, C. and Schady, N. (2010) Does money matter? The effects of cash transfers on child development in rural Ecuador, *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 59(1): 187–229.

Pellerano, L., Jakobsen, M., Moratti, M., Bajgar, M. and Barca, V. (2014) *Lesotho Child Grants Programme impact evaluation*. Maseru: UNICEF-Lesotho, and Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Perova, E., and Vakis, R. (2012) Five years in Juntos: new evidence on the program's short and long-term impacts, *Economía* 35(69): 53–82.

Ramirez-Silva, I., River, J.A., Leroy, J.L. and Neufeld, L.M. (2013) The Oportunidades Program's fortified food supplement, but not improvements in the home diet, increased the intake of key micronutrients in rural Mexican children aged 12–59 months, *Journal of Nutrition* 143(5): 656–663.

Ruiz-Arranz, M., Davis, B., Stampini, M., Winters, P. and Handa, S. (2002) More calories or more diversity? An econometric evaluation of the impact of the PROGRESA and PROCAMPO transfer programmes on food security in rural Mexico. ESA Working Paper 02-09. Rome: FAO.

Seidenfeld, D. and Handa, S. (2011) *Results of the three year impact evaluation of Zambia's cash transfer program in Monze District. Final Report.* Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

UNICEF. (2013). Improving Child Nutrition: The achievable imperative for global progress. New York: UNICEF.

Page 286

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

World Bank (2011) Program Keluarga Harapan: main findings from the impact evaluation of Indonesia's pilot household conditional cash transfer program. Jakarta: World Bank Office.

CHAPTER 9

American Institutes for Research (2014) Zambia's Child Grant Program: 36-month impact report. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Aker, J. C., Boumnijel, R., McClelland, A., Tierney, N. (2011) *Zap it to me: the short-term impacts of a mobile cash transfer program.* CGD Working Paper 268. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development.

Angelucci, M., Attanasio, O. and Di Maro, V. (2012) The impact of Oportunidades on consumption, savings and transfers, *Fiscal Studies* 33(3): 305–334.

Asfaw, S., Davis, B., Josh, D., Handa, S. and Winters, P. (2014) Cash transfer programme, productive activities and labour supply: evidence from a randomised experiment in Kenya, *Journal of Development Studies* 50(8); 1172–1196.

Beazley, R. and Farhat, M. (2016) *How can lump-sum cash transfers be designed to improve their productive potential?* Oxford Policy Management Working Paper. February 2016. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Benhassine, N., Devoto, F., Duflo, E., Dupas, P. and Pouliquen, V. (2013) *Turning a shove into a nudge? A 'labeled cash transfer' for education*. Working Paper 19227. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Blattman C., Fiala, N. and Martinez S. (2012) *Employment generation in rural Africa: Midterm results from an experimental evaluation of the Youth Opportunities Program in Northern Uganda*. Discussion Paper 1201. Berlin: DIW Berlin.

Blattman, C., Green, E.P., Jamison, J., Lehmann, M. C. and Annan, J. (2015) *The returns to cash and microenterprise support among the ultra-poor: a field experiment*. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network (SSRN).

Cheema, I., Farhat, M., Hunt, S., Javeed, S., Pellerano, L. and O'Leary, S. (2014) *Benazir Income Support Programme: first follow-up impact evaluation report.* Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Covarrubias, K., Davis, B. and Winters, P. (2012) From protection to production: productive impacts of the Malawi Social Cash Transfer scheme, *The Journal of Development Effectiveness* 4(1): 50–77.

Daidone, S., Davis, B., Dewbre, J. and Covarrubias, K. (2014a) *Lesotho's Child Grant Programme: 24-month impact report on productive activities and labour allocation. Lesotho country case study report.* Rome: FAO.

Daidone, S., Davis, B., Dewbre, J., González-Flores, M., Handa, S., Seidenfeld, D. and Tembo, G. (2014b) *Zambia's Child Grant Programme: 24-month impact report on productive activities and labour allocation*. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).

Davis, B., Handa, S., Ruiz Arranz, M., Stampini, M. and Winters, P. (2002) Conditionality and the impact of programme design on household welfare: comparing two diverse cash transfer programmes in rural Mexico. Working Paper 02-10. Rome: FAO.

Evans, D.K., Hauslade, S., Kosec, K. and Reese, N. (2014) *Community-based conditional cash transfers in Tanzania: results from a randomized trial*. World Bank Study. Washington, DC: World Bank.

FAO (2015) *The State of Food and Agriculture Social protection and agriculture: breaking the cycle of rural poverty.* Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO).

Gertler, P.J., Martinez, S.W., Rubio-Codina, M. (2012) Investing Cash Transfers to Raise Long-Term Living Standards, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4(1): 164–92.

Page 287

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Green, E.P., Blattman, C., Jamison, J. and Annan, J. (2015) Women's entrepreneurship and intimate partner violence: a cluster randomized trial of microenterprise assistance and partner participation in post-conflict Uganda, *Social Science & Medicine* 33: 177–188.

Handa, S., Park, M., Darko, R.O., Osei-Akoto, I., Davis, B. and Daidone, S. (2014) *Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty program impact evaluation. Report.* Chapel Hill, NC: Carolina Population Center, University of North Carolina.

Haushofer, J. and Shapiro, J. (2013) Household response to income changes: Evidence from an unconditional cash transfer program in Kenya. Princeton University (mimeo).

Karlan, D., Osei, R., Osei-Akoto, I. and Udry, C. (2014) Agricultural decisions after relaxing credit and risk constraints, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 129(2): 597–652.

Macours, K. and Vakis, R. (2009) *Changing households' investments and aspirations through social interactions: Evidence from a randomized transfer program*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 5137. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Maluccio; John A. (2010), The Impact of conditional cash transfers on consumption and investment in Nicaragua, *Journal of Development Studies*, 46(1): 14–38.

Martinez, S. (2004) *Pensions, poverty and household investments in Bolivia*. University of California at Berkeley (mimeo).

Merttens, F., Hurrell, A., Marzi, M., Attah, R., Farhat, M., Kardan, A. and MacAuslan, I. (2013) *Kenya hunger safety net programme monitoring and evaluation component impact evaluation final report:* 2009 to 2012. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Merttens, F., Pellerano, L., O'Leary, S., Sindou, E., Attah, R., Jones, E. and Martin, S. (2015) *Evaluation of the Uganda Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE) Programme: impact after one year of programme operations 2012–2013.* Evaluation Report. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management and Kampala: Department of Anthropology and Sociology, University of Makerere.

Masino, S. and Niño-Zarazúa, M. (2014) Social service delivery and access to financial innovation: the impact of Oportunidades' electronic payment system in Mexico. WIDER Working Paper 2014/034. Helsinki: UNU-WIDER.

O'Brien, C., Marzi, M., Pellerano, L. and Visram, A. (2013) *Kazakhstan: external evaluation of BOTA programmes: the impact of BOTA's conditional cash transfer (CCT) programme 2011–2012*. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Pellerano, L., Jakobsen, M., Moratti, M., Bajgar, M. and Barca, V. (2014) *Lesotho Child Grants Programme impact evaluation*. Maseru: UNICEF-Lesotho, and Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Seidenfeld, D. and Handa, S. (2011) *Results of the three year impact evaluation of Zambia's cash transfer pro(gram in Monze District. Final Report.* Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Svarch, M. (2009) *Do conditional cash transfers affect credit market outcomes: evidence from households in Mexico*. MSc. The Ohio State University.

Todd, J.E., Winters, P. and Hertz, T. (2010) Conditional cash transfers and agricultural production: lessons from the Oportunidades experience in Mexico, *Journal of Development Studies* 46(1): 39–67.

CHAPTER 10

American Institutes for Research (2014) Zambia's Child Grant Program: 36-month impact report. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Alam, A. and Baez, J., 2011. *Does cash for school influence young women's behavior in the longer term? Evidence from Pakistan*. Policy Research Working Paper 5669. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Page 288

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion
Alzúa, M.L., Cruces, G. and Ripani, L. (2013) Welfare programs and labor supply in developing countries: experimental evidence from Latin America, *Journal of Population Economics* 26(4): 1255–1284.

Angelucci, M. (2004) Aid and migration: an analysis of the impact of PROGRESA on the timing and size of labour migration. *IZA Discussion Paper* 1187. Bonn: IZA.

Ardington, C., Case, A. and Hosegood, V. (2009) Labor supply responses to large social transfers: longitudinal evidence from South Africa, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 1(1): 22–48.

Asfaw, S., Davis, B., Josh, D., Handa, S. and Winters, P. (2014) Cash transfer programme, productive activities and labour supply: evidence from a randomised experiment in Kenya, *Journal of Development Studies* 50(8): 1172–1196.

Attanasio, O., Fitzsimons, E., Gomez, A., Gutiérrez, M.I., Meghir, C. and Mesnard, A. (2010) Children's schooling and work in the presence of a conditional cash transfer program in rural Colombia, *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 58(2): 181–210.

Canavire-Bacarreza, G. and Vásquez-Ruiz, H. (2013) *Labour supply effects of conditional transfers: analyzing the Dominican Republic's Solidarity Program*. Documentos de trabajo. Economía y Finanzas CIEF. No. 13–8. Medellín: Universidad EAFIT.

Barrera-Osorio, F., Bertrand, M., Linden, L. and Perez-Calle, F. (2008) Conditional cash transfers in education design features, peer and sibling effects evidence from a randomized experiment in Colombia. Working Paper 13890. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Barrera-Osorio, F., Bertrand, M., Linden, L., and Perez-Calle, F. (2011) Improving the design of conditional transfer programs: evidence from a randomized education experiment in Colombia, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics.* 3(2): 167–195.

Barrientos, A. and Villa J.M. (2013) *Anti-poverty transfers and labour participation effects*. Working Paper 185. Manchester: Brooks World Poverty Institute, University of Manchester.

Bazzi, S., Sumarto, S. and Suryahadi, A. (2012) *Evaluating Indonesia's unconditional cash transfer programme*, 2005–2006. *Grantee Final Report*. New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie).

Behrman, J.R. and Parker, S.W. (2013) Is health of the aging improved by conditional cash transfer programs? Evidence from Mexico, *Demography* 50(4): 1363–1386.

Behrman, J.R., Parker, S.W., and Todd, P.E. (2009) Medium-term impacts of the Oportunidades conditional cash-transfer program on rural youth in Mexico, in S. Klasen and F. Nowak-Lehmann (eds), *Poverty, Inequality, and Policy in Latin America*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Behrman, J.R., Parker, S.W. and Todd, P.E. (2011) Do conditional cash transfers for schooling generate lasting benefits? A five-year follow-up of PROGRESA/Oportunidades, *Journal of Human Resources* 46(1): 93–122.

Behrman, J.R., Gallardo-García, J., Parker, S.W., Todd P.E., Vélez-Grajales, V. (2012) Are conditional cash transfers effective in urban areas? Evidence from Mexico, *Education Economics* 20(3): 233–259.

Benedetti, F. and Ibarrarán, P. (2015) *Do education and health conditions matter in a large cash transfer? Evidence from a Honduran experiment*. Working Paper IDB-WP-577. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

Benhassine, N., Devoto, F., Duflo, E., Dupas, P. and Pouliquen, V. (2013) *Turning a shove into a nudge? A 'labeled cash transfer' for education*. Working Paper 19227. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Bertrand, M., Mullainathan, S. and Miller, D. (2003) Public policy and extended families: evidence from pensions in South Africa, *World Bank Economic Review*, 17(1): 27–50.

Blattman C., Fiala, N. and Martinez S. (2012) *Employment generation in rural Africa: Midterm results from an experimental evaluation of the Youth Opportunities Program in Northern Uganda*. Discussion Paper 1201. Berlin: DIW Berlin.

Page 289

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Blattman, C., Fiala, N. and Martinez, S. (2013) *The economic and social returns to cash transfers: evidence from a Ugandan aid program.* Working Paper. Berkeley, CA: Center for Effective Global Action (CEGA), University of California.

Blattman, C., Green, E.P., Jamison, J., Lehmann, M. C. and Annan, J. (2015) *The returns to cash and microenterprise support among the ultra-poor: a field experiment*. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network (SSRN).

Buser, T., Oosterbeek, H., Plug, E., Ponce, J. and Rosero, J. (2014) *The impact of positive and negative income changes on the height and weight of young children*. IZA Discussion Paper 8130. Bonn: IZA.

Bustelo, M. (2011) Who else benefits from conditional cash transfer programs? Indirect effects on siblings in Nicaragua, in M. Bustelo, *Three essays on investments in children's human capital*. PhD. Urbana-Champaign: University of Illinois.

Cheema, I., Farhat, M., Hunt, S., Javeed, S., Pellerano, L. and O'Leary, S. (2014) *Benazir Income Support Programme: first follow-up impact evaluation report*. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Covarrubias, K., Davis, B. and Winters, P. (2012) From protection to production: productive impacts of the Malawi Social Cash Transfer scheme, *The Journal of Development Effectiveness* 4(1): 50–77.

Dabalen, A., Kilic, T. and Wane, W. (2008) Social transfers, labour supply and poverty reduction: *the case of Albania*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4783. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Daidone, S., Davis, B., Dewbre, J. and Covarrubias, K. (2014a) *Lesotho's Child Grant Programme: 24-month impact report on productive activities and labour allocation. Lesotho country case study report.* Rome: FAO.

Daidone, S., Davis, B., Dewbre, J., González-Flores, M., Handa, S., Seidenfeld, D. and Tembo, G. (2014b) *Zambia's Child Grant Programme: 24-month impact report on productive activities and labour allocation*. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).

Dammert, A.C. (2008) *Heterogeneous impacts of conditional cash transfers: evidence from Nicaragua*. IZA Discussion Paper 3653. Bonn: IZA.

De Hollanda Barbosa, A.L.N. and Corseuil, C.H.L. (2014) Conditional cash transfer and informality in Brazil, *IZA Journal of Labour & Development* 3(37): 1–18.

De Silva, I. and Sumarto, S. (2015) How do educational transfers affect child labour supply and expenditures? Evidence from Indonesia of impact and flypaper effects, *Oxford Development Studies* 43(4): 483–507.

Del Carpio, X.V. (2008) Does child labor always decrease with income? An evaluation in the context of a development program in Nicaragua. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4694. Washington, DC: World Bank

Del Carpio, X.V. and Loayza N.V. (2012) *The impact of wealth on the amount and quality of child labor*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 5959. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Del Carpio, X.V. and Macours, K. (2009) *Leveling the intra-household playing field: compensation and specialization in child labor allocation*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series 4822. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Edmonds, E.V and Schady, N. (2008) *Poverty alleviation and child labor*. Policy Research Working Paper. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Ferreira, F.H.G., Filmer, D. and Schady, N. (2009) Own and sibling effects of conditional cash transfer programs: theory and evidence from Cambodia. Policy Research Working Paper 5001, Impact Evaluation Series 36. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Ferro, A.R. and Nicollela, A.C. (2007) *The impact of conditional cash transfer programmes on household work decisions in Brazil*. Paper presented at the IZA/World Bank Conference on Employment and Development.

Page 290

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Fitzsimons, E. and Mesnard, A., (2014) Can conditional cash transfers compensate for a father's absence?, *World Bank Economic Review* 28(3): 467–491.

Galiani, S. and McEwan P.J. (2013) The heterogeneous impact of conditional cash transfers, *Journal of Public Economics* 103: 85–96.

Galiani, S., Gertler, P. and Bando, R. (2014) *Non-contributory pensions*. IDB Working Paper Series 517. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

Gee, K.A. (2010) Reducing child labour through conditional cash transfers: evidence from Nicaragua's Red de Protección Social, *Development Policy Review* 28(6): 711–732.

Green, E.P., Blattman, C., Jamison, J. and Annan, J. (2015) Women's entrepreneurship and intimate partner violence: a cluster randomized trial of microenterprise assistance and partner participation in post-conflict Uganda, *Social Science & Medicine* 33: 177–188.

Handa, S., Park, M., Darko, R.O., Osei-Akoto, I., Davis, B. and Daidone, S. (2014) *Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty program impact evaluation. Report.* Chapel Hill, NC: Carolina Population Center, University of North Carolina.

Karlan, D., Osei, R., Osei-Akoto, I. and Udry, C. (2014) Agricultural decisions after relaxing credit and risk constraints, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 129(2): 597–652.

Kassouf, A.L. and De Oliveira, P.R. (2012) *Impact evaluation of the Brazilian non-contributory pension program Benefício de Prestação Continuada (BPC) on family welfare*. Partnership for Economic Policy (PEP) Working Paper 2012-12. Nairobi: PEP.

Lincove, J.A. and Parker, A. (2015) 'The influence of conditional cash transfers on eligible children and their siblings', Education Economics.

Macours, K., Schady, N. and Vakis, R. (2012) Cash transfers, behavioral changes, and cognitive development in early childhood, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4 (2): 247–273.

Maluccio, J. (2003) *Education and child labor: experimental evidence from a Nicaraguan conditional cash transfer program.* Study prepared by IFPRI (mimeo).

Maluccio, J.A. (2005) Coping with the "Coffee Crisis" in Central America: the role of the Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social. Food Consumption and Nutrition Division Discussion Paper 188. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Maluccio, J.A. and Flores, R. (2005) Impact evaluation of a conditional cash transfer program: the Nicaraguan Red de Protección Social. IFPRI Research Report 141. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Merttens, F., Hurrell, A., Marzi, M., Attah, R., Farhat, M., Kardan, A. and MacAuslan, I. (2013) *Kenya hunger safety net programme monitoring and evaluation component impact evaluation final report:* 2009 to 2012. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Merttens, F., Pellerano, L., O'Leary, S., Sindou, E., Attah, R., Jones, E. and Martin, S. (2015) *Evaluation of the Uganda Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE) Programme: impact after one year of programme operations 2012–2013. Evaluation Report.* Oxford: Oxford Policy Management and Kampala: Department of Anthropology and Sociology, University of Makerere.

Miller, C. and Tsoka M. (2012) Cash transfers and children's education and labour among Malawi's poor, *Development Policy Review* 30(4): 499–522.

Mochiah, E.E.A., Osei, R.D. and Akoto, I.O. (2014) *The impact of conditional cash transfer programmes on household work decisions in Ghana*. WIDER Working Paper, 2014/116. Helsinki: UNU-WIDER.

Novella, R., Ripani, L., Cruces, G. and Alzúa, M.L. (2012) *Conditional cash transfers*, *female bargaining power and parental labour supply*. IDB Working Paper Series IDB-WP-368. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

O'Brien, C., Marzi, M., Pellerano, L. and Visram, A. (2013) *Kazakhstan: external evaluation of BOTA programmes: the impact of BOTA's conditional cash transfer (CCT) programme 2011–2012*. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Page 291

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Ospina, M. (2010) The indirect effects of conditional cash transfer programs: an empirical analysis of Familias En Acción. PhD. Georgia State University.

Parker, S.W. and Skoufias, E. (2000) *The impact of PROGRESA on work, leisure and time allocation*. IFPRI Final Report Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Pellerano, L., Jakobsen, M., Moratti, M., Bajgar, M. and Barca, V. (2014) *Lesotho Child Grants Programme impact evaluation*. Maseru: UNICEF-Lesotho, and Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Perova, E., and Vakis, R. (2012) Five years in Juntos: new evidence on the program's short and long-term impacts, *Economía* 35(69): 53–82.

Rubio-Codina, M. (2009) Intra-household time allocation in rural Mexico: evidence from a randomized experiment, in R.K.Q. Akee, E.V. Edmonds and K. Tatsiramos (eds), *Child labor and the transition between school and work*. Bingley: Emerald.

Sadoulet, E., Finan, F., de Janvry, A. and Vakis, R. (2004) *Can conditional cash transfer programs improve social risk management? Lessons for education and child labor outcomes.* World Bank Discussion Paper SP 0420. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Schady, N., Araujo, M.C. (2006) *Cash transfers, conditions, school enrollment, and child work: evidence from a randomized experiment in Ecuador.* Policy Research Working Paper Series 3930. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Schultz P. (2004) School subsidies for the poor: evaluating the Mexican Progresa poverty program, *Journal of Development Economics* 74(1): 199–250.

Siaplay, M. (2012) 'The impact of social cash transfers on young adults' labor force participation, schooling, and sexual behaviors in South Africa'. PhD. Oklahoma State University.

Skoufias, E. and Di Maro, V. (2008) Conditional cash transfers, adult work incentives, and poverty, *Journal of Development Studies* 44(7): 935–960.

Skoufias, E. and Parker, S.W. (2001) Conditional cash transfers and their impact on child work and schooling: evidence from the PROGRESA programme in Mexico. IFPRI FCND Discussion Paper 123. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Skoufias, E., Unar, M. and González de Cossío, T. (2013) The poverty impacts of cash and in-kind transfers: experimental evidence from rural Mexico, *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 5(4): 401–429.

Stecklov, G., Winters, P., Stampini, M. and Davis, B. (2005) Do conditional cash transfers influence migration? A study using experimental data from the Mexican PROGRESA programme, *Demography*, 42(4): 769–790.

Teixeira, C.G. (2010) A heterogeneity analysis of the Bolsa Família programme effect on men and women's work supply. IPC-IG Working Paper 61. Brasilia: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth.

Winters, P., Stecklov, G. and Todd, J. (2009) Household structure and Short-Run economic change in Nicaragua, *Journal of Marriage and Family* 71(3): 708–726.

World Bank (2011) *Program Keluarga Harapan: main findings from the impact evaluation of Indonesia's pilot household conditional cash transfer program.* Jakarta: World Bank Office.

CHAPTER 11

Adato, M., de la Brière, B., Mindek, D. and Quisumbing, A. (2000) *The impact of PROGRESA on women's status and intrahousehold relations. Final Report.* Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI).

Ahmed, A., Adato, M., Kudat, A., Gilligan, D., Roopnaraine, T. and Colasan, R. (2007) *Impact evaluation of the conditional cash transfer program in Turkey. Final Report.* Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Page 292

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Aker, J.C., Boumnijel, R., McClelland, A. and Tierney, N. (2014) *Payment mechanisms and anti-poverty programs: evidence from a mobile money cash transfer experiment in Niger*. Tufts University (mimeo).

Aker, J. C., Boumnijel, R., McClelland, A., Tierney, N. (2011) *Zap it to me: the short-term impacts of a mobile cash transfer program.* CGD Working Paper 268. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development.

Alam, A. and Baez, J., 2011. *Does cash for school influence young women's behavior in the longer term? Evidence from Pakistan*. Policy Research Working Paper 5669. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Angelucci, M. (2008) Love on the rocks: domestic violence and alcohol abuse in rural Mexico, *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy* 8(1): Article 43.

Baird, S., Chirwa, E., McIntosh, C., Özler, B. (2010) The short-term impacts of a schooling conditional cash transfer program on the sexual behavior of young women, *Health Economics* 19(S1): 55–68.

Baird, S., McIntosh, C., Özler, B. (2011) Cash or condition? Evidence from a cash transfer experiment, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 126(4): 1709–1753.

Baird, S.J., Garfein, R.S., McIntosh, C.T., Özler, B. (2012) Effect of a cash transfer programme for schooling on prevalence of HIV and herpes simplex type 2 in Malawi: a cluster-randomised trial, *The Lancet* 379(9823): 1320–1329.

Behrman, J.R., Parker, S.W., Todd, P.E. (2005) *Long-term impacts of the Oportunidades conditional cash transfer program on rural youth in Mexico*. Discussion Paper 122. Göttingen: Ibero-America Institute for Economic Research, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen.

Blattman, C., Green, E.P., Jamison, J., Lehmann, M. C. and Annan, J. (2015) *The returns to cash and microenterprise support among the ultra-poor: a field experiment*. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network (SSRN).

Bloch, F., and V. Rao. 2002. Terror as a bargaining instrument: A case study of dowry violence in rural India. *The American Economic Review* 92 (4): 1029-1043.

Bobonis, G., Castro, R., González-Brenes, M. (2013) Public transfers and domestic violence: the roles of private information and spousal control, *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 5(1): 179–205.

Bracher, M., Santow, G., and Watkins, S. 2003. *Moving and Marrying*. Demographic Research Special Collection 1: Article 7.

Clark, S. 2004. Early Marriage and HIV Risks in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Studies in Family Planning* 35(3): 149-160.

Cluver, L., Boyes, M., Orkin, M., Pantelic, M., Molwena, T. and Sherr, L. (2013) *Child-focused* state cash transfers and adolescent risk of HIV infection in South Africa: a propensity-scorematched case-control study, Lancet Global Health, 1 (6): e362–e370.

de Brauw, A., Gilligan, D.O., Hoddinott, J. and Roy, S. (2014) The impact of Bolsa Família on women's decision-making power, *World Development* 59: 487–504.

Eswaran, M., and N. Malhotra. (2011) Domestic violence and women's autonomy in developing countries: theory and evidence. *Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue Canadianne d'Économique* 44 (4): 1222-1263.

Farmer, A., and J. Tiefenthaler. (1997) An economic analysis of domestic violence. *Review of Social Economy* 55: 337-358.

Feldman, B.S., Zaslavsky, A.M., Ezzati, M., Peterson, K.E. and Mitchell, M. (2009) Contraceptive Use, birth spacing, and autonomy: an analysis of the Oportunidades program in rural Mexico, *Studies in Family Planning*, 40(1): 51–62.

Green, E.P., Blattman, C., Jamison, J. and Annan, J. (2015) Women's entrepreneurship and intimate partner violence: a cluster randomized trial of microenterprise assistance and partner participation in post-conflict Uganda, *Social Science & Medicine* 33: 177–188.

Page 293

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Handa, S., Peterman, A., Davis, B. and Stampini, M. (2009) Opening up Pandora's box: the effect of gender targeting and conditionality on household spending behavior in Mexico's Progresa Program, *World Development* 37(6): 1129–1142.

Handa, S., Tucker Halpern, C., Pettifor, A. and Thirumurthy, H. (2014) The government of Kenya's cash transfer program reduces the risk of sexual debut among young people age 15-25, *PLoS ONE*, 9(1): e85473.

Haushofer, J., Reisinger, J. and Shapiro, J. (2015) Your gain is my pain: negative psychological externalities of cash transfers. Princeton University (mimeo).

Hidrobo, M., Hoddinott, J., Peterman, A., Margolies, A. and Moreira, V. (2012a) *Cash, food or vouchers? Evidence from a randomized experiment in northern Ecuador.* Discussion Paper 1234. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Hidrobo, M., Peterman, A. and Heise, L. (2013) *The effect of cash, vouchers and food transfers on intimate partner violence: evidence from a randomized experiment in northern Ecuador.* Working Paper. Washington, DC: IFPRI.

Hidrobo, M. and Fernald, L. (2013) Cash transfers and domestic violence, *Journal of Health Economics* 32(1): 304-319.

Jones et al. (2006) *Transferencias condicionadas de efectivo en el Perú: las muchas dimensiones de la pobreza y la vulnerabilidad de la infancia.* Presentation at UNICEF/New School Conference, New York, October 2006.

Kohler, H.P. and Thornton, R.L. (2012) Conditional cash transfers and HIV/AIDS prevention: unconditionally promising? *World Bank Economic Review* 26(2): 165–190.

Merttens, F., Hurrell, A., Marzi, M., Attah, R., Farhat, M., Kardan, A. and MacAuslan, I. (2013) *Kenya hunger safety net programme monitoring and evaluation component impact evaluation final report:* 2009 to 2012. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Merttens, F., Pellerano, L., O'Leary, S., Sindou, E., Attah, R., Jones, E. and Martin, S. (2015) *Evaluation of the Uganda Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE) Programme: impact after one year of programme operations 2012–2013*. Evaluation Report. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management and Kampala: Department of Anthropology and Sociology, University of Makerere.

Perova, E. (2010) *Three essays on intended and not intended impacts of conditional cash transfers*. PhD. University of California, Berkeley.

Perova, E., and Vakis, R. (2012) Five years in Juntos: new evidence on the program's short and long-term impacts, *Economía* 35(69): 53–82.

Roldán, Martha. 1987. Class, Gender, and Asymmetrical Exchanges within Households. In *The Crossroads of Class and Gender: Industrial Homework, Subcontracting, and Household Dynamics in Mexico City*, edited by Lourdes Benería and Martha Roldán, 75–103. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Siaplay, M. (2012) *The impact of social cash transfers on young adults' labor force participation, schooling, and sexual behaviors in South Africa.* PhD. Oklahoma State University.

Stecklov, G., Winters, P., Todd, J. and Regalia, F. (2006) *Demographic externalities from poverty programs in developing countries: experimental evidence from Latin America*. Working Paper 2006-1, Washington, DC: American University, Department of Economics.

Stecklov, G., Winters, P., Todd, J. and Regalia, F. (2007) Unintended effects of poverty programmes on childbearing in less developed countries: experimental evidence from Latin America, *Population Studies* 61(2): 125–140.

Tauchen, H.V., A.D. Witte, and S.K. Long. (1991) Domestic Violence: A Nonrandom Affair. *International Economic Review* 32(2): 491-511.

Todd, J.E., Winters, P. and Stecklov, G. (2011) Evaluating the impact of conditional cash transfer programs on fertility: the case of the Red de Protección Social in Nicaragua, *Journal of Population Economics* 25(1): 267–290.

Page 294

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Whitehead, A. 1981. I'm Hungry Mum': The Politics of Domestic Budgeting. In *Of Marriage and the Market*, edited by Kate Young, Carol Wolkowitz, and Roslyn McCullagh, 88–111. London: CSE Books.

CHAPTER 12

American Institutes for Research (2014) Zambia's Child Grant Program: 36-month impact report. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.

Aker, J.C., Boumnijel, R., McClelland, A. and Tierney, N. (2014) *Payment mechanisms and anti-poverty programs: evidence from a mobile money cash transfer experiment in Niger*. Tufts University (mimeo).

Aker, J. C., Boumnijel, R., McClelland, A., Tierney, N. (2011) *Zap it to me: the short-term impacts of a mobile cash transfer program.* CGD Working Paper 268. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development.

Akresh, R., de Walque, D., Kazianga, H., 2013. *Cash transfers and child schooling: evidence from a randomized evaluation of the role of conditionality*. Policy Research Working Paper Series 6340. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Asfaw, S., Davis, B., Josh, D., Handa, S. and Winters, P. (2014) Cash transfer programme, productive activities and labour supply: evidence from a randomised experiment in Kenya, *Journal of Development Studies* 50(8); 1172–1196.

Angelucci, M. (2008) Love on the rocks: domestic violence and alcohol abuse in rural Mexico, *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy* 8(1): Article 43.

Angelucci, M. (2004) Aid and migration: an analysis of the impact of PROGRESA on the timing and size of labour migration. IZA Discussion Paper 1187. Bonn: IZA.

Attanasio, O., Oppedisano, V. and Vera-Hernández, M. (2015) Should cash transfers be conditional? Conditionality, preventive care, and health outcomes, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 7(2): 35–52.

Attanasio, O., Battistin, E., Fitzsimons, A., Mesnard and Vera-Hernandez M. (2005) *How Effective are Conditional Cash Transfers? Evidence from Colombia.* IFS briefing note.

Baez, J.E. and Camacho, A. (2011) *Assessing the long-term effects of conditional cash transfers on human capital: evidence from Colombia*. Policy Research Working Paper 5681. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Baird, S., de Hoop, J. and Özler, B. (2013) Income shocks and adolescent mental health, *Journal of Human Resources* 48:(2) 370–403.

Baird, S., McIntosh, C., Özler, B. (2011) Cash or condition? Evidence from a cash transfer experiment, *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 126(4): 1709–1753.

Barrera-Osorio, F., Bertrand, M., Linden, L. and Perez-Calle, F. (2008) Conditional cash transfers in education design features, peer and sibling effects evidence from a randomized experiment in Colombia. Working Paper 13890. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Barrientos, A. and de Jong, J. (2004) *Child Poverty and Cash Transfers*. Childhood Poverty Research and Policy Centre. Report No. 4.

Bastagli, F. (2009) Conditionality in Public Policy Targeted to the Poor: Promoting Resilience? *Social Policy and Society*, 8 (1): 127-140

Bazzi, S., Sumarto, S. and Suryahadi, A. (2012) *Evaluating Indonesia's unconditional cash transfer programme*, 2005–2006. *Grantee Final Report* New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie).

Behrman, J.R. and Parker, S.W. (2013) Is health of the aging improved by conditional cash transfer programs? Evidence from Mexico, *Demography* 50(4): 1363–1386.

Page 295

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Behrman, J.R., Gallardo-García, J., Parker, S.W., Todd P.E., Vélez-Grajales, V. (2012) Are conditional cash transfers effective in urban areas? Evidence from Mexico, *Education Economics* 20(3): 233–259.

Behrman, J.R., Parker, S.W. and Todd, P.E. (2011) Do conditional cash transfers for schooling generate lasting benefits? A five-year follow-up of PROGRESA/Oportunidades, *Journal of Human Resources* 46(1): 93–122.

Behrman J.R., Parker, S.W. and Todd, P.E. (2009) Schooling impacts of conditional cash transfers on young children: evidence from Mexico, *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 57(3): 439–477.

Benedetti, F. and Ibarrarán, P. (2015) *Do education and health conditions matter in a large cash transfer? Evidence from a Honduran experiment*. Working Paper IDB-WP-577. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

Benhassine, N., Devoto, F., Duflo, E., Dupas, P. and Pouliquen, V. (2013) *Turning a shove into a nudge? A 'labeled cash transfer' for education*. Working Paper 19227. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Bertrand, M., Mullainathan, S. and Miller, D. (2003) Public policy and extended families: evidence from pensions in South Africa, *World Bank Economic Review*, 17(1): 27–50.

Blattman, C., Green, E.P., Jamison, J., Lehmann, M. C. and Annan, J. (2015) *The returns to cash and microenterprise support among the ultra-poor: a field experiment*. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network (SSRN).

Blattman, C. Fiala, N. and Martinez, S. (2013) *The economic and social returns to cash transfers: evidence from a Ugandan aid program*. Working Paper. Berkeley, CA: Center for Effective Global Action (CEGA), University of California.

Buser, T., Oosterbeek, H., Plug, E., Ponce, J. and Rosero, J. (2014) *The impact of positive and negative income changes on the height and weight of young children*. IZA Discussion Paper 8130. Bonn: IZA.

Cheema, I., Farhat, M., Hunt, S., Javeed, S., Pellerano, L. and O'Leary, S. (2014) *Benazir Income Support Programme: first follow-up impact evaluation report.* Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Dabalen, A., Kilic, T. and Wane, W. (2008) *Social transfers, labour supply and poverty reduction: the case of Albania.* World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4783. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Daidone, S., Luca Pellerano, Sudhanshu Handa and Benjamin Davis (2015) Is Graduation from Social Safety Nets Possible? Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa. *IDS Bulletin* 46(2).

Daidone, S., Davis, B., Dewbre, J. and Covarrubias, K. (2014a) *Lesotho's Child Grant Programme: 24-month impact report on productive activities and labour allocation. Lesotho country case study report.* Rome: FAO

Dammert, A.C. (2008) *Heterogeneous impacts of conditional cash transfers: evidence from Nicaragua*. IZA Discussion Paper 3653. Bonn: IZA.

Davis, B., Handa, S., Ruiz Arranz, M., Stampini, M. and Winters, P. (2002) Conditionality and the impact of programme design on household welfare: comparing two diverse cash transfer programmes in rural Mexico. Working Paper 02-10. Rome: FAO.

Del Carpio, X.V. (2008) Does child labor always decrease with income? An evaluation in the context of a development program in Nicaragua. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4694. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Esteva, A.A. (2012) The medium-term impact of a conditional cash transfer program on child physical and cognitive development: evidence from Progresa, in Esteva, A. A. *Essays in development and labor economics*. PhD. Harvard University.

Evans, D.K., Hauslade, S., Kosec, K. and Reese, N. (2014) *Community-based conditional cash transfers in Tanzania: results from a randomized trial*. World Bank Study. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Page 296

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

FAO (2015) *The State of Food and Agriculture Social protection and agriculture: breaking the cycle of rural poverty.* Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO).

Fernald, L.C.H., Gertler P.J. and Neufeld, L.M. (2009) 10-year effect of Oportunidades, Mexico's conditional cash transfer programme, on child growth, cognition, language, and behaviour: a longitudinal follow-up study, *The Lancet* 374(9706): 1997–2005.

Fernald, L.C.H., Gertler, P.J. and Hou, X.H. (2008) Cash component of conditional cash transfer program is associated with higher body mass index and blood pressure in adults, *Journal of Nutrition* 138(11): 2250–2257.

Filmer, D. and Schady, N. (2011) Does more cash in conditional cash transfer programs always lead to larger impacts on school attendance?, *Journal of Development Economics* 96(1): 150–157.

Fiszbein, A. and Schady, N. (2009) *Conditional Cash Transfers: Reducing Present and Future Poverty.* Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group.

Gaarder, M. M., Glassman, A., and Todd, J. E. (2010) Conditional cash transfers and health: unpacking the causal chain. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 2:1 6–50.

Galiani, S., Gertler, P. and Bando, R. (2014) *Non-contributory pensions*. IDB Working Paper Series 517. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank.

Gertler, P.J., Martinez, S.W., Rubio-Codina, M. (2012) Investing Cash Transfers to Raise Long-Term Living Standards, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4(1): 164–92.

Glassman, A., & Duran, D. (2013). *Impact of Conditional Cash Transfers on Maternal and Newborn Health* (No. 019). Washington, D.C.

Green, E.P., Blattman, C., Jamison, J. and Annan, J. (2015) Women's entrepreneurship and intimate partner violence: a cluster randomized trial of microenterprise assistance and partner participation in post-conflict Uganda, *Social Science & Medicine* 33: 177–188.

Hagen-Zanker, J., and Himmelstine, C.L. (2013). What do we know about the impact of social protection programmes on the decision to migrate?. *Migration and Development*, 2(1), 117-131.

Hagen-Zanker, J., McCord, A., Holmes, R., Booker, F., and Molinari, E. (2011). *Systematic Review of the Impact of Employment Guarantee Schemes and Cash Transfers on the Poor*. ODI Systematic Review. London: Overseas Development Institute

Handa, S., Park, M., Darko, R.O., Osei-Akoto, I., Davis, B. and Daidone, S. (2014) *Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty program impact evaluation. Report.* Chapel Hill, NC: Carolina Population Center, University of North Carolina.

Harman, L., Bastagli, F. Hagen-Zanker, J., Sturge, G. and Barca, V. (2016) *Cash transfers: what does the evidence say? An annotated bibliography.* London: Overseas Development Institute.

Haushofer, J. and Shapiro, J. (2013) Household response to income changes: Evidence from an unconditional cash transfer program in Kenya. Princeton University (mimeo).

Holmes R. and Jones N. (2010). *Rethinking social protection using a gender lens: Synthesis paper*. London, Overseas Development Institute.

IEG. (2014). Social Safety Nets and Gender: Learning From Impact Evaluations and World Bank Projects. Washington, DC.

Kabeer, N., Piza, C., & Taylor, L. (2012). Systematic review What are the economic impacts of conditional cash transfer programmes ? A systematic review of the evidence.

Karlan, D., Osei, R., Osei-Akoto, I. and Udry, C. (2014) 'Agricultural decisions after relaxing credit and risk constraints', Quarterly Journal of Economics 129(2): 597–652.

Kassouf, A.L. and De Oliveira, P.R. (2012) *Impact evaluation of the Brazilian non-contributory pension program Benefício de Prestação Continuada (BPC) on family welfare*. Partnership for Economic Policy (PEP) Working Paper 2012-12. Nairobi: PEP.

Kohler, H.P. and Thornton, R.L. (2012) Conditional cash transfers and HIV/AIDS prevention: unconditionally promising? *World Bank Economic Review* 26(2): 165–190.

Page 297

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Lagarde, M., Haines, A., & Palmer, N. (2009). The impact of conditional cash transfers on health outcomes and use of health services in low and middle income countries.

Langendorf, C., Roederer, T., de Pee, S., Brown, D., Doyon, S., Mamaty, A-A., Touré, L.W., Manzo, M.L. and Grais, R.F. (2014) Preventing acute malnutrition among young children in crises: a prospective intervention study in Niger, *PloS Medicine* 11 (9): e1001714.

Levy, D. and Ohls, J. (2007) *Evaluation of Jamaica's PATH Program. Final Report.* Washington, DC: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.

Macours, K. and Vakis, R. (2009) *Changing households' investments and aspirations through social interactions: Evidence from a randomized transfer program*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 5137. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Macours, K., Schady, N. and Vakis, R. (2012) Cash transfers, behavioral changes, and cognitive development in early childhood, *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 4 (2): 247–273.

Macours, K., Premand, P. and Vakis, R. (2012) *Transfers, diversification and household risk strategies: experimental evidence with lessons for climate change adaptation*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 6053. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Macours, K. and Vakis, R. (2009) *Changing households' investments and aspirations through social interactions: Evidence from a randomized transfer program*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 5137. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Maluccio; J. A. (2010), The Impact of conditional cash transfers on consumption and investment in Nicaragua, *Journal of Development Studies*, 46(1): 14–38.

Manley, J. Gitter, S. and Slavchevska, V. (2012). *How effective are cash transfer programmes at improving nutritional status? A rapid evidence assessment of programmes' effects on anthropometric outcomes.* EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London, London, UK.

Masino, S. and Niño-Zarazúa, M. (2014) Social service delivery and access to financial innovation: the impact of Oportunidades' electronic payment system in Mexico. WIDER Working Paper 2014/034. Helsinki: UNU-WIDER.

Merttens, F., Pellerano, L., O'Leary, S., Sindou, E., Attah, R., Jones, E. and Martin, S. (2015) *Evaluation of the Uganda Social Assistance Grants for Empowerment (SAGE) Programme: impact after one year of programme operations 2012–2013. Evaluation Report.* Oxford: Oxford Policy Management and Kampala: Department of Anthropology and Sociology, University of Makerere.

Merttens, F., Hurrell, A., Marzi, M., Attah, R., Farhat, M., Kardan, A. and MacAuslan, I. (2013) *Kenya hunger safety net programme monitoring and evaluation component impact evaluation final report:* 2009 to 2012. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Miller, C. and Tsoka M. (2012) Cash transfers and children's education and labour among Malawi's poor, *Development Policy Review* 30(4): 499–522.

O'Brien C., Hove F., Sith G. (2013). Factors affecting the cost efficiency of electronic transfers in humanitarian programes. CALP publication.

O'Brien, C., Marzi, M., Pellerano, L. and Visram, A. (2013) *Kazakhstan: external evaluation of BOTA programmes: the impact of BOTA's conditional cash transfer (CCT) programme 2011–2012*. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Pega, F., Walter, S., Liu, S.Y., Pabayo, R., Lhachimi, S.K. and Saith, R. (2014) Unconditional cash transfers for reducing poverty and vulnerabilities: effect on use of health services and health outcomes in low- and middle-income countries. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2014, Issue 6.

Pellerano, L., Jakobsen, M., Moratti, M., Bajgar, M. and Barca, V. (2014) *Lesotho Child Grants Programme impact evaluation*. Maseru: UNICEF-Lesotho, and Oxford: Oxford Policy Management.

Page 298

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion

Perova, E., and Vakis, R. (2012) Five years in Juntos: new evidence on the program's short and long-term impacts, *Economía* 35(69): 53–82.

Ribas, R.P., Soares, F.V., Teixeira, S.C., Silva, E. and Hirata, G. (2010) *Beyond cash: assessing externality and behaviour effects of non-experimental cash transfers*. Working Paper 65. Brasilia: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth.

Saavedra, J.E. and Garcia S. (2012). Impacts of Conditional Cash Transfer Programs on Educational Outcomes in Developing Countries: a meta analysis, RAND Working Paper.

Schady, N., Araujo, M.C. (2006) *Cash transfers, conditions, school enrollment, and child work: evidence from a randomized experiment in Ecuador.* Policy Research Working Paper Series 3930. Washington, DC: World Bank.

Schüring, E. (2010). Conditions, conditionality, conditionalities, responsibilities – finding common ground. Maastricht Graduate School of Governance Working Paper 2010 014.

Siaplay, M. (2012) The impact of social cash transfers on young adults' labor force participation, schooling, and sexual behaviors in South Africa. PhD. Oklahoma State University.

Skoufias, E. and Di Maro, V. (2008) Conditional cash transfers, adult work incentives, and poverty, *Journal of Development Studies* 44(7): 935–960.

Skoufias, E., Unar, M. and González de Cossío, T. (2013) The poverty impacts of cash and in-kind transfers: experimental evidence from rural Mexico, *Journal of Development Effectiveness 5*(4): 401–429.

Stecklov, G., Winters, P., Todd, J. and Regalia, F. (2006) *Demographic externalities from poverty programs in developing countries: experimental evidence from Latin America*. Working Paper 2006-1, Washington, DC: American University, Department of Economics.

Stecklov, G., Winters, P., Todd, J. and Regalia, F. (2007) Unintended effects of poverty programmes on childbearing in less developed countries: experimental evidence from Latin America, Population Studies 61(2): 125–140.

Todd, J.E., Winters, P. and Hertz, T. (2010) Conditional cash transfers and agricultural production: lessons from the Oportunidades experience in Mexico, *Journal of Development Studies* 46(1): 39–67.

Villa, J.M. (2014) *The length of exposure to antipoverty transfer programmes: what is the relevance for children's human capital formation?* Working Paper 206. Manchester: Brooks World Poverty Institute, University of Manchester.

Waddington, H., White, H., Snilstveit, B., Garcia Hombrados, J., Vojtkova, M., Davies, P., Bhavsar, A., Eyers, J., Perez Koehlmoos, T., Petticrew, M., Valentine, J.C. and Tugwell, P. (2012) How to Do a Good Systematic Review of Effects in International Development: A Tool Kit. *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 4(3): 359-387.

World Bank (2011) Program Keluarga Harapan: main findings from the impact evaluation of Indonesia's pilot household conditional cash transfer program. Jakarta: World Bank Office.

Yoong, J., Rabinovich L. and Diepeveen, S. (2012) *The impact of economic resource transfers to women versus men: a systematic review. Technical Report.* London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.

Page 299

Contents

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

SECTION I

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Conceptual framework

Chapter 3 Review of cash transfer reviews

Chapter 4 Methods

Chapter 5 The evidence base

SECTION II

Chapter 6 The impact of cash transfers on monetary poverty

Chapter 7 The impact of cash transfers on education

Chapter 8 The impact of cash transfers on health and nutrition

Chapter 9 The impact of cash transfers on savings, investment and production

Chapter 10 The impact of cash transfers on employment

Chapter 11 The impact of cash transfers on empowerment

SECTION III

Chapter 12 Summary of findings and conclusion



ODI is the UK's leading independent think tank on international development and humanitarian issues.

Readers are encouraged to reproduce material from ODI Reports for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. As copyright holder, ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI. © Overseas Development Institute 2016. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial Licence (CC BY-NC 4.0).

All ODI Reports are available from www.odi.org

Cover image: Receiving food assistance and cash transfers in Burkina Faso © EC/ECHO/Anouk Delafortrie, Licence: CC BY-NC-ND 2.0

Overseas Development Institute 203 Blackfriars Road London SE1 8NJ Tel +44 (0)20 7922 0300 Fax +44 (0)20 7922 0399

